Functional Differential and Difference Equations with Applications 2013

Guest Editors: J. Diblík, E. Braverman, I. Györi, Yu. Rogovchenko, M. Růžičková, and A. Zafer



Functional Differential and Difference Equations with Applications 2013

Functional Differential and Difference Equations with Applications 2013

Guest Editors: J. Diblík, E. Braverman, I. Györi, Yu. Rogovchenko, M. Růžičková, and A. Zafer

Copyright © 2013 Hindawi Publishing Corporation. All rights reserved.

This is a special issue published in "Abstract and Applied Analysis." All articles are open access articles distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Editorial Board

Dirk Aeyels, Belgium Ravi P. Agarwal, Saudi Arabia M. O. Ahmedou, Germany Nicholas D. Alikakos, Greece Debora Amadori, Italy Pablo Amster, Argentina Douglas R. Anderson, USA Jan Andres, Czech Republic Giovanni Anello, Italy Stanislav Antontsev, Portugal Mohamed Kamal Aouf, Egypt Narcisa C. Apreutesei, Romania Natig M. Atakishiyev, Mexico Ferhan M. Atici, USA Ivan G. Avramidi, USA Soohyun Bae, Korea Zhanbing Bai, China Chuanzhi Bai, China Dumitru Baleanu, Turkey Jzef Bana, Poland Gerassimos Barbatis, Greece Martino Bardi, Italy Roberto Barrio, Spain Feyzi Basar, Turkey Abdelghani Bellouquid, Morocco Daniele Bertaccini, Italy Michiel Bertsch, Italy Lucio Boccardo, Italy Igor Boglaev, New Zealand Martin J. Bohner, USA Julian F. Bonder, Argentina Geraldo Botelho, Brazil Elena Braverman, Canada Romeo Brunetti, Italy Janusz Brzdek, Poland Detlev Buchholz, Germany Sun-Sig Byun, Korea Fabio M. Camilli, Italy Antonio Canada, Spain Jinde Cao, China Anna Capietto, Italy Kwang-chih Chang, China Jianging Chen, China Wing-Sum Cheung, Hong Kong Michel Chipot, Switzerland

Changbum Chun, Korea Soon Y. Chung, Korea Jaeyoung Chung, Korea Silvia Cingolani, Italy Jean M. Combes, France Monica Conti, Italy Diego Córdoba, Spain Juan Carlos Cortés López, Spain Graziano Crasta, Italy Guillermo P. Curbera, Spain Bernard Dacorogna, Switzerland Vladimir Danilov, Russia Mohammad T. Darvishi, Iran Luis F. Pinheiro de Castro, Portugal Toka Diagana, USA Jesús I. Díaz, Spain Josef Diblík, Czech Republic Fasma Diele, Italy Tomas Dominguez, Spain Alexander I. Domoshnitsky, Israel Marco Donatelli, Italy Bo-Qing Dong, China Ondrej Dosly, Czech Republic Wei-Shih Du, Taiwan Luiz Duarte, Brazil Roman Dwilewicz, USA Paul W. Eloe, USA Ahmed El-Sayed, Egypt Luca Esposito, Italy Jose A. Ezquerro, Spain Khalil Ezzinbi, Morocco Dashan Fan, USA Angelo Favini, Italy Marcia Federson, Brazil Stathis Filippas, Equatorial Guinea Alberto Fiorenza, Italy Tore Flåtten, Norway Ilaria Fragala, Italy Bruno Franchi, Italy Xianlong Fu, China Massimo Furi, Italy Giovanni P. Galdi, USA Isaac Garcia, Spain Jesús García Falset, Spain José A. García-Rodríguez, Spain

Leszek Gasinski, Poland György Gát, Hungary Vladimir Georgiev, Italy Lorenzo Giacomelli, Italy Jaume Giné, Spain Valery Y. Glizer, Israel Laurent Gosse, Italy Jean P. Gossez, Belgium Dimitris Goussis, Greece Jose L. Gracia, Spain Maurizio Grasselli, Italy Qian Guo, China Yuxia Guo, China Chaitan P. Gupta, USA Uno Hämarik, Estonia Ferenc Hartung, Hungary Behnam Hashemi, Iran Norimichi Hirano, Japan Jiaxin Hu, China Chengming Huang, China Zhongyi Huang, China Gennaro Infante, Italy Ivan Ivanov, Bulgaria Hossein Jafari, Iran Jaan Janno, Estonia Aref Jeribi, Tunisia Un C. Ji, Korea Zhongxiao Jia, China Lucas Jódar, Spain Jong Soo Jung, Republic of Korea Henrik Kalisch, Norway Hamid Reza Karimi, Norway Satyanad Kichenassamy, France Tero Kilpeläinen, Finland Sung Guen Kim, Republic of Korea Ljubisa Kocinac, Serbia Andrei Korobeinikov, Spain Pekka Koskela, Finland Victor Kovtunenko, Austria Ren-Jieh Kuo, Taiwan Pavel Kurasov, Sweden Miroslaw Lachowicz, Poland Kunguan Lan, Canada Ruediger Landes, USA Irena Lasiecka, USA

Matti Lassas, Finland Chun-Kong Law, Taiwan Ming-Yi Lee, Taiwan Gongbao Li, China Pedro M. Lima, Portugal Elena Litsyn, Israel Yansheng Liu, China Shengqiang Liu, China Carlos Lizama, Chile Milton C. Lopes Filho, Brazil Julian López-Gómez, Spain Jinhu Lü, China Grzegorz Lukaszewicz, Poland Shiwang Ma, China Wanbiao Ma, China Eberhard Malkowsky, Turkey Salvatore A. Marano, Italy Cristina Marcelli, Italy Paolo Marcellini, Italy Jesús Marín-Solano, Spain Jose M. Martell, Spain Mieczysław Mastyo, Poland Ming Mei, Canada Taras Mel'nyk, Ukraine Anna Mercaldo, Italy Changxing Miao, China Stanislaw Migorski, Poland Mihai Mihǎilescu, Romania Feliz Minhós, Portugal Dumitru Motreanu, France Roberta Musina, Italy Maria Grazia Naso, Italy Gaston M. N'Guerekata, USA Sylvia Novo, Spain Micah Osilike, Nigeria Mitsuharu Ôtani, Japan Turgut Öziş, Turkey Filomena Pacella, Italy Nikolaos S. Papageorgiou, Greece Sehie Park, Korea Alberto Parmeggiani, Italy Kailash C. Patidar, South Africa Kevin R. Payne, Italy Josip E. Pecaric, Croatia Shuangjie Peng, China Sergei V. Pereverzyev, Austria Maria Eugenia Perez, Spain David Perez-Garcia, Spain Josefina Perles, Spain Allan Peterson, USA

Andrew Pickering, Spain Cristina Pignotti, Italy Somyot Plubtieng, Thailand Milan Pokorny, Czech Republic Sergio Polidoro, Italy Ziemowit Popowicz, Poland Maria M. Porzio, Italy Enrico Priola, Italy Vladimir S. Rabinovich, Mexico Irena Rachůnková, Czech Republic Maria Alessandra Ragusa, Italy Simeon Reich, Israel Weiqing Ren, USA Abdelaziz Rhandi, Italy Hassan Riahi, Malaysia Juan P. Rincón-Zapatero, Spain Luigi Rodino, Italy Yuriy Rogovchenko, Norway Julio D. Rossi, Argentina Wolfgang Ruess, Germany Bernhard Ruf, Italy Marco Sabatini, Italy Satit Saejung, Thailand Stefan G. Samko, Portugal Martin Schechter, USA Javier Segura, Spain Sigmund Selberg, Norway Valery Serov, Finland Naseer Shahzad, Saudi Arabia Andrey Shishkov, Ukraine Stefan Siegmund, Germany Abdel-Maksoud A. Soliman, Egypt Pierpaolo Soravia, Italy Marco Squassina, Italy Svatoslav Staněk, Czech Republic Stevo Stevic, Serbia Antonio Suárez, Spain Wenchang Sun, China Robert Szalai, UK Sanyi Tang, China Chun-Lei Tang, China Youshan Tao, China Gabriella Tarantello, Italy Nasser-eddine Tatar, Saudi Arabia Susanna Terracini, Italy Gerd Teschke, Germany Alberto Tesei, Italy Bevan Thompson, Australia Sergey Tikhonov, Spain Claudia Timofte, Romania

Thanh Dien Tran, Australia Juan J. Trujillo, Spain Ciprian A. Tudor, France Gabriel Turinici, France Milan Tvrdy, Czech Republic Mehmet Unal, Turkey Stephan A. van Gils, The Netherlands Csaba Varga, Romania Carlos Vazquez, Spain Gianmaria Verzini, Italy Jesus Vigo-Aguiar, Spain Qing-Wen Wang, China Yushun Wang, China Shawn X. Wang, Canada Youyu Wang, China Jing Ping Wang, UK Peixuan Weng, China Noemi Wolanski, Argentina Ngai-Ching Wong, Taiwan Patricia J. Y. Wong, Singapore Roderick Wong, Hong Kong Zili Wu, China Yong Hong Wu, Australia Shanhe Wu, China Tie-cheng Xia, China Xu Xian, China Yanni Xiao, China Fuding Xie, China Naihua Xiu, China Daovi Xu, China Zhenya Yan, China Xiaodong Yan, USA Norio Yoshida, Japan Beong In Yun, Korea Vjacheslav Yurko, Russia Ağacık Zafer, Turkey Sergey V. Zelik, UK Jianming Zhan, China Meirong Zhang, China Weinian Zhang, China Chengjian Zhang, China Zengqin Zhao, China Sining Zheng, China Tianshou Zhou, China Yong Zhou, China Qiji J. Zhu, USA Chun-Gang Zhu, China Malisa R. Zizovic, Serbia Wenming Zou, China

Contents

Functional Differential and Difference Equations with Applications 2013, J. Diblík, E. Braverman, I. Györi, Yu. Rogovchenko, M. Růžičková, and A. Zafer Volume 2014, Article ID 543797, 2 pages

General Explicit Solution of Planar Weakly Delayed Linear Discrete Systems and Pasting Its Solutions, Josef Diblík and Hana Halfarová Volume 2014, Article ID 627295, 37 pages

Representation of the Solutions of Linear Discrete Systems with Constant Coefficients and Two Delays, Josef Diblík and Blanka Morávková Volume 2014, Article ID 320476, 19 pages

Spatial Approximation of Nondivergent Type Parabolic PDEs with Unbounded Coefficients Related to Finance, Fernando F. Gonçalves and Maria Rosário Grossinho Volume 2014, Article ID 801059, 11 pages

Stability Analysis of Impulsive Stochastic Functional Differential Equations with Delayed Impulses via Comparison Principle and Impulsive Delay Differential Inequality, Pei Cheng, Fengqi Yao, and Mingang Hua Volume 2014, Article ID 710150, 9 pages

Automorphisms of Ordinary Differential Equations, Václav Tryhuk and Veronika Chrastinová Volume 2014, Article ID 482963, 32 pages

On the Periodicity of Some Classes of Systems of Nonlinear Difference Equations, Stevo Stević, Mohammed A. Alghamdi, Dalal A. Maturi, and Naseer Shahzad Volume 2014, Article ID 982378, 6 pages

On Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions of Generalized Emden-Fowler Differential Equations with Delay Argument, Alexander Domoshnitsky and Roman Koplatadze Volume 2014, Article ID 168425, 13 pages

Asymptotic Behavior of Higher-Order Quasilinear Neutral Differential Equations, Tongxing Li and Yuriy V. Rogovchenko Volume 2014, Article ID 395368, 11 pages

Existence and Global Exponential Stability of Equilibrium for Impulsive Cellular Neural Network Models with Piecewise Alternately Advanced and Retarded Argument, Kuo-Shou Chiu Volume 2013, Article ID 196139, 13 pages

Newton-Kantorovich and Smale Uniform Type Convergence Theorem for a Deformed Newton Method in Banach Spaces, Rongfei Lin, Yueqing Zhao, Zdeněk Šmarda, Yasir Khan, and Qingbiao Wu Volume 2013, Article ID 923898, 8 pages

Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions to a Vector Integral Equation with Deviating Arguments, Cristóbal González and Antonio Jiménez-Melado Volume 2013, Article ID 957696, 7 pages **Stability and Global Hopf Bifurcation Analysis on a Ratio-Dependent Predator-Prey Model with Two Time Delays**, Huitao Zhao, Yiping Lin, and Yunxian Dai Volume 2013, Article ID 321930, 15 pages

Boundedness of Solutions for a Class of Second-Order Periodic Systems, Shunjun Jiang and Yan Ding Volume 2013, Article ID 267572, 9 pages

Moment Equations in Modeling a Stable Foreign Currency Exchange Market in Conditions of Uncertainty, Josef Diblík, Irada Dzhalladova, Mária Michalková, and Miroslava Růžičková Volume 2013, Article ID 172847, 11 pages

Singular Initial Value Problem for Certain Classes of Systems of Ordinary Differential Equations, Josef Diblík, Josef Rebenda, and Zdeněk Šmarda Volume 2013, Article ID 207352, 12 pages

Stability of Impulsive Differential Systems, Andrejs Reinfelds and Lelde Sermone Volume 2013, Article ID 253647, 11 pages

Infinitely Many Periodic Solutions to Delay Differential Equations via Critical Point Theory, Xiaosheng Zhang and Duo Wang Volume 2013, Article ID 526350, 7 pages

On Linear Difference Equations for Which the Global Periodicity Implies the Existence of an Equilibrium, István Győri and László Horváth Volume 2013, Article ID 971394, 5 pages

Oscillation Theorems for Even Order Damped Equations with Distributed Deviating Arguments, Chunxia Gao and Peiguang Wang Volume 2013, Article ID 393892, 10 pages

Impulsive Boundary Value Problems for Planar Hamiltonian Systems, Zeynep Kayar and Ağacık Zafer Volume 2013, Article ID 892475, 6 pages

Oscillation of Half-Linear Differential Equations with Delay, Simona Fišnarová and Robert Mařík Volume 2013, Article ID 583147, 6 pages

Some New Nonlinear Weakly Singular Inequalities and Applications to Volterra-Type Difference Equation, Kelong Zheng, Wenqiang Feng, and Chunxiang Guo Volume 2013, Article ID 912874, 6 pages

Heat Transfer Analysis on the Hiemenz Flow of a Non-Newtonian Fluid: A Homotopy Method Solution, Yasir Khan and Zdeněk Šmarda Volume 2013, Article ID 342690, 5 pages

Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions to a Linear Volterra Integrodifferential System, Yue-Wen Cheng and Hui-Sheng Ding Volume 2013, Article ID 245905, 5 pages **Regularity of a Stochastic Fractional Delayed Reaction-Diffusion Equation Driven by Lévy Noise**, Tianlong Shen, Jianhua Huang, and Jin Li Volume 2013, Article ID 807459, 11 pages

A Half-Inverse Problem for Impulsive Dirac Operator with Discontinuous Coefficient, Yalçın Güldü Volume 2013, Article ID 181809, 4 pages

Duffing-Type Oscillator with a Bounded from above Potential in the Presence of Saddle-Center Bifurcation and Singular Perturbation: Frequency Control, Robert Vrabel, Pavol Tanuska, Pavel Vazan, Peter Schreiber, and Vladimir Liska Volume 2013, Article ID 848613, 7 pages

Editorial **Functional Differential and Difference Equations with Applications 2013**

J. Diblík,¹ E. Braverman,² I. Györi,³ Yu. Rogovchenko,⁴ M. Růžičková,⁵ and A. Zafer⁶

¹ Brno University of Technology, Brno, Czech Republic

² University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada

³ University of Pannonia, Veszprém, Hungary

⁴ University of Agder, Kristiansand, Norway

⁵ University of Žilina, Žilina, Slovakia

⁶ Middle East Technical University, Ankara, Turkey

Correspondence should be addressed to J. Diblík; diblik@feec.vutbr.cz

Received 27 January 2014; Accepted 27 January 2014; Published 12 May 2014

Copyright © 2014 J. Diblík et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

This annual issue comes as a sequel to two special issues, *Recent Progress in Differential and Difference Equations* edited by the four members of the present team and *Functional Differential and Difference Equations with Applications* with the same editorial team, both published by the *Abstract and Applied Analysis* in 2011 and 2012, respectively.

In the call for papers prepared by the Guest Editors and posted on the journal's web page, we encouraged submission of state-of-the-art contributions on a wide spectrum of topics such as asymptotic behavior of solutions, boundedness and periodicity of solutions, nonoscillation and oscillation of solutions, representation of solutions, stability, numerical algorithms, and computational aspects, as well as applications to real-world phenomena. This invitation was warmly welcomed by the mathematical community; more than sixty manuscripts addressing important problems in the abovementioned fields of qualitative theory of functional differential and difference equations were submitted to the Editorial Office and went through a thorough peer refereeing process. Twenty-seven carefully selected research articles collected in this special issue reflect modern trends and advances in functional differential and difference equations. Sixty-seven authors from fourteen countries (China, Czech Republic, Georgia, Hungary, Israel, Latvia, Norway, Portugal, Saudi Arabia, Serbia, Slovak Republic, Spain, Turkey, and Ukraine) have contributed to the success of this thematic collection of papers.

Questions related to the existence of periodic solutions and their stability properties traditionally attract attention of researchers working in the qualitative theory of differential, functional differential, and difference equations. In this issue, the reader will find results that relate periodicity of linear autonomous nonhomogeneous difference equations to the existence of equilibria. Systems of nonlinear difference equations whose all well-defined solutions are periodic are considered. For some classes of nonlinear systems with delay, it is shown that the presence of the time delay results in the existence of periodic solutions.

Existence of oscillating solutions for half-linear differential equations with delay and for even order damped equations with distributed deviating arguments is studied. Nonlinear oscillations in the context of saddle-center bifurcation in the dynamical system describing a singularly perturbed forced oscillator of Duffing's type with a nonlinear restoring and a nonperiodic external driving force are examined. Boundedness of solutions to a class of second-order periodic systems with singularities is considered as well.

Stability problems always attract interest of researchers, and this special issue is not an exception. The reader will find papers on the stability of impulsive stochastic functional differential equations with delayed impulses and stability of differential systems under permanently arising impulses, an application of moment equations in a model of the stable foreign currency exchange market in conditions of uncertainty, a study on the global exponential stability of equilibria for impulsive cellular neural network models with piecewise alternately advanced and retarded arguments, and analysis of stability and global Hopf bifurcation phenomena in a ratio-dependent predator-prey model with two time delays.

New results for boundary value problems are also reported, including the existence and uniqueness theorem for solutions of nonhomogeneous impulsive boundary value problem for planar Hamiltonian systems and general results on the solvability of singular initial value problems.

Several articles deal with the behavior of solutions at infinity. Namely, explicit formulas for planar weakly delayed linear discrete systems are derived; results on asymptotic behavior of solutions to generalized Emden-Fowler differential equations with delayed argument, higher-order quasilinear neutral differential equations, vector integral equations with deviating arguments, and linear Volterra integrodifferential systems are reported along with the applications of nonlinear weakly singular inequalities to Volterra-type difference equations.

Other important problems discussed in this special issue are related to the representation of the solutions of linear discrete systems with constant coefficients and two delays, automorphisms of ordinary differential equations, spatial discretization of the Cauchy problem for a multidimensional linear parabolic partial differential equation of the second order with nondivergent operator, and unbounded timeand space-dependent coefficients. Newton-Kantorovich and Smale type convergence theorems are used in a deformed Newton method with the third-order convergence for solving nonlinear equations. Regularity of a mild solution for a stochastic fractional delayed reaction-diffusion equation driven by Lévy space-time white noise and an inverse problem for Dirac differential operators with discontinuity conditions and discontinuous coefficient are studied. Finally, a mathematical model for the incompressible twodimensional/axisymmetric non-Newtonian fluid flows and heat transfer analysis in the region of stagnation point over a stretching/shrinking sheet and axisymmetric shrinking sheet is presented.

It is not possible to provide in this short editorial note a detailed description for all papers included in this volume. However, it is clear that they reflect contemporary trends in the development of the qualitative theory of functional differential equations and feature important applications. We believe that this special issue challenges researchers with new unsolved problems and introduces many new ideas and useful techniques.

> J. Diblík E. Braverman I. Györi Yu. Rogovchenko M. Růžičková A. Zafer

Research Article

General Explicit Solution of Planar Weakly Delayed Linear Discrete Systems and Pasting Its Solutions

Josef Diblík^{1,2} and Hana Halfarová^{1,2}

¹ Department of Mathematics and Descriptive Geometry, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Brno University of Technology, 602 00 Brno, Czech Republic

² Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Brno University of Technology, 616 00 Brno, Czech Republic

Correspondence should be addressed to Josef Diblík; diblik@feec.vutbr.cz

Received 3 September 2013; Accepted 21 October 2013; Published 29 April 2014

Academic Editor: Miroslava Růžičková

Copyright © 2014 J. Diblík and H. Halfarová. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Planar linear discrete systems with constant coefficients and delays $x(k + 1) = Ax(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} B^{l}x_{l}(k - m_{l})$ are considered where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty} := \{0, 1, \dots, \infty\}, m_{1}, m_{2}, \dots, m_{n}$ are constant integer delays, $0 < m_{1} < m_{2} < \dots < m_{n}, A, B^{1}, \dots, B^{n}$ are constant 2×2 matrices, and $x : \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}^{2}$. It is assumed that the considered system is weakly delayed. The characteristic equations of such systems are identical with those for the same systems but without delayed terms. In this case, after several steps, the space of solutions with a given starting dimension $2(m_{n} + 1)$ is pasted into a space with a dimension less than the starting one. In a sense, this situation is analogous to one known in the theory of linear differential systems with constant coefficients and special delays when the initially infinite dimensional space of solutions on the initial interval turns (after several steps) into a finite dimensional set of solutions. For every possible case, explicit general solutions are constructed and, finally, results on the dimensionality of the space of solutions are obtained.

1. Introduction

1.1. Preliminary Notions and Properties. We use the following notation: for integers $s, q, s \le q$, we define $\mathbb{Z}_s^q := \{s, s + 1, ..., q\}$, where $s = -\infty$ or $q = \infty$ is admitted, too. Throughout this paper, using notation \mathbb{Z}_s^q , we always assume $s \le q$. In the paper, we deal with the discrete planar system

$$x(k+1) = Ax(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} B^{l} x_{l} (k - m_{l}), \qquad (1)$$

where m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_n are constant integer delays, $0 < m_1 < m_2 < \cdots < m_n$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^\infty$, A, B^1, \ldots, B^n are constant 2×2 matrices, $A = (a_{ij}), B^l = (b_{ij}^l), i, j = 1, 2, l = 1, 2, \ldots, n$, and $x : \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^\infty \to \mathbb{R}^2$. Throughout the paper, we assume that

$$B^l \neq \Theta, \tag{2}$$

where l = 1, 2, ..., n and Θ is 2×2 zero matrix. Together with (1), we consider an initial (Cauchy) problem

$$z\left(k\right) = \varphi\left(k\right),\tag{3}$$

where $k = -m_n, -m_n + 1, ..., 0$ with $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^0_{-m_n} \to \mathbb{R}^2$. The *existence* and *uniqueness* of the solution of the initial problem (1), (3) on $\mathbb{Z}^{\infty}_{-m_n}$ are obvious. We recall that the *solution* $x : \mathbb{Z}^{\infty}_{-m} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ of (1), (3) is defined as an *infinite sequence*

$$\{x(-m_n) = \varphi(-m_n), \\ x(-m_n+1) = \varphi(-m_n+1), \dots, \\ x(0) = \varphi(0), \\ x(1), x(2), \dots, x(k), \dots \}$$
(4)

such that, for any $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}$, equality (1) holds.

The space of all initial data (3) with $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^0_{-m_n} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ is obviously $2(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional. Below, we describe the

fact that, among system (1), there are such systems that their space of solutions, being initially $2(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional, on a reduced interval turns into a space having a dimension less than $2(m_n + 1)$. The problem under consideration (pasting property of solutions) is exactly formulated in Section 1.4.

1.2. Weakly Delayed Systems. We consider system (1) and look for a solution having the form $x(k) = \xi \lambda^k$, where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^{\infty}$, $\lambda = \text{constant}$ with $\lambda \neq 0$, and $\xi = (\xi_1, \xi_2)^T$ is a nonzero constant vector. The usual procedure leads to a characteristic equation

$$D := \det\left(A + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \lambda^{-m_l} B^l - \lambda I\right) = 0,$$
(5)

where *I* is the unit 2×2 matrix. Together with (1), we consider a system with the terms containing delays omitted:

$$x\left(k+1\right) = Ax\left(k\right) \tag{6}$$

and its characteristic equation

$$\det\left(A - \lambda I\right) = 0. \tag{7}$$

Definition 1. System (1) is called a weakly delayed system if characteristic equations (5), (7) corresponding to systems (1) and (6) are equal, that is, if, for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$,

$$D = \det\left(A + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \lambda^{-m_l} B^l - \lambda I\right) = \det\left(A - \lambda I\right).$$
(8)

We consider a linear transformation

$$x(k) = \mathcal{S} y(k), \qquad (9)$$

with a nonsingular 2×2 matrix S, then the discrete system for *y* is

$$y(k+1) = A_{s} y(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} B_{s}^{l} y(k-m_{l}), \qquad (10)$$

with $A_{\mathcal{S}} = \mathcal{S}^{-1}A\mathcal{S}$, $B_{\mathcal{S}}^{l} = \mathcal{S}^{-1}B^{l}\mathcal{S}$, where l = 1, 2, ..., n. We show that a system's property of being one weakly delayed is preserved by every nonsingular linear transformation.

Lemma 2. If system (1) is a weakly delayed system, then its arbitrary linear nonsingular transformation (9) again leads to a weakly delayed system (10).

Proof. It is easy to show that

$$\det\left(A_{\mathcal{S}} + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \lambda^{-m_l} B_{\mathcal{S}}^l - \lambda I\right) = \det\left(A_{\mathcal{S}} - \lambda I\right) \qquad (11)$$

holds since

$$det\left(A_{\mathcal{S}} + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \lambda^{-m_{l}} B_{\mathcal{S}}^{l} - \lambda I\right)$$

$$= det\left(A_{\mathcal{S}} + \lambda^{-m_{1}} B_{\mathcal{S}}^{1} + \lambda^{-m_{2}} B_{\mathcal{S}}^{2} + \dots + \lambda^{-m_{n}} B_{\mathcal{S}}^{n} - \lambda I\right)$$

$$= det\left(\mathcal{S}^{-1} A \mathcal{S} + \lambda^{-m_{1}} \mathcal{S}^{-1} B^{1} \mathcal{S} + \lambda^{-m_{2}} \mathcal{S}^{-1} B^{2} \mathcal{S} + \dots + \lambda^{-m_{n}} \mathcal{S}^{-1} B^{n} \mathcal{S} - \lambda \mathcal{S}^{-1} I \mathcal{S}\right)$$

$$= det\left[\mathcal{S}^{-1}\left(A + \lambda^{-m_{1}} B^{1} + \lambda^{-m_{2}} B^{2} + \dots + \lambda^{-m_{n}} B^{n} - \lambda I\right) \mathcal{S}\right]$$

$$= det \mathcal{S}^{-1} det\left(A + \lambda^{-m_{1}} B^{1} + \lambda^{-m_{2}} B^{2} + \dots + \lambda^{-m_{n}} B^{n} - \lambda I\right) det \mathcal{S}$$

$$= det\left(A + \lambda^{-m_{1}} B^{1} + \lambda^{-m_{2}} B^{2} + \dots + \lambda^{-m_{n}} B^{n} - \lambda I\right)$$

$$= det\left(A + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \lambda^{-m_{l}} B^{l} - \lambda I\right),$$

$$det\left(A_{\mathcal{S}} - \lambda I\right) = det\left(\mathcal{S}^{-1} A \mathcal{S} - \lambda \mathcal{S}^{-1} I \mathcal{S}\right)$$

$$= det\left[\mathcal{S}^{-1} (A - \lambda I) \mathcal{S}\right]$$

$$= det (A - \lambda I),$$

$$det\left(A + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \lambda^{-m_{l}} B^{l} - \lambda I\right) = det(A - \lambda I);$$

that is, equality (8) is assumed.

1.3. Necessary and Sufficient Conditions Determining Weakly Delayed Systems. In the next theorem, we give conditions, in terms of determinants, indicating whether a system is weakly delayed.

Theorem 3. System (1) is a weakly delayed system if and only if the following 3n + n(n-1)/2 conditions hold simultaneously:

$$b_{11}^l + b_{22}^l = 0, (13)$$

$$\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^l & b_{12}^l \\ b_{21}^l & b_{22}^l \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(14)

$$\begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^l & b_{22}^l \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^l & b_{12}^l \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(15)

$$\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & b_{12}^{l} \\ b_{21}^{\nu} & b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{\nu} & b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{l} & b_{22}^{l} \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(16)

where l, v = 1, 2, ..., n and v > l.

Proof. We start with computing determinant D defined by (5). We get

$$D = \begin{vmatrix} D_1 & D_2 \\ D_3 & D_4 \end{vmatrix}, \tag{17}$$

where

$$D_{1} = a_{11} + b_{11}^{1} \lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{11}^{2} \lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{11}^{n} \lambda^{-m_{n}} - \lambda,$$

$$D_{2} = a_{12} + b_{12}^{1} \lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{12}^{2} \lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n} \lambda^{-m_{n}},$$

$$D_{3} = a_{21} + b_{21}^{1} \lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{21}^{2} \lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{21}^{n} \lambda^{-m_{n}},$$

$$D_{4} = a_{22} + b_{22}^{1} \lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2} \lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{22}^{n} \lambda^{-m_{n}} - \lambda.$$
(18)

Expanding the determinant on the right-hand side along summands of the first column, we get

$$D = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} + b_{12}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{12}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} + b_{22}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} - \lambda \end{vmatrix}$$

$$+ \lambda^{-m_{1}} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{1} & a_{12} + b_{12}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} \\ b_{21}^{1} & a_{22} + b_{22}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} - \lambda \end{vmatrix}$$

$$+ \lambda^{-m_{2}} \begin{vmatrix} b_{21}^{2} & a_{12} + b_{12}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{12}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} \\ b_{21}^{2} & a_{22} + b_{22}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} \\ \end{vmatrix}$$

$$+ \dots$$

$$+ \lambda^{-m_{n}} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{n} & a_{12} + b_{12}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} \\ b_{21}^{n} & a_{22} + b_{22}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} \\ \end{vmatrix}$$

$$+ \lambda \begin{vmatrix} -1 & a_{12} + b_{12}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{12}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{12}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} \\ 0 & a_{22} + b_{22}^{1}\lambda^{-m_{1}} + b_{22}^{2}\lambda^{-m_{2}} + \dots + b_{22}^{n}\lambda^{-m_{n}} - \lambda \end{vmatrix}$$
(19)

Expanding each of the above determinants along summands of the second column, we have

(19)

$$D = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_1} \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & b_{12}^1 \\ a_{21} & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_2} \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & b_{12}^2 \\ a_{21} & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix}$$
$$+ \dots + \lambda^{-m_n} \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & b_{12}^n \\ a_{21} & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \lambda \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & 0 \\ a_{21} & -1 \end{vmatrix}$$
$$+ \lambda^{-m_1} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^1 & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^1 & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_1} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^1 & b_{12}^1 \\ b_{21}^1 & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_2} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^1 & b_{12}^2 \\ b_{21}^1 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^1 & b_{12}^1 \\ b_{21}^1 & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} + \lambda \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^1 & 0 \\ b_{21}^1 & -1 \end{vmatrix} \right]$$

$$\begin{split} \lambda^{-m_2} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^2 & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^2 & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_1} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^2 & b_{12}^1 \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_2} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^2 & b_{12}^2 \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^2 & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \lambda \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^2 & 0 \\ b_{21}^2 & -1 \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ \dots \\ \lambda^{-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^n & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_1} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^1 \\ b_{21}^n & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_2} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^2 \\ b_{21}^n & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^n & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \lambda \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & 0 \\ b_{21}^n & -1 \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ \lambda \left[\begin{vmatrix} -1 & a_{12} \\ 0 & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_1} \begin{vmatrix} -1 & b_{12}^1 \\ 0 & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-m_2} \begin{vmatrix} -1 & b_{12}^2 \\ 0 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n} \begin{vmatrix} -1 & b_{12}^n \\ 0 & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \lambda \begin{vmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{vmatrix} \right]. \end{split}$$

After simplification, we get

+

+

+

+

$$D = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} - \lambda & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} - \lambda \end{vmatrix} - \lambda^{-m_1+1} \left(b_{11}^1 + b_{22}^1 \right) \\ - \lambda^{-m_2+1} \left(b_{11}^2 + b_{22}^2 \right) + \dots - \lambda^{-m_n+1} \left(b_{11}^n + b_{22}^n \right) \\ + \lambda^{-m_1} \left[\begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^1 & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^1 & b_{12}^1 \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \lambda^{-m_2} \left[\begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{11} & b_{12}^1 \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^1 & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_1-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{11} & b_{12}^1 \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^1 & b_{22}^1 \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_2-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^2 & b_{12}^2 \\ b_{21}^2 & b_{22}^2 \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^n & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_2-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{n-1} & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^{n-1} & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^n & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{n-1} & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^{n-1} & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^{n-1} & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-m_n-m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{n-1} & b_{12}^{n-1} \\ b_{21}^{n-1} & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{21}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^{n-1} & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} \right] \\ + \dots + \lambda^{-2m_n} \left[\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^{n-1} & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{21}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^n & b_{22}^n \end{vmatrix} + \lambda^{-2m_1} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^n & b_{12}^n \\ b_{21}^n & b_{21}^n \end{vmatrix} \right].$$

(20)

Now we see that for (8) to hold; that is,

$$D = \det\left(A + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \lambda^{-m_l} B^l - \lambda I\right)$$

= det (A - \lambda I)
= $\begin{vmatrix}a_{11} - \lambda & a_{12}\\a_{21} & a_{22} - \lambda\end{vmatrix}$, (22)

conditions (13)–(16) are both necessary and sufficient. \Box

Lemma 4. Conditions (13)-(16) are equivalent to

$$\operatorname{tr} B^l = \det B^l = 0, \tag{23}$$

$$\det\left(A+B^l\right) = \det A,\tag{24}$$

$$\det\left(B^l + B^\nu\right) = 0,\tag{25}$$

where l, v = 1, 2, ..., n and v > l.

Proof. (I) We show that assumptions (13)–(16) imply (23)–(25). It is obvious that condition (23) is equivalent to (13), (14). Now we consider

$$\det\left(A+B^{l}\right) = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11}+b_{11}^{l} & a_{12}+b_{12}^{l} \\ a_{21}+b_{21}^{l} & a_{22}+b_{22}^{l} \end{vmatrix}.$$
 (26)

Expanding the determinant on the right-hand side along summands of the first column and then expanding each of the determinants along summands of the second column, we have

$$\det (A + B^{l}) = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} + b_{12}^{l} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} + b_{22}^{l} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & a_{12} + b_{12}^{l} \\ b_{21}^{l} & a_{22} + b_{22}^{l} \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & b_{12}^{l} \\ a_{21} & b_{22}^{l} \end{vmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^{l} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & b_{12}^{l} \\ b_{21}^{l} & b_{22}^{l} \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= [due to (15) and (16)] = det A.$$

Now we consider

$$\det\left(B^{l}+B^{\nu}\right) = \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l}+b_{11}^{\nu} & b_{12}^{l}+b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{l}+b_{21}^{\nu} & b_{22}^{l}+b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix}.$$
 (28)

Expanding the determinant on the right-hand side along summands of the first column and then expanding each of

the determinants along summands of the second column, we have

$$\det \left(B^{l} + B^{\nu}\right) = \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & b_{12}^{l} + b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{l} & b_{22}^{l} + b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{\nu} & b_{12}^{l} + b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{\nu} & b_{22}^{l} + b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & b_{12}^{l} \\ b_{21}^{l} & b_{22}^{l} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{l} & b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{\nu} & b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{\nu} & b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{\nu} & b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{\nu} & b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= [due to (15), (17)] = 0.$$

(II) Now we prove that assumptions (23)–(25) imply (13) and (16). Due to equivalence of (13) and (14) with (23), it remains to be shown that (23)–(25) imply (15) and (16).

If (24) holds, then, from computations in (27), we see that

$$\begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & b_{12}^l \\ a_{21} & b_{22}^l \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^l & a_{12} \\ b_{21}^l & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^l & b_{12}^l \\ b_{21}^l & b_{22}^l \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(30)

and because of (23) we get (15).

Finally, we show that (23) and (25) imply (16). From (29) (using (23)) we get

$$\det\left(B^{l}+B^{\nu}\right) = \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{l} & b_{12}^{\nu} \\ b_{21}^{l} & b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{\nu} & b_{12}^{l} \\ b_{21}^{\nu} & b_{22}^{\nu} \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(31)

that is, (16) holds.

1.4. Problem under Consideration. The aim of this paper is to give explicit formulas for solutions of weakly delayed systems and to show that, after several steps, the dimension of the space of all solutions, being initially equal to the dimension $2(m_n + 1)$ of the space of initial data (3) generated by discrete functions φ , is reduced to a dimension less than the initial one on an interval of the form \mathbb{Z}_s^{∞} with an s > 0. In other words, we will show that the $2(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional space of all solutions of (1) is pasted to a less-dimensional space of solutions on \mathbb{Z}_s^{∞} . This problem is solved directly by explicitly computing the corresponding solutions of the Cauchy problems with each of the cases arising being considered. The underlying idea for such investigation is simple. If (1) is a weakly delayed system, then the corresponding characteristic equation has only two eigenvalues instead of $2(m_n + 1)$ eigenvalues in the case of systems with nonweak delays. This explains why the dimension of the space of solutions becomes less than the initial one. The final results (Theorems 10-13) provide the dimension of the space of solutions. Our results generalize the results in [1, 2], where system (1) with n = 1and n = 2 was analyzed.

1.5. Auxiliary Formula. For the reader's convenience, we recall one explicit formula (see, e.g., [3]) for the solutions of linear scalar discrete nondelayed equations used in this paper. We consider initial-value problem for the first order linear discrete nonhomogeneous equation

$$w(k+1) = aw(k) + g(k), \quad w(k_0) = w_0, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{k_0}^{\infty}, \quad (32)$$

with $a \in \mathbb{C}$ and $g : \mathbb{Z}_{k_0}^{\infty} \to \mathbb{C}$. Then, it is easy to verify that unique solution of this problem is

$$w(k) = a^{k-k_0} w_0 + \sum_{r=k_0}^{k-1} a^{k-1-r} g(r), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{k_0+1}^{\infty}.$$
 (33)

Throughout the paper, we adopt the customary notation for the sum: $\sum_{i=\ell+s}^{\ell} \mathscr{F}(i) = 0$, where ℓ is an integer, *s* is a positive integer, and " \mathscr{F} " denotes the function considered independently of whether it is defined for indicated arguments or not.

Note that the formula (33) is used many times in recent literature to analyze asymptotic properties of solutions of various classes of difference equations, including nonlinear equations. We refer, for example, to [4–8] and to relevant references therein.

2. General Solution of Weakly Delayed System

If (8) holds, then (5) and (7) have only two (and the same) roots simultaneously. In order to prove the properties of the family of solutions of (1) formulated in the introduction, we will discuss each combination of roots, that is, the cases of two real and distinct roots, a pair of complex conjugate roots, and, finally, a double real root.

Although computations in Sections 1.2 and 1.3 were performed under assumption that $\lambda \neq 0$, results of this part remain valid also if one or both roots of characteristic equation (7) are zero.

2.1. Jordan Forms of the Matrix A and Corresponding Solutions of Problem (1) and (3). It is known that, for every matrix A, there exists a nonsingular matrix S transforming it to the corresponding Jordan matrix form Λ. This means that

$$\Lambda = S^{-1}AS,\tag{34}$$

where Λ has the following four possible forms (denoted below as $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \Lambda_3, \Lambda_4$), depending on the roots of the characteristic equation (7), that is, on the roots of

$$\lambda^{2} - (a_{11} + a_{22})\lambda + (a_{11}a_{22} - a_{12}a_{21}) = 0.$$
 (35)

If (35) has two real distinct roots λ_1 , λ_2 , then

$$\Lambda_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0\\ 0 & \lambda_2 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{36}$$

if the roots are complex conjugate, that is, $\lambda_{1,2} = p \pm iq$ with $q \neq 0$, then

$$\Lambda_2 = \begin{pmatrix} p & q \\ -q & p \end{pmatrix} \tag{37}$$

and, finally, in the case of one double real root $\lambda_{1,2} = \lambda$, we have either

$$\Lambda_3 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \tag{38}$$

or

$$\Lambda_4 = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix}. \tag{39}$$

The transformation $y(k) = S^{-1}x(k)$ transforms (1) into a system

$$y(k+1) = \Lambda y(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} B^{*l} y(k-m_l), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}$$
 (40)

with $B^{*l} = S^{-1}B^lS$, $B^{*l} = (b_{ij}^{*l})$, l = 1, ..., n, and i, j = 1, 2. Together with (40), we consider an initial problem

$$y(k) = \varphi^*(k), \qquad (41)$$

 $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^0$ with $\varphi^* : \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^0 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ where $\varphi^*(k) = S^{-1}\varphi(k)$ is the initial function corresponding to the initial function φ in (3).

Next, we consider all four possible cases (36)–(39) separately.

We define

$$\Phi_{1}(k) := (0, \varphi_{1}^{*}(k))^{T}, \qquad \Phi_{2}(k) := (\varphi_{2}^{*}(k), 0)^{T},$$

$$k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m}^{0}.$$
(42)

Assuming that (1) is a weakly delayed system, by Lemma 2, the system (40) is weakly delayed system again.

2.1.1. Case (36) of Two Real Distinct Roots. In this case, we have $\Lambda = \Lambda_1$ and $\Lambda_1^k = \text{diag}(\lambda_1^k, \lambda_2^k)$. The necessary and sufficient conditions (13)–(16) for (40) turn into

$$b_{11}^{*l} + b_{22}^{*l} = 0, (43)$$

$$\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{**} & b_{12}^{*l} \\ b_{21}^{**} & b_{22}^{*l} \end{vmatrix} = b_{11}^{*l} b_{22}^{*l} - b_{12}^{*l} b_{21}^{*l} = 0,$$
(44)

$$\begin{vmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0\\ b_{21}^{*l} & b_{22}^{*l} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{*l} & b_{12}^{*l}\\ 0 & \lambda_2 \end{vmatrix} = \lambda_1 b_{22}^{*l} + \lambda_2 b_{11}^{*l} = 0,$$
(45)

$$\begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{*l} & b_{12}^{*l} \\ b_{21}^{*\nu} & b_{22}^{*\nu} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{*\nu} & b_{12}^{*\nu} \\ b_{21}^{*l} & b_{22}^{*l} \end{vmatrix} = 0.$$
(46)

Since $\lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2$, (43) and (45) yield $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = 0$, then, from (44), we get $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = 0$, so that either $b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ or $b_{12}^{*l} = 0$. In view of assumptions $B^l \neq \Theta$, l = 1, 2, ..., n, we conclude that only the following cases I, II are possible:

(I)
$$b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0, b_{12}^{*l} \neq 0, l = 1, 2, ..., n,$$

(II) $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{12}^{*l} = 0, b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0, l = 1, 2, ..., n.$

In Theorem 5 both cases I, II are analyzed.

Theorem 5. Let (1) be a weakly delayed system and (35) has two real distinct roots λ_1 , λ_2 . If case (I) holds, then the solution

$$y(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \Lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{l2}^{*l}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{l}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{l2}^{*l}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & +\sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ & +\Phi_{2}\left(0\right)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+2}^{m_{s+1}+1}, \\ & \text{s} = 1, 2, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ & \Lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ & +\Phi_{2}\left(0\right)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+2}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

$$(47)$$

If case (II) is true, then the solution of initial problem (1), (3) is $x(k) = Sy(k), k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^{\infty}$, where y(k) has the form

$$y(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \Lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{2}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{2l}^{*l}\Phi_{1}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{l}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{2}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{2l}^{*l}\Phi_{1}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{21}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda_{2}^{k-1-r}\Phi_{1}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ + \Phi_{1}(0)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{r-m_{l}}\lambda_{2}^{k-1-r}\right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+2}^{m_{s+1}+1}, \\ s = 1, 2, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{21}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda_{2}^{k-1-r}\Phi_{1}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ + \Phi_{1}(0)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{r-m_{l}}\lambda_{2}^{k-1-r}\right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+2}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

$$(48)$$

 $\it Proof.$ If case (I) is true, then the transformed system (40) takes the form

$$y_1(k+1) = \lambda_1 y_1(k) + \sum_{l=1}^n b_{12}^{*l} y_2(k-m_l), \qquad (49)$$

$$y_2(k+1) = \lambda_2 y_2(k),$$

$$k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty},$$
(50)

and if case (II) holds, then (40) takes the form

$$y_1(k+1) = \lambda_1 y_1(k),$$
 (51)

$$y_{2}(k+1) = \lambda_{2}y_{2}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{21}^{*l} y_{1}(k-m_{l}),$$

$$k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty}.$$
(52)

We investigate only the initial problem (49), (50), (41) since the initial problem (51), (52), (41) can be examined in a similar way.

From (50), (41), we get

$$y_{2}(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \lambda_{2}^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{\infty}, \end{cases}$$
(53)

then (49) becomes

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \begin{cases} \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m_{1}}, \\ \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + b_{12}^{*1}\lambda_{2}^{k-m_{l}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{1}+1}^{m_{2}}, \\ \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l}\lambda_{2}^{k-m_{l}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{3}}, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l}\lambda_{2}^{k-m_{l}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+1}^{m_{s+1}}, \\ s = 3, 4, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l}\lambda_{2}^{k-m_{l}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+1}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

$$(54)$$

First, we solve this equation for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{m_1}.$ This means that we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m_{1}}, \qquad (55)$$
$$y_{1}(0) = \varphi_{1}^{*}(0).$$

With the aid of formula (33), we get

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda_{1}^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right], \qquad (56)$$
$$k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1}.$$

Now we solve (54) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_1+1}^{m_2}$ with initial data deduced from (56); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda_{1} y_{1}(k) + b_{12}^{*1} \lambda_{2}^{k-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{1}+1}^{m_{2}}, y_{1}(m_{1}+1) = \lambda_{1}^{m_{1}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{1}-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right].$$
(57)

Applying formula (33) we get (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_1+2}^{m_2+1}$)

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda_{1}^{k-(m_{1}+1)} y_{1}(m_{1}+1)$$

$$+ \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[b_{12}^{*1} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$= \lambda_{1}^{k-m_{1}-1} \left[\lambda_{1}^{m_{1}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda_{1}^{m_{1}-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[b_{12}^{*1} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$= \lambda_{1}^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] + \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[b_{12}^{*1} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] = \lambda_{1}^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{1}} \right].$$
(58)

Now we solve (54) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_2+1}^{m_3}$ with initial data deduced from (58); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{3}}, y_{1}(m_{2}+1) = \lambda_{1}^{m_{2}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{2}-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{2}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{m_{2}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{2}-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{1}} \right].$$
(59)

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_2+2}^{m_3+1}$)

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda_{1}^{k-(m_{2}+1)} y_{1}(m_{2}+1) + \sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$
$$= \lambda_{1}^{k-m_{2}-1} \left[\lambda_{1}^{m_{2}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{2}-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$+ \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \bigg]$$

if $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-1}+2}^{m_{s}+1}$. (61)

We solve (54) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_s+1}^{m_{s+1}}$ with initial data deduced from (61); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+1}^{m_{s+1}}, y_{1}(m_{s}+1) = \lambda_{1}^{m_{s}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{s}-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] + \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{s}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{m_{s}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{s}-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right].$$
(62)

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_s+2}^{m_{s+1}+1}$)

$$\begin{split} y_{1}\left(k\right) \\ &= \lambda_{1}^{k-(m_{s}+1)} y_{1}\left(m_{s}+1\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &= \lambda_{1}^{k-(m_{s}+1)} \left[\lambda_{1}^{m_{s}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{s}-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{s}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{m_{s}} \lambda_{1}^{r-m_{l}} \right] \right] \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \right] \\ &= \lambda_{1}^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \end{split}$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_1} \lambda_1^{m_2 - r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_1) \right. \\ + \varphi_2^* (0) \sum_{r=m_1+1}^{m_2} \lambda_1^{m_2 - r} \lambda_2^{r-m_1} \right] \right] \\ + \sum_{r=m_2+1}^{k-1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \varphi_2^* (0) + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) \right] \\ = \lambda_1^k \varphi_1^* (0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) \right] \\ + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_1) \right. \\ + \varphi_2^* (0) \sum_{r=m_1+1}^{m_2} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_1} \right] \\ + \sum_{r=m_2+1}^{k-1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \varphi_2^* (0) \right. \\ + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) \right] \\ = \lambda_1^k \varphi_1^* (0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) \right] \\ + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) \right. \\ + \varphi_2^* (0) \sum_{r=m_1+1}^{k-1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_1} \right] \\ + b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_2) \right. \\ + \varphi_2^* (0) \sum_{r=m_2+1}^{k-1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_2} \right].$$
(60)

From (56), (58), and (60) we deduce that expected form of the solution of the initial problem for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-1}+1}^{m_s}$ with initial data derived from the solution of previous equation for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-2}+1}^{m_{s-1}}$ is

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda_{1}^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$
$$+ \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$\begin{split} &+\sum_{l=1}^{s-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_l\right) \right. \\ &+ \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_l+1}^{m_s} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_s+1}^{k-1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \right. \\ &+ \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_l\right) \right] \\ &= \lambda_1^k \varphi_1^* \left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_s} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \left[b_{12}^{*s} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_s\right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_l\right) \right] \\ &+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_l\right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_l+1}^{m_s} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \right] \\ &+ b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_2\right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_2+1}^{m_s} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_2} \right] \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} + b_{12}^{*s-1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{s-1}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{s-1} \right) \right. \\ & \left. + \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \sum_{r=m_{s-1}+1}^{m_{s}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{s-1}} \right] \\ & \left. + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{1}} \right] \right] \\ & \left. + b_{12}^{*2} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{2}} \right] \\ & \left. + \dots \right. \\ & \left. + b_{12}^{*s} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{s}} \right] \\ & \left. + \dots \right. \\ & \left. + b_{12}^{*s} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{s}} \right] \\ & \left. + \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \right] \end{split}$$

 $+ \cdots$

$$= \lambda_{1}^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \right].$$
(63)

In the end we solve (54) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+1}^{\infty}$ with initial data deduced from (63); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda_{1}y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+1}^{\infty},$$

$$y_{1}(m_{n}+1) = \lambda_{1}^{m_{n}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{n}-r} b_{12}^{*n} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{n})$$

$$+ \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{n}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{m_{n}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{n}-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \right].$$

$$(64)$$

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$)

$$\begin{split} y_{1}\left(k\right) &= \lambda_{1}^{k-(m_{n}+1)} y_{1}\left(m_{n}+1\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{n}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &= \lambda_{1}^{k-(m_{n}+1)} \left[\lambda_{1}^{m_{n}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda_{1}^{m_{n}-r} b_{12}^{*n} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{n}\right) \right. \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{n}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{m_{n}} \lambda_{1}^{m_{n}-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \right] \right] \\ &+ \left. \sum_{r=m_{n}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \right] \\ &= \lambda_{1}^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} b_{12}^{*n} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{n}\right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+\sum_{l=1}^{n-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_l\right) \right. \\ &+ \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_l+1}^{m_n} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_n+1}^{k-1} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^n b_{12}^{*l} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \right] \\ &= \lambda_1^k \varphi_1^* \left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^m \lambda_1^{k-1-r} b_{12}^{*n} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_n\right) \\ &+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_1\right) \right. \\ &+ \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_1+1}^{m_s} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_l} \right] \\ &+ b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_2\right) \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. + \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_2+1}^{m_s} \lambda_1^{k-1-r} \lambda_2^{r-m_2} \right] \right] \end{split}$$

$$+ \cdots$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*n-1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n-1}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{n-1}\right) \right. \\ \left. + \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{n-1}+1}^{m_{s}} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{n-1}} \right] \\ \left. + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{1}} \right] \\ \left. + b_{12}^{*2} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{2}} \right] \\ \left. + \cdots \right. \\ \left. + b_{12}^{*n} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{n}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{n}} \right] \\ \left. + \cdots \right. \\ \left. + b_{12}^{*n} \left[\varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{n}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{n}} \right] \\ \left. + \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1} \lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}} \right] \right]$$

(65)

Summing up all particular cases (56)–(65) we have

$$y_{1}(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{1}^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{l2}^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{l}+1}, \\ \lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n}b_{l2}^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \\ & + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & \lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\left[\sum_{l=3}^{n}b_{l2}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \\ & + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & + b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{2}) \\ & + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+2}^{m_{3}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ & \lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \\ & + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+2}^{m_{3}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ & \lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{l2}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \\ & + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+2}^{m_{3}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ & \lambda_{1}^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{l2}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \\ & + \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1}\lambda_{1}^{k-1-r}\lambda_{2}^{r-m_{l}}\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+2}^{m_{3}+2}. \end{cases}$$
(66)

Now, taking into account (42), formula (47) is a consequence of (53) and (66). Formula (48) can be proved in a similar way. Finally, we note that both formulas (47), (48) remain valid for $b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$. In this case, the transformed system

(1) reduces to a system without delays. This possibility is excluded by condition (2). $\hfill \Box$

2.1.2. Case (37) of Two Complex Conjugate Roots. The necessary and sufficient conditions (13)–(16) take the forms (43), (44), (46), and

$$\begin{vmatrix} p & q \\ b_{21}^{*l} & b_{22}^{*l} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{*l} & b_{12}^{*l} \\ -q & p \end{vmatrix} = p\left(b_{11}^{*l} + b_{22}^{*l}\right) + q\left(b_{12}^{*l} - b_{21}^{*l}\right) = 0,$$
(67)

where l, v = 1, 2, ..., n and v > l.

The system of conditions (43), (44), and (67) gives $b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l}$, $(b_{11}^{*l})^2 = -(b_{12}^{*l})^2$ and admits only one possibility; namely,

$$b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0.$$
(68)

Consequently, $B^{*l} = \Theta$, $B^l = \Theta$.

The initial problem (1), (3) reduces to a problem without delay

$$x (k+1) = Ax (k),$$

$$x (k) = \varphi (k), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^0$$
(69)

and, obviously,

$$x(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^0, \\ A^k \varphi(0) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_1^\infty. \end{cases}$$
(70)

From this discussion, the next theorem follows.

Theorem 6. *There exists no weakly delayed system* (1) *if* Λ *has the form* (37).

Finally, we note that the assumption (2) alone excludes this case.

2.1.3. *Case* (38) *of Double Real Root.* In this case we have $\Lambda = \Lambda_3$ and $\Lambda_3^k = \text{diag}(\lambda^k, \lambda^k)$. For (40), the necessary and sufficient conditions (13)–(16) are reduced to (43), (44), (46), and

$$\begin{vmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ b_{21}^{*l} & b_{22}^{*l} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{*l} & b_{12}^{*l} \\ 0 & \lambda \end{vmatrix} = \lambda \left(b_{11}^{*l} + b_{22}^{*l} \right) = 0,$$
(71)

where l = 1, 2, ..., n.

From (43), (44), and (71), we get $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = -(b_{11}^{*l})^2$. From the condition (46) we get

$$b_{11}^{*l}b_{22}^{*\nu} - b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*\nu} + b_{22}^{*l}b_{11}^{*\nu} - b_{21}^{*l}b_{12}^{*\nu} = 0,$$
(72)

where l, v = 1, 2, ..., n and v > l. Multiplying (72) by $b_{12}^{*l} b_{12}^{*v}$, we have

$$b_{11}^{*l}b_{22}^{*\nu}b_{12}^{*l}b_{12}^{*\nu} - (b_{12}^{*l})^{2}b_{21}^{*\nu}b_{12}^{*\nu} + b_{22}^{*l}b_{11}^{*\nu}b_{12}^{*l}b_{12}^{*\nu} - b_{21}^{*l}b_{12}^{*l}(b_{12}^{*\nu})^{2} = 0.$$
(73)

Substituting $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = -(b_{11}^{*l})^2$, $b_{12}^{*v}b_{21}^{*v} = -(b_{11}^{*v})^2$ into (73) and using (43) we obtain

$$-b_{11}^{*l}b_{11}^{*\nu}b_{12}^{*l}b_{12}^{*\nu} + (b_{12}^{*l})^2 (b_{11}^{*\nu})^2 -b_{11}^{*l}b_{11}^{*\nu}b_{12}^{*l}b_{12}^{*\nu} + (b_{11}^{*l})^2 (b_{12}^{*\nu})^2 = 0.$$
(74)

The equation (74) can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_{12}^{*l}b_{11}^{*\nu} - b_{12}^{*\nu}b_{11}^{*l} \end{pmatrix}^2 = 0,$$

$$b_{12}^{*l}b_{11}^{*\nu} = b_{12}^{*\nu}b_{11}^{*l}.$$
(75)

Now we will analyse the two possible cases: $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ and $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$.

For the case $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = 0$, we have from (43), (44) that $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = 0$ and $b_{12}^{*l} = 0$ or $b_{21}^{*l} = 0$. For $b_{12}^{*l} = 0$ and $b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$, condition (46) gives $b_{12}^{*\nu} = 0$, where $l, \nu = 1, 2, ..., n$ and $\nu > l$. Then, from (43), (44) for $l = \nu$, we get $b_{11}^{*\nu} = b_{22}^{*\nu} = 0$ and $b_{21}^{*\nu} \neq 0$.

For $b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ and $b_{12}^{*l} \neq 0$, condition (46) gives $b_{21}^{*v} = 0$, where l, v = 1, 2, ..., n and v > l, then, from (43), (44) for l = v, we get $b_{11}^{*v} = b_{22}^{*v} = 0$ and $b_{12}^{*v} \neq 0$.

Now we discuss the case $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$. From conditions (43), (44), we have $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = -(b_{11}^{*l})^2$ and $b_{11}^{*l}b_{22}^{*l} \neq 0$. This yields $b_{11}^{*l} \neq 0$, $b_{22}^{*l} \neq 0$ and, from (75), we have $b_{11}^{*\nu} \neq 0$, $b_{12}^{*\nu} \neq 0$. By conditions (43), (44) for $\nu = l$, we get $b_{22}^{*\nu} \neq 0$, $b_{21}^{*\nu} \neq 0$.

From the assumptions $B^l \neq \Theta$, we conclude that only the following cases ((I), (II), (III)) are possible:

(I)
$$b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0, b_{12}^{*l} \neq 0,$$

(II) $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{12}^{*l} = 0, b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0,$
(III) $b_{12}^{*l} b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0,$

where l = 1, 2, ..., n.

2.1.4. Case $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = 0$

Theorem 7. Let (1) be a weakly delayed system, (35) has a twofold root $\lambda_{1,2} = \lambda$, $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ and the matrix Λ has the form (38). Then the solution of the initial problem (1), (3) is $x(k) = Sy(k), k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^{\infty}$, where in case $b_{21}^{*l} = 0, y(k)$ has the form

$$y(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & +\sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{12}^{*l}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ & +\left(k-1-m_{l}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\Phi_{2}\left(0\right)\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+2}^{m_{s+1}+1}, \\ s = 1, 2, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) \\ & +\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\Phi_{2}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ & +\left(k-1-m_{l}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\Phi_{2}\left(0\right)\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+2}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

$$(76)$$

If $b_{12}^{*l} = 0$ is true then the solution of initial problem (1), (3) is $x(k) = Sy(k), k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^{\infty}$, where y(k) has the form

$$y(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{21}^{*l}\Phi_{1}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{21}^{*l}\Phi_{1}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + \sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{21}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\Phi_{1}(r-m_{l}) + (k-1-m_{l})\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\Phi_{1}(0)\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+2}^{m_{s}+1}, \\ s = 1, 2, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{21}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\Phi_{1}(r-m_{l}) + (k-1-m_{l})\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\Phi_{1}(0)\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+2}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

$$(77)$$

Proof. Case (I) means that $b_{12}^{*l} \neq 0$. Then (40) turns into the system

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} y_{2}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty}$$

$$y_{2}(k+1) = \lambda y_{2}(k),$$
(78)

and, if $b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$, (40) turns into the system

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda y_{1}(k),$$

$$y_{2}(k+1) = \lambda y_{2}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{21}^{*l} y_{1}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty}.$$
(79)

System (78) can be solved in much the same way as the systems (49), (50) if we put $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda$, and the discussion of the system (79) goes along the same lines as that of the systems (51), (52) with $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda$. Formulas (76) and (77) are consequences of (47), (48).

2.1.5. *Case* $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_v}^0$, we define

$$\Phi_{l}^{*}(k) := \left(b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k) \right],$$

$$- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l} \right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k) \right] \right)^{T}.$$

$$(80)$$

Theorem 8. Let system (1) be a weakly delayed system, (35) admits two repeated roots $\lambda_{1,2} = \lambda$, $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$ and the matrix Λ_3 has the form (38). Then the solution of the initial problem

(1), (3) is given by $x(k) = Sy(k), k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^{\infty}$, where y(k) has the form

$$y(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}\Phi_{l}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1}, \\ \vdots & \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}\Phi_{l}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] & \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{s} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\Phi_{l}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + (k-1-m_{l})\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\Phi_{l}^{*}(0)\right] & (81) \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+2}^{m_{s+1}+1}, \\ s = 1, 2, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots & \\ \Lambda_{3}^{k}\varphi^{*}(0) & \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\Phi_{l}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + (k-1-m_{l})\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\Phi_{l}^{*}(0)\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+2}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

Proof. In this case, all the entries of B^{*l} are nonzero and, from (43), (44), and (71), we get

$$B^{*} = \begin{pmatrix} b_{11}^{*l} & b_{12}^{*l} \\ \frac{-(b_{11}^{*l})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} & -b_{11}^{*l} \end{pmatrix},$$
(82)

where l = 1, 2, ..., n, then, the system (40) reduces to

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} \left[b_{11}^{*l} y_{1}(k-m_{l}) + b_{12}^{*l} y_{2}(k-m_{l}) \right],$$
(83)

$$y_{2}(k+1) = \lambda y_{2}(k) - \sum_{l=1}^{n} \left[\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} y_{1}(k-m_{l}) + b_{11}^{*l} y_{2}(k-m_{l}) \right],$$
(84)

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}$. It is easy to see (multiplying (84) by b_{12}^{*1}/b_{11}^{*1} and summing both equations) that

$$y_{1}(k+1) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} y_{2}(k+1) = \lambda \left[y_{1}(k) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} y_{2}(k) \right],$$
(85)
$$k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty}.$$

Equation (85) is a homogeneous equation with respect to the unknown expression

$$y_1(k) + \left(\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\right) y_2(k),$$
 (86)

then, using (33), we obtain

$$y_{1}(k) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} y_{2}(k)$$

$$= \begin{cases} \varphi_{1}^{*}(k) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \lambda^{k} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

$$(87)$$

With the aid of (87), we rewrite the systems (83), (84) as follows:

$$y_{1}(k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \\ + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left\{ \varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right\} \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left\{ \varphi_{1}^{*}(k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k - m_{l}) \right\} \\ + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{l}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{l}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{l}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right$$

$$y_{2}(k+1) = \begin{cases} \lambda y_{2}(k) - \sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l})\right] & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m_{1}}, \\ \lambda y_{2}(k) - \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+1}} \lambda^{k-m_{1}} & \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{k+1}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right] \\ - \sum_{l=2}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{1})\right] & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{1}+1}^{m_{2}}, \\ \lambda y_{2}(k) - \sum_{l=1}^{2} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right] \\ - \sum_{l=3}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{k+1}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l})\right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{2}}, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda y_{2}(k) - \sum_{l=3}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{k+1}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right] \\ - \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{k+1}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l})\right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{2}}, \\ s = 3, 4, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda y_{2}(k) - \sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+1}} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+1}^{m_{n}}, \\ \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{k+1}}{b_{12}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+1}^{m_{n}}. \end{cases}$$
(88)

First, we solve this system for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{m_1}$ and consider the problems

Abstract and Applied Analysis

$$y_{2}(k+1) = \lambda y_{2}(k)$$

$$-\sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l})\right]$$
if $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m_{1}}$,
$$y_{2}(0) = \varphi_{2}^{*}(0).$$
(89)

With the aid of formula (33), we get

 $y_1(k)$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \\ \times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right), \qquad (90)$$

$$k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1},$$

 $y_2(k)$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right), \\ k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1}.$$
(91)

Now we solve system (88) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_1+1}^{m_2}$; that is, we consider the problem (with initial data deduced from (90), (91))

$$y_{1}(k+1)$$

$$= \lambda y_{1}(k) + b_{11}^{*1} \lambda^{k-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(k-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) \right]$$
if $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{1}+1}^{m_{2}}$,

、

$$y_{1}(m_{1}+1)$$

$$= \lambda^{m_{1}+1}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{m_{1}-r}$$

$$\times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right]\right),$$

$$y_{2} (k + 1)$$

$$= \lambda y_{2} (k) - \frac{(b_{11}^{*1})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}} \lambda^{k-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right]$$

$$- \sum_{l=2}^{n} \frac{(b_{11}^{*l})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (k - m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (k - m_{1}) \right]$$

$$\text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{1}+1}^{m_{2}},$$

$$y_{2} (m_{1} + 1)$$

$$= \lambda^{m_1+1} \varphi_2^* (0) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_1} \lambda^{m_1-r} \\ \times \left(\sum_{l=1}^n \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_l\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_l\right) \right] \right).$$
(92)

Formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_1+2}^{m_2+1}$)

$$\begin{split} y_{1}\left(k\right) \\ &= \lambda^{k-(m_{1}+1)}y_{1}\left(m_{1}+1\right) + \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(b_{11}^{*1}\lambda^{k-m_{1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &= \lambda^{k-m_{1}-1}\left[\lambda^{m_{1}+1}\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{m_{1}-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(b_{11}^{*1}\lambda^{k-m_{1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} = \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right) \\ + \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(b_{11}^{*1} \lambda^{k-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right) \\ = \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right) \\ + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} b_{11}^{*1} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ + (k-1-m_{1}) b_{11}^{*1} \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ + (k-1-m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ + b_{11}^{*1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right) \\ + b_{11}^{*1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ + (k-1-m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right), \end{aligned}$$
(93)

 $y_2(k)$

$$= \lambda^{k-(m_1+1)} y_2(m_1+1) - \sum_{r=m_1+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r}$$
$$\times \left(\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*1}} \lambda^{r-m_1} \left[\varphi_1^*(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^*(0) \right] + \sum_{l=2}^n \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_1^*(r-m_l) \right]$$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \right] \right)$$
$$- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{1}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{1}\right) \right] + \left(k - 1 - m_{1}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}}$$
$$\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \right] \right).$$
(94)

Now we solve (88) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_2+1}^{m_3}$; that is, we consider the problem (with initial data deduced from (93), (94))

$$y_{1} (k + 1)$$

$$= \lambda y_{1} (k) + \sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (k - m_{l}) \right]$$

$$if \ k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{3}},$$

$$y_{1} (m_{2} + 1)$$

$$= \lambda^{m_{2}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{m_{2}-r}$$

$$\times \left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (r - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{l}) \right] \right)$$

$$+ b_{11}^{*1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{m_{2}-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (r - m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{l}) \right]$$

$$+ (m_{2} - m_{1}) \lambda^{m_{2}-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right] \right),$$

$$(l - 1)$$

$$y_{2} (k + 1)$$

$$= \lambda y_{2} (k) - \sum_{l=1}^{2} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0)\right]$$

$$- \sum_{l=3}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} (k - m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (k - m_{l})\right]$$
if $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{3}}$,

$$\begin{split} &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \Big] \Big) \\ &= \lambda^{k-m_{l}-1} \left[\lambda^{m_{l}+1} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{m_{l}-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l} \right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \right] \right) \Big] \\ &- \sum_{r=m_{l}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l} \right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l} \right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*l$$

$$y_{2}(m_{2}+1)$$

$$= \lambda^{m_{2}+1}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}}\lambda^{m_{2}-r}$$

$$\times \left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} \frac{(b_{11}^{*l})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right]\right)$$

$$- \frac{(b_{11}^{*1})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{m_{2}-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{1})\right]$$

$$+ (m_{2}-m_{1})\lambda^{m_{2}-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right]\right).$$
(95)

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_2+2}^{m_3+1}$)

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda^{k-(m_{2}+1)} y_{1}(m_{2}+1) + \sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \\ \times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right] \\ + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right]\right) \\ = \lambda^{k-m_{2}-1} \left[\lambda^{m_{2}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{m_{2}-r} \\ \times \left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right]\right) \\ + b_{11}^{*1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{m_{2}-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ + (m_{2}-m_{1}) \lambda^{m_{2}-m_{1}} \\ \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right]\right) \right] \\ + \sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right] \right) \right] \\ \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{split} &+\sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \bigg) \\ &= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \bigg) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \right) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*l} \left(r-m_{l} \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \bigg] \bigg) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \bigg(\sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=3}^{k} b_{11}^{*l} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \bigg) \\ &= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \bigg(\sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \bigg) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} b_{12}^{*2} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \\ &+ b_{11}^{*1} \bigg(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \\ &+ (m_{2} - m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \\ &+ (k - 1 - m_{2}) \bigg(b_{11}^{*1} \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \bigg] \bigg) \\ &+ \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \bigg(\sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*2} \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*2} \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \bigg[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r-m_{l} \right) \bigg] \bigg) \end{aligned}$$

$$+ b_{11}^{*1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_1 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_1 \right) \right] \\ + \left(k - 1 - m_1 \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_1} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ + b_{11}^{*2} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_2 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_2 \right) \right] \\ + \left(k - 1 - m_2 \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_2} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \right),$$
(96)

$$\begin{split} &=\lambda^{k-(m_{2}+1)}y_{2}\left(m_{2}+1\right)-\sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\\ &\times\left(\sum_{l=1}^{2}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{l=3}^{n}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &=\lambda^{k-m_{2}-1}\left[\lambda^{m_{2}+1}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)-\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}}\lambda^{m_{2}-r}\right.\\ &\times\left(\sum_{l=2}^{n}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right.\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &-\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{m_{2}-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right.\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right]\\ &+\left(m_{2}-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{m_{2}-m_{1}}\right.\\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\right]\\ &-\sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{2}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{l=3}^{n}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right.\\ &+\left.\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &=\lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)-\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=2}^{n}\frac{\left(b_{1l}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right.\\&\left.+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &-\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\left(m_{2}-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &-\sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{2}\frac{\left(b_{1l}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\sum_{l=3}^{n}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right.\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &=\lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)-\sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=3}^{n}\frac{\left(b_{1l}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &-\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right]\\ &-\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right]\\ &+\left(m_{2}-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &-\left(k-1-m_{2}\right)\\ &\times\left(\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*2}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*2}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*2}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*2}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*$$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=3}^{n} \frac{(b_{11}^{*l})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right)$$

$$- \frac{(b_{11}^{*1})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{1}) \right] + (k-1-m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right)$$

$$- \frac{(b_{12}^{*2})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{2}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{2}) \right] + (k-1-m_{2}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right).$$
(97)

From (93)–(97) we deduce that expected form of the solution of the initial problem for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-1}+1}^{m_s}$ with initial data derived from the solution of previous equation for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-2}+1}^{m_{s-1}}$ is

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \times \left(\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right) + \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} \left[b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] + (k-1-m_{l}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right) \right]$$
if $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-1}+2}^{m_{s+1}+2}$

 $y_1(k)$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \times \left(\sum_{l=s}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right)$$

$$-\sum_{l=1}^{s-1} \left[\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_l\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_l\right) \right] \right. \\ \left. + \left(k - 1 - m_l\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_l} \right. \\ \left. \times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) \right] \right) \right] \\ \left. \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-1}+2}^{m_s+1}.$$

$$(98)$$

We solve (88) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_s+1}^{m_{s+1}}$ with initial data deduced from (98); that is, we consider the problem

$$\begin{split} y_{1}\left(k+1\right) \\ &= \lambda y_{1}\left(k\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(k-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(k-m_{l}\right) \right] \\ &\quad \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+1}^{m_{s+1}}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} y_{1}\left(m_{s}+1\right) \\ &= \lambda^{m_{s}+1}\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left(\sum_{l=s}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{s-1}b_{11}^{*l}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{l}\right)\lambda^{m_{s}-m_{l}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right), \end{split}$$

$$y_{2}(m_{s}+1) = \lambda^{m_{s}+1}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left(\sum_{l=s}^{n}\frac{(b_{11}^{*l})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right]\right) - \sum_{l=1}^{s-1}\frac{(b_{11}^{*l})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] + (m_{s}-m_{l})\lambda^{m_{s}-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right]\right).$$
(99)

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_s+2}^{m_{s+1}+1}$)

 $y_1(k)$

$$\begin{split} &=\lambda^{k-(m_{s}+1)}y_{1}\left(m_{s}+1\right)+\sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\\ &\times\left(\sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{11}^{*l}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &=\lambda^{k-m_{s}-1}\left[\lambda^{m_{s}+1}\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\right.\\ &\times\left(\sum_{l=s}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\sum_{l=1}^{s-1}b_{11}^{*l}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right.\\ &+\left.\sum_{l=1}^{k-1}b_{11}^{*l}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{11}^{*l}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\right]\\ &+\left(m_{s}-m_{l}\right)\lambda^{m_{s}-m_{l}}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right.\\ &+\left.\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\right.\end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &=\lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\\ &\times\left(\sum_{l=s}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\sum_{l=1}^{s-1}b_{11}^{*l}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\left(m_{s}-m_{l}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\sum_{r=m_{r}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{11}^{*l}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\\ &\times\left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+b_{11}^{*s}\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{s}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{s}\right)\right]\\ &+b_{11}^{*s}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{s}\right)\right]\\ &+b_{11}^{*s}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{s}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{s}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+b_{11}^{*s}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{s}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{s}\right)\right]\\ &+b_{11}^{*s}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right)\right]\\ &+b_{11}^{*s}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right]\\ &+(m_{s}-m_{1})\lambda^{k-1-m_{s}}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\cdots\\ &+b_{11}^{*s-1}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t-1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{s-1}\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{s-1}\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{s-1}\right)\right]\end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \left(m_{s} - m_{s-1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{s-1}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{s}\right) \\ &\times \left(\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}}b_{11}^{*1}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}b_{11}^{*2}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] + \cdots \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{s-1}}b_{11}^{*s-1}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{s}}b_{11}^{*s}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \right) \\ &= \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*1}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*2}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{2}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ \cdots \\ &+ b_{11}^{*s-1}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{s-1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{s-1}\right)\right) \\ \end{split}$$

 $+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*(r-m_{s-1})$

+ $(k - 1 - m_{s-1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{s-1}}$

 $\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right]$

$$\begin{split} + \left(k - 1 - m_{s}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{t}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &= \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ \times \left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{11}^{*l}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(k - 1 - m_{l}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \\ \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*2}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right), \end{split}$$
(100)
$$y_{2}\left(k\right) \\ &= \lambda^{k-(m_{s}+1)}y_{2}\left(m_{s}+1\right) - \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ \times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{s} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \right) \\ &= \lambda^{k-m_{s}-1}\left[\lambda^{m_{s}+1}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) - \sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{m_{s}-r} \\ \times \left(\sum_{l=s}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \right) \\ &- \sum_{l=s}^{s-1} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \right) \\ &- \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{m_{s}-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*1}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(\varphi_{1}^{*1}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right)\right] \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(e_{1}^{*1}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(e_{1}^{*1}\left(r$$

 $+ b_{11}^{*s} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_s} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_s \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_s \right) \right]$

$$\begin{split} &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{1}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{2}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ \cdots \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s-1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*-1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{s-1}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{s-1}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{s-1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &- \left(k-1-m_{s}\right) \\ \times \left(\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s-1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{s-2}} \frac{\left(b_{12}^{*s-1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*s-1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{s}} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s-1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*s-1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{s}} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s-1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*s-1}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \right) \\ &= \lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{l_{r=0}^{*}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \right) \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{k}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \left(m_{s} - m_{l}\right)\lambda^{m_{s} - m_{l}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\right] \\ &- \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{s} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &= \lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=s}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &- \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(m_{s} - m_{l}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &- \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{s} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &= \lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{12}^{*}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*s}}\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{s}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{s}\right)\right]\right) \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*s}}\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{s}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{s}\right)\right] \\ &\right] \\ & \left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s}\right)^{2}}{b_{11}^{*s}}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{s}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*s}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r - m_{s}\right)\right] \\ &\left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s}\right)^{2}}{b_{11}^{*s}}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r - m_{s}\right) + \frac{$$

In the end, we solve (88) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+1}^{\infty}$ with initial data deduced from (100) and (101); that is, we consider the problem

 y_1

$$\begin{aligned} (k+1) &= \lambda y_1 (k) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_l} \left[\varphi_1^* (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* (0) \right] \\ &= if \ k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+1}^{\infty}, \\ y_1 (m_n + 1) \\ &= \lambda^{m_n+1} \varphi_1^* (0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_n} \lambda^{m_n-r} b_{11}^{*n} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* (r - m_n) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* (r - m_n) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda^{m_n-r} \left[\varphi_1^* (r - m_l) \right] \\ &+ \left(m_n - m_l \right) \lambda^{m_n-m_l} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* (0) \right] \right], \\ y_2 (k+1) \\ &= \lambda y_2 (k) - \sum_{l=1}^{n} \left(\frac{b_{11}^{*l}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \lambda^{k-m_l} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*l}} \varphi_2^* (0) \right] \quad \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+1}^{\infty}, \\ y_2 (m_n + 1) \\ &= \lambda^{m_n+1} \varphi_2^* (0) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_n} \lambda^{m_n-r} \left(\frac{b_{11}^{*n}}{b_{12}^{*n}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* (r - m_n) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*n}} \varphi_2^* (r - m_n) \right] \\ &- \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} \left(\frac{b_{11}^{*l}}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda^{m_n-r} \left[\varphi_1^* (r - m_l) \right] \\ &+ \left(m_n - m_l \right) \lambda^{m_n-m_l} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* (0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* (0) \right] \right]. \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*2}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*2}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r-m_2\right) + \frac{b_{11}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_2\right)\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_2\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_2} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &+ \cdots \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s-1}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*s-1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{s-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r-m_{s-1}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_{s-1}\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{s-1}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{s-1}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &- \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*s}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*s}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r-m_s\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_s\right)\right] \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_s\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_s} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &= \lambda^k \varphi_2^* \left(0\right) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r-m_l\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_l\right)\right]\right) \\ &- \sum_{l=1}^{s} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^2}{b_{12}^{*l}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r-m_l\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r-m_l\right)\right)\right] \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

 $+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) \bigg]$

 $+(k-1-m_l)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}$

 $\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \right] \right).$

(101)

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$)

$$y_1(k)$$

$$\begin{split} &=\lambda^{k-(m_n+1)}y_1\left(m_n+1\right)+\sum_{r=m_n+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\\ &\times\left(\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\lambda^{r-m_l}\left[\varphi_1^*\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &=\lambda^{k-m_n-1}\left[\lambda^{m_n+1}\varphi_1^*\left(0\right)\\ &+\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{m_n-r}b_{11}^{*n}\left[\varphi_1^*\left(r-m_n\right)\right]\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{l=1}^{n-1}b_{11}^{*l}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{n}\lambda^{m_n-r}\left[\varphi_1^*\left(r-m_l\right)\right]\\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{m_n-m_l}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_1^*\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right]\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{r=m_n+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{11}^{*l}\lambda^{r-m_l}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_1^*\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &=\lambda^k\varphi_1^*\left(0\right)+\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}b_{11}^{*n}\left[\varphi_1^*\left(r-m_n\right)\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right)\right]\\ &+\sum_{l=1}^{n-1}b_{11}^{*l}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_l}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_1^*\left(r-m_l\right)\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right)\right]\\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_1^*\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right]\right)\end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \sum_{r=m_n+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_l} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ &= \lambda^k \varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_n} \lambda^{k-1-r} b_{11}^{*n} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_n \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_n \right) \right] \\ &+ b_{11}^{*1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_n} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_1 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_1 \right) \right] \\ &+ \left(m_n - m_1 \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_1} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*2} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_2 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_2 \right) \right] \\ &+ \left(m_n - m_2 \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_2} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ &+ \cdots \\ &+ b_{11}^{*n-1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_{n-1} \right) \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_{n-1} \right) \right] \\ &+ \left(m_n - m_{n-1} \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{n-1}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ &+ \left(k - 1 - m_n \right) \\ &\times \left(\lambda^{k-1-m_1} b_{11}^{*1} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_n-1} b_{11}^{*n-1} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_n-1} b_{11}^{*n-1} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + b_{11}^{*1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{1} \right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{1} \right) \right] \\ &+ \left(k - 1 - m_{1} \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ &+ b_{11}^{*2} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{2} \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{2} \right) \right] \\ &+ \left(k - 1 - m_{2} \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \\ &\times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ &+ \cdots \end{split}$$

$$+ b_{11}^{*n-1} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{n-1} \right) \right. \\ + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{n-1} \right) \right] \\ + \left(k - 1 - m_{n-1} \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{n-1}} \\ \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ + b_{11}^{*n} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{n} \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{n} \right) \right] \\ + \left(k - 1 - m_{n} \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{n}} \\ \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \right] \right) \\ = \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r - m_{l} \right) \right] \\ + \left(k - 1 - m_{l} \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \\ \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*} \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0 \right) \right] \right),$$

$$(103)$$

$$\begin{aligned} y_{2}(k) \\ &= \lambda^{k-(m_{n}+1)} y_{2}(m_{n}+1) - \sum_{r=m_{n}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+l}} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*+1}}{b_{11}^{k+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$&= \lambda^{k-m_{n}-1} \\ &\times \left[\lambda^{m_{n}+1} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}} \lambda^{m_{n}-r} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k-m_{n}}} \right] \\ &\quad \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{n}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*+1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{n}) \right] \\ &\quad - \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k+1}} \\ &\quad \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*+1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ &\quad + \left(m_{n} - m_{l}\right) \lambda^{m_{n}-m_{l}} \\ &\quad \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*+1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$&= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{11}^{*+1}} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \\ &\quad \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*+1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right) \end{aligned}$$

$$&= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) - \sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\frac{b_{11}^{*n}}{b_{12}^{*n}} \\ &\quad \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*+1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{n}) \right] \\ &\quad - \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} \frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{11}^{*-1}} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{n}) \right] \\ &\quad + \left(m_{n} - m_{l}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \\ &\quad \times \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*+1}}{b_{11}^{*+1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \right) \end{aligned}$$
Abstract and Applied Analysis

$$\begin{split} &-\sum_{r=m_{n}+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=1}^{n}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}\lambda^{r-m_{l}}\right) \\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &=\lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)-\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*n}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*n}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{n}\right)\right. \\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{n}\right)\right] \\ &-\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right. \\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right] \\ &+\left(m_{n}-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &-\frac{\left(b_{12}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right. \\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right] \\ &+\left(m_{n}-m_{2}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right) \\ &+\cdots \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+\lambda^{k-1-m_{n-1}}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*n-1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*n-1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\\ &+\lambda^{k-1-m_{n}}\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*n}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*n}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &\lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)-\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*1}}\\ &\times\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right)\right]\right)\\ &+\left(k-1-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\\ &-\frac{\left(b_{12}^{*2}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*2}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right.\\ &+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{2}\right)\right]\\ &+\left(k-1-m_{2}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\\ &\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right)\end{split}$$

=

 $+\cdots$

$$-\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*n-1}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*n-1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n-1}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{n-1}\right)\right.\right.\right.\\\left.\left.+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{n-1}\right)\right.\\\left.\left.+\left(k-1-m_{n-1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{n-1}}\right.\right.\\\left.\left.\left.\left.\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right)\right]\right.\right]\right.\right.\\\left.\left.-\frac{\left(b_{11}^{*n}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{*n}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{n}\right)\right)\right.\right.\right.$$

٦

$$+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{n})\Big]$$
$$+(k-1-m_{n})\lambda^{k-1-m_{n}}$$
$$\times\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0)+\frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0)\right]\Big)$$
$$=\lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0)-\sum_{l=1}^{n}\frac{(b_{11}^{*l})^{2}}{b_{12}^{*l}}$$

$$\times \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_1^* \left(r - m_l \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(r - m_l \right) \right] + \left(k - 1 - m_l \right) \lambda^{k-1-m_l} \times \left[\varphi_1^* \left(0 \right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^* \left(0 \right) \right] \right).$$
(104)

Summing up all particular cases (90), (93), (96), (100), and (103) we have

$$y_{1}(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{1}^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{0}}^{0}, \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{1l}^{*l} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1}, \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \right) \\ & + b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{2}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{2}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{2}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(n-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{2}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(n-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{l}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(n-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{l}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(n-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & \vdots \\ \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{m} b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{l}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & \vdots \\ \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{m} b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right] \\ & \vdots \\ \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{m} b_{11}^{*l} \left(\sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\varphi_{1}^{*}(r-m_$$

and from cases (91), (94), (97), (101), and (104) we conclude that

$$\begin{split} y_{2}\left(k\right) &= \begin{cases} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(k\right) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{1}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k-l}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{1}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k-1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}^{*}}^{m_{n}^{*+1}}, \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) - \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left(\sum_{l=2}^{n} \frac{\left(b_{1}^{k+l}\right)^{2}}{b_{12}^{k-1}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{1}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k-1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ & - \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+1}\right)^{2}}{b_{2}^{k-1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k-1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & + \left(k-1-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{n}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & - \frac{\left(b_{11}^{k+1}\right)^{2}}{b_{2}^{k-1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{1}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & + \left(k-1-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{n}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & + \left(k-1-m_{1}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{n}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & + \left(k-1-m_{2}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{n}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & + \left(k-1-m_{2}\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_{n}}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ & - \frac{\sum_{k}^{k}\left(\frac{b_{1}^{k+1}}{b_{12}^{k+2}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ & = \frac{\sum_{k}^{k}\left(\frac{b_{1}^{k+1}}{b_{12}^{k+2}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right)\right] \\ & = \frac{\sum_{k}^{k}\left(\frac{b_{1}^{k+1}}{b_{12}^{k+2}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ & = \frac{\sum_{k}^{k}\left(\frac{b_{1}^{k+1}}{b_{12}^{k+1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right) \\ & = \frac{\sum_{k}^{k}\left(\frac{b_{1}^{k+1}}{b_{12}^{k+1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\varphi_{1}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) + \frac{b_{12}^{*2}}{b_{11}^{k+1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right)\right] \\ & = \frac{\sum_{k}^{k}\left(\frac{b_{1}^{k+1}}{b_{12}^{k+1}}\left(\sum_{r=0}$$

Formula (81) is now a direct consequence of (105), (106), and (80). \Box

$$\begin{vmatrix} \lambda & 1 \\ b_{21}^{*l} & b_{22}^{*l} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{vmatrix} b_{11}^{*l} & b_{12}^{*l} \\ 0 & \lambda \end{vmatrix} = \lambda \left(b_{11}^{*l} + b_{22}^{*l} \right) - b_{21}^{*l} = 0.$$
(107)

Then (43), (44), and (107) give $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$.

2.1.6. Case (39) of a Double Real Root. If the matrix Λ has the form (39), the necessary and sufficient conditions (13)–(16), for (40), are reduced to (43), (44), (46), and

 $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ and the solution of the initial problem (1), (3) is $x(k) = \mathcal{S} y(k)$, $y(k) = (y_1(k), y_2(k))^T$, and

$$y_{1}(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{1}^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + k\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{l}+1}, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + k\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{s}b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ + (k-1-m_{l})\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+2}^{m_{s}+1}, \\ s = 1, 2, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + k\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \\ + (k-1-m_{l})\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right] \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+2}^{\infty}, \end{cases}$$

$$(108)$$

$$y_{2}(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k) & if \ k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) & if \ k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$
(109)

Proof. The system (40) can be written as

$$y_1(k+1) = \lambda y_1(k) + y_2(k) + \sum_{l=1}^n b_{12}^{*l} y_2(k-m_l), \quad (110)$$

$$y_2(k+1) = \lambda y_2(k), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}.$$
 (111)

Solving (111), we get

$$y_{2}(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{\infty}, \end{cases}$$
(112)

then (110) turns into

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \begin{cases} \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m_{1}}, \\ \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + b_{l2}^{*1} \lambda^{k-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{2}}, \\ \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{l2}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{3}}, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{l2}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+1}^{m_{s+1}}, \\ s = 3, 4, \dots, n-1, \\ \vdots \\ \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+1}^{\infty}. \end{cases}$$
(113)

Equation (113) can be solved in a way similar to that of (54) in the proof of Theorem 5 using (33). First we solve (113) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{m_1}$. This means that we

consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) \quad \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m_{1}}, \qquad (114)$$
$$y_{1}(0) = \varphi_{1}^{*}(0).$$

With the aid of formula (33), we get

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + k \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right], \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m_{1}+1}.$$
(115)

Now we solve (113) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_1+1}^{m_2}$ with initial data deduced from (115); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + b_{12}^{*1} \lambda^{k-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{1}+1}^{m_{2}}, y_{1}(m_{1}+1) = \lambda^{m_{1}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + (m_{1}+1) \lambda^{m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{m_{1}-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right].$$
(116)

Abstract and Applied Analysis

$$+ (k - m_{1} - 1) \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0)$$

$$+ \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[b_{12}^{*1} \lambda^{r-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) + \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{l}) \right]$$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + k \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0)$$

$$+ \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{l}) \right]$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{1}) + (k - 1 - m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right].$$

$$(117)$$

Now we solve (113) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_2+1}^{m_3}$ with initial data deduced from (117); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}) \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{2}+1}^{m_{3}},$$

$$y_{1}(m_{2}+1) = \lambda^{m_{2}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + (m_{2}+1) \lambda^{m_{2}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{m_{2}-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{m_{2}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{1}) + (m_{2}-m_{1}) \lambda^{m_{2}-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right].$$
(118)

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_2+2}^{m_3+1}$)

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda^{k-(m_{2}+1)} y_{1}(m_{2}+1) + \sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{l2}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

Applying formula (33) we get (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_1+2}^{m_2+1}$)

$$\begin{split} y_{1}\left(k\right) &= \lambda^{k-(m_{1}+1)}y_{1}\left(m_{1}+1\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) + b_{12}^{*1} \lambda^{r-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &= \lambda^{k-m_{1}-1} \left[\lambda^{m_{1}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \left(m_{1}+1\right) \lambda^{m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{m_{1}-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right]\right] \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) + b_{12}^{*1} \lambda^{r-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \left(m_{1}+1\right) \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{m} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \end{split}$$

$$= \lambda^{k-m_2-1} \left[\lambda^{m_2+1} \varphi_1^* (0) + (m_2+1) \lambda^{m_2} \varphi_2^* (0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda^{m_2-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l} \varphi_2^* (r-m_l) \right] + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_1} \lambda^{m_2-r} \varphi_2^* (r-m_1) + (m_2-m_1) \lambda^{m_2-m_1} \varphi_2^* (0) \right] + (m_2 - m_1) \lambda^{m_2-m_1} \varphi_2^* (0) \right]$$

$$+\sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{\kappa-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + (m_{2} + 1) \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)$$
$$+ \sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$
$$+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{1}) \right]$$

$$+(m_2-m_1)\lambda^{k-1-m_1}\varphi_2^*(0)$$

$$+ (k - 1 - m_{2}) \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0)$$

$$+ \sum_{r=m_{2}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{2} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) + \sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{l}) \right]$$

$$= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + k \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0)$$

$$+ \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{l}) \right]$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_1) + (k - 1 - m_1) \lambda^{k-1-m_1} \varphi_2^* (0) \right]$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_2} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_2) + (k - 1 - m_2) \lambda^{k-1-m_2} \varphi_2^* (0) \right].$$
(119)

From (115), (117), and (119) we deduce that expected form of the solution of the initial problem for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-1}+1}^{m_s}$ with initial data derived from the solution of previous equation for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-2}+1}^{m_{s-1}}$ is

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + k\lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)$$

$$+ \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + (k-1-m_{l}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right]$$

$$+ (k-1-m_{l}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0)$$

$$\text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s-1}+2}^{m_{s+1}}.$$
(120)

We solve (113) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m,+1}^{m_{s+1}}$ with initial data deduced from (120); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1}(k+1) = \lambda y_{1}(k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(k-m_{l}), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{s}+1}^{m_{s+1}},$$

$$y_{1}(m_{s}+1) = \lambda^{m_{s}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + (m_{s}+1) \lambda^{m_{s}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}} \lambda^{m_{s}-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{m_{s}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l}) + (m_{s}-m_{l}) \lambda^{m_{s}-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right].$$

$$(121)$$

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_s+2}^{m_{s+1}+1}$)

$$\begin{split} y_{1}\left(k\right) &= \lambda^{k-(m_{1}+1)}y_{1}\left(m_{s}+1\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{1}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \right] \\ &= \lambda^{k-m_{s}-1} \\ &\times \left[\lambda^{m_{s}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + \left(m_{s}+1\right) \lambda^{m_{s}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}} \lambda^{m_{s}-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{s-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{m_{s}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{l}\right) \lambda^{m_{s}-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{n} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{s} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right) \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{l}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{s}\right) \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{n} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{n} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \chi^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \chi^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \\ &= \lambda^{k} \varphi_{1}^{*}\left(0\right) + k\lambda^{k-1} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=m_{s}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*}\left(r-m_{l}\right)\right] \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \sum_{r=0}^{m_{s}} \lambda^{k-1-r} b_{12}^{*s} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{s}\right) \\ &+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{1}\right) \right. \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{1}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \right] \\ &+ b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{2}\right) \right. \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{2}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \right] \\ &+ \cdots \\ &+ b_{12}^{*s-1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{t-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{s-1}\right) \right. \\ &+ \left(m_{s}-m_{s-1}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{t-1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} b_{12}^{*2} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \\ &+ \omega + \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} b_{12}^{*2} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} b_{12}^{*s-1} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} b_{12}^{*s-2} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \\ &+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} b_{12}^{*s} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{l}\right) \right] \\ &+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{1}\right) \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{1}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \right] \\ &+ b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{2}\right) \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{2}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \right] \\ &+ \cdots \\ &+ b_{12}^{*s-1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(r-m_{2}\right) \\ &+ \left(k-1-m_{2}\right) \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \varphi_{2}^{*} \left(0\right) \right] \end{split}$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*s} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_s} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_s) + (k - 1 - m_s) \lambda^{k-1-m_s} \varphi_2^* (0) \right] \\ + (k - 1 - m_s) \lambda^{k-1-m_s} \varphi_2^* (0) \\ + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) \right] \\ + \sum_{l=1}^{s} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) + (k - 1 - m_l) \lambda^{k-1-m_l} \varphi_2^* (0) \right].$$
(122)

In the end, we solve (113) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+1}^{\infty}$ with initial data deduced from (122); that is, we consider the problem

$$y_{1} (k + 1) = \lambda y_{1} (k) + \lambda^{k} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{k-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \quad \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{n}+1}^{\infty}, y_{1} (m_{n} + 1) = \lambda^{m_{n}+1} \varphi_{1}^{*} (0) + (m_{n} + 1) \lambda^{m_{n}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_{n}} \lambda^{m_{n}-r} b_{12}^{*n} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{n}) + \sum_{l=1}^{n-1} b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{l}} \lambda^{m_{n}-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{l}) + (m_{n} - m_{l}) \lambda^{m_{n}-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right].$$
(123)

Applying formula (33) yields (for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$)

$$y_{1}(k) = \lambda^{k-(m_{n}+1)} y_{1}(m_{n}+1) + \sum_{r=m_{n}+1}^{k-1} \lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\lambda^{r} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) + \sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l} \lambda^{r-m_{l}} \varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \right]$$

$$\begin{split} &=\lambda^{k-m_n-1}\left[\lambda^{m_n+1}\varphi_1^*\left(0\right) + (m_n+1)\lambda^{m_n}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right) \\ &+\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{m_n-r}b_{12}^{*n}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_n\right) \\ &+\sum_{l=1}^{n-1}b_{12}^{*l}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_l}\lambda^{m_n-r}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right) \\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{m_n-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right]\right] \\ &+\sum_{r=m_n+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\lambda^r\varphi_2^*\left(0\right) + \sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l}\lambda^{r-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &=\lambda^k\varphi_1^*\left(0\right) + (m_n+1)\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right) \\ &+\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}b_{12}^{*n}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right) \\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+\left(k-1-m_n\right)\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right) \\ &+\sum_{r=m_n+1}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r}\left[\sum_{l=1}^{n}b_{12}^{*l}\lambda^{r-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+\lambda^k\varphi_1^*\left(0\right) + k\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right) + \sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}b_{12}^{*n}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_n\right) \\ &+b_{12}^{*1}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right) \\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+b_{12}^{*2}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right) \\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+b_{12}^{*2}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right) \\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+b_{12}^{*2}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right) \\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+b_{12}^{*2}\left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_n}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_2^*\left(r-m_l\right) \\ &+\left(m_n-m_l\right)\lambda^{k-1-m_l}\varphi_2^*\left(0\right)\right] \\ &+\dots \end{split}$$

Summing up all particular cases (115)–(124), we get

$$y_{1}(k) = \begin{cases} \varphi_{1}^{*}(k) & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_{n}}^{0}, \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + k\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=1}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{m+1}, \\ \lambda^{k}\varphi_{1}^{*}(0) + k\lambda^{k-1}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=2}^{n} b_{l2}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{1})\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{r=0}^{k-1}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=3}^{n} b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{2})\right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{2})\lambda^{k-1-m_{2}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{r=0}^{k}\lambda^{k-1-r} \left[\sum_{l=s+1}^{n} b_{12}^{*l}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + \sum_{l=1}^{k}b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & + (k-1-m_{l})\lambda^{k-1-m_{l}}\varphi_{2}^{*}(0) \\ & + \sum_{l=1}^{k}b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m}\lambda^{k-1-r}\varphi_{2}^{*}(r-m_{l})\right] \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_{r}+2}^{m_{r}+1}, \end{cases}$$

Formulas (108) and (109) are consequences of (125), (112). $\hfill \square$

$$+ b_{12}^{*n-1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{n-1}) + (m_{n} - m_{n-1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{n-1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right]$$

$$+ (k - 1 - m_{n}) \times \left[\lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} b_{12}^{*1} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) + \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} b_{12}^{*2} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) + \dots + \lambda^{k-1-m_{n-1}} b_{12}^{*n-1} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) + \lambda^{k-1-m_{n}} b_{12}^{*n} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right]$$

$$+ \lambda^{k-1-m_{n}} b_{12}^{*n} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0)$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{1}) + (k - 1 - m_{1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{1}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right]$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*2} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{2}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{2}) + (k - 1 - m_{2}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{2}} \varphi_{2}^{*} (0) \right]$$

$$+ \dots$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*n-1} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_{n-1}} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_{2}^{*} (r - m_{n-1}) \right]$$

$$+ (k - 1 - m_{n-1}) \lambda^{k-1-m_{n-1}} \varphi_2^* (0)$$

$$+ b_{12}^{*n} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_n} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_n) + (k - 1 - m_n) \lambda^{k-1-m_n} \varphi_2^* (0) \right]$$

$$= \lambda^k \varphi_1^* (0) + k \lambda^{k-1} \varphi_2^* (0)$$

$$+ \sum_{l=1}^n b_{12}^{*l} \left[\sum_{r=0}^{m_l} \lambda^{k-1-r} \varphi_2^* (r - m_l) + (k - 1 - m_l) \lambda^{k-1-m_l} \varphi_2^* (0) \right].$$

(124)

3. Dimension of the Set of Solutions

Since all the possible cases of the planar system (1) with weak delay have been analysed, we are ready to formulate results concerning the dimension of the space of solutions of (1) assuming that initial condition (3) is variable. Although case $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ does not lead to a weakly delayed system and is excluded by (2), for completeness of analysis we incorporate such possibility in our analysis as well (such a case can be considered as a degenerated weakly delayed system). Before formulation we remark that if an assumption in the following theorem is assumed to be valid for a fixed index $l \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, it is easy to see that it must be valid for all indices l = 1, 2, ..., n.

Theorem 10. Let (1) be a weakly delayed system and let (35) having both roots different from zero and $l \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ be fixed. Then the space of solutions, being initially $2(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional, becomes on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ only

- (1) $(m_n + 2)$ -dimensional if (35) has
 - (a) two real distinct roots and $(b_{12}^{*l})^2 + (b_{21}^{*l})^2 > 0$, (b) a double real root, $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} = 0$, and $(b_{12}^{*l})^2 + (b_{21}^{*l})^2 > 0$.
 - (c) a double real root and $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$,
- (2) 2-dimensional if (35) has
 - (a) two real distinct roots and $b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$,
 - (b) a pair of complex conjugate roots,
 - (c) a double real root and $b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$.

Proof. We will carefully go through all the theorems considered (Theorems 5–9) adding the case of a pair of complex conjugate roots and our conclusion will hold at least on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ (some of the statements hold on a larger interval).

(a) Analysing the statement of Theorem 5 (case (36) of two real distinct roots), we obtain the following subcases.

(a1) If $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$, $b_{12}^{*l} \neq 0$, then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals $m_n + 2$ since the last formula in (47) uses only $m_n + 2$ arbitrary parameters:

$$\varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(-m_n), \varphi_2^*(-m_n+1), \dots, \varphi_2^*(0).$$
 (126)

(a2) If $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{12}^{*l} = 0$, $b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$, then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals $m_n + 2$ since the last formula in (48) uses only $m_n + 2$ arbitrary parameters:

$$\varphi_1^*(-m_n), \varphi_1^*(-m_n+1), \dots, \varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(0).$$
 (127)

(a3) If $b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$, then $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = 0$ and Theorem 5 is not applicable. The dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals 2 since the solution is determined only by 2 arbitrary parameters

$$\varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(0).$$
 (128)

This means that all the cases considered are covered by conclusions (1)(a) and (2)(a) of Theorem 10.

(b) In case (37) of two complex conjugate roots, we have $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ (i.e., we deal not with a weakly delayed system, as noted previosly) and the formula (70) uses only 2 arbitrary parameters

$$\varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(0)$$
 (129)

for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}_1^{\infty}$. This is covered by case (2)(b) of Theorem 10.

(c) Analysing the statement of Theorems 7 and 8 (case (38) of a double real root), we obtain the following subcases.

(c1) If $b_{21}^{*l} = 0$, $b_{12}^{*l} \neq 0$, then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals m_n+2 since the last formula in (76) uses only $m_n + 2$ arbitrary parameters:

$$\varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(-m_n), \varphi_2^*(-m_n+1), \dots, \varphi_2^*(0).$$
 (130)

(c2) If $b_{12}^{*l} = 0$, $b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$, then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals m_n+2 since the last formula in (77) uses only $m_n + 2$ arbitrary parameters:

$$\varphi_1^*(-m_n), \varphi_1^*(-m_n+1), \dots, \varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(0).$$
 (131)

(c3) If $b_{12}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$ (degenerated weakly delayed system), then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals 2and solutions are determined only by 2 arbitrary parameters:

$$\varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(0).$$
 (132)

(c4) If $b_{12}^{*l}b_{21}^{*l} \neq 0$, then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals m_n+2 since the last formula in (81) uses only $m_n + 2$ arbitrary parameters:

$$C(-m_n), C(-m_n+1), \dots, C(0), \varphi_1^*(0),$$
 (133)

where

$$C(k) := \left[\varphi_1^*(k) + \frac{b_{12}^{*1}}{b_{11}^{*1}} \varphi_2^*(k)\right], \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m_n}^0.$$
(134)

The parameter $\varphi_2^*(0)$ cannot be seen as independent since it depends on the independent parameters $\varphi_1^*(0)$ and C(0).

All the cases considered are covered by conclusions (1)(b), (1)(c), and (2)(c) of Theorem 10.

(d) Analysing the statement of Theorem 9 (case (39) of a double real root), we obtain the following subcases:

(d1) If $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = 0$, $b_{12}^{*l} \neq 0$, then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals $m_n + 2$ since the last formula in (108) uses only $m_n + 2$ arbitrary parameters:

$$\varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(-m_n), \varphi_2^*(-m_n+1), \dots, \varphi_2^*(0)$$
 (135)

and the last formula in (109) provides no new information.

(d2) If $b_{11}^{*l} = b_{22}^{*l} = b_{21}^{*l} = b_{12}^{*l} = 0$ (degenerated weakly delayed system), then the dimension of the space of solutions on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ equals 2 since solutions are determined only by 2 arbitrary parameters

$$\varphi_1^*(0), \varphi_2^*(0).$$
 (136)

Both cases are covered by conclusions (1)(b) and (2)(c) of Theorem 10.

Since there are no cases other than cases (a)–(d), the proof is finished. $\hfill \Box$

Theorem 10 can be formulated simply as follows.

Theorem 11. Let (1) be a weakly delayed system and let (35) have both roots different from zero, then the space of solutions, being initially $2(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional, is on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$ only

(1)
$$(m_n + 2)$$
-dimensional if $(b_{12}^{*l})^2 + (b_{21}^{*l})^2 > 0$,

(2) 2-dimensional if $b_{12}^{*i} = b_{21}^{*i} = 0$.

We omit the proofs of the following two theorems since, again, they are much the same as those of Theorems 5–9.

Theorem 12. Let (1) be a weakly delayed system and let (35) have a simple root $\lambda = 0$, then the space of solutions, being initially $2(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional, is either $(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional or 1-dimensional on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$.

Theorem 13. Let (1) be a weakly delayed system and let (35) have a double root $\lambda = 0$, then the space of solutions, being initially $2(m_n + 1)$ -dimensional, turns into a 0-dimensional space on $\mathbb{Z}_{m_n+2}^{\infty}$, namely, into the zero solution.

4. Concluding Remarks

To our best knowledge, weakly delayed systems were firstly defined in [9] for systems of linear delayed differential systems with constant coefficients and in [1] for planar linear discrete systems with a single delay (in these papers such systems are called systems with a weak delay). The weakly delayed systems analyzed in this paper can be simplified and their solutions can be found in explicit analytical forms (results obtained generalize those in [1, 2]). Consequently, analytical forms of solutions can be used directly to solve several problems for weakly delayed systems, for example, problems of asymptotical behavior of their solutions, boundary-value problems, or some problems of control theory (using different methods, such problems have recently been investigated e.g., in [10-18]). For an alternative approach to differentialdifference equations using the variational iteration method and new analytical and asymptotic methods see, for example, [19-21].

In the case of discrete systems of two equations investigated in this paper, to obtain the corresponding eigenvalues, it is sufficient to solve only a second-order polynomial equation rather than a polynomial equation of order $2m_n$.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The first author was supported by Grant no. P201/10/1032 of the Czech Grant Agency (Prague). The second author was supported by Grant no. FEKT-S-14-2200 of the Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Brno University of Technology.

References

- J. Diblík, D. Ya. Khusainov, and Z. Šmarda, "Construction of the general solution of planar linear discrete systems with constant coefficients and weak delay," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2009, Article ID 784935, 18 pages, 2009.
- [2] J. Diblík and H. Halfarová, "Explicit general solution of planar linear discrete systems with constant coefficients and weak delays," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2013, article 50, 29 pages, 2013.
- [3] S. Elaydi, *An Introduction to Difference Equations*, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 3rd edition, 2005.
- [4] S. Stević, "More on a rational recurrence relation," Applied Mathematics E-Notes, vol. 4, pp. 80–85, 2004.
- [5] S. Stević, "On a system of difference equations," Applied Mathematics and Computation, vol. 218, no. 7, pp. 3372–3378, 2011.
- [6] S. Stević, "On some solvable systems of difference equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 218, no. 9, pp. 5010– 5018, 2012.
- [7] S. Stević, "On the difference equation $x_n = x_{n-k}/(b + cx_{n-1} \cdots x_{n-k})$," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 218, no. 11, pp. 6291–6296, 2012.
- [8] S. Stević, J. Diblík, B. Iričanin, and Z. Šmarda, "On a thirdorder system of difference equations with variable coefficients," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2012, Article ID 508523, 22 pages, 2012.
- [9] D. Ya. Khusainov, D. B. Benditkis, and J. Diblik, "Weak delay in systems with an aftereffect," *Functional Differential Equations*, vol. 9, no. 3-4, pp. 385–404, 2002.
- [10] J. Čermák, "The stability and asymptotic properties of the Θ-methods for the pantograph equation," *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 1533–1551, 2011.
- [11] J. Čermák and S. Dvořáková, "Boundedness and asymptotic properties of solutions of some linear and sublinear delay difference equations," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 813–817, 2012.
- [12] J. Čermák and M. Urbánek, "On the asymptotics of solutions of delay dynamic equations on time scales," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 46, no. 3-4, pp. 445–458, 2007.
- [13] J. Diblík, "Anti-Lyapunov method for systems of discrete equations," *Nonlinear Analysis A*, vol. 57, no. 7-8, pp. 1043–1057, 2004.
- [14] T. Khokhlova and M. Kipnis, "Numerical and qualitative stability analysis of ring and linear neural networks with a large number of neurons," *International Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 76, pp. 403–420, 2012.
- [15] T. Khokhlova, M. Kipnis, and V. Malygina, "The stability cone for a delay differential matrix equation," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 742–745, 2011.

- [16] M. Kipnis and D. Komissarova, "Stability of a delay difference system," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2006, Article ID 31409, 9 pages, 2006.
- [17] E. Liz and M. Pituk, "Asymptotic estimates and exponential stability for higher-order monotone difference equations," *Advances in Difference Equations*, no. 1, pp. 41–55, 2005.
- [18] Ch. G. Philos and I. K. Purnaras, "An asymptotic result for some delay difference equations with continuous variable," *Advances in Difference Equations*, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2004.
- [19] N. Faraz, Y. Khan, and F. Austin, "An alternative approach to differential-difference equations using the variational iteration method," *Journal of Physical Sciences*, vol. 65, no. 12, pp. 1055– 1059, 2010.
- [20] Y. Khan, H. Vázquez-Leal, and N. Faraz, "An auxiliary parameter method using Adomian polynomials and Laplace transformation for nonlinear differential equations," *Applied Mathematical Modelling*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 2702–2708, 2013.
- [21] Y. Khan and Q. Wu, "Homotopy perturbation transform method for nonlinear equations using He's polynomials," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 61, no. 8, pp. 1963– 1967, 2011.

Research Article

Representation of the Solutions of Linear Discrete Systems with Constant Coefficients and Two Delays

Josef Diblík^{1,2} and Blanka Morávková^{1,2}

¹ Department of Mathematics and Descriptive Geometry, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Brno University of Technology, 602 00 Brno, Czech Republic

² Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Brno University of Technology, 616 00 Brno, Czech Republic

Correspondence should be addressed to Josef Diblík; diblik@feec.vutbr.cz

Received 5 September 2013; Accepted 4 October 2013; Published 16 April 2014

Academic Editor: Miroslava Růžičková

Copyright © 2014 J. Diblík and B. Morávková. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The purpose of this paper is to develop a method for the construction of solutions to initial problems of linear discrete systems with constant coefficients and with two delays $\Delta x(k) = Bx(k - m) + Cx(k - n) + f(k)$, where $m, n \in \mathbb{N}, m \neq n$, are fixed, $k = 0, ..., \infty$, $B = (b_{ij}), C = (c_{ij})$ are constant $r \times r$ matrices, f is a given $r \times 1$ vector, and x is an $r \times 1$ unknown vector. Solutions are expressed with the aid of a special function called the discrete matrix delayed exponential for two delays. Such approach results in a possibility to express an initial Cauchy problem in a closed form. Examples are shown illustrating the results obtained.

1. Introduction

Throughout the paper, we will use the following notation. For integers $s, t, s \le t$, we define the set $\mathbb{Z}_s^t := \{s, s+1, \ldots, t-1, t\}$. Similarly, we define the sets $\mathbb{Z}_{-\infty}^t := \{\ldots, t-1, t\}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_s^\infty := \{s, s+1, \ldots\}$. The function $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$ used below is the floor integer function. We will employ the following property of the floor integer function:

$$x - 1 < \lfloor x \rfloor \le x,\tag{1}$$

where $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

In this paper, we deal with the discrete system

$$\Delta x (k) = Bx (k - m) + Cx (k - n) + f (k), \qquad (2)$$

where $m, n \in \mathbb{N}, m \neq n$, are fixed, $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}, B = (b_{ij}), C = (c_{ij})$ are constant $r \times r$ matrices, $f : \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}^r$ is a given $r \times 1$ vector, and $x : \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}^r$ is an $r \times 1$ unknown vector. Together with (2), we consider an initial (Cauchy) problem

$$x(k) = \varphi(k). \tag{3}$$

Define binomial coefficients as customary; that is, for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\binom{n}{k} := \begin{cases} \frac{n!}{k! (n-k)!} & \text{if } n \ge k \ge 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4)

We recall that, for a well-defined discrete function $\omega(k)$, the forward difference operator Δ is defined as $\Delta \omega(k) = \omega(k + 1) - \omega(k)$. In the paper, we also adopt the customary notation $\sum_{i=i}^{i_2} g_i = 0$ if $i_2 < i_1$. In the case of double sums, we set

$$\sum_{i=i_1,j=j_1}^{i_2,j_2} g_{ij} = 0$$
 (5)

if at least one of the inequalities $i_2 < i_1$, $j_2 < j_1$ holds.

In [1, 2], a discrete matrix delayed exponential for a single delay $m \in \mathbb{N}$ was defined.

Definition 1. For an $r \times r$ constant matrix $B, k \in \mathbb{Z}$, and fixed $m \in \mathbb{N}$, one defines the discrete matrix delayed exponential e_m^{Bk} as follows:

$$\mathbf{e}_{m}^{Bk} := \begin{cases} \Theta \\ \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-\infty}^{-m-1}, \\ I + \sum_{j=1}^{\ell} B^{j} \cdot \binom{k - m(j-1)}{j} \\ \text{if } \ell = 0, 1, 2, \dots, k \in \mathbb{Z}_{(\ell-1)(m+1)+1}^{\ell(m+1)}, \end{cases}$$
(6)

where Θ is an $r \times r$ null matrix and I is an $r \times r$ unit matrix.

Such discrete matrix delayed exponential was used in [1] to construct solutions of the initial problems (2), (3) with $C \equiv \Theta$, where Θ is an $r \times r$ zero matrix. In these constructions, the main property (Theorem 2) of discrete matrix delayed exponential for a single delay $m \in \mathbb{N}$ was utilized in [1].

Theorem 2. Let B be a constant $r \times r$ matrix. Then, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-m}^{\infty}$,

$$\Delta \epsilon_m^{Bk} = B \epsilon_m^{B(k-m)}.$$
 (7)

The properties of delayed matrix exponential functions for their continuous and discrete variants and their applications are the topic of recent papers [1-18]. We note that the definition of the delayed matrix exponential was first defined for the continuous case in [4] and, for the discrete case, in [1, 2].

The paper is organized as follows. Discrete matrix delayed exponentials for two delays and their main property are considered in Section 2. A representation of the solution to problem (2), (3) is given in Section 3 and examples illustrating the results obtained are shown in Section 4.

2. Discrete Matrix Delayed Exponential for Two Delays and Its Main Property

In order to extend the results proved in [1, 2] to problems (2), (3), a discrete matrix delayed exponential for two delays was proposed in [3]. There is a discrete matrix delayed exponential for two delays $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \neq n$, defined as follows.

Definition 3. Let *B*, *C* be constant $r \times r$ matrices with BC = CB and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, $m \neq n$, be fixed integers. One defines a discrete $r \times r$ matrix function e_{mn}^{BCk} called the discrete matrix

delayed exponential for two delays m, n and for two $r \times r$ constant matrices B, C:

$$e_{mn}^{BCk} = \begin{cases} \Theta & \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-\infty}^{-\max\{m,n\}-1}, \\ I & \\ & I & \\ I + (B+C) \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{\infty}, \end{cases}$$
(8)

where

$$p_{(k)} := \left\lfloor \frac{k+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor, \qquad q_{(k)} := \left\lfloor \frac{k+n}{n+1} \right\rfloor. \tag{9}$$

Let us show an example illustrating this special exponential function.

Example 4. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{12}$ we will construct the matrix e_{mn}^{BCk} if m = 2 and n = 3. Computing particular matrices generating $e_{2,3}^{BCk}$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{12}$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} e_{2,3}^{BC0} &= I, \qquad e_{2,3}^{BC1} = I + B + C, \\ e_{2,3}^{BC2} &= I + (B + C) 2, \qquad e_{2,3}^{BC3} = I + (B + C) 3, \\ e_{2,3}^{BC4} &= I + (B + C) (4 + B), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC5} &= I + (B + C) (5 + 3B + C), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC6} &= I + (B + C) (6 + 6B + 3C), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC7} &= I + (B + C) (7 + 10B + 6C + B^{2}), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC8} &= I + (B + C) (8 + 15B + 10C + 4B^{2} + 2BC)), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC9} &= I + (B + C) (9 + 21B + 15C + 10B^{2} + 8BC + C^{2}), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC10} &= I + (B + C) (9 + 21B + 15C + 10B^{2} + 8BC + C^{2}), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC10} &= I + (B + C) (11 + 36B + 28C + 35B^{2} + 40BC + 10C^{2} + 5B^{3} + 3B^{2}C), \\ e_{2,3}^{BC11} &= I + (B + C) (12 + 45B + 36C + 56B^{2} + 70BC + 20C^{2} + 15B^{3} + 15B^{2}C + 3BC^{2}). \end{aligned}$$

The main property of e_{mn}^{BCk} was proved in [3].

Theorem 5. Let B, C be constant $r \times r$ matrices with BC = CB and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}, m \neq n$, be fixed integers. Then

$$\Delta \mathfrak{e}_{mn}^{BCk} = B \mathfrak{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)} + C \mathfrak{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)} \tag{11}$$

for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^\infty$.

The analysis of ϵ_{mn}^{BCk} applicability to a representation of the solution to initial problem (2), (3) unfortunately does not lead to satisfactory results because, as we will see below, an additional condition det(B + C) $\neq 0$ is necessary. A small difference in the definition results in representations of solutions of initial problems without this assumption. Now we give a second definition of a discrete matrix delayed exponential for two delays $\tilde{\epsilon}_{mn}^{BCk}$.

Definition 6. Let *B*, *C* be constant $r \times r$ matrices with BC = CB and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, m < n, be fixed integers. One defines a discrete $r \times r$ matrix function \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BCk} called the discrete matrix delayed exponential for two delays m, n and for two $r \times r$ constant matrices *B*, *C* as follows:

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} \\ &:= \begin{cases} \Theta & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-\infty}^{-1}, \\ I & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m}, \\ I + B & \sum_{i=0, j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1, q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ + C & \sum_{i=0, j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1, q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ & \text{if } k \in \mathbb{Z}_{m+1}^{\infty}, \end{cases} \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$(12)$$

where

$$p_{(k)} := \left\lfloor \frac{k+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor, \qquad q_{(k)} := \left\lfloor \frac{k+n}{n+1} \right\rfloor. \tag{13}$$

Remark 7. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^n$, it is easy to deduce that $\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BCk} = e_m^{B(k-m)}$.

In order to compare both types of discrete delayed matrices for two delays and see the difference between both definitions, we consider the following example where delays are the same as in Example 4.

Example 8. For $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{12}$ we will construct the matrix \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BCk} if m = 2 and n = 3. Computing particular matrices generating $\tilde{e}_{2,3}^{BCk}$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{12}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC0} &= I, \qquad \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC1} = I, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC2} &= I, \qquad \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC3} = I + B, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC4} &= I + 2B + C, \qquad \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC5} = I + 3B + 2C, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC6} &= I + 4B + 3C + B^{2}, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC7} &= I + 5B + 4C + 3B^{2} + 2BC, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC8} &= I + 6B + 5C + 6B^{2} + 6BC + C^{2}, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC9} &= I + 7B + 6C + 10B^{2} + 12BC + 3C^{2} + B^{3}, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC10} &= I + 8B + 7C + 15B^{2} + 20BC + 6C^{2} + 4B^{3} + 3B^{2}C, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC11} &= I + 9B + 8C + 21B^{2} + 30BC + 10C^{2} \\ &+ 10B^{3} + 12B^{2}C + 3BC^{2}, \\ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{2,3}^{BC12} &= I + 10B + 9C + 28B^{2} + 42BC + 15C^{2} \\ &+ 20B^{3} + 30B^{2}C + 12BC^{2} + C^{3} + B^{4}. \end{aligned}$$
(14)

The main property of $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk}$ is given by the following theorem.

Theorem 9. Let B, C be constant $r \times r$ matrices with BC = CB and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, m < n, be fixed integers. Then

$$\Delta \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} = B \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)} + C \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)}$$
(15)

for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^\infty$.

Proof. Let $k \ge 1$. From (1) and (13), we can see easily that, for an integer $k \ge 0$ satisfying

$$(p_{(k)} - 1) (m + 1) + 1$$

$$\leq k \leq p_{(k)} (m + 1) \land (q_{(k)} - 1) (n + 1) + 1 \qquad (16)$$

$$\leq k \leq q_{(k)} (n + 1),$$

the equation

$$\Delta \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} = \Delta \left[I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right]$$
(17)

holds by Definition 6 of \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BCk} . Since $\Delta I = \Theta$, we have

$$\Delta \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} = \Delta \left[B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-m-mi-nj \choose i+j+1} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-n-mi-nj \choose i+j+1} \right].$$
(18)

By the definition of the forward difference, that is,

$$\Delta \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} = \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk}, \qquad (19)$$

we conclude that it is reasonable to divide the proof into four parts given by the four values of integer k.

In the first case, k is such that

$$(p_{(k)} - 1) (m + 1) + 1$$

$$\leq k < p_{(k)} (m + 1) \land (q_{(k)} - 1) (n + 1) + 1 \qquad (20)$$

$$\leq k < q_{(k)} (n + 1),$$

in the second case

$$k = p_{(k)}(m+1) \wedge (q_{(k)} - 1)(n+1) + 1 \le k < q_{(k)}(n+1),$$
(21)

in the third case

$$(p_{(k)} - 1)(m+1) + 1 \le k < p_{(k)}(m+1) \land k = q_{(k)}(n+1),$$
(22)

and in the fourth case

$$k = p_{(k)}(m+1) \wedge k = q_{(k)}(n+1).$$
(23)

We see that the above four cases cover all the possible relations between k, $p_{(k)}$, and $q_{(k)}$.

In the proof, we use obvious identities

$$\binom{n+1}{k} = \binom{n}{k} + \binom{n}{k-1},$$
(24)

where $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} i\\i \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} i-1\\i-1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} j\\0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} j-1\\0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} i+j\\i \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} i+j-1\\i-1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} i+j-1\\i \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(25)$$

where $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$, derived from (4) and (24).

Now we consider (in parts (I)–(IV) below) all four cases and perform auxiliary computations. The proof will be finished in part (V).

(I) $(p_{(k)}-1)(m+1)+1 \le k < p_{(k)}(m+1) \land (q_{(k)}-1)(n+1)+1 \le k < q_{(k)}(n+1)$. From (1) and (13), we get

$$p_{(k-m)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k-m+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor \le \frac{k}{m+1} < p_{(k)},$$

$$p_{(k-m)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k-m+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor > \frac{k}{m+1} - 1 = \frac{k-m-1}{m+1} > p_{(k)} - 2.$$
(26)

Therefore, $p_{(k-m)} = p_{(k)} - 1$ and, by Definition 6,

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-m-m-mi-nj \choose i+j+1} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-m-n-mi-nj \choose i+j+1}.$$
(27)

Similarly, omitting details, we get, using (1) and (13), $q_{(k-n)} = q_{(k)} - 1$ and

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)} \\ &= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-n-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-n-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}. \end{aligned}$$
(28)

Let $q_{(k-m)} \ge 1$. We show that

$$\binom{k-m-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} = 0 \quad \text{if } i \ge 0, \ j \ge q_{(k-m)},$$

$$\binom{k-m-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} = 0 \quad \text{if } i \ge 0, \ j \ge q_{(k-m)}.$$
(29)

By (1),

$$q_{(k-m)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k-m+n}{n+1} \right\rfloor > \frac{k-m+n}{n+1} - 1 = \frac{k-m-1}{n+1} \quad (30)$$

or

$$k - m - m$$

$$< (n + 1) q_{(k-m)} + 1$$

$$\leq (m + 1) i + (n + 1) j + 1 \quad \text{if } i \ge 0, \ j \ge q_{(k-m)},$$

$$k - m - n$$

$$< (n + 1) q_{(k-m)} + 1$$
(31)

$$\leq (m+1)i + (n+1)j + 1$$
 if $i \geq 0, j \geq q_{(k-m)}$

From the last inequalities, we get

$$k - m - m - mi - nj < i + j + 1 \quad \text{if } i \ge 0, \ j \ge q_{(k-m)}, \\ k - m - n - mi - nj < i + j + 1 \quad \text{if } i \ge 0, \ j \ge q_{(k-m)},$$
 (32)

and (29) holds by (4). For that reason and since $q_{(k-m)} \le q_{(k)}$, we can replace $q_{(k-m)}$ by $q_{(k)}$ in (27). Thus, we have

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-m(i+1)-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-m(i+1)-nj}{i+j+1}}.$$
(33)

It is easy to see that, due to (5), formula (33) can be used instead of (27) if $q_{(k-m)} < 1$ too. Let $p_{(k-n)} \ge 1$. Similarly, we can show that

$$\binom{k - n - m - mi - nj}{i + j + 1} = 0 \quad \text{if } i \ge p_{(k-n)}, j \ge 0,$$

$$\binom{k - n - n - mi - nj}{i + j + 1} = 0 \quad \text{if } i \ge p_{(k-n)}, j \ge 0,$$

$$(34)$$

and, since $p_{(k-n)} \le p_{(k)}$, we can replace $p_{(k-n)}$ by $p_{(k)}$ in (28). Thus, we have

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-m-mi-n(j+1) \choose i+j+1} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-n-mi-n(j+1) \choose i+j+1}.$$
(35)

It is easy to see that, due to (5), formula (35) can be used instead of (28) if $p_{(k-n)} < 1$ too By Definition 6,

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k+1)}-1,q_{(k+1)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k+1)}-1,q_{(k+1)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}}.$$
(36)

Due to (1), we also conclude that

$$p_{(k+1)} = p_{(k)}, \qquad q_{(k+1)} = q_{(k)}$$
 (37)

because

$$p_{(k+1)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k+1+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor \le \frac{k}{m+1} + 1 < p_{(k)} + 1,$$

$$p_{(k+1)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k+1+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor > \frac{k+1+m}{m+1} - 1 \qquad (38)$$

$$= \frac{k}{m+1} \ge p_{(k)} - 1 + \frac{1}{m+1}.$$

The second formula can be proved similarly. Then,

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} (39) + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}}.$$

Now we are able to prove that

$$\begin{split} \Delta \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} &= B \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)} + C \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)} \\ &= B \Biggl[I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-m-m(i+1)-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-n-m(i+1)-nj}{i+j+1} \Biggr] \\ &+ C \Biggl[I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-m-mi-n(j+1)}{i+j+1} \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-n-mi-n(j+1)}{i+j+1} \Biggr] . \end{split}$$

$$(40)$$

(II) $k = p_{(k)}(m+1) \land (q_{(k)} - 1)(n+1) + 1 \le k < q_{(k)}(n+1)$. In this case,

$$p_{(k-m)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k-m+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor = \left\lfloor \frac{k}{m+1} \right\rfloor = p_{(k)},$$

$$p_{(k+1)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k+1+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor \le \frac{k+1+m}{m+1} = \frac{k}{m+1} + 1 = p_{(k)} + 1,$$

$$p_{(k+1)} = \left\lfloor \frac{k+1+m}{m+1} \right\rfloor > \frac{k+1+m}{m+1} - 1 = \frac{k}{m+1} = p_{(k)}$$
(41)

and $p_{(k+1)} = p_{(k)} + 1$. In addition to this (see the relevant computations performed in case (I)), we have $q_{(k-n)} = q_{(k)} - 1$ and $q_{(k+1)} = q_{(k)}$.

Then,

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)},q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k+1-m-mi-nj \choose i+j+1}$$

$$+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)},q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k+1-n-mi-nj \choose i+j+1},$$
(42)

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(43)

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)} \\ &= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-n-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-n-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}. \end{split}$$

$$(44)$$

For $k = p_{(k)}(m + 1)$, $i = p_{(k)}$, and $j \ge 0$, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} k+1-m-mi-nj\\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p_{(k)}+1-m-nj\\ p_{(k)}+1+j \end{pmatrix} = 0,$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} k+1-n-mi-nj\\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p_{(k)}+1-n-nj\\ p_{(k)}+1+j \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

$$(45)$$

and, for $k = p_{(k)}(m + 1)$, $i = p_{(k)} - 1$, and $j \ge 0$, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} k - m - m - mi - nj \\ i + j + 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p_{(k)} - m - nj \\ p_{(k)} + j \end{pmatrix} = 0,$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} k - m - n - mi - nj \\ i + j + 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p_{(k)} - n - nj \\ p_{(k)} + j \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

$$(46)$$

Thus, we can substitute $p_{(k)} - 1$ for $p_{(k)}$ in (42) and $p_{(k)} - 2$ for $p_{(k)} - 1$ in (43).

Like with the computations performed in the previous part of the proof, (29), (34) hold. So we can substitute $q_{(k)}$ for $q_{(k-m)}$ in (43) and $p_{(k)}$ for $p_{(k-n)}$ in (44).

Accordingly, we have

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i + j \choose i} {k+1-m-mi-nj \choose i+j+1} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k+1-n-mi-nj \choose i+j+1},$$
(47)

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{P_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-m(i+1)-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{P_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-m(i+1)-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(48)

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-mi-n(j+1)}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-mi-n(j+1)}{i+j+1}}.$$
(49)

It is easy to see that, due to (5), formula (48) can also be used instead of (43) if $q_{(k-m)} < 1$ and formula (49) can also be used instead of (44) if $p_{(k-n)} < 1$. Therefore, we see that (like in part (I)) the relation (40) must be proved.

(III) $(p_{(k)} - 1)(m + 1) + 1 \le k < p_{(k)}(m + 1) \land k = q_{(k)}(n + 1)$. In this case, we have (see the relevant computations in cases (I) and (II))

$$p_{(k-m)} = p_{(k)} - 1, \qquad p_{(k+1)} = p_{(k)},$$

$$q_{(k-n)} = q_{(k)}, \qquad q_{(k+1)} = q_{(k)} + 1.$$
(50)

Then,

 $\widetilde{\mathrm{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(51)

 $\widetilde{\mathrm{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(52)

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}}.$$
(53)

For $k = q_{(k)}(n + 1)$, $j = q_{(k)}$, and $i \ge 0$, we have

$$\binom{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} = \binom{q_{(k)}+1-m-mi}{i+q_{(k)}+1} = 0,$$

$$\binom{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} = \binom{q_{(k)}+1-n-mi}{i+q_{(k)}+1} = 0$$
(54)

and, for $k = q_{(k)}(m + 1)$, $j = q_{(k)} - 1$, and $i \ge 0$, we get

$$\binom{k - n - m - mi - nj}{i + j + 1} = \binom{q_{(k)} - m - mi}{i + q_{(k)}} = 0,$$

$$\binom{k - n - n - mi - nj}{i + j + 1} = \binom{q_{(k)} - n - mi}{i + q_{(k)}} = 0.$$

$$(55)$$

Thus we can replace $q_{(k)}$ by $q_{(k)} - 1$ in (51) and $q_{(k)} - 1$ by $q_{(k)} - 2$ in (53).

Like with the computations performed in cases (I) and (II), formulas (29), (34) hold and we can substitute $q_{(k)}$ for $q_{(k-m)}$ in (52) and $q_{(k)}$ for $q_{(k-n)}$ in (53). This means that

$$\widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)} = I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i + j \choose i} {k + 1 - m - mi - nj \choose i + j + 1} (56) + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {i + j \choose i} {k + 1 - n - mi - nj \choose i + j + 1},$$

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(57)

 $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}}.$$
(58)

It is easy to see that, due to (5), formula (57) can also be used instead of (52) if $q_{(k-m)} < 1$ and formula (58) can also be used instead of (53) if $p_{(k-n)} < 1$. Therefore, we see that (as in parts (I), (II)) (40) must be proved.

(*IV*) $k = p_{(k)}(m + 1) \land k = q_{(k)}(n + 1)$. In this case, we have (see similar combinations in the cases (II) and (III))

$$p_{(k-m)} = p_{(k)}, \qquad p_{(k+1)} = p_{(k)} + 1,$$

$$q_{(k-n)} = q_{(k)}, \qquad q_{(k+1)} = q_{(k)} + 1.$$
(59)

Then,

 $\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)},q_{(k)}} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)},q_{(k)}} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(60)

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-m-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(61)

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}}.$$
(62)

As in part (II), for $k = p_{(k)}(m+1)$, $i = p_{(k)}$, and $j \ge 0$, formulas (45) hold and, for $k = p_{(k)}(m+1)$, $i = p_{(k)} - 1$, and $j \ge 0$, formulas (46) hold. Thus we can substitute $p_{(k)} - 1$ for $p_{(k)}$ in (60) and $p_{(k)} - 2$ for $p_{(k)} - 1$ in (61).

As in part (III), for $k = q_{(k)}(n + 1)$, $j = q_{(k)}$, and $i \ge 0$, formulas (54) hold and, for $k = q_{(k)}(m + 1)$, $j = q_{(k)} - 1$, and $i \ge 0$, formulas (55) hold. Thus we can replace $q_{(k)}$ by $q_{(k)} - 1$ in (60) and $q_{(k)} - 1$ by $q_{(k)} - 2$ in (62).

As before, (29), (34) hold and we can substitute $q_{(k)}$ for $q_{(k-m)}$ in (61) and $p_{(k)}$ for $p_{(k-n)}$ in (62). Thus, we have

 $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}},$$
(63)

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)} \\ &= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-m-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k-m)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{k-m-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}, \end{split}$$

$$(64)$$

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)}$

$$= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1}} + C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k-n)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j} {\binom{i+j}{i}} {\binom{k-n-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1}}.$$
(65)

It is easy to see that, due to (5), formula (64) can also be used instead of (61) if $q_{(k-m)} < 1$ and formula (65) can also be used instead of (62) if $p_{(k-n)} < 1$. Therefore, we see that (as in all the previous parts) (40) must be proved.

(*V*) *The Proof of Formula* (40). Now we prove (40). With the aid of (18), (19), (24), and (36), we get

$$\begin{split} \Delta \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} &= \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k+1)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} \\ &= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \left(\stackrel{i+j}{i} \right) \left(\stackrel{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \left(\stackrel{i+j}{i} \right) \left(\stackrel{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \\ &- I - B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \left(\stackrel{i+j}{i} \right) \left(\stackrel{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \\ &- C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \left(\stackrel{i+j}{i} \right) \left(\stackrel{k-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \\ &= B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \left(\stackrel{i+j}{i} \right) \left[\left(\stackrel{k+1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \\ &- \left(\stackrel{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \right] \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \left(\stackrel{i+j}{i} \right) \left[\left(\stackrel{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \\ &- \left(\stackrel{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \right] \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \left(\stackrel{i+j}{i} \right) \left[\left(\stackrel{k+1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \right] \\ &- \left(\stackrel{k-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \right) \right] \end{split}$$

$$=B\sum_{i=0,j=0}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j} + C\sum_{i=0,j=0}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j} = B\left[I + \sum_{i=1}^{P(k)-1}B^{i}C^{0}\binom{i}{i}\binom{k-m-mi}{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{q(k)-1}B^{0}C^{j}\binom{j}{0}\binom{k-m-nj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j} + C\left[I + \sum_{i=1}^{P(k)-1}B^{i}C^{0}\binom{i}{i}\binom{k-n-mi}{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{q(k)-1}B^{0}C^{j}\binom{j}{0}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1}B^{0}C^{j}\binom{j}{0}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1}B^{0}C^{j}\binom{j}{0}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j}{i}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + C\left[\frac{k-n-mj}{k-j}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{j}{i}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + C\left[\frac{k-n-mj}{k-j}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{P(k)-1,q(k)-1}B^{i}C^{j}\binom{j}{i}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + C\left[\frac{k-n-mj}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + C\left[\frac{k-n-mj}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{k-n-mj}{j} + C\left[\frac{k-n-mj}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{j}\binom{j}{j}\binom{j}{k-j}\binom{j}{j}\binom$$

By (25), we have

$$\begin{split} \Delta \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BCk} &= B \left[I + \sum_{i=1}^{p_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{0} \begin{pmatrix} i-1\\i-1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-m-mi\\i \end{pmatrix} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{q_{(k)}-1} B^{0} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} j-1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-m-nj\\j \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j-1\\i-1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-m-mi-nj\\i+j \end{pmatrix} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{p_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j-1\\i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-m-mi-nj\\i+j \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &+ C \left[I + \sum_{i=1}^{p_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{0} \begin{pmatrix} i-1\\i-1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-n-mi\\i \end{pmatrix} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{q_{(k)}-1} B^{0} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} j-1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-n-nj\\j \end{pmatrix} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j-1\\i-1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-n-mj\\i \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{p_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j-1\\i-1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-n-mj\\i \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1,j=1}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j-1}{i}\binom{k-n-mi-nj}{i+j}$$

$$= B\left[I + \sum_{i=1,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j-1}{i-1}\binom{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=0,j=1}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j-1}{i}\binom{k-m-mi-nj}{i+j}\right]$$

$$+ C\left[I + \sum_{i=1,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j-1}{i-1}\binom{k-n-mi-nj}{i+j}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=0,j=1}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j}\binom{i+j-1}{i}\binom{k-n-mi-nj}{i+j}\right].$$
(67)

Now, in the first and third sum, we replace the summation index *i* by i + 1 and, in the second and fourth sum, we replace the summation index *j* by j + 1. Then,

$$\begin{split} \Delta \widetilde{e}_{nm}^{BCk} &= B \left[I + \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i+1} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} k-m-m(i+1)-nj \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i} C^{j+1} \begin{pmatrix} i+j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-m-mi-n(j+1) \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &+ C \left[I + \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i+1} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} k-n-m(i+1)-nj \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j+1} \begin{pmatrix} i+j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-n-mi-n(j+1) \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \right] \\ &= B + B^{2} \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-m-m(i+1)-nj \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ BC \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} k-m-mi-n(j+1) \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ C + BC \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i} C^{j} \begin{pmatrix} i+j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} k-n-m(i+1)-nj \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} k-n-m(i+1)-nj \\ i+j+1 \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

$$+ C^{2} \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i}C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-n-mi-n(j+1) \choose i+j+1}$$

$$= B \left[I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-m-m(i+1)-nj \choose i+j+1} \right]$$

$$+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-2,q_{(k)}-1} B^{i}C^{j} {i+j \choose i} {k-n-m(i+1)-nj \choose i+j+1} \right]$$

$$+ C \left[I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i}C^{j} {i+j \choose i} \right]$$

$$\times \left(k-m-mi-n(j+1) \choose i+j+1} \right)$$

$$+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{p_{(k)}-1,q_{(k)}-2} B^{i}C^{j} {i+j \choose i} \left(k-n-mi-n(j+1) \choose i+j+1} \right) \right]$$

$$= B \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m)} + C \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n)}.$$
(68)

Due to (33) and (35), we conclude that formula (40) is valid.

We proved that formula (15) holds in each of the considered cases (I), (II), (III), and (IV) for $k \ge 1$. If k = 0, the proof can be done directly because $p_{(0)} = q_{(0)} = 0$, $p_{(1)} = q_{(1)} = 1$,

$$\begin{split} \Delta \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} &= \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC1} - \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} \\ &= I + B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{0,0} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{1-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &+ C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{0,0} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{1-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &- I - B \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{-1,-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{-m-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &- C \sum_{i=0,j=0}^{-1,-1} B^{i} C^{j} \binom{i+j}{i} \binom{-n-mi-nj}{i+j+1} \\ &= I + B\Theta + C\Theta - I - B\Theta - C\Theta = \Theta, \\ &B \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-m)} + C \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n)} = B\Theta + C\Theta = \Theta. \end{split}$$

Formula (15) holds again. Theorem 9 is proved.

3. Representing the Solution of an Initial Problem by Discrete Matrix Delayed Exponential for Two Delays

In this part, we prove the main results of the paper. With the aid of both discrete matrix delayed exponentials we

give formulas for the solution of the homogeneous and nonhomogeneous initial problem (2), (3).

3.1. Representing the Solution of a Homogeneous Initial Problem. Consider the homogeneous initial problem

$$\Delta x(k) = Bx(k-m) + Cx(k-n), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}, \qquad (70)$$

$$x(k) = \varphi(k), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{0}.$$
(71)

First we derive formulas for the solution of (70), (71) with the aid of discrete matrix delayed exponential e_{mn}^{BCk} and then with the aid of discrete matrix delayed exponential \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BCk} .

Theorem 10. Let *B*, *C* be constant $r \times r$ matrices such that

$$BC = CB,$$
 det $(B + C) \neq 0,$ (72)

and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, m < n, be fixed integers. Then, the solution of the initial Cauchy problem (70), (71) can be expressed in the form

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \epsilon_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} v_{j},$$
(73)

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{\infty}$ and

$$v_{0} = \varphi(-n) - \sum_{s=1}^{n} v_{s},$$

$$v_{\ell} = (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi(-\ell) - \sum_{t=1}^{n-\ell} \Delta e_{mn}^{BCt} v_{t+\ell} \right], \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{n}.$$
(74)

Proof. We are going to find the solution of the problem (70), (71) in the form

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} e_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} v_j, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{\infty}$$
(75)

with unknown constant vectors v_j . Due to linearity (taking into account that *k* varies), we have, for $k \ge 0$,

$$\Delta x (k) = \Delta \sum_{j=0}^{n} e_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} v_j = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \Delta \left[e_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} v_j \right]$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n} \Delta \left[e_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} \right] v_j.$$
(76)

Using formula (11),

$$\Delta x (k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left(B e_{mn}^{BC(k-m+j)} + C e_{mn}^{BC(k-n+j)} \right) v_{j}$$

= $B \sum_{j=0}^{n} e_{mn}^{BC(k-m+j)} v_{j} + C \sum_{j=0}^{n} e_{mn}^{BC(k-n+j)} v_{j}$
= $Bx (k-m) + Cx (k-n) .$ (77)

Now we conclude that, for any v_j and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}$, the equation $\Delta x(k) = Bx(k - m) + Cx(k - n)$ holds. We will try to satisfy initial conditions (71). Due to (75), we have, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^0$,

$$\begin{split} e_{mn}^{BC0} v_0 + e_{mn}^{BC1} v_1 + e_{mn}^{BC2} v_2 + \cdots + e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} v_{n-2} \\ &+ e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} v_{n-1} + e_{mn}^{BCn} v_n = \varphi \left(0 \right), \\ e_{mn}^{BC(-1)} v_0 + e_{mn}^{BC0} v_1 + e_{mn}^{BC1} v_2 + \cdots + e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} v_{n-2} \\ &+ e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} v_{n-1} + e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} v_n = \varphi \left(-1 \right), \\ e_{mn}^{BC(-2)} v_0 + e_{mn}^{BC(-1)} v_1 + e_{mn}^{BC0} v_2 + \cdots + e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} v_{n-2} \\ &+ e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} v_{n-1} + e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} v_n = \varphi \left(-2 \right), \\ e_{mn}^{BC(-3)} v_0 + e_{mn}^{BC(-2)} v_1 + e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} v_2 + \cdots + e_{mn}^{BC(n-5)} v_{n-2} \\ &+ e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} v_{n-1} + e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} v_n = \varphi \left(-3 \right), \\ \vdots \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+3)} v_0 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+4)} v_1 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+5)} v_2 + \cdots + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC1}} v_{n-2} \\ &+ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC2}} v_{n-1} + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC3}} v_n = \varphi \left(-n + 3 \right), \\ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+2)} v_0 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+3)} v_1 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+4)} v_2 + \cdots + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC0}} v_{n-2} \\ &+ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC1}} v_{n-1} + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC2}} v_n = \varphi \left(-n + 2 \right), \\ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+1)} v_0 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+2)} v_1 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+3)} v_2 + \cdots + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-1)} v_{n-2} \\ &+ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC0}} v_{n-1} + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC1}} v_n = \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right), \\ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n)} v_0 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+1)} v_1 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-n+2)} v_2 + \cdots + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-2)} v_{n-2} \\ &+ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC}(-1)} v_{n-1} + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC0}} v_n = \varphi \left(-n \right). \end{split}$$

Due to Definition 3, $e_{mn}^{BCk} = I$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^0$. So we have

$$v_{0} + e_{mn}^{BC1} v_{1} + e_{mn}^{BC2} v_{2} + \dots + e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} v_{n-2}$$

$$+ e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} v_{n-1} + e_{mn}^{BCn} v_{n} = \varphi(0),$$

$$(E_{0})$$

(78)

$$\begin{aligned} \nu_0 + \nu_1 + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{BC1} \nu_2 + \cdots + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} \nu_{n-2} \\ &+ \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} \nu_{n-1} + \mathrm{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} \nu_n = \varphi \left(-1\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} v_0 + v_1 + v_2 + \dots + \mathbf{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-5)} v_{n-2} \\ &+ \mathbf{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} v_{n-1} + \mathbf{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} v_n = \varphi \left(-3\right), \end{aligned} \tag{E}_3$$

:

$$v_0 + v_1 + v_2 + \dots + e_{mn}^{BC1} v_{n-2}$$
 (E_{n-3})
 $+ e_{mn}^{BC2} v_{n-1} + e_{mn}^{BC3} v_n = \varphi (-n+3),$

$$\begin{aligned} v_0 + v_1 + v_2 + \dots + v_{n-2} \\ &+ e_{mn}^{\text{BC1}} v_{n-1} + e_{mn}^{\text{BC2}} v_n = \varphi \left(-n + 2 \right), \end{aligned} \tag{E_{n-2}}$$

$$\begin{aligned} & v_0 + v_1 + v_2 + \dots + v_{n-2} \\ & + v_{n-1} + \mathbf{e}_{mn}^{\mathrm{BC1}} v_n = \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right), \end{aligned} \tag{E}_{n-1}$$

$$v_0 + v_1 + v_2 + \dots + v_{n-2} + v_{n-1} + v_n = \varphi(-n).$$
 (E_n)

Subtracting the neighbouring equations $((E_{n-1} - E_n), (E_{n-2} - E_{n-1}), \dots, (E_0 - E_1))$, we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} e_{mn}^{BC1} - I \end{pmatrix} v_n = \varphi (-n+1) - \varphi (-n), \qquad (E_{n-1} - E_n)$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} e_{mn}^{BC1} - I \end{pmatrix} v_{n-1} + \begin{pmatrix} e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1} \end{pmatrix} v_n$$

$$= \varphi (-n+2) - \varphi (-n+1), \qquad (E_{n-2} - E_{n-1})$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} e_{mn}^{BC1} - I \end{pmatrix} v_{n-2} + \begin{pmatrix} e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1} \end{pmatrix} v_{n-1} + \begin{pmatrix} e_{mn}^{BC3} - e_{mn}^{BC2} \end{pmatrix} v_n$$

$$= \varphi (-n+3) - \varphi (-n+2), \qquad (E_{n-3} - E_{n-2})$$

$$\vdots \left(e_{mn}^{BC1} - I \right) v_3 + \left(e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1} \right) v_4 + \cdots + \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-5)} \right) v_{n-2} + \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right) v_{n-1} + \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} \right) v_n = \varphi \left(-2 \right) - \varphi \left(-3 \right),$$

$$\left(E_2 - E_3 \right)$$

$$(e_{mn}^{BC1} - I) v_2 + (e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1}) v_3 + \cdots + (e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)}) v_{n-2} + (e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)}) v_{n-1} + (e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)}) v_n = \varphi (-1) - \varphi (-2) ,$$

$$(E_n - E_n)$$

By Definition 3, we have

$$e_{mn}^{BC1} - I = I + B + C - I = B + C,$$
(79)

and, from the foregoing equations, we get

$$\begin{split} \nu_{n} &= (B+C)^{-1} \Delta \varphi \left(-n\right), \\ \nu_{n-1} &= (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-n+1\right) - \left(e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1}\right) \nu_{n}\right], \\ \nu_{n-2} &= (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-n+2\right) - \left(e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1}\right) \nu_{n-1} \right. \\ &- \left(e_{mn}^{BC3} - e_{mn}^{BC2}\right) \nu_{n}\right], \\ &\vdots \\ \nu_{3} &= (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-3\right) - \left(e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1}\right) \nu_{4} - \cdots \right. \\ &- \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-5)}\right) \nu_{n-2} \\ &- \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)}\right) \nu_{n-1} \\ &- \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)}\right) \nu_{n}\right], \end{split}$$
(80)
$$\nu_{2} &= (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-2\right) - \left(e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1}\right) \nu_{3} - \cdots \\ &- \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-4)}\right) \nu_{n-2} \\ &- \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)}\right) \nu_{n}\right], \\ \nu_{1} &= (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-1\right) - \left(e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1}\right) \nu_{2} - \cdots \\ &- \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)}\right) \nu_{n}\right], \end{aligned}$$

$$-\left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)}\right)v_{n}\right],$$

= $(B+C)^{-1}\left[\Delta\varphi\left(-1\right) - \left(e_{mn}^{BC2} - e_{mn}^{BC1}\right)v_{2} - \cdots - \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-3)}\right)v_{n-2} - \left(e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-2)}\right)v_{n-1} - \left(e_{mn}^{BCn} - e_{mn}^{BC(n-1)}\right)v_{n}\right].$

The previous formulas can be shortened as

$$\nu_{\ell} = (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-\ell \right) - \sum_{t=1}^{n-\ell} \left(e_{mn}^{BC(t+1)} - e_{mn}^{BCt} \right) \nu_{t+\ell} \right]$$

$$= (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-\ell \right) - \sum_{t=1}^{n-\ell} \Delta e_{mn}^{BCt} \nu_{t+\ell} \right],$$
(81)

 $(E_1 - E_2)$ where $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_1^n$. Finally, from (E_n) , we get

$$v_0 = \varphi(-n) - \sum_{s=1}^n v_s.$$
 (82)

Theorem 10 is proved.

Now we express the solution of the homogeneous Cauchy problem by $\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k)}$. In this case, the condition det $(B + C) \neq 0$ is not necessary.

Theorem 11. Let B, C be constant $r \times r$ matrices with BC = CB and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, m < n, be fixed integers. Then the solution of the initial Cauchy problem (70), (71) can be expressed in the form

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} w_j,$$
(83)

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{\infty}$ and

$$w_{\ell} = \Delta \varphi \left(-\ell - 1\right) - \Delta \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell+n-1)} \varphi \left(-n\right)$$
$$- \sum_{s=-n}^{-\ell-m-2} \Delta \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell-s-2)} \Delta \varphi \left(s\right), \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{n-m-1},$$
$$w_{\ell} = \Delta \varphi \left(-\ell - 1\right), \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{n-m}^{n-1},$$
$$w_{n} = \varphi \left(-n\right).$$
(84)

Proof. We are going to find the solution of the problem (70), (71) in the form

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} w_j, \quad k \ge 0$$
(85)

with unknown constant vectors w_j . Due to linearity (taking into account that k varies), we have

$$\Delta x (k) = \Delta \sum_{j=0}^{n} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} w_{j} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \Delta \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} w_{j} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{n} \Delta \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} \right] w_{j}.$$
(86)

We use formula (15) and we get

$$\Delta x (k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left(B \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m+j)} + C \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n+j)} \right) w_{j}$$

= $B \sum_{j=0}^{n} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m+j)} w_{j} + C \sum_{j=0}^{n} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n+j)} w_{j}$
= $Bx (k-m) + Cx (k-n) .$ (87)

Now we conclude that, for any w_j and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}$, the equation $\Delta x(k) = Bx(k - m) + Cx(k - n)$ holds. We will try to satisfy initial conditions (71). Due to (83), we have, for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^0$,

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} w_0 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC1} w_1 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC2} w_2 + \cdots + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} w_{n-1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCn} w_n = \varphi(0),$$

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-1)} w_{0} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} w_{1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC1} w_{2} + \cdots + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} w_{n-1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} w_{n} = \varphi (-1) , \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-2)} w_{0} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-1)} w_{1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} w_{2} + \cdots + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} w_{n-1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} w_{n} = \varphi (-2) , \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-3)} w_{0} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-2)} w_{1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-1)} w_{2} + \cdots + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-5)} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} w_{n-1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} w_{n} = \varphi (-3) , \vdots$$

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+3)} w_0 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+4)} w_1 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+5)} w_2 + \cdots$$

$$+ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC1} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC2} w_{n-1}$$
(88)

$$+ \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC3} w_n = \varphi \left(-n + 3 \right),$$

 $\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+2)}w_0+\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+3)}w_1+\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+4)}w_2+\cdots$

$$\begin{split} &+ \widetilde{\mathrm{e}}_{mn}^{B\mathrm{C}0} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathrm{e}}_{mn}^{B\mathrm{C}1} w_{n-1} \\ &+ \widetilde{\mathrm{e}}_{mn}^{B\mathrm{C}2} w_n = \varphi \left(-n+2 \right), \end{split}$$

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+1)}w_0 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+2)}w_1 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+3)}w_2 + \cdots$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-1)} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} w_{n-1} \\ &+ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC1} w_n = \varphi \left(-n+1\right), \\ &\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n)} w_0 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+1)} w_1 + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-n+2)} w_2 + \cdots \\ &+ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-2)} w_{n-2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-1)} w_{n-1} \\ &+ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} w_n = \varphi \left(-n\right). \end{split}$$

By Definition 6, we have $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} = \Theta$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-\infty}^{-1}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BCk} = I$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{m}$. Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} w_{0} + w_{1} + w_{2} + \dots + w_{m} + \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} w_{m+1} \\ &+ \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)} w_{m+2} + \dots + \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} w_{n-2} \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{0}\right) \\ &+ \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} w_{n-1} + \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BCn} w_{n} = \varphi\left(0\right), \\ w_{1} + w_{2} + w_{3} + \dots + w_{m+1} + \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} w_{m+2} \\ &+ \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)} w_{m+3} + \dots + \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} w_{n-2} \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{1}\right) \\ &+ \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} w_{n-1} + \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} w_{n} = \varphi\left(-1\right), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} w_{2} + w_{3} + w_{4} + \cdots + w_{m+2} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} w_{m+3} \\ &+ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)} w_{m+4} + \cdots + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} w_{n-2} \\ &+ \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} w_{n-1} + \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} w_{n} = \varphi \left(-2\right), \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{2}\right) \\ &\vdots \end{split}$$

 $w_{n-m-2} + w_{n-m-1} + w_{n-m} + \dots + w_{n-2}$

$$+\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)}w_{n-1}+\widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)}w_{n}=\varphi\left(-n+m+2\right),$$

$$\left(\widetilde{E}_{n-m-2}\right)$$

 $w_{n-m-1} + w_{n-m} + w_{n-m+1} + \dots + w_{n-2}$

$$\begin{aligned} & -m^{-1} + w_{n-m} + w_{n-m+1} + \dots + w_{n-2} \\ & + w_{n-1} + \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} w_n = \varphi \left(-n + m + 1 \right), \\ & w_{n-m} + w_{n-m+1} + w_{n-m+2} + \dots \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} & \left(\widetilde{E}_{n-m} \right) \\ & + w_{n-2} + w_{n-1} + w_n = \varphi \left(-n + m \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{n-2}\right) \\ w_{n-2} + w_{n-1} + w_n = \varphi\left(-n+2\right),$$

$$w_{n-1} + w_n = \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right), \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{n-1} \right)$$

$$w_n = \varphi(-n) \,. \qquad \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_n \right)$$

We see directly that $w_n = \varphi(-n)$. Subtracting the neighbouring equations $((\tilde{E}_{n-1} - \tilde{E}_n), (\tilde{E}_{n-2} - \tilde{E}_{n-1}), \dots,$ $(\tilde{E}_{n-m} - \tilde{E}_{n-m+1}))$, we immediately get the formulas for $w_{n-1}, w_{n-2}, \ldots, w_{n-m}$ as follows:

$$\begin{split} w_{n-1} &= \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right) - \varphi \left(-n \right) = \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right), \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{n-1} - \widetilde{E}_n \right) \\ w_{n-2} &= \varphi \left(-n + 2 \right) - \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right) = \Delta \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right), \\ &\qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{n-2} - \widetilde{E}_{n-1} \right) \\ &\vdots \\ w_{n-m+1} &= \varphi \left(-n + m - 1 \right) - \varphi \left(-n + m - 2 \right) \\ &= \Delta \varphi \left(-n + m - 2 \right), \\ &\qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{n-m+1} - \widetilde{E}_{n-m+2} \right) \\ w_{n-m} &= \varphi \left(-n + m \right) - \varphi \left(-n + m - 1 \right) \\ &= \Delta \varphi \left(-n + m - 1 \right). \qquad \left(\widetilde{E}_{n-m} - \widetilde{E}_{n-m+1} \right) \end{split}$$

Further, subtracting the neighbouring equations $((\tilde{E}_{n-m-1} - \tilde{E}_{n-m}), (\tilde{E}_{n-m-2} - \tilde{E}_{n-m-1}), \dots, (\tilde{E}_0 - \tilde{E}_1)), \text{ we get}$

$$\begin{split} & w_{n-m-1} + \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{\text{BC}(m+1)} - I \right] w_n \\ &= \varphi \left(-n + m + 1 \right) - \varphi \left(-n + m \right) \\ & \Longrightarrow w_{n-m-1} = \Delta \varphi \left(-n + m \right) - \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{\text{BC}(m+1)} - I \right] \varphi \left(-n \right), \\ & \left(\tilde{E}_{n-m-1} - \tilde{E}_{n-m} \right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} w_{n-m-2} + \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} - I \right] w_{n-1} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} \right] w_{n} \\ &= \varphi \left(-n + m + 2 \right) - \varphi \left(-n + m + 1 \right) \\ &\implies w_{n-m-2} = \Delta \varphi \left(-n + m + 1 \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} \right] \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} - I \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right) , \\ &\vdots \\ \left(\tilde{E}_{n-m-2} - \tilde{E}_{n-m-1} \right) \right] \\ w_{2} + \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} - I \right] w_{m+3} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} \right] w_{n+4} + \cdots \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} \right] w_{n-2} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] w_{n-1} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] w_{n-1} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right) - \cdots \\ &- \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n+1)} - I \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-m - 4 \right) , \\ \left(\tilde{E}_{2} - \tilde{E}_{3} \right) \\ w_{1} + \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] w_{n-2} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] w_{n-2} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} \right] w_{n} \\ &= \varphi \left(-1 \right) - \varphi \left(-2 \right) \\ &\Longrightarrow w_{1} = \Delta \varphi \left(-2 \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} \right] \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-4)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n + 1 \right) - \cdots \right. \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-m - 4 \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} - I \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-m - 3 \right), \\ w_0 + \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} - I \right] w_{m+1} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} \right] w_{m+2} + \cdots \\ &+ \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} \right] w_{n-2} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} \right] w_{n-1} \\ &+ \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} \right] w_{n} \\ &= \varphi \left(0 \right) - \varphi \left(-1 \right) \\ &= w_0 = \Delta \varphi \left(-1 \right) - \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-1)} \right] \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-2)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(n-3)} \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-n - 3 \right) \\ &- \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(m+1)} - I \right] \Delta \varphi \left(-m - 2 \right). \end{split}$$

The previous formulas can be written as

$$\begin{split} w_{\ell} &= \Delta \varphi \left(-\ell - 1\right) - \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell+n)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell+n-1)}\right] \varphi \left(-n\right) \\ &- \sum_{s=-n}^{-\ell-m-2} \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell-s-1)} - \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell-s-2)}\right] \Delta \varphi \left(s\right), \\ &= \Delta \varphi \left(-\ell - 1\right) - \Delta \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell+n-1)} \varphi \left(-n\right) \\ &- \sum_{s=-n}^{-\ell-m-2} \Delta \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell-s-2)} \Delta \varphi \left(s\right), \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{n-m-1}, \\ & w_{\ell} = \Delta \varphi \left(-\ell - 1\right), \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{n-m}^{n-1}, \\ & w_{n} = \varphi \left(-n\right). \end{split}$$
Theorem 11 is proved.

3.2. Representing the Solution of a Nonhomogeneous Initial Problem. We consider a nonhomogeneous initial Cauchy problem

$$\Delta x (k) = Bx (k - m) + Cx (k - n) + f (k), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty},$$
(90)

$$x(k) = \varphi(k), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{0}.$$
(91)

By the theory of linear equations, we can obtain its solution as the sum of a solution of adjoint homogeneous problem (70), (71) (satisfying the same initial data) and a particular solution of (90) being zero on an initial interval. Let us, therefore, find such a particular solution.

We need an auxiliary lemma the proof of which is omitted.

Lemma 12. Let a function F(k, n) of two discrete variables be given. Then,

$$\Delta_{k}\left[\sum_{j=1}^{k} F(k, j)\right] = F(k+1, k+1) + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \Delta_{k} F(k, j). \quad (92)$$

Now we are ready to find a particular solution $x_p(k), k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{\infty}$ of the initial Cauchy problem:

$$\Delta x(k) = Bx(k - m) + Cx(k - n) + f(k), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty},$$
(93)

$$x(k) = 0, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{0}.$$
 (94)

Theorem 13. The solution $x = x_p(k)$ of the initial Cauchy problem (93), (94) can be represented on \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{∞} in the form

$$x_{p}(k) = \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \widetilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(\ell-1), \ k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty}.$$
 (95)

Proof. We are going to find a particular solution $x_p(k)$ of problem (93), (94) in the form (95). We substitute (95) into (93). Then, we get

$$\Delta \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(\ell-1) \right]$$

= $B \sum_{\ell=1}^{k-m} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-m-\ell)} f(\ell-1)$ (96)
+ $C \sum_{\ell=1}^{k-n} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-n-\ell)} f(j-1) + f(k).$

We modify the left-hand side of (96). With the aid of Lemma 12, we obtain

$$\Delta \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(j-1) \right]$$

= $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC((k+1)-(k+1))} f(k+1-1)$ (97)
+ $\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \Delta \left[\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(j-1) \right],$

and, applying Theorem 9, we get

$$\Delta \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(j-1) \right]$$

$$= \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} f(k) + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \left[B \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m-\ell)} + C \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n-\ell)} \right] f(j-1)$$

$$= \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} f(k) + B \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{k-m} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m-\ell)} f(j-1) + \sum_{\ell=k-m+1}^{k} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m-\ell)} f(j-1) \right]$$

$$+ C \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{k-n} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n-\ell)} f(j-1) + \sum_{\ell=k-n+1}^{k} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n-\ell)} f(j-1) \right].$$
(98)

By Definition 6, we have $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC0} = I$, $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-m-\ell)} = \Theta$ for $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{k-m+1}^{k}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{mn}^{BC(k-n-\ell)} = \Theta$ for $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{k-n+1}^{k}$. Thus, we get

$$\Delta \left[\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(j-1) \right]$$

= $f(k) + B \sum_{\ell=1}^{k-m} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-m-\ell)} f(j-1)$ (99)
+ $C \sum_{\ell=1}^{k-n} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-n-\ell)} f(j-1)$

and (96) holds.

Combining the results of Theorems 10, 11, and 13, we get immediately the following two theorems, which describe the solution of (90), (91). The first theorem uses the delayed matrix exponential e_{mn}^{BCk} and the second one uses the delayed matrix exponential \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BCk} .

Theorem 14. Let B, C be constant $r \times r$ matrices with

$$BC = CB, \qquad \det(B+C) \neq 0, \tag{100}$$

and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, m < n, be fixed integers. Then, the solution of the initial Cauchy problem (90), (91) can be expressed in the form

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} e_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} v_j + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \widetilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(\ell-1), \qquad (101)$$

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{\infty}$ and

$$v_{0} = \varphi(-n) - \sum_{s=1}^{n} v_{s},$$

$$v_{\ell} = (B+C)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi(-\ell) - \sum_{t=1}^{n-\ell} \Delta e_{mn}^{BCt} v_{t+\ell} \right], \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{1}^{n}.$$
(102)

Theorem 15. Let B, C be constant $r \times r$ matrices with BC = CB and let $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, m < n, be fixed integers. Then, the solution of the initial Cauchy problem (90), (91) can be expressed in the form

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k+j)} w_j + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(k-\ell)} f(\ell-1), \qquad (103)$$

where $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-n}^{\infty}$ and

$$w_{\ell} = \Delta \varphi \left(-\ell - 1\right) - \Delta \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell+n-1)} \varphi \left(-n\right)$$
$$- \sum_{s=-n}^{-\ell-m-2} \Delta \tilde{e}_{mn}^{BC(-\ell-s-2)} \Delta \varphi \left(s\right), \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{n-m-1},$$
$$w_{\ell} = \Delta \varphi \left(-\ell - 1\right), \quad \ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{n-m}^{n-1},$$
$$w_{n} = \varphi \left(-n\right).$$
(104)

4. Examples

Below, we show four examples to demonstrate the results achieved.

Example 16. Let us represent the solution of the scalar (r = 1) problem (70), (71) where we put m = 2, n = 3, B = b, C = c, $\varphi(-3) = 1$, $\varphi(-2) = 2$, $\varphi(-1) = 3$, and $\varphi(0) = 4$, using Theorem 10. We get

$$\Delta x (k) = bx (k - 2) + cx (k - 3), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty},$$
(105)
$$x (-3) = \varphi (-3) = 1,$$

$$x (-2) = \varphi (-2) = 2,$$

$$x (-1) = \varphi (-1) = 3,$$

(106)

$$x\left(0\right) = \varphi\left(0\right) = 4.$$

By Theorem 10, the solution of problem (105), (106) is

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{3} e_{2,3}^{bc(k+j)} v_j, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-3}^{\infty},$$
(107)

where

$$\begin{split} v_{3} &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-3 \right) - \sum_{t=1}^{0} \Delta e_{2,3}^{bct} v_{t+3} \right] = (b+c)^{-1}, \\ v_{2} &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-2 \right) - \sum_{t=1}^{1} \Delta e_{2,3}^{bct} v_{t+2} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-2 \right) - \Delta e_{2,3}^{bc1} v_{3} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - \left(e_{2,3}^{bc2} - e_{2,3}^{bc1} \right) (b+c)^{-1} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - (b+c) (b+c)^{-1} \right] = 0, \end{split}$$
(108)
$$v_{1} &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-1 \right) - \sum_{t=1}^{2} \Delta e_{2,3}^{bct} v_{t+1} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-2 \right) - \Delta e_{2,3}^{bc1} v_{2} - \Delta e_{2,3}^{bc2} v_{3} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - \left(e_{2,3}^{bc2} - e_{2,3}^{bc2} \right) (b+c)^{-1} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - (b+c) (b+c)^{-1} \right] = 0, \end{aligned}$$
$$v_{0} &= \varphi \left(-3 \right) - \sum_{s=1}^{3} v_{s} = 1 - (b+c)^{-1}. \end{split}$$

Thus, we get

$$x(k) = e_{2,3}^{bck} \left[1 - (b+c)^{-1} \right] + e_{2,3}^{bc(k+3)} (b+c)^{-1}.$$
(109)

We give values of x(k) for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_1^8$ as follows:

$$x (1) = 4 + 2b + c,$$

$$x (2) = 4 + 5b + 3c,$$

$$x (3) = 4 + 9b + 6c,$$

$$x (4) = 4 + 13b + 10c + 2b^{2} + bc,$$

$$x (5) = 4 + 17b + 14c + 7b^{2} + 6bc + c^{2},$$

$$x (6) = 4 + 21b + 18c + 16b^{2} + 17bc + 4c^{2},$$

$$x (7) = 4 + 25b + 22c + 29b^{2} + 36bc + 10c^{2} + 2b^{3} + b^{2}c,$$

$$x (8) = 4 + 29b + 26c + 46b^{2} + 63bc + 20c^{2} + 9b^{3} + 9b^{2}c + 2bc^{2}.$$

(110)

Example 17. Let us represent the solution of the scalar (r = 1) problem (90), (91) where we put m = 2, n = 3, B = b, C = c,

 $\varphi(-3)=1,$ $\varphi(-2)=2,$ $\varphi(-1)=3,$ $\varphi(0)=4,$ and f(k)=k+1, using Theorem 11. Thus, we have

$$\Delta x (k) = bx (k - 2) + cx (k - 3) + k + 1, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0}^{\infty},$$
(111)

$$x (-3) = \varphi (-3) = 1,$$

$$x (-2) = \varphi (-2) = 2,$$

$$x (-1) = \varphi (-1) = 3,$$

$$x (0) = \varphi (0) = 4.$$

By Theorem 11, the solution of problem (111), (112) is

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{3} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+j)} w_j + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k-\ell)} \ell, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-3}^{\infty},$$
(113)

where

$$\begin{split} w_{0} &= \Delta \varphi \left(-1\right) - \Delta \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc2} \varphi \left(-3\right) - \sum_{s=-3}^{-4} \Delta \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(-s-2)} \Delta \varphi \left(s\right) \\ &= 1 - \left(\tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc2} - \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc2}\right) 1 \\ &= 1 - (1 + b - 1) = 1 - b, \end{split}$$
(114)
$$\begin{split} w_{1} &= \Delta \varphi \left(-2\right) = 1, \\ w_{2} &= \Delta \varphi \left(-3\right) = 1, \\ w_{3} &= \varphi \left(-3\right) = 1. \end{split}$$

Thus, we get

$$\begin{aligned} x(k) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bck} (1-b) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+1)} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+2)} \\ &+ \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+3)} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k-\ell)} \ell. \end{aligned}$$
(115)

The first eight values of the homogeneous problem are given in Example 16. Now, we compute the first eight values of a particular solution $x_p(k) = \sum_{\ell=1}^k \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k-\ell)} \ell$ as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} x_{p}(1) &= 1, \qquad x_{p}(2) = 3, \\ x_{p}(3) &= 6, \qquad x_{p}(4) = 10 + b, \\ x_{p}(5) &= 15 + 4b + c, \qquad x_{p}(6) = 21 + 10b + 4c, \\ x_{p}(7) &= 28 + 20b + 10c + b^{2}, \\ x_{p}(8) &= 36 + 35b + 20c + 5b^{2} + 2bc. \end{aligned}$$
(116)

Together, we get

$$x (1) = 5 + 2b + c, \qquad x (2) = 7 + 5b + 3c,$$

$$x (3) = 10 + 9b + 6c,$$

$$x (4) = 14 + 14b + 10c + 2b^{2} + bc,$$

$$x (5) = 19 + 21b + 15c + 7b^{2} + 6bc + c^{2},$$

$$x (6) = 25 + 31b + 22c + 16b^{2} + 17bc + 4c^{2},$$

$$x (7) = 32 + 45b + 32c + 30b^{2} + 36bc + 10c^{2} + 2b^{3} + b^{2}c,$$

$$x (8) = 40 + 64b + 46c + 51b^{2} + 65bc + 20c^{2} + 9b^{3} + 9b^{2}c + 2bc^{2}.$$

(117)

Example 18. Let us represent the solution of the scalar (r = 1) problem (70), (71) where we put m = 2, n = 3, B = b = 4, C = c = -1, $\varphi(-3) = 1$, $\varphi(-2) = 2$, $\varphi(-1) = 3$, and $\varphi(0) = 4$, using Theorem 10. Thus, we have

$$\Delta x (k) = 4x (k - 2) - x (k - 3), \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty},$$
(118)

$$x (-3) = \varphi (-3) = 1,$$

$$x (-2) = \varphi (-2) = 2,$$

$$x (-1) = \varphi (-1) = 3,$$

$$x (0) = \varphi (0) = 4.$$

By Theorem 10, the solution of problem (118), (119) is

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{3} e_{2,3}^{bc(k+j)} v_j, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-3}^{\infty},$$
(120)

where

$$v_{3} = (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi (-3) - \sum_{t=1}^{0} \Delta e_{2,3}^{bct} v_{t+3} \right] = (b+c)^{-1} = \frac{1}{3},$$

$$v_{2} = (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi (-2) - \sum_{t=1}^{1} \Delta e_{2,3}^{bct} v_{t+2} \right]$$

$$= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi (-2) - \Delta e_{2,3}^{bc1} v_{3} \right]$$

$$= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - \left(e_{2,3}^{bc2} - e_{2,3}^{bc1} \right) (b+c)^{-1} \right]$$

$$= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - (b+c) (b+c)^{-1} \right] = 0,$$

$$\begin{aligned} v_{1} &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-1 \right) - \sum_{t=1}^{2} \Delta e_{2,3}^{bct} v_{t+1} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[\Delta \varphi \left(-2 \right) - \Delta e_{2,3}^{bc1} v_{2} - \Delta e_{2,3}^{bc2} v_{3} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - \left(e_{2,3}^{bc3} - e_{2,3}^{bc2} \right) (b+c)^{-1} \right] \\ &= (b+c)^{-1} \left[1 - (b+c) (b+c)^{-1} \right] = 0, \\ v_{0} &= \varphi \left(-3 \right) - \sum_{s=1}^{3} v_{s} = 1 - (b+c)^{-1} = \frac{2}{3}. \end{aligned}$$
(121)

Thus, we get

$$x(k) = e_{2,3}^{bck} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc(k+3)} \cdot \frac{1}{3},$$

$$x(1) = e_{2,3}^{bc1} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc3} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 4 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 25 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 11,$$

$$x(2) = e_{2,3}^{bc2} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc5} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 7 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 49 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 21,$$

$$x(3) = e_{2,3}^{bc3} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc6} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 10 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 82 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 34,$$

$$x(4) = e_{2,3}^{bc4} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc7} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 25 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 172 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 74,$$

$$x(5) = e_{2,3}^{bc5} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc8} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 49 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 343 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 147,$$

$$x(6) = e_{2,3}^{bc6} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc9} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 82 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 622 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 262,$$

$$x(7) = e_{2,3}^{bc7} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc10} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 172 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 1228 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 524,$$

$$x(8) = e_{2,3}^{bc8} \cdot \frac{2}{3} + e_{2,3}^{bc11} \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 343 \cdot \frac{2}{3} + 2428 \cdot \frac{1}{3} = 1038.$$
(122)

Example 19. Let us represent the solution of the scalar (r = 1) problem (90), (91) where we put m = 2, n = 3, B = b = 4, C = c = -1, $\varphi(-3) = 1$, $\varphi(-2) = 2$, $\varphi(-1) = 3$, $\varphi(0) = 4$, and f(k) = k + 1, using Theorem 11. Thus, we have

$$\Delta x (k) = 4x (k - 2) - x (k - 3) + k + 1, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_0^{\infty}, \quad (123)$$

$$x (-3) = \varphi (-3) = 1,$$

$$x (-2) = \varphi (-2) = 2,$$

$$x (-1) = \varphi (-1) = 3,$$

$$x (0) = \varphi (0) = 4.$$

By Theorem 11, the solution of the problem (123), (124) is

$$x(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{3} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+j)} w_j + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k-\ell)} \ell, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}_{-3}^{\infty},$$
(125)

where

ı

$$\begin{split} w_0 &= \Delta \varphi \left(-1 \right) - \Delta \widetilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc2} \varphi \left(-3 \right) - \sum_{s=-3}^{-4} \Delta \widetilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(-s-2)} \Delta \varphi \left(s \right) \\ &= 1 - \left(\widetilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc3} - \widetilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc2} \right) 1 \\ &= 1 - \left(1 + b - 1 \right) = 1 - b = -3, \end{split}$$
(126)
$$\begin{split} w_1 &= \Delta \varphi \left(-2 \right) = 1, \\ w_2 &= \Delta \varphi \left(-3 \right) = 1, \\ w_3 &= \varphi \left(-3 \right) = 1. \end{split}$$

Thus, we get

$$\begin{aligned} x \left(k\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bck} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+1)} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+2)} \\ &+ \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(k+3)} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(2-\ell)} \ell, \\ x \left(1\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(1)} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc2} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc3} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc4} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{1} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(1-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -3 + 1 + 5 + 8 + 1 = 12, \\ x \left(2\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc2} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc3} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc4} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc5} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{2} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(2-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -3 + 5 + 8 + 11 + 3 = 24, \\ x \left(3\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc3} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc3} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc5} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc6} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(3-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -15 + 8 + 11 + 30 + 6 = 40, \\ x \left(4\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc4} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc5} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc6} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc7} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{4} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(4-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -24 + 11 + 30 + 57 + 14 = 88, \\ x \left(5\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc5} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc6} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc7} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc8} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{5} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(5-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -33 + 30 + 57 + 93 + 30 = 177, \\ x \left(6\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc6} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc7} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc8} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc9} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{6} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(6-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -90 + 57 + 93 + 202 + 57 = 319, \\ x \left(7\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc7} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc8} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc9} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc11} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{7} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(7-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -171 + 93 + 202 + 400 + 114 = 638, \\ x \left(8\right) &= \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc8} \left(-3\right) + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc9} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc10} + \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc11} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{8} \tilde{e}_{2,3}^{bc(8-\ell)} \ell \\ &= -279 + 202 + 400 + 715 + 228 = 1266. \end{aligned}$$

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgment

The first author was supported by the Grant 201/10/1032 of the Czech Grant Agency (Prague).

References

- J. Diblík and D. Ya. Khusainov, "Representation of solutions of linear discrete systems with constant coefficients and pure delay," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2006, Article ID 80825, 13 pages, 2006.
- [2] J. Diblík and D. Ya. Khusainov, "Representation of solutions of discrete delayed system x(k + 1) = Ax(k) + Bx(k m) + f(k) with commutative matrices," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 318, no. 1, pp. 63–76, 2006.
- [3] J. Diblík and B. Morávková, "Discrete matrix delayed exponential for two delays and its property," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2013, article 139, 18 pages, 2013.
- [4] D. Ya. Khusainov and G. V. Shuklin, "Linear autonomous timedelay system with permutation matrices solving," *Studies of the University of Žilina. Mathematical Series*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 101– 108, 2003.
- [5] A. Boichuk, J. Diblík, D. Khusainov, and M. Růžičková, "Boundary value problems for delay differential systems," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2010, Article ID 593834, 20 pages, 2010.
- [6] A. Boichuk, J. Diblík, D. Khusainov, and M. Růžičková, "Fredholm's boundary-value problems for differential systems with a single delay," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 72, no. 5, pp. 2251–2258, 2010.
- [7] A. Boichuk, J. Diblík, D. Khusainov, and M. Růžičková, "Boundary-value problems for weakly nonlinear delay differential systems," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2011, Article ID 631412, 19 pages, 2011.
- [8] J. Diblík, M. Fečkan, and M. Pospíšil, "Representation of a solution of the Cauchy problem for an oscillating system with two delays and permutable matrices," *Ukrains'kyi Matěmatyčhnyi Žhurnal*, vol. 65, pp. 58–69, 2013.
- [9] J. Diblík, M. Fečkan, and M. Pospíšil, "Representation of a solution of the Cauchy problem for an oscillating system with multiple delays and pairwise permutable matrices," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2013, Article ID 931493, 10 pages, 2013.
- [10] J. Diblík, D. Khusainov, O. Kukharenko, and Z. Svoboda, "Solution of the first boundary-value problem for a system of autonomous second-order linear partial differential equations of parabolic type with a single delay," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2012, Article ID 219040, 27 pages, 2012.
- [11] J. Diblík, D. Ya. Khusainov, J. Lukáčová, and M. Růžičková, "Control of oscillating systems with a single delay," Advances in Difference Equations, vol. 2010, Article ID 108218, 15 pages, 2010.
- [12] J. Diblík, D. Ya. Khusainov, and M. Růžičková, "Controllability of linear discrete systems with constant coefficients and pure delay," *SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 1140–1149, 2008.
- [13] D. Ya. Khusainov, J. Diblík, M. Růžičková, and J. Lukáčová, "Representation of a solution of the Cauchy problem for an

oscillating system with pure delay," *Nonlinear Oscillations*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 276–285, 2008.

- [14] D. Ya. Khusainov and G. V. Shuklin, "On relative controllability in systems with pure delay," *International Applied Mechanics*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 118–130, 2005.
- [15] M. Medved' and M. Pospíšil, "Sufficient conditions for the asymptotic stability of nonlinear multidelay differential equations with linear parts defined by pairwise permutable matrices," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 75, no. 7, pp. 3348–3363, 2012.
- [16] M. Medved, M. Pospíšil, and L. Škripková, "Stability and the nonexistence of blowing-up solutions of nonlinear delay systems with linear parts defined by permutable matrices," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 74, no. 12, pp. 3903–3911, 2011.
- [17] M. Medved' and L. Škripková, "Sufficient conditions for the exponential stability of delay difference equations with linear parts defined by permutable matrices," *Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations*, no. 22, pp. 1–13, 2012.
- [18] M. Pospíšil, "Representation and stability of solutions of systems of functional differential equations with multiple delays," *Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations*, no. 54, pp. 1–30, 2012.

Research Article

Spatial Approximation of Nondivergent Type Parabolic PDEs with Unbounded Coefficients Related to Finance

Fernando F. Gonçalves^{1,2} and Maria Rosário Grossinho¹

¹ CEMAPRE & Departmento de Matemática, ISEG, Universidade de Lisboa, Rua do Quelhas 6, 1200-781 Lisboa, Portugal ² Universidade Europeia, Estrada da Correia 53, 1500-210 Lisboa, Portugal

Correspondence should be addressed to Fernando F. Gonçalves; fgoncalves@iseg.ulisboa.pt

Received 26 July 2013; Accepted 5 January 2014; Published 6 March 2014

Academic Editor: István Györi

Copyright © 2014 F. F. Gonçalves and M. R. Grossinho. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We study the spatial discretisation of the Cauchy problem for a multidimensional linear parabolic PDE of second order, with nondivergent operator and unbounded time- and space-dependent coefficients. The equation free term and the initial data are also allowed to grow. Under a nondegeneracy assumption, we consider the PDE solvability in the framework of the variational approach and approximate in space the PDE problem's generalised solution, with the use of finite-difference methods. The rate of convergence is estimated.

1. Introduction

In this paper, we study the discretisation in space of the Cauchy problem

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = Lu + f \quad \text{in } [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d,$$

$$u(0,x) = q(x) \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(1)

where *L* is the second-order partial differential operator in the nondivergence form

$$L(t,x) = a^{ij}(t,x) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} + b^i(t,x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} + c(t,x), \qquad (2)$$
$$i, j = 1, \dots, d,$$

with real coefficients (written with the usual summation convention), f and g are given real-valued functions, and $T \in (0, \infty)$ is a constant. We assume that operator $\partial/\partial t - L$ is uniformly parabolic and allows the growth in the spatial variables of the first- and second-order coefficients in L (linear and quadratic growth, resp.) and of the data f and g (polynomial growth).

Multidimensional partial differential equation (PDE) problems arise in Financial Mathematics and in Mathematical Physics. We are mainly motivated by the application to a large class of stochastic models in Financial Mathematics comprising the non-path-dependent options, with fixed exercise, written on multiple assets (basket options, exchange options, compound options, European options on future contracts and foreign-exchange, and others) and also to a particular type of path-dependent options: the Asian options (see, e.g., [1]).

Let us consider the stochastic modelling of a multiasset option of European type under the framework of a general version of Black-Scholes model, where the vector of asset appreciation rates and the volatility matrix are taken to be time- and space-dependent, and the riskless interest rate is a function of time. Owing to a Feynman-Kač type formula, pricing this option can be reduced to solving the Cauchy problem (with terminal condition) for the degenerate second-order linear parabolic PDE of nondivergent type, with null term and unbounded coefficients (see, e.g., [1]),

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{ij}(t,S)S^{i}S^{j}\frac{\partial^{2}V}{\partial S^{i}\partial S^{j}} + r(t)S^{i}\frac{\partial V}{\partial S^{i}} - r(t)V = 0$$

in $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{d}_{+},$
$$V(T,S) = \phi(S) \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{d}_{+},$$
(3)

where $\mathbb{R}^d_+ \equiv \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : x^i > 0, i = 1, ..., d\}$, *V* is the (unknown) option value, *Sⁱ* the price of the *i*th underlying asset, (σ^{ij}) the volatility matrix, *r* the risk-free interest rate, and ϕ the pay-off function.

Therefore, as an alternative to approximating the option price with probabilistic numerical methods, we can approximate the solution of the corresponding PDE problem (3) with the use of nonprobabilistic techniques.

When problem (1) is considered in connection with option pricing, we see that the growth of the Black-Scholes PDE coefficients is appropriately matched. Also, the general case where the asset appreciation rate vector, the volatility matrix, and the risk-free interest rate are variable is covered. Finally, by imposing weak conditions on the initial data g, we will allow the financial derivative pay-off to be specified in a large class of functions. The free term f is included to further improve generality.

In this paper, we study the approximation in space (for the time approximation, we refer to [2-4], where a general evolution equation problem of parabolic type is discretised) of the second-order parabolic problem (1), in the challenging case where the coefficients are unbounded (as well as the free data f and g). The results are obtained under the strong assumption that the PDE does not degenerate but by imposing weak regularity assumptions. In order to facilitate the approach, we avoid any numerical methods' sophistication and make use of basic one-step finite-difference schemes. Also, an estimate for the rate of convergence of the discretised problem's generalised solution to the exact problem's generalised solution is given.

The numerical methods and possible approximation results are strongly linked to the theory on the solvability of the PDEs. We make use of the L^2 theory of solvability of linear PDEs in weighted Sobolev spaces. In particular, we consider the PDE solvability in a class of weighted Sobolev spaces used by O. G. Purtukhia (the references for Purtukhia's works can be found in [5]) for the treatment of linear stochastic partial differential equations (SPDEs) and further generalised by Gyöngy and Krylov (see [5]), the so-called well-weighted Sobolev spaces. By constructing discrete versions of these spaces, we set a suitable discretised framework and investigate the spatial approximation to the PDE generalised solution with the use of standard variational techniques.

We emphasize some points.

Firstly, we note that many PDE problems related to finance are Cauchy problems: initial-boundary value problems arise mostly after a localisation procedure for the purpose of obtaining implementable numerical schemes. Therefore, we do not find in many of these problems the complex domain geometries which are one important reason to favour other numerical methods (e.g., finite-element methods).

Also, although the finite-difference method for approximating PDEs is a well-developed area, and the theory could be considered reasonably complete since three decades ago, some important research is still currently pursued (see, e.g., the recent works [8–10]). (We refer to [6] for a brief summary Abstract and Applied Analysis

of the method's history, and also for the references of the seminal works by R. Courant, K. O. Friedrichs, and H. Lewy, and further major contributions by many others. For the application of the finite-difference method to option pricing, we refer to the review paper [7] for the references of the original publications by M. Brennan and E. S. Schwartz and further major research.)

Secondly, we observe that the usual procedure for obtaining implementable numerical schemes for problem (1) is to localise it to a bounded domain in $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and then to approximate the localised problem (see, e.g., [11–13]; see also [14], where the approximation is pursued for more complex financial models but using the same localisation technique). In this case, there is no need to consider weighted functional spaces for the solvability and approximation study, as the PDE coefficients are bounded in the truncated domain.

An alternative procedure is to (semi)discretise problem (1) in $[0,T] \times Z_h^d$, with Z_h^d being the *h*-grid on \mathbb{R}^d , and then localise the discretised problem to a bounded domain in $[0,T] \times Z_h^d$ by imposing a discrete artificial boundary condition (see, e.g., [15–17], where several types of initialvalue problems on unbounded domains are approximated; we refer to [16, 17] for the procedure discussion). Our study is meaningful in this latter case, as the coefficient unboundedness remains a problem that must be dealt with.

Finally, we remark that (i) the partial differential operators arising in finance are of nondivergent type and (ii) we do not assume the operator coefficients to be smooth enough to be possible to obtain an equivalent divergent operator. Therefore, although there are definite advantages in considering the operator in the divergent form when the approach is variational, this is not available for the present work.

We outline the paper. In Section 2, we establish some wellknown facts on the solvability of linear PDEs under a general framework and introduce the well-weighted Sobolev spaces. In Section 3, we discretise in space problem (1), with the use of a finite-difference scheme. We set a discrete framework and deduce the existence and uniqueness of the discretised problem's generalised solution. In Section 4, we investigate the approximation properties of the scheme and compute a rate of convergence. In Section 5, we make a few final comments.

2. Preliminaries and Classical Results

We establish some facts on the solvability of PDEs under a general framework.

Let *V* be a reflexive separable Banach space embedded continuously and densely into a Hilbert space *H* with inner product (,). Then H^* , the dual space of *H*, is also continuously and densely embedded into V^* , the dual of *V*. Let us use the notation \langle, \rangle for the duality. Let H^* be identified with *H* in the usual way, by the help of the inner product. Then we have the so-called normal triple $V \hookrightarrow H \equiv H^* \hookrightarrow V^*$, with continuous and dense embeddings. Let us consider the Cauchy problem for an evolution equation

$$\frac{du}{dt} = A(t)u + f(t) \quad \text{in } [0,T], \ u(0) = g, \qquad (4)$$

with $T \in (0, \infty)$ and where for every $t \in [0, T]$ A(t) is a linear operator from V to V^* , $f(t) \in V^*$, and $g \in H$.

We assume that the operator A(t) is continuous and impose a coercivity condition, as well as some regularity on the free data f and g.

Assumption 1. There exist constants $\lambda > 0, K, M$, and N such that

(1) $\langle A(t)v, v \rangle + \lambda \|v\|_{V}^{2} \le K \|v\|_{H}^{2}, \forall v \in V, \forall t \in [0, T];$ (2) $\|A(t)v\|_{V^{*}} \le M \|v\|_{V}, \forall v \in V, \forall t \in [0, T];$ (3) $\int_{0}^{T} \|f(t)\|_{V^{*}}^{2} dt \le N \text{ and } \|g\|_{H} \le N.$

We define the generalised solution of problem (4).

Definition 2. One says that $u \in C([0,T];H)$ is a generalised solution of (4) on [0,T] if

(1)
$$u \in L^{2}([0, T]; V);$$

(2) for every $t \in [0, T],$
 $(u(t), v) = (g, v) + \int_{0}^{t} \langle A(s) u(s), v \rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle f(s), v \rangle ds$
(5)

holds for all $v \in V$.

Notation 1. Let *W* be a Banach space with norm || ||. We denote by C([0,T];W) the space of continuous *W*-valued functions on [0,T] and by $L^2([0,T];W)$ the space of *W*-valued functions *w* on [0,T] such that $||w||_{L^2([0,T];W)} := (\int_0^T ||w(t)||^2 dt)^{1/2} < \infty$.

The following well-known result states that, under Assumption 1, problem (4) has a unique generalised solution (see, e.g., [5], where the result is stated for the more general case of a linear stochastic evolution equation problem and [18]).

Theorem 3. Under (1)–(3) in Assumption 1, problem (4) has a unique generalised solution on [0, T]. Moreover

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|u(t)\|_{H}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|u(t)\|_{V}^{2} dt$$

$$\leq N\left(\|g\|_{H}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|f(t)\|_{V^{*}}^{2} dt\right),$$
(6)

where N is a constant.

Let us now consider the particular PDE problem

$$u_t = Lu + f \quad \text{in } Q, \qquad u(0, x) = g(x) \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^d, \quad (7)$$

where L is the second-order operator with real coefficients

$$L(t,x) = a^{ij}(t,x)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} + b^i(t,x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} + c(t,x), \quad (8)$$

 $Q = [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$, with $T \in (0,\infty)$, and f and g are given functions. We allow the growth, in the spatial variables, of the coefficients $a^{ij}(t, x)$ and $b^i(t, x)$, i, j = 1, ..., d, and of the free data f(t, x) and g(x).

In order to set the framework for problem (7), we introduce a suitable class of weighted Sobolev spaces, the so-called well-weighted Sobolev spaces (we refer to [5] for a complete description of this class of spaces).

Let *U* be a domain in \mathbb{R}^d , that is, an open subset of \mathbb{R}^d . Let r > 0, $\rho > 0$ be smooth functions in *U* and $m \ge 0$ an integer. The weighted Sobolev space $W^{m,2}(U; r, \rho)$ is the Banach space of locally integrable functions $v : U \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for each multi-index α , with $|\alpha| \le m$, $D^{\alpha}v$ exists in the weak sense, and

$$\|v\|_{W^{m,2}(U;r,\rho)} := \left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \int_{U} r^2 |\rho^{|\alpha|} D^{\alpha} v|^2 dx\right)^{1/2} < \infty.$$
(9)

Endowed with the inner product which generates the above norm

$$(v,w)_{W^{m,2}(U;r,\rho)} \coloneqq \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} \int_{U} r^2 \rho^{2|\alpha|} D^{\alpha} v D^{\alpha} w dx, \qquad (10)$$

for all $v, w \in W^{m,2}(U; r, \rho), W^{m,2}(U; r, \rho)$ is a Hilbert space.

Remark 4. Setting the weight functions $r = \rho = 1$, for all $x \in U$, we obtain the particular case of the Sobolev spaces $W^{m,2}(U)$.

Notation 2. In the sequel, when $U = \mathbb{R}^d$ we drop the argument in the function space notation. For instance, we denote $W^{m,2}(\mathbb{R}^d; r, \rho) =: W^{m,2}(r, \rho)$.

We make some assumptions on the behaviour of the weight functions *r* and ρ (see [5]).

Assumption 5. Let $m \ge 0$ be an integer and r > 0, $\rho > 0$ smooth functions on \mathbb{R}^d . There exists a constant K such that

- (1) $|D^{\alpha}\rho| \leq K\rho^{1-|\alpha|}$, for all multi-indexes α such that $|\alpha| \leq m-1$ if $m \geq 2$;
- (2) $|D^{\alpha}r| \leq K(r/\rho^{|\alpha|})$, for all multi-indexes α such that $|\alpha| \leq m$.

Remark 6. In (1) in Assumption 5, if m < 2 nothing is required.

Example 7. The following functions (taken from [5], citing O. G. Purtukhia) satisfy Assumption 5:

(1)
$$r(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{\beta}, \beta \in \mathbb{R}; \rho(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{\gamma}, \gamma \le 1/2;$$

(2) $r(x) = \exp(\pm(1 + |x|^2)^{\beta}), 0 \le \beta \le 1/2; \rho(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{\gamma}, \gamma \le 1/2 - \beta;$

(4)
$$r(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{\beta} \ln^{\mu} (2 + |x|^2), \beta \ge 0, \mu \ge 0; \rho(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{\gamma}, \gamma \le 1/2;$$

(5)
$$r(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{\beta} \ln^{\mu} (2 + |x|^2), \beta \ge 0, \mu \ge 0; \rho(x) = \ln^{\gamma} (2 + |x|^2), \gamma \ge 0;$$

(6) $\rho(x) = \exp(-(1 + |x|^2)^{\gamma}), \gamma \ge 0$; each weight function r(x) in examples (1)–(5).

Now, we switch our point of view and consider the functions $w : Q \to \mathbb{R}$ as mappings of *t* into certain spaces of functions of *x* we make precise below such that, for all $t \in [0, T], x \in \mathbb{R}^d, (w(t))(x) := w(t, x)$.

We impose a coercivity condition and make some assumptions on the growth and regularity of the operator's coefficients and also on the regularity of the free data f and g (see [5], where the assumptions are made for the more general case of an SPDE problem).

Assumption 8. Let r > 0, $\rho > 0$ be smooth functions on \mathbb{R}^d and $m \ge 0$ an integer.

- (1) There exists a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that $\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a^{ij}(t,x)\xi^{i}\xi^{j} \ge \lambda \rho^{2}(x)|\xi|^{2}$, for all $t \ge 0$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$, and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$.
- (2) The coefficients of *L* are measurable functions in $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$. The derivatives in *x* of the coefficients a^{ij} up to order $m \vee 1$ and of the coefficients b^i and *c* up to order *m* exist for any $t \in [0, T]$. Moreover, there exists a constant *K* such that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| D_x^{\alpha} a^{ij} \right| &\leq K \rho^{2-|\alpha|} \quad \forall \, |\alpha| \leq m \lor 1, \\ \left| D_x^{\alpha} b^i \right| &\leq K \rho^{1-|\alpha|}, \quad \left| D_x^{\alpha} c \right| \leq K \quad \forall \, |\alpha| \leq m, \end{aligned}$$
(11)

for all $t \in [0, T]$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, with D_x^{α} denoting the $|\alpha|$ th partial derivative operator with respect to x.

(3) Consider $f \in L^2([0,T]; W^{m-1,2}(r,\rho))$ and $g \in W^{m,2}(r,\rho)$.

Notation 3. In the above assumption, $p \lor q := \max(p,q)$, with p, q integers. Also, for m = 0 we use the notation $W^{-1,2}(r,\rho) := (W^{1,2}(r,\rho))^*$, where $(W^{1,2}(r,\rho))^*$ is the dual of $W^{1,2}(r,\rho)$.

We define the generalised solution of problem (7).

Definition 9. One says that $u \in C([0,T]; W^{0,2}(r,\rho))$ is a generalised solution of (7) on [0,T] if

(1)
$$u \in L^2([0,T]; W^{1,2}(r,\rho));$$

(2) for every $t \in [0, T]$,

$$(u(t), \varphi)$$

$$= (g, \varphi) + \int_{0}^{t} \left\{ -\left(a^{ij}(s) D_{x^{i}}u(s), D_{x^{j}}\varphi\right) + \left(b^{i}(s) D_{x^{i}}u(s) - D_{x^{j}}a^{ij}(s) D_{x^{i}}u(s), \varphi\right) + \left(c(s)u(s), \varphi\right) + \left\langle f(s), \varphi\right\rangle \right\} ds$$
(12)

holds for all $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}$.

Notation 4. The notation (,) in the above definition stands for the inner product in $W^{0,2}(r,\rho)$. Also, we denote $C_0^{\infty} := C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Remark 10. Note that as an alternative to the infinite differentiability of φ in (2) it can be required that $\varphi \in W^{1,2}(r, \rho)$.

Finally, we state a result on the existence and uniqueness of the solution of problem (7). This result can be obtained from the general result in abstract spaces by using the suitable triple of spaces (see, e.g., [5], where the result is proved for the more general case of an SPDE problem).

Theorem 11. Under (1)-(2) in Assumption 5, with m+1 in place of m, with $m \ge 0$ being an integer, and (1)–(3) in Assumption 8, problem (7) admits a unique generalised solution u on [0, T]. Moreover

$$u \in C\left([0,T]; W^{m,2}(r,\rho)\right) \cap L^{2}\left([0,T]; W^{m+1,2}(r,\rho)\right),$$

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|u(t)\|_{W^{m,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|u(t)\|_{W^{m+1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt$$

$$\le N\left(\|g\|_{W^{m,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|f(t)\|_{W^{m-1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt\right),$$
(13)

with N being a constant.

3. The Discrete Framework

We now proceed to the discretisation of problem (7) in the spatial variable. We set a suitable discrete framework with the use of a finite-difference scheme and, by showing that discretised problem can be cast into the general problem (4), we prove an existence and uniqueness result for the discretised problem's generalised solution.

We emphasize that this study mirrors the study of problem (7), in the sense that the framework we now set is a discrete version of the framework set for problem (7), and the techniques used for proving the existence and uniqueness results are the same for both problems.

Define the *h*-grid on \mathbb{R}^d , with $h \in (0, 1]$,

$$Z_{h}^{d} = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d} : x = h \sum_{i=1}^{d} e_{i} n_{i}, \ n_{i} = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots \right\}, \quad (14)$$

where e_i , for i = 1, 2, ..., d, is the unit vector in \mathbb{R}^d whose *i*th entry is 1.

For every $x \in Z_h^d$, denote

$$\partial_{i}^{+} u = \partial_{i}^{+} u(t, x) = h^{-1} \left(u(t, x + he_{i}) - u(t, x) \right),$$

$$\partial_{i}^{-} u = \partial_{i}^{-} u(t, x) = h^{-1} \left(u(t, x) - u(t, x - he_{i}) \right)$$
(15)

the forward and backward difference quotients in space, respectively. Define the discrete operator

$$L_{h}(t,x) = a^{ij}(t,x)\partial_{j}^{-}\partial_{i}^{+} + b^{i}(t,x)\partial_{i}^{+} + c(t,x).$$
(16)

We consider the discrete problem

$$u_t = L_h u + f_h$$
 in $Q(h)$, $u(0, x) = g_h(x)$ on Z_h^d ,
(17)

where $Q(h) = [0, T] \times Z_h^d$, with $T \in (0, \infty)$, and f_h and g_h are functions such that $f_h : Q(h) \to \mathbb{R}$ and $g_h : Z_h^d \to \mathbb{R}$. Consider functions $v : Z_h^d \to \mathbb{R}$. We introduce the space

Consider functions $v : Z_h^a \to \mathbb{R}$. We introduce the space $l^{0,2}(r)$, the discrete version of the weighted Sobolev space $W^{0,2}(r, \rho)$,

$$l^{0,2}(r) := \left\{ v : \|v\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} < \infty \right\},\tag{18}$$

where the norm $\|v\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}$ is given by

$$\|v\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} = \left(\sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}_{h}^{d}} r^{2}(x) |v(x)|^{2} h^{d}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (19)

We define, for any $v, w \in l^{0,2}(r)$, the inner product

$$(v,w)_{l^{0,2}(r)} = \sum_{x \in Z_h^d} r^2(x) v(x) w(x) h^d,$$
(20)

which induces the norm.

The inner product space $l^{0,2}(r)$ has a good structure: it can be easily shown that it is complete, therefore a Hilbert space.

For functions $w : Z_h^d \to \mathbb{R}$, we introduce also the discrete version of the weighted Sobolev space $W^{1,2}(r, \rho)$, the space $l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$ defined by

$$l^{1,2}(r,\rho) = \left\{ w : \|w\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)} < \infty \right\},$$
(21)

with norm

$$\|w\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} := \|w\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \|\rho\partial_{i}^{+}w\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2}.$$
(22)

We endow $l^{1,2}(r,\rho)$ with the inner product, inducing the norm,

$$(w,z)_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)} = (w,z)_{l^{0,2}(r)} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} (\rho \partial_i^+ w, \rho \partial_i^+ z)_{l^{0,2}(r)}, \quad (23)$$

for any functions $w, z \in l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$.

We want to show that the discrete framework we have set is a particular case of the general framework considered in Section 2.

It can be easily checked that $l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$ is a reflexive and separable Banach space, continuously and densely embedded into the Hilbert space $l^{0,2}(r)$.

As $l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$, endowed with the inner product $(,)_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}$, is clearly a Hilbert space therefore it is reflexive, and the proof for the separability is trivial. The continuity of the embedding follows immediately from $\|v\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} \leq \|v\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}$, for all $v \in$ $l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$. Finally, the denseness can be checked by noticing that, for an arbitrary function $w \in l^{0,2}(r)$, and *B* a ball in \mathbb{Z}_h^d , the function *z* defined by

$$z(x) = \begin{cases} w(x), & x \in B, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(24)

belongs obviously to $l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$ and that, for any given $\varepsilon > 0$, $||w - z||_{l^{0,2}(r)} < \varepsilon$ if the diameter of *B* is chosen sufficiently large.

As in the previous section, we switch our viewpoint and consider the functions $z : Q(h) \to \mathbb{R}$ as mappings of tinto certain spaces of functions of x, defined by (z(t))(x) :=z(t, x), for all $t \in [0, T]$ and for all $x \in Z_h^d$. For these functions, we consider the space $C([0, T]; l^{0,2}(r))$ of continuous $l^{0,2}(r)$ valued functions on [0, T] and the spaces

$$L^{2}\left([0,T]; l^{m,2}(r,\rho)\right) = \left\{z: [0,T] \longrightarrow l^{m,2}(r,\rho): \int_{0}^{T} \|z(t)\|_{l^{m,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt < \infty\right\},$$
(25)

with m = 0, 1.

Notation 5. We identify $l^{0,2}(r, \rho)$ with $l^{0,2}(r)$.

Remark 12. Clearly, if $u \in C([0,T]; l^{0,2}(r))$ then $\sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||u(t)||_{l^{0,2}(r)} < \infty$.

We make some assumptions on the regularity of the data f_h and g_h in (17).

Assumption 13. Let r > 0 be a smooth function on \mathbb{R}^d . We assume

(1)
$$f_h \in L^2([0,T]; l^{0,2}(r));$$

(2) $g_h \in l^{0,2}(r).$

Remark 14. In Assumption 13, (1) can be replaced with the weaker assumption $f_h \in L^2([0,T]; (l^{1,2}(r,\rho))^*)$, where $(l^{1,2}(r,\rho))^*$ denotes the dual space of $l^{1,2}(r,\rho)$.

Remark 15. We note that $|\partial_i^+ a^{ij}| \le K\rho$ can be obtained from (2) in Assumption 8. In fact, by the mean-value theorem,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_i^+ a^{ij}(t, x) \right| &= \left| h^{-1} \left(a^{ij}(t, x + he_i) - a^{ij}(t, x) \right) \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} a^{ij}(t, x + \tau e_i) \right|, \end{aligned}$$
(26)
for some τ such that $0 < \tau < h$. Thus $|(\partial/\partial x^i)a^{ij}| \le K\rho$ implies $|\partial_i^+ a^{ij}| \le K\rho$.

We define the generalised solution of problem (17).

Definition 16. One says that $u \in C([0,T]; l^{0,2}(r)) \cap L^2$ ([0,T]; $l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$) is a generalised solution of (17) if, for every $t \in [0,T]$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left(u\left(t\right),\varphi\right) &= \left(g_{h},\varphi\right) \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \left\{-\left(a^{ij}\left(s\right)\partial_{i}^{+}u\left(s\right),\partial_{j}^{+}\varphi\right)\right. \\ &+ \left(b^{i}\left(s\right)\partial_{i}^{+}u\left(s\right) - \partial_{j}^{+}a^{ij}\left(s\right)\partial_{i}^{+}u\left(s\right),\varphi\right) \\ &+ \left(c\left(s\right)u\left(s\right),\varphi\right) + \left\langle f_{h}\left(s\right),\varphi\right\rangle \right\} ds \end{aligned}$$

$$(27)$$

holds for all $\varphi \in l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$.

Notation 6. In the above definition, (,) denotes the inner product in $l^{0,2}(r)$. We keep this convention for the remainder of present section.

Finally, we prove an existence and uniqueness result for the solution of the discrete problem (17). This result shows that the scheme is stable, that is, that, informally, the discrete problem's solution remains bounded independent of the space-step h. The result is obtained as a consequence of Theorem 3, remaining only to prove that, under the discrete framework we constructed, (1)-(2) in Assumption 1 hold.

Theorem 17. Under (1)-(2) in Assumption 8 and (1)-(2) in Assumption 13, problem (17) has a unique generalised solution u in [0, T]. Moreover

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|u(t)\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|u(t)\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt
\le N\left(\|g_{h}\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|f_{h}(t)\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} dt\right),$$
(28)

with N a constant independent of h.

Proof. Let $L_h(s) : l^{1,2}(r,\rho) \to (l^{1,2}(r,\rho))^*$, for every $s \in [0,T]$. We define

for all $s \in [0, T]$, $\varphi, \psi \in l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$.

It suffices to prove that the following properties hold:

- (1) $\exists K, \lambda > 0$ constants: $\langle L_h(s)\psi, \psi \rangle + \lambda \|\psi\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)} \leq K \|\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}$,
- (2) $\exists K \text{ constant: } \langle L_h(s)\psi,\varphi\rangle | \leq K \|\psi\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)} \cdot \|\varphi\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)},$

for all $s \in [0, T]$, $\varphi, \psi \in l^{1,2}(r, \rho)$.

For the first property, owing to (1) and (2) in Assumption 8, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle L_{h}\left(s\right)\psi,\psi\right\rangle &= -\sum_{i,j}\sum_{x}r^{2}a^{ij}\left(s\right)\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\partial_{j}^{+}\psi h^{d} \\ &+\sum_{i}\sum_{x}r^{2}\left(b^{i}\left(s\right)-\partial_{j}^{+}a^{ij}\left(s\right)\right)\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\psi h^{d} \\ &+\sum_{x}r^{2}c\left(s\right)\psi\psi h^{d} \\ &\leq -\lambda\sum_{i}\sum_{x}r^{2}|\rho\partial_{i}^{+}\psi|^{2}h^{d} \\ &+2K\sum_{i}\sum_{x}r^{2}\rho\left|\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\psi\right|h^{d}+K\sum_{x}r^{2}|\psi|^{2}h^{d} \\ &= -\lambda\sum_{i}\left\|\rho\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} \\ &+2K\sum_{i}\sum_{x}r^{2}\rho\left|\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\psi\right|h^{d}+K\left\|\psi\right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$(30)$$

where the variable $x \in Z_h^d$ is omitted, \sum_x denotes the summation over Z_h^d , and \sum_i, \sum_j the summation over $\{1, 2, ..., d\}$. We use Cauchy's inequality on the second term in estimate (30) and obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle L_{h}(s)\psi,\psi\rangle &\leq -\lambda\sum_{i} \|\rho\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \varepsilon K\sum_{i}\sum_{x}r^{2}|\rho\partial_{i}^{+}\psi|^{2}h^{d} \\ &+ \frac{K}{\varepsilon}\sum_{i}\sum_{x}r^{2}|\psi|^{2}h^{d} + K\|\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} \\ &= -\lambda\sum_{i} \|\rho\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} - \lambda\|\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} \\ &+ \varepsilon K\sum_{i} \|\rho\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{K}{\varepsilon}\|\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + (K+\lambda)\|\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} \\ &\leq -\lambda\|\psi\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} + K\|\psi\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2}, \end{split}$$
(31)

with $\lambda > 0, K$ constants, by taking ε sufficiently small. The first property is proved.

The second property follows from (2) in Assumption 8 and Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\begin{split} \left| \left\langle L_{h}\left(s\right)\psi,\varphi\right\rangle \right| &= \left| -\sum_{i,j}\sum_{x}r^{2}a^{ij}\left(s\right)\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\partial_{j}^{+}\varphi h^{d} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{i}\sum_{x}r^{2}b^{i}\left(s\right)\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\varphi h^{d} \\ &- \sum_{i,j}\sum_{x}r^{2}\partial_{j}^{+}a^{ij}\left(s\right)\partial_{i}^{+}\psi\varphi h^{d} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} +\sum_{x} r^{2} c(s) \psi \varphi h^{d} \\ &\leq K \sum_{i,j} \sum_{x} r^{2} \left| \rho^{2} \partial_{i}^{+} \psi \partial_{j}^{+} \varphi \right| h^{d} \\ &+ K \sum_{i} \sum_{x} r^{2} \left| \rho \partial_{i}^{+} \psi \varphi \right| h^{d} + K \sum_{x} r^{2} \left| \psi \varphi \right| h^{d} \\ &\leq K \sum_{i} \left\| \rho \partial_{i}^{+} \psi \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} \sum_{j} \left\| \rho \partial_{j}^{+} \varphi \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} \\ &+ K \sum_{i} \left\| \rho \partial_{i}^{+} \psi \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} \left\| \varphi \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} \\ &+ K \left\| \psi \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} \left\| \varphi \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)} \\ &\leq K \left\| \psi \right\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)} \cdot \left\| \varphi \right\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}, \end{aligned}$$
(32)

where the same writing conventions are kept.

Owing to Theorem 3 the result follows.

4. Approximation Results

In this section, we study the approximation properties of scheme (17). We begin by investigating the consistency of the scheme and prove that the difference quotients approximate the partial derivatives (with accuracy of order 1). In addition, we estimate the rate of convergence of the difference quotients to the partial derivatives.

The result is obtained by using a Sobolev inequality, under stronger regularity assumptions, and imposing that the weights ρ are bounded from below by a positive constant. In practice, the latter restriction amounts to assuming that the weights ρ are increasing functions of |x|, which is precisely the case we are interested in.

Also, we note that the way we set our discrete framework, in strong connection with the framework for problem (7), plays a crucial role in obtaining the convergence rate.

Theorem 18. Let r > 0 and $\rho > 0$ be functions on \mathbb{R}^d and m an integer strictly greater than d/2. Assume that (1)-(2) in Assumption 5 are satisfied and also that $\rho(x) \ge C$ on \mathbb{R}^d , with C > 0 being a constant. Let $u(t) \in W^{m+2,2}(r, \rho)$, $v(t) \in W^{m+3,2}(r, \rho)$, for all $t \in [0, T]$. Then there exists a constant N independent of h such that

$$(1) \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}_{h}^{d}} r^{2}(x) |u_{x^{i}}(t,x) - \partial_{i}^{+}u(t,x)|^{2} \rho^{2}(x)h^{d} \leq h^{2}N \\ \|u(t)\|_{W^{m+2,2}(r,\rho)}^{2},$$

$$(2) \sum_{x \in \mathbb{Z}_{h}^{d}} r^{2}(x) |v_{x^{i}x^{j}}(t,x) - \partial_{j}^{-}\partial_{i}^{+}v(t,x)|^{2} \rho^{4}(x)h^{d} \leq h^{2}N \\ \|v(t)\|_{W^{m+3,2}(r,\rho)}^{2},$$

for all $t \in [0, T]$.

Remark 19. The following remarks will be used in the proof of the theorem.

- 7
- (1) Under the conditions of the theorem, function u(t) (function v(t)) has a modification in x which is continuously differentiable in x up to order 2 (up to order 3), and the derivatives equal the weak derivatives, for every t ∈ [0, T]. This can be proved by Sobolev's embedding of W^{m,2}(B) into Cⁿ(B), for balls B in R^d, if m > d/2 + n (see, e.g., [18, 19]). We consider these modifications in the theorem's proof.
- (2) Note that if U, V are open subsets of \mathbb{R}^d with $V \in U$ and $w \in W^{m,2}(U)$ then $w \in W^{m,2}(V)$. Also, if $w \in W^{m,2}(U)$ and $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ then $\zeta \in W^{m,2}(U)$ and $\zeta w \in W^{m,2}(U)$ (see, e.g., [18, 19]).

Proof of Theorem 18. Let us prove (1). We define a suitable geometric setting and then obtain an estimate for

$$r^{2}(x)\left|u_{x^{i}}(t,x)-\partial_{i}^{+}u(t,x)\right|^{2}\rho^{2}(x),$$
(33)

with $x \in Z_h^d$, using Sobolev's inequality on a fixed ball. Let us consider *d*-cells

$$R_{h} = \left\{ \left(x^{1}, x^{2}, \dots, x^{d}\right) \in \mathbb{R}^{d} : x_{h}^{i} < x^{i} < x_{h}^{i} + h, \\ i = 1, 2, \dots, d \right\},$$
(34)

with $x_h = (x_h^1, x_h^2, ..., x_h^d) \in Z_h^d$ fixed. Consider the particular *d*-cell, where h = 1 and $x_1 = (0, 0, ..., 0)$, and denote it by R_1^0 . Now, take open balls B_h such that $B_h \supset R_h$, with the vertices $\{x_h^i, x_h^i + h, i = 1, 2, ..., d\}$ lying on the limiting sphere. Denote by B_1^0 the ball containing R_1^0 .

For every $x_h \in Z_h^d$, taking in mind (1) in Remark 19, we have, by the mean-value theorem,

$$\partial_{i}^{+}u(t, x_{h}) = h^{-1}\left(u(t, x_{h} + he_{i}) - u(t, x_{h})\right)$$
$$= u_{x^{i}}\left(t, x_{h} + \theta he_{i}\right),$$
(35)

$$\begin{aligned} u_{x^{i}}\left(t,x_{h}\right) - \partial_{i}^{+}u\left(t,x_{h}\right) &| = \left|u_{x^{i}}\left(t,x_{h}\right) - u_{x^{i}}\left(t,x_{h} + \theta h e_{i}\right)\right| \\ &\leq h \left|u_{x^{i}x^{i}}\left(t,x_{h} + \theta' h e_{i}\right)\right|, \end{aligned}$$

$$(36)$$

for some $0 < \theta' < \theta < 1$. Clearly,

$$\left| u_{x^{i}x^{i}}\left(t, x_{h} + \theta' h e_{i} \right) \right| \leq \sup_{x \in R_{h}} \left| u_{x^{i}x^{i}}\left(t, x \right) \right|,$$
(37)

and then, from (36) and (37),

$$|u_{x^{i}}(t,x_{h}) - \partial_{i}^{+}u(t,x_{h})|^{2} \le h^{2} \sup_{x \in R_{h}} |u_{x^{i}x^{i}}(t,x)|^{2}.$$
(38)

We change variable in order to have the supremum in (38) calculated over the fixed *d*-cell R_1^0 :

$$\sup_{x \in R_h} |u_{x^i x^i}(t, x)| = \sup_{x \in R_1^0} |u_{x^i x^i}(t, x_h + hx)|.$$
(39)

As

$$\sup_{x \in R_1^0} \left| u_{x^i x^i} \left(t, x_h + hx \right) \right|^2 \le \sup_{x \in B_1^0} \left| u_{x^i x^i} \left(t, x_h + hx \right) \right|^2, \quad (40)$$

from (38)-(40) we immediately obtain

$$r^{2}(x_{h})|u_{x^{i}}(t,x_{h}) - \partial_{i}^{+}u(t,x_{h})|^{2}\rho^{2}(x_{h})$$

$$\leq h^{2}\sup_{x\in R_{1}^{0}}\left(r^{2}(x_{h}+hx)|u_{x^{i}x^{i}}(t,x_{h}+hx)|^{2}\rho^{2}(x_{h}+hx)\right)$$

$$\leq h^{2}\sup_{x\in B_{1}^{0}}\left(r^{2}(x_{h}+hx)|u_{x^{i}x^{i}}(t,x_{h}+hx)|^{2}\rho^{2}(x_{h}+hx)\right).$$
(41)

Now, taking in mind (2) in Remark 19, we have for m > d/2 by using Sobolev's inequality

$$\sup_{x \in B_{1}^{0}} |r(x_{h} + hx) u_{x^{i}x^{i}}(t, x_{h} + hx) \rho(x_{h} + hx)|^{2}$$

$$\leq N \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m} \int_{B_{1}^{0}} |D_{x}^{\alpha} (r(x_{h} + hx) u_{x^{i}x^{i}}(t, x_{h} + hx) \rho \quad (42)$$

$$\times (x_{h} + hx))|^{2} dx,$$

with N being a constant independent of h. Observe that the Leibniz formula

$$\begin{aligned} \left| D_{x}^{\alpha} \left(r u_{x^{i} x^{i}} \rho \right) \right| &= \left| \sum_{\beta \leq \alpha} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix} D^{\beta} \left(r \rho \right) D_{x}^{\alpha - \beta} u_{x^{i} x^{i}} \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{\beta \leq \alpha} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \\ \beta \end{pmatrix} \left(\sum_{\gamma \leq \beta} \begin{pmatrix} \beta \\ \gamma \end{pmatrix} D^{\gamma} r D^{\beta - \gamma} \rho \right) D_{x}^{\alpha - \beta} u_{x^{i} x^{i}} \right| \end{aligned}$$

$$(43)$$

holds (the arguments of r, ρ and $u_{x^ix^i}$ are omitted). Also, keeping the same convention, owing to Assumption 5

$$\left|D^{\gamma}r\right| \le Kr\rho^{-|\gamma|}, \qquad \left|D^{\beta-\gamma}\rho\right| \le K\rho^{1-(|\beta|-|\gamma|)}, \qquad (44)$$

with K a constant, and then

$$\left|\sum_{\gamma \leq \beta} {\beta \choose \gamma} D^{\gamma} r D^{\beta - \gamma} \rho \right| \leq N \sum_{\gamma \leq \beta} {\beta \choose \gamma} r \rho^{-|\gamma|} \rho^{1 - (|\beta| - |\gamma|)}$$

$$\leq N r \rho^{1 - |\beta|},$$
(45)

with N a constant. From (42)–(45), we get

$$\sup_{x \in B_1^0} \left| r\left(x_h + hx\right) u_{x^i x^i}\left(t, x_h + hx\right) \rho\left(x_h + hx\right) \right|^2$$

$$\leq N \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m} \sum_{\beta \leq \alpha} \int_{B_1^0} r^2 \left(x_h + hx\right) \left| \rho^{1-|\beta|} \left(x_h + hx\right) \right|^2 \qquad (46)$$

$$\times \left| D_x^{\alpha-\beta} u_{x^i x^i}\left(t, x_h + hx\right) \right|^2 dx.$$

Note also that, owing to Hölder inequality and to the hypotheses on function ρ , the integral in (46) can be estimated by

Thus, from (46) and (47),

$$\sup_{x \in B_{1}^{0}} |r(x_{h} + hx) u_{x^{i}x^{i}}(t, x_{h} + hx) \rho(x_{h} + hx)|^{2}$$

$$\leq N \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m} \sum_{\beta \leq \alpha} \int_{B_1^0} r^2 (x_h + hx) \\ \times \left| \rho^{2 + (|\alpha| - |\beta|)} (x_h + hx) \right|^2 dx$$
$$\leq N \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m} \int_{B_1^0} r^2 (x_h + hx) \\ \times \left| \rho^{2 + |\alpha|} (x_h + hx) D_x^{\alpha} u_{x^i x^i} (t, x_h + hx) \right|^2 dx$$

$$\leq N \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m+2} \int_{B_{1}^{0}} r^{2} (x_{h} + hx) \\ \times \left| \rho^{|\alpha|} (x_{h} + hx) D_{x}^{\alpha} u (t, x_{h} + hx) \right|^{2} dx \\ = N \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m+2} \int_{B_{h}} r^{2} (x) \left| \rho^{|\alpha|} (x) D_{x}^{\alpha} u (t, x) \right|^{2} h^{-d} h^{2|\alpha|} dx \\ \leq N \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m+2} \int_{B_{h}} r^{2} (x) \left| \rho^{|\alpha|} (x) D_{x}^{\alpha} u (t, x) \right|^{2} h^{-d} dx.$$
(48)

Finally, owing to the particular geometry of the framework we have set, from (41) and (48) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{x \in Z_{h}^{d}} r^{2}(x) \left| u_{x^{i}}(t,x) - \partial_{i}^{+} u(t,x) \right|^{2} \rho^{2}(x) h^{d} \\ &\leq Nh^{2} \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m+2} \sum_{x_{h} \in Z_{h}^{d}} \int_{B_{h}(x_{h})} r^{2}(x) \left| \rho^{|\alpha|}(x) D_{x}^{\alpha} u(t,x) \right|^{2} dx \\ &\leq Nh^{2} \sum_{|\alpha| \leq m+2} \sum_{x_{h} \in Z_{h}^{d}} \int_{R_{h}(x_{h})} r^{2}(x) \left| \rho^{|\alpha|}(x) D_{x}^{\alpha} u(t,x) \right|^{2} dx \\ &\leq h^{2} N \| u(t) \|_{W^{m+2,2}(r,\rho)}^{2}, \end{split}$$

$$(49)$$

where $B_h(x_h) := B_h$, $R_h(x_h) := R_h$, and the proof for (1) is complete.

The proof for (2) follows the same steps. \square

Finally, owing to the stability and consistency properties of the scheme (Theorems 17 and 18, resp.), we prove the convergence of the discrete problem's solution to the PDE problem's solution and compute a rate of convergence. The accuracy obtained is of order 1.

Theorem 20. Let r > 0 and $\rho > 0$ be functions on \mathbb{R}^d and m an integer strictly greater than d/2. Assume that the hypotheses of Theorems 11 and 17 are satisfied and that $\rho(x) \ge$ C on \mathbb{R}^d , with C > 0 being a constant. Denote by u the solution of problem (7) in Theorem 11 and by u_h the solution of problem (17) in Theorem 17. Assume additionally that $u \in$ $L^{2}([0,T]; W^{m+3,2}(r,\rho))$. Then

$$\begin{split} \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \left\| u\left(t\right) - u_{h}\left(t\right) \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \left\| u\left(t\right) - u_{h}\left(t\right) \right\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt \\ \le h^{2} N \int_{0}^{T} \left\| u\left(t\right) \right\|_{W^{m+3,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt \\ + N \left(\left\| g - g_{h} \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \left\| f\left(t\right) - f_{h}\left(t\right) \right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} dt \right), \end{split}$$
(50)

with N being a constant independent of h.

Remark 21. Under the conditions of the above theorem, there are modifications in x such that the data f(t) and g are continuous in x, for every $t \in [0, T]$ (see Remark 19). We will consider these modifications in the proof of the theorem.

Proof of Theorem 20. From (7) and (17), we have that $u - u_h$ satisfies the problem

$$(u - u_h)_t = L_h (u - u_h) + (L - L_h) u + (f - f_h) \quad \text{in } Q (h)$$
$$(u - u_h) (0, x) = (g - g_h) (x) \quad \text{on } Z_h^d.$$
(51)

Taking in mind Remark 21, we see clearly that $f - f_h \in$ $L^2([0,T]; l^{0,2}(r))$ and $g - g_h \in l^{0,2}(r)$. With respect to the term $(L - L_h)u$, note that if $u(t) \in$

 $W^{m+3,2}(r,\rho)$, for all $t \in [0,T]$,

$$\sum_{x \in Z_{h}^{d}} r^{2}(x) \left| \left(L - L_{h} \right)(t) u(t) \right|^{2} h^{d}$$

$$= \sum_{x \in Z_{h}^{d}} r^{2}(x) \left| a^{ij}(t,x) \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{i} \partial x^{j}} - \partial_{j}^{-} \partial_{i}^{+} \right) u(t,x) + b^{i}(t,x) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} - \partial_{i}^{+} \right) u(t,x) \right|^{2} h^{d}$$

$$\leq h^{2} N \| u(t) \|_{W^{m+3,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} < \infty,$$
(52)

owing to (2) in Assumption 8 and to Theorem 18. Thus $(L - L_h)(t)u(t) \in l^{0,2}(r)$, for every $t \in [0,T]$. Moreover, as by assumption $u \in L^2([0,T]; W^{m+3,2}(r,\rho))$, we obtain immediately $(L - L_h)u \in L^2([0, T]; l^{0,2}(r)).$

We have shown that problem (51) satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 17, therefore holding the estimate

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \|u(t) - u_{h}(t)\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|u(t) - u_{h}(t)\|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt$$

$$\le N \left(\|g - g_{h}\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \|f(t) - f_{h}(t)\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} dt + \int_{0}^{T} \|(L - L_{h})(t)u(t)\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} dt \right).$$
(53)

Owing again to (2) in Assumption 8 and to Theorem 18, the result follows.

The following result is an immediate consequence of Theorem 20.

Corollary 22. Let the hypotheses of Theorem 20 be satisfied, and denote by u the solution of (7) in Theorem 11 and by u_h the solution of (17) in Theorem 17. If there is a constant N independent of h such that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|g - g_{h}\right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \left\|f(t) - f_{h}(t)\right\|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} dt \\ &\leq h^{2} N\left(\left\|g\right\|_{W^{m,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \left\|f(t)\right\|_{W^{m-1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt\right) \end{aligned}$$
(54)

10

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \| u(t) - u_{h}(t) \|_{l^{0,2}(r)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \| u(t) - u_{h}(t) \|_{l^{1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt$$

$$\le h^{2} N \left(\int_{0}^{T} \| u(t) \|_{W^{m+3,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt + \| g \|_{W^{m,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \| f(t) \|_{W^{m-1,2}(r,\rho)}^{2} dt \right).$$
(55)

5. Conclusions

In this paper, we investigated the finite-difference spatial approximation of the Cauchy problem for a second-order linear parabolic PDE, in the framework of the variational approach.

By considering a suitable class of weighted Sobolev spaces, and its zero and first-order discrete versions, we could deal with the growth in space of the PDE coefficients (as well as with the spatial growth of the free data f and g). Moreover, as the framework and techniques used to study the discrete problem mirror the framework and techniques for the corresponding continuous problem we could estimate a rate of convergence.

The approximation was studied under the strong assumption that the PDE does not degenerate. But the framework we used is broadly the appropriate framework for a future investigation of the related degenerate case.

Other possible further research directions include the use of splitting-up methods (see [10]), following Richardson's idea to accelerate numerical schemes, and also the use of techniques reducing the volume of computational work (e.g., sparse grid techniques), in order to deal with the computational challenge posed by the possible high dimensionality of the problem.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This research is supported by FCT, Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (PEst-OE/EGE/UI0491/2011, Scientific Cooperation Agreement between Portugal and Slovakia—Analysis of Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations in Mathematical Finance), and by the European Commission, Marie Curie Multi-ITN STRIKE—Novel Methods in Computational Finance (Grant no. 304617).

References

- [1] D. Lamberton and B. Lapeyre, *Introduction to Stochastic Calculus Applied to Finance*, Chapman & Hall, London, UK, 1996.
- [2] F. F. Gonçalves, Numerical approximation of partial differential equations arising in financial option pricing [Ph.D. thesis], University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK, 2007.

- [3] F. F. Gonçalves, M. D. R. Grossinho, and E. Morais, "Discretisation of abstract linear evolution equations of parabolic type," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2012, article 14, 29 pages, 2012.
- [4] E. Morais, Analytical and numerical methods for some problems related to financial option pricing [Ph.D. thesis], University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, 2013.
- [5] I. Gyöngy and N. V. Krylov, "Stochastic partial differential equations with unbounded coefficients and applications. I," *Stochastics and Stochastics Reports*, vol. 32, no. 1-2, pp. 53–91, 1990.
- [6] V. Thomée, "Finite difference methods for linear parabolic equations," in *Finite Difference Methods (Part 1)—Solution of Equations in* ℝⁿ, P. G. Ciarlet and J. L. Lions, Eds., vol. 1 of *Handbook of Numerical Analysis*, pp. 3–196, North-Holland, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1990.
- [7] M. Broadie and J. B. Detemple, "Option pricing: valuation models and applications," *Management Science*, vol. 50, no. 9, pp. 1145–1177, 2004.
- [8] I. Gyöngy and N. V. Krylov, "First derivatives estimates for finite-difference schemes," *Mathematics of Computation*, vol. 78, no. 268, pp. 2019–2046, 2009.
- [9] I. Gyöngy and N. V. Krylov, "Higher order derivative estimates for finite-difference schemes for linear elliptic and parabolic equations," *Methods and Applications of Analysis*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 187–216, 2009.
- [10] I. Gyöngy and N. V. Krylov, "Accelerated finite difference schemes for second order degenerate elliptic and parabolic problems in the whole space," *Mathematics of Computation*, vol. 80, no. 275, pp. 1431–1458, 2011.
- [11] G. Barles, C. Daher, and M. Romano, "Convergence of numerical schemes for parabolic equations arising in finance theory," *Mathematical Models & Methods in Applied Sciences*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 125–143, 1995.
- [12] P. Lötstedt, J. Persson, L. von Sydow, and J. Tysk, "Spacetime adaptive finite difference method for European multi-asset options," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 1159–1180, 2007.
- [13] D. Y. Tangman, A. Gopaul, and M. Bhuruth, "Numerical pricing of options using high-order compact finite difference schemes," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 218, no. 2, pp. 270–280, 2008.
- [14] D. M. Pooley, P. A. Forsyth, and K. R. Vetzal, "Numerical convergence properties of option pricing PDEs with uncertain volatility," *IMA Journal of Numerical Analysis*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 241–267, 2003.
- [15] J. Douglas Jr. and T. F. Russell, "Numerical methods for convection-dominated diffusion problems based on combining the method of characteristics with finite element or finite difference procedures," *SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 871–885, 1982.
- [16] M. Ehrhardt, "Finite difference schemes on unbounded domains," in Advances in the Applications of Nonstandard Finite Difference Schemes, R. E. Mickens, Ed., vol. 2, pp. 343–384, World Scientific, River Edge, NJ, USA, 2005.
- [17] M. Ehrhardt, "Discrete transparent boundary conditions for Schrödinger-type equations for non-compactly supported initial data," *Applied Numerical Mathematics*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 660–673, 2008.

- [18] J.-L. Lions and E. Magenes, Problèmes aux Limites non Homogènes et Applications, vol. 1, Dunod, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, France, 1968.
- [19] L. C. Evans, Partial Differential Equations, vol. 19 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, USA, 1998.

Research Article

Stability Analysis of Impulsive Stochastic Functional Differential Equations with Delayed Impulses via Comparison Principle and Impulsive Delay Differential Inequality

Pei Cheng,¹ Fengqi Yao,² and Mingang Hua³

¹ School of Mathematical Sciences, Anhui University, Hefei 230601, China

² School of Electrical Engineering and Information, Anhui University of Technology, Ma'anshan 243000, China

³ College of Computer and Information, Hohai University, Changzhou 213022, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Pei Cheng; chengpei_pi@163.com

Received 25 July 2013; Revised 26 November 2013; Accepted 10 December 2013; Published 16 February 2014

Academic Editor: Yuriy Rogovchenko

Copyright © 2014 Pei Cheng et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The problem of stability for nonlinear impulsive stochastic functional differential equations with delayed impulses is addressed in this paper. Based on the comparison principle and an impulsive delay differential inequality, some exponential stability and asymptotical stability criteria are derived, which show that the system will be stable if the impulses' frequency and amplitude are suitably related to the increase or decrease of the continuous stochastic flows. The obtained results complement ones from some recent works. Two examples are discussed to illustrate the effectiveness and advantages of our results.

1. Introduction

Impulsive dynamical equations have received considerable attention during the recent decades since they provide a natural framework for mathematical modeling of many real world evolutionary processes where the states undergo abrupt changes at certain instants (see [1–7]). In particular, more researchers have given special interests to the stability and stabilization analysis of impulsive functional differential equations (IFDEs) and there are extensive literatures in this field (see [8–14] and reference therein).

In the current literature concerning IFDEs, the impulses are assumed to take the form $\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(t_k, x(t_k^-))$, which indicates that the state "jump" at the impulse times t_k is only related to the present state variables. But in most cases, it is more applicable that the state variables on the impulses that we add are also related to the past ones. For example, in the transmission of the impulse information, input delays are often encountered (see, e.g., [15, 16]). So, it is more meaningful if the above impulses are modified as $\Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k) - x(t_k^-) = I_k(t_k, x((t_k - d_k)^-))$. Recently, there have been several attempts in the literature to study the stability and control problems of IFDEs with delayed impulse (IFDEs-DI). For example, by using Lyapunov functions couples with Razumikhin techniques, some Razumikhin-type asymptotic stability and exponential stability criteria for IFDEs-DI were established in [17–19], and some Lyapunov-based sufficient conditions for the exponential stability of the equations were derived in [20].

On the other hand, stochastic perturbations are unavoidable in real equations (see [21, 22] and reference therein). In recent years, the stability analysis of impulsive stochastic functional equations which include delay equations is interesting to many investigators, and many results of stability criteria of these equations have been reported (see, e.g., [23–29]). Very recently, [30, 31] took environment noise into account and generalized delayed impulses to stochastic equations. In particular, applying the Lyapunov functions couples with Razumikhin techniques, [30] investigates both moment and almost sure exponential stability of impulsive stochastic functional differential equations with delayed impulses (ISFDEs-DI), and several Razumikhin-type criteria on the exponential stability and uniform stability in terms of two measures for the equations were established in [31]. But it is worth noting that the stability analysis in [30] and the effects of time delay on the impulses have been ignored. And in [30, 31], the authors only consider the case that the impulsive stabilization. Moreover, it is well known that the Razumikhin techniques are very effective in the study of stability problems for ordinary and functional differential equations. However, when we use the Razumikhin techniques, we need to choose an appropriate minimal class of functionals relative to which the derivative of the Lyapunov function or Lyapunov functional is estimated, which is not entirely convenient.

Motivated by the above discussion, in this paper, we will further investigate the stability of ISFDEs-DI. By using the comparison principle and an impulsive delay differential inequality, some exponential and asymptotical stability criteria are derived, which are more convenient to be applied than those Razumikhin-type conditions. Our results complement ones from some recent works and show that the ISFDE-ID will be stable if the impulses' frequency and amplitude are suitably related to the increase or decrease of the corresponding continuous stochastic flows. The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, some relevant notations and definitions are presented. In Section 3, the comparison principle, an impulsive delay differential inequality, and several criteria on the exponential stability and asymptotical stability are established. Section 4 provides two illustrative examples to demonstrate the applications of the obtained results. Finally, conclusions are drawn in Section 5.

2. Preliminaries

Throughout this paper, unless otherwise specified, we let $(\Omega, \mathscr{F}, \{\mathscr{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, \mathbb{P})$ be a complete probability space with a filtration $\{\mathscr{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ satisfying the usual conditions; that is, it is right continuous and \mathscr{F}_0 contains all \mathbb{P} -null sets. Let $w(t) = (w_1(t), \ldots, w_d(t))^T$ be a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion defined on the probability space. Let \mathbb{N} denote the set of positive integers, \mathbb{R}^n the *n*-dimensional real Euclidean space, and $\mathbb{R}^{n\times d}$ the space of $n \times d$ real matrices. *I* stands for the identity matrix of appropriate dimensions. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, |x| denotes the Euclidean norm. For $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n\times d}$, ||A|| denotes spectral norm of the matrix *A*. Denote by $\lambda_{\min}(\cdot)$ the minimum eigenvalue of a matrix. If *A* is a vector or matrix, its transpose is denoted by A^T .

Let $\tau > 0$ and $PC([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n) = \{\varphi : [-\tau, 0] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^n | \varphi(t^+) = \varphi(t) \text{ for all } t \in [-\tau, 0), \varphi(t^-) \text{ exist and let } \varphi(t^-) = \varphi(t) \text{ for all but at most a finite number of points } t \in (-\tau, 0] \}$ be with the norm $\|\varphi\| = \sup_{\tau \le \theta \le 0} |\varphi(\theta)|$, where $\varphi(t^+)$ and $\varphi(t^-)$ denote the right-hand and left-hand limits of function $\varphi(t)$ at t, respectively. Denote $PC([t_0 - \tau, \infty); \mathbb{R}) = \{\varphi|\varphi|_{[t_0 - \tau, b]} \in PC([t_0 - \tau, b]; \mathbb{R}) \text{ for all } b > t_0 - \tau \}.$

For p > 0 and $t \ge 0$, let $\mathrm{PC}_{\mathscr{F}_t}^p([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ denote the family of all \mathscr{F}_t -measurable $\mathrm{PC}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ -valued random variables φ such that $\sup_{-\tau \le \theta \le 0} \mathbb{E} |\varphi(\theta)|^p < \infty$, where \mathbb{E} stands for the mathematical expectation operator with respect to the given probability measure \mathbb{P} . And $L_{\mathscr{F}_t}^p(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n)$ denote

the family of all \mathscr{F}_t measurable \mathbb{R}^n -valued random variables X, such that $\mathbb{E}|X|^p < \infty$. Let $\mathrm{PC}^b([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ be the family of all bounded $\mathrm{PC}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ -valued functions, and let $\mathrm{PC}^b_{\mathscr{F}_{t_0}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ be the family of all \mathscr{F}_{t_0} measurable $\mathrm{PC}^b([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ -valued functions.

Consider the following ISFDE-DI:

$$dx(t) = f(t, x_t) dt + g(t, x_t) dw(t), \quad t \neq t_k, \ t \ge t_0,$$

$$x(t_k) = I_k(t_k, x(t_k^-), x((t_k - d_k)^-)), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(1)

$$x_{t_0}(\theta) = \xi(\theta), \quad \theta \in [-\tau, 0],$$

where the initial value $\xi \in \mathrm{PC}^{b}_{\mathcal{F}_{t_{0}}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^{n}), x(t) = ((x_{1}(t), \dots, x_{n}(t))^{T}, x_{t} = x(t + \theta) \in \mathrm{PC}^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{t}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^{n}).$ Both $f : \mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathrm{PC}^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{t}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^{n}) \to \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and $g : \mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathrm{PC}^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{t}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^{n}) \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times d}$ are Borel measurable. $I_{k} : \mathbb{R}_{+} \times L^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{t}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{n}) \times L^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{t}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^{n}) \to \mathbb{R}^{n}$ represents the impulsive perturbation of x at time t_{k} . The fixed moments of impulse times $\{t_{k}, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$ satisfy $0 \leq t_{0} < t_{1} < \dots < t_{k} < \dots, t_{k} \to \infty$ (as $k \to \infty$). $\{d_{k} \geq 0, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$ are the impulse input delays satisfying $d = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} d_{k} < \infty$.

As a standing hypothesis, we assume that for any $\xi \in PC^{b}_{\mathscr{F}_{t_{0}}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^{n})$ there exists a unique stochastic process satisfying (1) denoted by $x(t; t_{0}, \xi)$, which is continuous on the right-hand side and limitable on the left-hand side (see [32]). Moreover, we assume that $f(t, 0) \equiv 0$, $g(t, 0) \equiv 0$, and $I_{k}(t, 0, 0) \equiv 0$ for all $t \ge t_{0}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$; then (1) admits a trivial solution $x(t) \equiv 0$.

We introduce the following scalar IFDE-DI as the comparison system:

$$\dot{u}(t) = h(t, u(t), u_t), \quad t \neq t_k, \ t \ge t_0,$$
$$u(t_k) = \Psi_{1k}(u(t_k^-)) + \Psi_{2k}(u(t_k - d_k)^-), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \quad (2)$$
$$u_{t_0}(\theta) = \zeta(\theta), \quad \theta \in [-\tau, 0],$$

where the initial value $\zeta \in PC([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}_+)$; $u_t \in PC([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}_+)$ is defined as $u_t = u(t + \theta)$, $\theta \in [-\tau, 0]$. $h : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times PC([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}_+) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is continuous, Lebesgue measurable, and nondecreasing with respect to the last argument; Ψ_{1k} , $\Psi_{2k} : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are continuous and nondecreasing. Assume that $h(t, 0, 0) \equiv 0$, $\Psi_{1k}(0) \equiv 0$, and $\Psi_{2k}(0) \equiv 0$; then system (2) admits a trivial solution $u(t) \equiv 0$. We further assume that for any $\zeta \in PC^b([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}_+)$, there exists a unique solution to system (2) on $[t_0 - \tau, \infty)$ denoted by $u(t; t_0, \zeta)$ (see [5, 6]) which is continuous on the right-handside and limitable on the left-hand side.

For convenience, we introduce the following function classes:

 $\mathcal{K} = \{\phi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+, \text{ continuous and strictly increasing, } \phi(0) = 0\}.$ $\mathcal{K}_{\infty} = \{\phi \in \mathcal{K}, \phi(s) \to \infty \text{ as } s \to \infty\}.$ $C\mathcal{K} = \{\phi \in \mathcal{K}, \phi \text{ is concave}\}.$ $V\mathcal{K}_{\infty} = \{\phi \in \mathcal{K}_{\infty}, \phi \text{ is convex}\}.$ At the end of this section, let us introduce the following definitions.

Definition 1 (see [23, 26]). The trivial solution of (1) is said to be as follows.

(i) *p*th moment stable if, for any ε > 0, there exists δ = δ(ε, t₀) > 0 such that

$$\mathbb{E} \left| x(t;t_0,\xi) \right|^p \leq \varepsilon, \quad t \geq t_0, \tag{3}$$

whenever $\mathbb{E} \|\xi\|^p < \delta$.

(ii) *p*th moment asymptotically stable if it is *p*th moment stable and there exists $\delta_0 = \delta_0(t_0)$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mathbb{E} \left| x\left(t; t_0, \xi\right) \right|^p = 0, \quad t \ge t_0, \tag{4}$$

whenever $\mathbb{E} \|\xi\|^p < \delta_0$.

(iii) *p*th moment globally exponentially stable if there is a pair of positive constants λ , *C* such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left|x\left(t;t_{0},\xi\right)\right|^{p} \leq C\mathbb{E}\left\|\xi\right\|^{p}e^{-\lambda\left(t-t_{0}\right)}, \quad t \geq t_{0}$$

$$(5)$$

for all $\xi \in PC^{b}_{\mathcal{F}_{t_0}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^{n})$. When p = 2, it is usually said to be globally exponentially stable in mean square.

Definition 2 (see [26]). A function $V : [t_0 - \tau, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}_+$ belongs to class v_0 if

- (i) V is continuous on each of the sets $[t_{k-1}, t_k) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and for each $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $t \in [t_{k-1}, t_k)$, and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\lim_{(t,y)\to (t_k^-, x)} V(t, y) = V(t_k^-, x)$ exists;
- (ii) V(t, x) is continuously once differentiable in t and twice in x in each of the sets $(t_{k-1}, t_k) \times \mathbb{R}^n$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

If $V \in v_0$, define an operator $\mathscr{L}V$ from $[t_0, \infty) \times PC([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n)$ to \mathbb{R} by

$$\mathcal{L}V(t,\varphi) = V_t(t,\varphi(0)) + V_x(t,\varphi(0)) f(t,\varphi) + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{trace} \left[g^T(t,\varphi) V_{xx}(t,\varphi(0)) g(t,\varphi) \right],$$
(6)

where

$$V_{t}(t, x) = \frac{\partial V(t, x)}{\partial t},$$

$$V_{x}(t, x) = \left(\frac{\partial V(t, x)}{\partial x_{1}}, \dots, \frac{\partial V(t, x)}{\partial x_{n}}\right),$$

$$V_{xx}(t, x) = \left(\frac{\partial^{2} V(t, x)}{\partial x_{i} \partial x_{j}}\right)_{n \times n}.$$
(7)

3. Main results

In this section, we will develop an impulsive delay differential inequality and comparison principles and establish some criteria on *p*th moment exponential stability and asymptotical stability for (1).

Lemma 3 (impulsive delay differential inequality). Assume that $c \in \mathbb{R}$, $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$, $q \in \mathbb{R}_+$, $a_k > 0$, $b_k \ge 0$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\overline{u}(t) := \sup_{\theta \in [-\tau, 0]} u(t + \theta)$, and

(i)
$$\ln(a_k + b_k e^{cd_k}) \leq \delta(t_k - t_{k-1})$$
 for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$;

(ii)
$$\delta + c + q\gamma < 0$$
, where $\gamma = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \{ e^{o(t_k - t_{k-1})}, 1/e^{\delta(t_k - t_{k-1})} \}$.

Then any solution $u \in PC([t_0 - \tau, \infty); \mathbb{R}_+)$ of the scalar impulsive delay differential inequality problem

$$D^{+}u(t) \leq cu(t) + q\overline{u}(t), \quad t \neq t_{k}, \ t \geq t_{0},$$

$$u(t_{k}) \leq a_{k}u(t_{k}^{-}) + b_{k}u((t_{k} - d_{k})^{-}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}$$
(8)

satisfies

$$u(t) \leq \gamma \overline{u}(t_0) e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}, \quad t \geq t_0 - \tau,$$
(9)

where λ is the unique positive solution of $\lambda + \delta + c + q\gamma e^{\lambda \tau} = 0$.

Proof. Set $v(t) = e^{-c(t-t_0)}u(t), t \in [t_0 - \tau, \infty)$. For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, by the second inequality of (8), we have

$$v(t_{k}) = e^{-c(t_{k}-t_{0})}u(t_{k})$$

$$\leq e^{-c(t_{k}-t_{0})}\left[a_{k}u(t_{k}^{-}) + b_{k}u((t_{k}-d_{k})^{-})\right]$$

$$= a_{k}e^{-c(t_{k}-t_{0})}u(t_{k}^{-}) + \beta_{k}b_{k}u((t_{k}-d_{k})^{-})e^{-c(t_{k}-d_{k}-t_{0})}$$

$$= a_{k}v(t_{k}^{-}) + \beta_{k}b_{k}v((t_{k}-d_{k})^{-}),$$
(10)

where $\beta_k = e^{cd_k}$. On the other hand, for any $t \neq t_k, k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$D^{+}v(t) = e^{-c(t-t_{0})} \left[-cu(t) + D^{+}u(t) \right] \le q e^{-c(t-t_{0})} \overline{u}(t).$$
(11)

For $t \in [t_0, t_1)$, integrating inequality (11) from t_0 to t, we obtain

$$v(t) \leq v(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t q e^{-c(s-t_0)} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s;$$
 (12)

this implies that

$$v(t_1^-) \leq v(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^{t_1} q e^{-c(s-t_0)} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
 (13)

For $t \in [t_1, t_2)$, by the same method, together with (10), (11), and (13), we have

$$\begin{aligned} v(t) &\leq v(t_{1}) + \int_{t_{1}}^{t} q e^{-c(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq a_{1}v(t_{1}^{-}) + \beta_{1}b_{1}v\left((t_{1}-d_{1})^{-}\right) + \int_{t_{1}}^{t} q e^{-c(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq a_{1} \left[v(t_{0}) + \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} q e^{-c(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s\right] \\ &+ \beta_{1}b_{1} \left[v(t_{0}) + \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}-d_{1}} q e^{-c(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s\right] \\ &+ \int_{t_{1}}^{t} q e^{-c(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq (a_{1}+\beta_{1}b_{1}) v(t_{0}) + (a_{1}+\beta_{1}b_{1}) \\ &\times \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} q e^{-c(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_{t_{1}}^{t} q e^{-c(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$
(14)

By induction, we have, for $t \in [t_{k-1}, t_k), k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\begin{aligned} v(t) &\leq v(t_0) \prod_{t_0 < t_j \leq t} \left(a_j + \beta_j b_j \right) \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t \prod_{s < t_j \leq t} \left(a_j + \beta_j b_j \right) q e^{-c(s-t_0)} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned} \tag{15}$$

Thus, for $t > t_0$, we get

$$u(t) \leq u(t_0) e^{c(t-t_0)} \prod_{t_0 < t_j \leq t} \left(a_j + \beta_j b_j \right)$$

$$+ \int_{t_0}^t \prod_{s < t_j \leq t} \left(a_j + \beta_j b_j \right) q e^{c(t-s)} \overline{u}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(16)

Let $t_{j_1}, t_{j_2}, \ldots, t_{j_m}$ be impulse points in (s, t], t > s. In view of condition (i), we get

$$\prod_{s < t_j \leq t} (a_j + \beta_j b_j) = (a_{j_1} + \beta_{j_1} b_{j_1}) \\ \times (a_{j_2} + \beta_{j_2} b_{j_2}) \cdots (a_{j_m} + \beta_{j_m} b_{j_m}) \\ \leq e^{\delta(t_{j_1} - t_{j_{1-1}})} e^{\delta(t_{j_2} - t_{j_1})} \cdots e^{\delta(t_{j_m} - t_{j_{m-1}})}$$
(17)
$$= e^{\delta(t_{j_m} - t_{j_{1-1}})} = e^{\delta(t - s)} e^{\delta(t_{j_m} - t)} e^{\delta(s - t_{j_{l-1}})} \\ \leq \gamma e^{\delta(t - s)},$$

where t_{j_1-1} is the first impulsive point before t_{j_1} and satisfies $t_{j_1-1} < s$. Submitting this into inequality (16), then, for $t > t_0$,

$$u(t) \leq \gamma e^{(c+\delta)(t-t_0)} u(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t \gamma q e^{(c+\delta)(t-s)} \overline{u}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(18)

Let $\Phi(\lambda) = \lambda + c + \delta + \gamma q e^{\lambda \tau}$. Then condition (ii) implies $\Phi(0) < 0$. Moreover, $\Phi(+\infty) = +\infty$ and $\Phi'(\lambda) = 1 + \tau \gamma q e^{\lambda \tau} > 0$. Hence $\Phi(\lambda) = 0$ has a unique positive solution λ . Next, we claim that

$$u(t) \leq \gamma \overline{u}(t_0) e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}, \quad t \geq t_0 - \tau.$$
(19)

Since

$$u(t) \leq \overline{u}(t_0) \leq \gamma \overline{u}(t_0) e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}, \quad t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_0].$$
(20)

So we only need to prove (19) for $t > t_0$. Suppose not, then there exists a $t^* \in (t_0, +\infty)$ such that

$$u\left(t^{*}\right) > \gamma \overline{u}\left(t_{0}\right) e^{-\lambda\left(t^{*}-t_{0}\right)},\tag{21}$$

$$u(t) \leq \gamma \overline{u}(t_0) e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}, \quad t \in [t_0 - \tau, t^*).$$
(22)

Thus from (18), (22), and $\Phi(\lambda) = 0$, we see that

$$\begin{aligned} u\left(t^{*}\right) &\leqslant \gamma \overline{u}\left(t_{0}\right) e^{(c+\delta)(t^{*}-t_{0})} + \gamma \int_{t_{0}}^{t^{*}} q e^{(c+\delta)(t^{*}-s)} \overline{u}\left(s\right) \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant \gamma \overline{u}\left(t_{0}\right) e^{(c+\delta)(t^{*}-t_{0})} \\ &+ \gamma \int_{t_{0}}^{t^{*}} \gamma q e^{\lambda \tau} e^{(c+\delta)(t^{*}-s)} e^{-\lambda(s-t_{0})} \overline{u}\left(t_{0}\right) \mathrm{d}s \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} &= \gamma \overline{u}\left(t_{0}\right) e^{-\lambda(t^{*}-t_{0})}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(23)$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore, (19) holds. This completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Lemma 4 (comparison principle). Assume that there exists a function $V \in v_0$ such that

- (i) $\mathbb{E}\mathscr{L}V(t,\varphi) \leq h(t,\mathbb{E}V(t,\varphi(0)),\mathbb{E}V(t+\theta,\varphi))$ for any $(t,\varphi) \in [t_{k-1},t_k) \times PC^p_{\mathscr{F}_{\star}}([-\tau,0];\mathbb{R}^n), k \in \mathbb{N};$
- (ii) $\mathbb{E}V(t_k, I_k(t_k, X, Y)) \leq \Psi_{1k}(\mathbb{E}V(t_k^-, X)) + \Psi_{2k}(\mathbb{E}V((t_k d_k)^-, Y))$ for all $X, Y \in L^p_{\mathcal{F}_t}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n), k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Then,

$$\mathbb{E}V\left(t, x\left(t\right)\right) \leqslant u\left(t; t_0, \zeta\right), \quad t \ge t_0 \tag{24}$$

provided $\mathbb{E}V(t_0 + \theta, x(t_0 + \theta)) \leq \zeta(\theta), \theta \in [-\tau, 0]$, where $x(t) = x(t; t_0, \xi)$ is the solution process to (1).

Proof. For any $t \in [t_{k-1}, t_k)$ and $\alpha > 0$ sufficiently small satisfying $t + \alpha < t_k$, by the Itô formula together with condition (i), we have

$$\mathbb{E}V(t + \alpha, x(t + \alpha)) - \mathbb{E}V(t, x(t))$$

$$= \int_{t}^{t+\alpha} \mathbb{E}\mathscr{L}V(s, x_{s}) ds \qquad (25)$$

$$\leq \int_{t}^{t+\alpha} h(s, \mathbb{E}V(s, x(s)), \mathbb{E}V(s + \theta, x_{s})) ds;$$

this implies that

$$D^{+}\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t))$$

$$:= \limsup_{\alpha \to 0^{+}} \frac{\mathbb{E}V(t + \alpha, x(t + \alpha)) - \mathbb{E}V(t, x(t))}{\alpha}$$

$$\leq \limsup_{\alpha \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{\alpha} \int_{t}^{t+\alpha} h(s, \mathbb{E}V(s, x(s)), \mathbb{E}V(s + \theta, x_{s})) ds$$

$$= h(t, \mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)), \mathbb{E}V(t + \theta, x_{t})).$$
(26)

Write $u(t; t_0, \zeta) = u(t)$ simply. Now supposing that for each $\theta \in [-\tau, 0]$, $\mathbb{E}V(t_0 + \theta, x(t_0 + \theta)) \leq \zeta(\theta)$, we claim that

$$\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)) \leq u(t), \quad t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_1).$$
(27)

Consider the system

$$\dot{U}(t) = h(t, U(t), U_t) + \varepsilon, \quad t \in [t_0, t_1),$$

$$U(\theta) = \zeta(\theta) + \varepsilon, \quad \theta \in [t_0 - \tau, t_0],$$
(28)

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is a constant. We claim that $U(t) \ge \mathbb{E}V(t, x(t))$ for $t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_1)$.

In fact, if this is not true, then from the continuity of U(t)and $\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t))$ in $t \in [t_0, t_1)$, we know that there exist a $t^* \in (t_0, t_1)$ and a sufficiently small constant $\alpha > 0$ such that $t^* + \alpha < t_1$ and

$$\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)) \leq U(t), \quad t \in [t_0 - \tau, t^*),$$

$$\mathbb{E}V(t^*, x(t^*)) = U(t^*), \quad (29)$$

$$\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)) > U(t), \quad t \in (t^*, t^* + \alpha).$$

Thus $\dot{U}(t^*) = D^+U(t^*) \leq D^+\mathbb{E}V(t^*, x(t^*))$. On the other hand, by condition (i), we obtain that

$$\dot{U}(t^{*}) = h(t^{*}, U(t^{*}), U_{t^{*}}) + \varepsilon$$

$$\geq h(t^{*}, V(t^{*}, x(t^{*})), \mathbb{E}V(t^{*} + \theta, x_{t^{*}})) + \varepsilon$$

$$> h(t^{*}, V(t^{*}, x(t^{*})), \mathbb{E}V(t^{*} + \theta, x_{t^{*}}))$$

$$\geq D^{+}\mathbb{E}V(t^{*}, x(t^{*})).$$
(30)

This is a contradiction. So $U(t) \ge \mathbb{E}V(t, x(t))$ holds for all $t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_1)$. Let $\varepsilon \to 0$; then $U(t) \to u(t)$, and hence inequality (27) holds.

Noting that $\Psi_{1k}(\cdot)$ and $\Psi_{2k}(\cdot)$ are nondecreasing, by (27) and condition (ii), we get

$$\mathbb{E}V(t_{1}, x(t_{1}))$$

$$= \mathbb{E}V(t_{1}, I_{1}(t_{1}, x(t_{1}^{-}), x(t_{1} - d_{1})^{-}))$$

$$\leq \Psi_{11}(\mathbb{E}V(t_{1}^{-}, x(t_{1}^{-})))$$

$$+ \Psi_{21}(\mathbb{E}V((t_{1} - d_{1})^{-}, x(t_{1} - d_{1})^{-}))$$

$$\leq \Psi_{11}(u(t_{1}^{-})) + \Psi_{21}(u(t_{1} - d_{1})^{-}) = u(t_{1}).$$
(31)

Thus, it follows from (27) and (31) that

$$\mathbb{E}V\left(t_1 + \theta, x\left(t_1 + \theta\right)\right) \leq u\left(t_1 + \theta\right), \quad \theta \in [-\tau, 0].$$
(32)

Similar to the previous process, we have $\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)) \leq u(t)$ when $t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_2)$. By induction, it follows that $\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)) \leq u(t), t \in [t_0 - \tau, \infty)$. The proof is complete.

Theorem 5. Assume that there exist functions $V \in v_0, \phi_1 \in V\mathcal{H}_{\infty}$, and $\phi_2 \in C\mathcal{H}$ such that

- (i) $\phi_1(|x|^p) \leq V(t,x) \leq \phi_2(|x|^p)$ for any $(t,x) \in [t_0 \tau, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$;
- (ii) $\mathbb{E}\mathscr{L}V(t,\varphi) \leq h(t, \mathbb{E}V(t,\varphi(0)), \mathbb{E}V(t+\theta,\varphi))$ for any $(t,\varphi) \in [t_{k-1}, t_k) \times PC^p_{\mathscr{F}}([-\tau, 0]; \mathbb{R}^n), k \in \mathbb{N};$
- $\begin{array}{l} \text{(iii)} \ \mathbb{E}V(t_k, I_k(t_k, X, Y)) \leq \Psi_{1k}(\mathbb{E}V(t_k^-, X)) + \Psi_{2k}(\mathbb{E}V((t_k d_k)^-, Y)) \ for \ all \ X, Y \in L^p_{\mathcal{F}_t}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n), \ k \in \mathbb{N}. \end{array}$

Then the stability properties of the trivial solution of IFDE-DI (2) imply the corresponding stability properties of the trivial solution of ISFDE-DI (1). Moreover, if condition (i) is replaced by

(i^{*}) there exist positive constants p, c_1 , and c_2 such that for all $(t, x) \in [t_0 - \tau, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$

$$c_1 \left| x \right|^p \leqslant V(t, x) \leqslant c_2 \left| x \right|^p \tag{33}$$

then the global exponential stability of the trivial solution of IFDE-DI (2) implies that pth moment global exponential stability of ISFDE-DI (1).

Proof. Firstly, assume that the trivial solution of IFDE-DI (2) is stable. Let $\varepsilon > 0$; then for given $\phi_1(\varepsilon) > 0$, there exists $\delta_1 = \delta_1(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0$ such that $\delta_1 < \phi_1(\varepsilon)$ and

$$\left|\zeta\right\|^{p} < \delta_{1} \text{ implies } u\left(t;t_{0},\zeta\right) < \phi_{1}\left(\varepsilon\right), \quad t \ge t_{0}.$$
 (34)

Let $\zeta(\theta) = \mathbb{E}V(t_0 + \theta, x(t_0 + \theta)), \theta \in [-\tau, 0]$. From conditions (ii) and (iii) and Lemma 4, we get that

$$\mathbb{E}V\left(t, x\left(t\right)\right) \leq u\left(t; t_{0}, \zeta\right), \quad t \geq t_{0}.$$
(35)

Let $\delta \leq \phi_2^{-1}(\delta_1)$ and $\mathbb{E} \|\xi\|^p < \delta$; then by condition (i) and $\phi_2 \in C\mathscr{K}$, we have $\|\zeta\|^p \leq \mathbb{E}\phi_2(\|\xi\|^p) \leq \phi_2(\mathbb{E} \|\xi\|^p) < \phi_2(\delta) \leq \delta_1$. Hence, by (34) and (35), we have

$$\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)) < \phi_1(\varepsilon), \quad t \ge t_0. \tag{36}$$

If $\mathbb{E} \|\xi\|^p < \delta$, then by conditions (i) and (36), we have

$$\mathbb{E}|x(t)|^{p} \leq \phi_{1}^{-1}\left(\mathbb{E}V\left(t, x\left(t\right)\right)\right) < \varepsilon, \quad t \geq t_{0}; \tag{37}$$

that is, the trivial solution of ISFDE-DI (1) is stable.

Next, let us suppose that the trivial solution of IFDE-DI (2) is asymptotically stable. This implies that the trivial solution of ISFDE-DI (1) is stable. Let $\zeta(\theta) = \mathbb{E}V(t_0 + \theta, x(t_0 + \theta)), \theta \in [-\tau, 0]$. Since u = 0 is attractive, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist $\delta_0 = \delta_0(t_0) > 0$ and $T = T(t_0, \delta_0)$ such that

$$\|\zeta\|^{p} < \delta_{0}, \text{ implies } u(t;t_{0},\zeta) < \phi_{1}(\varepsilon), \quad t \ge t_{0} + T. \quad (38)$$

Choose $\mathbb{E} \|\xi\|^p < \delta_0$. Note the fact that $\phi \in V \mathscr{K}$ implies $\phi^{-1} \in C \mathscr{K}$. Then by (35) and (37), we get

$$\mathbb{E}|x(t)|^{p} \leq \phi_{1}^{-1}\left(\mathbb{E}V\left(t, x\left(t\right)\right)\right) < \varepsilon, \quad t \geq t_{0} + T, \tag{39}$$

which implies that the trivial solution of ISFDE-DI (1) is asymptotically stable.

Thirdly, let us suppose that the trivial solution of IFDE-DI (2) is globally exponentially stable and condition (i^*) holds. Then, there exists a couple of positive constants γ and K such that

$$u(t) \leq K \left\| \zeta \right\| e^{-\gamma(t-t_0)}, \quad t \geq t_0.$$

$$\tag{40}$$

Let $\zeta(\theta) = V(t_0 + \theta, x(t_0 + \theta)), \theta \in [-\tau, 0]$. Then by (35) and (40), we get $\mathbb{E}V(t, x(t)) \leq u(t) \leq K \mathbb{E} \|\xi\|^p e^{-\gamma(t-t_0)}$ for all $t \geq t_0$. Thus, by condition (i^{*}), it yields that

$$\mathbb{E}|x(t)|^{p} \leq \frac{Kc_{2}}{c_{1}} \mathbb{E} \left\| \xi \right\|^{p} e^{-\gamma(t-t_{0})}, \quad t \geq t_{0}.$$

$$(41)$$

Hence, the trivial solution of ISFDE-DI (1) is *p*th moment globally exponentially stable. The proof is complete. \Box

Theorem 6. Assume that there exist a function $V \in v_0$, positive constants c_1 , c_2 , q, and a_k , constants c and δ , and $b_k \ge 0$ such that

- (i) $c_1|x|^p \leq V(t,x) \leq c_2|x|^p$ for any $(t,x) \in [t_0 \tau, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$;
- (ii) $\mathbb{E}\mathscr{L}V(t,\varphi) \leq c\mathbb{E}V(t,\varphi(0)) + q\mathbb{E}V(t+\theta,\varphi)$ for any $(t,\varphi) \in [t_{k-1},t_k) \times PC^p_{\mathscr{F}_*}([-\tau,0];\mathbb{R}^n), k \in \mathbb{N};$
- (iii) $\mathbb{E}V(t_k, I_k(t_k, X, Y)) \leq a_k \mathbb{E}V(t_k^-, X) + b_k \mathbb{E}V((t_k^- d_k^-, Y) \text{ for all } X, Y \in L^p_{\mathcal{F}_*}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n), k \in \mathbb{N};$

(iv)
$$\ln(a_k + b_k e^{cd_k}) \leq \delta(t_k - t_{k-1})$$
 for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$;
(v) $\delta + c + q\gamma < 0$ where $\gamma = \sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \{ e^{\delta(t_k - t_{k-1})}, 1/e^{\delta(t_k - t_{k-1})} \}$.

Then the trivial solution of ISFDE-DI (1) is pth moment globally exponentially stable.

Proof. Let $u(t) = \mathbb{E}V(t, \varphi(0)), h(t, u(t), u_t) = cu(t) + qu_t,$ $\Psi_{1k}(u(t_k^-)) = a_k u(t_k^-), \text{ and } \Psi_{2k}(u((t_k - d_k)^-)) = b_k u((t_k - d_k)^-).$ We obtain the comparison system (2). It is easy to verify that all conditions of Theorem 5 are satisfied and so the global exponential stability of the trivial solution of IFDE-DI (2) implies that *p*th moment global exponential stability of ISFDE-DI (1).

Furthermore, let λ be the unique positive solution of λ + δ + p + $q\gamma e^{\lambda \tau}$ = 0. Using conditions (ii) and (iii), we find

$$D^{+}u(t) \leq cu(t) + q\overline{u}(t), \quad t \neq t_{k}, \ t \geq t_{0},$$

$$u(t_{k}) \leq a_{k}u(t_{k}^{-}) + b_{k}u((t_{k} - d_{k})^{-}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(42)

Thus from conditions (iv) and (v) and Lemma 3, we obtain that

$$u(t) \leq \gamma \overline{u}(t_0) e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}, \quad t \geq t_0 - \tau,$$
(43)

which implies that the trivial solution of IFDE-DI (2) is globally exponentially stable. The proof of Theorem 6 is complete. $\hfill\square$

Remark 7. An impulsive stochastic dynamical system can be viewed as a hybrid one comprised of two components: a continuous stochastic dynamic and a discrete dynamic. Theorem 6 can be used to deal will all three cases: the system with stable continuous stochastic dynamic and unstable discrete dynamic, the system with unstable continuous stochastic dynamic and stable discrete dynamic, and the system with stable continuous stochastic dynamic and stable discrete dynamic. When c < 0, the continuous stochastic dynamic of (1) may be stable. In this case, in order to ensure the stability of the entire system, the delayed impulses' frequency $\{t_k - t_{k-1}, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$ and amplitude a_k, b_k should be suitably related to the decrease of continuous flows; that is, conditions (iv) and (v) hold. In this sense, Theorem 6 can be used to deal with the robust stabling of continuous stochastic dynamic subject to delayed impulsive perturbations. When $c \ge 0$, the continuous stochastic dynamic of (1) may be unstable and the stability of the entire system is determined by the delayed impulse effects. In this case, we need to require that the delayed impulses' frequency and amplitude should be suitablly related to the decrease of of continuous flows.

Remark 8. It is noted that the exponential stability analysis in [30, 31] only considers the case of impulsive stabilization. In this sense, Theorem 6 has a wider adaptive range.

4. Examples

In this section, the effectiveness and advantages of the results derived in the preceding section will be illustrated by two examples.

Example 1. Consider the two-dimensional nonlinear impulsive stochastic delay equation in the form

$$dx_{1}(t) = [-2x_{2}(t)\sin(x_{1}(t-\tau)) - 5x_{1}(t) + 0.5x_{2}(t-\tau)]dt + 0.2x_{1}(t-\tau)dw(t),$$
$$t \neq t_{k},$$

$$dx_{2}(t) = [x_{1}(t) \sin(x_{1}(t-\tau)) - 5x_{2}(t) + 0.4x_{2}(t-\tau)] dt$$

$$+ 0.4x_{2}(t-\tau) dw(t), \quad t \neq t_{k},$$

$$x_{1}(t_{k}) = x_{1}(t_{k}^{-}) + \alpha x_{1}((t_{k} - d_{k})^{-}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

$$x_{2}(t_{k}) = x_{2}(t_{k}^{-}) + \alpha x_{2}((t_{k} - d_{k})^{-}), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(44)

where $\tau > 0$, $d_k \in [0, d]$, $\alpha \ge 0$. If there exists a positive constant $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\alpha < \sqrt{\frac{9/0.445 - 1 - \varepsilon}{1 + 1/\varepsilon}},$$

$$\varrho = \inf_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \left\{ t_k - t_{k-1} \right\} > \frac{\ln \left[1 + \varepsilon + (1 + 1/\varepsilon) \alpha^2 \right]}{9 - 0.445 \left[1 + \varepsilon + (1 + 1/\varepsilon) \alpha^2 \right]},$$
(45)

then (44) is globally exponentially stable for any bounded impulsive input delays $\{d_k\}$.

Denote $I_k(t_k, X, Y) = X + \alpha Y$. Choose the Lyapunov function $V(t, x) = (1/4)x_1^2 + (1/2)x_2^2$; then for any $\varepsilon > 0$, we have

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}V\left(t_{k}, I_{k}\left(t_{k}, X, Y\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \left|X_{1} + \alpha Y_{1}\right|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left|X_{2} + \alpha Y_{2}\right|^{2} \\ &= \mathbb{E}V\left(t_{k}^{-}, X\right) + \alpha^{2} \mathbb{E}V\left(\left(t_{k} - d_{k}\right)^{-}, Y\right) \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{2} \mathbb{E}\left(X_{1}Y_{1}\right) + \alpha \mathbb{E}\left(X_{2}Y_{2}\right) \\ &\leq (1 + \varepsilon) \mathbb{E}V\left(t_{k}^{-}, X\right) + \left(1 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right) \alpha^{2} \mathbb{E}V\left(\left(t_{k} - d_{k}\right)^{-}, Y\right), \\ &\mathbb{E}\mathscr{L}V\left(t, \varphi\right) \\ &= -10 \mathbb{E}V\left(t, \varphi\left(0\right)\right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \mathbb{E} \left[0.25\varphi_{1}\left(0\right)\varphi_{2}\left(-\tau\right) + 0.4\varphi_{2}\left(0\right)\varphi_{2}\left(-\tau\right) \right. \\ &+ 0.01\varphi_{1}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) + 0.08\varphi_{2}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) \right] \\ &\leq -10\mathbb{E}V\left(t,\varphi\left(0\right)\right) + \mathbb{E} \left[0.01\varphi_{1}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) + 0.08\varphi_{2}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) \right] \\ &+ \mathbb{E} \left[0.25\varphi_{1}^{2}\left(0\right) + 0.0625\varphi_{2}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) \right. \\ &+ 0.5\varphi_{2}^{2}\left(0\right) + 0.08\varphi_{2}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) \right] \\ &= -9\mathbb{E}V\left(t,\varphi\left(0\right)\right) + \mathbb{E} \left[0.01\varphi_{1}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) + 0.2225\varphi_{2}^{2}\left(-\tau\right) \right] \\ &\leq -9\mathbb{E}V\left(t,\varphi\left(0\right)\right) + 0.445\mathbb{E}V\left(t-\tau,\varphi\left(-\tau\right)\right), \end{split}$$
(46)

for $t \neq t_k$.

Take $c_1 = 1/4$, $c_2 = 1/2$, c = -9, q = 0.445, $a_k \equiv 1 + \varepsilon$, $b_k \equiv (1 + 1/\varepsilon)\alpha^2$, $\delta = \ln[1 + \varepsilon + (1 + 1/\varepsilon)\alpha^2]/\varrho$, $\gamma = 1 + \varepsilon + (1 + 1/\varepsilon)\alpha^2$. It is easy to check that all conditions of Theorem 6 are satisfied under conditions (45), which means that (44) is globally mean square exponentially stable for any bounded impulsive input delays $\{d_k\}$.

Remark. It is noted that (44) without impulses is globally mean square exponentially stable and the impulses are destabilizing since $\alpha \ge 0$. Hence, the existing stability theorems in [30, 31] fail to work. This shows that our results have a wider adaptive range.

Example 2. Consider the following impulsive stochastic delayed neural network:

$$dx(t) = [-x(t) + Af(x(t - \tau(t)))] dt + Bx(t - \tau(t)) dw(t), \quad t \neq t_k, x(t_k) = 0.3x(t_k^-) + 0.2x((t_k - d_k)^-), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(47)



FIGURE 1: The solution of system (47) without impulses (single sample).



FIGURE 2: The mean square of the solution of system (47) without impulses (2000 samples).

where

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -1.5 & 1\\ -3 & 2.5 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & 0\\ 0 & 0.4 \end{bmatrix},$$
(48)

 $f(x) = (f_1(x_1), f_2(x_2))^T$ with $f_1(s) = f_2(s) = (1/2)(|s+1| - |s-1|)$.

It is noted that (47) without impulse is not stable, and its simulation with delay $\tau(t) = 1$ and initial data $\xi(s) = [1, -1]^T$ and $s \in [-1, 0]$ are shown in Figures 1 and 2.

In the following, applying Theorem 5, we will show that under impulsive control law, (47) is mean square exponentially stable if $\sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \{t_k - t_{k-1}\} \le 0.0681$.



FIGURE 3: The solution of system (47) with impulses (single sample).



FIGURE 4: The mean square of the solution of system (47) with impulses (2000 samples).

Denote $I_k(t_k, X, Y) = 0.3X + 0.2Y$. Choose $V(t, x) = |x|^2$. Then condition (i) of Theorem 5 holds with $c_1 = c_2 = 1$,

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{E}V\left(t_{k}, I_{k}\left(t_{k}, X, Y\right)\right) \\ &= \left[0.3X + 0.2Y\right]^{T} \left[0.3X + 0.2Y\right] \\ &\leq 0.18\mathbb{E}|X|^{2} + 0.08\mathbb{E}|Y|^{2} \\ &= 0.18\mathbb{E}V\left(t_{k}^{-}, X\right) + 0.08\mathbb{E}V\left(\left(t_{k} - d_{k}\right)^{-}, Y\right), \\ & \mathbb{E}\mathscr{L}V\left(t, \varphi\right) \\ &= \mathbb{E}\left[2\varphi^{T}\left(0\right)\left(-\varphi\left(0\right) + Af\left(\varphi\left(-\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right)\right)\right] \\ &\quad + \mathbb{E}\left[\varphi^{T}\left(-\tau\left(t\right)\right)B^{T}B\varphi\left(-\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right] \end{split}$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E} \left[(-2 + ||A||) |\varphi(0)|^{2} + (||A|| + ||B||^{2}) |\varphi(-\tau(t))|^{2} \right]$$

$$\leq 2.2976 \mathbb{E} |\varphi(0)|^{2} + 4.5476 \mathbb{E} |\varphi(-\tau(t))|^{2}$$

$$= 2.2976 \mathbb{E} V (t, \varphi(0)) + 4.5476 \mathbb{E} V (t - \tau(t), \varphi(-\tau(t))), \qquad (49)$$

for $t \neq t_k$.

Thus, the comparison system is

$$\dot{u}(t) = 2.2976u(t) + 4.5476u(t - \tau(t)), \quad t \neq t_k,$$

$$t \ge t_0, \quad (50)$$

$$u(t_k) = 0.18u(t_k^-) + 0.08u((t_k - d_k)^-), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

which according to case (iii) of Corollary 1 in [19] is globally exponentially stable for any bounded impulsive input delays $\{d_k\}$ if $\sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \{t_k - t_{k-1}\} < \ln(1/0.26)/(2.2976+4.5476/0.26) = 0.0681$. Hence, we conclude by Theorem 6 that system (47) is mean square exponentially stable if $\sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \{t_k - t_{k-1}\} \le 0.0681$. With the same initial value, the simulations of the impulsive stochastic delay neural network (47) under the delayed impulsive control law $x(t_k) = 0.3x(t_k^-) + 0.2x((t_k - d_k)^-), t_k - t_{k-1} = 0.06, d_k = 0.4$ are shown in Figures 3 and 4.

5. Conclusions

This paper has investigated the exponential stability of ISFDEs-DI based on the comparison approach and an impulsive delay differential inequality. Some criteria on the *p*th moment global exponential stability are established. The obtained results complement some recent works. Two examples have been given to illustrate the effectiveness and the advantages of the results obtained. One of the drawbacks of the proposed method is perhaps that our results require the condition $\delta + c + q\gamma < 0$ and thus cannot deal with the time delay system with $\Delta x(t_k) = B_k x((t_k - d_k)^-)$. There will be future work to establish a criterion for the above system.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (11226247, 11301004), the 211 Project of Anhui University (32030018/33010205), the Anhui Provincial Nature Science Foundation (1308085QA15/1308085MA01), the Natural Science Foundation of Jiangsu Province (BK20130239), the Research Fund for the Doctoral Program of Higher Education of China (20130094120015), the Key Foundation of Anhui Education Bureau (KJ2012A019), and the Research Fund for the Doctoral Program of Higher Education (20103401120002).

References

- V. Lakshmikantham, D. D. Bainov, and P. S. Simeonov, *Theory* of *Impulsive Differential Equations*, vol. 6 of *Series in Modern Applied Mathematics*, World Scientific, Singapore, 1989.
- [2] A. M. Samoilenko and M. O. Perestyk, Impulsive Differential Equations, vol. 28 of Series on Advances in Mathematics for Applied Sciences, World Scientific, Singapore, 1995.
- [3] K. Gopalsamy and B. G. Zhang, "On delay differential equations with impulses," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 139, no. 1, pp. 110–122, 1989.
- [4] Y. V. Rogovchenko, "Impulsive evolution systems: main results and new trends," *Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impul*sive Systems, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 57–88, 1997.
- [5] G. Ballinger and X. Z. Liu, "Existence and uniqueness results for impulsive delay differential equations," *Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems*, vol. 5, no. 1–4, pp. 579–591, 1999.
- [6] G. Ballinger and X. Z. Liu, "Existence, uniqueness and boundedness results for impulsive delay differential equations," *Applicable Analysis*, vol. 74, no. 1-2, pp. 71–93, 2000.
- [7] W. M. Haddad, V. S. Chellaboina, and S. G. Nersesov, *Impulsive and Hybrid Dynamical Systems: Stability, Dissipativity, and Control*, Princeton Series in Applied Mathematics, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, USA, 2006.
- [8] A. V. Anokhin, L. Berezansky, and E. Braverman, "Exponential stability of linear delay impulsive differential equations," *Journal* of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, vol. 193, no. 3, pp. 923–941, 1995.
- [9] I. M. Stamova and G. T. Stamov, "Lyapunov-Razumikhin method for impulsive functional differential equations and applications to the population dynamics," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 130, no. 1-2, pp. 163–171, 2001.
- [10] Z. G. Luo and J. H. Shen, "New Razumikhin type theorems for impulsive functional differential equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 125, no. 2-3, pp. 375–386, 2002.
- [11] Q. Wang and X. Liu, "Impulsive stabilization of delay differential systems via the Lyapunov-Razumikhin method," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 839–845, 2007.
- [12] W. H. Chen and W. X. Zheng, "Robust stability and H_{∞} -control of uncertain impulsive systems with time-delay," *Automatica*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 109–117, 2009.
- [13] X. L. Fu and X. D. Li, "Razumikhin-type theorems on exponential stability of impulsive infinite delay differential systems," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 224, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2009.
- [14] X. D. Li, "New results on global exponential stabilization of impulsive functional differential equations with infinite delays or finite delays," *Nonlinear Analysis—Real World Applications*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 4194–4201, 2010.
- [15] F. L. Lian, J. Moyne, and D. Tilbury, "Modelling and optimal controller design of networked control systems with multiple delays," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 76, no. 6, pp. 591– 606, 2003.
- [16] A. Khadra, X. Z. Liu, and X. M. Shen, "Analyzing the robustness of impulsive synchronization coupled by linear delayed

impulses," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 923–928, 2009.

- [17] Y. Zhang and J. T. Sun, "Stability of impulsive functional differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis—Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 68, no. 12, pp. 3665–3678, 2008.
- [18] P. Cheng, Z. Wu, and L. L. Wang, "New results on global exponential stability of impulsive functional differential systems with delayed impulses," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2012, Article ID 376464, 13 pages, 2012.
- [19] D. W. Lin, X. D. Li, and D. O'Regan, "Stability analysis of generalized impulsive functional differential equations," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 55, no. 5-6, pp. 1682–1690, 2012.
- [20] W. H. Chen and W. X. Zheng, "Exponential stability of nonlinear time-delay systems with delayed impulse effects," *Automatica*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 1075–1083, 2011.
- [21] X. R. Mao, Stochastic Differential Equations and Applications, Horwood, Chichester, UK, 1997.
- [22] A. M. Samoilenko and O. M. Stanzhytskiy, Qualitative and Asymptotic Analisis of Differential Equations with Random Peryurbations, vol. 78 of World Scientific Series on Nonlinear Science, Series A, 2011.
- [23] S. G. Peng and B. G. Jia, "Some criteria on *p*th moment stability of impulsive stochastic functional differential equations," *Statistics & Probability Letters*, vol. 80, no. 13-14, pp. 1085–1092, 2010.
- [24] P. Cheng and F. Q. Deng, "Global exponential stability of impulsive stochastic functional differential systems," *Statistics & Probability Letters*, vol. 80, no. 23-24, pp. 1854–1862, 2010.
- [25] C. X. Li, J. T. Sun, and R. Y. Sun, "Stability analysis of a class of stochastic differential delay equations with nonlinear impulsive effects," *Journal of the Franklin Institute*, vol. 347, no. 7, pp. 1186– 1198, 2010.
- [26] S. G. Peng and Y. Zhang, "Razumikhin-type theorems on pth moment exponential stability of impulsivestochastic delay differential equations," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 8, pp. 1085–1092, 2010.
- [27] L. J. Pan and J. D. Cao, "Exponential stability of impulsive stochastic functional differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 382, no. 2, pp. 672–685, 2011.
- [28] F. Q. Yao and F. Q. Deng, "Exponential stability in terms of two measures of impulsive stochastic functional differential systems via comparison principle," *Statistics & Probability Letters*, vol. 82, no. 6, pp. 1151–1159, 2012.
- [29] F. Q. Yao and F. Q. Deng, "Stability of impulsive stochastic functional differential systems in terms of two measures via comparison approach," *Science China Information Sciences*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1313–1322, 2012.
- [30] J. Liu, X. Z. Liu, and W. C. Xie, "Impulsive stabilization of stochastic functional differential equations," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 264–269, 2011.
- [31] F. Q. Yao, F. Q. Deng, and P. Cheng, "Exponential stability of impulsive stochastic functional differential systems with delayed impulses," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2013, Article ID 548712, 8 pages, 2013.
- [32] M. S. Alwan, X. Z. Liu, and W. C. Xie, "Existence, continuation, and uniqueness problems of stochastic impulsive systems with time delay," *Journal of the Franklin Institute*, vol. 347, no. 7, pp. 1317–1333, 2010.

Research Article Automorphisms of Ordinary Differential Equations

Václav Tryhuk and Veronika Chrastinová

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Brno University of Technology, Veveří 331/95, 602 00 Brno, Czech Republic

Correspondence should be addressed to Václav Tryhuk; tryhuk.v@fce.vutbr.cz

Received 26 July 2013; Accepted 4 October 2013; Published 28 January 2014

Academic Editor: Josef Diblik

Copyright © 2014 V. Tryhuk and V. Chrastinová. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The paper deals with the local theory of internal symmetries of underdetermined systems of ordinary differential equations in full generality. The symmetries need not preserve the choice of the independent variable, the hierarchy of dependent variables, and the order of derivatives. Internal approach to the symmetries of one-dimensional constrained variational integrals is moreover proposed without the use of multipliers.

1. Preface

The theory of symmetries of *determined systems* (the solution depends on constants) of ordinary differential equations was ultimately established in Lie's and Cartan's era in the most possible generality and the technical tools (infinitesimal transformations and moving frames) are well known. Recall that the calculations are performed in finite-dimensional spaces given in advance and the results are expressed in terms of Lie groups or Lie-Cartan pseudogroups.

We deal with underdetermined systems (more unknown functions than the number of equations) of ordinary differential equations here. Then the symmetry problem is rather involved. Even the system of three first-order quasilinear equations with four unknown functions (equivalently, three Pfaffian equations with five variables) treated in the famous Cartan's article [1] and repeatedly referred to in actual literature was not yet clearly explained in detail. Paradoxically, the common tools (the calculations in given finite-order jet space) are quite sufficient for this particular example. We will later see that they are insufficient to analyze the seemingly easier symmetry problem of one first-order equation with three unknown functions (alternatively, two Pfaffian equations with five variables) in full generality since the order of derivatives need not be preserved in this case and the finite-order jet spaces may be destroyed. Recall that even the higher-order symmetries (automorphisms) of empty systems of differential equations (i.e., of the infinite order jet spaces without any additional differential constraints) are nontrivial [2–4] and cannot be included into the classical Lie-Cartan theory of transformation groups. Such symmetries need not preserve any finite-dimensional space and therefore the invariant differential forms (the Maurer-Cartan forms, the moving coframes) need not exist.

Let us outline the very core of the subject for better clarity by using the common jet terminology. We start with the *higher-order transformations* of curves $w^i = w^i(x)$ (i = 1, ..., m) lying in the space \mathbb{R}^{m+1} with coordinates $x, w^1, ..., w^m$. The transformations are defined by certain formulae

$$\overline{x} = W\left(x, \dots, w_s^j, \dots\right),$$

$$\overline{w}^i = W^i\left(x, \dots, w_s^j, \dots\right) \quad (i = 1, \dots, m),$$
(1)

where the C^{∞} -smooth real-valued functions W, W^i depend on a finite number of the familiar jet variables

$$w_s^j = \frac{d^s w^j}{dx^s}$$
 $(j = 1, ..., m; s = 0, 1, ...).$ (2)

The resulting curve $\overline{w}^i = \overline{w}^i(\overline{x})$ (i = 1, ..., m) again lying in \mathbb{R}^{m+1} appears as follows. We put

$$\overline{x} = W\left(x, \dots, \frac{d^{s}w^{j}(x)}{dx^{s}}, \dots\right) = w(x)$$
(3)

and assuming

$$w'(x) = (DW)\left(x, \dots, \frac{d^{s}w^{j}(x)}{dx^{s}}, \dots\right) \neq 0$$

$$\left(D = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum w_{s+1}^{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_{s}^{j}}\right),$$
(4)

there exists the inverse function $x = w^{-1}(\overline{x})$ which provides the desired result

$$\overline{w}^{i}(\overline{x}) = W^{i}\left(w^{-1}(\overline{x}), \dots, \frac{d^{s}w^{j}}{dx^{s}}\left(w^{-1}(\overline{x})\right), \dots\right).$$
(5)

One can also easily obtain the well-known prolongation formula

$$\overline{w}_{s}^{i} = W_{s}^{i}\left(x, \dots, w_{s}^{j}, \dots\right)$$

$$\left(W_{s+1}^{i} = \frac{DW_{s}^{i}}{DW}; i = 1, \dots, m; s = 0, 1, \dots; W_{0}^{i} = W^{i}\right)$$
(6)

for the derivatives $\overline{w}_r^i = d^r \overline{w}^i / d\overline{x}^r$ by using the Pfaffian equations

$$d\overline{w}_r^i - \overline{w}_{r+1}^i d\overline{x} = 0 \quad (i = 1, \dots, m; r = 0, 1, \dots).$$
(7)

Functions W satisfying (4) and W^i may be arbitrary here.

At this place, in order to obtain coherent theory, introduction of the familiar *infinite-order jet space of x-parametrized curves* briefly designated as $\mathbf{M}(m)$ with coordinates x, w_r^i (i = 1, ..., m; r = 0, 1, ...) is necessary. Then formulae ((1), (6)) determine a mapping $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M}(m) \to \mathbf{M}(m)$, a *morphism* of the jet space $\mathbf{M}(m)$. If the inverse \mathbf{m}^{-1} given by certain formulae

$$x = \overline{W}\left(\overline{x}, \dots, \overline{w}_{s}^{j}, \dots\right),$$

$$w_{r}^{i} = \overline{W}_{r}^{i}\left(\overline{x}, \dots, \overline{w}_{s}^{j}, \dots\right) \quad (i = 1, \dots, m; r = 0, 1, \dots)$$
(8)

exists, we speak of an *automorphism* (in alternative common terms, *symmetry*) **m** of the jet space $\mathbf{M}(m)$. It should be noted that we tacitly deal with the *local theory* in the sense that all formulae and identities, all mappings, and transformation groups to follow are in fact considered only on certain open subsets of the relevant underlying spaces which is not formally declared by the notation. Expressively saying, in order to avoid the clumsy purism, we follow the reasonable 19th century practice and do not rigorously indicate the true definition domains.

After this preparation, a *system of differential equations* is traditionally identified with the subspace $\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ given by certain equations

$$D^{r}G^{k} = 0$$
(9)
$$\left(k = 1, \dots, K; r = 0, 1, \dots; G^{k} = G^{k}\left(x, \dots, w_{s}^{j}, \dots\right)\right).$$

(We tacitly suppose that $\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ is a "reasonable subspace" and omit the technical details.) This is the *infinitely*

prolonged system. The total derivative vector field D defined on $\mathbf{M}(m)$ is tangent to the subspace $\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ and may be regarded as a vector field on \mathbf{M} , as well. The morphism $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M}(m) \to \mathbf{M}(m)$ transforms $\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ into the subspace $\mathbf{m}\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{m}\mathbf{M}(m) \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ given by the equations

$$(D^{r}G^{k})(W,...,W_{s}^{j},...) = 0$$

$$(k = 1,...,K; r = 0, 1,...).$$
(10)

This is again a system of differential equations. In our paper, we are interested only in the particular case when $\mathbf{mM} = \mathbf{M}$. Then, if the inverse \mathbf{m}^{-1} locally exists on a neighbourhood of the subspace $\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ in the total jet space, we speak of the external symmetry m of the system of differential equations (9). Let us, however, deal with the natural restriction $\overline{\mathbf{m}}$: $M \rightarrow M$ of the mapping m to the subspace M. If there exists the inverse $\overline{\mathbf{m}}^{-1}$: $\mathbf{M} \rightarrow \mathbf{M}$ of the restriction, we speak of the internal symmetry. Internal symmetries do not depend on the localizations of M in M(m). More precisely, differential equations can be introduced without any reference to jet spaces and the internal symmetries can be defined without the use of localizations. On this occasion, we are also interested in groups of internal symmetries. They are generated by special vector fields, the infinitesimal symmetries.

In the actual literature, differential equations are as a rule considered in finite-dimensional jet spaces. Then the internal and external symmetries become rather delicate and differ from our concepts since the higher-order symmetries are not taken into account. We will not discuss such conceptual confusion in this paper with the belief that the following two remarks (and Remark 5) should be quite sufficient in this respect.

Remark 1 (on the symmetries). The true structure of the jet space $\mathbf{M}(m)$ is determined by the *contact module* $\Omega(m)$ which involves all *contact forms*

$$\omega = \sum a_r^i \omega_r^i$$

$$\left(\omega_r^i = dw_r^i - w_{r+1}^i dx, \text{ finite sum, arbitrary coefficients}\right).$$
(11)

Then the above *morphisms* $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M}(m) \to \mathbf{M}(m)$ given in ((1), (6)) are characterized by the property $\mathbf{m}^*\Omega(m) \subset \Omega(m)$. Recall that invertible morphisms are *automorphisms*. Let us introduce the subspace $\mathbf{i} : \mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ of all points (9). This \mathbf{M} is equipped with the restriction $\Omega = \mathbf{i}^*\Omega(m)$ of the contact module. Recall that we are interested only in the case $\mathbf{mM} = \mathbf{M}$ (abbreviation of $\mathbf{miM} = \mathbf{iM}$). Let $\mathbf{\overline{m}} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ be the restriction of \mathbf{m} . If \mathbf{m} is a morphism then $\mathbf{\overline{m}}$ is a morphism in the sense that $\mathbf{\overline{m}}^*\Omega \subset \Omega$. Recall that we have the *internal symmetry*, if $\mathbf{\overline{m}}$ is moreover invertible. If also \mathbf{m} is invertible, we have the *external symmetry* $\mathbf{\overline{m}}$. The internal symmetries can be defined without any reference to \mathbf{m} and $\mathbf{M}(m)$ as follows. Let $\mathbf{\overline{m}} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ be any invertible mapping such that $\mathbf{\overline{m}}^*\Omega \subset \Omega$. This $\mathbf{\overline{m}}$ can be always extended to a morphism $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M}(m) \to \mathbf{M}(m)$ of the ambient jet space. (Hint, recurrence (6) holds true both in $\mathbf{M}(m)$ and in \mathbf{M} .) So we may conclude that such $\overline{\mathbf{m}}$ is just the *internal symmetry*. Moreover, if there exists *invertible* extension \mathbf{m} of $\overline{\mathbf{m}}$, then $\overline{\mathbf{m}}$ is even the *external symmetry* but the latter concept already depends on the localization \mathbf{i} of \mathbf{M} in $\mathbf{M}(m)$.

Remark 2 (on infinitesimal symmetries). Let us consider a vector field

$$Z = z \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum z_r^i \frac{\partial}{\partial w_r^i}$$
(12)

(infinite sum, arbitrary coefficients)

on the jet space $\mathbf{M}(m)$. Let us moreover suppose $\mathscr{L}_Z \Omega(m) \subset$ $\Omega(m)$ from now on (where \mathscr{L}_Z denotes the Lie derivative see also Definition 8). In common terminology, such vector fields Z are called generalized (higher-order, Lie-Bäcklund) infinites*imal symmetries* of the jet space $\mathbf{M}(m)$. However Z need not in general generate any true group of transformations and we therefore prefer the "unorthodox" term a variation Z here. (See Section 7 and especially Remark 35 where the reasons for this term are clarified.) The common term infinitesimal symmetry is retained only for the favourable case when Zgenerates a local one-parameter Lie group [5]. Let us consider the above subspace \mathbf{i} : $\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$. If Z is tangent to \mathbf{M} , then there exists the natural restriction \overline{Z} of Z to M. Clearly $\mathscr{L}_{\overline{Z}}\Omega \subset \Omega$ and we speak of the (*internal*) variation \overline{Z} . If \overline{Z} moreover generates a group in **M**, we have the (*internal*) *infinitesimal symmetry* \overline{Z} . The internal concepts on **M** can be easily introduced without any reference to the ambient space M(m). This is not the case for the concept of the *external* infinitesimal symmetry \overline{Z} which supposes that appropriate *extension* Z of \overline{Z} on the ambient space $\mathbf{M}(m)$ *generates a Lie* group.

We deal only with the *internal* symmetries and infinitesimal symmetries in this paper. It is to be noted once more that *infinite-dimensional underlying spaces are necessary* if we wish to obtain a coherent theory. The common technical tools invented in the finite-dimensional spaces will be only slightly adapted; alas, the ingenious methods proposed, for example, in [6–8] seem to be not suitable for this aim and so we undertake the elementary approach [9] here.

2. Technical Tools

We introduce infinite-dimensional manifold **M** modelled on the space \mathbb{R}^{∞} with local coordinates h^1, h^2, \ldots in full accordance with [9]. The manifold **M** is equipped with the *structural algebra* $\mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})$ of C^{∞} -smooth functions expressed as $f = f(h^1, \ldots, h^{m(f)})$ in terms of coordinates. Transformations (mappings) $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ are (locally) given by certain formulae

$$\mathbf{m}^{*}h^{i} = H^{i}\left(h^{1}, \dots, h^{m(i)}\right) \quad \left(H^{i} \in \mathscr{F}\left(\mathbf{M}\right); i = 1, 2, \dots\right),$$
(13)

and analogous (invertible) formulae describe the change of coordinates at the overlapping coordinate systems.

Let $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$ be the $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$ -module of differential 1-forms

$$\varphi = \sum f^{i} dg^{i} \quad \left(f^{i}, g^{i} \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M}); \text{finite sum}\right).$$
(14)

The familiar rules of exterior calculus can be applied without any change, in particular $\mathbf{m}^* \varphi = \sum \mathbf{m}^* f^i d\mathbf{m}^* g^i$ for the above transformation \mathbf{m} .

Let $\mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ be the $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$ -module of vector fields Z. In terms of coordinates we have

$$Z = \sum z^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial h^{i}}$$

$$\left(z^{i} = z^{i} \left(h^{1}, \dots, h^{m(i)}\right) \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M}), \text{ infinite sum}\right),$$
(15)

where the coefficients z^i may be quite arbitrary. We identify Z with the linear functional on $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$ determined by the familiar duality pairing

$$dh^{i}(Z) = Z \rfloor dh^{i} = Zh^{i} = z^{i} \quad (i = 1, 2, ...).$$
 (16)

With this principle in mind, if certain forms $\varphi^1, \varphi^2, \ldots \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ generate the $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$ -module, then the values

$$\varphi^{i}(Z) = Z \rfloor \varphi^{i} = \overline{z}^{i} \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M}) \quad (i = 1, 2, \ldots)$$
(17)

uniquely determine the vector field Z and (17) can be very expressively (and unorthodoxly) recorded by

$$Z = \sum \overline{z}^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi^{i}} \quad \left(\overline{z}^{i} = \varphi^{i}(Z) \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M}), \text{ infinite sum}\right).$$
(18)

This is a mere symbolical record, not the true infinite series. However, if $\varphi^1, \varphi^2, \ldots$ is a *basis* of the module $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$ in the sense that every $\varphi \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ admits a unique representation $\varphi = \sum f^i \varphi^i$ ($f^i \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$, finite sum) then the coefficients \overline{z}_i can be quite arbitrary and (18) may be regarded as a true infinite series. The arising vector fields $\partial/\partial \varphi^1, \partial/\partial \varphi^2, \ldots$ provide a *weak basis* (infinite expansions, see [9]) of $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$ dual to the basis $\varphi^1, \varphi^1, \ldots$ of $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$. In this transcription, (15) is alternatively expressed as

$$Z = \sum z^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial dh^{i}} \quad \left(z^{i} \in \mathscr{F} (\mathbf{M}), \text{ infinite sum} \right).$$
(19)

We recall the *Lie derivative* $\mathcal{L}_Z = Z \lfloor d + dZ \rfloor$ acting on exterior differential forms. The image $\mathbf{m}_* Z$ of a vector field defined by the property

$$\mathbf{m}^{*}(\mathbf{m}_{*}Z)f = Z\mathbf{m}^{*}f \quad (f \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M}))$$
(20)

need not exist. It is defined if **m** is invertible.

We consider various submodules $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ of differential forms together with the relevant *orthogonal* submodules $\Omega^{\perp} \subset \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ consisting of all vector fields $Z \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ such that $\omega(Z) = 0$ ($\omega \in \Omega$). The existence of (local) $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$ bases in all submodules of $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$ to appear in our reasonings is tacitly postulated. *Dimension* of an $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$ -module is the number of elements of an $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$ -basis. Omitting some "exceptional points," it may be confused with the dimension of the corresponding \mathbb{R} -module (the *localization*) at a fixed place $\mathbf{P} \in \mathbf{M}$. On this occasion, it should be noted that the image

$$\mathbf{m}_{*}Z_{\mathbf{P}} \quad \left(\left(\mathbf{m}_{*}Z_{\mathbf{P}} \right)_{\mathbf{Q}} f = Z_{\mathbf{P}} \left(\mathbf{m}^{*} f \right), \mathbf{m}\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{P} \in \mathbf{M} \right)$$
(21)

of a tangent vector $Z_{\mathbf{P}}$ at \mathbf{P} exists as a vector at the place \mathbf{Q} .

Let us also remark with regret that any rigorous exposition of classical analysis in the infinite-dimensional space \mathbb{R}^{∞} is not yet available; however, certain adjustments of finite-dimensional results are not difficult. For instance, the following invertibility theorem will latently occur in the proof of Theorem 20.

Theorem 3. A mapping $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ is invertible if and only if any of the following equivalent conditions is satisfied: the pull-back $\mathbf{m}^* : \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M}) \to \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})$ is invertible, the pullback $\mathbf{m}^* : \Phi(\mathbf{M}) \to \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ is invertible, and if $\varphi^1, \varphi^2, \ldots$ is a (fixed, equivalently: arbitrary) basis of module $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$, then $\mathbf{m}^* \varphi^1, \mathbf{m}^* \varphi^2, \ldots$ again is a basis.

Hint. A nonlinear version of the familiar Gauss elimination procedure for infinite dimension [9] provides a direct proof with difficulties concerning the definition domain of the resulting inverse mapping. Nevertheless if **m** is moreover a morphism of a diffiety (see Definition 8) then the prolongation procedure ensures the local existence of \mathbf{m}^{-1} in the common sense.

3. Fundamental Concepts

We introduce a somewhat unusual intrinsical approach to underdetermined systems of ordinary differential equations in terms of the above underlying space \mathbf{M} , a submodule $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ of differential 1-forms, and its orthogonal submodule $\mathscr{H} = \Omega^{\perp} \subset \mathscr{T}(\mathbf{M})$ of vector fields.

Definition 4. A codimension one submodule $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ is called a *diffiety* if there exists a *good filtration*

$$\Omega_*: \Omega_0 \subset \Omega_1 \subset \dots \subset \Omega = \cup \Omega_l \tag{22}$$

by finite-dimensional submodules $\Omega_l \subset \Omega$ (l = 0, 1, ...) such that

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}}\Omega_{l} \subset \Omega_{l+1} \quad \text{(all } l),$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}}\Omega_{l} + \Omega_{l} = \Omega_{l+1} \quad (l \text{ large enough}).$$
(23)

To every subset $\Theta \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$, let $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}} \Theta \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ denote the submodule with generators $\mathscr{L}_Z \vartheta$ ($Z \in \mathscr{H}, \vartheta \in \Theta$). Since $\Theta \subset \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}} \Theta$ (easy), the second requirement (23) can be a little formally simplified as $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}} \Omega_l = \Omega_{l+1}$.

Remark 5. This is a global coordinate-free definition; however, we again deal only with the local theory from now on in the sense that the definition domains (of filtrations (22), of independent variable x to follow, and so on) are not specified. It should be noted on this occasion that the common geometrical approach [6-8] to differential equations rests on the use of the rigid structure of finite-order jets. Many classical concepts then become incorrect, if the higher-order mappings are allowed but we cannot adequately discuss this important topic here. Rather subtle difficulties are also passed over already in the common approach to the fundamental jet theory. For instance, smooth curves in the plane \mathbb{R}^2 with coordinates *x*, *y* are parametrized either by *x* (i.e., y = y(x)) or by coordinate y (i.e., x = x(y)) in the common so-called "geometrical" approach [6-8]. However, then already the Lie's classical achievements concerning contact transformations [10, 11] with curves parametrized either by p = dy/dx or by q = dx/dy cannot be involved. Quite analogously, the "higher-order" parameterizations and mappings [2-5] are in fact rejected in the common "rigid" jet theory with a mere point symmetries.

Definition 6. Let a differential $dx \ (x \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M}))$ generate together with Ω the total module $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$ of all differential 1forms. Then *x* is called the *independent variable* to diffiety Ω . The vector field $D = D_x$ (abbreviation) such that

$$D \in \mathcal{H}, \quad Dx = dx (D) = 1$$

$$\left(\text{symbolically } D = \frac{\partial}{\partial dx} + \sum_{\omega \in \Omega} 0 \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \omega} \right)$$
(24)

is called *total* (or *formal*) *derivative* of Ω with respect to the independent variable x. This vector field D is a basis of the one-dimensional module $\mathscr{H} = \Omega^{\perp}$ for every fixed particular choice of the independent variable x.

Remark 7. Let us state some simple properties of difficties. The proofs are quite easy and may be omitted. A form $\varphi \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ is lying in Ω if and only if $\varphi(D) = 0$. In particular $\mathscr{L}_D\Omega \subset \Omega$ in accordance with the identities

$$\mathcal{L}_{D}\omega = D \rfloor d\omega + d\omega (D) = D \rfloor d\omega,$$
$$(\mathcal{L}_{D}\omega) (D) = d\omega (D, D) = 0 \qquad (25)$$
$$(\omega \in \Omega).$$

(This *trivial* property clarifies the *more restrictive* condition (23).) Moreover clearly

$$Dfdg - Dgdf, \quad df - Dfdx \in \Omega$$

$$(f, g \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M}))$$
(26)

and in particular

$$Dh^{i}dh^{j} - Dh^{j}dh^{i}, \quad dh^{i} - Dh^{i}dx \in \Omega$$

$$(i, j = 1, 2, ...)$$
(27)

for all coordinates. We have very useful $\mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})$ -generators of diffiety Ω . The independent variable and the filtrations (22) can be capriciously modified. In particular the *c*-lift [9]

$$\Omega_{*+c} = \widetilde{\Omega}_* : \widetilde{\Omega}_0 \subset \widetilde{\Omega}_1 \subset \dots \subset \Omega = \bigcup \widetilde{\Omega}_l$$

$$\left(\widetilde{\Omega}_l = \Omega_{l+c}, c = 0, 1, \dots\right)$$
(28)

with *c* large enough ensures that $\widetilde{\Omega}_{l+1} = \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}}\widetilde{\Omega}_l + \widetilde{\Omega}_l$ for all $l \ge 0$. We will be, however, interested just in the reverse concept " Ω_{*-c} " latently involved in the "standard adaptation" of filtrations to appear later on.

Definition 8. A transformation $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ is called a morphism of the diffiety Ω if $\mathbf{m}^*\Omega \subset \Omega$. Invertible morphisms are automorphisms (or symmetries) of Ω . A vector field $Z \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ satisfying $\mathcal{L}_Z\Omega \subset \Omega$ is called the variation of Ω . If moreover Z (locally) generates a one-parameter group of transformations, we speak of the infinitesimal symmetry Z of diffiety Ω .

Remark 9. Let us mention the transformation groups in more detail. A local one-parameter group of transformations $\mathbf{m}(\lambda) : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ is given by certain formulae

$$\mathbf{m}(\lambda)^* h^i = H^i \left(h^1, \dots, h^{m(i)}; \lambda \right) \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots; -\varepsilon < \lambda < \varepsilon)$$
(29)

in terms of local coordinates, where $\mathbf{m}(\lambda + \mu) = \mathbf{m}(\lambda)\mathbf{m}(\mu)$, $\mathbf{m}(0) = id$ is supposed. Then the special vector field (15) defined by

$$z^{i} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \mathbf{m}(\lambda)^{*} h^{i} \Big|_{\lambda=0} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} H^{i} \left(h^{1}, \dots, h^{m(i)}; 0 \right)$$

$$(i = 1, 2, \dots)$$
(30)

is called the *infinitesimal transformation* of the group (29). In the opposite direction, we recall that a general vector field (15) generates the local group (29) if and only if the *Lie system*

$$\frac{\partial H^{i}}{\partial \lambda} = z^{i} \left(H^{1}, \dots, H^{n(i)} \right), \qquad H^{i} \left(h^{1}, \dots, h^{m(i)}; 0 \right) = h^{i}$$

$$(i = 1, 2, \dots)$$
(31)

is satisfied. Alas, a given vector field (19) *need not* in general generate any transformation group since the Lie system need not admit any solution (29).

With all fundamental concepts available, let us eventually recall the familiar and thoroughly discussed in [9] interrelation between the difficties and the corresponding classical concept of differential equations for the convenience of reader. In brief terms, the idea is quite simple. A given system of differential equations is represented by a system of Pfaffian equations $\omega = 0$ and the module Ω generated by such 1-forms ω is just the diffiety. More precisely, we deal with the infinite prolongations as follows.

In one direction, let a system of underdetermined ordinary differential equations be given. We may deal with the first-order system

$$\frac{dw^{j}}{dx} = f^{j}\left(x, w^{1}, \dots, w^{m}, \frac{dw^{j+1}}{dx}, \dots, \frac{dw^{m}}{dx}\right)$$

$$(j = 1, \dots, J)$$
(32)

without any true loss of generality. Then (32) completed with

$$\frac{dw_s^k}{dx} = w_{s+1}^k \quad \left(w_0^k = w^k; k = J+1, \dots, m; s = 0, 1, \dots\right)$$
(33)

provides the infinite prolongation. The corresponding diffiety Ω is generated by the forms

$$dw^{j} - f^{j}dx, \qquad dw^{k}_{s} - w^{k}_{s+1}dx$$

$$(j = 1, \dots, J; k = J + 1, \dots, m; s = 0, 1, \dots)$$
(34)

in the space **M** with coordinates

$$w^{j} \quad (j = 1, ..., J),$$

$$(k = J + 1, ..., m; s = 0, 1, ...; w_{0}^{k} = w^{k}).$$
(35)

Clearly

 w^k_{c}

$$D_{x} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum f^{j} \frac{\partial}{\partial w^{j}} + \sum w_{s+1}^{k} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_{s}^{k}} \in \mathscr{H}$$
(36)

is the total derivative and the submodules $\Omega_l \subset \Omega$ of all forms (34) with $s \leq l$ determine a quite simple filtration (22) with respect to the order of contact forms. (Hint: use the formulae

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\left(dw^{j}-f^{j}dx\right)$$
$$=\sum\frac{\partial f^{j}}{\partial w^{j}}\left(dw^{j}-f^{j}dx\right)+\sum\frac{\partial f^{j}}{\partial w_{1}^{j}}\left(dw_{1}^{j}-w_{2}^{j}dx\right)$$
(37)

and $\mathscr{L}_D(dw_s^j - w_{s+1}^j dx) = dw_{s+1}^j - w_{s+2}^j dx$.) However, there exist many other and more useful filtrations; see the examples to follow later on.

The particular case J = 0 of the empty system (32) can be easily related to the case of the jet space $\mathbf{M}(m)$ of all *x*parametrized curves in \mathbb{R}^{m+1} of the Section 1. The relevant diffiety is identified with the module $\Omega(m)$ of all contact forms (11), of course.

In the reverse direction, let a diffiety Ω be given on the space **M**. In accordance with (27), the forms $dh^i - Dh^i dx$ (i = 1, 2, ...) generate Ω . So we have the Pfaffian system $dh^i - Dh^i dx = 0$ (i = 1, 2, ...) and therefore the system of differential equations

$$\frac{dh^{i}}{dx} = g^{i}\left(x, h^{1}, \dots, h^{m(i)}\right) \quad \left(i = 1, 2, \dots; g^{i} = Dh^{i}\right) \quad (38)$$

of rather unpleasant kind. Then, due to the existence of a filtration (22) and (23), one can obtain also the above classical system of differential equations (32) together with the prolongation (33) by means of appropriate change of coordinates [9]. This is, however, a lengthy procedure and a shorter approach can be described as follows. Let the second requirement (23) be satisfied, if $l \ge L$. Suppose that the forms $\omega^j = \sum a_i^j dh^i$ $(j = 1, \ldots, J = \dim \Omega_L)$ generate module Ω_L . Then all forms

$$\mathscr{L}_D^k \omega^j \quad (j = 1, \dots, J; k = 0, 1, \dots) \tag{39}$$

generate the diffiety Ω . The corresponding Pfaffian system $\mathscr{L}_D^k \omega^j = 0$ is equivalent to certain infinite prolongation of differential equations, namely,

$$\omega^{j} = \sum a_{i}^{j} dh^{i} = 0 \text{ is equivalent to } \sum a_{i}^{j} \frac{dh^{i}}{dx} = 0,$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{D} \omega^{j} = \sum D a_{i}^{j} dh^{i} + \sum a_{i}^{j} dDh^{i} \qquad (40)$$

$$= 0 \text{ is equivalent to } \frac{d}{dx} \sum a_{i}^{j} \frac{dh^{i}}{dx} = 0$$

(direct verification), and in general

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}^{k}\omega^{j} = \sum D^{k}a_{i}^{j}dh^{i} + \dots + \sum a_{i}^{j}dD^{k}h^{i}$$

= 0 is equivalent to $\frac{d^{k}}{dx^{k}}\sum a_{i}^{j}\frac{dh^{i}}{dx} = 0.$ (41)

We have the infinite prolongation of the classical system $\sum a_i^j dh^i/dx = 0$ (j = 1, ..., J) and this is just the system that corresponds to diffiety Ω .

Altogether taken, differential equations uniquely determine the corresponding diffieties; however, a given diffiety leads to many rather dissimilar but equivalent systems of differential equations with regard to the additional choice of dependent and independent variables.

Remark 10. Definitions 4–8 make good sense even if **M** is a finite-dimensional manifold and then provide the wellknown intrinsical approach to determined systems of differential equations. They are identified with vector fields (better, fields of directions) in the finite-dimensional space **M**. Choosing a certain independent variable *x*, the equations are represented by the vector field D_x or, more visually, by the corresponding D_x -flow. The general theory becomes trivial; we may, for example, choose $\Omega_l = \Omega$ for all *l* in filtration (22).

4. On the Structure of Diffieties

Definition 11. To every submodule $\Theta \subset \Omega$ of a diffiety $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$, let Ker $\Theta \subset \Theta$ be the submodule of all $\vartheta \in \Theta$ such that $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}} \vartheta \in \Theta$. Filtration (22) and (23) is called a *standard* one, if

$$\operatorname{Ker} \Omega_{l+1} = \Omega_l \quad (l \ge 0),$$

$$\operatorname{Ker}^2 \Omega_0 = \operatorname{Ker} \Omega_0 \neq \Omega_0.$$
(42)

For every $\omega \in \Omega$, the first condition ensures that the inclusions $\omega \in \Omega_l$, $\mathscr{L}_D \omega \in \Omega_{l+1}$ are equivalent and the second condition ensures that $\mathscr{L}_D \omega \in \Omega_0$ implies $\mathscr{L}_D^2 \omega \in \Omega_0$.

Theorem 12. Appropriate adaptation of some lower-order terms of a given filtration (22) and (23) provides a standard filtration in a unique manner [9]. Equivalently and in more detail, there exists unique standard filtration $\overline{\Omega}_* : \overline{\Omega}_0 \subset \overline{\Omega}_1 \subset$ $\dots \subset \Omega = \bigcup \overline{\Omega}_l$ such that $\Omega_l = \overline{\Omega}_{l+c}$ for appropriate $c \in \mathbb{N}$ and all l large enough. Equivalently and briefly, there exists unique



FIGURE 1

standard filtration $\overline{\Omega}_*$ such that $\Omega_{*+c'} = \overline{\Omega}_{*+c''}$ for appropriate $c', c'' \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. The mapping $\mathscr{L}_D : \Omega_l \to \Omega_{l+1}$ naturally induces certain $\mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})$ -homomorphism

$$D: \Omega_l / \Omega_{l-1} \longrightarrow \Omega_{l+1} / \Omega_l \quad (l \ge 0, \text{ formally } \Omega_{-1} = 0)$$
(43)

of factor modules denoted by *D* for better clarity. Homomorphisms *D* are surjective and therefore even bijective for all *l* large enough, say for $l \ge L$. However, the injectivity of *D* implies Ker $\Omega_l = \Omega_{l-1}$ ($l \ge L$). It follows that we have *strongly decreasing* sequence

$$\dots \supset \Omega_{L} (= \operatorname{Ker} \Omega_{L+1}) \supset \Omega_{L-1} (= \operatorname{Ker} \Omega_{L})$$

$$\supset \operatorname{Ker} \Omega_{L-1} \supset \operatorname{Ker}^{2} \Omega_{L-1} \supset \dots,$$
(44)

which necessarily terminates with the stationarity $\text{Ker}^{C}\Omega_{L-1} = \text{Ker}^{C+1} \Omega_{L-1}$. Denoting

$$\overline{\Omega}_{0} = \operatorname{Ker}^{C-1}\Omega_{L-1}, \dots,$$

$$\overline{\Omega}_{C-1} = \operatorname{Ker}\Omega_{L-1}, \quad \overline{\Omega}_{C} = \Omega_{L-1}, \quad \overline{\Omega}_{C+1} = \Omega_{L}, \dots,$$
(45)

we have the sought strongly increasing standard filtration

$$\overline{\Omega}_{*}: \overline{\Omega}_{0} \subset \overline{\Omega}_{1} \subset \dots \subset \overline{\Omega}_{C} (= \Omega_{L-1})$$

$$\subset \overline{\Omega}_{C+1} (= \Omega_{L}) \subset \dots \subset \Omega = \cup \overline{\Omega}_{l}$$

$$(46)$$

of diffiety Ω . In particular $\operatorname{Ker}^2 \overline{\Omega}_0 = \operatorname{Ker}^{C+1} \Omega_{L-1} = \operatorname{Ker}^C \Omega_{L-1} = \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0$. \Box

Proof of Theorem 12 was of the algorithmical nature and provides a useful *standard basis* of diffiety Ω as follows. Assume that the forms

$$\tau^1, \dots, \tau^K \in \overline{\Omega}_0 \tag{47}$$

provide a basis of the submodule $\operatorname{Ker} \Omega_0 \subset \Omega_0$

(recall that $\operatorname{Ker}^2\overline{\Omega}_0 = \operatorname{Ker}\overline{\Omega}_0$ whence $\mathscr{L}_D \operatorname{Ker}\overline{\Omega}_0 \subset \operatorname{Ker}\overline{\Omega}_0$) and moreover the classes of forms

$$\pi^1, \dots, \pi^{j_0} \in \overline{\Omega}_0 \text{ provide a basis of } \overline{\Omega}_0 / \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0$$
 (48)

(recall that $D: \overline{\Omega}_0 / \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0 \to \overline{\Omega}_1 / \overline{\Omega}_0$ is injective mapping), the classes of forms

$$\pi^{j_0+1}, \dots, \pi^{j_1} \in \overline{\Omega}_1$$
provide a basis of $\overline{\Omega}_1 / \left(\overline{\Omega}_0 + \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}} \overline{\Omega}_0\right)$
(49)

(recall that $D: \overline{\Omega}_1/\overline{\Omega}_0 \to \overline{\Omega}_2/\overline{\Omega}_1$ is injective mapping), and in general the classes of forms

$$\pi^{j_{l-1}+1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{l}} \in \overline{\Omega}_{l}$$
provide a basis of $\overline{\Omega}_{l} / \left(\overline{\Omega}_{l-1} + \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{H}} \overline{\Omega}_{l-1} \right).$
(50)

Alternatively saying, the following forms constitute a basis:

$$\tau^{1}, \dots, \tau^{K} \text{ of } \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_{0},$$

together with $\pi^{1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{0}}$ of $\overline{\Omega}_{0},$
together with $\mathscr{L}_{D}\pi^{1}, \dots, \mathscr{L}_{D}\pi^{j_{0}}, \pi^{j_{0}+1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{1}}$ of $\overline{\Omega}_{1},$
together with $\mathscr{L}_{D}^{2}\pi^{1}, \dots, \mathscr{L}_{D}^{2}\pi^{j_{0}}, \mathscr{L}_{D}\pi^{j_{0}+1}, \dots, \mathscr{L}_{D}\pi^{j_{1}},$
 $\pi^{j_{1}+1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{2}}$ of $\overline{\Omega}_{2},$
(51)

and so on. Let us denote

$$\pi_{r}^{j} = \mathscr{L}_{D}^{r} \pi^{j} \quad \left(j = j_{l-1} + 1, \dots, j_{l} \right).$$
 (52)

In terms of this notation

 $\tau^{1}, \dots, \tau^{K} \text{ is a basis of } \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_{0} \text{ and together with the forms}$ $\tau^{1}, \dots, \tau^{K},$ $\pi^{1}_{0}, \dots, \pi^{j_{0}}_{0}, \quad \pi^{1}_{1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{0}}_{1}, \dots, \quad \pi^{1}_{l}, \dots, \pi^{j_{0}}_{l},$ $\pi^{j_{0}+1}_{0}, \dots, \pi^{j_{1}}_{0}, \dots, \quad \pi^{j_{l-1}+1}_{l-1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{l}}_{l},$ \dots $\pi^{j_{l-1}+1}_{0}, \dots, \pi^{j_{l}}_{0}, \qquad (53)$ Clearly $j_L = j_{L+1} = \cdots$ and it follows that there is only a finite number $\mu(\Omega) = j_L$ of *initial forms*

$$\pi^{1} = \pi_{0}^{1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{0}} = \pi_{0}^{j_{0}}, \pi^{j_{0}+1} = \pi_{0}^{j_{0}+1},$$

$$\dots, \pi^{j_{L-1}+1} = \pi_{0}^{j_{L-1}+1}, \dots, \pi^{j_{L}} = \pi_{0}^{j_{L}}$$
(54)

with the lower zero indice. The following forms π_r^j (r > 0) satisfy the recurrence and the (equivalent) congruence

$$\mathscr{L}_D \pi_r^j = \pi_{r+1}^j, \quad d\pi_r^j \cong dx \wedge \pi_{r+1}^j \pmod{\Omega \wedge \Omega}.$$
(55)

In this sense, the linearly independent forms π_r^j are generalizations of the classical contact forms $\omega_r^j = d\omega_r^j - \omega_{r+1}^j dx$ of the jet theory.

Theorem 13. Let $\overline{\Omega}_*$ be a standard filtration of diffiety Ω . Then the submodule Ker $\overline{\Omega}_0 \subset \Omega$ is generated by all differentials $df \in \Omega$.

Proof. First assume $df \in \Omega$. Then Df = df(D) = 0 whence $\mathscr{L}_D df = dDf = 0$. Clearly $df \in \overline{\Omega}_l$ for appropriate *l*. This implies $df \in \text{Ker }\overline{\Omega}_{l-1}$, if $l \ge 0$ therefore $df \in \text{Ker }\overline{\Omega}_0$. It follows that $\text{Ker }\overline{\Omega}_0$ contains all differentials $df \in \Omega$.

Conversely let $\tau \in \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0$. Due to the equality $\operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0 = \operatorname{Ker}^2 \Omega_0$, we have $\mathscr{L}_D \tau \in \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0$ whence $d\tau \cong dx \wedge \mathscr{L}_D \tau \pmod{\Omega \wedge \Omega}$, consequently

$$d\tau \cong \sum a_{rs}^{ji} \pi_r^j \wedge \pi_s^i \quad \left(\mod \operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0, \operatorname{sum} \operatorname{over} i \le j \right).$$
(56)

It follows that $a_{rs}^{ji} = 0$ identically by using $d(d\tau) = 0$ and (55). (Hint: look at assumed top order product $\pi_R^j \wedge \pi_s^i$ where $R \ge \operatorname{all} r$. Then $d^2\tau$ involves only one summand with $dx \wedge \pi_{R+1}^j \wedge \pi_s^i$ which is impossible since $d^2 = 0$.) Therefore $d(\operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0) \cong 0 \pmod{\operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0}$ and the Frobenius theorem can be applied. Module $\operatorname{Ker} \overline{\Omega}_0$ has a basis consisting of total differentials.

Definition 14. We may denote $\mathscr{R}(\Omega) = \text{Ker }\overline{\Omega}_0$ since this module does not depend on the choice of the filtration (22). Together with the original basis τ^1, \ldots, τ^K occurring in (53), there exists alternative basis dt^1, \ldots, dt^K with differentials. In the particular case $\mathscr{R}(\Omega) = 0$, hence, K = 0, we speak of a *controllable* diffiety Ω .

Remark 15. The controllability is a familiar concept of the theory of underdetermined ordinary differential equations or Pfaffian systems in finite-dimensional spaces [12]; however, some aspects due to diffieties are worth mentioning here. If $\Re(\Omega) \neq 0$ is a nontrivial module, the underlying space **M** is fibered by the leaves $t^k = c^k \in \mathbb{R}$ (k = 1, ..., K) depending on K > 0 parameters. A curve $\mathbf{p} : \mathbf{I} \to \mathbf{M}$ $(\mathbf{I} \subset \mathbb{R})$ is called a *solution* of diffiety Ω , if $\mathbf{p}^* \omega = 0$ ($\omega \in \Omega$). Since $dt^k \in \Re(\Omega) \subset \Omega$, we have

$$\mathbf{p}^{*}dt^{k} = d\mathbf{p}^{*}t^{k} = 0, \qquad \mathbf{p}^{*}t^{k} = c^{k} \in \mathbb{R}$$

$$(k = 1, \dots, K), \qquad (57)$$

we have the *standard basis* of $\overline{\Omega}_l$.



therefore every solution of diffiety Ω is contained in a certain leaf (the Figure 2(a)).

In the controllable case, such foliation of the space M does not exist. However, the construction of the standard filtration need not be of the "universal nature." There may exist some "exceptional points" where the terms π_r^i of the standard basis are not independent. We may even obtain a solution **p** consisting of such exceptional points and then there appears the "infinitesimal leaf" of the noncontrollability along **p** which means that **p** is a *Mayer extremal* (the Figure 2(b)). We refer to article [13] inspired by the beautiful paper [14]. In the present paper, such exceptional points are tacitly excluded. They produce singularities of the symmetry groups and deserve a special, not yet available approach. It should be noted that the noncontrollable case also causes some technical difficulties. We may however suppose $\Re(\Omega) = 0$ without much loss of generality since the noncontrollable diffiety can be restricted to a leaf and regarded as a diffiety depending on parameters c^1, \ldots, c^K .

Theorem 16. The total number $\mu(\Omega)$ of initial forms does not depend on the choice of the good filtration (22).

Proof. Filtration (22) differs from the standard filtration $\overline{\Omega}_*$ only in lower terms whence

$$\dim \Omega_l = \dim \Omega_l + \text{const.} = \mu(\Omega) l + \text{const.}$$
(1)
(58)
(1)
(1)
(58)

Let another filtration $\widetilde{\Omega}_*$: $\widetilde{\Omega}_0 \subset \widetilde{\Omega}_1 \subset \cdots \subset \Omega = \bigcup \widetilde{\Omega}_l$ of diffiety Ω provide (corresponding standard filtration and therefore) certain number $\widetilde{\mu}(\Omega)$ of (other) initial forms. Then

$$\dim \Omega_l = \dim \overline{\Omega}_l + \text{const.} = \widetilde{\mu}(\Omega) \, l + \text{const.}$$
(1)
$$(l \text{ large enough}).$$
(59)



However $\Omega_l \subset \widetilde{\Omega}_{L(l)} \subset \Omega_{M(l)}$ for appropriate L(l) and M(l) whence

 $\Omega_{l+k} \in \widetilde{\Omega}_{L(l)+k} \in \Omega_{M(l)+k} \quad (l, k \text{ large enough})$ (60)

by using (23) and the equality $\mu(\Omega) = \tilde{\mu}(\Omega)$ easily follows.

5. On the Morphisms and Variations

A huge literature on the point symmetries (scheme (a) of Figure 3, the order of derivatives is preserved) of differential equations is available. On the contrary, we can mention only a few fundamental principles for the generalized (or higherorder) symmetries (scheme (c) of Figure 3) since the general theory deserves quite another paper. Our modest aim is to clarify a little the mechanisms of the particular examples to follow. We will also deal with *generalized* (or *higher-order*) groups of symmetries and the relevant generalized infinitesimal symmetries (scheme (b) Figure 3) with ambiguous higherorder invariant subspaces (the dotted lines). Figure 3 should be therefore regarded as a rough description of the topics to follow and we also refer to Section 9 for more transparent details. The main difficulty of the higher-order theory lies in the fact that the dotted domains are not known in advance. Modules Ω_l represent the "natural" filtration with respect to the primary order of contact forms in the ambient jet space, see the examples. They depend on the accidental inclusion $\mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(m)$ mentioned in Section 1 and do not have any true geometrical sense in the internal approach. It is to be therefore surprisingly observed that the seemingly "exotic" at the first glance concept of higher-order transformations of Section 1 should be regarded for reasonable and the only possible in the coordinate free theory. On the other hand, an important distinction between the group-like morphisms with large number of finite-dimensional invariant subspaces (scheme (a) and (b)) and the genuine order-destroying morphisms without such subspaces (scheme (c)) is of the highest importance.

We are passing to rigorous exposition. Let us recall the diffiety $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ on the space \mathbf{M} , the independent variable $x \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})$ with the corresponding vector field $D = D_x \in \Omega^{\perp} = \mathscr{H}$, the controllability submodule $\mathscr{R}(\Omega) \subset \Omega$ with the basis dt^1, \ldots, dt^K , and a standard basis π_r^j ($j = 1, \ldots, \mu(\Omega); r = 0, 1, \ldots$) of diffiety Ω .

Let us begin with morphisms.

Lemma 17. If $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ is a morphism of Ω then $\mathbf{m}^* \mathscr{R}(\Omega) \subset \mathscr{R}(\Omega)$ and the recurrence

$$DW\mathbf{m}^*\pi_{r+1}^j \cong \mathscr{L}_D\mathbf{m}^*\pi_r^j$$

$$(W = \mathbf{m}^*x; j = 1, \dots, \mu(\Omega); r = 0, 1, \dots)$$
(61)

modulo $\mathscr{R}(\Omega)$ holds true.

Proof. If **m** is a morphism then $\mathbf{m}^* \Omega \subset \Omega$ therefore $\mathbf{m}^* \mathscr{R}(\Omega) \subset \mathscr{R}(\Omega)$ (use Theorem 13) and $\mathbf{m}^* \pi_r^j \cong \sum a_{rs}^{ji} \pi_s^i \pmod{\mathscr{R}(\Omega)}$. It follows that

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} d\pi_{r}^{j} \cong \mathbf{m}^{*} \left(dx \wedge \pi_{r+1}^{j} \right) \cong DW dx \wedge \mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{r+1}^{j},$$

$$d\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{r}^{j} \cong d \sum a_{rs}^{ji} \pi_{s}^{i}$$

$$\cong \sum Da_{rs}^{ji} dx \wedge \pi_{s}^{i}$$

$$+ \sum a_{rs}^{ji} dx \wedge \pi_{s+1}^{i} \cong dx \wedge \mathscr{L}_{D} \mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{r}^{j}$$
(62)

modulo $\mathscr{R}(\Omega)$ and $\Omega \wedge \Omega$. This implies (61) by comparing both factors of dx.

Remark 18. On this occasion, the following useful principles of calculation are worth mentioning:

if
$$\alpha, \beta \in \Omega$$
 satisfy $d\alpha \cong dx \wedge \beta \pmod{\Omega \wedge \Omega}$
then $DW\mathbf{m}^*\beta = \mathscr{L}_D\mathbf{m}^*\alpha$, (63)

if $u, v \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$, $du - vdx \in \Omega$ then $DW\mathbf{m}^*v = D\mathbf{m}^*u$, (64)

and in general

$$\mathbf{m}^* D f \cdot D \mathbf{m}^* g = \mathbf{m}^* D g \cdot D \mathbf{m}^* f \quad (f, g \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})).$$
(65)

In terms of notation (21), we conclude that $\mathbf{m}_* D_{\mathbf{P}} = DW(\mathbf{P}) \cdot D_{\mathbf{O}}$ and therefore

$$\mathbf{m}_*\left(\frac{1}{DW}D\right) = D \quad \left(W = \mathbf{m}^*x\right),\tag{66}$$

if the morphism **m** of diffiety Ω is invertible.

Let us turn to invertible morphisms.

Lemma 19. The inverse of a morphism m again is a morphism.

Proof. Assume $\omega \in \Omega$, $\mathbf{m}^{-1*} \omega \cong fdx \pmod{\Omega}$. Then

$$\omega = \mathbf{m}^* \mathbf{m}^{-1^*} \omega \cong \mathbf{m}^* (f dx) = \mathbf{m}^* f \cdot dW \in \Omega, \quad (67)$$

where $dW = d\mathbf{m}^* x = \mathbf{m}^* dx \neq 0$. Hence $\mathbf{m}^* f = 0$, f = 0and therefore $\mathbf{m}^{-1*} \Omega \subset \Omega$. We have $\mathbf{m}^* \Omega \subset \Omega$ if $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ is a morphism and moreover $\mathbf{m}^{-1*} \Omega \subset \Omega$ hence $\Omega^* \subset \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$ in the invertible case. The converse and rather useful assertion is as follows.

Theorem 20. A morphism **m** of diffiety Ω is invertible if and only if $\mathbf{m}^* \Omega = \Omega$.

This may be obtained easily from the following result.

Lemma 21. Let $\mathbf{m}^* \mathscr{R}(\Omega) = \mathscr{R}(\Omega)$ and $\pi_0^j \in \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$ $(j = 1, ..., \mu(\Omega))$. Then **m** is invertible.

Proof. Proof of the Lemma 21 is analogous as in [2, Theorem 2] and we briefly recall only the main principles here. It is sufficient to prove the invertibility of $\mathbf{m}^* : \Omega \to \Omega$.

Assuming $\pi_r^j \in \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$ then $\pi_{r+1}^j = \mathscr{L}_D \pi_r^j \in \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$ by virtue of recurrence (61). It follows that $\Omega \subset \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$ and \mathbf{m}^* is surjective. We prove that $\mathbf{m}^* : \Omega \to \Omega$ is even injectivity by using the well-known algebraical interrelation between filtrations and gradations.

Let us introduce filtrations Ω_* ($\overline{\Omega}_*$, resp.) as follows: the submodule $\Omega_l \subset \Omega$ ($\overline{\Omega}_l \subset \Omega$) is generated by $\mathscr{R}(\Omega)$ and all forms π_r^j ($\mathbf{m}^* \pi_r^j$) where $r \leq l$. We also introduce the gradations

$$\mathcal{M} = \oplus \mathcal{M}_{l} \quad \left(\mathcal{M}_{l} = \Omega_{l} / \Omega_{l-1}\right),$$
$$\overline{\mathcal{M}} = \oplus \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{l} \quad \left(\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{l} = \overline{\Omega}_{l} / \overline{\Omega}_{l-1}\right) \qquad (68)$$
$$(l = 0, 1, \ldots)$$

(formally $\Omega_{-1} = \overline{\Omega}_{-1} = 0$). It follows that the naturally induced mapping $\mathbf{m}^* : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ is surjective and *it is sufficient to prove that this induced* \mathbf{m}^* *is also injective.*

We are passing to the most delicate part of the proof. The surjectivity of $\mathbf{m}^* : \Omega \to \Omega$ implies that $\Omega_0 \subset \overline{\Omega}_L$ for *L* large enough. Therefore $\Omega_l \subset \overline{\Omega}_{L+l}$ by applying the recursion (61) which implies

$$\dim \Omega_{l} = \mu(\Omega) l + \text{const.} \leq \dim \overline{\Omega}_{L+l}$$

$$(\mu(\Omega) = \dim \mathcal{M}_{l}; l = 0, 1, ...).$$
(69)

On the other hand, assume the noninjectivity therefore the existence of a nontrivial identity

$$0 = \sum a_r^i \mathbf{m}^* \pi_r^i = \dots + \sum a_R^i \mathbf{m}^* \pi_R^i \quad \text{(top-order terms)}.$$
(70)

Then $0 = \dots + (DW)^{-l} \sum a_R^i \mathbf{m}^* \pi_{R+l}^i$ $(l = 0, 1, \dots)$ by applying operator \mathcal{L}_D and recurrence (61). Due to the existence of such identities, it follows that

$$\dim \overline{\mathcal{M}}_{l} < \dim \mathcal{M}_{l} = \mu(\Omega),$$

$$\dim \overline{\Omega}_{L+l} \le (\mu(\Omega) - 1)l + \text{const.}$$
(71)

and this is a contradiction.

Remark 22. Recall that if $\mathbf{m} : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbf{M}$ is a mapping and $\Omega \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ a submodule, then $\mathbf{m}^*\Omega \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ denotes the *submodule* with generators $\mathbf{m}^*\omega$ ($\omega \in \Omega$) in accordance with the common practice in the algebraical module theory. Let in particular Ω be a diffiety and assume $\mathscr{R}(\Omega) = 0$ for simplicity. Then module $\mathbf{m}^*\Omega$ is generated by all forms $\mathbf{m}^*\pi_r^n$ and therefore by all forms $\mathscr{L}_D^r\mathbf{m}^*\pi_0^j$, see Lemma 17. It follows that the invertibility of the morphism \mathbf{m} depends only on the properties of the forms $\mathbf{m}^*\pi_0^j$, see Lemma 21. In this sense, the invertibility problem is reduced to the finite-dimensional reasonings.

We turn to the variations.

Lemma 23. A vector field $Z \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ is a variation of diffiety Ω if and only if

$$\pi_{r+1}^{j}(Z) = D\pi_{r}^{j}(Z) \quad (j = 1, \dots, \mu(\Omega); r = 0, 1, \dots)$$
(72)

and all Zt^k (k = 1, ..., K; fixed k) are functions only of variables $t^1, ..., t^K$.

Proof. We suppose $\mathscr{L}_Z\Omega\subset \Omega$ which is equivalent to the congruences

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z}dt^{k} = dZt^{k} \cong DZt^{k}dx = 0 \pmod{\Omega},$$
$$\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{r}^{j} = Z \rfloor d\pi_{r}^{j} + d\pi_{r}^{j}(Z) \qquad (73)$$
$$\cong \left(-\pi_{r+1}^{j}(Z) + D\pi_{r}^{j}(Z)\right)dx = 0 \pmod{\Omega}$$

by using ((26) and (55)). So we have obtained (72) and moreover identities $DZt^k = 0$ (k = 1, ..., K).

It is sufficient to prove that the latter identities imply $dZt^k = 0 \pmod{dt^1, \ldots, dt^K}$. However, every differential $df \ (f \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M}))$ can be represented as

$$df = Dfdx + \sum f^{k'}dt^{k'} + \sum f^{j}_{r}\pi^{j}_{r}$$
(74)

in terms of the standard basis. Assuming in particular $f = Zt^k$ (fixed k = 1, ..., K), we have already obtained the equation Df = 0 and then identities $f_r^j = 0$ easily follow by applying the common rule d(df) = 0 together with (26). This concludes the proof.

Theorem 24. A variation Z of diffiety Ω is infinitesimal symmetry of Ω if and only if all forms $\mathscr{L}_Z^k \pi_0^j$ (k = 0, 1, ...) are contained in a finite-dimensional module.

We omit lengthy proof and refer to more general results [5, Lemma 5.4, Theorem 5.6, and especially Theorem 11.1]. In future examples, we apply other and quite elementary arguments in order to avoid the nontrivial Theorem 24.

Remark 25. It follows from Lemma 23 that variations *Z* of diffiety Ω can be represented by the universal series

$$Z = \sum c^k \frac{\partial}{\partial dt^k} + z \frac{\partial}{\partial dx} + \sum D^r p^j \frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_r^j}, \qquad (75)$$

where $c^k = c^k (t^1, ..., t^K)$ are arbitrary composed functions and z = Zx, $p^j = \pi_0^j(Z)$ are arbitrary functions in $\mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$. We have explicit formulae for all variations (in common terms, for all Lie-Bäcklund infinitesimal symmetries) of a given system of ordinary differential equations. Recall that these variations Z need not generate any true group, and though the criterion in Theorem 24 is formally simple, it is not easy to be applied. Lemma 17 can be regarded as a counterpart to Lemma 23 since it ensures quite analogous result for the morphism m or, better saying, for the pullback \mathbf{m}^* : $\Phi(\mathbf{M}) \rightarrow \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ of a morphism. In more detail, the quite arbitrary choice of the initial terms $\mathbf{m}^* \pi_0^j$ of recurrence (61) is in principle possible but provides a mere formal result (corresponding to the formal nature of variations Z) and does not ensure the existence of true morphism m. We may refer to articles [2, 3] where the formal part (the *algebra*) is distinguished from the nonformal part (the analysis) in the higher-order algorithms.

We conclude this Section with the only gratifying result [9, point (ν) on page 40].

Theorem 26. The standard filtration is unique in the case $\mu(\Omega) = 1$.

Proof. Let us take a fixed filtration (22) and the corresponding standard filtration (46). Since $\mu(\Omega) = 1$, we have only one initial form π_0^1 and therefore $\tau^1, \ldots, \tau^K, \pi_0^1, \ldots, \pi_l^1$ is a basis of $\overline{\Omega}_l$; see (53). Let us take another standard filtration $\widetilde{\Omega}_*$. Then the module $\widetilde{\Omega}_0$ has certain basis

$$\tau^{1}, \dots, \tau^{K} \quad (\text{common forms}),$$
$$\widehat{\pi}_{0}^{1} = \sum a_{r} \pi_{r}^{1} = \dots + a_{R} \pi_{R}^{1} \quad (a_{R} \neq 0, \text{ top-order term}).$$
(76)

These forms together with all $\tilde{\pi}_s^1 = \mathscr{D}_D^s \tilde{\pi}_0^1 = \cdots + a_R \pi_{R+s}^1$ ($s \ge 0$) generate the module Ω and this is possible only if R = 0. We conclude that $\tilde{\pi}_0^1 = a_R \pi_R^1 = a_0 \pi_0^1$ which implies $\tilde{\Omega}_0 = \overline{\Omega}_0$ hence $\tilde{\Omega}_l = \overline{\Omega}_l$ for all l.

Remark 27. It follows that in the particular case $\mu(\Omega) = 1$, every symmetry and infinitesimal symmetry preserves all terms of the (unique) standard filtration. So we have a large family of finite-dimensional subspaces of the underlying space **M** which are preserved too. *The classical methods acting in finite-dimensional spaces uniquely determined in advance can be applied and are quite sufficient in this case* $\mu(\Omega) = 1$.

Remark 28. In more generality, one could also consider two diffieties Ω and $\widetilde{\Omega}$ on the underlying spaces **M** and $\widetilde{\mathbf{M}}$, respectively. Though we do not deal with the *isomorphism* problems of two diffieties Ω and $\widetilde{\Omega}$ here, let us mention that such *isomorphism* is defined as invertible mapping $\mathbf{m} : \widetilde{\mathbf{M}} \to \mathbf{M}$ of underlying spaces satisfying $\mathbf{m}^*\Omega = \widetilde{\Omega}$. Quite equivalent "absolute equivalence" problem was introduced in [15] and resolved just for the case $\mu(\Omega) = \mu(\widetilde{\Omega}) = 1$ (in our terminology) by using finite-dimensional methods. We have discovered alternative approach here: the isomorphism **m** identifies the *unique* standard filtrations of Ω and of $\overline{\Omega}$. On this occasion, it is worth mentioning Cartan's pessimistic notice (rather unusual in his work) to the case $\mu(\Omega) >$ 1 : "Je dois ajourter que la géneralization de la théorie de l'equivalence absolu aux systémes differentiels dont la solution générale dépend de deux functions arbitraires d'un argument n'est pas immédiate et souléve d'asses grosses difficultiés." The same notice can be literally repeated also for the theory of the higher-order symmetries treated in this paper.

6. The Order-Preserving Case of Infinitesimal Symmetries

We are passing to the first example which intentionally concerns the well-known "towering" problem in order to examine our method reliably. Let us deal with infinitesimal symmetries of differential equation

$$\frac{d^2u}{dx^2} = F\left(\frac{dv}{dx}\right) \tag{77}$$

involving two unknown functions u = u(x) and v = v(x). In external theory, (77) is identified with the subspace $\mathbf{i} : \mathbf{M} \subset \mathbf{M}(2)$ defined by the conditions

$$D^{r}(u_{2}-F) = u_{r+2} - D^{r}F(v_{1}) = 0$$

$$\left(r = 0, 1, \dots; D = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum u_{r+1}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_{r}} + \sum v_{r+1}\frac{\partial}{\partial v_{r}}\right)$$
(78)

in the jet space M(2). We use simplified notation of coordinates and contact forms

$$u_r = w_r^1, \quad v_r = w_r^2, \quad \alpha_r = \omega_r^1, \quad \beta_r = \omega_r^2$$

(79)
 $(r = 0, 1, ...)$

here. We are, however, interested in internal theory, that is, in the diffiety Ω corresponding to (77). Diffiety Ω appears if the contact forms

$$\alpha_r = du_r - u_{r+1}dx, \quad \beta_r = dv_r - v_{r+1}dx$$
(80)
$$(r = 0, 1, ...)$$

are restricted to the subspace $i : M \in M(2)$. In accordance with the common practice, let us again simplify as

$$u_r = \mathbf{i}^* u_r, \quad v_r = \mathbf{i}^* v_r, \quad \alpha_r = \mathbf{i}^* \alpha_r, \quad \beta_r = \mathbf{i}^* \beta_r$$
(81)

the notation of the restrictions to \mathbf{M} , and moreover D will be regarded as a vector field on \mathbf{M} from now on.

Let us outline the lengthy path of future reasonings for the convenience of reader. We begin with preparatory points $(\iota)-(\iota\iota)$. The underlying space **M** together with the diffiety Ω is introduced and the standard basis $\pi_0, \pi_1, \ldots, (\mu(\Omega) =$ 1, abbreviation $\pi_r = \pi_r^1$) of diffiety Ω is determined. The standard basis is related to the "common" basis of Ω by means of formulae (93). We obtain explicit representation (99) for the variations Z with two arbitrary functions z = Zx and $p = \pi_0(Z)$ as the final result. Variations Z generating the true group (i.e., the *infinitesimal symmetries* Z of Ω) satisfy certain strong conditions discovered in points ($\iota\nu$) and (ν). The conditions are expressed by the *resolving system* (107) and (108) or, alternatively, by (112)–(114) only in terms of the functions p, Dp, D^2p , and D^3p . This rather complicated resolving system which does not provide any clear insight is equivalent to much simpler *crucial requirements* (121) or (125) on the actual structure of function p; see the central points (ν)–(ν uu). Then the subsequent points are devoted to the explicit solution of these equations (125). This is a mere technical task of traditional mathematical analysis and we omit comments at this place.

(*i*) *The diffiety.* Let us introduce space **M** equipped with coordinates x, u_0, u_1, v_r (r = 0, 1, ...). Then

$$u_{r+2} = D'F(v_1)$$

$$\left(r = 0, 1, \dots; D = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_1\frac{\partial}{\partial u_0} + F\frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + \sum v_{r+1}\frac{\partial}{\partial v_r}\right)$$
(82)

are merely composed functions. The forms

$$\alpha_{0} = du_{0} - u_{1}dx, \qquad \alpha_{1} = du_{1} - Fdx,$$

$$\beta_{r} = dv_{r} - v_{r+1}dx \qquad (r = 0, 1, ...)$$
(83)

provide a basis of the diffiety Ω ; however, all forms $\alpha_r = du_r - u_{r+1}dx$ (r = 2, 3, ...) are also lying in Ω as follows from the obvious rule:

$$\mathscr{L}_D \alpha_r = \alpha_{r+1}, \quad \mathscr{L}_D \beta_r = \beta_{r+1} \quad (r = 0, 1, \ldots)$$
(84)

and the inclusion $\mathscr{L}_D \Omega \subset \Omega$.

(*u*) *Standard Filtration*. There exists the "natural" filtration Ω_* of diffiety Ω with respect to the order: submodule $\Omega_l \subset \Omega$ involves the forms α_r, β_r with $r \leq l$. Alternatively saying, α_0, β_0 is a basis of Ω_0 and

$$\alpha_0, \beta_0, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_l$$
 is a basis of Ω_l $(l \ge 1)$. (85)

Clearly Ker $\Omega_{l+1} = \Omega_l$ if $l \ge 1$ as follows from (84). However,

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\alpha_{1} = \mathscr{L}_{D}(du_{1} - Fdx) = dF - DFdx$$

$$= F'(dv_{1} - v_{2}dx) = F'\beta_{1} \in \Omega_{1}.$$
 (86)

(Figure 4(a)) therefore

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}(\alpha_{1} - F'\beta_{0}) = F'\beta_{1} - DF'\beta_{0} - F'\mathscr{L}_{D}\beta_{0}$$

$$= -DF'\beta_{0} \in \Omega_{0}.$$
(87)

Then α_0 , $\alpha = \alpha_1 - F'\beta_1$, β_0 may be taken for a basis of module Ker Ω_1 (Figure 4(b)).

Moreover

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\alpha_{0} = \alpha_{1} = \alpha + F'\beta_{0},$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\alpha = -DF'\beta_{0} \in \operatorname{Ker}\Omega_{1},$$
(88)



hence α_0 , α constitute a basis of module Ker² Ω_1 (Figure 4(c)) and finally

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\left(F'\alpha + DF'\alpha\right)$$

= $DF'\alpha + D^{2}F'\alpha_{0} + F'\mathscr{L}_{D}\alpha + DF'\mathscr{L}_{D}\alpha_{0}$ (89)
= $2DF'\alpha + D^{2}F'\alpha_{0} \in \operatorname{Ker}^{2}\Omega_{1}.$

Therefore assuming

$$DF' = F'' v_3 \neq 0$$
 (hence $F'' \neq 0$) (90)

from now on, the form $\pi_0 = F'\alpha + DF'\alpha_0$ may be taken for a basis of module Ker³ Ω_0 . We have obtained the standard filtration

$$\begin{split} \overline{\Omega}_* : \overline{\Omega}_0 &= \operatorname{Ker}^3 \Omega_1 \subset \overline{\Omega}_1 = \operatorname{Ker}^2 \Omega_1 \subset \overline{\Omega}_2 \\ &= \operatorname{Ker} \Omega_1 \subset \overline{\Omega}_3 = \Omega_1 \subset \cdots \quad (\mathscr{R} (\Omega) = 0) \,, \end{split}$$
(91)

where forms

$$\pi_{r} = \mathscr{L}_{D}^{r} \pi_{0}$$

$$\left(r = 0, \dots, l; \qquad (92)$$

$$\pi_{0} = F' \alpha + DF' \alpha_{0} = DF' \alpha_{0} + F' \alpha_{1} - \left(F'\right)^{2} \beta_{0}\right)$$

provide a basis of module $\overline{\Omega}_l$.

Abbreviating f = F' from now on, explicit formulae

$$\pi_{0} = f\alpha + Df\alpha_{0},$$

$$\pi_{1} = 2Df\alpha + D^{2}f\alpha_{0},$$

$$\pi_{2} = 3D^{2}f\alpha + D^{3}f\alpha_{0} + C\beta_{0},$$

$$C\alpha = D^{2}f\pi_{0} - Df\pi_{1},$$

$$C\alpha_{0} = -2Df\pi_{0} + f\pi_{1},$$

$$C^{2}\beta_{0} = A\pi_{0} + B\pi_{1} + C\pi_{2},$$
(93)

where $\alpha = \alpha_1 - f\beta_0$ and

$$A = 2Df \cdot D^{3}f - 3(D^{2}f)^{2},$$

$$B = 3Df \cdot D^{2}f - fD^{3}f,$$

$$C = fD^{2}f - 2(Df)^{2}$$
(94)

can be easily found. They will be sufficient in calculations to follow. Recall that we suppose that the inequality (90) hold true, hence $C = \cdots + ff'v_3 = \cdots + F'F''v_3 \neq 0$.

(uu) Variations. We deal with vector fields

$$Z = z \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + z_0^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_0} + z_1^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + \sum z_r^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial v_r}$$
(95)

(the notation (75) with indices is retained) on the space **M**. Recall that Z is a variation if $\mathscr{L}_Z \Omega \subset \Omega$. In terms of coordinates, the conditions are

$$z_{1}^{1} = Dz_{0}^{1} - u_{1}Dz,$$

$$fz_{0}^{1} = Dz_{1}^{1} - FDz,$$

$$(96)$$

$$z_{1}^{2} = Dz_{r}^{2} - v_{r+1}Dz \quad (r = 0, 1, ...),$$

where the first and third equations are merely recurrences while the middle equation causes serious difficulties (a classical result. Hint: use $\mathscr{L}_Z \alpha_0 \in \Omega$, $\mathscr{L}_Z \alpha_1 \in \Omega$, $\mathscr{L}_Z \beta_r \in \Omega$). By using the alternative formula

$$Z = z \frac{\partial}{\partial dx} + a_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_0} + a_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_1} + \sum b_r \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta_r}, \qquad (97)$$

the conditions slightly simplify

 z_{r+}^{2}

$$a_1 = Da_0, \qquad Da_1 = fb_1,$$

 $b_{r+1} = Db_r \qquad (r = 0, 1, ...).$ (98)

(Hint: apply the rule $\mathscr{L}_Z \varphi = Z \rfloor d\varphi + d\varphi(Z)$ to the forms $\varphi = \alpha_0, \alpha_1, \beta_r$.) However, by virtue of Lemma 23 and standard filtration, we have explicit formula

$$Z = z \frac{\partial}{\partial dx} + \sum D^r p \frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_r} \quad (z = Zx, p = \pi_0(Z)) \quad (99)$$

for the variations where *z* and *p* are arbitrary functions. One can then easily obtain explicit formulae for all coefficients a_0, a_1, b_r in (97) and z_0^1, z^1, z_r^2 in (95) by using the left-hand identities (93). They need not be stated here.

($\iota\nu$) Infinitesimal Transformations. We refer to Remark 27: variation Z is infinitesimal symmetry if and only if

$$\mathscr{L}_Z \pi_0 = Z \rfloor d\pi_0 + dp = \lambda \pi_0 \tag{100}$$

for appropriate multiplier $\lambda \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})$. In explicit terms, we recall formula

$$\pi_0 = f\alpha + Df\alpha_0 = f\alpha + f'\nu_2\alpha_0, \tag{101}$$

where

$$d\pi_0 = dx \wedge \pi_1 \pmod{\Omega \wedge \Omega},$$

$$d\alpha = d(\alpha_1 - f\beta_0) \cong -df \wedge \beta_0 = -f'\beta_1 \wedge \beta_0 \qquad (102)$$
$$(\text{mod } dx),$$

and therefore clearly

$$d\pi_{0} = dx \wedge \pi_{1} + (f'\beta_{1} \wedge \alpha - ff'\beta_{1} \wedge \beta_{0})$$

+ $(f''v_{2}\beta_{1} + f'\beta_{2}) \wedge \alpha_{0}$
= $dx \wedge \pi_{1} + \beta_{1} \wedge (f'\alpha - ff'\beta_{0} + f''v_{2}\alpha_{0})$
+ $f'\beta_{2} \wedge \alpha_{0}.$ (103)

So denoting

$$z = Zx = dx(Z), \qquad a_0 = \alpha_0(Z), \qquad a = \alpha(Z),$$

$$b_r = \beta_r(Z), \qquad p = \pi_0(Z) \quad (r = 0, 1, ...),$$
(104)

requirement (100) reads

$$z\pi_{1} + b_{1} \left(f'\alpha - ff'\alpha_{0} + f''\nu_{2}\beta_{0} \right) + f'b_{2}\alpha_{0}$$
$$- \left(f'a - ff'a_{0} + f''\nu_{2}b_{0} \right)\beta_{1} - f'a_{0}\beta_{2} + dp \qquad (105)$$
$$= \lambda \left(f\alpha + Df\alpha_{0} \right),$$

where $\pi_1 = 2Df\alpha + D^2f\alpha_0$ and

$$dp \cong p_{u_0} \alpha_0 + p_{u_1} \alpha_1 + \sum p_{v_r} \beta_r$$

= $p_{u_0} \alpha_0 + p_{u_1} \alpha + (f p_{u_1} + p_{v_0}) \beta_0 + \sum_{r>0} p_{v_r} \beta_r$ (106)

(mod dx) should be moreover inserted. It follows that requirement (100) is equivalent to the so-called *resolving* system

$$2zDf + f'b_{1} + p_{u_{1}} = \lambda f,$$

$$zD^{2}f + f''v_{2}b_{1} + p_{u_{0}} = \lambda Df,$$
 (107)

$$ff'b_{1} = fp_{u_{1}} + p_{v_{0}},$$

$$f'a - ff'b_{0} + f''v_{2}a_{0} = p_{v_{1}},$$

$$f'a_{0} = p_{v_{2}}.$$
 (108)

Moreover $p_{v_r} = 0$ ($r \ge 2$) and therefore $p = p(u_0, u_1, v_0, v_1, v_2)$ is of the order 2 at most.

(ν) On the Resolving System. Equations (107) uniquely determine the multiplier λ and the "horizontal" coefficient z = Zx in terms of the "vertical" coefficients a_0, a, b_r , and p. For instance the formula

$$z = \frac{1}{C} \left(\left(f' b_1 + p_{u_1} \right) D f - \left(f'' v_2 b_1 + p_{u_0} \right) f \right)$$
(109)

easily follows. So we may focus on (108).

Equations (108) deserve more effort. They depend only on "vertical" components and can be expressed in terms of functions p, Dp, D^2p , and D^3p if the obvious identities

$$p = af + a_0 Df,$$

$$Dp = 2aDf + a_0 D^2 f,$$

$$D^2 p = 3aD^2 f + a_0 D^3 f + b_0 C,$$

$$Ca = D^2 f \cdot p - Df \cdot Dp,$$

$$Ca_0 = -2Df \cdot p + fDp,$$

$$C^2 b_0 = Ap + BDp + CD^2 p,$$
(110)

following from (93) together with the prolongation formula

$$C^{2}b_{1} + 2b_{0}CDC = D(C^{2}b_{0}) = D(Ap + BDp + CD^{2}p)$$
(111)

are applied. By using the lucky identity DC = -B (direct verification), one can obtain the *alternative resolving system*

$$ff'\left(C\left(DA \cdot p + (A + DB)Dp + CD^{3}p\right) + 2B\left(Ap + BDp + CD^{2}p\right)\right)$$
(112)

$$= C^{3} (fp_{u_{1}} + p_{v_{0}}),$$

$$C ((f'D^{2}f - 2v_{2}f''Df)p + (v_{2}f''f - f'Df)Dp)$$

$$- ff' (Ap + BDp + CD^{2}p)$$
(113)
$$= C^{2}p_{v_{1}},$$

$$-2f'Df \cdot p + ff'Dp = Cp_{\nu_2} \tag{114}$$

only in terms of the unknown function *p*. Recall that *the resolving system is satisfied if and only if the vector field* (99) *is infinitesimal symmetry*.

Our aim is to determine the function p satisfying (112)–(114). Alas, the *resolving system* does not provide any insight into the true structure of function p. It will be therefore

replaced by other conditions of classical nature, the *crucial requirements* and the *simplified requirements* as follows.

(vi) Crucial Requirements. We start with simple formulae

$$Df = f'v_{2}, \qquad D^{2}f = f''v_{2}^{2} + f'v_{3},$$
$$D^{3}f = f'''v_{2}^{3} + 3f''v_{2}v_{3} + f'v_{4},$$
$$Dp = \dots + p_{v_{2}}v_{3}, \qquad D^{2}p = \dots + p_{v_{2}v_{2}}v_{3}^{2} + p_{v_{2}}v_{4}$$
(115)

(the top-order terms).

Using moreover (94), one can see that there is a unique summand in (113) which involves the factor v_3^3 , namely the summand

$$-ff' \cdot C \cdot D^2 p \cong -ff' \cdot ff' v_3 \cdot p_{v_2 v_2} v_3^2.$$
(116)

It follows that $p_{\nu_2\nu_2} = 0$ identically and we (temporarily) may denote

$$p = M(x, u_0, u_1, v_0, v_1) + N(x, u_0, u_1, v_0, v_1)v_2.$$
 (117)

The simplest equation (114) of the resolving system then reads

$$-2f' \cdot f'v_2 \cdot (M + Nv_2) + ff'D(M + Nv_2)$$

= $((ff'' - 2f'^2)v_2^2 + ff'v_3)N.$ (118)

Clearly

$$D(M + Nv_2) = \mathscr{D}M + (M_{v_1} + \mathscr{D}N)v_2 + N_{v_1}v_2^2 + Nv_3,$$
(119)

where the reduced operator

$$\mathcal{D} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_0} + F \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + v_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial v_0}$$
(120)

appears and we obtain three so-called crucial requirements

$$\mathscr{D}M = 0, \quad 2Mf' = \left(M_{\nu_1} + \mathscr{D}N\right)f, \quad N_{\nu_1}f' = Nf'' \quad (121)$$

for the functions M, N by inspection of the variable v_2 . Altogether taken, *the last resolving equation* (114) *is equivalent to three requirements* (121). *We will see with great pleasure in* (*vuu*) below that requirements (121) ensure even the remaining equations (112) and (113) of the resolving system.

(vu) The Crucial Requirements Simplified. The right-hand equation (121) reads

$$Q_{\nu_1} = 0 \quad \left(Q = \frac{N}{f'}\right) \tag{122}$$

and the middle equation (121) reads

$$f^{2}P_{\nu_{1}} + f' \mathscr{D}Q = 0 \quad \left(P = \frac{M}{f^{2}}\right),$$
 (123)

whence altogether

$$p = Pf^{2} + Qf'v_{2} = Pf^{2} + QDf.$$
(124)

The left-hand equation (121) does not change much; it may be expressed by $\mathscr{D}P = 0$.

Let us summarize our achievements. In order to determine function p given by (124), we have three simplified requirements

$$\mathcal{D}P = 0,$$

$$f^2 P_{\nu_1} + f' \mathcal{D}Q = 0, \qquad Q_{\nu_1} = 0$$
(125)

for the coefficients $P = P(x, u_0, u_1, v_0, v_1)$ and $Q = Q(x, u_0, u_1, v_0, v_1)$.

(vuu) Resolving System is Deleted. Let us recall the primary transcription (108) of the resolving system. We have already seen that (125) implies (114) and hence the equivalent and simplest right-hand equation (108).

Let us turn to the middle equation (108) equivalent to (113). One can directly find formulae

$$Dp = DP \cdot f^{2} + PD(f^{2}) + DQ \cdot Df + QD^{2}f$$

= $PD(f^{2}) + QD^{2}f$ (126)

by using (124) and (125). Moreover

$$= Pf, \qquad a_0 = Q, \qquad a_1 = Da_0 = \mathcal{D}Q,$$

$$b_0 = \frac{a_1 - a}{f} = \frac{\mathcal{D}Q}{f} - P \qquad (127)$$

by using (124) and right-hand formulae (110). Substitution into middle equation (108) with

$$p_{\nu_1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \nu_1} \left(P f^2 + Q f' \nu_2 \right) = P_{\nu_1} f' + 2P f f' + Q f'' \nu_2 \quad (128)$$

gives the identity.

а

As the right-hand equation (108) equivalent to (112) is concerned, we may use

$$b_{1} = Db_{0} = \frac{\mathscr{D}^{2}Q}{f} + \frac{\partial}{\partial v_{1}} \left(\frac{\mathscr{D}Q}{f}\right) v_{2} - P_{v_{1}}v_{2},$$

$$\mathscr{D}^{2}Q = -\mathscr{D}\left(\frac{f^{2}}{f'}P_{v_{1}}\right),$$
(129)

where

$$(\mathscr{D}P)_{\nu_{1}} = \mathscr{D}(P_{\nu_{1}}) + P_{u_{1}}f + P_{\nu_{0}} = 0,$$

$$(\mathscr{D}Q)_{\nu_{1}} = Q_{u_{1}}f + Q_{\nu_{0}}.$$
 (130)

Moreover

$$fp_{u_1} + p_{v_0} = f\left(P_{u_1}f^2 + Q_{u_1}f'v_2\right) + P_{v_0}f^2 + Q_{v_0}f'v_2 \quad (131)$$

and (108) again becomes the identity.

 $(i\kappa)$ Back to the Crucial Requirements. Passing to the final part of this example, let us eventually solve (125) with the

unknown functions *P*, *Q* and given function *f*. This is already a task of classical mathematical analysis. We abbreviate $v = v_1$ from now on since this variable *v* frequently occurs in our formulae.

Let us begin with middle equation (125) which reads

$$P_{\nu} = \left(\frac{1}{f}\right)' \cdot \left(q + FQ_{u_1} + \nu Q_{\nu_0}\right) \quad \left(q = Q_x + u_1 Q_{u_0}\right) \quad (132)$$

whence

$$P = \frac{1}{f}q + \int \left(\frac{1}{f}\right)' F dv \cdot Q_{u_1} + \int \left(\frac{1}{f}\right)' v dv \cdot Q_{v_0}$$

$$+ \overline{P} \quad \left(\overline{P} = \overline{P}\left(x, u_0, u_1, v_0\right)\right)$$
(133)

since *Q* is independent of variable v due to the right-hand equation (125). We may insert

$$\int \left(\frac{1}{f}\right)' F dv = \frac{F}{f} - v,$$

$$\int \left(\frac{1}{f}\right)' v dv = \frac{v}{f} - \int_{\overline{v}}^{v} \frac{dv}{f} \quad \text{(fixed } \overline{v} \in \mathbb{R}\text{)}$$
(134)

and the remaining left-hand equation (125) is expressed by the identity

$$1 \cdot \left(\overline{P}_{x} + u_{1}\overline{P}_{u_{0}}\right) + F \cdot \overline{P}_{u_{1}} + v \cdot \overline{P}_{v_{0}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{f} \cdot \left(q_{x} + u_{1}q_{u_{0}} + F \cdot q_{u_{1}} + v \cdot q_{v_{0}}\right) + \left(\frac{F}{f} - v\right)$$

$$\cdot \left(Q_{u_{1}x} + u_{1}Q_{u_{1}u_{0}} + F \cdot Q_{u_{1}u_{1}} + v \cdot Q_{u_{1}v_{0}}\right)$$

$$+ \left(\frac{v}{f} - \int \frac{dv}{f}\right) \cdot \left(q_{v_{0}} + F \cdot Q_{v_{0}u_{1}} + v \cdot Q_{v_{0}v_{0}}\right)$$

$$= 0.$$
(135)

Functions \overline{P} , q, Q are independent of v and thereby subjected to very strong conditions by the inspection of the coefficients of functions

$$1, F, v, \frac{1}{f}, \frac{1}{f}F, \frac{1}{f}v, \left(\frac{F}{f} - v\right)F, \left(\frac{F}{f} - v\right)v,$$

$$\frac{v}{f} - \int \frac{dv}{f}, \left(\frac{v}{f} - \int \frac{dv}{f}\right)F, \left(\frac{v}{f} - \int \frac{dv}{f}\right)v$$
(136)

in identity (135). The final result depends on the properties of function F and we mention only a few instructive subcases here.

(κ) The Generic Subcase. Functions (136) are in general linearly independent over \mathbb{R} and identity (135) implies

$$\overline{P}_{x} + u_{1}\overline{P}_{u_{0}} = \overline{P}_{u_{1}} = \overline{P}_{v_{0}} - Q_{u_{1}x} - u_{1}Q_{u_{1}u_{0}} = 0,$$
(137)

$$\left(q_x + u_1 q_{u_0}\right) = Q_{xx} + 2u_1 Q_{xu_0} + u_1^2 Q_{u_0 u_0} = 0, \qquad (138)$$

$$(q_{u_1} + Q_{u_1x} + u_1 Q_{u_1u_0}) = Q_{u_0}$$

$$+ 2 (Q_{u_1x} + u_1 Q_{u_1u_0}) = 0,$$
(139)

$$(q_{v_0}) = Q_{xv_0} + u_1 Q_{u_0v_0} = Q_{u_1u_1}$$

= $Q_{u_1v_0} = Q_{v_0v_0} = 0.$ (140)

The unknown functions \overline{P} and Q can be easily found as follows. We may suppose that

$$Q = a(x, u_0) u_1 + b(x, u_0) v_0 + c(x, u_0),$$

$$b(x, u_0) = B \in \mathbb{R},$$
(141)

by using (140). Then $\overline{P}_x = \overline{P}_{u_0} = \overline{P}_{u_1} = 0$; hence $\overline{P} = \overline{P}(v_0)$ due to (139). Moreover $\overline{P}' = a_x + u_1 a_0$ which implies $\overline{P}' = a_x \in \mathbb{R}$, $a_0 = 0$; hence a = a(x) and altogether

$$a = Ax + \overline{A}, \qquad \overline{P} = Av_0 + C \quad (A, \overline{A}, C \in \mathbb{R}).$$
 (142)

Then

$$c = C_1 x + C_2 u_0 + C_3 \quad (C_1, C_2, C_3 \in \mathbb{R})$$
(143)

follows from (138). Hence, $C_2 + 2A = 0$ due to (139) and altogether

$$Q = \left(Ax + \overline{A}\right)u_1 + Bv_0 + C_1x - 2Au_0 + C_3,$$

$$\overline{P} = Av_0 + C.$$
 (144)

Recalling moreover (133), we have explicit formulae for the solutions P, Q of crucial requirements (125) and the symmetry problem is resolved. While \overline{P} and Q are mere polynomials, the total coefficient P given by (133) depends on the quadrature $\int (dv/f)$ and this may be globally rather complicated function. It follows that, in our approach, the elementary and the "transcendental" parts of the solution are in a certain sense separated.

($\kappa\iota$) A Special Case of Function F. Let us choose $F(v) = e^{v}$. Then series (136) becomes quite explicit; namely,

$$1, e^{\nu}, \nu, e^{-\nu}, 1, \nu e^{-\nu}, (1-\nu) e^{\nu}, (1-\nu) \nu, \nu + 1, (\nu+1) e^{\nu}, (\nu+1) \nu e^{\nu}$$
(145)

and these functions are linearly dependent. Identity (135) implies smaller number of requirements; the first term in (137) is combined with (139) into the single equation

$$\overline{P}_x + u_1 \overline{P}_{u_0} + q_{u_1} + Q_{u_1 x} + u_1 Q_{u_1 u_0} = 0$$
(146)

without any other change. We can state the final solution

$$Q = (Ax + \overline{A})u_1 + Bv_0 + C_1x + C_2u_0 + C_3,$$

$$\overline{P} = Av_0 + (C_2 + 2A)x + C$$
(147)

with only one additional parameter $C_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ if compared to the previous formulae (144).

(κu) Another Special Case. Let us eventually mention the very prominent function $F(v) = v^{1/2}$; see [1, 7, 16]. Then the series

$$1, v^{1/2}, v, 2v^{1/2}, 2v, 2v^{3/2}, v^{3/2}, v^2, \frac{2}{3}v^{3/2}, \frac{2}{3}v^2, \frac{2}{3}v^{5/2}$$
(148)

stands for (136) and the relevant identity (135) implies the system of equations

$$\overline{P}_x + u_1 \overline{P}_{u_0} = 0, \qquad (149)$$

$$\overline{P}_{u_1} + 2\left(q_x + u_1 q_{u_0}\right) = \overline{P}_{u_1} + 2\left(Q_{xx} + 2u_1 Q_{xu_0} + u_1^2 Q_{u_0 u_0}\right) = 0,$$
(150)

$$\overline{P}_{v_0} + 2q_{u_1} + Q_{u_1x} + u_1Q_{u_1u_0}$$

$$= \overline{P}_{v_0} + 2Q_{u_0} + 3\left(Q_{u_1x} + u_1Q_{u_1u_0}\right) = 0,$$
(151)

$$6q_{\nu_0} + 3Q_{u_1u_1} + 2\left(Q_{\nu_0x} + u_1Q_{\nu_0u_0}\right)$$

= $3Q_{u_1u_1} + 8\left(Q_{\nu_0x} + u_1Q_{\nu_0u_0}\right) = 0,$ (152)

$$Q_{u_1v_0} = 0, \quad Q_{v_0v_0} = 0.$$
 (153)

We are passing to the solution of the system of (149)–(153) with unknown functions $Q = Q(x, u_0, u_1, v_0)$ and $\overline{P} = \overline{P}(x, u_0, u_1, v_0)$. Due to (153), we may put

$$Q = a(x, u_0) v_0 + b(x, u_0, u_1)$$
(154)

and then (152) is expressed by $3b_{u_1u_1} + 8(a_x + u_1a_{u_0}) = 0$, whence easily

$$b = -\frac{4}{9}a_{u_0}u_1^3 - \frac{4}{3}a_xu_1^2 + \overline{b}(x, u_0)u_1 + \widetilde{b}(x, u_0). \quad (155)$$

Moreover (151) reads $\overline{P}_{v_0} + 2(a_{u_0}v_0 + b_{u_0}) + 3(b_{u_1x} + u_1b_{u_1u_0}) = 0$, whence

$$\overline{P} = -a_{u_0}v_0^2 - (2b_{u_0} + 3(b_{u_1x} + u_1b_{u_1u_0}))v_0 + \overline{p}(x, u_0, u_1).$$
(156)

Remaining equations (149) and (150) do not admit such simple discussion. Using (154) and (155), identity (149) is equivalent to the system

$$a_{u_0x} + u_1 a_{u_0u_0} = 0$$
(whence $a = Au_0 + \overline{a}(x), A \in \mathbb{R}$), (157)

$$2b_{u_0x} + 3\left(b_{u_1xx} + u_1b_{u_1u_0x}\right)$$

$$+ u_1\left(2b_{u_0u_0} + 3\left(b_{u_1xu_0} + u_1b_{u_1u_0u_0}\right)\right) = 0,$$

$$\overline{p}_x + u_1\overline{p}_{u_x} = 0$$
(159)

of three equations and identity (150) is equivalent to the system

$$2b_{u_0u_1} + 3\left(b_{u_1xu_1} + b_{u_1u_0} + u_1b_{u_1u_0u_1}\right) = 2\overline{a}'', \qquad (160)$$

$$\overline{p}_{u_1} + 2\left(b_{xx} + 2u_1b_{xu_0} + u_1^2b_{u_0u_0}\right) = 0,$$
(161)

if (157) is moreover employed. At the same time, (155) can be improved as

$$b = -\frac{4}{9}Au_1^3 - \frac{4}{3}\overline{a}'u_1^2 + \overline{b}(x, u_0)u_1 + \widetilde{b}(x, u_0).$$
(162)

With this improvement, (160) reads $2\overline{b}_{u_0} + 3(-(8/4)\overline{a}'' + \overline{b}_{u_0}) = 2\overline{a}''$ and it follows that

$$\overline{b} = 2\overline{a}^{\prime\prime} u_0 + \widehat{b}(x).$$
(163)

Analogously (158) reads

$$2\left(\bar{b}_{u_0x}u_1 + \tilde{b}_{u_0x}\right) + 3\left(-\frac{8}{3}\bar{a}^{\prime\prime\prime}u_1 + \bar{b}_{xx} + u_1\bar{b}_{u_0x}\right) + u_1\left(2\tilde{b}_{u_0u_0} + 3\bar{b}_{u_0x}\right) = 0,$$
(164)

which is equivalent to the system

$$2\tilde{b}_{u_0x} + 6\bar{a}^{(4)}u_0 + 3\hat{b}^{\prime\prime} = 0, \qquad 4\bar{a}^{\prime\prime\prime} + \tilde{b}_{u_0u_0} = 0, \qquad (165)$$

if (163) is inserted. Altogether, it follows that (158) is equivalent to

$$2\tilde{b} = -3\bar{a}^{\prime\prime\prime} u_0^2 - 3\hat{b}^{\prime} u_0 + \tilde{b}_0 (u_0) + \tilde{b}_1 (x) ,$$

$$\bar{a}^{\prime\prime\prime} = -\frac{1}{2}\tilde{b}_0^{\prime\prime} = A_3 \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (166)

whence

$$\overline{a} = A_3 \frac{x^3}{6} + A_2 x^2 + A_1 x + A_0,$$

$$\widetilde{b}_0 = -A_3 u_0^2 + B_1 u_0 + B_0$$

$$(A_2, A_1, A_0, B_1, B_0 \in \mathbb{R}).$$
(167)

At the same time, we have improvements

$$\overline{b} = 2 (A_3 + 2A_2) u_0 + \widehat{b},$$

$$2\widetilde{b} = -3A_3 u_0^2 - 3\widehat{b}' u_0 + \widetilde{b} (u_0) + \widetilde{b}_1 (x)$$
(168)

of the above formulae. Let us eventually turn to the remaining equations (159) and (161). We begin with (161) which can be simplified to

$$\overline{p}_{u_1} + 2\frac{16}{3}A_3u_1^2 + 2\hat{b}''u_1 - \left(3\hat{b}'''u_0 + \tilde{b}_1''\right) = 0, \quad (169)$$

whence

$$\overline{p} = 2\frac{16}{3}A_3\frac{u_1^3}{3} + \hat{b}''u_1^2 - (3\hat{b}'''u_0 + \tilde{b}_1'')u_1 + \check{p}(x, u_0).$$
(170)

Then the last requirement (159) is easily simplified as

$$\hat{b}^{\prime\prime\prime\prime} u_1^2 - \left(3\hat{b}^{(4)}u_0 + \tilde{b}_1^{\prime\prime\prime}\right)u_1 + \check{p}_x + u_1 \left(-3\hat{b}^{\prime\prime\prime\prime}u_1 + \check{p}_{u_0}\right) = 0$$
(171)

and it follows that

$$\breve{p}_x = 0, \qquad \widetilde{b}_1^{\prime\prime\prime} - 3\widehat{b}^{(4)} + \breve{p}_{u_0} = 0, \qquad \widehat{b}^{\prime\prime\prime} = 0, \qquad (172)$$

whence easily

$$\breve{p} = \breve{p}(u_0), \qquad \widetilde{b}_1''' = -\breve{p}' = C_3 \in \mathbb{R},$$
(173)
$$\widetilde{b} = D_2 x^2 + D_1 x + D_0,$$

$$\widetilde{b}_1 = C_3 \frac{x^3}{6} + C_2 x^2 + C_1 x + C_0,$$

$$\breve{p} = -C_3 u_0 + C$$
(174)
$$(C_3, D_2, \dots, C \in \mathbb{R}).$$

The solution is eventually done. It depends on the parameters

$$A, A_3, A_2, A_1, A_0, B_1, B_0, C_3, C_2, C_1, C_0, C, D_2, D_1, D_0 \in \mathbb{R}$$
(175)

in the total number of 15. This is seemingly in contradiction with [1, 7, 16] where 14-dimensional symmetry group (namely, the exceptional simple Lie group \mathbb{G}_2) was declared. However, our final symmetry in fact depends on the sum $B_0 + C_0$ as follows from (166), (167), and (174) and therefore no contradiction appears. We will not explicitly state the resulting symmetries *Z* for obvious reason here. Recall that they are given by (99) where *z*, *p* are clarified in (109) and (124). Coefficients appearing in (124) are clarified in (133), (156), and (170) and in (154), (157), (162), (168), (173), and (174).

It should be moreover noted that our approach is of the universal nature while the method of explicit calculations which provides the infinitesimal transformations in [7] rests on a lucky accident; see [7, Theorem 3.2, and the subsequent discussion].

Remark 29. Variations Z were easily found in (*u*). Due to Theorem 26 and Remark 27, infinitesimal symmetries satisfy moreover $\mathscr{L}_Z \pi_0 = \lambda \pi_0$ or, alternatively saying, they preserve the Pfaffian equation $\pi_0 = 0$, and this property was just employed. We will now prove the converse without use of Theorem 24. The reasoning is as follows. Let a variation Z preserve Pfaffian equation $\pi_0 = 0$. Then Z preserves the space of adjoint variables x, u_0 , u_1 , v_0 , v_1 of this Pfaffian equation. In this finite-dimensional space, the variation Z generates a group which can be prolonged to the higher-order jet variables. It follows that Z is indeed an infinitesimal transformation.

Remark 30. Let us briefly mention the case $F(v_1) = Av_1 + B$ ($A, B \in \mathbb{R}; A \neq 0$) as yet excluded by condition (90). In this linear case, clearly

$$\mathcal{L}_{D}\alpha_{1} = \mathcal{L}_{D} \left(du_{1} - (Av_{1} + B) dx \right)$$

$$= d \left(Av_{1} + B \right) - Av_{2} dx = A\beta_{1},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{D} \left(\alpha_{1} - A\beta_{0} \right) = 0,$$

$$\tau = \alpha_{1} - A\beta_{0} = d \left(u_{1} - Av_{0} - Bx \right) \in \mathcal{R} \left(\Omega \right)$$
(176)

and we may introduce standard filtration

$$\mathscr{R}(\Omega) \subset \overline{\Omega}_{0} = \operatorname{Ker}^{2} \Omega_{1} \subset \overline{\Omega}_{1}$$

$$= \operatorname{Ker} \Omega_{1} \subset \overline{\Omega}_{0} = \Omega_{1} \subset \overline{\Omega}_{1} = \Omega_{2} \subset \cdots, \qquad (177)$$

where τ is a basis of $\mathscr{R}(\Omega)$ and the forms

π

$$\pi_0 = \alpha_0, \qquad \pi_1 = \alpha_1,$$

$$\mu_2 = \mathscr{L}_D \alpha_1 = A \beta_1, \dots, \pi_l = A \beta_{l-1}$$
(178)

provide a basis of module $\overline{\Omega}_l$ $(l \ge 1)$. The symmetries can be easily found. They are the prolonged contact transformations **m** defined by $\mathbf{m}^* \alpha_0 = \lambda \alpha_0$ depending moreover on the parameter $t = u_1 - Av_0 - Bx$. Roughly saying, the geometry of the linear second-order equation $u_2 = Av_1 + B$ is identical with the contact geometry of curves in \mathbb{R}^2 . Quite analogous result can be obtained also for the Monge equation $F(x, u_0, u_1, v_0, v_1) = 0$ and, in much greater generality, for the system of two Pfaffian equations in four-dimensional space [17].

Remark 31. Let us once more return to the crucial requirement (125) where operators \mathcal{D} and $\partial/\partial v_1$ are applied to unknown functions *P* and *Q*. We have employed the simplicity of the second operator $\partial/\partial v_1$ in the above solution; see formula (133). However, analogous "complementary" method can be applied to the first operator \mathcal{D} as follows. Let us introduce new variables

$$\overline{x} = x, \qquad \overline{u}_0 = u_0 - u_1 x + \frac{Fx^2}{2},$$

$$\overline{u}_1 = u_1 - Fx, \qquad \overline{v}_0 = v_0 - v_1 x, \qquad \overline{v} = v_1$$
(179)

with the obvious inverse transformation (not stated here). Then

$$\mathcal{D} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{x}},$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial v_1} = \frac{f}{2} \overline{x}^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{u}_0} - \overline{x} \left(f \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{u}_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{v}_0} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{v}} \qquad (180)$$

$$(f = f(v_1) = f(\overline{v}))$$

in terms of new variables. We again abbreviate $v = \overline{v} = v_1$. Passing to new coordinates, the left-hand requirement (125) is simplified as $P = \overline{P}(\overline{u}_0, \overline{u}_1, \overline{v}_0, \nu)$. The middle requirement (125) reads

$$f^{2}\left(\frac{f}{2}\overline{x}^{2}\overline{P}_{\overline{u}_{0}} - \overline{x}\left(f\overline{P}_{\overline{u}_{1}} + \overline{P}_{\overline{v}_{0}}\right) + \overline{P}_{v}\right) + f'\overline{Q}_{\overline{x}} = 0$$

$$\left(Q = \overline{Q}\left(\overline{x}, \overline{u}_{0}, \overline{u}_{1}, \overline{v}_{0}, v\right)\right)$$
(181)

and determines the function \overline{Q} in terms of new variables as

$$\overline{Q} = -\frac{f^2}{f'} \left(\frac{f}{6} \overline{x}^3 \overline{P}_{\overline{u}_0} - \frac{\overline{x}^2}{2} \left(f \overline{P}_{\overline{u}_1} + \overline{P}_{\overline{v}_0} \right) + \overline{x} \overline{P}_v \right) + \overline{q},$$

$$\overline{q} = \overline{q} \left(\overline{u}_0, \overline{u}_1, \overline{v}_0, v \right),$$
(182)

where \overline{q} is constant of integration. This is a *polynomial in* variable \overline{x} and it follows easily that the remaining right-hand requirement (130) applied to function \overline{Q} is equivalent to the system

$$\overline{P}_{\overline{u}_{0}\overline{u}_{0}} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{P}_{\overline{u}_{0}} = 0, \qquad \overline{q}_{\nu} = 0,$$

$$f\overline{q}_{\overline{u}_{1}} + \overline{q}_{\overline{\nu}_{0}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \left(\frac{f^{2}}{f'}\overline{P}_{\nu}\right) = 0,$$

$$\frac{f^{3}}{f'}\overline{P}_{\overline{u}_{0}\nu} + \frac{f^{2}}{f'} \left(f\mathcal{P}_{\overline{u}_{1}} + \mathcal{P}_{\overline{\nu}_{0}}\right) + \frac{1}{3}\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} \left(\frac{f^{3}}{f'}\overline{P}_{\overline{u}_{0}}\right) \qquad (183)$$

$$= 0,$$

$$f^{2} = \partial \left(f^{2} - \partial\right)$$

$$\begin{split} f\overline{q}_{\overline{u}_0} + 2\frac{f^2}{f'}\mathcal{P}_v + \frac{\partial}{\partial v}\left(\frac{f^2}{f'}\mathcal{P}\right) &= 0\\ \left(\mathcal{P} = f\overline{P}_{\overline{u}_1} + \overline{P}_{\overline{v}_0}\right). \end{split}$$

We will not discuss this alternative approach here in more detail.

Remark 32. Though the symmetries of (77) can be *completely determined* by applying the *common methods*, several formally quite different ways of the calculation are possible. It would certainly be of practical interest which of them is the "most economical" one. Let us mention such an alternative way for better clarity. We start with the "opposite" transcription

$$\frac{dv}{dx} = G\left(\frac{d^2u}{dx^2}\right) \quad \left(G = F^{-1}, \text{ the inverse function}\right) \quad (184)$$

of (77). The primary concepts are retained, the same underlying space **M**, diffiety Ω , and contact forms α_r , β_r (r = 0, 1, ...). However, we choose $x, u_0, u_1, ..., v_0$ for *new coordinates* on **M** from now on and the forms

$$x_{r} = du_{r} - u_{r+1}dx \quad (r = 0, 1, ...),$$

$$\beta_{0} = dv_{0} - G(u_{2})dx \qquad (185)$$

for *new basis* of Ω . We have moreover

$$D = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum u_{r+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_r} + G \frac{\partial}{\partial v_0}$$
(186)

in terms of new coordinates. The standard filtration is formally simplified. The forms

$$\pi_r = \mathscr{L}_D^r \pi_0$$

$$\left(r = 0, 1, \dots; \pi_0 = \beta_0 - G' \alpha_1 + DG' \alpha_0\right)$$
(187)

may be taken for *new standard basis* if the inequality $D^2G' \neq 0$ is supposed. This follows from the obvious formulae

$$\pi_1 = \mathscr{L}_D \pi_0 = D^2 G' \alpha_0,$$

$$\pi_2 = \mathscr{L}_D \pi_1 = D^3 G' \alpha_0 + D^2 G' \alpha_1, \dots,$$
(188)

simplifying the analogous left-hand side (93). Then, analogously to (95) and (99), we introduce the *variations*

$$Z = z \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum z_r^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_r} + z_0^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial v_0} = z \frac{\partial}{\partial dx} + \sum D^r p \frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_r}$$
(189)

of diffiety Ω where z = Zx and $p = \pi_0(Z)$ may be arbitrary functions. Recall that we have even *infinitesimal symmetry* of Ω if and only if the requirement (100) is satisfied. However clearly

$$d\pi_0 = dx \wedge \pi_1$$

$$+ G'' \alpha_1 \wedge \alpha_2 + \left(G''' u_3 \alpha_2 + G'' \alpha_3 \right) \wedge \alpha_0$$
(190)

and one can obtain the *resolving equations* as follows. First of all, we obtain equations

$$zD^{2}G' + G''u_{3}a_{2} + G''a_{3} + p_{u_{0}} = \lambda DG',$$

$$p_{v_{0}} = \lambda$$

$$(a_{r} = \alpha_{r} (Z))$$

$$(191)$$

which determine coefficients z and λ analogously to (107). Moreover

$$G''a_{2} - p_{u_{1}} - G' p_{v_{0}}$$

= $G''a_{1} - G'''u_{3}a_{0} + p_{u_{2}}$
= $G''a_{0} - p_{u_{3}} = p_{u_{r}} = 0$ (r > 3)
(192)

are conditions for the unknown function $p = p(x, u_0, ..., u_3, v_0)$ analogous to (108). The "vertical" coefficients a_r can be expressed in terms of functions p, Dp, D^2p and D^3p , by using the equation

$$D^{2}G' \cdot a_{0} = D^{2}G' \cdot \alpha_{0}(Z) = \pi_{1}(Z) = D\pi_{0}(Z) = Dp \quad (193)$$

and the recurrence $a_{r+1} = Da_r$. As yet the calculations are much easier then for the above case of formulae (110); however, the resulting *resolving system* of three equations analogous to (112)–(114) is again complicated and will not

be explicitly stated here. Remarkable task appears when we investigate the corresponding *crucial requirements* and try to determine the structure of function p in terms of new coordinates. For instance, the "very prominent" and seemingly rather artificial case (κu) turns into the "simplest possible" and quite natural equation $dv/dx = (d^2u/dx^2)^2$ in new coordinates.

7. Brief Digression to the Calculus of Variations

The classical *Lagrange problem* of the calculus of variations deals with an underdetermined system of differential equations (better with a diffiety) together with a variational integral. We are interested in internal symmetries of this variational problem.

Let us start with a diffiety $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$. We choose a standard filtration $\overline{\Omega}_*$ and the corresponding standard basis π_r^j ($j = 1, ..., \mu(\Omega); r = 0, 1, ...$). For better clarity, we suppose the controllable case $\mathscr{R}(\Omega) = 0$. Let $x \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})$ be an independent variable. Let us consider *x*-parametrized solutions \mathbf{p} of diffiety Ω in the sense

$$\mathbf{p}: \mathbf{I} \longrightarrow \mathbf{M} \quad (\mathbf{I} \in \mathbb{R}),$$
$$\mathbf{p}^* \omega = 0 \quad (\omega \in \Omega), \qquad (194)$$
$$\mathbf{p}^* x = x \in \mathbf{I} \subset \mathbb{R}.$$

Here $\mathbf{I} \subset \mathbb{R}$ is a closed interval $a \leq x \leq b$ with a little confusion: letter *x* denotes both a function on **M** and the common coordinate (that is, a point) in \mathbb{R} .

Definition 33. A vector field $V \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ is called a *variation* of solution **p** of diffiety Ω if $\mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V \omega = 0$ ($\omega \in \Omega$). This is a mere slight adaptation of the familiar classical concept.

Lemma 34. A vector field $V \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ is a variation of **p** if and only if

$$\mathbf{p}^{*} \pi_{r+1}^{j}(V) = \mathbf{p}^{*} D \pi_{r}^{j}(V) = \frac{d}{dx} \mathbf{p}^{*} \pi_{r}^{j}(V)$$
(195)
$$(j = 1, \dots, \mu(\Omega); r = 0, 1, \dots).$$

Proof. A variation V satisfies $\mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V \pi_r^j = 0$, where

$$\mathbf{p}^{*} \mathscr{L}_{V} \pi_{r}^{j} = \mathbf{p}^{*} \left(V \rfloor d\pi_{r}^{j} + d\pi_{r}^{j} (V) \right)$$

$$= \mathbf{p}^{*} \left(-\pi_{r+1}^{j} (V) + D\pi_{r}^{j} (V) \right) dx$$
(196)

by virtue of (55).

Remark 35. It follows easily that a vector field $Z \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$ is a variation of diffiety Ω in the sense of Definition 8 if and only if Z is a variation of every solution \mathbf{p} of Ω ; see Lemma 23. Conversely, if V is a variation of a solution \mathbf{p} then there exist many variations Z of Ω such that Z = V at every point of \mathbf{p} , and they are characterized by the identities $\mathbf{p}^* \pi_0^j(Z) = \mathbf{p}^* \pi_0^j(V)$ $(j = 1, ..., \mu(\Omega))$ along the curve \mathbf{p} ; see

formula (72). We conclude that the concepts "variation Z of Ω " and "variations V of \mathbf{p} " are closely related. Roughly saying, variations V of \mathbf{p} are "restrictions" of variations Z of Ω to the curve \mathbf{p} .

Definition 36. A couple $\{\Omega, \varphi\}$ where $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ is a differential form will be identified with a *variational problem* in the (common) sense that differential Ω represents the *differential constraints* to the *variational integral* $\int \varphi$. A solution \mathbf{p} of Ω is called an *extremal* of this variational problem, if

$$\int \mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V \varphi = \int \mathbf{p}^* V \rfloor d\varphi = 0 \quad \text{(special variations } V\text{)}$$
(197)

for every variation *V* of **p** which is vanishing at the endpoints $\mathbf{p}(a), \mathbf{p}(b) \in \mathbf{M}$. This definition provides the common classical extremals; see Remark 43.

Remark 37. The phrase "variation *V* of **p**" can be replaced with "variation *V* of Ω ". The form φ can be replaced with arbitrary form $\varphi + \omega$ ($\omega \in \Omega$). The extremals do not change.

Theorem 38. To every standard basis of Ω and given $\varphi \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ there exists unique form $\check{\varphi} \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ such that

$$\vec{\varphi} \cong \varphi \pmod{\Omega},$$

$$\cong 0 \pmod{\Omega \land \Omega} \text{ and all initial forms } \pi_0^j).$$
(198)

In accordance with (198) we assume that

dφ

$$d\breve{\varphi} \cong \sum e^{j} \pi_{0}^{j} \wedge dx \quad (\text{mod } \Omega \wedge \Omega) \,. \tag{199}$$

Then a solution **p** of Ω is extremal if and only if $\mathbf{p}^* e^j = 0$ ($j = 1, ..., \mu(\Omega)$) and therefore if and only if

$$\mathbf{p}^* \ Z \rfloor \, d\breve{\varphi} = 0 \quad (Z \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})) \tag{200}$$

for all vector fields $Z \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$.

Proof (see [9]). For a given $\varphi \in \Phi(\mathbf{M})$, let us look at a top-order summand

$$d\varphi \cong \sum a_r^j \pi_r^j \wedge dx = \dots + a_R^J \pi_R^J \wedge dx$$
(201)
(mod $\Omega \wedge \Omega$).

If R > 0, the summand can be deleted if the primary differential form φ is replaced with the new form $\varphi + a_R^J \pi_{R-1}^J$. The extremals do not change. The procedure is unique and terminates in form $\check{\varphi}$ satisfying (198). Then (200) follows from the identity

$$\mathbf{p}^* Z \rfloor d\breve{\varphi} = \mathbf{p}^* Z \rfloor \sum e^j \pi_0^j \wedge dx = \mathbf{p}^* \sum e^j \pi_0^j (Z) dx, \quad (202)$$

where the functions $\pi_0^j(Z)$ may be quite arbitrary if Z is a variation, see Lemma 34.

Definition 39. The differential form ϕ can be regarded for the internal *Poincaré-Cartan form* of our variational problem and equations $e^j = 0$ ($j = 1, ..., \mu(\Omega)$) for the *Euler-Lagrange* system.

We turn to the symmetries.

Definition 40. A symmetry **m** of diffiety Ω is called a *symmetry of variational problem* { Ω, φ }, if $\mathbf{m}^* \varphi \cong \varphi \pmod{\Omega}$. A variation (infinitesimal symmetry) Z of Ω is called a *variation (infinitesimal symmetry*, resp.) of *variational problem* { Ω, φ }, if $\mathscr{L}_Z \varphi \in \Omega$. Let $V \in \mathscr{T}(\mathbf{M})$ be a variation of a solution **p** of diffiety Ω . Then V is called a *Jacobi vector field* of **p**, if moreover $\mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V \varphi = 0$. Roughly saying, variations Z of variational problem { Ω, φ } are "universal" Jacobi vector fields for all solutions **p** of Ω . In classical theory, Jacobi vector fields are introduced only for the particular case when **p** is an extremal.

We will see in the following example that Poincaré-Cartan forms ϕ simplify the calculation of symmetries and variations. On this occasion, we also recall the following admirable result.

Theorem 41 (E. Noether). If Z is a variation of variational problem $\{\Omega, \varphi\}$ and $\check{\varphi}$ is a Poincaré-Cartan form then $\mathbf{p}^*\check{\varphi}(Z) = const.$ for every extremal \mathbf{p} .

Proof. We have $\mathscr{L}_Z \breve{\varphi} \in \Omega$, $\mathbf{p}^* \omega = 0$ ($\omega \in \Omega$), and therefore

$$0 = \mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_Z \breve{\varphi} = \mathbf{p}^* \left(Z \rfloor d\breve{\varphi} + d\breve{\varphi} (Z) \right)$$

= $\mathbf{p}^* d\breve{\varphi} (Z) = d\mathbf{p}^* \breve{\varphi} (Z)$ (203)

by virtue of (200).

Remark 42. Many concepts of the classical calculus of variations lose the geometrical meaning if the higher-order symmetries are accepted; for example, this concerns the common concept of a nondegenerate variational problem and even the order of a variational integral. On the other hand, the most important concepts can be appropriately modified; for example, the Hilbert-Weierstrass extremality theory together with the Hamilton-Jacobi equations [18–21] since the Poincaré-Cartan forms ϕ make "absolute sense" along the extremals.

Remark 43. In the common classical calculus of variations, extremals **p** are defined by the property $\int \mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V \varphi = 0$, where variations *V* satisfy certain weak *boundary conditions* at the endpoints ("fixed ends" or transversality) in order to delete some "boundary effects" of the variational integral. Much stronger conditions appear in Definition 36. Therefore

classical extremals \subset our extremals. (204)

However, φ can be replaced by the form $\check{\varphi}$. Then

$$\int \mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V \breve{\varphi} = \int \mathbf{p}^* V \rfloor d\breve{\varphi} + \text{boundary term.}$$
(205)

For the above special variations V, the boundary term vanishes. If **p** is extremal in the sense of Definition 36, then (200) and Remark 15 may be applied and it follows that

classical extremals
$$\supset$$
 our extremals. (206)

In topical Griffiths' theory [22], extremals are defined by the property

$$\mathbf{p}^* \ Z \rfloor \ d(\varphi + \omega) = 0$$
(all $Z \in \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{M})$, appropriate $\omega \in \Omega$ depending on \mathbf{p})
(207)

which is clearly equivalent to the condition

$$\int \mathbf{p}^* Z \rfloor d(\varphi + \omega) = \int \mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_Z(\varphi + \omega) = 0$$
(special vector fields Z, appropriate $\omega \in \Omega$),
(208)

where Z are vector fields vanishing at the endpoints. This condition trivially implies

$$\int \mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V(\varphi + \omega) = 0 \text{ hence } \int \mathbf{p}^* \mathscr{L}_V \varphi = 0$$
(special variations V)
(209)

with *variations V* vanishing at the endpoints; see Remark 35. Therefore

Griffiths extremals
$$\subset$$
 our extremals. (210)

The converse inclusion

Griffiths extremals
$$\supset$$
 our extremals (211)

is, however, trivial since the *universal form* $\check{\varphi} = \varphi + \check{\omega}$ ($\check{\omega} \in \Omega$) satisfies $\mathbf{p}^* Z] d\check{\varphi} = 0$ even for every extremal in the sense of Definition 36. We conclude that all the mentioned concepts of extremals are identical. (We apologize for this hasty exposition. Roughly saying, the Griffiths' theory and our approach are almost identical. The Griffiths' *correction* $\omega \in \Omega$ *depending on* \mathbf{p} is made *universal* here. The classical approach rests on a *special choice* of boundary conditions for the variations *V*. However, such a special choice is misleading since it does not affect the resulting family of extremals and we prefer a *universal choice* here as well.)

8. Particular Example of a Variational Integral

A simple illustrative example is necessary at this place. Let us again deal with diffiety Ω of Section 6. So we recall coordinates $x, u_0, u_1, v_0, v_1, \ldots$ of the underlying space **M**, the contact forms α_r, β_r ($r = 0, 1, \ldots$) generating Ω , the vector field

$$D = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_0} + F \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} + \sum v_{r+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial v_r}$$

= $\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum_{\omega \in \Omega} 0 \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial \omega} \in \mathcal{H},$ (212)

and the standard basis π_0, π_1, \ldots of Ω . We moreover introduce variational integrals

$$\int \varphi \quad \left(\varphi = gdx, g \in \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{M})\right). \tag{213}$$

Assuming $\partial g / \partial \pi_r = 0$ (r > R) and therefore

$$dg = Dgdx + \frac{\partial g}{\partial u_0}\alpha_0 + \frac{\partial g}{\partial u_1}\alpha_1 + \sum \frac{\partial g}{\partial v_r}\beta_r$$

$$= Dgdx + \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_0}\pi_0 + \dots + \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_R}\pi_R,$$
(214)

we introduce the functions

$$g_{R} = \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_{R}},$$

$$g_{r-1} = \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_{r-1}} - Dg_{r} \quad (r = R, \dots, 1).$$
(215)

Then

$$\breve{\varphi} = gdx + g_1\pi_0 + \dots + g_R\pi_{R-1}$$
(216)

is the Poincaré-Cartan form since the identity

$$d\breve{\varphi} = g_0 \cdot \pi_0 \wedge dx \pmod{\Omega \wedge \Omega}$$
(217)

can be directly verified. In accordance with formula (199) where $e = e^1$, $\pi_0 = \pi_0^1$ is abbreviated, we have $e = g_0$. Let us denote

$$e = e [g] = g_0$$

= $\frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_0} - D \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_1} + \dots + (-1)^R D^R \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_R},$ (218)

for better clarity. The following simple result will be needed.

Lemma 44. Identity e[g] = 0 is equivalent to the equation g = DG with appropriate $G \in \mathcal{F}(\mathbf{M})$.

Proof. By virtue of (200), the identity is equivalent to the congruence $d\tilde{\phi} \cong 0 \pmod{\Omega} \wedge \Omega$. However, if the rule $d(d\tilde{\phi}) = 0$ is applied to the congruence, it follows easily that $d\tilde{\phi} = 0$ identically. Therefore $\tilde{\phi} = dG \cong DGdx \pmod{\Omega}$ by using the Poincaré lemma.

Let us mention symmetries **m** and variations *Z* of our variational problem in more detail. In the favourable case $\mu(\Omega) = 1$, the task is not difficult.

The symmetry **m** of our variational problem $\{\Omega, \varphi\}$ clearly preserves the *unique* Poincaré-Cartan form $\check{\varphi}$ and therefore also the vector field $\mathcal{D} = D/g \in \mathcal{H}$ determined by the condition $\check{\varphi}(\mathcal{D}) = 1$. We suppose $g \neq 0$ here. It follows that all differential forms

$$\begin{split} \check{\pi}_0 &= \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{D}} \check{\varphi} = \mathscr{D} \rfloor d\check{\varphi} + d\check{\varphi} \, (\mathscr{D}) = e\pi_0 \cdot \mathscr{D} x = \frac{e}{g} \pi_0, \\ \check{\pi}_{r+1} &= \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{D}} \check{\pi}_r \quad (r = 0, 1, \ldots) \end{split}$$
(219)

are preserved, too. Let us moreover suppose $e = e[g] \neq 0$. Clearly

$$\breve{\pi}_{1} = \frac{1}{g} \mathscr{L}_{D} \pi_{0} = \frac{1}{g} \left(D \frac{e}{g} \pi_{0} + \frac{e}{g} \pi_{1} \right),$$

$$\breve{\pi}_{r+1} = \frac{1}{g} \mathscr{L}_{\mathfrak{D}} \pi_{r} \cong \frac{e}{g^{r+1}} \pi_{r} \qquad (220)$$

$$\left(\mod dx, \pi_{0}, \dots, \pi_{r} \right).$$

Therefore $\phi, \pi_0, \pi_1, \ldots$ is *invariant basis* of module $\Phi(\mathbf{M})$ in the sense

$$\mathbf{m}^* \boldsymbol{\breve{\varphi}} = \boldsymbol{\breve{\varphi}},$$

$$\mathbf{m}^* \boldsymbol{\breve{\pi}}_r = \boldsymbol{\breve{\pi}}_r \quad (r = 0, 1, \ldots).$$
(221)

It follows that the symmetries **m** of our variational problem $\{\Omega, \varphi\}$ can be comfortably determined. Quite analogous conclusion can be made for the infinitesimal symmetries, of course.

Passing to the variations Z of the variational problem, we have explicit formula (99) for the variations of Ω and moreover condition $\mathscr{L}_Z \varphi \in \Omega$ equivalent to $\mathscr{L}_Z \check{\varphi} \in \Omega$. However,

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\breve{\varphi} = Z \rfloor d\breve{\varphi} + d\breve{\varphi} (Z)$$

$$\cong Z \rfloor (e\pi_{0} \wedge dx) + D\breve{\varphi} (Z) dx \qquad (222)$$

$$= (ep + D\breve{\varphi} (Z)) dx \pmod{\Omega}$$

and therefore

$$0 = ep + D\breve{\phi}(Z) = ep + DG$$

$$(G = gz + g_0p + g_1Dp + \dots + g_RD^Rp).$$
(223)

Assume $g \neq 0$. We obtain condition e[ep] = 0 for the unknown function *p*. In more precise notation and in full detail

$$e [e [g] p]$$

$$= \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_0} - D\frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_1} + \cdots\right) \left(\frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_0} - D\frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_1} + \cdots\right) p \quad (224)$$

$$= 0.$$

This is formally a very simple condition concerning the unknown function p; alas, it is not easy to be resolved. Paradoxically, *variations Z cause serious difficulties*.

For better clarity, we continue this example with particular choice of the variational integral. Let us consider variational integral $\int g(x, u_0, v_0) dx$. Equation (214) reads

$$dg = Dgdx + \frac{\partial g}{\partial u_0}\alpha_0 + \frac{\partial g}{\partial v_0}\beta_0$$

$$= Dgdx + \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_0}\pi_0 + \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_1}\pi_1 + \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_2}\pi_2$$
(225)
and it follows that

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_0} = -2g_{u_0}\frac{Df}{C} + g_{v_0}\frac{A}{C^2},$$

$$\frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_1} = g_{u_0}\frac{f}{C} + g_{v_0}\frac{B}{C^2}, \qquad \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_2} = \frac{g_{v_0}}{C}$$
(226)

by using (93). We have R = 2 and therefore

$$\begin{split} \breve{\varphi} &= g dx + \left(\frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_1} - D \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_2}\right) \pi_0 + \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_2} \pi_1, \\ e &= \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_0} - D \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_1} + D^2 \frac{\partial g}{\partial \pi_2} \end{split}$$
(227)

by virtue of (215)–(218). Both the Poincaré-Cartan form $\tilde{\phi}$ and the Euler-Lagrange equation e = 0 can be expressed in terms of common coordinates, if derivatives (226) are inserted. We omit the final formulae here. Passing to the symmetries **m**, we may simulate the moving frames method and express the differential

$$\begin{split} d\breve{\varphi} &= \sum C_{r}\breve{\pi}_{r} \wedge \breve{\varphi} + \sum_{r < s} C_{rs}\breve{\pi}_{r} \wedge \breve{\pi}_{s} \\ &= \breve{\pi}_{0} \wedge \breve{\varphi} + \sum_{r < s} C_{rs}\breve{\pi}_{r} \wedge \breve{\pi}_{s} \end{split}$$
(228)

in terms of the invariant basis (221). Then *all coefficients* C_{rs} *are invariants of symmetry* **m**; that is,

$$\mathbf{m}^* C_{rs} = C_{rs} \text{ hence } \mathbf{m}^* \mathcal{D}^k C_{rs} = \mathcal{D}^k C_{rs} \quad \left(\mathcal{D} = \frac{D}{g} \right).$$
(229)

In fact we have obtained all invariants. (Hint: for instance, differential

$$\begin{split} d\breve{\pi}_{0} &= d\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{D}}\breve{\varphi} = \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{D}}d\breve{\varphi} \\ &= \sum \mathscr{D}C_{rs}\breve{\pi}_{r} \wedge \breve{\pi}_{s} + \mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{D}}\left(\breve{\pi}_{0} \wedge \breve{\varphi}\right) \qquad (230) \\ &+ \sum C_{rs}\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{D}}\left(\breve{\pi}_{r} \wedge \breve{\pi}_{s}\right) \end{split}$$

does not provide any novelty.) It follows that the symmetry problem is resolved. Compatibility of the system of (229) ensures the existence of symmetries **m** of the variational problem { Ω, φ } since the Frobenius theorem can be applied to the Pfaffian system (221). In the most favourable case, C_{rs} are even constants. Explicit calculation of invariants C_{rs} is a lengthy but routine procedure. First of all

$$d\breve{\varphi} \cong dg_1 \wedge \pi_0 + dg_2 \wedge \pi_1 + g_1 d\pi_0$$

+ $g_2 d\pi_1 \pmod{dx}$ (231)

by using the primary formula (216). Then

$$dg_1 \cong \sum \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial \pi_r} \pi_r, \qquad dg_2 \cong \sum \frac{\partial g_2}{\partial \pi_r} \pi_r \pmod{dx}$$
 (232)

may be substituted where the coefficient can be determined analogously as in (226). As the differential

$$d\pi_0 \cong \beta_1 \wedge \left(f'\alpha - ff'\beta_0 + f''\nu_2\alpha_0 \right) + f'\beta_2 \wedge \alpha_0 \pmod{dx}$$
(233)

is concerned, we refer to formula in Section 6. The contact forms must be replaced with the standard basis by using the right-hand formulae (93). Then we may use the lucky identity

$$d\pi_1 = d\mathscr{L}_D \pi_0 = \mathscr{L}_D d\pi_0 \tag{234}$$

in order to determine the last summand in (231). In the end, the standard basis π_r in (231) can be easily replaced by the invariant forms $\breve{\pi}_r$ (r = 0, 1, ...) and we are done.

9. The Order-Increasing Case

Let us eventually return to the main topic, the differential equations. We will finish this paper with decisive examples of higher-order symmetries, namely, with symmetries of the Monge equation

$$\frac{dw}{dx} = F\left(x, u, v, w, \frac{du}{dx}, \frac{dv}{dx}\right)$$
(235)

involving three unknown functions u = u(x), v = v(x), and w = w(x). Let us directly turn to the internal theory carried out by using the underlying space **M** with coordinates

$$x, u_r, v_r, w_0$$
 (r = 0, 1, ...), (236)

diffiety $\Omega \subset \Phi(\mathbf{M})$ with the basis

$$\alpha_r = du_r - u_{r+1}dx,$$

$$\beta_r = dv_r - v_{r+1}dx \quad (r = 0, 1, ...),$$

$$\gamma_0 = dw_0 - F(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, u_1, v_1) dx$$
(237)

and the total derivative

$$D = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum u_{r+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_r} + \sum v_{r+1} \frac{\partial}{\partial v_r} + F \frac{\partial}{\partial w_0} \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (238)

We also introduce functions and differential forms

$$w_{r} = D^{r} w_{0} \in \mathscr{F} (\mathbf{M}),$$

$$\gamma_{r} = \mathscr{L}_{D}^{r} \gamma_{0} = dw_{r} - w_{r+1} dx \in \Omega \qquad (239)$$

$$(r = 0, 1, ...)$$

for the formal reasons. The natural filtration Ω_* in accordance with the order is such that the forms $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_l, \beta_0, \ldots, \beta_l, \gamma_0$ are taken for the basis of submodule $\Omega_l \subset \Omega$ ($l = 0, 1, \ldots$). Let us determine the corresponding standard filtration $\overline{\Omega}_*$. Clearly

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\gamma_{0} = \gamma_{1} = F_{u_{0}}\alpha_{0} + F_{v_{0}}\beta_{0} + F_{w_{0}}\gamma_{0} + F_{u,}\alpha_{1} + F_{v,}\beta_{1}$$
(240)

and therefore

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\left(\gamma_{0} - F_{u_{1}}\alpha_{0} - F_{v_{1}}\beta_{0}\right) = \left(F_{u_{0}} - DF_{u_{1}}\right)\alpha_{0} + \left(F_{v_{0}} - DF_{v_{1}}\right)\beta_{0} + F_{w_{0}}\gamma_{0} \in \Omega_{0}.$$
(241)

Denoting $\pi = \gamma_0 - F_{u_1}\alpha_0 - F_{v_1}\beta_0$, we obtain

$$\mathscr{L}_{D}\pi = \left(F_{u_{0}} - DF_{u_{1}}\right)\alpha_{0} + \left(F_{v_{0}} - DF_{v_{1}}\right)\beta_{0} + F_{w_{0}}\gamma_{0}$$

$$= A\alpha_{0} + B\beta_{0} + F_{w_{0}}\pi \in \Omega_{0}$$

$$\left(A = F_{u_{0}} - DF_{u_{1}} + F_{w_{0}}F_{u_{1}}, B = F_{v_{0}} - DF_{v_{1}} + F_{w_{0}}F_{v_{1}}\right).$$

(242)

We will not deal with the case when A = B = 0 identically. Let us instead suppose that $A \neq 0$ from now on. Then $\mathscr{R}(\Omega) = 0$ and we may introduce standard filtration $\overline{\Omega}_*$ of diffiety Ω where the form

$$\pi_0^1 = \pi = \gamma_0 - F_{u_1} \alpha_0 - F_{v_1} \beta_0 \tag{243}$$

generates $\overline{\Omega}_0$ and in general the forms

$$\pi_{r}^{1} = \mathscr{L}_{D}^{r} \pi \quad (r = 0, ..., l),$$

$$\pi_{r}^{2} = \beta_{r} \quad (r = 0, ..., l - 1)$$
(244)

generate module $\overline{\Omega}_l$ ($l \ge 1$). Notation (53) with indices is retained here. With this preparation, we are passing to the symmetries of diffiety Ω . Theorem 26 and Remark 27 fail since $\mu(\Omega) = 2$ in our case. There exist many standard filtrations of Ω and we may also expect the existence of the order-destroying symmetries.

The preparation is done; however, before passing to quite explicit examples, certain general aspects are worth mentioning. We recall Figure 3 which can be transparently illustrated just at this place for the first time.

First of all, every *order-preserving symmetry* **m** on scheme (a) of Figure 3 obviously satisfies certain formulae

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \alpha_{0} = a^{1} \alpha_{0} + a^{2} \beta_{0} + a^{3} \gamma_{0},$$

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \beta_{0} = b^{1} \alpha_{0} + b^{2} \beta_{0} + b^{3} \gamma_{0},$$

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \gamma_{0} = c^{1} \alpha_{0} + c^{2} \beta_{0} + c^{3} \gamma_{0},$$

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} a^{1} & a^{2} & a^{3} \\ b^{1} & b^{2} & b^{3} \\ c^{1} & c^{2} & c^{3} \end{pmatrix} \neq 0,$$

(245)

where the coefficients cannot be in fact arbitrary since they are subjected to identity (240). In more detail, we have

$$DW \cdot \mathbf{m}^* \gamma_1$$

$$= \mathscr{L}_D \mathbf{m}^* \gamma_0$$

$$= Dc^1 \alpha_0 + Dc^2 \beta_0 + Dc^3 \gamma_0 + c^1 \alpha_1 + c^2 \beta_1 + c^3 \gamma_1$$

$$(W = \mathbf{m}^* x)$$
(246)

in accordance with (63). Alternatively (240) implies

$$\mathbf{m}^* \gamma_1 = \mathbf{m}^* F_{u_0} \cdot \mathbf{m}^* \alpha_0 + \dots + \mathbf{m}^* F_{v_1} \cdot \mathbf{m}^* \beta_1, \qquad (247)$$

where the forms $\mathbf{m}^* \alpha_0, ..., \mathbf{m}^* \beta_1$ can be expressed in terms of forms $\alpha_0, ..., \gamma_1$. The comparison provides many unpleasant interrelations among coefficients $a^1, ..., c^3$.

However, by using the standard basis, the same symmetry satisfies shorter formulae

$$\mathbf{m}^* \pi_0^1 = a \pi_0^1$$

(hence, automatically $DW\mathbf{m}^*\pi_1^1 = Da\pi_0^1 + a\pi_1^1$), (248)

$$\mathbf{m}^* \pi_0^2 = b_0^1 \pi_0^1 + b_0^2 \pi_0^2 + b_1^1 \pi_1^1$$

with coefficients subjected only to the inequalities $a \neq 0$ and $b_0^2 \neq 0$ at this place. We employ the fact that both triples $\alpha_0, \beta_0, \gamma_0$ and $\pi_0^1, \pi_0^2, \pi_1^1$ are bases of module Ω_0 . Moreover **m**^{*} preserves the natural filtration Ω_* and therefore also the corresponding standard filtration $\overline{\Omega}_*$. Especially, the initial term $\overline{\Omega}_0$ is preserved and **m**^{*} π_0^1 is a mere multiple of π_0^1 .

The order-preserving infinitesimal symmetry Z corresponding to scheme (a) satisfies either the system

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\alpha_{0} = \lambda_{1}\alpha_{0} + \lambda_{2}\beta_{0} + \lambda_{3}\gamma_{0},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\beta_{0} = \mu_{1}\alpha_{0} + \mu_{2}\beta_{0} + \mu_{3}\gamma_{0},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\gamma_{0} = \nu_{1}\alpha_{0} + \nu_{2}\beta_{0} + \nu_{3}\gamma_{0}$$

(249)

with coefficients subjected to many identities analogous as above or, alternatively, the equivalent and shorter system

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{1} = \mu\pi_{0}^{1}$$
(hence $\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{1}^{1} = D\mu\pi_{0}^{1} + (\mu - DZx)\pi_{1}^{1}$), (250)
 $\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{2} = \lambda_{0}^{1}\pi_{0}^{1} + \lambda_{0}^{2}\pi_{0}^{2} + \lambda_{1}^{1}\pi_{1}^{1}$

with arbitrary coefficients in terms of the standard basis. For the middle equation use the identity

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{1}^{1} = \mathscr{L}_{Z}\mathscr{L}_{D}\pi_{0}^{1} = \mathscr{L}_{D}\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{1} - Dz\pi_{1}^{1} \quad (z = Zx).$$
(251)

This follows from the Lie bracket formula $[D, Z] = Dz \cdot D$ which is true if and only if *Z* is a variation of diffiety Ω . The *Cartan's general equivalence method* [23] *can be applied* to this order-preserving symmetry problem; however, we will mention the *Lie approach* later on.

With this result, the simplest possible *order-increasing symmetry* **m** on scheme (c) of Figure 3 can be introduced by the equations

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{1} = a^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + a^{2} \pi_{0}^{2},$$

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{2} = b^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + b^{2} \pi_{0}^{2} + b \left(a^{1} \pi_{1}^{1} + a^{2} \pi_{1}^{2} \right),$$

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} a^{1} & b^{1} - bDa^{1} \\ a^{2} & b^{2} - bDa^{2} \end{pmatrix} \neq 0.$$
 (252)

$$DW\mathbf{m}^*\pi_1^1 = \mathscr{L}_D\mathbf{m}^*\pi_0^1$$

= $Da^1\pi_0^1 + Da^2\pi_0^2 + a^1\pi_1^1 + a^2\pi_1^2$ (253)

and it follows that

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{2} - bDW \mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{1}^{1}$$

$$= (b^{1} - bDa^{1}) \pi_{0}^{1} + (b^{2} - bDa^{2}) \pi_{0}^{2} \in \mathbf{m}^{*} \Omega.$$
(254)

Inclusions $\pi_0^1, \pi_0^2 \in \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$ therefore hold true and Lemma 21 can be applied.

In order to state another example to scheme (c), let us consider the equations

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{1} = a_{0}^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + a_{0}^{2} \pi_{0}^{2} + a_{1}^{1} \pi_{1}^{1} + a_{1}^{2} \pi_{1}^{2},$$

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{2} = b_{0}^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + b_{0}^{2} \pi_{0}^{2} + b_{1}^{1} \pi_{1}^{1} + b_{1}^{2} \pi_{1}^{2}.$$
 (255)

Invertibility of such morphism **m** is ensured if $b_1^i = ba_1^i$, $b_0^i - ba_0^i = aa_1^i$ (i = 1, 2) for appropriate factors $a \neq 0, b$ and if moreover

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} a_1^1 & a_0^1 - Da_1^1 \\ a_1^2 & a_0^2 - Da_1^2 \end{pmatrix} \neq 0.$$
 (256)

For the proof of invertibility, apply \mathscr{L}_D to the inclusion

$$\frac{1}{a} \left(\mathbf{m}^* \pi_0^2 - b \mathbf{m}^* \pi_0^1 \right) = a_1^1 \pi_0^1 + a_1^2 \pi_0^2 \in \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$$
(257)

and verify that $\pi_0^1, \pi_0^2 \in \mathbf{m}^* \Omega$.

In both examples, *the common general equivalence method* [23] *fails*. The corresponding *variations* Z can be introduced and are rather interesting though *they do not generate* any symmetry groups. See Remark 46 below.

It is also easy to illustrate scheme (b) of Figure 3 by using the symmetries \mathbf{m} and infinitesimal symmetries Z such that

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{1} = a^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + a^{2} \pi_{0}^{2},$$

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{2} = b^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + b^{2} \pi_{0}^{2},$$

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} a^{1} & a^{2} \\ b^{1} & b^{2} \end{pmatrix} \neq 0,$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z} \pi_{0}^{1} = \lambda^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + \lambda^{2} \pi_{0}^{2},$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z} \pi_{0}^{2} = \mu^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + \mu^{2} \pi_{0}^{2}.$$

(258)

(Hint: Theorem 24 can be trivially applied and the natural filtration is not preserved, if $a^2 \neq 0$ and $\lambda^2 \neq 0$.) Another example is provided by the equations

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{1} = a_{0}^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + a_{0}^{2} \pi_{0}^{2} + a_{1}^{2} \pi_{1}^{2},$$

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{2} = b \pi_{0}^{2},$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z} \pi_{0}^{1} = \mu_{0}^{1} \pi_{0}^{1} + \mu_{0}^{2} \pi_{0}^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2} \pi_{1}^{2},$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z} \pi_{0}^{2} = \mu \pi_{0}^{2}$$
(259)

"symmetrical" to the order-preserving case. The classical Lie's infinitesimal symmetries and the Cartan's equivalence method *can be both applied without any change*.

We have briefly indicated only the simplest devices here and refer to [2, Section 4] for the universal construction. A complete overview of all possible higher-order symmetries of (235) is lying beyond any actual imagination. For instance, the composition $\mathbf{m}_1 \circ \mathbf{m}_2$ of symmetries and the conjugate groups $\mathbf{m} \circ \mathbf{m}(\lambda) \circ \mathbf{m}^{-1}$ to a given group provide much more complicated examples than the original components $\mathbf{m}_1, \mathbf{m}_2, \mathbf{m}$, and $\mathbf{m}(\lambda)$. The definition equations for such *composition of symmetries* can be directly found and they look rather depressively for the time being.

10. Concluding Examples on Infinitesimal Symmetries

We deal only with a simplified equation (235), namely, with the equation

$$\frac{dw}{dx} = F\left(\frac{du}{dx}, \frac{dv}{dx}\right) \tag{260}$$

for good reasons to be clarified in the Appendix. Let us abbreviate

$$F_{1} = F_{u_{1}}, \qquad F^{1} = F_{v_{1}}, \qquad F_{11} = F_{u_{1}u_{1}},$$

$$F_{1}^{1} = F_{u_{1}v_{1}}, \qquad F^{11} = F_{v_{1}v_{1}}$$
(261)

from now on. The crucial identity (240) then reads

$$\mathscr{L}_D \gamma_0 = \gamma_1 = F_1 \alpha_1 + F^1 \beta_1 \tag{262}$$

and we recall the standard basis $\pi_r^1 = \mathscr{L}_D^r \pi_0^1$, $\pi_r^2 = \mathscr{L}_D^r \pi_0^2 = \beta_r$ (r = 0, 1, ...), where

$$\pi_0^1 = \gamma_0 - F_1 \alpha_0 - F^1 \beta_0,$$

$$\pi_1^1 = -DF_1 \alpha_0 - DF^1 \beta_0$$
(263)

in terms of the simplified notation. The formulae

$$d\pi_0^1 = dx \wedge \pi_1^1 + \left(F_{11}\alpha_0 + F_1^1\beta_0\right) \wedge \alpha_1$$
$$+ \left(F_1^1\alpha_0 + F^{11}\beta_0\right) \wedge \beta_1, \qquad (264)$$
$$d\pi_0^2 = dx \wedge \beta_1$$

easily follow. On this occasion, we also recall more general adjustments

$$\lambda \mathbf{m}^* \mathscr{L}_D \boldsymbol{\omega} = \mathscr{L}_D \mathbf{m}^* \boldsymbol{\omega}$$

(\omega \in \Omega, \lambda = DW, W = \mathbf{m}^* \mathbf{x}), (265)

$$(\mathscr{L}_D \omega)(Z) = D(\omega(Z)) \quad (\omega \in \Omega)$$
 (266)

of Lemmas 17 and 23. The factor $\lambda \neq 0$ appearing here can be defined by the congruence $\mathbf{m}^* dx \cong \lambda dx \pmod{\Omega}$ as well.

Several symmetry problems for (260) will be mentioned. We start with examples on *infinitesimal symmetries* Z and demonstrate our approach both using the traditional orderpreserving case and then employing two technically quite analogous order-increasing symmetry problems. The calculations are elementary but not of a mere mechanical nature and the concise form of the final results is worth attention. That is, by using the series (268) with the standard basis, the unknown functions z, p, and q satisfy quite reasonable and explicitly solvable conditions. Denoting

$$a_{0} = \alpha_{0}(Z), \qquad a_{1} = \alpha_{1}(Z) = Da_{0},$$

$$p = \pi_{0}^{1}(Z), \qquad q = \pi_{0}^{2}(Z) = \beta_{0}(Z), \qquad (267)$$

$$z = Zx,$$

we simulate the procedure of Section 6 and our method again rests on the explicit formula

$$Z = z \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \sum D^r p \frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_r^1} + \sum D^r q \frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_r^2}$$
(268)

for all *variations Z*. We recall that *infinitesimal symmetries Z* moreover satisfy certain additional requirements in order to ensure the conditions of Theorem 24. The choice of such requirements which is arbitrary to a large extent (dotted lines in Figure 3(b)) strongly affects the final result, the resulting symmetries *Z*. Altogether taken, reasonings of this Section 10 belong to the *Lie's theory* appropriately adapted to the infinite-dimensional spaces. On the contrary, we will conclude this paper with only few remarks on the true (not group-like) higher-order *symmetries* **m** in subsequent Section 11. The reasonings can be related to the E. Cartan's *general equivalence method* [16, 23] and they would deserve more space than it is possible here.

Let us turn to proper examples.

(ι) The Order-Preserving Symmetry Problem. We again intentionally start with a mere "traditional" case. Let us deal with infinitesimal symmetries Z satisfying

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{1} = \mu\pi_{0}^{1} = \mu\left(\gamma_{0} - F_{1}\alpha_{0} - F^{1}\beta_{0}\right),$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{2} = \lambda_{0}^{1}\pi_{0}^{1} + \lambda_{0}^{2}\pi_{0}^{2} + \lambda_{1}^{1}\pi_{1}^{1} \qquad (269)$$
$$= \mu^{1}\alpha_{0} + \mu^{2}\beta_{0} + \mu^{3}\gamma_{0}.$$

We use the "hybrid" equations involving both the standard basis and the contact forms. Let us recall the explicit formula (268) for all *variations*. We have moreover the above equations (269) in order to obtain the true *infinitesimal symmetries*. In more detail

$$Z \rfloor d\pi_0^1 + dp = \mu \left(\gamma_0 - F_1 \alpha_0 - F^1 \beta_0 \right),$$

$$Z \rfloor d\pi_0^2 + dq = \mu^1 \alpha_0 + \mu^2 \beta_0 + \mu^3 \gamma_0$$
(270)

should be satisfied. Analogously as in Section 6, this is expressed by the *resolving system*

$$zDF_{1} + F_{11}a_{1} + F_{1}^{1}Dq = p_{u_{0}} + \mu F_{1},$$

$$zDF^{1} + F_{1}^{1}a_{1} + F^{11}Dq = p_{v_{0}} + \mu F^{1},$$

$$F_{11}a_{0} + F_{1}^{1}q + p_{u_{1}} = 0,$$

$$F_{1}^{1}a_{0} + F^{11}q + p_{v_{1}} = 0,$$

$$p_{w_{0}} = \mu,$$

$$p_{u_{r}} = p_{v_{r}} = 0 \quad (r \ge 2),$$

$$q_{u_{0}} = \mu^{1}, \qquad q_{v_{0}} = \mu^{2}, \qquad q_{w_{0}} = \mu^{3},$$

$$q_{u_{r}} = 0 \quad (r \ge 1),$$

$$z + q_{v_{1}} = 0,$$

$$q_{v} = 0 \quad (r \ge 2)$$

$$(272)$$

by using (264) and $\beta_1(Z) = D\beta_0(Z) = Dq$. It follows that only (271) with $\mu = p_{w_0}$, $z = -q_{v_1}$ inserted and coefficients a_0, a_1 given by

$$a_0 DF_1 + qDF^1 + Dp = 0, \qquad a_1 = Da_0$$
 (273)

are the most important.

Let us denote $\Delta = (F_1^1)^2 - F_{11}F^{11}$ and assume $\Delta \neq 0$ from now on. Equations (271) are equivalent to

$$\Delta Dq = \det \begin{pmatrix} p_{u_0} + p_{w_0}F_1 + q_{v_1}DF_1 & F_{11} \\ p_{v_0} + p_{w_0}F^1 + q_{v_1}DF^1 & F_1^1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Delta a_1 = \det \begin{pmatrix} F_1^1 & p_{u_0} + p_{w_0}F_1 + q_{v_1}DF_1 \\ F^{11} & p_{v_0} + p_{w_0}F^1 + q_{v_1}DF^1, \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Delta q = \det \begin{pmatrix} F_{11} & p_{u_1} \\ F_1^1 & p_{v_1} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Delta a_0 = \det \begin{pmatrix} p_{u_1} & F_1^1 \\ p_{v_1} & F^{11} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(274)
(275)

We have unknown functions

$$p = p(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, u_1, v_1),$$

$$q = q(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, v_1)$$
(276)

and let us pass to the solution of (273), (274), and (275). The first equation (273) multiplied by function Δ reads

$$(F_{11}u_2 + F_1^1v_2) \Delta a_0 + (F_1^1u_2 + F^{11}v_2) \Delta q + (\mathcal{D}p + p_{u_1}u_2 + p_{v_1}v_2) \Delta = 0$$
(277)

and therefore implies only the identity

$$\mathcal{D}p = 0 \quad \left(\mathcal{D} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_0} + v_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial v_0} + F \frac{\partial}{\partial w_0}\right), \quad (278)$$

if both equations (275) are accepted (direct verification). Alternatively saying, second equation (275) can be regarded for a *definition of function* a_0 if (278) is taken into account. Let us denote $G = \Delta a_0$ for a moment. Then

$$DG = D\Delta \cdot a_0 + \Delta \cdot Da_0 = D\Delta \cdot \frac{G}{\Delta} + \Delta \cdot a_1,$$

$$\Delta \cdot DG - G \cdot D\Delta = a_1 \cdot (\Delta)^2$$
(279)

and the second equation (274) reads

$$\Delta \cdot DG - G \cdot D\Delta = \Delta \cdot \det(\cdots)$$
 (280)

with the same determinant. Lower-order terms clearly provide the equation

$$\mathscr{D}G = \det \begin{pmatrix} F_1^1 & p_{u_0} + p_{w_0}F_1 \\ F^{11} & p_{v_0} + p_{w_0}F^1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(281)

and coefficients of v_2 give

$$\Delta \cdot G_{\nu_1} - G \cdot \Delta_{\nu_1} = 0, \text{ hence } G = g(x, u_0, \nu_0, w_0) \Delta \quad (282)$$

for appropriate function g; however trivially $g = a_0$. With this result, we obtain

$$\Delta \left(g_{u_1} \Delta + g \Delta_{u_1} \right) - g \Delta \cdot \Delta_{u_1}$$

= $\Delta \det \begin{pmatrix} F_1^1 & q_{\nu_1} F_{11} \\ F^{11} & q_{\nu_1} F_1^1 \end{pmatrix} = (\Delta)^2 q_{\nu_1}$ (283)

by inspection of coefficients of v_2 . It follows that $g_{u_1} = q_{v_1}$, whence

$$g = R(x, u_0, v_0, w_0) u_1 + S(x, u_0, v_0, w_0),$$

$$q = R(x, u_0, v_0, w_0) v_1 + T(x, u_0, v_0, w_0).$$
(284)

Analogously the lower-order terms of the first equation (274) give

$$\Delta \cdot \mathscr{D}q = \det \begin{pmatrix} p_{u_0} + p_{w_0}F_1 & F_{11} \\ p_{v_0} + p_{w_0}F^1 & F_1^1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(285)

while the second-order terms do not provide any new requirements.

Let us finally recall (275) with $a_0 = g$ and q given by (284) inserted. These equations turn into the compatible system

$$p_{u_1} + (Ru_1 + S) F_{11} + (Rv_1 + T) F_1^1 = 0,$$

$$p_{v_1} + (Ru_1 + S) F_1^1 + (Rv_1 + T) F^{11} = 0$$
(286)

for the function p with the solution

$$p = (F - F_1 u_1 - F^1 v_1) R - F_1 S - F^1 T + C$$

$$(C = C(x, u_0, v_0, w_0)).$$
(287)

Then (278) is expressed by the *crucial requirement*

$$\left(F - F_1 u_1 - F^1 v_1\right) \cdot \mathscr{D}R - F_1 \cdot \mathscr{D}S - F^1 \cdot \mathscr{D}T + \mathscr{D}C = 0$$
(288)

for the functions *R*, *S*, *T* and *C*. One can moreover verify with the help of

$$0 = (\mathscr{D}p)_{u_1} = \mathscr{D}(p_{u_1}) + p_{u_0} + p_{w_0}F_1,$$

$$0 = (\mathscr{D}p)_{v_1} = \mathscr{D}(p_{v_1}) + p_{v_0} + p_{w_0}F^1$$
(289)

that the remaining equations (281) and (285) become identities.

Let us summarize our achievements. Assuming $(F_1^1)^2 \neq F_{11}F^{11}$, all infinitesimal symmetries (268) are determined by formula (287), the second equation (284) and $z = -q_{v_1} = -R$ with functions R, S, T, C of variables x_0, u_0, v_0, w_0 satisfying (288).

Traditional methods are sufficient to analyze thoroughly (288). Passing to more details, we have

$$(F - F_{1}u_{1} - F^{1}v_{1}) (u_{1}R_{u_{0}} + v_{1}R_{v_{0}} + FR_{w_{0}}) - F_{1} (S_{x} + u_{1} (S_{u_{0}} + R_{x}) + v_{1}S_{v_{0}} + FS_{w_{0}}) - F^{1} (T_{x} + u_{1}T_{u_{0}} + v_{1} (T_{v_{0}} + R_{x}) + FT_{w_{0}}) + C_{x} + u_{1}C_{u_{0}} + v_{1}C_{v_{0}} + F (C_{w_{0}} + R_{x}) = 0.$$

$$(290)$$

Analogously as in Section 6, the large series of coefficients

$$Fu_1, F_1(u_1)^2, F^1v_1u_1, Fv_1, F_1u_1v_1, \dots, 1, u_1, v_1, F$$
(291)

appears. If these functions are \mathbb{R} -linearly independent, only the solution *R*, *S*, *T*, *C* such that

$$R_{u_0} = R_{v_0} = R_{w_0} = S_x = S_{u_0} + R_x$$

= \dots = C_{v_0} = C_{w_0} + R_x = 0 (292)

is possible. It follows that

$$R = a_1 x + a_2, \qquad S = -a_1 u_0 + a_3,$$

$$T = -a_1 v_0 + a_4, \qquad C = -a_1 w_0 + a_5,$$
(293)

where $a_1, \ldots, a_5 \in \mathbb{R}$ are arbitrary constants. This result provides the obvious symmetries which are self-evident at a first glance, the coordinate shifts and the similarity.

For a special choice of function *F*, the symmetry group may be very large and less trivial. We can mention the case $F = u_1v_1$. Then the arising system of five equations

$$R_{x} + S_{u_{0}} + T_{v_{0}} - C_{w_{0}}$$

$$= R_{u_{0}} + T_{w_{0}}$$

$$= R_{v_{0}} + S_{w_{0}} = T_{x} - C_{u_{0}} = S_{x} - C_{v_{0}} = 0$$
(294)

for the unknown functions

$$R = R(x, u_0, v_0), \qquad S = S(x, u_0, w_0),$$

$$T = T(x, v_0, w_0) = C(u_0, v_0, w_0),$$
(295)

can be resolved by

$$R = a_1 x + a_2 u_0 + a_3 v_0 + a_4,$$

$$S = a_5 x + a_6 u_0 - a_3 w_0 + a_7,$$

$$T = a_8 x + a_9 v_0 - a_2 w_0 + a_{10},$$

$$C = a_8 u_0 + a_6 v_0 + (a_1 + a_6 + a_9) w_0 + a_{11},$$

(296)

where $a_1, \ldots, a_{11} \in \mathbb{R}$ are arbitrary constants.

We omit more examples, in particular the interesting cases (with \mathbb{R} -linear dependence of functions $F - F_1u_1 - F^1v_1, F_1, F^1, 1$) where the infinitesimal symmetries depend on arbitrary functions and the "degenerate" cases when either $\Delta = 0$ or $DF_1 = DF^1 = 0$ identically.

(*u*) *The Order-Increasing Infinitesimal Symmetry*. Let us mention variations (268) satisfying moreover the equations

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{1} = \mu_{0}^{1}\pi_{0}^{1} + \mu_{0}^{2}\pi_{0}^{2} + \mu_{1}^{2}\pi_{1}^{2}, \qquad \mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{2} = \mu\pi_{0}^{2}$$
(297)

which provide the order-increasing case, if $\mu_1^2 \neq 0$. One can then obtain the *resolving system*

$$zDF_{1} + F_{11}a_{1} + F_{1}^{1}Dq - p_{u_{0}} - p_{w_{0}}F_{1}$$

$$= F_{11}a_{0} + F_{1}^{1}q + p_{u_{1}} = z + q_{v_{1}} = 0$$
(298)

for the unknown functions

$$p = p(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, u_1, v_1),$$

$$q = q(x, v_0, v_1), \qquad z = z(x, v_0, v_1)$$
(299)

and moreover formula

$$\mu_1^2 = F_1^1 a_0 + F^{11} q + p_{\nu_1} = -F_1^1 \frac{q D F^1 + D p}{D F_1} + F^{11} q + p_{\nu_1}$$
(300)

for the coefficient μ_1^2 . We mention only the particular case $F = u_1v_1$. Then the resolving system reads $-q_{v_1}v_2 + Dq - p_{u_0} - p_{w_0}v_1 = q + p_{u_1} = 0$ and admits the solution

$$p = -qu_1 + (q_x + q_{v_0}v_1)u_0 + P(x, v_1u_0 - w_0, v_0, v_1),$$
(301)

where the functions $q = q(x, v_0, v_1)$ and $P = P(x, v_1u_0 - w_0, v_0, v_1)$ may be arbitrarily chosen. Since the above coefficient

$$\mu_1^2 = -\frac{1}{\nu_2} \left(q u_2 + D p \right) + p_{\nu_1} \tag{302}$$

does not in general vanish, we have a large family of orderincreasing infinitesimal symmetries.

(*uu*) Another Order-Increasing Case. Let us mention variations (268) satisfying the equations

$$\mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{1} = \lambda^{1}\pi_{0}^{1} + \lambda^{2}\pi_{0}^{2}, \qquad \mathscr{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{2} = \mu^{1}\pi_{0}^{1} + \mu^{2}\pi_{0}^{2} \quad (303)$$

which provide an order-increasing case if $\lambda^2 \neq 0$. The *resolving* system

$$zDF_{1} + F_{11}a_{1} + F_{1}^{1}Dq - p_{u_{0}} - p_{w_{0}}F_{1} = 0,$$

$$F_{11}a_{0} + F_{1}^{1}q + p_{u_{1}} = F_{1}^{1}a_{0} + F^{11}q + p_{v_{1}} = 0,$$
 (304)

$$q_{u_{0}} + q_{w_{0}}F_{1} = q_{v_{1}} + z = 0$$

for the unknown functions

$$p = p(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, u_1, v_1),$$

$$q = q(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, v_1),$$

$$z = z(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, v_1)$$
(305)

looks more complicated. One can also obtain the formula

$$\lambda^{2} = q_{\nu_{1}}DF^{1} - F_{1}^{1}a_{1} - F^{11}Dq + p_{\nu_{0}} + p_{w_{0}}F^{1}$$
(306)

for the important coefficient λ^2 . Let us again mention only the particular case $F = u_1v_1$. Then the resolving system is simplified as

$$q_{\nu_1}\nu_2 - Dq + p_{u_0} + p_{w_0}\nu_1 = q + p_{u_1}$$

= $qu_2 + Dp - p_{\nu_1}\nu_2 = q_{u_0} + q_{w_0}\nu_1 = 0.$ (307)

It follows immediately that $p = -qu_1 + P$ and the resolving system is reduced to the equations

$$\mathcal{D}q = P_{u_0} + P_{w_0}v_1, \qquad u_1\mathcal{D}q = \mathcal{D}P,$$

$$q_{u_0} + q_{w_0}v_1 = 0 \qquad (308)$$

$$\left(\mathcal{D} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_1\frac{\partial}{\partial u_0} + v_1\frac{\partial}{\partial v_0} + F\frac{\partial}{\partial w_0}\right)$$

for the unknown functions *P* and *q* of variables x, u_0, v_0, w_0, v_1 . This implies that $q = Q(x, w, v_0, v_1)$, where $w = w_0 - v_1 u_0$ and we obtain two equations

$$Q_x + Q_{\nu_0}\nu_1 = P_{\mu_0} + P_{\omega_0}\nu_1, \qquad P_x + P_{\nu_0}\nu_1 = 0$$
 (309)

with the solution $P = \overline{P}(v_0 - xv_1, w_0 - u_0v_1, v_1) + \overline{Q}$, where \overline{P} may be arbitrary function while $\overline{Q} = \overline{Q}(x, u_0, v_0, w_0, v_1)$ is a fixed particular solution of differential equation

$$Q_x + Q_{\nu_0} \nu_1 = \overline{Q}_{\mu_0} + \overline{Q}_{\mu_0} \nu_1$$
(310)

satisfying moreover the identity $\overline{Q}_x + \overline{Q}_{v_0}v_1 = 0$. We may choose the particular solution $\overline{Q} = (Q_x + Q_{v_0}v_1)u_0$. Then the identity turns into the requirement $(\partial/\partial x + v_1\partial/\partial v_0)^2 Q = 0$ which is satisfied if

$$Q = Q_1(w, v_1) x + Q_0(w, v_1) \quad (w = w_0 - v_1 u_0).$$
(311)

Altogether taken, we have obtained the final solution

$$p = -qu_1 + \overline{P} + \left(Q_x + Q_{\nu_0}\nu_1\right)u_0,$$

$$q = Q = Q_1x + Q_0,$$
(312)

where

$$\overline{P} = \overline{P}(v_0 - xv_1, w, v_1), \qquad Q_1 = Q_1(w, v_1), Q_0 = Q_0(w, v_1), \qquad w = w_0 - v_1 u_0$$
(313)

and \overline{P} , Q_1 , Q_0 are quite arbitrary functions. The abovementioned coefficient λ^2 does not in general vanish. (Indeed, look at the top-order summands

$$\lambda^2 = \dots - F_1^1 a_1 + \dots = \dots - a_1 + \dots$$
, (314)

where $v_2a_0 = \cdots + Dp$ by virtue of (263); hence, $v_2a_1 = \cdots + D^2p = \cdots - D^2(qu_1) = \cdots - qu_3$ may be substituted.) We again have an order-increasing infinitesimal symmetry.

Remark 45. Variations Z satisfying (269) preserve the Pfaffian system $\pi_0^1 = \pi_0^2 = \pi_1^1 = 0$ and therefore generate a group for analogous reasons as in Remark 29. Variations Z satisfying (297) preserve the Pfaffian system $\pi_0^1 = \pi_0^2 =$ $\pi_1^2 = 0$ and the case of requirements (303) is quite trivial in this respect. It follows that we have indeed obtained the *infinitesimal symmetries* Z.

11. Concluding Example on Order-Increasing Symmetries

Passing from infinitesimal symmetries Z to the true symmetries \mathbf{m} , the linear theory is replaced with highly nonlinear area of Pfaffian equations and the prolongation into involutiveness. In accordance with E. Cartan's notice, nobody should expect such easily available results as in the Lie's infinitesimal theory. Our modest aim is twofold: to perform an economical reduction of the symmetry problem to finite dimension and to point out a useful interrelation between appropriate variations Z and one-parameter families $\mathbf{m}(t)$ of higher-order symmetries. We again deal only with (260).

(ι) Setting the Problem. Let us deal with symmetries **m** such that

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \pi_{0}^{i}$$

$$= a^{i} \alpha_{0} + b^{i} \beta_{0} + c^{i} \gamma_{0}$$

$$= \left(a^{i} + F_{1} c^{i}\right) \alpha_{0} + \left(b^{i} + F^{1} c^{i}\right) \beta_{0} + c^{i} \pi_{0}^{1} \quad (i = 1, 2).$$
(315)

Invertibility of m is obviously ensured if

$$det \begin{pmatrix} a^{1} + F_{1}c^{1} & a^{2} + F_{1}c^{2} \\ b^{1} + F^{1}c^{1} & b^{2} + F^{1}c^{2} \end{pmatrix} = 0,$$

$$det \begin{pmatrix} a^{1} & a^{2} & Da^{1} - uDa^{2} \\ b^{1} & b^{2} & Db^{1} - uDb^{2} \\ c^{1} & c^{2} & Dc^{1} - uDc^{2} \end{pmatrix} \neq 0,$$
(316)

where

$$u = \frac{a^{1} + F_{1}c^{1}}{a^{2} + F_{1}c^{2}} = \frac{b^{1} + F_{1}c^{1}}{b^{2} + F_{1}c^{2}}.$$
 (317)

We tacitly suppose $a^2 + F_1c^2 \neq 0$, $b^2 + F^1c^2 \neq 0$ and one can observe that the particular case u = 0 provides the traditional order-preserving symmetries. Equations (315) can be simplified to the equivalent system of equations

$$\mathbf{m}^{*}\pi_{0}^{1} - u\mathbf{m}^{*}\pi_{0}^{2} = v\pi_{0}^{1},$$

$$\mathbf{n}^{*}\pi_{0}^{2} = a\alpha_{0} + b\beta_{0} + c\gamma_{0},$$

(318)

where $v = c^1 - uc^2$ and $a = a^2$, $b = b^2$, $c = c^2$. The invertibility is ensured by the inequalities

$$v \neq 0,$$
 $\det \begin{pmatrix} a \ F_1 \ DF_1 \\ b \ F^1 \ DF^1 \\ c \ -1 \ 0 \end{pmatrix} \neq 0.$ (319)

Equations (318) will be represented by a Pfaffian system in a certain finite-dimensional space; however, let us again simplify the notation by bars; for example,

$$\overline{x} = \mathbf{m}^* x, \qquad \overline{\pi}_r^i = \mathbf{m}^* \pi_r^i, \qquad \overline{\alpha}_r = \mathbf{m}^* \alpha_r, \overline{\beta}_r = \overline{\pi}_r^2 = \mathbf{m}^* \beta_r = \mathbf{m}^* \pi_r^2,$$
(320)

and so like. Then we have the system

r

$$\overline{\pi}_0^1 - u\overline{\pi}_0^2 = v\pi_0^1, \qquad \overline{\pi}_0^2 = a\alpha_0 + b\beta_0 + c\gamma_0 \tag{321}$$

which should be completed by the exterior derivatives

$$d\overline{\pi}_{0}^{1} - ud\overline{\pi}_{0}^{2} - du \wedge \overline{\pi}_{0}^{2} = dv \wedge \pi_{0}^{1} + vd\pi_{0}^{1},$$

$$d\overline{\pi}_{0}^{2} = da \wedge \alpha_{0} + db \wedge \beta_{0} + dc \wedge \gamma_{0} \qquad (322)$$

$$+ dx \wedge \left((a + F_{1}c) \alpha_{1} + (b + F^{1}c) \beta_{1} \right).$$

We refer to (264) for terms $d\pi_0^1$, $d\overline{\pi}_0^1$ appearing here. We have obtained the *compatibility problem* of (322). The familiar *prolongation criterion* can be shortly expressed as follows. All coefficients and variables with bars are functions of the primary jet variables. So we may suppose, for example,

$$du = Udx + \sum u_r^1 \alpha_r + \sum u_r^2 \beta_r + u_0^3 \gamma_0$$

$$(U = Du)$$
(323)

(with summands of uncertain lengths) and analogously for *dv*, *da*, *db*, *dc* with a little adjustment for the differential

$$d\overline{x} = \lambda \left(dx + \sum \lambda_r^1 \alpha_r + \sum \lambda_r^2 \beta_r + \lambda_0^3 \gamma_0 \right)$$

(\lambda = D\overline{x} = D\overline{w}^* x = DW \right). (324)

Such substitutions into (322) should give identities. However, a short inspection of the summand $\overline{F}_{11}\overline{\alpha}_0 \wedge \overline{\alpha}_1$ in differential $d\overline{\pi}_0^1$ implies that then necessarily either u = 0 (the group case) or $F_{11} = 0$ identically.

(*u*) A Particular Case. It follows that the assumption $F = f(v_1)u_1 + g(v_1)$ is necessary; however, let us again suppose

 $F = u_1 v_1$ from now on. Then (321) may be retained and (322) become more explicit

$$d\overline{x} \wedge \left(\overline{\pi}_{1}^{1} - u\overline{\pi}_{1}^{2}\right) + \overline{\beta}_{0} \wedge \overline{\alpha}_{1} + \overline{\alpha}_{0} \wedge \overline{\beta}_{1} - du \wedge \overline{\pi}_{0}^{2}$$

$$= dv \wedge \pi_{0}^{1} + v \left(dx \wedge \pi_{1}^{1} + \beta_{0} \wedge \alpha_{1} + \alpha_{0} \wedge \beta_{1}\right),$$

$$d\overline{x} \wedge \overline{\pi}_{1}^{2} = da \wedge \alpha_{0} + db \wedge \beta_{0} + dc \wedge \gamma_{0}$$

$$+ dx \wedge \left(\left(a + v_{1}c\right)\alpha_{1} + \left(b + u_{1}c\right)\beta_{1}\right).$$
(325)
(326)

We turn to the prolongation procedure in more detail.

(uu) On the Equation (326). The prolongation should satisfy the identity

$$\lambda \left(dx + \sum \lambda_r^1 \alpha_r + \sum \lambda_r^2 \beta_r + \lambda_0^3 \gamma_0 \right)$$

$$\wedge \frac{1}{\lambda} \left(A\alpha_0 + B\beta_0 + C\gamma_0 + (a + v_1c) \alpha_1 + (b + u_1c) \beta_1 \right)$$

$$= \left(Adx + \sum a_r^1 \alpha_r + \sum a_r^2 \beta_r + a_0^3 \gamma_0 \right) \wedge \alpha_0$$

$$+ \dots + \left(Cdx + \sum c_r^1 \alpha_r + \sum c_r^2 \beta_r + c_0^3 \gamma_0 \right) \wedge \gamma_0$$

$$+ dx \wedge \left((a + v_1c) \alpha_1 + (b + u_1c) \beta_1 \right),$$
(327)

where A = Da, B = Db, C = Dc. All summands with factor $dx \wedge$ mutually cancel. Then we conclude that necessarily $\lambda_r^1 = \lambda_r^2 = 0$ (r > 1) and also $a_r^1 = \cdots = c_r^2 = 0$ (r > 1). It follows that *the problem is reduced to finite dimension*: \overline{x} , a, b, c are functions only of coordinates x, u_0 , v_0 , u_1 , v_1 . Even the explicit formulae can be easily obtained as follows

$$a_{1}^{1} = \lambda_{1}^{1}A - \lambda_{0}^{1} \left(a + v_{1}c \right), \dots, b_{1}^{2} = \lambda_{1}^{2}B - \lambda_{0}^{2} \left(b + u_{1}c \right),$$
$$b_{0}^{1} - a_{0}^{2} = \lambda_{0}^{1}B - \lambda_{0}^{2}A,$$
$$c_{0}^{1} - a_{0}^{3} = \lambda_{0}^{1}C - \lambda_{0}^{3}A,$$
$$c_{0}^{2} - b_{0}^{3} = \lambda_{0}^{2}C - \lambda_{0}^{3}B$$
(328)

for the prolongation where moreover $\lambda_1^1(b+u_1c) = \lambda_1^2(a+v_1c)$ is supposed.

($\iota\nu$) On the Equation (325). Calculations modulo dx are also sufficient here. The prolongation should satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\lambda_0^1 \alpha_0 + \lambda_0^2 \beta_0 + \lambda_0^3 \gamma_0 + \lambda_1^1 \alpha_1 + \lambda_1^2 \beta_1\right) \\ &\wedge \left(V \pi_0^1 + \nu \pi_1^1 + U \overline{\pi}_0^2\right) \\ &- \left(\sum u_r^1 \alpha_r + \sum u_r^2 \beta_r + u_0^3 \gamma_0\right) \wedge \overline{\pi}_0^2 \qquad (329) \\ &- \left(\sum \nu_r^1 \alpha_r + \sum \nu_r^2 \beta_r + \nu_0^3 \gamma_0\right) \wedge \pi_0^1 \\ &= -\overline{\beta}_0 \wedge \overline{\alpha}_1 - \overline{\alpha}_0 \wedge \overline{\beta}_1 + \nu \left(\beta_0 \wedge \alpha_1 + \alpha_0 \wedge \beta_1\right), \end{aligned}$$

where U = Du, V = Dv. We have used the identity

$$\overline{\pi}_1^1 - u\overline{\pi}_1^2 = \frac{1}{\lambda} \mathscr{L}_D \left(\overline{\pi}_0^1 - u\overline{\pi}_0^2 \right) + \frac{U}{\lambda} \overline{\pi}_0^2, \qquad (330)$$

where $\overline{\pi}_0^1 - u\overline{\pi}_0^2 = v\pi_0^1$ is moreover substituted. In order to prove the existence of prolongation, the right-hand side terms should be made more explicit. We recall the identity (263) which gives

$$\pi_1^1 + \nu_2 \alpha_0 + u_2 \pi_0^2 = 0,$$

$$\pi_2^1 + \nu_2 \alpha_0 + \nu_1 \alpha_1 + u_3 \pi_0^2 + u_2 \pi_1^2 = 0$$
(331)

and uniquely determines the forms $\overline{\alpha}_0$ and $\overline{\alpha}_1$ in terms of forms $\overline{\pi}_1^1, \overline{\pi}_0^2, \overline{\pi}_2^1, \overline{\pi}_1^2$ and therefore in terms of contact forms α_r, β_r , and γ_0 , if the rule (265) is applied to the primary equations (321). The result is that

$$\overline{\beta}_{0} \wedge \overline{\alpha}_{1} = \overline{\pi}_{0}^{2} \wedge (\text{a certain sum of forms} \\ \alpha_{0}, \beta_{0}, \gamma_{0}, \alpha_{1}, \beta_{1}, \alpha_{2}, \beta_{2}) \\ \overline{\alpha}_{0} \wedge \overline{\beta}_{1} = -\frac{1}{\overline{v}_{2}} \left(\overline{u}_{2} \overline{\pi}_{0}^{2} + \overline{\pi}_{1}^{1} \right) \wedge (\text{a certain sum of forms} \\ \alpha_{0}, \beta_{0}, \gamma_{0}, \alpha_{1}, \beta_{1}).$$
(332)

On the other hand, inequalities (266) imply that the factors

$$V\pi_0^1 + v\pi_1^1 + U\overline{\pi}_0^2, \overline{\pi}_0^2, \pi_1^1$$
(333)

on the left-hand side of (329) are linearly independent and we conclude that the prolongation can be realized. Moreover u becomes a function of second-order coordinates while x and v are functions of first-order coordinates x, u_0, v_0, w_0, u_1, v as before. *The problem is again reduced to finite-dimension*; however, we do not state explicit formula for the prolongation here.

Remark 46. In accordance with Lie's classical theory, the existence of *infinitesimal symmetries* Z (Figure 5(a)) is equivalent to the existence of a one-parameter *group* $\mathbf{m}(\lambda)$ of symmetries (Figures 3(a) and 3(b)) due to the solvability of the Lie system ensured by Theorem 24. Alas, the "genuine" higher-order symmetries (Figure 3(c)) cannot be obtained in this way and they rest on the toilsome mechanisms of Pfaffian systems. We nevertheless propose a hopeful conjecture as follows. Every one-parameter *family* $\mathbf{m}(t)$ of symmetries ensures the existence of many *variations* Z(t) depending on parameter t (Figure 5(b)). We believe that the converse can be proved as well: one-parameter *families* of symmetries can be reconstructed from a "sufficiently large" supply of *variations*. Indeed, if t is regarded as additional variable of the underlying space, then the family Z(t) turns into a single vector field.

In any case, the existence of many variations is a *necessary condition* for the existence of "genuine" higher-order symmetries and the following point (ν) will be instructive in this respect.

(ν) On the Variations. If a one-parameter family $\mathbf{m}(t) = \mathbf{m}$ (abbreviation) satisfies (318) then the corresponding family





Z(t) = Z (abbreviation) of variations clearly satisfies the system

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{1} - u\mathcal{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{2} - u'\pi_{0}^{2} = v'\pi_{0}^{1},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{Z}\pi_{0}^{2} = a'\alpha_{0} + b'\beta_{0} + c'\gamma_{0},$$
(334)

where u' = Zu, ..., c' = Zc may be regarded as new parameters. Assuming formula (268), one can obtain the resolving system

$$zv_{2} + Dq - p_{u_{0}} - a'v_{1} + uq_{u_{0}}$$

= $q_{u_{0}} + a'v_{1} + c'v_{2} = 0,$ (335)

$$zu_{2} + a_{1} - p_{v_{0}} - a'u_{1} + u' + uq_{v_{0}}$$

= $q_{v_{0}} + a'u_{1} - b' + c'u_{2} = 0,$ (336)

$$q + p_{u_1}$$

= $q_{u_1} = a_0 + p_{v_1} = z + q_{v_1}$ (337)
= $p_{w_0} - v' - uq_{w_0} = q_{w_0} - a' = 0.$

It follows from right-hand equations (337) that $p = -qu_1 + \overline{q}$, where q, \overline{q} do not depend on u_1 . Recalling the identity

$$a_0 v_2 + q u_2 + D p = 0, (338)$$

then the middle equations (337) yield the conditions

$$q_{u_0} + q_{w_0} v_1 = \overline{q}_x + \overline{q}_{v_0} v_1$$

= $q_x + q_{v_0} v_1 - \overline{q}_{u_0} - \overline{q}_{w_0} v_1 = 0$ (339)

and $q = q(x, u_0, v_0, v_1, w_0)$, $\overline{q} = \overline{q}(x, u_0, v_0, v_1, w_0)$. With this result, (335) turns into identity and (336) reduces to the equation

$$u' = u \left(q_{w_0} u_1 - q_{v_0} \right) + u_2 q_{v_1} + D \left(q_{v_1} u_1 - \overline{q}_{v_1} \right) + \overline{q}_{v_0} \quad (340)$$

for the parameter u'. Equations (339) are trivially satisfied if

$$q = Q (xv_1 - v_0, u_0v_1 - w_0, v_1),$$

$$\overline{q} = \overline{Q} (xv_1 - v_0, u_0v_1 - w_0, v_1).$$
(341)

There exist many variations corresponding to (318). The *necessary condition* for the existence of higher-order symmetries is satisfied.

Remark 47. Let us briefly sketch the connection to the general equivalence method [23] by using slightly adapted Cartan's notation. We consider space \mathbb{R}^n (and its counterpart $\overline{\mathbb{R}}^n$) with coordinates $(x) = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ (or $(\overline{x}) = (\overline{x}_1, \ldots, \overline{x}_n)$, resp.) and linearly independent 1-forms $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n$ (and $\overline{\omega}_1, \ldots, \overline{\omega}_n$). In the classical equivalence problem, a mapping **m** should be determined such that

$$\mathbf{m}^{*}\overline{\omega}_{i} = \sum a_{ij}(u) \,\omega_{j}$$

$$(i, j = 1, \dots, n; (x) = \mathbf{m}^{*}(\overline{x}), u = u(x)),$$
(342)

where $(a_{ij}(u))$ is a matrix of a linear group with parameters $(u) = (u_1, \ldots, u_r)$. In Cartan's approach, this requirement is made symmetrical:

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \sum a_{ij}(\overline{u}) \,\overline{\omega}_{i} = \sum a_{ij}(u) \,\omega_{j}$$

$$((x) = \mathbf{m}^{*}(\overline{x}), \,\overline{u} = \overline{u}(x, u)).$$
(343)

This provides the invariant differential forms by appropriate simultaneous adjustments of both sides (343). Such procedure fails, if $(a_{ij}(x))$ is not a matrix of a linear group which happens just in the case of higher-order symmetries on Figure 3(c). Then the corresponding total system (342) with i, j = 1, 2, ... is invertible only in the infinite-dimensional underlying space **M** and $(a_{ij}(u))$ need not be even a square matrix in any finite portion of the system (342). On the other hand, such a finite portion is quite sufficient since Lemma 17 ensures the extension on the total space **M**. The "symmetrization" procedure cannot be applied, invariant differential forms need not exist, and only the common prolongation procedure is available, if the problem is reduced to a finite-dimensional subspace of **M**.

12. Concluding Survey

Our approach to differential equations and our methods differ from the common traditional use. For better clarity, let us briefly report the main novelties as follows: clear interrelation between the external and internal concepts in Remarks 1 and 2; introduction and frequent use of "nonholonomic" series (18); the "absolute" and coordinate-free Definition 4 of ordinary differential equations; the distinction between variations and infinitesimal symmetries in Definition 8; the main tool, the standard bases generalizing the common contact forms in jet spaces; the invariance of constants $K = K(\Omega)$ and $\mu = \mu(\Omega)$, the controllability concept related to the Mayer problem; the distinction between order-preserving, group-like, and true higher-order symmetries in Figure 1; technical Lemmas 17, 19, and 23 and Theorem 24 which provide new universal method of solution of the higher-order symmetry problem; new explicit formula as (136) for the famous and "well-known" symmetry problem of a Monge equation with two unknown functions; the Lagrange variational problem without Lagrange multipliers and with easy proofs; see Theorem 41; particular results of new kind for the Monge equation with three unknown functions; a note on the insufficience of *G*-structures in Remark 47.

All these achievements can be carried over the partial differential equations.

On this occasion, the actual extensive theory of the *control systems*

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(x, u) \quad \left(t \in \mathbb{R}, x \in \mathbb{R}^n, u \in \mathbb{R}^m\right)$$
(344)

is worth mentioning. It may be regarded as a mere formally adapted individual subcase of the theory of underdetermined systems of ordinary differential equations. However, the exceptional role of the *independent variable t* (the change of notation), the state variables x, and the control u is emphasized in applications; see [24-26] and references therein. In particular, only the *t*-preserving and moreover *t*-independent symmetries of the system (344) are accepted. So in our notation (1), such restriction means that we suppose \overline{x} = W = x and functions W^i are independent of x. This is a fatal restriction of the impact of the theory of control systems. It follows that the results of this theory do not imply the classical results by Lie and Cartan; they are of rather special nature. The lack of new effective methods adapted to the control systems theory should be moreover noted. The absence of explicit solutions of particular examples is also symptomatic. Last but not least, unlike our diffieties, the control systems cannot be reasonably generalized for the partial differential equations.

We believe that the internal and higher-order approach to some nonholonomic theories are possible, for instance, in the case of the higher-order subriemannian geometry [12]. It seems that the advanced results [27] in the theory of geodesics can be appropriately adapted and rephrased in terms of invariants (as in [28]) instead of adjoint tensor fields.

Appendix

A nontrivial automorphism **m** of the jet space **M**(3) related to the theory of differential equation (260) is worth mentioning [9, pp. 44–46] without additional comments. In terms of usual jet coordinates x, w_r^i (i = 1, 2, 3; r = 0, 1, ...) on the space **M**(3), we put

$$\mathbf{m}^* w_0^1 = w_1^1, \qquad \mathbf{m}^* w_0^2 = w_1^2, \qquad \mathbf{m}^* x = w_1^3, \qquad (A.1)$$

and moreover

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} w_{0}^{3} = \det \begin{pmatrix} x w_{1}^{1} - w_{0}^{1} & \mathbf{m}^{*} w_{1}^{1} & \mathbf{m}^{*} w_{2}^{1} \\ x w_{1}^{2} - w_{0}^{2} & \mathbf{m}^{*} w_{1}^{2} & \mathbf{m}^{*} w_{2}^{2} \\ x w_{1}^{3} - w_{0}^{3} & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.2)

The morphism **m** is rigorously defined since the transforms

$$\mathbf{m}^* w_1^j = \frac{\mathbf{m}^* w_0^j}{\mathbf{m}^* x}, \qquad \mathbf{m}^* w_2^j = \frac{\mathbf{m}^* w_1^j}{\mathbf{m}^* x} \quad (j = 1, 2) \quad (A.3)$$

are well-known due to the prolongation (6). The point of construction is as follows. We have

$$\mathbf{m}^{*} \left(x - F\left(w_{0}^{1}, w_{0}^{2} \right) \right) = \mathbf{m}^{*} x - F\left(\mathbf{m}^{*} w_{0}^{1}, \mathbf{m}^{*} w_{0}^{2} \right)$$

= $w_{1}^{3} - F\left(w_{1}^{1}, w_{1}^{2} \right).$ (A.4)

So, assuming the invertibility of **m**, differential equations (260) are identified with subspaces $\mathbf{N} \subset \mathbf{M}(3)$ given by equations $x = F(w_0^1, w_0^2)$. Every such a subspace **N** with given $F \neq \text{const.}$ is clearly isomorphic to the jet space $\mathbf{M}(2)$. We conclude that the diffiety Ω corresponding to given equation (260) is isomorphic to the diffiety $\Omega(2)$ of all curves in three-dimensional space \mathbb{R}^3 and therefore admits huge supply of higher-order symmetries; see [4, Section 7] for quite simple examples.

Let us turn to the invertibility problem. We introduce a morphism **n** which will be identified with the sought inverse \mathbf{m}^{-1} . The definition is as follows. Let us introduce functions *a*, *b*, *c* determined by three linear equations

$$det \begin{pmatrix} a & w_1^1 & w_2^1 \\ b & w_1^2 & w_2^2 \\ c & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = w_0^3,$$
$$det \begin{pmatrix} a & w_1^1 & w_3^1 \\ b & w_1^2 & w_3^2 \\ c & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = w_1^3,$$
$$(A.5)$$
$$w_2^1 & w_3^1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad (a & w_1^1 & w_4^1)$$

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} a & w_2^1 & w_3^1 \\ b & w_2^2 & w_3^2 \\ c & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \det \begin{pmatrix} a & w_1^1 & w_4^1 \\ b & w_1^2 & w_4^2 \\ c & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = w_2^3.$$

It follows that functions *a*, *b*, *c* moreover satisfy

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} Da & w_1^1 & w_2^1 \\ Db & w_1^2 & w_2^2 \\ Dc & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \det \begin{pmatrix} Da & w_1^1 & w_3^1 \\ Db & w_1^2 & w_3^2 \\ Dc & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = 0 \quad (A.6)$$

whence the equations

$$Da = w_1^1 \mathbf{n}^* x, \qquad Db = w_1^2 \mathbf{n}^* x,$$

$$Dc = 1 \cdot \mathbf{n}^* x = \mathbf{n}^* x \qquad (A.7)$$

uniquely define function $\mathbf{n}^* x$. We finally put

$$\mathbf{n}^{*}w_{0}^{1} = w_{0}^{1}\mathbf{n}^{*}x - a, \qquad \mathbf{n}^{*}w_{0}^{2} = w_{0}^{2}\mathbf{n}^{*}x - b,$$

$$\mathbf{n}^{*}w_{0}^{3} = x\mathbf{n}^{*}x - c$$
(A.8)

and then

$$D\mathbf{n}^{*}w_{0}^{1} = w_{1}^{1}\mathbf{n}^{*}x + w_{0}^{1}D\mathbf{n}^{*}x - Da = w_{0}^{1}D\mathbf{n}^{*}x,$$

$$D\mathbf{n}^{*}w_{0}^{2} = \dots = w_{0}^{2}D\mathbf{n}^{*}x,$$

$$D\mathbf{n}^{*}w_{0}^{3} = \dots = x.$$
(A.9)

It follows that functions w_0^1, w_0^2, x and hence a, b, c and even the coordinate w_0^3 can be expressed in terms of certain pullbacks \mathbf{n}^* . Therefore \mathbf{n} is invertible and moreover $\mathbf{n} = \mathbf{m}^{-1}$. Indeed, the last three equations read

$$w_0^1 = \frac{1}{D\mathbf{n}^* x} D\mathbf{n}^* w_0^1 = \mathbf{n}^* D w_0^1 = \mathbf{n}^* w_1^1,$$

$$w_0^2 = \dots = \mathbf{n}^* w_1^2, \qquad x = \dots = \mathbf{n}^* w_1^3$$
(A.10)

in full accordance with the initial equations (A.1) and formula (A.2) follows from (A.8).

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This paper was elaborated with the financial support of the European Union's "Operational Programme Research and Development for Innovations," no. CZ.1.05/2.1.00/03.0097, as an activity of the regional centre AdMaS "Advanced Materials, Structures and Technologies."

References

- E. Cartan, "Les systèmes de Pfaff, à cinq variables et les équations aux dérivées partielles du second ordre," *Annales Scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure. Troisième Série*, vol. 27, pp. 109–192, 1910.
- [2] V. Tryhuk and V. Chrastinová, "Automorphisms of curves," *Journal of Nonlinear Mathematical Physics*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 259–281, 2009.
- [3] V. Chrastinová and V. Tryhuk, "Automorphisms of submanifolds," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2010, Article ID 202731, 26 pages, 2010.
- [4] V. Tryhuk and V. Chrastinová, "On the mapping of jet spaces," *Journal of Nonlinear Mathematical Physics*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 293– 310, 2010.
- [5] V. Tryhuk, V. Chrastinová, and O. Dlouhý, "The Lie group in infinite dimension," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2011, Article ID 919538, 35 pages, 2011.
- [6] P. J. Olver, Applications of Lie Groups to Differential Equations, vol. 107 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 1986.
- [7] N. Kamran, Selected Topics in the Geometrical Study of Differential Equations, vol. 96 of CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, USA, 2002.
- [8] I. S. Krasil'shchik, V. V. Lychagin, and A. M. Vinogradov, "Geometry of jet spaces and nonlinear partial differential equations," in *Advanced Studies in Contemporary Mathematics*, p. 441, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York, NY, USA, 1986.
- [9] J. Chrastina, The Formal Theory of Differential Equations, vol. 6 of Folia Facultatis Scientiarium Naturalium Universitatis Masarykianae Brunensis. Mathematica, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic, 1998.

- [10] S. Lie and G. Scheffers, Geometrie der Berürungstransformationen, Leipzig, Teubner, 1896.
- [11] É. Goursat, "Leçons sur l'intégration des équations aux dérivées partielles premier ordre," Paris 1891; Zweite Auflage, J. Hermann, Paris, France, 1920.
- [12] R. Montgomery, A Tour of Subriemannian Geometries, vol. 91 of Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, USA, 2002.
- [13] V. Chrastinová and V. Tryhuk, "On the Mayer problem—I. General principles," *Mathematica Slovaca*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 555– 570, 2002.
- [14] E. Cartan, "Le calcul des variations et certaines familles de courbes," *Bulletin de la Société Mathématique de France*, vol. 39, pp. 29–52, 1911.
- [15] E. Cartan, "Sur l'equivalence absolu de certains systèmes d'equations différentielles at sur certaines familles de courbes," *Bulletin de la Société Mathématique de France*, vol. 42, pp. 12–48, 1914.
- [16] R. B. Gardner, The Method of Equivalence and Its Applications, vol. 58 of CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, Pa, USA, 1989.
- [17] E. Cartan, "Sur quelques quadratures dont l'élément différentiel contient des fonctions arbitraires," *Bulletin de la Société Mathématique de France*, vol. 29, pp. 118–130, 1901.
- [18] J. Chrastina, "Examples from the calculus of variations—I. Nondegenerate problems," *Mathematica Bohemica*, vol. 125, no. 1, pp. 55–76, 2000.
- [19] J. Chrastina, "Examples from the calculus of variations—II. A degenerate problem," *Mathematica Bohemica*, vol. 125, no. 2, pp. 187–197, 2000.
- [20] J. Chrastina, "Examples from the calculus of variations—III. Legendre and Jacobi conditions," *Mathematica Bohemica*, vol. 126, no. 1, pp. 93–111, 2001.
- [21] J. Chrastina, "Examples from the calculus of variations—IV. Concluding review," *Mathematica Bohemica*, vol. 126, no. 4, pp. 691–710, 2001.
- [22] P. A. Griffiths, "Exterior differential systems and the calculus of variations," in *Progress in Mathematics*, vol. 25, p. 335, Birkhuser, Boston, Mass, USA, 1983.
- [23] E. Cartan, "Les sous-groupes des groupes continus de transformations," Annales Scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure. Troisième Série, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 57–194, 1908.
- [24] J.-B. Pomet, "A differential geometric setting for dynamic equivalence and dynamic linearization," in *Geometry in Nonlinear Control and Differential Inclusions*, vol. 32, pp. 319–339, Banach Center Publication, 1995.
- [25] J.-B. Pomet, "A necessary condition for dynamic equivalence," *SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 925–940, 2009.
- [26] M. W. Stackpole, "Dynamic equivalence of control systems via infinite prolongation," to appear in Asian Journal of Mathematics, http://arxiv.org/pdf/1106.5437,pdf.
- [27] J. Mikeš, A. Vanžurová, and I. Hinterleitner, *Geodesic Mappings and Some Generalizations*, Palacký University Olomouc, Faculty of Science, Olomouc, Czech Republic, 2009.
- [28] S. S. Chern, "The geometry of differential equation y''' = F(x, y, y', y'')," *Bull Sci. Math*, pp. 206–212, 1939.

Research Article

On the Periodicity of Some Classes of Systems of Nonlinear Difference Equations

Stevo Stević,^{1,2} Mohammed A. Alghamdi,² Dalal A. Maturi,³ and Naseer Shahzad²

¹ Mathematical Institute of the Serbian Academy of Sciences, Knez Mihailova 36/III, 11000 Beograd, Serbia

² Department of Mathematics, King Abdulaziz University, P.O. Box 80203, Jeddah 21589, Saudi Arabia

³ Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, King Abdulaziz University, P.O. Box 42641, Jeddah 21551, Saudi Arabia

Correspondence should be addressed to Stevo Stević; sstevic@ptt.rs

Received 25 September 2013; Revised 3 December 2013; Accepted 4 December 2013; Published 23 January 2014

Academic Editor: Josef Diblik

Copyright © 2014 Stevo Stević et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Some classes of systems of difference equations whose all well-defined solutions are periodic are presented in this note.

1. Introduction

There has been a great recent interest in studying difference equations and systems of difference equations which do not stem from differential ones (see, e.g., [1–19] and the references therein). For some results on concrete systems of nonlinear difference equations, see, for example, [1, 3–5, 9–12, 18, 19]. Some classical results in the topic can be found, for example, in book [20].

Solution $(x_n^{(1)}, \ldots, x_n^{(l)})_{n \ge -k}$, of the system of difference equations

$$\begin{aligned} x_n^{(1)} &= f_1\left(x_{n-1}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{n-k_1}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{(l)}, \dots, x_{n-k_l}^{(l)}\right), \\ x_n^{(2)} &= f_2\left(x_{n-1}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{n-k_1}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{(l)}, \dots, x_{n-k_l}^{(l)}\right), \\ &\vdots \end{aligned}$$
(1)

$$x_n^{(l)} = f_l\left(x_{n-1}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{n-k_1}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{n-1}^{(l)}, \dots, x_{n-k_l}^{(l)}\right),$$

where $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $k = \max\{k_1, \dots, k_l\}$, is called eventually periodic with period p, if there is an $n_1 \ge -k$ such that

$$x_{n+p}^{(j)} = x_n^{(j)},$$
 (2)

for every $j = \overline{1, l}$, and $n \ge n_1$. It is periodic with period p if $n_1 = -k$. Period p is prime if there is no $\hat{p} \in \mathbb{N}$,

 $\hat{p} < p$, which is a period. If all well-defined solutions of an equation or a system of difference equations are eventually periodic with the same period, then such an equation or system is called periodic. For some results on the periodicity, asymptotic periodicity and periodic equations or systems of difference equations see, for example, [1–10, 12–14, 16–19] and the related references therein.

In recent paper [19], the authors formulated four results which claim that the following systems of difference equations are periodic with period ten:

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{y_n}{x_{n-1}(1+y_n)}, \quad y_{n+1} = \frac{x_n}{y_{n-1}(1+x_n)}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0;$$
(3)

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{y_n}{x_{n-1}(-1+y_n)}, \quad y_{n+1} = \frac{x_n}{y_{n-1}(-1+x_n)}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0;$$
(4)

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{y_n}{x_{n-1}(1+y_n)}, \quad y_{n+1} = \frac{x_n}{y_{n-1}(-1+x_n)}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0;$$
(5)

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{y_n}{x_{n-1} \left(-1 + y_n\right)}, \quad y_{n+1} = \frac{x_n}{y_{n-1} \left(1 + x_n\right)}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
(6)

First, we show that all the results in [19] follow from known ones in the literature and also present some extensions of these results in the spirit of systems (3)–(6). To do this, we will use a system of difference equations related to the following, so called, Lyness difference equation:

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{1+x_n}{x_{n-1}}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
(7)

It is easy to see that every well-defined solution of (7) is periodic with period five. The equation arises in frieze patterns (for the original sources, see [21–23]).

Studying max-type equations and systems of difference equations is another topic of a recent interest (see, e.g, [2, 3, 5–7, 10, 11, 15–19]).

Some special cases of the following max-type difference equation:

$$x_n = \max\left\{\frac{A_n}{x_{n-s}}, x_{n-k}\right\}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$
(8)

where $s, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0} \subset \mathbb{R}$, have been studied, for example, in [2, 16]. Positive solutions of (8) are periodic in many cases. However, if $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ is not a positive sequence, it was shown in [2] that (8) can have unbounded solutions.

In [5], it was shown that all solutions of the following max-type system of difference equations:

$$x_{n+1} = \max\left\{\frac{A_n}{y_n}, x_{n-1}\right\}, \qquad cy_{n+1} = \max\left\{\frac{B_n}{x_n}, y_{n-1}\right\},$$
$$n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$
(9)

where $x_0, x_{-1}, y_0, y_{-1} \in (0, +\infty)$ and $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}, (B_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ are positive two-periodic sequences, are eventually periodic with, not necessarily prime, period two. This was done by direct calculation.

By using direct calculation, it can be easily shown that positive solutions of the following max-type system of difference equations:

$$x_{n+1} = \max\left\{\frac{A_n}{x_n}, y_{n-1}\right\}, \qquad y_{n+1} = \max\left\{\frac{B_n}{y_n}, x_{n-1}\right\},$$
$$n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$
(10)

where $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ and $(B_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ are positive two-periodic sequences, are also periodic.

Here, we give a noncalculatory explanation of the fact by proving that positive solutions of the following max-type system of difference equations:

$$x_{n} = \max\left\{\frac{A_{n}}{x_{n-s}}, y_{n-k}\right\}, \qquad y_{n} = \max\left\{\frac{B_{n}}{y_{n-s}}, x_{n-k}\right\},$$
(11)
$$n \in \mathbb{N}_{0},$$

where $s, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, $(B_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ are positive periodic sequences of a certain period, are also periodic. We also present another extension of the result.

2. Some Extensions of Systems (3)–(6)

In this section, we present some periodic systems of difference equations in the spirit of systems (3)-(6).

Theorem 1. Consider the following system of difference equations

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n+1}^{(1)} &= f_1^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + f_2\left(x_n^{(2)}\right)}{f_3\left(x_{n-1}^{(3)}\right)} \right), \\ &\vdots \\ x_{n+1}^{(k-1)} &= f_{k-1}^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + f_k\left(x_n^{(k)}\right)}{f_1\left(x_{n-1}^{(1)}\right)} \right), \end{aligned}$$
(12)
$$x_{n+1}^{(k)} &= f_k^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + f_1\left(x_n^{(1)}\right)}{f_2\left(x_{n-1}^{(2)}\right)} \right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \end{aligned}$$

where $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$, and functions f_j , j = 1, k, are continuous on their domains; map the set $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ onto itself and, for each fixed $j \in \{1, ..., k\}$, f_j is simultaneously increasing or decreasing on the intervals $(-\infty, 0)$ and $(0, +\infty)$.

Then the following statements hold.

- (a) If k ≠ 0 (mod 5), then every well-defined solution of system (12) is periodic with period 5k.
- (b) If $k \equiv 0 \pmod{5}$, then every well-defined solution of system (12) is periodic with period k.

Proof. From the conditions of the theorem, it follows that for each $j \in \{1, ..., k\}$, there is f_j^{-1} which continuously map the set $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ onto itself. Using the change of variables

$$y_n^{(j)} = f_j\left(x_n^{(j)}\right), \quad j = \overline{1, k},\tag{13}$$

system (12) is easily transformed into the next one

$$y_{n+1}^{(1)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(2)}}{y_{n-1}^{(1)}}, \qquad y_{n+1}^{(2)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(1)}}{y_{n-1}^{(2)}}, \tag{14}$$

for k = 2,

$$y_{n+1}^{(1)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(2)}}{y_{n-1}^{(3)}}, \qquad y_{n+1}^{(2)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(3)}}{y_{n-1}^{(1)}}, \qquad y_{n+1}^{(3)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(1)}}{y_{n-1}^{(2)}},$$
(15)

for k = 3, and

$$y_{n+1}^{(1)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(2)}}{y_{n-1}^{(3)}}, \qquad y_{n+1}^{(2)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(3)}}{y_{n-1}^{(4)}}, \dots, y_{n+1}^{(k)} = \frac{1+y_n^{(1)}}{y_{n-1}^{(2)}},$$
(16)

for $k \ge 4$. In [4], it was proved that, if $k \not\equiv 0 \pmod{5}$, then every well-defined solution of systems (14)–(16) is periodic

with period 5*k*, and, if $k \equiv 0 \pmod{5}$, then every well-defined solution of systems (14)–(16) is periodic with period *k*. Using this along with the fact

$$x_n^{(j)} = f_j^{-1}(y_n^{(j)}), \quad j = \overline{1, k},$$
 (17)

following from (13), the results in (a) and (b) follow. \Box

The following theorem is proved in a similar way. Therefore, the proof will be omitted.

Theorem 2. Consider the following system of difference equations

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n+1}^{(1)} &= f_1^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + f_k \left(x_n^{(k)} \right)}{f_{k-1} \left(x_{n-1}^{(k-1)} \right)} \right), \\ x_{n+1}^{(2)} &= f_2^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + f_1 \left(x_n^{(1)} \right)}{f_k \left(x_{n-1}^{(k)} \right)} \right), \end{aligned}$$
(18)

$$\vdots$$

$$x_{n+1}^{(k)} = f_k^{-1} \left(\frac{1 + f_{k-1} \left(x_n^{(k-1)} \right)}{f_{k-2} \left(x_{n-1}^{(k-2)} \right)} \right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

where $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$, and functions f_j , $j = \overline{1, k}$, are continuous on their domains; map the set $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ onto itself and, for each fixed $j \in \{1, ..., k\}$, f_j is simultaneously increasing or decreasing on the intervals $(-\infty, 0)$ and $(0, +\infty)$.

Then the following statements hold.

- (a) If k ≠ 0 (mod 5), then every well-defined solution of system (18) is periodic with period 5k.
- (b) If $k \equiv 0 \pmod{5}$, then every well-defined solution of system (18) is periodic with period k.

Now, we show that all the results on the periodicity of the solutions of systems (3)-(6) in [19] follow from Theorems 1 and 2.

Corollary 3. *Systems of difference equations* (3)–(6) *are all periodic with period ten.*

Proof. For the systems of difference equations (3)–(6), we use the following changes of variables, respectively:

$$x_{n} = \frac{1}{u_{n}}, \quad y_{n} = \frac{1}{v_{n}}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_{0};$$

$$x_{n} = -\frac{1}{u_{n}}, \quad y_{n} = -\frac{1}{v_{n}}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_{0};$$

$$x_{n} = -\frac{1}{u_{n}}, \quad y_{n} = \frac{1}{v_{n}}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_{0};$$

$$x_{n} = \frac{1}{u_{n}}, \quad y_{n} = -\frac{1}{v_{n}}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$
(19)

By using them, systems (3)-(6) are transformed into system (14). By applying Theorem 1(a), ten-periodicity of all well-defined solutions of system (14) follows, from which tenperiodicity of all well-defined solutions of systems (3)-(6) follows.

The following four examples are natural extensions of systems (3)-(6).

Example 4. If we use the following functions:

$$f_1(x) = \frac{1}{x^l}, \qquad f_2(x) = \frac{1}{x^m},$$
 (20)

where *l* and *m* are odd integers, we see that all the conditions in Theorem 1 are applied with k = 2, so by using the theorem we obtain that the system of difference equations

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{1}{x_{n-1}} \left(\frac{y_n^m}{1 + y_n^m} \right)^{1/l},$$

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{1}{y_{n-1}} \left(\frac{x_n^l}{1 + x_n^l} \right)^{1/m},$$
(21)

 $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, is also periodic with period ten.

Example 5. For

$$f_1(x) = -\frac{1}{x^l}, \qquad f_2(x) = -\frac{1}{x^m},$$
 (22)

where *l* and *m* are also odd integers, all the conditions of Theorem 1 are again satisfied with k = 2. Using the theorem, it follows that the system

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{1}{x_{n-1}} \left(\frac{y_n^m}{-1 + y_n^m} \right)^{1/l},$$

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{1}{y_{n-1}} \left(\frac{x_n^l}{-1 + x_n^l} \right)^{1/m},$$
(23)

 $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, is ten-periodic.

Example 6. For

$$f_1(x) = \frac{1}{x^l}, \qquad f_2(x) = -\frac{1}{x^m},$$
 (24)

where *l* and *m* are odd integers, all the conditions of Theorem 1 are also satisfied with k = 2. Applying the theorem, it follows that the system

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{1}{x_{n-1}} \left(\frac{y_n^m}{-1 + y_n^m} \right)^{1/l},$$

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{1}{y_{n-1}} \left(\frac{x_n^l}{1 + x_n^l} \right)^{1/m},$$
(25)

 $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, is ten-periodic.

Example 7. Finally, for

$$f_1(x) = -\frac{1}{x^l}, \qquad f_2(x) = \frac{1}{x^m},$$
 (26)

where *l* and *m* are odd integers and applying Theorem 1 with k = 2, we get that the system

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{1}{x_{n-1}} \left(\frac{y_n^m}{1 + y_n^m} \right)^{1/l},$$

$$y_{n+1} = \frac{1}{y_{n-1}} \left(\frac{x_n^l}{-1 + x_n^l} \right)^{1/m},$$
(27)

 $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, is ten-periodic.

The main results in [4] can be relatively easily extended to a very general situation, which have been noticed by Iričanin and Stević soon after publishing [4], and later also proved by several other authors. Namely, the following result holds (see, e.g., [1]).

Theorem 8. Assume that the following difference equation

$$x_n = f\left(x_{n-1}, \dots, x_{n-k}\right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \tag{28}$$

is periodic with period p.

Then the following system of difference equations

$$x_{n}^{(i)} = f\left(x_{n-1}^{(\sigma(i))}, x_{n-2}^{(\sigma^{[2]}(i))}, \dots, x_{n-k}^{(\sigma^{[k]}(i))}\right),$$

$$i = \overline{1, l}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_{0},$$

(29)

where $\sigma(i) = i + 1$, for $1 \le i \le l - 1$, $\sigma(l) = 1$ and $\sigma^{[j]}(i) = \sigma(\sigma^{[j-1]}(i))$, $j = \overline{1, k}$, and $\sigma^{[0]}(i) = i$, $i = \overline{1, l}$, is periodic with period lcm(p, l) (the least common multiple of numbers p and l).

Theorem 8 can be used in constructing numerous periodic cyclic systems of difference equations based on scalar periodic difference equations, which, with some changes of variables, give some other periodic cyclic systems of difference equations.

3. Periodicity of Positive Solutions of System (11)

In this section, we study positive solutions of system (11). By gcd(s, k), we denote the greatest common divisor of natural numbers *s* and *k*.

Theorem 9. Consider system (11). Assume that $s, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ and $(B_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ are positive $k \operatorname{gcd}(s, k)$ -periodic sequences. Then every positive solution of system (11) is periodic with, not necessarily prime, period

$$p = 2k \gcd(s, k). \tag{30}$$

Proof. Let r = gcd(s, k). Then we have that $s = rs_1$ and $k = rk_1$ for some $s_1, k_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$gcd(s_1, k_1) = 1.$$
 (31)

Since every $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ can be written as n = mr + i, for some $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $i = \overline{0, r-1}$, system (11) becomes

$$x_{mr+i} = \max\left\{\frac{A_{mr+i}}{x_{r(m-s_1)+i}}, y_{r(m-k_1)+i}\right\},$$

$$y_{mr+i} = \max\left\{\frac{B_{mr+i}}{y_{r(m-s_1)+i}}, x_{r(m-k_1)+i}\right\},$$
(32)

for every $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $i = \overline{0, r-1}$.

Using the next change of variables

$$x_t^{(i)} = x_{tr+i}, \qquad y_t^{(i)} = y_{tr+i},$$
 (33)

where $t \ge -\max\{s_1, k_1\}$, $i = \overline{0, r-1}$, in (32), we have that $(x_t^{(i)})_{t\ge -\max\{s_1, k_1\}}, (y_t^{(i)})_{t\ge -\max\{s_1, k_1\}}, i = \overline{0, r-1}$, are *r* independent solutions of the next systems

$$x_{t} = \max\left\{\frac{A_{tr+i}}{x_{t-s_{1}}}, y_{t-k_{1}}\right\}, \qquad y_{t} = \max\left\{\frac{B_{tr+i}}{y_{t-s_{1}}}, x_{t-k_{1}}\right\},$$
(34)

which are systems of the form in (11) with s_1 and k_1 instead of s and k, and where the sequences $(A_{tr+i})_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ and $(B_{tr+i})_{t \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, $i = \overline{1, r}$, are k-periodic.

Hence, it is enough to prove the theorem when gcd(s, k) = 1 and the sequences $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, and $(B_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ are positive *k*-periodic.

Now note that from the equations in (11), we have that

$$x_n \ge y_{n-k}, \quad y_n \ge x_{n-k}, \quad \text{for } n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$
 (35)

Further, by using the equations in (11), we also get

$$x_{n} = \max\left\{\frac{A_{n}}{x_{n-s}}, y_{n-k}\right\} = \max\left\{\frac{A_{n}}{x_{n-s}}, \frac{B_{n-k}}{y_{n-k-s}}, x_{n-2k}\right\},\$$
$$y_{n} = \max\left\{\frac{B_{n}}{y_{n-s}}, x_{n-k}\right\} = \max\left\{\frac{B_{n}}{y_{n-s}}, \frac{A_{n-k}}{x_{n-k-s}}, y_{n-2k}\right\},$$
(36)

for $n \ge k$.

Using relations (36), we get

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n} &= \max\left\{\frac{A_{n}}{x_{n-s}}, \frac{B_{n-k}}{y_{n-k-s}}, x_{n-2k}\right\} \\ &= \max\left\{\frac{A_{n}}{x_{n-s}}, \frac{B_{n-k}}{y_{n-k-s}}, \frac{A_{n-2k}}{x_{n-2k-s}}, \frac{B_{n-3k}}{y_{n-3k-s}}, x_{n-4k}\right\}, \\ y_{n} &= \max\left\{\frac{B_{n}}{y_{n-s}}, \frac{A_{n-k}}{x_{n-k-s}}, y_{n-2k}\right\} \\ &= \max\left\{\frac{B_{n}}{y_{n-s}}, \frac{A_{n-k}}{x_{n-k-s}}, \frac{B_{n-2k}}{y_{n-2k-s}}, \frac{A_{n-3k}}{x_{n-3k-s}}, y_{n-4k}\right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(37)

for $n \ge 3k$.

Now, note that, from the inequalities in (35), we have that

$$x_n \ge x_{n-2k}, \quad y_n \ge y_{n-2k}, \quad \text{for } n \ge k.$$
 (38)

Using (38) and *k*-periodicity of the sequences A_n and B_n , we obtain

$$\frac{A_n}{x_{n-s}} = \frac{A_{n-2k}}{x_{n-s}} \le \frac{A_{n-2k}}{x_{n-2k-s}},$$

$$\frac{B_{n-k}}{y_{n-k-s}} = \frac{B_{n-3k}}{y_{n-k-s}} \le \frac{B_{n-3k}}{y_{n-3k-s}},$$

$$\frac{B_n}{y_{n-s}} = \frac{B_{n-2k}}{y_{n-s}} \le \frac{B_{n-2k}}{y_{n-2k-s}},$$

$$\frac{A_{n-k}}{x_{n-k-s}} = \frac{A_{n-3k}}{x_{n-k-s}} \le \frac{A_{n-3k}}{x_{n-3k-s}}.$$
(39)

Employing (39) into (37), we get

$$x_{n} = \max\left\{\frac{A_{n-2k}}{x_{n-2k-s}}, \frac{B_{n-3k}}{y_{n-3k-s}}, x_{n-4k}\right\} = x_{n-2k},$$

$$y_{n} = \max\left\{\frac{B_{n-2k}}{y_{n-2k-s}}, \frac{A_{n-3k}}{x_{n-3k-s}}, y_{n-4k}\right\} = y_{n-2k},$$
(40)

from which it follows that in this case the solutions of system (11) are 2k-periodic. From all the above, the theorem follows.

By a slight modification of the proof of Theorem 9, the next result can be proved. We omit the proof.

Theorem 10. Consider the following system of difference equations

$$\begin{aligned} x_n &= \max\left\{\frac{A_n}{x_{n-s}}, y_{n-k}\right\}, \qquad y_n &= \max\left\{\frac{B_n}{y_{n-s}}, z_{n-k}\right\}, \\ z_n &= \max\left\{\frac{C_n}{z_{n-s}}, x_{n-k}\right\}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \end{aligned}$$

$$\tag{41}$$

where $s, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, $(B_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, and $(C_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ are positive k gcd(s, k)-periodic sequences. Then, every positive solution of system (41) is periodic with, not necessarily prime, period

$$p = 3k \gcd(s, k) \,. \tag{42}$$

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the Deanship of Scientific Research (DSR), King Abdulaziz University, under Grant no. (11-130/1433 HiCi). The authors, therefore, acknowledge technical and financial support of KAU.

References

- G. Bastien and M. Rogalski, "Global behaviour of solutions of cyclic systems of *q* order 2 or 3 generalized Lyness' difference equations and of other more general equations of higher order," *Journal of Difference Equations and Applications*, vol. 17, no. 11, pp. 1651–1672, 2011.
- [2] E. M. Elsayed, B. Iričanin, and S. Stević, "On the max-type equation $x_{n+1} = \max\{A_n/x_n, x_{n-1}\}$," *Ars Combinatoria*, vol. 95, pp. 187–192, 2010.
- [3] E. A. Grove and G. Ladas, Periodicities in Nonlinear Difference Equations, vol. 4 of Advances in Discrete Mathematics and Applications, Chapman & Hall, CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla, USA, 2005.
- [4] B. D. Iričanin and S. Stević, "Some systems of nonlinear difference equations of higher order with periodic solutions," *Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete & Impulsive Systems A*, vol. 13, no. 3-4, pp. 499–507, 2006.
- [5] B. D. Iričanin and N. Touafek, "On a second-order max-type system of difference equations," *Indian Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 119–142, 2012.
- [6] C. M. Kent, M. Kustesky, A. Q. Nguyen, and B. V. Nguyen, "Eventually periodic solutions of $x_{n+1} = \max\{A_n/x_n, B_n/x_{n-1}\}$ when the parameters are two cycles," *Dynamics of Continuous*, *Discrete & Impulsive Systems A*, vol. 10, no. 1–3, pp. 33–49, 2003.
- [7] C. M. Kent and M. A. Radin, "On the boundedness nature of positive solutions of the difference equation $x_{n+1} = \max\{A_n/x_n, B_n/x_{n-1}\}$ with periodic parameters," *Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete & Impulsive Systems B*, supplement, pp. 11–15, 2003.
- [8] W. Kosmala, "A period 5 difference equation," *International Journal of Nonlinear Analysis and Applications*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 82–84, 2011.
- [9] G. Papaschinopoulos and C. J. Schinas, "On the behavior of the solutions of a system of two nonlinear difference equations," *Communications on Applied Nonlinear Analysis*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 47–59, 1998.
- [10] G. Papaschinopoulos and C. J. Schinas, "Invariants for systems of two nonlinear difference equations," *Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 181–196, 1999.
- [11] G. Papaschinopoulos, J. Schinas, and V. Hatzifilippidis, "Global behavior of the solutions of a max-equation and of a system of two max-equations," *Journal of Computational Analysis and Applications*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 237–254, 2003.
- [12] S. Stević, "A global convergence results with applications to periodic solutions," *Indian Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 45–53, 2002.
- [13] S. Stević, "On the recursive sequence $x_{n+1} = \alpha_n + x_{n-1}/x_n$ II," Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete & Impulsive Systems A, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 911–916, 2003.
- [14] S. Stević, "A short proof of the Cushing-Henson conjecture," *Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society*, vol. 2006, Article ID 37264, 5 pages, 2006.
- [15] S. Stević, "Global stability of a difference equation with maximum," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 210, no. 2, pp. 525–529, 2009.
- [16] S. Stević, "Periodicity of max difference equations," Utilitas Mathematica, vol. 83, pp. 69–71, 2010.
- [17] S. Stević, "Periodicity of a class of nonautonomous max-type difference equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 217, no. 23, pp. 9562–9566, 2011.

- [18] S. Stević, "On some periodic systems of max-type difference equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 218, no. 23, pp. 11483–11487, 2012.
- [19] N. Touafek and E. M. Elsayed, "On the periodicity of some systems of nonlinear difference equations," *Bulletin Mathématique de la Société des Sciences Mathématiques de Roumanie. Nouvelle Série*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 217–224, 2012.
- [20] H. Levy and F. Lessman, *Finite Difference Equations*, Macmillan, New York, NY, USA, 1961.
- [21] R. C. Lyness, "Notes 1581," *The Mathematical Gazette*, vol. 26, p. 62, 1942.
- [22] R. C. Lyness, "Notes 1847," *The Mathematical Gazette*, vol. 29, p. 231, 1945.
- [23] R. C. Lyness, "Notes 2952," *The Mathematical Gazette*, vol. 45, p. 201, 1961.

Research Article

On Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions of Generalized Emden-Fowler Differential Equations with Delay Argument

Alexander Domoshnitsky¹ and Roman Koplatadze²

¹ Department of Mathematics and Computer Sciences, Ariel University, 40700 Ariel, Israel ² Department of Mathematics, Tbilisi State University, University Street 2, 0143 Tbilisi, Georgia

Correspondence should be addressed to Alexander Domoshnitsky; adom@ariel.ac.il

Received 4 July 2013; Accepted 8 November 2013; Published 22 January 2014

Academic Editor: Josef Diblik

Copyright © 2014 A. Domoshnitsky and R. Koplatadze. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The following differential equation $u^{(n)}(t) + p(t)|u(\sigma(t))|^{\mu(t)}$ sign $u(\sigma(t)) = 0$ is considered. Here $p \in L_{loc}(R_+; R_+), \mu \in C(R_+; (0, +\infty)), \sigma \in C(R_+; R_+), \sigma(t) \leq t$, and $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sigma(t) = +\infty$. We say that the equation is almost linear if the condition $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \mu(t) = 1$ is fulfilled, while if $\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \mu(t) \neq 1$ or $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \mu(t) \neq 1$, then the equation is an essentially nonlinear differential equation. In the case of almost linear and essentially nonlinear differential equations with advanced argument, oscillatory properties have been extensively studied, but there are no results on delay equations of this sort. In this paper, new sufficient conditions implying Property A for delay Emden-Fowler equations are obtained.

1. Introduction

This work deals with oscillatory properties of solutions of a functional differential equation of the form

$$u^{(n)}(t) + p(t) |u(\sigma(t))|^{\mu(t)} \operatorname{sign} u(\sigma(t)) = 0, \qquad (1)$$

where

$$p \in L_{\text{loc}}(R_{+};R), \qquad \mu \in C(R_{+};(0;+\infty)),$$

$$\sigma \in C(R_{+};R_{+}), \qquad \sigma(t) \le t \quad \text{for } t \in R_{+}, \qquad (2)$$

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sigma(t) = +\infty.$$

It will always be assumed that the condition

$$p(t) \ge 0 \quad \text{for } t \in R_+ \tag{3}$$

is fulfilled.

Let $t_0 \in R_+$. A function $u : [t_0; +\infty) \to R$ is said to be a proper solution of (1) if it is locally absolutely continuous together with its derivatives up to order n - 1 inclusive,

$$\sup\{|u(s)|: s \in [t; +\infty)\} > 0 \quad \text{for } t \ge t_0, \tag{4}$$

and there exists a function $\overline{u} \in C(R_+; R)$ such that $\overline{u}(t) \equiv u(t)$ on $[t_0; +\infty)$ and the equality $\overline{u}^{(n)}(t) + p(t)|\overline{u}(\sigma(t))|^{\mu(t)}$ sign $\overline{u}(\sigma(t)) = 0$ holds for $t \in [t_0 : +\infty)$. A proper solution $u : [t_0 : +\infty) \to R$ of (1) is said to be oscillatory if it has a sequence of zeros tending to $+\infty$. Otherwise the solution u is said to be nonoscillatory.

Definition 1. We say that (1) has Property A if any of its proper solutions is oscillatory when n is even and either is oscillatory or satisfies

$$\left| u^{(i)}(t) \right| \downarrow 0 \quad \text{for } t \uparrow +\infty \ (i = 0, \dots, n-1), \tag{5}$$

when *n* is odd.

Definition 2. We say that (1) is almost linear if the condition $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \mu(t) = 1$ holds, while if $\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \mu(t) \neq 1$ or $\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \mu(t) \neq 1$, then we say that the equation is an essentially nonlinear differential equation.

The Emden-Fowler equation originated from theories concerning gaseous dynamics in astrophysics in the middle of the nineteenth century. In the study of stellar structure at that time it was important to investigate the equilibrium configuration of the mass of spherical clouds of gas. Lord Kelvin in 1862 assumed that the gaseous cloud is under convective equilibrium and then Lane [1] studied the equation

$$\frac{1}{t^2}\frac{d}{dt}\left(t^2\frac{du}{dt}\right) + u^{\gamma} = 0.$$
(6)

The Emden-Fowler equations were first considered only for second-order equations and written in the form

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(p\left(t\right)\frac{du}{dt}\right) + q\left(t\right)u^{\gamma} = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \tag{7}$$

which could be reduced in the case of positive and continuous coefficients to the equation

$$x'' + a(t) x^{\gamma} = 0, \quad t \ge 0.$$
 (8)

To avoid difficulties of defining x^{γ} when x(t) is negative and γ is not an integer, the equation

$$x''(t) + a(t) |x(t)|^{\gamma} \operatorname{sign} x(t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(9)

was usually considered. The mathematical foundation of the theory of such equations was built by Fowler [2] and the description of the results can be found in Chapter 7 of [3].

We see also the Emden-Fowler equation in gas dynamics and fluid mechanics (see Sansone [4], page 431 and the paper [5]). Nonoscillation of these equations is important in various applications. Note that the zero of such solutions corresponds to an equilibrium state in a fluid with spherical distribution of density and under mutual attraction of its particles. The Emden-Fowler equations can be either oscillatory (i.e., all proper solutions have a sequence of zeros tending to zero) or nonoscillatory, if solutions are eventually positive or negative, or, in contrast with the case of linear differential equations of second order, may possess both oscillating and nonoscillating solutions. For example, for the equation

$$x''(t) + t^{\mu} |x(t)|^{\gamma} \operatorname{sign} x(t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(10)

it was proven in [2] that for $\mu \ge -2 > -(\gamma + 3)/2$ all solutions oscillate, for $\mu < -(\gamma + 3)/2$ —all solutions nonoscillate, and for $-(\gamma + 3)/2 \le \mu < -2$ there are both oscillating and nonoscillating solutions.

The Emden-Fowler equation presents one of the classical objects in the theory of differential equations. Tests for oscillation and nonoscillation of all solutions and existence of oscillating solutions were obtained in the works [6–8]. In [9] for the case $0 < \gamma < 1$, it was obtained that all solutions of the equation

$$x''(t) + a(t) |x^{\gamma}(t)| \operatorname{sign} x(t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
 (11)

oscillate if and only if

$$\int_0^\infty t^\gamma a(t) \, dt = \infty. \tag{12}$$

The latest research results in this area are presented in the book [8]. Behavior of solutions to *n*th order Emden-Fowler

equations can be essentially more complicated. Properties A and B defined by Kiguradze are studied in the abovementioned book.

There are essentially less results on oscillation of delay Emden-Fowler equations. Oscillation properties of nonlinear delay differential equations, where Emden-Fowler equations were also included as a particular case, were studied in [10– 20]. Results of these papers are discussed in [13, 15], where various examples demonstrating essentialities of conditions are also presented. Note that for delay differential equations there are no results on nonoscillation of all solutions and only existence of nonoscillating solutions is studied. Actually, the results on oscillation of delayed equations are based on the approaches existing for ordinary differential equations with development in the direction of preventing the obstructive influence of delay. In the paper [15] the following equation

$$c^{(n)}(t) + a(t) f[x(\sigma(t))] = 0, \quad t \ge 0, \ n \text{ even},$$
 (13)

and its particular case

$$x^{(n)}(t) + a(t) |x(\sigma(t))|^{\gamma} \operatorname{sign} x(\sigma(t)) = 0,$$

$$t \ge 0, n \text{ even},$$

(14)

are considered. It was obtained for the last equation under some standard assumptions on the coefficients [15] that in the case $0 < \gamma < 1$,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \sigma^{(n-1)\gamma}(t) a(t) dt = \infty, \qquad (15)$$

all solutions oscillate. We see that the integral depends on deviation of argument $\sigma(t)$ and the power of the equation *n*. For the equation

$$x^{(n)}(t) + a(t) \prod_{i=1}^{m} |x(\sigma_i(t))|^{\gamma_i} \operatorname{sign} x(\sigma_i(t)) = 0,$$

$$t \ge 0, \quad n \text{ even},$$
(16)

where γ_i is the ratio of two positive odd integers, $\sigma(t) \leq \sigma_i(t) \leq t$ for i = 1, ..., m, and $\sigma(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$, each of the following conditions (a), (b), and (c) ensures oscillation of all solutions:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \sigma^{(n-1)\gamma}(t) a(t) dt = \infty \quad \text{for } \gamma = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \gamma_i < 1; \qquad (17)$$

(a)

$$\int_0^\infty \sigma^{(n-1)\alpha}(t) a(t) dt = \infty \quad \text{for } \gamma = 1, 0 < \alpha < 1; \quad (18)$$

(c)
$$\int_0^\infty \sigma^{n-1}(t) a(t) dt = \infty, \quad \sigma'(t) \ge 0 \quad \text{for } \gamma > 1.$$
(19)

Most proofs of results on oscillation of all solutions to second order equations utilize the fact that if a nonoscillating solution exists, the signs of the solution x(t) and its second derivative x''(t) are opposite to each other for sufficiently large t. Then a growth of nonoscillating solution is estimated and the authors come to contradiction with conditions that proves oscillation of all solutions. Note that delays disturb oscillation. Instead of $t^{\gamma}, \sigma^{\gamma}(t)$ appears. The principle is clear: for oscillation of all solutions we have to achieve a corresponding smallness of the delay $t - \sigma(t)$. All this is more complicated if we study *n*th order equations. In this case also the fact that x(t) and its *n*th derivative $x^{(n)}(t)$ have different signs for sufficiently large t is used, but the technique is more complicated.

In the papers [21–28] a generalization of Emden-Fowler equations was considered. The powers in these papers can be functions and not constants. In many cases, it leads to essentially new oscillation properties of such equations. Surprisingly, oscillation behavior of equations, with the power λ and with functional power $\mu(t)$ such that $\lim_{t\to\infty}\mu(t) = \lambda$, can be quite different. The main purpose of our paper is to study conditions under which the generalized (in this sense) equations preserve the known oscillation properties of Emden-Fowler equations and conditions under which these properties are not preserved. Oscillatory properties of almost linear and essentially nonlinear differential equation with advanced argument have already been studied in [21–28]. In this paper we study oscillation properties of *n*th order delay Emden-Fowler equations.

2. Some Auxiliary Lemmas

In the sequel, $\overline{C}_{loc}([t_0; +\infty))$ will denote the set of all functions $u : [t_0; +\infty) \rightarrow R$ absolutely continuous on any finite subinternal of $[t_0; +\infty)$ along with their derivatives of order up to including n - 1.

Lemma 3 (see [28]). Let $u \in \widetilde{C}_{loc}^{n-1}([t_0; +\infty))$, u(t) > 0, $u^{(n)}(t) \le 0$ for $t \ge t_0$, and $u^{(n)}(t) \not\equiv 0$ in any neighborhood of $+\infty$. Then there exist $t_1 \ge t_0$ and $\ell \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ such that $\ell + n$ is odd and

$$u^{(i)}(t) > 0 \quad for \ t \ge t_1 \quad (i = 0, \dots, \ell - 1),$$

$$(-1)^{i+\ell} u^{(i)}(t) > 0 \quad for \ t \ge t_1 \quad (i = \ell, \dots, n - 1).$$

(20_ℓ)

Remark 4. If *n* is odd and $\ell = 0$, then it means that in (20_0) only the second inequalities are fulfilled.

Lemma 5 (see [29]). Let $u \in \widetilde{C}_{loc}^{n-1}([t_0; +\infty))$ and let (20_{ℓ}) be fulfilled for some $\ell \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd. Then

$$\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} t^{n-\ell-1} \left| u^{(n)}(t) \right| dt < +\infty.$$
 (21)

If, moreover,

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_0} t^{n-\ell} \left| u^{(n)}(t) \right| dt = +\infty,$$
 (22)

then there exists $t_* > t_0$ such that

$$\frac{u^{(i)}(t)}{t^{\ell-i}} \downarrow, \quad \frac{u^{(i)}(t)}{t^{\ell-i-1}} \uparrow \quad (i=0,\ldots,\ell-1), \qquad (23_i)$$

$$u(t) \ge \frac{t^{\ell-1}}{\ell!} u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \quad \text{for } t \ge t_* ,$$
 (24)

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \ge \frac{t}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t}^{+\infty} s^{n-\ell-1} |u^{(n)}(s)| ds + \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t_{*}}^{t} s^{n-\ell} |u^{(n)}(s)| ds \quad \text{for } t \ge t_{*} .$$
(25)

3. Necessary Conditions for the Existence of a Solution of Type (20_{ℓ})

The following notation will be used throughout the work:

$$\alpha = \inf \{ \mu(t) : t \in R_+ \}, \qquad \beta = \sup \{ \mu(t) : t \in R_+ \}, \quad (26)$$

$$\sigma_{(-1)}(t) = \sup \{ s \ge 0, \ \sigma(s) \le t \}, \quad (27)$$

$$\sigma_{(-k)} = \sigma_{(-1)} \circ \sigma_{(-(k-1))}, \qquad k = 2, 3, \dots.$$

Clearly $\sigma_{(-1)}(t) \ge t$, and $\sigma_{(-1)}$ is nondecreasing and coincides with the inverse of σ when the latter exists.

Definition 6. Let $t_0 \in R_+$. By \mathbf{U}_{ℓ,t_0} one denotes the set of all proper solutions $u : [t_0, +\infty) \to R$ of (1) satisfying the condition (20_ℓ) with some $t_1 \ge t_0$.

Lemma 7. Let the conditions (2), (3) be fulfilled, let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, and let $u \in U_{\ell,t_0}$ be a positive proper solution of (1). If, moreover, $\alpha \ge 1$, $\beta < +\infty$,

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} t^{n-\ell} (\sigma(t))^{(\ell-1)\mu(t)} p(t) dt = +\infty, \qquad (28_{\ell})$$

then for any $M \in (1; +\infty)$ there exists $t_* > t_0$ such that for any $k \in N$

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \ge \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(t) \quad \text{for } t \ge \sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*}),$$
(29)

$$\rho_{1,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(t) = \ell! \exp\left\{ M_{\ell}(\alpha) \int_{\sigma_{(-1)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} \times (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \right.$$

$$\times \left. \left(\sigma(\xi) \right)^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times p(\xi) \, d\xi \, ds \right\},$$

$$\rho_{i,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(t) = \ell! + \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \times \int_{s}^{t} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times p(\xi)$$

$$\times \int_{\sigma_{(-i)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times p(\xi)$$
(30)

$$\times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{i-1,\ell,t_*} \left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\mu\left(\xi\right)} d\xi \, ds$$

$$(i = 2, \dots, k),$$
(31)

$$M_{\ell}(\alpha) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} & \text{if } \alpha = 1, \\ M & \text{if } \alpha > 1. \end{cases}$$
(32)

Proof. Let $t_0 \in R_+$, $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd and $u \in \mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0}$ (see Definition 6) is solution of (1). Since $\beta < +\infty$, according to (1), (20_{ℓ}) , and (28_{ℓ}) , it is clear that condition (22) holds. Thus, by Lemma 5 there exists $t_2 > t_1$ such that the conditions (23_i) –(25) with $t_* = t_2$ are fulfilled and

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \ge \frac{t}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t}^{+\infty} s^{n-\ell-1} p(s) (u(\sigma(s)))^{\mu(s)} ds + \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t_2}^{t} s^{n-\ell} p(s) (u(\sigma(s)))^{\mu(s)} ds$$
(33)
for $t \ge t_2$.

Observe that there exists $t_3 > t_2$ such that $\sigma(t) \ge t_2$ for $t \ge t_3$.

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \\ \ge \frac{t}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t}^{+\infty} s^{n-\ell-1} p(s) (u(\sigma(s)))^{\mu(s)} ds \\ - \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t_{2}}^{t} sd \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} p(\xi) \\ \times (u(\sigma(\xi)))^{\mu(\xi)} d\xi \, ds$$

Thus, by (24), for any $t \ge t_3$ we get

Abstract and Applied Analysis

$$\geq \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t_3}^t \int_s^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} u^{(\ell-1)} (\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi ds.$$
(34)

According to (28_{ℓ}) and $(23_{\ell-1})$, choose $t_* > t_3$ such that

$$\frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t_3}^{t_*} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times \left(\frac{u^{(\ell-1)}(\sigma(\xi))}{\ell!}\right)^{\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi ds > \ell!.$$
(35)

By (34) and (35) we have

Let $\alpha = 1$. Since $u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to +\infty$, without loss of generally we can assume that $u^{(\ell-1)}(\sigma(\xi)) \ge \ell!$ for $\xi \ge t_3$. Then by (23_ℓ) from (36) we get

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \\ \ge \ell! + \frac{1}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} \int_{t_*}^t \int_s^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} \\ \times (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} u^{(\ell-1)}(\xi) p(\xi) d\xi ds \\ \text{for } t \ge t_*.$$
(37)

It is obvious that

$$x'(t) \ge \frac{\mu^{(\ell-1)}(t)}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi,$$
(38)

where

$$x(t) = \ell! + \frac{1}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} \int_{t_*}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2}$$

$$\times (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) u^{(\ell-1)}(\xi) d\xi ds.$$
(39)

Thus, according to $(23_{\ell-1})$ (37), and (39) from (38) we get

$$x'(t) \geq \frac{x(t)}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi$$

for $t \geq t_{*}$.
(40)

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) \\ \geq \ell! \exp\left\{\frac{1}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} \right. \\ \times \int_{t_*}^t \int_s^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \, d\xi \, ds \right\} \\ \text{for } t \geq t_*. \end{aligned}$$

$$(41)$$

Hence, according to (37) and (39)

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \ge \rho_{1,\ell,t_*}^{(1)}(t) \quad \text{for } t \ge \sigma_{(-1)}(t_*), \qquad (42)$$

where

$$\rho_{1,\ell,t_{*}}^{(1)}(t) = \ell! \exp\left\{\frac{1}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} \times \int_{\sigma_{(-1)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} \right.$$

$$\times \left(\sigma(\xi)\right)^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi ds \left.\right\}.$$
(43)

Thus, according to (36) and (42)

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \ge \rho_{i,\ell,t_*}^{(1)}(t) \quad \text{for } t \ge \sigma_{(-i)}(t_*) \quad (i = 1, \dots, k),$$
(44)

where

$$\rho_{i,\ell,t_{*}}^{(1)}(t) = \ell! + \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \times \int_{\sigma_{(-i)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \qquad (45) \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{i-1,\ell,t_{*}}^{(1)}(\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} d\xi \, ds \qquad (i = 2, \dots, k) \,.$$

Now assume that $\alpha > 1$ and $M \in (1, +\infty)$. Since $u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \uparrow +\infty$ for $t \uparrow +\infty$, without loss of generality we can assume that

 $(u^{(\ell-1)}(\sigma(\xi))/\ell!)^{\alpha-1} \ge \ell!(n-\ell)! M$ for $\xi \ge t_*$. Therefore, from (36) we have

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t)$$

$$\geq \ell! + M \int_{t_*}^t \int_s^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)}$$

$$\times p(\xi) u^{(\ell-1)}(\sigma(\xi)) d\xi ds$$
for $t \geq t_*$.
$$(46)$$

Taking into account (46), as above we can find that if $\alpha > 1$, then

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \ge \rho_{k,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}(t) \quad \text{for } t \ge \sigma_{(-k)}(t_*), \qquad (47)$$

where

$$\rho_{1,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(t) = \ell! \exp\left\{M \int_{\sigma_{(-1)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times p(\xi) \, d\xi \, ds\right\}$$

for $t \ge \sigma_{(-1)}(t_{*})$, (48)

$$\rho_{i,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(t) = \ell! + \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \times \int_{\sigma_{(-i)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{i-1,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} d\xi \, ds$$
for $t \ge \sigma_{(-i)}(t_{*})$ $(i = 2, ..., k)$. (49)

According to (43)–(45) and (47)–(49), it is obvious that for any $\alpha \ge 1, k \in N$, and M > 1 there exists $t_* \in R_+$ such that (29)–(31) hold, where $M_{\ell}(\alpha)$ is defined by (32). This proves the validity of the lemma.

Analogously we can prove.

Lemma 8. Let conditions (2), (3), (28_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, $1 \leq \beta < +\infty$, and let $u \in U_{\ell,t_0}$ be a positive proper solution of (1). Then for any $M \in (1; +\infty)$ there exists $t_* > t_0$ such that for any $k \in N$

$$u^{(\ell-1)}\left(t\right) \geq \widetilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{\left(\beta\right)}\left(t\right) \quad for \ t \geq \sigma_{(-k)}\left(t_{*}\right), \tag{50}$$

where β is defined by the second equality of (26) and

$$\widetilde{\rho}_{1,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\beta)}(t) = \ell! \exp \left\{ M\left(\beta\right) \right. \\ \left. \times \int_{\sigma_{(-1)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} \times (\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{1+\ell\mu\left(\xi\right)-\beta} \right. \\ \left. \times p\left(\xi\right) d\xi ds \right\},$$
(51)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\rho}_{i,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\beta)}(t) \\ &= \ell! + \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \\ &\times \int_{\sigma_{(-i)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \\ &\quad \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \tilde{\rho}_{i-1,\ell,t_{*}}(\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \, d\xi \, ds \\ &\quad (i=2,\ldots,k) \,, \end{split}$$
(52)

$$M(\beta) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\ell! (n-\ell)!} & \text{if } \beta = 1, \\ M & \text{if } \beta > 1. \end{cases}$$
(53)

Remark 9. In Lemma 7, the condition $\beta < +\infty$ cannot be replaced by the condition $\beta = +\infty$. Indeed, let $c \in (0, 1)$. Consider (1), where *n* is even and

$$\sigma(t) \equiv t, \qquad p(t) = \frac{n! t^{\log_{1/c} t}}{t^{n+1} (ct-1)^{\log_{1/c} t}},$$

$$\beta(t) = \log_{1/c} t, \quad t \ge \frac{2}{c}.$$
(54)

It is obvious that the function u(t) = c - (1/t) is the solution of (1) and it satisfies the condition (20_1) for $t \ge (2/c)$. On the other hand, the condition (28_1) holds, but the condition (22) is not fulfilled.

Theorem 10. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ be odd, let $\beta < +\infty$ and the conditions (2), (3), (28_{ℓ}), and let

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} t^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(t))^{\ell\mu(t)} p(t) dt = +\infty \qquad (55_{\ell})$$

be fulfilled, and for some $t_0 \in R_+$, $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} \neq \emptyset$. *Then for any* M > 1 *there exists* $t_* > t_0$ *such that if* $\alpha = 1$,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(1)} (\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi ds = 0$$
(56)

and if
$$\alpha > 1$$
, then for any $k \in N$ and $\delta \in (1; \alpha]$,

$$\int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta}(\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)+\delta} \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)-\delta} p(\xi) d\xi ds < +\infty,$$
(57)

where α is defined by first equality of (26) and $\rho_{k,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}$ is given by (30)–(32).

Proof. Let M > 1 and $t_0 \in R_+$ such that $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} \neq \emptyset$. By definition, (1) has a proper solution $u \in \mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0}$ satisfying the condition (20_{ℓ}) with some $t_{\ell} \geq t_0$. Due to (1), (20_{ℓ}) , and (28_{ℓ}) , it is obvious that condition (22) holds. Thus by Lemma 5 there exists $t_2 > t_1$ such that conditions (23_i) -(24) with $t_* = t_2$ are fulfilled. On the other hand, according to Lemma 7 (and its proof), we see that

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \ge \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{t_2}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} p(\xi) (u(\sigma(\xi)))^{\mu(\xi)} d\xi \, ds \quad (58)$$
for $t \ge t_2$,

and there exists $t_* > t_2$ such that relation (30) is fulfilled. Without loss of generality we can assume that $\sigma(t) \ge t_2$ for $t \ge t_*$. Therefore, by (24), from (58) we have

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \geq \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_*)}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} u^{(\ell-1)}(\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} d\xi \, ds.$$
(59)

Assume that $\alpha = 1$. Then by (44) and (59), we have

$$u^{(\ell-1)}(t) \\ \geq \frac{1}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_*)}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k-1,\ell,t_*}^{(1)}(\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} d\xi \, ds \quad \text{for } t \geq \sigma_{(-k)}(t_*).$$
(60)

On the other hand, according to $(23_{\ell-1})$ and (55_{ℓ}) it is obvious that

$$\frac{u^{(\ell-1)}(t)}{t} \downarrow 0 \quad \text{for } t \uparrow +\infty.$$
(61)

Therefore, from (60) we get

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi)$$

$$\times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(1)} (\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)} d\xi \, ds = 0.$$
(62)

Now assume that $\alpha > 1$ and $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$. Then according to (47), (23_{ℓ -1}), and (61), from (59) we have

Thus, we obtain

$$(v(t))^{\delta} \geq \frac{1}{(\ell! (n-\ell)!)^{\delta}} \times \left(\int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{t} v^{\delta}(s) \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta}(\sigma(\xi))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \right) \times p(\xi) \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(\sigma(\xi)) \right)^{\mu(\xi)-\delta} d\xi \, ds \right)^{\delta},$$

$$(64)$$

where $v(t) = (1/\ell!)u^{(\ell-1)}(t)$.

It is obvious that there exist $t_1 > \sigma_{(-k)}(t_*)$ such that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}\left(t_{*}\right)}^{t} \nu^{\delta}\left(s\right) \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta}(\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu\left(\xi\right)} p\left(\xi\right) \\ & \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{\left(\alpha\right)}\left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\mu\left(\xi\right)-\delta} d\xi \, ds > 0 \\ & \text{ for } t \geq t_{1}. \end{split}$$

(65)

Therefore, from (64)

$$\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \frac{\varphi'(s)}{(\varphi(s))^{\delta}} ds$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{(\ell! (n-\ell)!)^{\delta}}$$

$$\times \int_{t_{1}}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta} (\sigma(\xi))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)}$$

$$\times p(\xi) \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)} (\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)-\delta} d\xi ds,$$
(66)

where $\varphi(t)$

$$= \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{t} (\nu(s))^{\delta} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta} (\sigma(\xi))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \times p(\xi) \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}(\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)-\delta} d\xi ds$$
(67)

From the last inequality we get

$$\int_{t_1}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta} (\sigma(\xi))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi)$$

$$\times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \rho_{k,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)} (\sigma(\xi))\right)^{\mu(\xi)-\delta} d\xi \, ds$$

$$\leq \frac{(\ell! \, (n-\ell)!)^{\delta}}{\delta-1} \left[\varphi^{1-\delta} \left(t_1\right) - \varphi^{1-\delta} \left(t\right) \right]$$

$$\leq \frac{(\ell! \, (n-\ell)!)^{\delta}}{\delta-1} \varphi^{1-\delta} \left(t_1\right) \quad \text{for } t \geq t_1.$$
(68)

Passing to the limit in the latter inequality, we get

$$\int_{t_1}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta}(\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu\left(\xi\right)} p\left(\xi\right)$$

$$\times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \rho_{k,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}\left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\mu\left(\xi\right)-\delta} d\xi \, ds < +\infty;$$
(69)

that is, according to (62) and (69), (56) and (57) hold, which proves the validity of the theorem. $\hfill \Box$

Using Lemma 8 in a similar manner one can prove the following.

Theorem 11. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with ℓ +n be odd, let (2), (3), (28 $_{\ell}$), and (55 $_{\ell}$) be fulfilled, and for some $t_0 \in R_+$, $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$. Then there exists $t_* > t_0$ such that if $\beta = 1$, for any $k \in N$

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sup_{t} \frac{1}{t}$$

$$\times \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)}$$

$$\times \left(\tilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(1)} (\sigma(\xi)) \right)^{\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi ds = 0,$$

$$(70)$$

and if $1 < \beta < +\infty$, then for any $k \in N$ and $\delta \in (1, \beta]$

$$\int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta}(\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\ell\mu\left(\xi\right)+\delta-\beta} \times \left(\tilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{\left(\beta\right)}\left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\beta-\delta} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi \, ds < +\infty,$$

$$(71)$$

where β is defined by the second equality of (26) and $\tilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_*}^{(\beta)}$ is given by (51)–(53).

Sufficient Conditions for Nonexistence of Solutions of the Type (20_ℓ)

Theorem 12. Let $\beta < +\infty$, $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), (28_{ℓ}) , and (55_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, and if $\alpha = 1$, for any large $t_* \in R_+$ and for some $k \in N$

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_*)}^t \int_s^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \rho_{k,\ell,t_*}^{(1)}\left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\mu(\xi)} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi \, ds > 0 \end{split}$$
(72_ℓ)

or if $\alpha > 1$, for same $k \in N$ and $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$

$$\begin{split} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta} (\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \rho_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}\left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\mu(\xi)-\delta} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi \, ds = +\infty. \end{split}$$

$$\tag{73}_{\ell}$$

Then for any $t_0 \in R_+$ one has $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$, where α and β are defined by (26) and $\rho_{k,\ell,t_+}^{(\alpha)}$ is given by (30)–(32).

Proof. Assume the contrary. Let there exist $t_0 \in R_+$ such that $U_{\ell,t_0} \neq \emptyset$ (see Definition 6). Then (1) has a proper solution $u : [t_0, +\infty) \rightarrow R$ satisfying the condition (20_ℓ) . Since the condition of Theorem 10 is fulfilled, there exists $t_* > t_0$ such that if $\alpha = 1$ (if $\alpha > 1$), the condition (56) (the condition (57)) holds, which contradicts (72_ℓ) and (73_ℓ) . The obtained contradiction proves the validity of the theorem.

Using Theorem 11 analogously we can prove the following.

Theorem 13. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), (28_{ℓ}) , and (55_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, and if $\beta = 1$, for any large $t_* \in R_+$ and for some $k \in N$

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \tilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(1)} \left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\mu(\xi)} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi \, ds > 0 \end{split}$$

$$(74_{\ell})$$

or if $1 < \beta < +\infty$ for same $k \in N$ and $\delta \in (1, \beta]$

$$\int_{\sigma_{(-k)}(t_{*})}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta}(\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\ell\mu\left(\xi\right)+\delta-\beta}$$

$$\times \left(\tilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\beta)}\left(\sigma\left(\xi\right)\right)\right)^{\beta-\delta} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi \, ds = +\infty.$$
(75_ℓ)

Then for any $t_0 \in R_+$ we have $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$, where β is defined by the second equality of (26) and $\tilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_*}$ is given by (51)–(53).

Corollary 14. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), and (55_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, $\alpha = 1, \beta < +\infty$, and

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \, d\xi \, ds > 0.$$
 (76_ℓ)

Then $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$ for any $t_0 \in R_+$.

Proof. Since

$$\rho_{1,\ell,t}^{(\alpha)}\left(\sigma\left(t_{*}\right)\right) \geq \ell! \quad \text{for } t \geq \sigma_{(-1)}\left(t_{*}\right), \tag{77}$$

it suffices to note that by (76_{ℓ}) the conditions (72_{ℓ}) and (28_{ℓ}) are fulfilled for k = 1.

Corollary 15. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n - 1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2) and (3) be fulfilled, $\alpha = 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} t \int_{t}^{+\infty} s^{n-\ell-2} (\sigma(s))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(s)} p(s) \, ds = \gamma > 0.$$
 (78_{\empth\$})

If, moreover, for some $\varepsilon \in (0, \gamma)$

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{t} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{\mu(\xi)(\ell-1+((\gamma-\varepsilon)/(\ell!(n-\ell)!)))} p(\xi) d\xi ds$$

$$> 0,$$

$$(79_{\ell})$$

then for any $t_0 \in R_+$, $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$.

Proof. Clearly by virtue of (78_{ℓ}) conditions (28_{ℓ}) and (55_{ℓ}) are fulfilled. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, \gamma)$. According to (78_{ℓ}) and (79_{ℓ}) it is obvious that, for large t, $\rho_{1,\ell,t_*}^{(1)}(t) \ge \ell! t^{(\gamma-\varepsilon)/(\ell!(n-\ell)!)}$. Therefore, by (79_{ℓ}) , for k = 1, (72_{ℓ}) holds, which proves the validity of the corollary.

Corollary 16. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), (28_{ℓ}) , and (55_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and for some $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta}(\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi \, ds = +\infty. \tag{80}_{\ell}$$

Then for any $t_0 \in R_+$, $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$, where α is defined by the first condition of (3).

Proof. By (80_{ℓ}) and (77), for k = 1, the condition (73_{ℓ}) holds, which proves the validity of the corollary.

Corollary 17. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd and let the conditions (2), (3), and (78_{ℓ}) be fulfilled. Moreover, if $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and there exists $m \in N$ such that

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\sigma^m(t)}{t} > 0, \tag{81}$$

then for any $t_0 \in R_+$, $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$, where α is defined by the first condition of (3).

Proof. By (78_{ℓ}) there exist c > 0 and $t_1 \in R_+$ such that

$$t \int_{t}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \, d\xi \ge c \quad \text{for } t \ge t_1.$$
 (82_{\ell})

Let $\delta = (1 + \alpha)/2$ and $M = m(1 + \alpha)/c(\alpha - \delta)$. Then by (82_{ℓ}) and (30), for large $t_* > t_1$,

$$\rho_{1,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}(t) \ge t^{Mc} \quad t \ge t_*.$$
(83)

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\sigma\left(t\right)}{t}\right)^{\delta} &\left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \rho_{1,\ell,t_{*}}^{(\alpha)}\left(\sigma\left(t\right)\right)\right)^{\mu\left(t\right)-\delta} \\ &\geq \left(\frac{\sigma\left(t\right)}{t}\right)^{\delta} &\left(\frac{1}{\ell!} \ \sigma^{Mc}\left(t\right)\right)^{\alpha-\delta} \\ &= \frac{1}{\left(\ell!\right)^{\alpha-\delta}} &\left(\frac{\left(\sigma\left(t\right)\right)^{1+\left(Mc\left(\alpha-\delta\right)/\delta\right)}}{t}\right)^{\delta} \\ &> \frac{1}{\left(\ell!\right)^{\alpha-\delta}} &\left(\frac{\left(\sigma\left(t\right)\right)^{m}}{t}\right)^{\delta}. \end{split}$$
(84)

Thus, by (81) and (78_{ℓ}) , it is obvious that (73_{ℓ}) holds, which proves the corollary.

Quite similarly one can prove the following.

Corollary 18. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), (28_{ℓ}) , and (55_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, $\alpha > 1$, and $\beta < +\infty$. Moreover, if

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} t \ln t \int_{t}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-2} (\sigma(\xi))^{1+(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \, d\xi > 0 \quad (85_{\ell})$$

and for some $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$ and $m \in N$

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta} (\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\delta+(\ell-1)\mu\left(\xi\right)} (\ln \sigma\left(\xi\right))^{m} d\xi \, ds = +\infty,$$

$$(86_{\rho})$$

then for any $t_0 \in R_+$ one has $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$, where α and β are defined by the condition of (26).

Corollary 19. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ be odd, let the conditions (2), (3), and (28_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, $\alpha > 1$, and $\beta < +\infty$. Moreover, let there exist $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ and $r \in (0, 1]$ such that

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} t^{\gamma} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi > 0, \quad (87_{\ell})$$

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\sigma(t)}{t^r} > 0, \tag{88}$$

and let at least one of the conditions

$$\alpha \ge 1 \tag{89}$$

or $r\alpha < 1$ and for some $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta+(\alpha r(1-\gamma)/(1-\alpha r))-\varepsilon}$$

$$\times (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi ds = +\infty$$
(90_ℓ)

be fulfilled. Then for any $t_0 \in R_+$ *one has* $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$ *, where* α *is defined by* (26).

r

Proof. It suffices to show that the condition (73_{ℓ}) is satisfied for some $k \in N$ and $\delta = (1 + \alpha)/2$. Indeed, according to (87_{ℓ}) and (88), there exist $\gamma \in (0, 1)$, $r \in (0, 1]$, c > 0, and $t_1 \in R_+$ such that

$$t^{\gamma} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1}(\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{(\ell-1)\mu\left(\xi\right)} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi > c \quad \text{for } t \ge t_{1}, \quad (91)$$
$$\sigma\left(t\right) \ge ct^{r} \quad \text{for } t \ge t_{1}. \quad (92)$$

By (77), (31), and (91), from (31) we get

$$\rho_{2,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}(t) \geq \frac{c}{(n-\ell)!} \int_{\sigma_{(-1)}(t_*)}^{t} s^{-\gamma} ds \\
= \frac{c\left(t^{1-\gamma} - \sigma_{(-1)}^{1-\gamma}(t_*)\right)}{(n-\ell)! (1-\gamma)} \quad \text{for } t \geq \sigma_{(-1)}(t_*).$$
(93)

Let $\gamma_1 \in (\gamma, 1)$. Choose $t_2 > \sigma_{(-1)}(t_*)$ such that

$$\rho_{2,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}(t) \ge t^{1-\gamma_1} \quad \text{for } t \ge t_2.$$
(94)

Therefore, by (91) from (31) we can find $t_3 > t_2$ such that

$$\rho_{3,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}(t) \ge t^{(1-\gamma_1)(1+\alpha r)} \quad \text{for } t \ge t_3.$$
(95)

Hence for any $k_0 \in N$ there exists t_{k_0} such that

$$\rho_{k_0,\ell,t_*}^{(\alpha)}(t) \ge t^{(1-\gamma_1)(1+\alpha r+\dots+(\alpha r)^{k_{\alpha}-2})} \quad \text{for } t \ge t_{k_0}.$$
(96)

Assume that (89) is fulfilled. Choose $k_0 \in N$ such that $k_0 - 1 \ge ((1 - r)(1 + \alpha))/((1 - \gamma_1)(\alpha - 1))$. Then according

Assume now that (90_{ℓ}) is fulfilled. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and choose $k_0 \in N$ and $\gamma_1 \in (\gamma, 1)$ such that

$$(1-\gamma_1)\left(1+\alpha r+\cdots+(\alpha r)^{k_0-2}\right)>\frac{(1-\gamma)\,\alpha r}{1-\alpha r}-\varepsilon.$$
 (97)

Then according to (96), (92), and (90_{ℓ}) , it is obvious that (73_{ℓ}) holds for $k = k_0$. The proof of the corollary is complete.

Using Theorem 13, in a manner similar to above we can prove the following.

Corollary 20. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), and (28_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, $\beta = 1$, and

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \int_s^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) \, d\xi \, ds > 0.$$
 (98_ℓ)

Then for any $t_0 \in R_+$, $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$, where β is given by (26).

Corollary 21. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), and (28_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, $\beta = 1$, and

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} t \int_{t}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{(\ell-1)\mu(\xi)} p(\xi) d\xi = \gamma > 0. \quad (99_{\ell})$$

Moreover, let for some $\varepsilon \in (0, \gamma)$

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \int_s^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1} (\sigma(\xi))^{\mu(\xi)(\ell-1+((\gamma-\varepsilon)/\ell!(n-\ell)!))}$$

$$\times p(\xi) d\xi ds > 0.$$
(100_ℓ)

Then for any $t_0 \in R_+$ one has $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$, where β is given by (26).

Corollary 22. Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, let the conditions (2), (3), (28_{ℓ}) , and (55_{ℓ}) be fulfilled, $1 < \beta < +\infty$, and for some $\delta \in (1, \beta]$

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{s}^{+\infty} \xi^{n-\ell-1-\delta} (\sigma\left(\xi\right))^{\ell\mu\left(\xi\right)+\delta-\beta} p\left(\xi\right) d\xi \, ds = +\infty.$$

$$(101_{\ell})$$

Then for any $t_0 \in R_+$, $\mathbf{U}_{\ell,t_0} = \emptyset$.

5. Differential Equation with Property A

Theorem 23. Let the conditions (2), (3) be fulfilled and for any $\ell \in \{1, ..., n - 1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, the conditions (74_{ℓ}) and (75_{ℓ}) hold. Moreover for any large $t_* \in R_+$, if $\alpha = 1$ and $\beta < +\infty$ for some $k \in N$ let (72_{ℓ}) be fulfilled or if $\alpha > 1$ and $\beta < +\infty$, for some $k \in N$, $M \in (1, +\infty)$, and $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$, let (72_{ℓ}) be fulfilled. Then, if for odd n

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} t^{n-1} p(t) \, dt = +\infty, \tag{102}$$

then (1) has Property A, where α and β are defined by (26) and $\rho_{k,\ell,t}^{(\alpha)}$ is given by (30)–(32).

Proof. Let (1) have a proper nonoscillatory solution u: $[t_0, +\infty) \rightarrow (0, +\infty)$ (the case u(t) < 0 is similar). Then by (2), (3), and Lemma 3 there exists $\ell \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$ such that $\ell + n$ is odd and conditions (20_ℓ) hold. Since, for any $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd, the conditions of Theorem 12 are fulfilled we have $\ell \notin \{1, ..., n-1\}$. Now assume that $\ell = 0$, n is odd, and there exists $c \in (0, 1)$ such that $u(t) \ge c$ for sufficiently large t. According to (20_0) since $\beta < +\infty$, from (1) we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} (n-i-1)! t_1^i \left| u^{(i)}(t_1) \right|$$

$$\geq \int_{t_1}^t s^{n-1} p(s) c^{\mu(s)} ds \qquad (103)$$

$$\geq c^\beta \int_{t_1}^t s^{n-1} p(s) ds \quad \text{for } t \ge t_1,$$

where t_1 is a sufficiently large number. The last inequality contradicts the condition (102). The obtained contradiction proves that (1) has Property A.

Theorem 24. Let the conditions (2), (3) be fulfilled and for any $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd the conditions (28_{ℓ}) and (55_{ℓ}) hold. Let moreover, if $\beta = 1$, for some $k \in N$ (74_{ℓ}) hold or if $1 < \beta < +\infty$ and for some $k \in N$, $M \in (1, +\infty)$, and $\delta \in (1, \beta]$, (75_{ℓ}) hold. Then, if for odd n (102) is fulfilled, then (1) has Property **A**, where β is defined by the second equality of (26) and $\tilde{\rho}_{k,\ell,t_*}^{(\beta)}$ is given by (51)–(53).

Proof. The proof of the theorem is analogous to that of Theorem 23. We simply use Theorem 13 instead of Theorem 12. \Box

Theorem 25. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, let the conditions (2), (3), (28₁), and (55₁) be fulfilled, and

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \frac{(\sigma(t))^{\mu(t)}}{t} > 0.$$
(104)

If, moreover, for some $k \in N$, $M \in (1, +\infty)$, and $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$, (73_1) holds and for odd n (102) is fulfilled, then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are defined by (26) and $\rho_{k,1,t_*}^{(\alpha)}$ is given by (30)–(32).

Proof. It suffices to note that by (104) and (72₁), for any $\ell \in \{2, ..., n-1\}$ there exist $M > 1, k \in N$, and $\delta \in (1, \alpha)$ such that condition (72_{ℓ}) is fulfilled.

Theorem 26. Let $1 < \beta < +\infty$, and conditions (2), (3), (28₁), (29), and (104) be fulfilled. If, moreover, for some $k \in N$, $M \in (1, +\infty)$, and $\delta \in (1, \beta]$, (75₁) holds and for odd n (102) is fulfilled, then (1) has Property **A**, where β is defined by the second condition of (26) and $\tilde{\rho}_{k,1,t_*}^{(\beta)}$ is given by (51)–(55).

Proof. The theorem is proved similarly to Theorem 25 if we replace the condition (73_1) by the condition (75_1) .

Corollary 27. Let $\alpha = 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and conditions (2), (3), (28₁), (76₁), and (104) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are given by (26).

Proof. By (28_1) , (76_1) , and (104), condition (102), and for any $\ell \in \{1, ..., n - 1\}$ (76_ℓ) holds. Now assume that (1) has a proper nonoscillatory solution $u : [t_0, +\infty) \rightarrow (0, +\infty)$. Then, by (2), (3), and Lemma 3, there exists $\ell \in \{0, ..., n - 1\}$ such that $\ell + n$ is odd and the condition (20_ℓ) holds. Since for any $\ell \in \{1, ..., n - 1\}$ with $\ell + n$ odd the conditions of Corollary 14 are fulfilled, we have $\ell \notin \{1, ..., n - 1\}$. Therefore *n* is odd and $\ell = 0$. According to (102) and (20_0) it is obvious that the condition (5) holds. Therefore, (1) has Property **A**.

Using Corollaries 15–19, the validity of Corollaries 28–32 can be proven similarly to Corollary 27.

Corollary 28. Let $\alpha = 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and conditions (2), (3), (78₁), (79₁), and (104) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are given by (26).

Corollary 29. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, conditions (2), (3), (104) be fulfilled, and (80_1) for some $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$ hold and if n is odd, condition (102) holds. Then (1) has Property **A**.

Corollary 30. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, the conditions (2), (3), (28₁), (78₁), (104) be fulfilled, and (81) for some $m \in N$ holds. Then (1) has Property **A**.

Corollary 31. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, the conditions (2), (3), (28₁), (104), and (85₁) and for some $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$ and $m \in N$ (86₁) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are given by (26).

Corollary 32. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and the conditions (2), (3), (28₁), and (104) be fulfilled. Let moreover, there exist $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ and $r \in (0, 1]$ such that (87₁) and (88) hold. Then either condition (89) or condition (90₁) is sufficient for (1) to have Property **A**.

Corollary 33. Let $\beta = 1$ and the conditions (2), (3), (28₁), (104), and (98₁) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where β is defined by the second condition of (26).

Proof. By (28₁), (104), and (98₁), the condition (102), and for any $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ (98_{ℓ}) holds. Therefore, by Corollary 20, for any $t_0 \in R_+$ and $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ with $\ell + n$ is odd $\mathbf{U}_{\ell, t_0} = \emptyset$. On the other hand, if *n* is odd and $\ell = 0$, according to (102) it is obvious that the condition (5) holds, which proves that (1) has Property **A**.

Using Corollaries 21 and 22, we can analogously prove the following corollaries.

Corollary 34. Let $\beta = 1$ and the conditions (2), (3), (104), (99₁), and (100₁) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where β is given by (26).

Corollary 35. Let $1 < \beta < +\infty$, the conditions (2), (3), (104), (28₁), and (29₁) be fulfilled, and if n is odd (102) holds.

Moreover, if for some $\delta \in (1, \beta)$ (101₁) holds, then (1) has Property **A**.

Theorem 36. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, the conditions (2), (3), (28_{n-1}) , and (29_{n-1}) be fulfilled, and

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} \frac{(\sigma(t))^{\mu(t)}}{t} < +\infty.$$
(105)

Moreover, for some $k \in N$, $M \in (1, +\infty)$, and $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$, let (73_{n-1}) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property A, where α and β are defined by (26).

Proof. It suffices to note that by (28_{n-1}) , (29_{n-1}) , (105), and (73_{n-1}) there exist M > 1, $k \in N$, and $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$ such that $(28_{\ell}), (29_{\ell})$, and (73_{ℓ}) hold for any $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, n-2\}$.

Theorem 37. Let $1 < \beta < +\infty$ and the conditions (2), (3), (28_{n-1}) , (29_{n-1}) , and (105) be fulfilled, and for some $k \in N$, $M \in (1, +\infty)$, and $\delta \in (1, \beta]$, (75_{n-1}) holds. Then (1) has Property A, where β is given by the second condition of (26).

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 36 we replace the condition (73_{n-1}) by the condition (75_{n-1}) .

Corollary 38. Let $\alpha = 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and the conditions (2), (3), (28_{n-1}) , (76_{n-1}) , and (105) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are given by (26).

Proof. By (28_{n-1}) , (76_{n-1}) , and (105), the condition (102), and for any $\ell \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ the condition (76_{ℓ}) holds; it is obvious that (1) has Property **A**.

Using Corollaries 15–19, the validity of Corollaries 39–43 below can be proven similarly to Corollary 38.

Corollary 39. Let $\alpha = 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and the conditions (2), (3), (78_{*n*-1}), (79_{*n*-1}), and (105) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are given by (26).

Corollary 40. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and the conditions (2), (3), (105), and, for some $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$, (80_{n-1}) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α is given by (26).

Corollary 41. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and the conditions (2), (3), (28_{n-1}) , (78_{n-1}) , (105), and for some $m \in N$ (81) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are given by (26).

Corollary 42. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and the conditions (2), (3), (28_{*n*-1}), (85_{*n*-1}) and (105) be fulfilled and for some $\delta \in (1, \alpha]$ and $m \in N$ (86_{*n*-1}) holds. Then (1) has Property **A**, where α and β are given by (26).

Corollary 43. Let $\alpha > 1$, $\beta < +\infty$, and the conditions (2), (3), (28_{*n*-1}), and (105) be fulfilled. Let, moreover, there exist $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ and $r \in (0, 1)$ such that (87_{*n*-1}) and (88) hold. Then either condition (89) or condition (90_{*n*-1}) is sufficient for (1) to have Property **A**.

Corollary 44. Let $\beta = 1$ and the conditions (2), (3), (28_{*n*-1}), (105), and (98_{*n*-1}) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property A.

Using Corollaries 21 and 22, analogously we can prove Corollaries 45 and 5.18.

Corollary 45. Let $\beta = 1$ and the conditions (2), (3), (105), (99_{*n*-1}), and (100_{*n*-1}) be fulfilled. Then (1) has Property **A**, where β is given by (26).

Corollary 46. Let $1 < \beta < +\infty$ and the conditions (2), (3), (105), and (29_{n-1}) be fulfilled. If for some $\delta \in (1, \beta]$, (101_{n-1}) holds, then (1) has Property A.

6. Necessary and Sufficient Conditions

Theorem 47. Let $\alpha > 1$ and $\beta < +\infty$, let the conditions (2) and (3) be fulfilled and

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \frac{\sigma(t)}{t} > 0.$$
 (106)

Then the condition (102) is necessary and sufficient for (1) to have Property A, where α and β are given by (26).

Proof. Necessity. Assume that (1) has Property A and

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} t^{n-1} p(t) \, dt < +\infty. \tag{107}$$

Therefore, by Lemma 4.1 from [28], there exists $c \neq 0$ such that (1) has a proper solution $u : [0, +\infty) \rightarrow R$ satisfying the condition $\lim_{t \to +\infty} u(t) = c$. But this contradicts the fact that (1) has Property **A**.

Sufficiency. By (106) and (102) it is obvious that the condition (80_1) holds. Therefore the sufficiency follows from Corollary 29.

Remark 48. In Theorem 47 the condition $\beta < +\infty$ cannot be replaced by the condition $\beta = +\infty$. Indeed, let $c \in (0, 1/2)$, $\alpha = 1/2c$, and

$$p(t) = \frac{n! t^{\lg_{\alpha} t}}{t^{1+n} (1+ct)^{\lg_{\alpha} t}} \quad t \ge 1.$$
 (108)

It is obvious that the condition (102) is fulfilled, but equation

$$u^{(n)}(t) + p(t) |u(t)|^{\lg_{\alpha} t} \operatorname{sign} u(t) = 0$$
 (109)

has solution u(t) = (1/t + c). Therefore, (109) does not have Property A.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgment

The work was supported by the Sh. Rustaveli National Science Foundation Grant no. 31/09.

References

- I. J. H. Lane, "On the theoretical temperature of the sun under the hypothesis of a gaseous mass maintaining its volume by its internal heat and depending on the laws of gases known to terrestial experiment," *American Journal of Science and Arts*, vol. 4, pp. 57–74, 1870.
- [2] R. H. Fowler, "Further studies of Emden's and similar differential equations," *Quarterly Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 259–288, 1931.
- [3] R. Bellman, Stability Theory of Differential Equations, MaGraw-Hill, New York, NY, USA, 1953.
- [4] G. Sansone, Equazioni Differenziali nel Campo Reale. II, Zanichelli, Bologna, Italy, 3rd edition, 1963.
- [5] R. Conti, D. Graffi, and G. Sansone, "The Italian contribution to the theory of non-linear ordinary differential equations and to nonlinear mechanics during the years 1951–1961," in *Qualitative Methods in the Theory of Nonlinear Vibrations II*, pp. 172–189, 1961.
- [6] F. V. Atkinson, "On second order nonlinear oscillation," *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 5, no. 5, pp. 643–647, 1955.
- [7] J. Kurzweil, "A note on oscillatory solutions of the equation $y'' + f(x)y^{2n-1} = 0$," *Časopis Pro Pěstování Matematiky*, vol. 85, pp. 357–358, 1960.
- [8] I. T. Kiguradze and T. A. Chanturia, Asymptotic Properties of Solutions of Nonautonomous Ordinary Differential Equations, Nauka, Moscow, Russia, 1990.
- [9] S. Belohorec, "Oscillatory solutions of certain nonlinear differential equations of second order," *Matematicko-Fyzikálny Časopis*, vol. 11, pp. 250–255, 1961.
- [10] R. S. Dahiya and B. Singh, "On oscillatory behavior of even order delay equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 183–190, 1973.
- [11] R. G. Koplatadze, "On oscillatory solutions of second order delay differential inequalities," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis* and Applications, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 148–157, 1973.
- [12] R. G. Koplatadze, "On some properties of solutions of nonlinear differential inequalities and equations with a delayed argument," *Differentsial'nye Uravneniya*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 1971– 1984, 1976 (Russian).
- [13] R. G. Koplatadze and T. A. Chanturia, On Some Properties of Solutions of Nonlinear Differential Inequalities and Equations with a Delayed Argument, Tbilisi State University Press, Tbilisi, Georgia, 1977, (Russian).
- [14] S. R. Grace and B. S. Lalli, "Oscillation theorems for certain second-order perturbed nonlinear differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 205–214, 1980.
- [15] S. R. Grace and B. S. Lalli, "Oscillation theorems for nth-order delay differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis* and Applications, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 352–366, 1983.
- [16] A. G. Kartsatos, "Recent results on oscillation of solutions of forced and perturbed nonlinear differential equations of even order," in *Stability of Dynamic Systems: Theory and Applications*, vol. 28 of *Lecture Notes in Pure and Applied Mathematics*, pp. 17– 72, Dekker, New York, NY, USA, 1977.
- [17] T. Kusano and H. Onose, "Oscillations of functional differential equations with retarded argument," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 269–277, 1974.
- [18] W. E. Mahfoud, "Oscillation theorems for a second order delay differential equation," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 339–346, 1978.

- [19] W. E. Mahfoud, "Oscillation and asymptotic behavior of solutions of Nth order nonlinear delay differential equations," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 75–98, 1977.
- [20] U. Sztaba, "Note on the Dahiya and Singh paper: "On oscillatory behavior of even-order delay equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 313–318, 1978.
- [21] J. R. Graef, R. Koplatadze, and G. Kvinikadze, "Nonlinear functional differential equations with Properties A and B," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 306, no. 1, pp. 136–160, 2005.
- [22] R. Koplatadze, "Quasi-linear functional differential equations with Property A," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 330, no. 1, pp. 483–510, 2007.
- [23] R. Koplatadze, "On oscillatory properties of solutions of generalized Emden-Fowler type differential equations," *Proceedings of A. Razmadze Mathematical Institute*, vol. 145, pp. 117–121, 2007.
- [24] R. Koplatadze, "On asymptotic behaviors of solutions of "almost linear" and essential nonlinear functional differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods and Applications*, vol. 71, no. 12, pp. e396–e400, 2009.
- [25] R. Koplatadze and E. Litsyn, "Oscillation criteria for higher order, "almost linear" functional differential equation," *Functional Differential Equations*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 387–434, 2009.
- [26] R. Koplatadze, "On asymptotic behavior of solutions of *n*th order Emden-Fowler differential equations with advanced argument," *Czechoslovak Mathematical Journal*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 817–833, 2010.
- [27] R. Koplatadze, "Oscillation criteria for higher order nonlinear functional differential equations with advanced argument," *Nonlinear Oscillations*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 44–64, 2013.
- [28] R. Koplatadze, "On oscillatory properties of solutions of functional differential equations," *Memoirs on Differential Equations* and Mathematical Physics, vol. 3, pp. 3–179, 1994.
- [29] M. K. Grammatikopulos, R. Koplatadze, and G. Kvinikadze, "Linear functional differential equations with Property A," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 284, no. 1, pp. 294–314, 2003.

Research Article

Asymptotic Behavior of Higher-Order Quasilinear Neutral Differential Equations

Tongxing Li¹ and Yuriy V. Rogovchenko²

¹ Qingdao Technological University, Feixian, Shandong 273400, China
 ² Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Agder, P.O. Box 422, 4604 Kristiansand, Norway

Correspondence should be addressed to Yuriy V. Rogovchenko; yuriy.rogovchenko@uia.no

Received 29 September 2013; Accepted 17 November 2013; Published 19 January 2014

Academic Editor: Josef Diblik

Copyright © 2014 T. Li and Yu. V. Rogovchenko. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We study asymptotic behavior of solutions to a class of higher-order quasilinear neutral differential equations under the assumptions that allow applications to even- and odd-order differential equations with delayed and advanced arguments, as well as to functional differential equations with more complex arguments that may, for instance, alternate indefinitely between delayed and advanced types. New theorems extend a number of results reported in the literature. Illustrative examples are presented.

1. Introduction

In this paper, we study asymptotic behavior of solutions to a class of higher-order quasilinear neutral functional differential equations

$$\left(r(t)\left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha}\right)' + q(t)x^{\beta}(\sigma(t)) = 0, \qquad (1)$$

where $t \in \mathbb{I} := [t_0, \infty), t_0 \in \mathbb{R}, z(t) := x(t) + p(t)x(\tau(t)),$ $r, \tau, \sigma \in C^1(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}), r'(t) \ge 0, r(t) > 0, \lim_{t \to \infty} \sigma(t) = \infty,$ $p, q \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R}), q(t) \ge 0, \text{ and } q(t) \text{ does not vanish eventually.}$ We also assume that $\alpha, \beta \in \mathfrak{R}$, where \mathfrak{R} stands for the set containing all quotients of odd positive integers. Analysis of qualitative properties of (1) is important not only for the sake of further development of the oscillation theory, but for practical reasons too. In fact, a particular case of (1), an Emden-Fowler type equation

$$\left(r(t)\left(x^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha}\right)' + q(t)x^{\beta}(\sigma(t)) = 0,$$
(2)

has numerous applications in physics and engineering; see, for instance, the papers by Ou and Wong [1] or Wong [2].

As customary, by a solution of (1) we understand a function $x \in C([T_x, \infty), \mathbb{R}), T_x \ge t_0$, which has the property $r(z^{(n-1)})^{\alpha} \in C^1([T_x, \infty), \mathbb{R})$ and turns (1) into identity for all

 $t \in [T_x, \infty)$. We deal only with proper solutions x of (1) that satisfy the condition $\sup\{|x(t)| : t \ge T\} > 0$ for all $T \ge T_x$ and tacitly assume that (1) possesses such solutions. A solution of (1) is said to be *oscillatory* if it has arbitrarily large zeros on the ray $[T_x, \infty)$; otherwise, it is termed *nonoscillatory*. Equation (1) is called oscillatory if all its proper solutions are oscillatory.

For several decades, an increasing interest in obtaining sufficient conditions for oscillatory and nonoscillatory behavior of different classes of differential equations has been observed; see, for instance, the monographs [3–6], the papers [1, 2, 7–25], and the references cited therein. Let us briefly comment on a number of related results which motivated our study. Questions regarding the oscillation and asymptotic behavior of solutions to (2) have been studied by Džurina and Baculíková [12] and Zhang et al. [23, 25]. In particular, Zhang et al. [23, 25] derived some results on the oscillation and asymptotic behavior of solutions to (2) in the case where $\alpha \ge \beta$, $\sigma(t) < t$, and

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} r^{-1/\alpha} \left(t \right) \mathrm{d}t < \infty. \tag{3}$$

Oscillation criteria for (1) for n = 2, $\alpha = \beta = 1$, and $0 \le p(t) \le p_0 < \infty$ can be found in the papers by Baculíková and Džurina [8] and Li et al. [18]. A number of oscillation results for (1) have been established by Baculíková et al. [11]

and Xing et al. [22] under the assumptions that $\alpha = \beta$, $0 \le p(t) \le p_0 < \infty$, and

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} r^{-1/\alpha} \left(t \right) \mathrm{d}t = \infty.$$
(4)

We conclude by mentioning that Baculíková and Džurina [10] studied another particular case of (1) assuming that $\alpha = \beta = 1, 0 \le p(t) \le p_0 < \infty$, and

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} r^{-1}(t) \,\mathrm{d}t = \infty. \tag{5}$$

It should be noted that research in this paper was strongly motivated by the recent contributions of Baculíková and Džurina [10], Li et al. [18], and Zhang et al. [23, 25]. Our principal goal is to analyze the asymptotic behavior of solutions to (1) in the case where condition (3) holds. We provide sufficient conditions which ensure that solutions to (1) are either oscillatory or approach zero at infinity. In some cases, we reveal oscillatory nature of (1). However, we do not discuss in this paper nonoscillation results referring to the recent monograph by Agarwal et al. [3] for an excellent analysis of recent advances in this direction.

As usual, all functional inequalities are supposed to hold for all *t* large enough. Without loss of generality, we deal only with positive solutions of (1) since, under our assumptions, if x(t) is a solution, then -x(t) is a solution of this equation too.

In the sequel, we denote by τ^{-1} the function which is inverse to τ . We also adopt the following notation for a compact presentation of our results:

$$A(t) := \int_{t}^{\infty} r^{-1/\alpha} (s) ds,$$

$$Q(t) := \min \{q(t), q(\tau(t))\},$$

$$R(t) := \max \{r(t), r(\tau(t))\},$$

$$Q_{\gamma}(t) := Q(t) \left(\frac{(\eta_{1}(t))^{n-1}}{r^{1/\alpha}(\eta_{1}(t))}\right)^{\gamma},$$

$$Q_{\beta}(t) := Q(t) \left(\sigma^{n-2}(t)\right)^{\beta},$$

$$\widetilde{Q}_{\beta}(t) := Q(t) \left(\frac{(\eta_{1}(t))^{n-1}}{r^{1/\beta}(\eta_{1}(t))}\right)^{\beta},$$

$$(6)$$

$$(t) := Q(t) \left(\int_{\eta_{3}(t)}^{\infty} (\eta - \eta_{3}(t))^{n-3} A(\eta) d\eta\right)^{\theta},$$

$$\begin{split} \overline{Q}_{\beta}\left(t\right) &:= Q\left(t\right) \left(\int_{\eta_{3}(t)}^{\infty} \left(\eta - \eta_{3}\left(t\right)\right)^{n-3} A\left(\eta\right) \mathrm{d}\eta\right)^{\beta}, \\ \widehat{Q}_{\beta}\left(t\right) &:= Q\left(t\right) \left(\frac{\sigma^{n-1}\left(t\right)}{r^{1/\beta}\left(\sigma\left(t\right)\right)}\right)^{\beta}, \\ \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma}\left(t\right) &:= Q\left(t\right) \left(\frac{\sigma^{n-1}\left(t\right)}{r^{1/\alpha}\left(\sigma\left(t\right)\right)}\right)^{\gamma}, \end{split}$$

 Q_{θ}

where the meaning of γ , θ , η_1 , and η_3 will be explained later.

2. Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions to Even-Order Equations

In what follows, $\tau(t)$ can be both a delayed or an advanced argument. Throughout this section, in addition to the basic assumptions listed in the introduction, it is also supposed that (3) holds along with

$$(H_1) \ 0 \le p(t) \le p_0 < \infty, \text{ for some constant } p_0; (H_2) \ \tau'(t) \ge \tau_* > 0, \ \tau \circ \sigma = \sigma \circ \tau.$$

We need the following auxiliary results.

Lemma 1 (see [20]). Let $f \in C^n([t_0, \infty), \mathbb{R}^+)$. If the nth derivative $f^{(n)}(t)$ is eventually of one sign for all large t, then there exist a $t_1 \ge t_0$ and an integer $l, 0 \le l \le n$ with n + l even for $f^{(n)}(t) \ge 0$, or n + l odd for $f^{(n)}(t) \le 0$ such that

$$l > 0 \text{ yields } f^{(k)}(t) > 0 \quad \text{for } t \ge t_1, \ k = 0, 1, \dots, l-1,$$
$$l \le n-1 \text{ yields } (-1)^{l+k} f^{(k)}(t) > 0 \quad \text{for } t \ge t_1,$$
$$k = l, \ l+1, \dots, n-1.$$
(7)

Lemma 2 (see [5, Lemma 2.2.3]). Let f be as in Lemma 1,

$$f^{(n)}(t) f^{(n-1)}(t) \le 0$$
(8)

for $t \ge t_1$ *, and assume also that*

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} f(t) \neq 0.$$
(9)

Then, for every constant $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, there exists a $t_{\lambda} \in [t_1, \infty)$ such that

$$f(t) \ge \frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!} t^{n-1} \left| f^{(n-1)}(t) \right|, \tag{10}$$

for all $t \in [t_{\lambda}, \infty)$.

We are in a position now to state and prove principal results of this paper for even-order equations.

Theorem 3. Let $n \ge 2$ be even and let $0 < \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist two numbers $\gamma, \lambda \in \mathfrak{R}$ such that $\gamma \le \beta \le \lambda$ and $\gamma < \alpha < \lambda$. Suppose further that there exist two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\eta_{1}(t) \leq \sigma(t) \leq \eta_{2}(t), \qquad \eta_{1}(t) < t \leq \tau(t) < \eta_{2}(t),$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \eta_{1}(t) = \infty.$$
(11)

If

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} Q_{\gamma}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \infty, \tag{12}$$

$$^{\infty}Q_{\beta}\left(t\right)A^{\lambda}\left(\eta_{2}\left(t\right)\right)\mathrm{d}t=\infty,$$
(13)

every solution x(t) of (1) is either oscillatory or satisfies

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t) = 0.$$
(14)

Proof. Assume that (1) has a nonoscillatory solution x(t) which is eventually positive and such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t) \neq 0.$$
 (15)

Then z satisfies

$$z(\sigma(t)) = x(\sigma(t)) + p(\sigma(t))x(\tau(\sigma(t)))$$

$$\leq x(\sigma(t)) + p_0 x(\tau(\sigma(t))).$$
(16)

In view of (1), we have

$$0 = \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau'(t)} \Big(r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \Big)' + p_0^{\beta} q(\tau(t)) x^{\beta} (\sigma(\tau(t))) \geq \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} \Big(r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \Big)' + p_0^{\beta} q(\tau(t)) x^{\beta} (\sigma(\tau(t))).$$
(17)

Using (16) and [9, Lemma 2], we obtain

$$q(t) x^{\beta}(\sigma(t)) + p_{0}^{\beta} q(\tau(t)) x^{\beta}(\sigma(\tau(t)))$$

$$= q(t) x^{\beta}(\sigma(t)) + p_{0}^{\beta} q(\tau(t)) x^{\beta}(\tau(\sigma(t))) \qquad (18)$$

$$\geq Q(t) z^{\beta}(\sigma(t)).$$

It follows from (1), (17), and (18) that

$$\left(r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \right)'$$

$$+ Q(t) z^{\beta}(\sigma(t)) \le 0.$$
(19)

As in the proof of [25, Theorem 2.1], we conclude that, by virtue of (1) and Lemma 1, there are two possibilities, either

$$z(t) > 0, \qquad z'(t) > 0, \qquad z^{(n-1)}(t) > 0,$$

$$z^{(n)}(t) \le 0, \qquad \left(r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha}\right)' \le 0,$$
(20)

or

$$z(t) > 0, \qquad z^{(n-2)}(t) > 0,$$

$$z^{(n-1)}(t) < 0, \qquad \left(r(t)\left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha}\right)' \le 0,$$
(21)

for all $t \ge t_1$, where $t_1 \ge t_0$ is large enough.

Case I. Suppose first that conditions (20) hold. Using inequality (19) and assumption $\eta_1(t) \le \sigma(t)$, we conclude that

$$\left(r(t)\left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_{0}^{\beta}}{\tau_{*}}r(\tau(t))\left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t))\right)^{\alpha}\right)' + Q(t)z^{\beta}(\eta_{1}(t)) \leq 0.$$
(22)

Furthermore, by the monotonicity of z(t), there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$z^{\beta}(\eta_{1}(t)) = z^{\beta-\gamma}(\eta_{1}(t)) z^{\gamma}(\eta_{1}(t)) \ge M^{\beta-\gamma} z^{\gamma}(\eta_{1}(t)).$$
(23)

Combining (22) and (23), we have

$$\left(r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \right)'$$

$$+ M_1 Q(t) z^{\gamma} \left(\eta_1(t) \right) \le 0,$$
(24)

where $M_1 = M^{\beta - \gamma}$. An application of conditions (20) allows us to deduce that the function

$$w(t) := r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha}$$
(25)

is positive and nonincreasing. By Lemma 2, we have

$$z(t) \ge \frac{\lambda t^{n-1}}{(n-1)!r^{1/\alpha}(t)}r^{1/\alpha}(t)z^{(n-1)}(t)$$

$$= \frac{\lambda t^{n-1}}{(n-1)!r^{1/\alpha}(t)}w^{1/\alpha}(t),$$
(26)

for every $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and for all sufficiently large *t*. Using (26) in (24), we conclude that w(t) is a positive solution of a delay differential inequality

$$\left(w\left(t\right) + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}w\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right)' + M_1\left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!}\right)^{\gamma} Q_{\gamma}\left(t\right) w^{\gamma/\alpha}\left(\eta_1\left(t\right)\right) \le 0.$$
(27)

Define now a function y(t) by

$$y(t) := w(t) + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} w(\tau(t)).$$
(28)

Then, by the monotonicity of w(t),

$$y(t) \le w(t) \left(1 + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}\right).$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Substituting (29) into (27), we observe that y(t) is a positive solution of a delay differential inequality

$$y'(t) + M_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\gamma/\alpha} Q_{\gamma}(t) y^{\gamma/\alpha} \left(\eta_1(t)\right) \le 0.$$
(30)

Then, by virtue of [21, Theorem 1], the associated delay differential equation

$$y'(t) + M_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\gamma/\alpha} Q_{\gamma}(t) y^{\gamma/\alpha} (\eta_1(t)) = 0$$
(31)

also has a positive solution. However, the result by Kitamura and Kusano [15, Theorem 2] implies that, under assumption (12), (31) is oscillatory. Therefore, (1) cannot have positive solutions.

Case II. Assume now that conditions (21) hold. By virtue of (15), we have that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} z(t) \neq 0. \tag{32}$$

An application of Lemma 2 yields

$$z(t) \ge \frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!} t^{n-2} z^{(n-2)}(t)$$
, (33)

for any $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and for all sufficiently large *t*. Hence, by (19) and (33), we obtain

$$\left(r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \right)'$$

$$+ \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!} \right)^{\beta} Q_{\beta}(t) \left(z^{(n-2)}(\sigma(t)) \right)^{\beta} \le 0.$$
(34)

Using conditions $z^{(n-1)}(t) < 0$, $\sigma(t) \le \eta_2(t)$, and inequality (34), we have

$$\left(r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \right)'$$

$$+ \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!} \right)^{\beta} Q_{\beta}(t) \left(z^{(n-2)}(\eta_2(t)) \right)^{\beta} \le 0.$$
(35)

Furthermore, by the monotonicity of $z^{(n-2)}(t)$, there exists a constant N > 0 such that

$$(z^{(n-2)} (\eta_1 (t)))^{\beta} = (z^{(n-2)} (\eta_1 (t)))^{\beta-\lambda} (z^{(n-2)} (\eta_1 (t)))^{\lambda} \geq N^{\beta-\lambda} (z^{(n-2)} (\eta_2 (t)))^{\lambda}.$$
(36)

Combining (35) and (36), we arrive at

$$\left(r\left(t\right) \left(z^{(n-1)}\left(t\right)\right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_{0}^{\beta}}{\tau_{*}} r\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right) \left(z^{(n-1)}\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right)^{\alpha} \right)' + N_{1} \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} Q_{\beta}\left(t\right) \left(z^{(n-2)}\left(\eta_{2}\left(t\right)\right)\right)^{\lambda} \le 0,$$

$$(37)$$

where $N_1 = N^{\beta-\lambda}$. Using the monotonicity of w(t), for $s \ge t \ge t_1$, we conclude that

$$r^{1/\alpha}(s) \, z^{(n-1)}(s) \le r^{1/\alpha}(t) \, z^{(n-1)}(t) \,. \tag{38}$$

Dividing (38) by $r^{1/\alpha}(s)$ and integrating the resulting inequality from *t* to *l*, we obtain

$$z^{(n-2)}(l) \leq z^{(n-2)}(t) + r^{1/\alpha}(t) z^{(n-1)}(t) \int_{t}^{l} r^{-1/\alpha}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(39)

Passing to the limit as $l \to \infty$, we deduce that

$$0 \le z^{(n-2)}(t) + r^{1/\alpha}(t) z^{(n-1)}(t) A(t), \qquad (40)$$

which yields

$$z^{(n-2)}(t) \ge -A(t) r^{1/\alpha}(t) z^{(n-1)}(t) = -A(t) w^{1/\alpha}(t).$$
(41)

Combining (37) and (41), we have

$$\left(r(t)\left(z^{(n-1)}\left(t\right)\right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_{0}^{\beta}}{\tau_{*}}r\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\left(z^{(n-1)}\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right)^{\alpha}\right)' - N_{1}\left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta}Q_{\beta}\left(t\right)A^{\lambda}\left(\eta_{2}\left(t\right)\right)w^{\lambda/\alpha}\left(\eta_{2}\left(t\right)\right) \leq 0.$$

$$(42)$$

Using again monotonicity of w(t), we conclude that

$$y(t) \ge w(\tau(t))\left(1 + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}\right). \tag{43}$$

Substituting (43) into (42), we observe that y(t) is a negative solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$y'(t) - N_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\lambda/\alpha}$$

$$\times Q_{\beta}(t) A^{\lambda}(\eta_2(t)) y^{\lambda/\alpha} \left(\tau^{-1}(\eta_2(t))\right) \le 0,$$
(44)

which implies that u(t) := -y(t) is a positive solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$u'(t) - N_{1} \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{\tau_{*}}{\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta}}\right)^{\lambda/\alpha}$$

$$\times Q_{\beta}(t) A^{\lambda}(\eta_{2}(t)) u^{\lambda/\alpha} \left(\tau^{-1}(\eta_{2}(t))\right) \ge 0.$$

$$(45)$$

Consequently, by [7, Lemma 2.3], the associated advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - N_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\lambda/\alpha}$$

$$\times Q_{\beta}(t) A^{\lambda}(\eta_2(t)) u^{\lambda/\alpha}(\tau^{-1}(\eta_2(t))) = 0$$

$$(46)$$

also has a positive solution. However, it follows from [15, Theorem 1] that if condition (13) holds, (46) is oscillatory. Therefore, (1) cannot have positive solutions. This contradiction with our initial assumption completes the proof. \Box

Theorem 4. Let $n \ge 2$ be even, and let $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) hold, and there exist two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfying (11). Suppose also that conditions

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{\left((n-1)!\right)^{\beta}\left(\tau_{*}+p_{0}^{\beta}\right)}\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_{\eta_{1}(t)}^{t}\widetilde{Q}_{\beta}\left(s\right)\mathrm{d}s>\frac{1}{e},\quad(47)$$

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{\left((n-2)!\right)^{\beta}\left(\tau_{*}+p_{0}^{\beta}\right)}\liminf_{t\to\infty}\int_{t}^{\tau^{-1}(\eta_{2}(t))}Q_{\beta}\left(s\right)A^{\beta}\left(\eta_{2}\left(s\right)\right)\mathrm{d}s$$

$$>\frac{1}{e}$$
(48)

are satisfied. Then conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Proof. Assume that x(t) is an eventually positive solution of (1) that satisfies (15). Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 3, one comes to the conclusion that, for every $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, a delay differential equation

$$y'(t) + \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!}\right)^{\beta} \frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0{}^{\beta}} \widetilde{Q}_{\beta}(t) y\left(\eta_1(t)\right) = 0 \qquad (49)$$

and an advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} \frac{\tau_{*}}{\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta}} Q_{\beta}(t) A^{\beta}(\eta_{2}(t)) \times u(\tau^{-1}(\eta_{2}(t))) = 0$$
(50)

both have positive solutions. On the other hand, condition (47) and [9, Lemma 4] imply that (49) is oscillatory, a contradiction. Likewise, by virtue of [6, Theorem 2.4.1], condition (48) yields that (50) has no positive solutions. This contradiction completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Theorem 5. Let $n \ge 2$ be even and $0 < \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist two numbers $\gamma, \lambda \in \Re$ as in Theorem 3 and two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$\eta_{1}(t) \leq \sigma(t) \leq \eta_{2}(t), \qquad \eta_{1}(t) < \tau(t) \leq t < \eta_{2}(t),$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \eta_{1}(t) = \infty.$$
(51)

If conditions (12) *and* (13) *hold, the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.*

Proof. As above, let x(t) be an eventually positive solution of (1) that satisfies (15). As in the proof of Theorem 3, we split the argument into two parts.

Case I. Assume first that (20) is satisfied. It has been established in the proof of Theorem 3 that the function w(t) defined by (25) is positive, nonincreasing, and satisfies inequality (27). Introducing again y(t) by (28) and using the monotonicity of w(t), we conclude that

$$y(t) \le w(\tau(t)) \left(1 + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}\right).$$
(52)

Substitution of (52) into (27) implies that, for sufficiently large t, y(t) is a positive solution of a delay differential inequality

$$y'(t) + M_{1} \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{\tau_{*}}{\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta}}\right)^{\gamma/\alpha} Q_{\gamma}(t)$$

$$\times y^{\gamma/\alpha} \left(\tau^{-1}\left(\eta_{1}(t)\right)\right) \leq 0.$$
(53)

Then, by virtue of [21, Theorem 1], the associated delay differential equation

$$y'(t) + M_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\gamma/\alpha} Q_{\gamma}(t)$$

$$\times y^{\gamma/\alpha} \left(\tau^{-1}(\eta_1(t))\right) = 0$$
(54)

also has a positive solution. However, [15, Theorem 2] implies that if (12) holds, (54) is oscillatory. Therefore, (1) cannot have positive solutions.

Case II. Assume now that (21) is satisfied. It has been established in the proof of Theorem 3 that the function w(t) defined by (25) is negative, nonincreasing, and satisfies the inequality (42). Introducing again y(t) by (28) and using the monotonicity of w(t), we conclude that

$$y(t) \ge w(t) \left(1 + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}\right).$$
(55)

Substituting (55) into (42), we observe that y(t) is a negative solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$y'(t) - N_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\lambda/\alpha} Q_{\beta}(t)$$

$$\times A^{\lambda} \left(\eta_2(t)\right) y^{\lambda/\alpha} \left(\eta_2(t)\right) \le 0.$$
(56)

That is, u(t) := -y(t) is a positive solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$u'(t) - N_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\lambda/\alpha} Q_{\beta}(t)$$

$$\times A^{\lambda} \left(\eta_2(t)\right) u^{\lambda/\alpha} \left(\eta_2(t)\right) \ge 0.$$
(57)

Then, by [7, Lemma 2.3], the associated advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - N_1 \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\lambda/\alpha} Q_{\beta}(t)$$

$$\times A^{\lambda} \left(\eta_2(t)\right) u^{\lambda/\alpha} \left(\eta_2(t)\right) = 0$$
(58)

also has a positive solution. However, [15, Theorem 1] implies that, under assumption (13), (58) is oscillatory. Therefore, (1) cannot have positive solutions. This contradiction with our initial assumption completes the proof. \Box

Theorem 6. Let $n \ge 2$ be even and $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfying (51). Suppose also that

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-1)!)^{\beta} (\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{\tau^{-1}(\eta_{1}(t))}^{t} \widetilde{Q}_{\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s > \frac{1}{\mathrm{e}}, \quad (59)$$

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-2)!)^{\beta} (\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{\eta_{2}(t)} Q_{\beta}(s) \, A^{\beta}(\eta_{2}(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s > \frac{1}{\mathrm{e}}.$$
(60)

Then the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Proof. Assuming that x(t) is an eventually positive solution of (1) that satisfies (15) and proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 5, one concludes that, for every $\lambda \in (0, 1)$, a delay differential equation

$$y'(t) + \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-1)!}\right)^{\beta} \frac{\tau_{*}}{\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta}} \widetilde{Q}_{\beta}(t) y\left(\tau^{-1}\left(\eta_{1}(t)\right)\right) = 0$$
(61)

and an advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - \frac{\tau_{*}}{\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta}} \left(\frac{\lambda}{(n-2)!}\right)^{\beta} Q_{\beta}(t) A^{\beta}(\eta_{2}(t)) u(\eta_{2}(t)) = 0$$
(62)

have positive solutions. On the other hand, application of condition (59) along with [9, Lemma 4] implies that (61) is oscillatory, a contradiction. Likewise, by virtue of [6, Theorem 2.4.1], condition (60) yields that (62) has no positive solutions. This contradiction completes the proof. \Box

Note that Theorems 3–6 ensure that every solution x(t) of (1) is either oscillatory or tends to zero as $t \rightarrow \infty$ and, unfortunately, cannot distinguish solutions with different behaviors. In the remaining part of this section, we establish several results which guarantee that all solutions of (1) are oscillatory.

Theorem 7. Let $n \ge 4$ be even and $0 < \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist three numbers $\gamma, \lambda, \theta \in \mathfrak{R}$ such that $\gamma \le \beta \le \lambda, \gamma < \alpha < \lambda, \theta \ge \beta$, and $\theta > \alpha$. Suppose further that there exist three functions $\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$

$$\eta_3(t) \ge \sigma(t), \qquad \eta_3(t) > \tau(t), \tag{63}$$

and such that (11) holds. Assume that conditions (12), (13), and

$$\int^{\infty} Q_{\theta}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \infty \tag{64}$$

hold. Then (1) is oscillatory.

Proof. Without loss of generality, suppose that x(t) is a nonoscillatory solution of (1) which is eventually positive. As in the proof of Theorem 3, we obtain (19). Applying the same argument as in the paper by Zhang et al. [23, Theorem 2.1],

we conclude that, by virtue of (1) and Lemma 1, in addition to the case (20), there are two more possible types of behavior of solutions for $t \ge t_1$, where $t_1 \ge t_0$ is large enough in the proof of Theorem 3. Namely, one can also have

$$z(t) > 0, \qquad z'(t) > 0, \qquad z^{(n-2)}(t) > 0,$$

$$z^{(n-1)}(t) < 0, \qquad \left(r(t)\left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha}\right)' \le 0,$$
(65)

or

$$z(t) > 0, \qquad z^{(j)}(t) < 0, \qquad z^{(j+1)}(t) > 0,$$

$$z^{(n-1)}(t) < 0, \qquad \left(r(t)\left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha}\right)' \le 0,$$
(66)

for all odd integers $j \in \{1, 2, ..., n - 3\}$. However, conditions (12) and (13) yield that neither (20) nor (65) is possible.

Therefore, we have to analyze the only remaining case, and we assume now that all the conditions in (66) are satisfied. Then, inequality (41) holds. Integrating (41) from t to $\infty n - 2$ times, we obtain

$$z(t) \ge -\frac{\int_{t}^{\infty} (\eta - t)^{n-3} A(\eta) \, \mathrm{d}\eta}{(n-3)!} r^{1/\alpha}(t) z^{(n-1)}(t)$$

$$= -\frac{\int_{t}^{\infty} (\eta - t)^{n-3} A(\eta) \, \mathrm{d}\eta}{(n-3)!} w^{1/\alpha}(t),$$
(67)

where w(t) is defined by (25). Taking into account that z'(t) < 0, $\sigma(t) \le \eta_3(t)$, and using (19), we have

$$\left(r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \right)'$$

$$+ Q(t) z^{\beta} \left(\eta_3(t) \right) \le 0.$$
(68)

By virtue of monotonicity of z(t), there exists a constant $M_2 > 0$ such that

$$z^{\beta}(\eta_{3}(t)) = z^{\beta-\theta}(\eta_{3}(t)) z^{\theta}(\eta_{3}(t)) \ge M_{2}z^{\theta}(\eta_{3}(t)).$$
(69)

Combining (68) and (69), we obtain

$$\left(r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} r(\tau(t)) \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)) \right)^{\alpha} \right)' + M_2 Q(t) z^{\theta} \left(\eta_3(t) \right) \le 0.$$
(70)

Using (67) in (70), we conclude that in this case, the function w(t) defined by (25) is negative, nonincreasing, and satisfies the inequality

$$\left(r\left(t\right) \left(z^{(n-1)}\left(t\right)\right)^{\alpha} + \frac{p_{0}^{\beta}}{\tau_{*}} r\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right) \left(z^{(n-1)}\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right)^{\alpha} \right)' - \frac{M_{2}}{\left((n-3)!\right)^{\theta}} Q_{\theta}\left(t\right) w^{\theta/\alpha}\left(\eta_{3}\left(t\right)\right) \le 0.$$

$$(71)$$
Introducing again y(t) by (28) and using the monotonicity of w(t), we arrive at (43). Substitution of (43) into (71) leads to the conclusion that y(t) is a negative solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$y'(t) - \frac{M_2}{\left((n-3)!\right)^{\theta}} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\theta/\alpha} Q_{\theta}(t) y^{\theta/\alpha} \left(\tau^{-1}\left(\eta_3(t)\right)\right)$$
$$\leq 0, \tag{72}$$

in which case the function u(t) := -y(t) is a positive solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$u'(t) - \frac{M_2}{\left((n-3)!\right)^{\theta}} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\theta/\alpha} Q_{\theta}(t) u^{\theta/\alpha} \left(\tau^{-1}\left(\eta_3(t)\right)\right)$$
$$\geq 0. \tag{73}$$

Then, by [7, Lemma 2.3], the associated advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - \frac{M_2}{((n-3)!)^{\theta}} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\theta/\alpha} Q_{\theta}(t) u^{\theta/\alpha} \left(\tau^{-1}(\eta_3(t))\right) = 0$$
(74)

also has a positive solution. However, [15, Theorem 1] implies that (74) is oscillatory under assumption (64). Therefore, (1) cannot have positive solutions. This contradiction with our initial assumption completes the proof. \Box

Theorem 8. Let $n \ge 4$ be even and $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist three functions $\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ as in Theorem 7. Suppose also that conditions (47) and (48) hold. If

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-3)!)^{\beta}(\tau_{*}+p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{\tau^{-1}(\eta_{3}(t))} \overline{Q}_{\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s > \frac{1}{\mathrm{e}}, \quad (75)$$

(1) is oscillatory.

Proof. Let x(t) be a nonoscillatory solution of (1) which is eventually positive. As in the proof of Theorem 7, one can have either (20) or (65), or (66). However, conditions (47) and (48) exclude cases (20) and (65). Thus, all the inequalities in (66) should be satisfied. Along the same lines as in the proof of Theorem 7, one comes to the conclusion that an advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - \frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-3)!)^{\beta} (\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta})} \overline{Q}_{\beta}(t) u(\tau^{-1}(\eta_{3}(t))) = 0$$
(76)

has positive solutions. On the other hand, if condition (75) holds, a well-known result [6, Theorem 2.4.1] implies that (76) has no positive solutions. This contradiction completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Theorem 9. Let $n \ge 4$ be even, $0 < \beta \le 1$, and assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied. Suppose further that there exist three numbers $\gamma, \lambda, \theta \in \Re$ as in Theorem 7 and three functions $\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ such that (51) is satisfied, $\eta_3(t) \ge \sigma(t)$, and $\eta_3(t) > t$. If (12), (13), and (64) hold, (1) is oscillatory.

Proof. Let x(t) be an eventually positive nonoscillatory solution of (1). The same argument as in the proof of Theorem 7 yields that (66) holds. Define the function w(t) by (25). From the proof of Theorem 7, we already know that w(t) is negative, nonincreasing, and satisfies the inequality (71). Introducing then the function y(t) by (28) and using the monotonicity of w(t), we arrive at (55). Substituting (55) into (71), we observe that y(t) is a negative solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$y'(t) - \frac{M_2}{((n-3)!)^{\theta}} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\theta/\alpha} Q_{\theta}(t) y^{\theta/\alpha} (\eta_3(t)) \le 0,$$
(77)

while u(t) := -y(t) is a positive solution of an advanced differential inequality

$$u'(t) - \frac{M_2}{((n-3)!)^{\theta}} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\theta/\alpha} Q_{\theta}(t) u^{\theta/\alpha}(\eta_3(t)) \ge 0.$$
(78)

In this case, the result due to Baculíková [7, Lemma 2.3] allows one to deduce that the associated advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - \frac{M_2}{((n-3)!)^{\theta}} \left(\frac{\tau_*}{\tau_* + p_0^{\beta}}\right)^{\theta/\alpha} Q_{\theta}(t) u^{\theta/\alpha}(\eta_3(t)) = 0$$
(79)

also has a positive solution. However, it has been established by Kitamura and Kusano [15, Theorem 1] that if condition (64) is satisfied, (79) is oscillatory. Therefore, (1) cannot have positive solutions, and this contradiction with the assumptions of the theorem completes the proof. \Box

Theorem 10. Let $n \ge 4$ be even and $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist three functions $\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ as in Theorem 9. Suppose further that (59), (60) hold, and

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-3)!)^{\beta}(\tau_{*}+p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{\eta_{3}(t)} \overline{Q}_{\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s > \frac{1}{e}.$$
 (80)

Then (1) is oscillatory.

Proof. Assuming that x(t) is an eventually positive nonoscillatory solution of (1) and reasoning as in the proof of Theorem 7, one concludes that (66) holds. As in the proof of Theorem 9, we observe that an advanced differential equation

$$u'(t) - \frac{\tau_*}{((n-3)!)^{\beta} (\tau_* + p_0^{\beta})} \overline{Q}_{\beta}(t) u(\eta_3(t)) = 0$$
(81)

has positive solutions. On the other hand, if condition (80) is satisfied, a result reported by Ladde et al. [6, Theorem 2.4.1] yields that (81) has no positive solutions. This contradiction completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

3. Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions to Odd-Order Equations

In this section, in addition to conditions (H_1) , (H_2) , and (3), we also assume that

 $(H_3) \sigma(t) < t.$

The validity of the following four propositions can be established in the same manner as it has been done for Theorems 3–6. Therefore, to avoid unnecessary repetition, we only formulate counterparts of Theorems 3–6 for the case of odd-order equations.

Theorem 11. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd and let $0 < \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions $(H_1)-(H_3)$ are satisfied, and there exist two numbers $\gamma, \lambda \in \mathfrak{R}$ as in Theorem 3 and a function $\eta_4 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ such that $t \le \tau(t) < \eta_4(t)$. Suppose further that

$$\int^{\infty} \widetilde{Q}_{\gamma}(t) dt = \infty,$$

$$\int^{\infty} Q_{\beta}(t) A^{\lambda}(\eta_{4}(t)) dt = \infty.$$
(82)

Then the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Theorem 12. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd, and let $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions $(H_1)-(H_3)$ are satisfied, and there exists a function $\eta_4 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ as in Theorem 11. Suppose also that

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-1)!)^{\beta} (\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{\sigma(t)}^{t} \widehat{Q}_{\beta}(s) \, ds > \frac{1}{e},$$

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-2)!)^{\beta} (\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{\tau^{-1}(\eta_{4}(t))} Q_{\beta}(s) \qquad (83)$$

$$\times A^{\beta} (\eta_{4}(s)) \, ds > \frac{1}{e}.$$

Then the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Theorem 13. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd and let $0 < \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions $(H_1)-(H_3)$ are satisfied, and there exist two numbers $\gamma, \lambda \in \mathfrak{R}$ as in Theorem 3 and a function $\eta_4 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\sigma(t) < \tau(t) \le t < \eta_4(t)$. Suppose further that conditions (82) are satisfied. Then the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Theorem 14. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd, and let $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) – (H_3) are satisfied, and there exists a function $\eta_4 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ as in Theorem 13. If

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-1)!)^{\beta} (\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{\tau^{-1}(\sigma(t))}^{t} \widehat{Q}_{\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s > \frac{1}{\mathrm{e}},$$

$$\frac{\tau_{*}}{((n-2)!)^{\beta} (\tau_{*} + p_{0}^{\beta})} \liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{\eta_{4}(t)} Q_{\beta}(s) \, A^{\beta}(\eta_{4}(s)) \, \mathrm{d}s > \frac{1}{\mathrm{e}},$$
(84)

the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Note that Theorems 11–14 apply only if σ is a delayed argument, $\sigma(t) < t$. Hence, it is important to complement such results with the following theorems that can be applied in the case where σ is an advanced argument, $\sigma(t) \ge t$.

Theorem 15. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd and let $0 < \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist two numbers $\gamma, \lambda \in \Re$ as in Theorem 3 and two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfying (11). Suppose also that

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \xi^{n-2} \left[\frac{1}{R(\xi)} \int_{\xi}^{\infty} Q(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right]^{1/\alpha} \mathrm{d}\xi = \infty.$$
 (85)

If (12) *and* (13) *are satisfied, the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.*

Proof. Assume that (1) has an eventually positive solution x(t) satisfying (15). Proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 3, we arrive at (19) and observe that (1) yields that either (20) or (21) holds.

Indeed, it follows from the condition $(r(t)(z^{(n-1)}(t))^{\alpha})' \leq 0$ that either $z^{(n-1)}(t) > 0$ or $z^{(n-1)}(t) < 0$. Assume first that $z^{(n-1)}(t) < 0$; this immediately leads us to conditions (21). On the other hand, if $z^{(n-1)}(t) > 0$, then $z^{(n)}(t) \leq 0$ due to the fact that $r'(t) \geq 0$. We claim that z'(t) > 0 eventually. In fact, if this is not the case, then z'(t) < 0 eventually. Since z(t) > 0, z'(t) < 0, and (15) holds, there should exist a positive constant *a* such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} z(t) = a. \tag{86}$$

On the other hand, if $z^{(n-1)}(t) > 0$ and $z^{(n)}(t) \le 0$, there exists a constant $b \ge 0$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} z^{(n-1)}(t) = b \ge 0.$$
(87)

Hence,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} z^{(i)}(t) = 0, \tag{88}$$

for i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1. Integrating (19) from t to ∞ and using the fact that the limit

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} r(t) \left(z^{(n-1)}(t) \right)^{\alpha} \ge 0 \tag{89}$$

is finite, we have

$$-r(t) (z^{(n-1)}(t))^{\alpha} - \frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*} r(\tau(t)) (z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t)))^{\alpha} + \int_t^{\infty} Q(s) z^{\beta}(\sigma(s)) ds \le 0.$$
(90)

Consequently,

$$-R(t)\left[\left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha} + \left(\left(\frac{p_{0}^{\beta}}{\tau_{*}}\right)^{1/\alpha}\right)^{\alpha}\left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t))\right)^{\alpha}\right] + \int_{t}^{\infty}Q(s)z^{\beta}(\sigma(s))\,\mathrm{d}s \leq 0.$$
(91)

Assume first that $\alpha \leq 1$. Using the result due to Baculíková [7, Lemma 2.2], we obtain

$$\left(z^{(n-1)}(t)\right)^{\alpha} + \left(\left(\frac{p_{0}^{\beta}}{\tau_{*}}\right)^{1/\alpha}\right)^{\alpha} \left(z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t))\right)^{\alpha}$$

$$\leq 2^{1-\alpha} \left[z^{(n-1)}(t) + \left(\frac{p_{0}^{\beta}}{\tau_{*}}\right)^{1/\alpha} z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t))\right]^{\alpha}.$$
(92)

Substituting (92) into (91), we have

$$-2^{1-\alpha}R(t)\left[z^{(n-1)}(t) + \left(\frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}\right)^{1/\alpha}z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t))\right]^{\alpha} + \int_t^{\infty}Q(s)z^{\beta}(\sigma(s))\,\mathrm{d}s \le 0,$$
(93)

which yields

$$-\left[z^{(n-1)}\left(t\right) + \left(\frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}\right)^{1/\alpha} z^{(n-1)}\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right]^{\alpha}$$

$$\leq -\frac{1}{2^{1-\alpha}R\left(t\right)} \int_t^{\infty} Q\left(s\right) z^{\beta}\left(\sigma\left(s\right)\right) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(94)

Therefore,

$$-\left[z^{(n-1)}(t) + \left(\frac{p_0^{\beta}}{\tau_*}\right)^{1/\alpha} z^{(n-1)}(\tau(t))\right] + \left[\frac{1}{2^{1-\alpha}R(t)} \int_t^{\infty} Q(s) z^{\beta}(\sigma(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s\right]^{1/\alpha} \le 0.$$
(95)

Integrate (95) n - 2 times from t to ∞ and then one more time from t_1 to ∞ . Using (88) and changing the order of integration, we obtain

$$\int_{t_1}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\xi - t_1\right)^{n-2}}{(n-2)!} \left[\frac{1}{2^{1-\alpha}R\left(\xi\right)} \int_{\xi}^{\infty} Q\left(s\right) z^{\beta}\left(\sigma\left(s\right)\right) \mathrm{d}s \right]^{1/\alpha} \mathrm{d}\xi < \infty.$$
(96)

Inequality (96) yields

$$\int_{t_1}^{\infty} \xi^{n-2} \left[\frac{1}{R(\xi)} \int_{\xi}^{\infty} Q(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \right]^{1/\alpha} \mathrm{d}\xi < \infty, \qquad (97)$$

which contradicts (85).

For the case $\alpha > 1$, one arrives at the contradiction with the assumptions of the theorem by using another auxiliary result obtained by Baculíková [7, Lemma 2.1]. Thus, we conclude that z'(t) > 0 eventually. The rest of the proof follows the same lines as in Theorem 3 and is omitted.

Combining the ideas exploited in the proofs of Theorems 4–6 and 15, one can derive the following results.

Theorem 16. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd, and let $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfying (11). If (47), (48), and (85) hold, the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Theorem 17. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd, and let $0 < \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist two numbers $\gamma, \lambda \in \Re$ as in Theorem 3 and two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfying (51). If conditions (12), (13), and (85) are satisfied, the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

Theorem 18. Let $n \ge 3$ be odd, and let $0 < \alpha = \beta \le 1$. Assume that conditions (H_1) and (H_2) are satisfied, and there exist two functions $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in C(\mathbb{I}, \mathbb{R})$ satisfying (51). If conditions (59), (60), and (85) are satisfied, the conclusion of Theorem 3 remains intact.

4. Examples and Discussion

The following examples illustrate applications of some of theoretical results presented in the previous sections. In all the examples, p_0 is a constant such that $0 \le p_0 < \infty$.

Example 1. For $t \ge 1$, consider a fourth-order neutral differential equation

$$\left(e^{t}(x(t) + p_{0}x(t-2))^{\prime\prime\prime}\right)^{\prime} + \frac{1}{16}\left(1 + p_{0}e\right)e^{t-1/2}x(t-1) = 0.$$
(98)

Let $\eta_1(t) = t-3$ and $\eta_2(t) = t+1$. An application of Theorem 6 yields that every solution x(t) of (98) is either oscillatory or satisfies (14). As a matter of fact, $x(t) = e^{-t/2}$ is an exact solution to (98) satisfying (14).

Example 2. For $t \ge 1$, consider a fourth-order neutral differential equation

$$\left(e^{t} (x(t) + p_{0}x(t+2\pi))^{\prime\prime\prime} \right)^{\prime} + 2\sqrt{10} \left(1 + p_{0}e^{2\pi} \right)$$

$$\times e^{t + \arcsin \sqrt{10}/10} x \left(t - \arcsin \frac{\sqrt{10}}{10} \right) = 0.$$
(99)

Let $\eta_1(t) = t - 3$ and $\eta_2(t) = \eta_3(t) = t + 3\pi$. Using Theorem 8, we deduce that (99) is oscillatory. It is not hard to verify that one oscillatory solution of this equation is $x(t) = e^t \sin t$.

Example 3. For $t \ge 1$, consider a third-order neutral differential equation

$$\left(e^{t}(x(t)+p_{0}x(t-2))^{\prime\prime}\right)^{\prime}+\frac{9}{8}\left(1+p_{0}e^{3}\right)e^{t-3/2}x(t-1)=0.$$
(100)

Let $\eta(t) = t+1$. It follows from Theorem 14 that every solution x(t) of (100) is either oscillatory or satisfies (14). In fact, one solution of this equation satisfying (14) is $x(t) = e^{-t/2}$.

Remark 4. In the case of (2), oscillation criteria established in this paper complement theorems reported by Zhang et al. [23, 25] because our criteria apply also in the case where $\sigma(t) \ge t$ and $\beta > \alpha$. On the other hand, our results for (1) supplement those reported by Baculíková and Džurina [10], Baculíková et al. [11], and Xing et al. [22] since our theorems can be applied if $\alpha \neq \beta$ and (3) holds.

Remark 5. By using inequality

$$x_1^{\ \beta} + x_2^{\ \beta} \ge 2^{1-\beta} (x_1 + x_2)^{\beta}$$
 (101)

which holds for any $\beta \ge 1$ and for all $x_1, x_2 \in [0, \infty)$, results reported in this paper can be extended to (1) for all $\beta \in \Re$ which satisfy $\beta > 1$. In this case, one has to replace $Q(t) := \min\{q(t), q(\tau(t))\}$ with a function $Q(t) := 2^{1-\beta} \min\{q(t), q(\tau(t))\}$ and proceed as above.

Remark 6. Our main assumptions on functional arguments do not specify whether $\tau(t)$ is a delayed or an advanced argument. Remarkably, $\sigma(t)$ can even switch its nature between an advanced and delayed argument. However, as in the paper by Baculíková and Džurina [10, condition (H_3)], such flexibility is achieved at the cost of requiring that the function τ is monotonic and satisfies $\tau \circ \sigma = \sigma \circ \tau$. The question regarding the analysis of the asymptotic behavior of solutions to (1) with other methods that do not require these assumptions remains open at the moment.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests and no financial issues to disclose.

Acknowledgment

The authors thank anonymous referees for the careful reading of the paper and for pointing out several inaccuracies in the text.

References

- C. H. Ou and J. S. W. Wong, "Oscillation and non-oscillation theorems for superlinear Emden-Fowler equations of the fourth order," *Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata. Series IV*, vol. 183, no. 1, pp. 25–43, 2004.
- [2] J. S. W. Wong, "On the generalized Emden-Fowler equation," SIAM Review, vol. 17, pp. 339–360, 1975.

- [3] R. P. Agarwal, L. Berezansky, E. Braverman, and A. Domoshnitsky, Nonoscillation Theory of Functional Differential Equations with Applications, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 2012.
- [4] R. P. Agarwal, M. Bohner, and W.-T. Li, Nonoscillation and Oscillation: Theory for Functional Differential Equations, vol. 267, Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, USA, 2004.
- [5] R. P. Agarwal, S. R. Grace, and D. O'Regan, Oscillation Theory for Difference and Functional Differential Equations, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2000.
- [6] G. S. Ladde, V. Lakshmikantham, and B. G. Zhang, Oscillation Theory of Differential Equations with Deviating Arguments, vol. 110, Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, USA, 1987.
- [7] B. Baculíková, "Properties of third-order nonlinear functional differential equations with mixed arguments," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2011, Article ID 857860, 15 pages, 2011.
- [8] B. Baculíková and J. Džurina, "Oscillation theorems for second order neutral differential equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 94–99, 2011.
- [9] B. Baculíková and J. Džurina, "Oscillation theorems for secondorder nonlinear neutral differential equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 4472–4478, 2011.
- [10] B. Baculíková and J. Džurina, "Oscillation theorems for higher order neutral differential equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 219, no. 8, pp. 3769–3778, 2012.
- [11] B. Baculíková, J. Džurina, and T. Li, "Oscillation results for evenorder quasilinear neutral functional differential equations," *Electronic Journal of Differential Equations*, no. 143, pp. 1–9, 2011.
- [12] J. Džurina and B. Baculíková, "Oscillation and asymptotic behavior of higher-order nonlinear differential equations," *International Journal of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 2012, Article ID 951898, 9 pages, 2012.
- [13] M. Hasanbulli and Yu. V. Rogovchenko, "Asymptotic behavior of nonoscillatory solutions to *n*-th order nonlinear neutral differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 69, no. 4, pp. 1208–1218, 2008.
- [14] M. Hasanbulli and Yu. V. Rogovchenko, "Oscillation criteria for second order nonlinear neutral differential equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 215, no. 12, pp. 4392–4399, 2010.
- [15] Y. Kitamura and T. Kusano, "Oscillation of first-order nonlinear differential equations with deviating arguments," *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 64–68, 1980.
- [16] T. Li, R. P. Agarwal, and M. Bohner, "Some oscillation results for second-order neutral differential equations," *The Journal of the Indian Mathematical Society*, vol. 79, no. 1-4, pp. 97–106, 2012.
- [17] T. Li, Z. Han, P. Zhao, and S. Sun, "Oscillation of even-order neutral delay differential equations," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2010, Article ID 184180, 2010.
- [18] T. Li, Yu. V. Rogovchenko, and C. Zhang, "Oscillation of secondorder neutral differential equations," *Funkcialaj Ekvacioj*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 111–120, 2013.
- [19] T. Li and E. Thandapani, "Oscillation of solutions to odd-order nonlinear neutral functional differential equations," *Electronic Journal of Differential Equations*, no. 23, pp. 1–12, 2011.
- [20] Ch. G. Philos, "A new criterion for the oscillatory and asymptotic behavior of delay differential equations," *Bulletin de l'Académie Polonaise des Sciences*, vol. 39, pp. 61–64, 1981.

- [21] Ch. G. Philos, "On the existence of nonoscillatory solutions tending to zero at ∞ for differential equations with positive delays," *Archiv der Mathematik*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 168–178, 1981.
- [22] G. Xing, T. Li, and C. Zhang, "Oscillation of higher-order quasilinear neutral differential equations," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2011, article 45, p. 10, 2011.
- [23] C. Zhang, R. P. Agarwal, M. Bohner, and T. Li, "New results for oscillatory behavior of even-order half-linear delay differential equations," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 179– 183, 2013.
- [24] C. Zhang, T. Li, R. P. Agarwal, and M. Bohner, "Oscillation results for fourth-order nonlinear dynamic equations," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 2058–2065, 2012.
- [25] C. Zhang, T. Li, B. Sun, and E. Thandapani, "On the oscillation of higher-order half-linear delay differential equations," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 24, no. 9, pp. 1618–1621, 2011.

Research Article

Existence and Global Exponential Stability of Equilibrium for Impulsive Cellular Neural Network Models with Piecewise Alternately Advanced and Retarded Argument

Kuo-Shou Chiu

Departamento de Matemática, Facultad de Ciencias Básicas, Universidad Metropolitana de Ciencias de la Educación, José Pedro Alessandri 774, Santiago, Chile

Correspondence should be addressed to Kuo-Shou Chiu; kschiu@umce.cl

Received 26 August 2013; Revised 18 November 2013; Accepted 2 December 2013

Academic Editor: Agacik Zafer

Copyright © 2013 Kuo-Shou Chiu. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We introduce impulsive cellular neural network models with piecewise alternately advanced and retarded argument (in short IDEPCA). The model with the advanced argument is system with strong anticipation. Some sufficient conditions are established for the existence and global exponential stability of a unique equilibrium. The approaches are based on employing Banach's fixed point theorem and a new IDEPCA integral inequality of Gronwall type. The criteria given are easily verifiable, possess many adjustable parameters, and depend on impulses and piecewise constant argument deviations, which provides exibility for the design and analysis of cellular neural network models. Several numerical examples and simulations are also given to show the feasibility and effectiveness of our results.

1. Introduction

Chua and Yang [1] proposed a novel class of informationprocessing systems called cellular neural networks (CNNs) in 1988. Like neural networks, it is a large-scale nonlinear analog circuit which processes signals in real time. Like cellular automata [2] it is made of a massive aggregate of regularly spaced circuit clones, called cells, which communicate with each other directly only through its nearest neighbors. Each cell is made of a linear capacitor, a nonlinear voltage-controlled current source, and a few resistive linear circuit elements. The key features of neural networks are asynchronous parallel processing and global interaction of network elements. Impressive applications of neural networks have been proposed for various fields such as optimization, linear and nonlinear programming, associative memory, pattern recognition, and computer vision. For the circuit diagram and connection pattern implementing the CNN, one can refer to [1]. The CNN can be applied in signal processing and can also be used to solve some image processing and pattern recognition problems [3]. However, it is necessary to solve some dynamic image processing and

pattern recognition problems by using delayed cellular neural networks (DCNN) [4–6]. The study of the stability of CNN and DCNN is known to be an important problem in theory and applications.

On the other hand, in real world, many evolutionary processes are characterized by abrupt changes at certain time. These changes are known to be impulsive phenomena, which are included in many fields such as physics, chemistry, population dynamics, and optimal control. Fundamental theory of impulsive differential equations has been developed in [7]. Furthermore, researches of impulsive differential equations have been received much interesting in recent years [8–18]. Meanwhile, several kinds of neural networks with impulse have been investigated. In particular, Xu and Yang established the delay differential inequalities with impulsive initial conditions; some new sufficient conditions for global exponential stability of impulsive delay model were obtained [15, 16].

Most neural networks can be classified into two types, continuous or discrete. However, many real-world systems and natural processes cannot be categorized into one of them. They display characteristics both continuous and discrete styles. For instance, some biological neural networks in biology, bursting rhythm models in pathology, and optimal control models in economics are characterized by abrupt changes of state. These are the familiar impulsive phenomena.

It is well known that applications of CNN depend crucially on the dynamical behavior of the networks. In these applications, stability and convergence of neural networks are prerequisites. However, in the design of neural networks one is interested not only in the uniform asymptotic stability but also in the global exponential stability, which guarantees a neural network to converge fast enough in order to achieve fast response. In addition, in the analysis of dynamical neural networks for parallel computation and optimization, to increase the rate of convergence to the equilibrium point of the networks and reduce the neural computing time, it is necessary to ensure a desired exponential convergence rate of the networks' trajectories, starting from arbitrary initial states to the equilibrium point which corresponds to the optimal solution. Thus, from the mathematical and engineering points of view, it is required that the neural networks have a unique equilibrium point which is globally exponentially stable. Therefore, the problem of stability analysis has received great attention and many results on this topic have been reported in the literature. See, for instance, [4, 9, 13, 19–27] and references cited therein.

1.1. Piecewise Constant Impulsive Systems. Differential equations with piecewise constant argument (in short DEPCA) are first considered by Shah and Wiener [28] and Cooke and Wiener [29] in the 80s and have been developed by many authors. Applications of DEPCAs are discussed in [30]. Theory and practice of DEPCA of general type, have been discussed extensively in [31-37]. Piecewise constant systems exist in widely expanded areas such as biomedicine, chemistry, mechanical engineering, and physics. The systematical studies with mathematical models involving piecewise constant arguments were initiated for solving some biomedical problems. These kinds of equations are similar in structure to those found in certain sequential-continuous models of disease dynamics. In [38], the following system of equations describing the dynamics of the disease for generation n = 1, 2, ... is investigated:

$$\frac{dI^{(n)}}{dt}(t) = -c(t)I^{(n)}(t) + k(t)S^{(n)}(t)I^{(n)}(t),$$

$$n < t \le n+1,$$
(1)
$$\frac{dS^{(n)}}{dt}(t) = -c(t)S^{(n)}(t) - k(t)S^{(n)}(t)I^{(n)}(t),$$

$$n < t \le n+1,$$

while

$$I^{(1)}(1) = I_0, \qquad S^{(1)}(1) = S_0,$$
 (2)

where c is the death rate and k is the horizontal transmission factor. These types of models are special cases of the general form

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = F(t, x_t), \quad [t] < t \le [t] + 1, \ x_{[t]} = \phi_{[t]},
\phi_{[t]} = G([t], x_{[t]}), \quad [t] \ge 2, \ \phi_1 = H,$$
(3)

which arise naturally in a number of models of epidemic. DEPCAs usually describe hybrid dynamical systems (a combination of continuous and discrete) and so combine properties of both differential and difference equations.

Impulsive differential equations with discontinuous argument are proposed as an open problem by Wiener [30] in 1994, namely, the impulsive differential equations with piecewise constant argument: IDEPCA. As we know, impulsive differential equations with piecewise constant arguments (in short IDEPCA) are studied in a few papers [8, 39, 40].

1.2. Model Description. First, let us give a general description of the mathematical model of ICNNs with piecewise alternately advanced and retarded argument:

$$\frac{dx_{i}(t)}{dt} = -a_{i}x_{i}(t)$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ b_{ij}f_{j}\left(x_{j}(t)\right) + c_{ij}g_{j}\left(x_{j}\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right) \right\}$$

$$+ d_{i}, \quad t \neq mk - l,$$
(4a)

$$\Delta x_{i}|_{t=mk-l} = J_{ik} \left(x_{i} \left(mk - l^{-} \right) \right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(4b)

where $[\cdot]$ signifies the greatest integer function, l and m are positive real numbers such that $l < m, t, x_i \in \mathbb{R}^+, i =$ $1, 2, ..., n, \Delta x_i(mk - l) = x_i(mk - l) - x_i(mk - l^{-}), \text{ and }$ $x_i(mk - l^-) = \lim_{h \to 0^-} x_i(mk - l + h)$. Moreover, *n* denotes the number of neurons in the network, $x_i(t)$ corresponds to the state of the *i*th unit at time t, $f_i(x_i(t))$ and $g_i(x_i(m[(t + i)]))$ l)/m])) denote, respectively, the measures of activation to its incoming potentials of the unit *j* at time *t* and discrete-time m[(t+l)/m], a_i denotes the rate with which the unit *i* resets its potential to the resting state when isolated from other units and inputs, b_{ij} denotes the synaptic connection weight of the unit *j* on the unit *i* at time *t*, c_{ij} denotes the synaptic connection weight of the unit *j* on the unit *i* at discrete-time m[(t + l)/m], and d_i is the input from outside the network to the unit *i*. The numbers $x_i(mk - l^-)$ and $x_i(mk - l)$ are, respectively, the states of the *i*th unit before and after impulse perturbation at the moment $mk - l, k \in \mathbb{N}$, and represent the abrupt change of the state $J_{ik}(x_i(mk - l^-))$ at the impulsive moment mk - l.

Let us clarify why the IDEPCA (4a)-(4b) is of alternately advanced and retarded type; that is, the argument can change its deviation character during the motion. The argument is deviated if it is advanced or retarded. Fix $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and consider the IDEPCA on the interval $I_k = [mk -$ l, m(k + 1) - l). Then, the identification function m[(t + l)/m]is equal to mk. If $t \in I_k^+ = [mk - l, mk)$, then $m[(t + l)/m] \ge t$ and IDEPCA (4a)-(4b) is an equation with advanced argument. Similarly, if $t \in I_k^- = (mk, m(k + 1) - l)$ then m[(t + l)/m] < t and IDEPCA (4a)-(4b) is an equation with retarded argument. Consequently, IDEPCA (4a)-(4b) changes the type of deviation of the argument during the process. In other words, the IDEPCA (4a)-(4b) is of alternately advanced and retarded type.

For any solution $x(t) = (x_1(t), \dots, x_n(t))^T$ of IDEPCA (4a)-(4b), the model can be summarized as follows:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = -Ax(t) + Bf(x(t)) + Cg\left(x\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right) + D,$$

$$t \neq mk - l,$$

(5a)

$$\Delta x|_{t=mk-l} = J_k \left(x \left(mk - l^- \right) \right), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(5b)

where $A = \text{diag}(a_1, \ldots, a_n)$, $B = (b_{ij})_{n \times n}$, and $C = (c_{ij})_{n \times n}$ are constant matrices and $D = (d_1, \ldots, d_n)$ is a constant vector. Moreover, the functions $f : \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n$, $g : \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfy $(\partial f_i / \partial x_i) = (\partial g_i / \partial x_i) = 0$ when $i \neq j$.

To the best of our knowledge, cellular neural network with piecewise constant argument has been developed by few authors, for example, Huang et al. Reference [41] considered first the following cellular neural network with piecewise constant delay:

$$\frac{dx_{i}(t)}{dt} = -a_{i}([t]) x_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ c_{ij}([t]) g_{j}(x_{j}([t])) \right\} + d_{i}([t]),$$
(6)

where $[\cdot]$ signifies the greatest integer function. Some sufficient conditions of existence and attractivity of almost periodic sequence solution were given for the corresponding discrete-time analogue:

$$x_{i}(k+1) = x_{i}(k) e^{-a_{i}(k)} + \frac{1 - e^{-a_{i}(k)}}{a_{i}(k)} \times \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ij}(k) g_{j}(x_{j}(k)) + d_{i}(k) \right\}.$$
(7)

In 2010, Akhmet and Yılmaz [8] considered first the following impulsive neural network with only piecewise constant retarded argument:

$$\frac{dx_{i}(t)}{dt} = -a_{i}x_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left\{ b_{ij}f_{j}\left(x_{j}(t)\right) + c_{ij}g_{j}\left(x_{j}\left(\beta\left(t\right)\right)\right) \right\}
+ d_{i}, \quad t \neq \theta_{k},
\Delta x_{i}\big|_{t=\theta_{k}} = I_{k}\left(x_{i}\left(\theta_{k}^{-}\right)\right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m, \ k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(8)

where $\beta(t) = \theta_k$ if $\theta_k < t < \theta_{k+1}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, is an identification function and $\theta_k > 0$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, is a sequence

of real numbers. Several sufficient conditions are obtained for the existence and stability of a unique ω -periodic solution.

In this paper, we for the first time study the dynamic behavior of impulsive cellular neural network models that combine the properties of impulsive differential equations and discrete-time difference equations, that is, the following impulsive cellular neural network with piecewise alternately advanced and retarded argument:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx_i(t)}{dt} &= -a_i x_i(t) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n \left\{ b_{ij} f_j\left(x_j(t)\right) + c_{ij} g_j\left(x_j\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right) \right\} \\ &+ d_i, \quad t \neq mk-l, \\ \Delta x_i \big|_{t=mk-l} &= J_{ik}\left(x_i\left(mk-l^-\right)\right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ k \in \mathbb{N}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(9)$$

The purpose of this paper is to derive some new and simple sufficient conditions for the existence and uniqueness of solutions of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b), which is globally exponentially stable. This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we establish several criteria for the existence and uniqueness of a unique equilibrium of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system and the equivalence lemma for (5a)-(5b). Here, a new IDEPCA Gronwall-type inequality is very useful. In Section 3, we derive some sufficient conditions which ensure that a unique equilibrium of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) is globally exponentially stable. In Section 4, two illustrative examples and the numerical simulations are given to demonstrate the effectiveness of our results. The conclusions are drawn in Section 5.

2. Existence and Uniqueness Theorems

In this section, sufficient conditions that govern the network parameters and the activation functions are established for the existence of a unique equilibrium state of the impulsive cellular neural network models (5a)-(5b).

2.1. Preliminaries and Definition. In this section, we will focus our attention on some preliminary results which will be used in the existence and uniqueness of solutions of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b).

For every $t \in \mathbb{R}$, let $i = i(t) \in \mathbb{N}$ be the unique integer such that $t \in I_i = [mi - l, m(i + 1) - l)$.

For the sake of convenience, two of the standing assumptions are formulated below.

Lipschitz Condition

(L) The activation functions f_j and g_j with $f_j(0) = 0$, $g_j(0) = 0$ (j = 1, 2, ..., n) satisfy the Lipschitz condition; that is, there are constants $\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f}, \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} > 0$ such that

$$\left| f_{j}(u) - f_{j}(v) \right| \leq \mathcal{L}_{j}^{f} |u - v|,$$

$$\left| g_{j}(u) - g_{j}(v) \right| \leq \mathcal{L}_{j}^{g} |u - v|$$
(10)

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

The impulsive operator J_k satisfies

$$\left|J_{jk}\left(u\right) - J_{jk}\left(v\right)\right| \le \mathscr{L}_{k}^{j}\left|u - v\right|,\tag{11}$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^+$, j = 1, ..., n, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, where \mathscr{L}_k^J is a positive Lipschitz constant.

Existence condition

(E) Consider

$$\max_{i \in [1,\dots,n]} \left\{ \frac{1 - e^{-l \cdot a_*}}{a_*} \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \left[\mathscr{L}_j^f \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathscr{L}_j^g \left| c_{ij} \right| \right] \right) \right\} < 1, \quad (12)$$

where $\min_{i \in [1,...,n]} a_i = a_*$.

First, we prove the existence and uniqueness of solutions of IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b). A natural extension of the original definition of a solution of DEPCA [28–30, 42] allows us to define a solution of IDEPCA system.

Definition 1. A function x is a solution of IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) in $\mathbb{R}^+ = [0, \infty)$ if

- (i) x(t) is continuous for $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with the possible exception of the points $t = mk l, k \in \mathbb{N}$,
- (ii) x(t) is right continuous and has left-hand limits at the points $t = mk l, k \in \mathbb{N}$,
- (iii) x(t) is differentiable and satisfies (5a) for any $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, with the possible exception of the points t = mk - l, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, where one-sided derivatives exist,
- (iv) x(n) satisfies (5b) for $n = km l, k \in \mathbb{N}$.

To study nonlinear IDEPCA system, we will use the approach based on the construction of an equivalent integral equation. Let us give the following proposition.

Proposition 2. Let $(\tau, x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^n$. The function $x(t) = x(t, \tau, x_0)$ is a solution on \mathbb{R}^+ of the IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) in the sense of Definition 1 if and only if it is a solution of the integral equation

$$\begin{aligned} x\left(t\right) &= e^{-A(t-\tau)} x_{0} \\ &+ \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{-A(t-s)} \left[Bf\left(x\left(s\right)\right) \\ &+ Cg\left(x\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right)\right) + D \right] ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} e^{-A(t-(mk-l))} J_{k}\left(x\left(mk-l^{-}\right)\right), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}. \end{aligned}$$

In particular, one has the following integral equations: for $i = 1, ..., n, t \in \mathbb{R}^+$,

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i}(t) &= e^{-a_{i}(t-\tau)} x_{i}(\tau) \\ &+ \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{-a_{i}(t-s)} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij} f_{j}(x_{j}(s)) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ij} g_{j}\left(x_{j}\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right) \right) + d_{i} \right] ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} e^{-a(t-(mk-l))} J_{ik}(x_{i}(mk-1^{-})). \end{aligned}$$
(14)

The proof of Proposition 2 is almost identical to the verification in [7] with slight changes which are caused by the piecewise constant argument.

In the next, we give the following lemma about IDEPCA integral inequality of Gronwall type, which is one of the most important auxiliary results of the present paper.

Lemma 3. Let $u : \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty)$ be a function such that u is continuous with possible points of discontinuity of the first kind at t = mk - l, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and η_1, η_2 are nonnegative real constants satisfying

$$v := (\eta_1 + \eta_2) l < 1.$$
(15)

Suppose that for $t \ge \tau$ the inequality

$$u(t) \le u(\tau) + \int_{\tau}^{t} \left(\eta_1 u(s) + \eta_2 u\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right) \right) ds + \sum_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} \beta_k u(mk-l^-)$$
(16)

holds. Then for $t \geq \tau$,

$$u(t) \le u(\tau) \prod_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} \left(1 + \beta_k\right) \exp\left\{\left(\eta_1 + \frac{\eta_2}{1 - \nu}\right)(t - \tau)\right\},$$
(17)

$$u\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right) \leq \frac{u\left(\tau\right)}{1-v} \prod_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} \left(1+\beta_k\right)$$

$$\times \exp\left\{\left(\eta_1 + \frac{\eta_2}{1-v}\right)(t-\tau)\right\},$$
(18)

$$u(mi) \le (1-v)^{-1}u(mi-l), \quad i \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (19)

Proof. Call v(t) the right member of (16). So $v(\tau) = u(\tau)$, $u \le v$, and v is a piecewise differentiable and nondecreasing function and, by (16), it satisfies

$$v'(t) \le \eta_1 v(t) + \eta_2 v\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right),$$

$$v(mk-l) \le (1+\beta_k) v(mk-l^-),$$
(20)

 $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and for any $t \ge r$ with $t, r \in I_i$

$$v(t) - v(r) \le \int_{r}^{t} \left(\eta_{1} v(s) + \eta_{2} v\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right) \right) ds.$$
 (21)

With t = mi and r = mi - l in (21) for $t \in I_i$, since v is a nondecreasing function, we get

$$\nu(mi) \le \nu(mi - l) + \int_{mi-l}^{mi} (\eta_1 \nu(s) + \eta_2 \nu(mi)) ds
\le \nu(mi - l) + (\eta_1 + \eta_2) l \cdot \nu(mi).$$
(22)

Considering the particular case $\tau = t_i$ and taking $v(t_i) = u(t_i)$ and $u \le v$, by (15) and (22), estimate (19) follows. Take now in (21) $t \in I_i$ and r = mi - l to obtain

$$v(t) \le v(mi-l) + \int_{mi-l}^{t} (\eta_1 v(s) + \eta_2 v(mi)) ds$$

$$\le v(mi-l) + \int_{mi-l}^{t} (\eta_1 v(s) + \frac{\eta_2}{1-v} v(mi-l)) ds \quad (23)$$

$$\le v(mi-l) + \int_{mi-l}^{t} (\eta_1 + \frac{\eta_2}{1-v}) v(s) ds$$

because *v* is a nondecreasing function. Now, we can apply the classical Gronwall's Lemma to get

$$v(t) \le v(mi-l) \exp\left\{\left(\eta_1 + \frac{\eta_2}{1-\nu}\right)(t-(mi-l))\right\}$$
for $t \in I_i$.
$$(24)$$

By the impulsive effect (20), we have

$$v\left(m\left(i+1\right)-l\right) \le \left(1+\beta_{i+1}\right)v\left(mi-l\right)$$

$$\times \exp\left\{m\cdot\left(\eta_{1}+\frac{\eta_{2}}{1-v}\right)\right\}.$$
(25)

From (25), recursively we obtain

$$u(t) \le v(t) \le v(\tau) \prod_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} (1+\beta_k)$$

$$\times \exp\left\{ \left(\eta_1 + \frac{\eta_2}{1-\nu} \right) (t-\tau) \right\},$$
(26)

using $v(\tau) = u(\tau)$ and (19); then we give (17) and (18). The proof is complete. This IDEPCA inequality of Gronwall type seems to be new.

We need to have the global unique existence of solutions $x(t) = x(t, \tau, x_0)$ on \mathbb{R}^+ of the nonlinear IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b).

One can easily see that IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) has the form of DEPCA system without impulsive effect within the intervals $[mi - l, m(i + 1) - l), i \in \mathbb{N}$; then using the same technique of [34, 35, 37] we have the following results.

Proposition 4. Suppose that conditions (L) and (E) hold. For any $(\tau, x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^n$ there exists a unique solution $x(t) = x(t, \tau, x_0)$ of the IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) on $[mi(\tau) - l, m(i(\tau) + 1) - l)$. **Theorem 5.** Under conditions (L) and (E), for every $(\tau, x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^n$, there exists a unique solution $x(t) = x(t, \tau, x_0)$ of the IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) with $x(\tau) = x_0$ for $t \in [\tau, \infty)$ in the sense of Definition 1.

Proof. Fix $\tau \in \mathbb{R}^+$; then $\tau \in I_{i(\tau)} = [mi(\tau) - l, mi(\tau) + m - l)$. Use Proposition 4 with $x(\tau) = x_0$ to obtain the unique solution $x(t) = x(t, \tau, x_0)$ on $I_{i(\tau)}$. Then apply the impulse condition to evaluate uniquely

$$x(mi(\tau) + m - l, \tau, x_0)$$

= $x(mi(\tau) + m - l^-, \tau, x_0)$ (27)
+ $J_{i(\tau)+1}(x(mi(\tau) + m - l^-, \tau, x_0)).$

Next, on the interval $I_{i(\tau)+1} = [mi(\tau) + m - l, mi(\tau) + 2m - l)$ the solution satisfies the DEPCA:

$$\frac{dy_i(t)}{dt} = -a_i y_i(t) \\
+ \sum_{j=1}^n \left\{ b_{ij} f_j\left(y_j(t)\right) + c_{ij} g_j\left(y_j\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right) \right\} \\
+ d_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(28)

The IDEPCA system has a unique solution $y(t, mi(\tau) + m - l, x(mi(\tau) + m - l, \tau, x_0))$. By definition of the solution of IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b), $x(t, \tau, x_0) = y(t, mi(\tau) + m - l, x(mi(\tau) + m - l, \tau, x_0))$ on $I_{i(\tau)+1} = [mi(\tau) + m - l, mi(\tau) + 2m - l)$. The mathematical induction completes the proof. \Box

2.2. Existence and Uniqueness of Equilibrium. When impulsive cellular neural network models are used for the solution of optimization problems, one of the fundamental issues in the design of a network is concerned with the existence of a unique globally exponentially stable equilibrium state of network (5a)-(5b). Without requiring the boundedness, differentiability, or monotonicity, we establish easily verifiable sufficient conditions for the existence of a unique equilibrium state in this section.

Let us denote an equilibrium state of the impulsive cellular neural network models (5a)-(5b) by the constant vector $x^* = (x_1^*, x_2^* \dots, x_n^*)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$, where each x_i^* is governed by the algebraic system

$$0 = -a_{i}x_{i}^{*} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ b_{ij}f_{j}\left(x_{j}^{*}\right) + c_{ij}g_{j}\left(x_{j}^{*}\right) \right\} + d_{i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(29)

Here, it is assumed that the impulse functions $J_{ik}(\cdot)$ satisfy $J_{ik}(x_i^*) = 0$ for all $i = 1, ..., n, k \in \mathbb{N}$.

In the following theorem, we obtain sufficient conditions for the existence of a unique equilibrium, $x^* = (x_1^*, x_2^* \dots, x_n^*)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$, of the impulsive cellular neural network models (5a)-(5b). **Theorem 6.** Suppose that conditions (L) and (E) hold and the neural parameters a_i , b_{ij} , and c_{ij} and Lipschitz constants \mathscr{L}_i^f , \mathscr{L}_i^g satisfy

$$a_i > \mathscr{L}_i^f \sum_{j=1}^n \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathscr{L}_i^g \sum_{j=1}^n \left| c_{ij} \right|, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$
(30)

Then there exists a unique equilibrium state x^* of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b).

Proof. Let us consider a mapping $G(u) = (G_1(u), G_2(u), ..., G_n(u))^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$, where $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and

$$G_{i}(u) = \frac{1}{a_{i}} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ b_{ij} f_{j}(u_{j}) + c_{ij} g_{j}(u_{j}) \right\} + d_{i} \right], \qquad (31)$$
$$i = 1, \dots, n.$$

By applying the hypotheses,

$$\begin{split} \max_{1 \le i \le n} |G_{i}(u) - G_{i}(v)| \\ &= \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left| \frac{1}{a_{i}} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ b_{ij} f_{j}(u_{j}) + c_{ij} g_{j}(u_{j}) \right\} + d_{i} \right] \right] \\ &- \frac{1}{a_{i}} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ b_{ij} f_{j}(v_{j}) + c_{ij} g_{j}(v_{j}) \right\} + d_{i} \right] \right] \\ &\leq \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left\{ \frac{1}{a_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ |b_{ij}| \left| f_{j}(u_{j}) - f_{j}(v_{j}) \right| \right\} \right\} \\ &+ \frac{1}{a_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ |c_{ij}| \left| g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}(v_{j}) \right| \right\} \right\} \\ &\leq \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left\{ \frac{1}{a_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ \mathcal{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| \left| u_{j} - v_{j} \right| \right\} \\ &+ \frac{1}{a_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ \mathcal{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \left| u_{j} - v_{j} \right| \right\} \right\} \\ &\leq \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left\{ \frac{1}{a_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ \mathcal{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathcal{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \right\} \right\} \cdot \max_{1 \le j \le n} \left| u_{j} - v_{j} \right|, \end{aligned}$$

$$(32)$$

where the number

$$\rho = \frac{1}{a_i} \sum_{j=1}^n \left\{ \mathcal{L}_j^f \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathcal{L}_j^g \left| c_{ij} \right| \right\}$$
(33)

satisfies $0 < \rho < 1$ by virtue of condition (30). Thus,

$$\max_{1 \le i \le n} |G_i(u) - G_i(v)| \le \rho \max_{1 \le j \le n} |u_j - v_j|$$
(34)

for any two vectors $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ implying that the mapping $G : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a global contraction on \mathbb{R}^n endowed with the supremum norm. Hence, there is a unique fixed point $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$ that satisfies $G(x^*) = x^*$ (i.e., $G_i(x^*) = x_i^*$ for i = 1, ..., n). This point defines the unique equilibrium state of the impulsive cellular neural network models (5a)-(5b). The proof is now complete. \Box

3. Global Exponential Stability of Equilibrium

The existence and stability of a unique equilibrium state are usually a requirement in the design of cellular neural network models for various applications, particularly when there are destabilizing agents such as retarded arguments and impulses. However, even if the unique stable state exists, these agents may affect the convergence speed of the network, which in turn can downgrade the performance of the network in applications that demand fast computation in real-time mode. Thus, exponential stability is usually desirable for an impulsive network, and sufficient conditions for the global exponential stability of the unique equilibrium state x^* of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) are obtained in this section.

For analytical convenience, the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) can be simplified as follows. Let

$$z_{i}(t) = x_{i}(t) - x_{i}^{*}, \qquad \widehat{f}(z_{i}(t)) = f(x_{i}(t) + x_{i}^{*}) - f(x_{i}^{*}),$$

$$\widehat{g}\left(z_{i}\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right) = g\left(x_{i}\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right) + x_{i}^{*}\right) - g(x_{i}^{*}),$$

$$\widehat{J}_{ik}\left(z_{i}\left(mk - l^{-}\right)\right) = J_{ik}\left(x_{i}\left(mk - l^{-}\right) + x_{i}^{*}\right),$$
(35)

so that the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) can be written as

$$\frac{dz(t)}{dt} = -Az(t) + B\widehat{f}(z(t)) + C\widehat{g}\left(z\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right), \quad t \neq mk - l, \quad (36)$$
$$\Delta x|_{t=mk-l} = \widehat{J}_k\left(z\left(mk - l^{-}\right)\right), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

where $\hat{f}(z(t)) = [\hat{f}_1(z_1(t)), \dots, \hat{f}_n(z_n(t))]^T$, $\hat{g}(z(m[(t + l)/m])) = [\hat{g}_1(z_1(m[(t + l)/m])), \dots, \hat{g}_n(z_n(m[(t + l)/m]))]^T$ and $\hat{f}_k(z(mk - l^-)) = [f_{1k}(x_1(mk - l^-) + x_1^*), \dots, f_{nk}(x_n(mk - l^-) + x_n^*)]^T$.

The activation functions $\hat{f}_i(\cdot)$, inheriting the properties of $f_i(\cdot)$, satisfy

$$\widehat{f}_{i}(0) = 0, \qquad \left| \widehat{f}_{i}(u) - \widehat{f}_{i}(v) \right| \leq \mathscr{L}_{i}^{f} \left| u - v \right|, \qquad (37)$$

the functions $\hat{g}_i(\cdot)$ inherit the properties of $g_i(\cdot)$, namely,

$$\widehat{g}_{i}(0) = 0, \qquad \left|\widehat{g}_{i}(u) - \widehat{g}_{i}(v)\right| \leq \mathscr{L}_{i}^{g} \left|u - v\right|, \qquad (38)$$

and the impulsive operator \hat{J}_{ik} satisfies

$$\widehat{J}_{ik}(0) = 0, \qquad \left| \widehat{J}_{ik}(u) - \widehat{J}_{ik}(v) \right| \le \mathscr{L}_k^J \left| u_i - v_i \right|, \qquad (39)$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^+$, $i = 1, ..., n, k \in \mathbb{N}$.

It is clear that the stability of the zero solution of (36) is equivalent to that of the equilibrium x^* of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (4a)-(4b). Therefore, we restrict our discussion to the stability of the zero solution of (36).

First of all, we give the following definition and lemma, which will be used in the proof of the stability of the zero solution for the ICNNs with IDEPCA system.

Definition 7. The equilibrium x^* of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) is said to be globally exponentially stable if there exist positive constants α and λ such that the estimation

$$\left|x\left(t\right) - x^{*}\right| \le \alpha \left|x\left(\tau\right) - x^{*}\right| e^{-\lambda(t-\tau)}$$

$$\tag{40}$$

is valid for all $t \ge \tau$.

Lemma 8. If (L) and (E) are satisfied, then the solutions φ and ψ of the IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) satisfy for all $t \ge \tau$ the inequality

 $\left|\varphi\left(t\right)-\psi\left(t\right)\right| \le \left|\varphi\left(\tau\right)-\psi\left(\tau\right)\right|\exp\left(-\lambda_{i(t)}\cdot\left(t-\tau\right)\right),\quad(41)$

where $\lambda_{i(t)} = a_* - \beta^* - \mathcal{L}_{i(t)}, a_* = \min_{i \in [1,...,n]} a_i, \mathcal{L}_{i(t)} = \max_{i(\tau)+1 \le k \le i(t)} (\ln(1 + \mathcal{L}_k^J)/m),$

$$\beta^{*} = \max_{i \in [1,...,n]} \beta_{i}$$

$$= \max_{i \in [1,...,n]} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| (1 - \widetilde{\nu})^{-1} \times \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m - l)\right) \right),$$

$$\widetilde{\nu} = \max_{i \in [1,...,n]} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m - l)\right) \right)$$

$$\cdot l < 1.$$
(42)

Proof. Suppose that $\varphi(t) = (\varphi_1, \dots, \varphi_n)^T$ and $\psi(t) = (\psi_1, \dots, \psi_n)^T$ are arbitrary solutions of the IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b). Let $y(t) = \varphi(t) - \psi(t)$ and by (5a) and (5b) it follows that $y(\cdot)$ satisfies

$$\dot{y}(t) = -Ay(t) + B\left(f\left(y(t) + \psi(t)\right) - f\left(\psi(t)\right)\right) + C\left\{g\left(y\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right) + \psi\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right)\right) -g\left(\psi\left(m\left[\frac{t+l}{m}\right]\right)\right)\right\}, \Delta y|_{t=mk-l} = J_k\left(y(mk-l^-) + \psi(mk-l^-)\right) - J_k\left(\psi(mk-l^-)\right), \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

$$(43)$$

By the variation of parameters formula, it can be proved that

$$y(t) = e^{-A(t-\tau)} y(\tau) + \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{-A(t-s)} \mathscr{R}(s, y(s)) ds$$

+
$$\sum_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} e^{-A(t-(mk-l))} \mathscr{J}_{k}(y(mk-l)),$$
(44)

where

$$\mathcal{R}(s, y(s)) := B$$

$$\cdot \{f(y(s) + \psi(s)) - f(\psi(s))\}$$

$$+ C \cdot \left\{g\left(y\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right)\right)$$

$$+\psi\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right)\right)$$

$$-g\left(\psi\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right)\right)\},$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{k}(y(mk - l^{-})) := J_{k}(y(mk - l^{-}) + \psi(mk - l^{-}))$$

$$-J_{k}(\psi(mk - l^{-})).$$
(45)

Notice that (L) implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathcal{R}_{i}\left(s, y\left(s\right)\right) \right| &\leq \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathcal{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| \left| yi\left(s\right) \right| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathcal{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \left| yi\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right) \right| \right), \\ \left| \mathcal{R}_{i}\left(s, y\left(s\right)\right) \right| &\leq \max_{i \in [1, \dots, n]} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathcal{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| \left| y\left(s\right) \right| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathcal{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \left| y\left(m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right) \right| \right), \\ \left| \mathcal{I}_{k}\left(y\left(mk-l^{-}\right)\right) \right| &\leq \mathcal{L}_{k}^{I} \left| y\left(mk-l^{-}\right) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(46)$$

By (44), we can deduce that $v_i(t) = \exp(a_* \cdot (t - \tau))|y_i(t)|$ satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \left| v_{i}\left(t\right) \right| &\leq \left| \varphi_{i}\left(\tau\right) - \psi_{i}\left(\tau\right) \right| \\ &+ \int_{\tau}^{t} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| \left| v_{j}\left(s\right) \right| \right. \\ &+ \left. \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \left| v_{j}\left(m \left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right) \right| \end{aligned}$$

$$\times \exp\left(a_* \cdot \left(s - m\left[\frac{s+l}{m}\right]\right)\right) \right] ds$$

$$+ \sum_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} \mathscr{L}_k^J \left| v_i \left(mk - l^-\right) \right|,$$
(47)

or

for any finite $t \in [\tau, \infty)$.

Hence, by Lemma 3 of IDEPCA Gronwall's inequality implies

$$\begin{aligned} |v(t)| &\leq \left| \varphi(\tau) - \psi(\tau) \right| \prod_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} \left(1 + \mathscr{L}_{k}^{J} \right) \\ &\times \exp\left(\max_{i \in [1, \dots, n]} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| + \frac{1}{1 - \widetilde{\nu}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \right. \\ & \left. \times \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m - l) \right) \right\} (t - \tau) \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(49)$$

Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\varphi\left(t\right)-\psi\left(t\right)\right| &\leq \left|\varphi\left(\tau\right)-\psi\left(\tau\right)\right| \prod_{k=i(\tau)+1}^{i(t)} \left(1+\mathscr{L}_{k}^{J}\right) \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\left(a_{*}-\max_{i\in[1,\dots,n]}\beta_{i}\right)(t-\tau)\right\}, \end{aligned}$$
(50)

or

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\varphi\left(t\right)-\psi\left(t\right)\right| \\ &\leq \left|\varphi\left(\tau\right)-\psi\left(\tau\right)\right| \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\left(a_{*}-\max_{i\in[1,\dots,n]}\beta_{i}\right) \\ &-\left(\max_{i\left(\tau\right)+1\leq k\leq i\left(t\right)}\frac{\ln\left(1+\mathscr{L}_{k}^{J}\right)}{m}\right)\left(t-\tau\right)\right\},\end{aligned}$$
(51)

and the statement (41) follows.

The following result will show sufficient conditions for the global exponential stability of the unique equilibrium of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b).

Theorem 9. If the assumptions of Theorem 6, (42) and

$$a_* - \beta^* - \mathscr{L}_{i(t)} > 0, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^+, \tag{52}$$

are satisfied, then the unique equilibrium x^* of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) is globally exponentially stable.

Proof. By Theorem 6, we know that the IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) has a unique equilibrium x^* . Let $x(t, x_0)$ be an arbitrary solution of (5a)-(5b) with initial condition x_0 and define $z(t) = x(t, x_0) - x^*$. By Lemma 8 and (42), we obtain

$$|z(t)| \le |z(\tau)| \exp\left(-\lambda_{i(t)} \cdot (t-\tau)\right),\tag{53}$$

where $\lambda_{i(t)} = a_* - \beta^* - \mathcal{L}_{i(t)}$. So, using (52), we see that $|z(t)| \rightarrow 0$ as $t \rightarrow \infty$. That is, the zero solution of ICNNs with IDEPCA system (36) is globally exponentially stable. Therefore, the unique equilibrium x^* of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (5a)-(5b) is globally exponentially stable.

Remark 10. To the best of the author's knowledge, this is the first time we investigate impulsive cellular neural network models with piecewise alternately advanced and retarded argument in equilibrium case. Sufficient conditions are gained for the existence and exponential stability of a unique equilibrium of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system. And our results can be extended to a unique equilibrium of the CNNs with DEPCA system. See Corollaries 11–12. Our results about exponential stability of a unique equilibrium of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system are gained to a unique equilibrium of the about exponential stability of a unique equilibrium of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system. See Corollaries 11–12. Our results about exponential stability of a unique equilibrium of the ICNNs with IDEPCA system may give some insight into the application of neural networks.

As immediate corollaries of Lemma 8 and Theorem 9, the following results without impulsive effects are true.

Corollary 11. If (L) and (E) are satisfied, then the solutions φ and ψ of the DEPCA system (5a) satisfy for all $t \ge \tau$ the inequality

$$\left|\varphi\left(t\right)-\psi\left(t\right)\right| \le \left|\varphi\left(\tau\right)-\psi\left(\tau\right)\right|\exp\left(-\lambda\cdot\left(t-\tau\right)\right),\qquad(54)$$

where $\lambda = a_* - \beta^*$, $a_* = \min_{i \in [1,...,n]} a_i$,

$$\beta^{*} = \max_{i \in [1,...,n]} \beta_{i} = \max_{i \in [1,...,n]} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \left(1 - \tilde{\nu}\right)^{-1} \right. \\ \left. \times \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m - l)\right)\right),$$
$$\tilde{\nu} = \max_{i \in [1,...,n]} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| \right. \\ \left. + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m - l)\right) \right) \right) \cdot l < 1.$$
(55)

Corollary 12. If the assumptions of Corollary 11 and

$$a_* - \beta^* > 0 \tag{56}$$

are satisfied, then the unique equilibrium x^* of the CNNs with DEPCA system (5a) is globally exponentially stable.

Remark 13. In [41], authors investigated discrete-time cellular neural network without impulsive effects in almost periodic case. Simple sufficient conditions are gained for a unique almost periodic sequence solution which is globally attractive. When m = 1, l = 0, this conclusion of Corollary 12 cannot be derived by applying the corresponding stability result for cellular neural networks given in the literature [41] with a_i , b_{ij} , c_{ij} , and d_i being constant coefficients.

4. Examples and Simulations

In this section, we give two examples with numerical simulations to illustrate the effectiveness of the proposed method and results.

Example 1. Consider the following impulsive cellular neural networks with piecewise alternately advanced and retarded argument:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = -\begin{pmatrix} 1.2 & 0\\ 0 & 0.9 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1(t)\\ x_2(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0.15 & 0.25\\ 0.25 & 0.15 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tanh\left(\frac{x_1(t)}{2}\right)\\ \tanh\left(\frac{x_2(t)}{8}\right) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} 0.15 & 0.25 \\ 0.25 & 0.15 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tanh\left(\frac{x_1\left(3\left[(t+1\right)/3\right]\right)}{8}\right) \\ \tanh\left(\frac{x_2\left(3\left[(t+1\right)/3\right]\right)}{2}\right) \end{pmatrix} \\ + \begin{pmatrix} 0.2 \\ 0.1 \end{pmatrix}, \\ \Delta x|_{t=3k-1} = \begin{pmatrix} J_{1k}\left(x_1\left(3k-1^{-}\right)\right) \\ J_{2k}\left(x_2\left(3k-1^{-}\right)\right) \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{x_1\left(3k-1^{-}\right)-x_1^*}{2} \\ \frac{x_2\left(3k-1^{-}\right)-x_2^*}{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}, \end{cases}$$
(57)

where $x_1^* = 1.943$, $x_2^* = 1.57$. One can check that the point $x^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*)^T$ satisfies the algebraic system

$$-a_{i}x_{i}^{*} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \left\{ b_{ij}f_{j}\left(x_{j}^{*}\right) + c_{ij}g_{j}\left(x_{j}^{*}\right) \right\} + d_{i} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
(58)

approximately. And it is clear that $J_{ik}(x_i^*) = 0$ for i = 1, 2. By simple calculation, we can see that $a_* = 0.9$, $\mathcal{L}_1^f = \mathcal{L}_2^g = \mathcal{L}_1^J = 1/2$, $\mathcal{L}_2^f = \mathcal{L}_1^g = 1/8$, $\mathcal{L}_2^J = 1/3$, and $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^+} \mathcal{L}_{i(t)} = \ln(1 + \mathcal{L}_1^J)/3 \approx 0.1351$. Then

$$\frac{1-e^{-l\cdot a_{*}}}{a_{*}} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{1j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{1j} \right| \right] \right) \approx 0.1813 < 1,$$

$$\frac{1-e^{-l\cdot a_{*}}}{a_{*}} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{2j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{2j} \right| \right] \right) \approx 0.1648 < 1,$$

$$a_{1} = 1.2 > 0.275 = \mathscr{L}_{1}^{f} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \left| b_{1j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{1}^{g} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \left| c_{1j} \right|,$$

$$a_{2} = 0.9 > 0.25 = \mathscr{L}_{2}^{f} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \left| b_{2j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{2}^{g} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \left| c_{2j} \right|.$$
(59)

By Theorem 6, we know that the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (57) have a unique equilibrium state x^* , approximately with the error, which is less than 10^{-11} (evaluated by MATLAB).

Moreover, we have

$$\widetilde{\nu} = \max_{i \in [1,...,n]} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m-l)\right) \right)$$
$$\cdot l \approx 0.7522 < 1,$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{1j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{1j} \right| (1-\widetilde{\nu})^{-1} \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m-l)\right) \right)$$



FIGURE 1: (a) The simulation, where the initial value is chosen as $(1, 3)^T$, illustrates that all trajectories uniformly converge to the unique equilibrium $x^* = (1.943, 1.57)^T$ for the ICNNs (57) with impulsive effects. (b) The simulation, where the initial value is chosen as $(1, 3)^T$, illustrates that all trajectories uniformly converge to the unique equilibrium $x^* = (1.943, 1.57)^T$ for the ICNNs (57) without impulsive effects.

$$\approx 0.7607 < 0.7648 \approx a_* - \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^+} \mathscr{L}_{i(t)},$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^n \left(\mathscr{L}_j^f \left| b_{2j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_j^g \left| c_{2j} \right| \left(1 - \widetilde{\nu} \right)^{-1} \exp \left(a_* \cdot (m - l) \right) \right)$$

$$\approx 0.58302 < 0.7648 \approx a_* - \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^+} \mathscr{L}_{i(t)}.$$
(60)

Thus, according to Theorem 9, the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (57) have a unique globally exponentially stable equilibrium. The numerical simulations, showing the convergence of the unique equilibrium x^* of the ICNNs with and without impulses (57), are given in Figures 1(a) and 1(b).

Example 2. Consider the following impulsive cellular neural networks model with piecewise constant argument:

$$\begin{split} \frac{dx(t)}{dt} \\ &= -\begin{pmatrix} 1.3 & 0\\ 0 & 0.8 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1(t)\\ x_2(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0.1 & 0.25\\ 0.25 & 0.35 \end{pmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} \tanh\left(\frac{x_1(t)}{3}\right)\\ \tanh\left(\frac{x_2(t)}{4}\right) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0.16 & 0.26\\ 0.25 & 0.15 \end{pmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\left|x_1\left(4\left[\frac{t+1}{4}\right]\right) + 1\right| - \left|x_1\left(4\left[\frac{t+1}{4}\right]\right) - 1\right|}{\left|\frac{x_2\left(4\left[\frac{t+1}{4}\right]\right) + 1\right|^{-1} \left|x_2\left(4\left[\frac{t+1}{4}\right]\right) - 1\right|}{8} \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{pmatrix} 3\\ 4 \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

$$\Delta x|_{t=4k-1} = \begin{pmatrix} J_{1k} \left(x_1 \left(4k - 1^- \right) \right) \\ J_{2k} \left(x_2 \left(4k - 1^- \right) \right) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \frac{x_1 \left(4k - 1^- \right) - x_1^*}{4} \\ \frac{x_2 \left(4k - 1^- \right) - x_2^*}{10} \end{pmatrix}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$
(61)

where $x_1^* = 2.608$, $x_2^* = 5.719$. One can check that the point $x^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*)^T$ satisfies the algebraic system (29) approximately and it is clear that $J_{ik}(x_i^*) = 0$ for i = 1, 2. The output functions are $f_1(x_1) = \tanh(x_1/3)$, $f_2(x_2) = \tanh(x_2/4)$, $g_1(x_1) = (|x_1 + 1| - |x_1 - 1|)/10$, and $g_2(x_2) = (|x_2 + 1| - |x_2 - 1|)/8$.

We can easily obtain that $a_* = 0.8$, $\mathscr{L}_1^f = 1/3$, $\mathscr{L}_2^f = \mathscr{L}_2^g = \mathscr{L}_1^I = 0.25$, $\mathscr{L}_1^g = 0.2$, $\mathscr{L}_2^I = 0.1$, and $\sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^+} \mathscr{L}_{i(t)} = \ln(1 + \mathscr{L}_1^I)/4 \approx 0.0557$.

Then we give

$$\frac{1 - e^{-l \cdot a_*}}{a_*} \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \left[\mathscr{L}_j^f \left| b_{1j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_j^g \left| c_{1j} \right| \right] \right) \approx 0.1904 < 1,$$

$$\frac{1 - e^{-l \cdot a_*}}{a_*} \left(\sum_{j=1}^n \left[\mathscr{L}_j^f \left| b_{2j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_j^g \left| c_{2j} \right| \right] \right) \approx 0.1996 < 1,$$

$$a_1 = 1.3 > 0.2766 \approx \mathscr{L}_1^f \sum_{j=1}^2 \left| b_{1j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_1^g \sum_{j=1}^2 \left| c_{1j} \right|,$$

$$a_2 = 0.8 > 0.29 = \mathscr{L}_2^f \sum_{j=1}^2 \left| b_{2j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_2^g \sum_{j=1}^2 \left| c_{2j} \right|.$$
(62)

By Theorem 6, we know that the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (61) have a unique equilibrium.



FIGURE 2: (a) The simulation, where the initial value is chosen as $(3, 3)^T$, illustrates that all trajectories uniformly converge to the unique equilibrium $x^* = (2.608, 5.719)^T$ for the ICNNs (61) with impulsive effects. (b) The simulation, where the initial value is chosen as $(3, 3)^T$, illustrates that all trajectories uniformly converge to the unique equilibrium $x^* = (2.608, 5.719)^T$ for the ICNNs (61) without impulsive effects.

In addition, we have

$$\widetilde{\nu} = \max_{i \in [1, \dots, n]} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{ij} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{ij} \right| \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m-l)\right) \right)$$

$$\cdot l \approx 0.4615 < 1,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{1j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{1j} \right| (1 - \widetilde{\nu})^{-1} \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m-l)\right) \right)$$

$$\approx 0.5826 < 0.7442 \approx a_{*} - \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \mathscr{L}_{i(t)},$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\mathscr{L}_{j}^{f} \left| b_{2j} \right| + \mathscr{L}_{j}^{g} \left| c_{2j} \right| (1 - \widetilde{\nu})^{-1} \exp\left(a_{*} \cdot (m-l)\right) \right)$$

$$\approx 0.7286 < 0.7442 \approx a_{*} - \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \mathscr{L}_{i(t)}.$$
(63)

From Theorem 9, the ICNNs with IDEPCA system (61) have the unique equilibrium x^* which is globally asymptotically stable and all other solutions of the IDEPCA system (61) converge exponentially to it as $t \to \infty$. The numerical simulations, showing the convergence of the unique equilibrium x^* of the ICNNs with and without impulses (61), are given in Figures 2(a) and 2(b).

5. Conclusions

This is the first time that impulsive differential equations with alternately advanced and retarded argument have been applied to the model of cellular neural network models, and this paper has provided sufficient conditions guaranteeing the existence, uniqueness, and global exponential stability of the unique equilibrium of the impulsive cellular neural network models for the considered system based on a new IDEPCA integral inequality of Gronwall type and fixed point theorem. In addition, our method gives new ideas not only from the modeling point of view but also from that of theoretical opportunities since the impulsive cellular neural network model equation involves piecewise constant arguments of both advanced and delayed types. The obtained results could be useful in the design and applications of impulsive cellular neural network models. Furthermore, the examples with numerical simulations are given to show the effectiveness of the proposed method and results.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks the referees and editor very much for their valuable suggestions which made this paper much improved. This research was in part supported by FIBE 01-12 DIUMCE.

References

- L. O. Chua and L. Yang, "Cellular neural networks: theory," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems*, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 1257–1272, 1988.
- [2] S. Wolfram, Theory and Applications of Cellular Automata, vol. 1 of Advanced Series on Complex Systems, World Scientific, Singapore, 1986.
- [3] L. O. Chua and L. Yang, "Cellular neural networks: applications," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems*, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 1273–1290, 1988.
- [4] P. P. Civalleri, M. Gilli, and L. Pandolfi, "On stability of cellular neural networks with delay," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 157–165, 1993.
- [5] J. Cao, "A set of stability criteria for delayed cellular neural networks," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 494–498, 2001.
- [6] L. O. Chua and T. Roska, "Stability of a class of nonreciprocal cellular neural networks," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1520–1527, 1990.
- [7] V. Lakshmikantham, D. D. Bainov, and P. S. Simeonov, *Theory of Impulsive Differential Equations*, vol. 6 of Series in Modern Applied Mathematics, World Scientific, Singapore, 1989.

- [8] M. U. Akhmet and E. Yılmaz, "Impulsive Hopfield-type neural network system with piecewise constant argument," *Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 2584–2593, 2010.
- [9] Y. F. Shao, C. J. Xu, and Q. H. Zhang, "Globally exponential stability of periodic solutions to impulsive neural networks with time-varying delays," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, Article ID 358362, 14 pages, 2012.
- [10] G. Sun and X. Li, "A new criterion to global exponential stability for impulsive neural networks with continuously distributed delays," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 33, no. 17, pp. 2107–2117, 2010.
- [11] B. Wu, Y. Liu, and J. Lu, "New results on global exponential stability for impulsive cellular neural networks with any bounded time-varying delays," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 55, no. 3-4, pp. 837–843, 2012.
- [12] Q. Xi, "Global exponential stability for a class of generalized delayed neural networks with impulses," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 1414–1420, 2011.
- [13] Y. Xia and P. J. Y. Wong, "Global exponential stability of a class of retarded impulsive differential equations with applications," *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 440–453, 2009.
- [14] L. Xiang, "Dynamical analysis of impulsive neural networks with time-varying delays," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 35, no. 13, pp. 1564–1569, 2012.
- [15] D. Xu and Z. Yang, "Impulsive delay differential inequality and stability of neural networks," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis* and Applications, vol. 305, no. 1, pp. 107–120, 2005.
- [16] Z. Yang and D. Xu, "Impulsive effects on stability of Cohen-Grossberg neural networks with variable delays," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 177, no. 1, pp. 63–78, 2006.
- [17] Q. Zhang, Y. Shao, and J. Liu, "Analysis of stability for impulsive fuzzy Cohen-Grossberg BAM neural networks with delays," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 36, no. 7, pp. 773–779, 2013.
- [18] Y. Zhang, "Robust exponential stability of discrete-time uncertain impulsive neural networks with time-varying delay," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 35, no. 11, pp. 1287– 1299, 2012.
- [19] E. Barone and C. Tebaldi, "Stability of equilibria in a neural network model," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 23, no. 13, pp. 1179–1193, 2000.
- [20] J. Cao, "Global asymptotic stability of neural networks with transmission delays," *International Journal of Systems Science*, vol. 31, no. 10, pp. 1313–1316, 2000.
- [21] J. Cao, K. Yuan, and H. X. Li, "Global asymptotical stability of recurrent neural networks with multiple discrete delays and distributed delays," *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 1646–1651, 2006.
- [22] Y. Du, R. Xu, and Q. Liu, "Stability and bifurcation analysis for a neural network model with discrete and distributed delays," *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 49–59, 2013.
- [23] Q. S. Liu and J. Cao, "Improved global exponential stability criteria of cellular neural networks with time-varying delays," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 43, no. 3-4, pp. 423– 432, 2006.

- [24] X. Z. Liu and R. Dickson, "Stability analysis of Hopfield neural networks with uncertainty," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 34, no. 3-4, pp. 353–363, 2001.
- [25] J. J. Oliveira, "Global asymptotic stability for neural network models with distributed delays," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 50, no. 1-2, pp. 81–91, 2009.
- [26] J. Qiu and J. Cao, "Delay-dependent robust stability of neutraltype neural networks with time delays," *Journal of Mathematical Control Science and Applications*, vol. 1, pp. 179–188, 2007.
- [27] X. Wei, D. Zhou, and Q. Zhang, "On asymptotic stability of discrete-time non-autonomous delayed Hopfield neural networks," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 57, no. 11-12, pp. 1938–1942, 2009.
- [28] S. M. Shah and J. Wiener, "Advanced differential equations with piecewise constant argument deviations," *International Journal* of Mathematics and Mathematical Sciences, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 671– 703, 1983.
- [29] K. L. Cooke and J. Wiener, "Retarded differential equations with piecewise constant delays," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis* and Applications, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 265–297, 1984.
- [30] J. Wiener, Generalized Solutions of Functional-Differential Equations, World Scientific, Singapore, 1993.
- [31] K.-S. Chiu and M. Pinto, "Oscillatory and periodic solutions in alternately advanced and delayed differential equations," *Carpathian Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 149–158, 2013.
- [32] K.-S. Chiu, "Stability of oscillatory solutions of differential equations with a general piecewise constant argument," *Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations*, vol. 88, pp. 1–15, 2011.
- [33] K.-S. Chiu and M. Pinto, "Variation of parameters formula and Gronwall inequality for differential equations with a general piecewise constant argument," *Acta Mathematicae Applicatae Sinica (English Series)*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 561–568, 2011.
- [34] K.-S. Chiu and M. Pinto, "Periodic solutions of differential equations with a general piecewise constant argument and applications," *Electronic Journal of Qualitative Theory of Differential Equations*, vol. 46, pp. 1–19, 2010.
- [35] K.-S. Chiu and M. Pinto, "Stability of periodic solutions for neural networks with a general piecewise constant argument," in *Proceedings of the 1st Joint International Meeting AMS-SOMACHI*, Pucón, Chile, December 2010.
- [36] K.-S. Chiu, "Periodic solutions for nonlinear integrodifferential systems with piecewise constant argument," *The Scientific World Journal*. In press.
- [37] M. Pinto, "Asymptotic equivalence of nonlinear and quasi linear differential equations with piecewise constant arguments," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 49, no. 9-10, pp. 1750–1758, 2009.
- [38] S. Busenberg and K. Cooke, "Models of vertically transmitted diseases with sequential-continuous dynamics," in *Nonlinear Phenomena in Mathematical Sciences*, V. Lakshmikantham, Ed., pp. 179–187, Academic Press, New York, NY, USA, 1982.
- [39] H. Bereketoglu, G. Seyhan, and A. Ogun, "Advanced impulsive differential equations with piecewise constant arguments," *Mathematical Modelling and Analysis*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 175–187, 2010.

- [40] F. Karakoc, H. Bereketoglu, and G. Seyhan, "Oscillatory and periodic solutions of impulsive differential equations with piecewise constant argument," *Acta Applicandae Mathematicae*, vol. 110, no. 1, pp. 499–510, 2010.
- [41] Z. K. Huang, X. H. Wang, and F. Gao, "The existence and global attractivity of almost periodic sequence solution of discretetime neural networks," *Physics Letters A*, vol. 350, no. 3-4, pp. 182–191, 2006.
- [42] K. L. Cooke and J. Wiener, "An equation alternately of retarded and advanced type," *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 99, no. 4, pp. 726–732, 1987.

Research Article

Newton-Kantorovich and Smale Uniform Type Convergence Theorem for a Deformed Newton Method in Banach Spaces

Rongfei Lin,¹ Yueqing Zhao,¹ Zdeněk Šmarda,² Yasir Khan,³ and Qingbiao Wu³

¹ Department of Mathematics, Taizhou University, Linhai, Zhejiang 317000, China

² Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Brno University of Technology,

Technicka 8, 616 00 Brno, Czech Republic

³ Department of Mathematics, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 310027, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Rongfei Lin; fighting.falcon2006@hotmail.com

Received 12 September 2013; Accepted 18 November 2013

Academic Editor: Miroslava Růžičková

Copyright © 2013 Rongfei Lin et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Newton-Kantorovich and Smale uniform type of convergence theorem of a deformed Newton method having the third-order convergence is established in a Banach space for solving nonlinear equations. The error estimate is determined to demonstrate the efficiency of our approach. The obtained results are illustrated with three examples.

1. Introduction

In this paper, we study the problem of approximating a unique solution x^* of a nonlinear operator equation

$$F\left(x\right) = 0,\tag{1}$$

where *F* is a Fréchet-differentiable operator defined on an open convex Ω of a Banach space *X* with values in a Banach space *Y*.

There are many iterative methods (see [1-3]), which have been used for finding a solution of (1). For example, the wellknown iterative method for solving (1) is Newton's method defined by

$$x_{n+1} = x_n - F'(x_n)^{-1}F(x_n), \quad (n \ge 0) \ (x_0 \in \Omega).$$
 (2)

Under the appropriate assumptions, Newton's method is the second-order convergence. Kantorovich (see [4]) presented the famous convergence result regarding a solution of (1). Many Newton-Kantorovich type of convergence theorems were given in papers [5–11]. Frontini and Sormani (see [12]) presented a new deformed Newton method with

$$\int_{x_n}^{x} f'(t) dt \simeq \left(x - x_n\right) f'\left(\frac{x_n + x}{2}\right). \tag{3}$$

The deformed Newton method can be written as follows:

$$x_{n+1} = x_n - \frac{f(x_n)}{f'(x_n - f(x_n)/2f'(x_n))},$$
(4)

where f is a real or a complex function. In papers [13–17], the local convergence theorem has been established and the deformed method in a real or a complex space was discussed.

In the paper, we generalize the deformed Newton method [18] in a Banach space. The deformed Newton method [18] is shown as follows:

$$y_{n} = x_{n} - F'(x_{n})^{-1}F(x_{n}),$$

$$x_{n+1} = x_{n} - F'\left(\frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2}\right)^{-1}F(x_{n}),$$
(5)

where *F* is defined on an open convex subset Ω of a Banach space *X* with values in a Banach space *Y*, *F*(*x*) has Fréchet derivatives in Ω , and $F'(x)^{-1}$ exists.

We establish Newton-Kantorovich and Smale uniform type convergence theorem (see [18]) for the deformed Newton method with the third-order in a Banach space with new sufficient conditions for the existence of a well-defined sequence which converges to a unique solution x^* of (1).

2. Main Results

Denote $g(t) = \int_0^t (t-u)L(u)du - t + \eta$, $u \in (0, R)$, $\eta > 0$, and suppose L(u), L'(u) are the positive and nondecreasing continuous functions, $\lim_{t \to R^+} g(t) = g(R^+) > 0$, $\int_0^R L(u)du > 1$, $\int_0^{\alpha} L(u)du = 1$ for $\alpha \in (0, R)$, $\beta = \alpha - \int_0^{\alpha} (\alpha - u)L(u)du = \int_0^{\alpha} uL(u)du$.

Assume that sequences $\{t_n\}$, $\{s_n\}$ are generated by the following formulae [18]:

$$s_{n} = t_{n} - g'(t_{n})^{-1}g(t_{n}),$$

$$t_{n+1} = t_{n} - g'\left(\frac{t_{n} + s_{n}}{2}\right)^{-1}g(t_{n}), \quad t_{0} = 0.$$
(6)

Firstly, we give some lemmas.

Lemma 1. If $\eta \leq \beta$, then the function g(t) has two positive real roots r_1 , r_2 ($0 < r_1 \leq \alpha \leq r_2 < R$).

Proof. Because $g(0) = \eta > 0$, $g(R^+) > 0$, and g''(t) = L(t) > 0, we know that g(t) is the convex function for $t \in (0, R)$. Hence, α is a unique positive root of $g'(t) = \int_0^t L(u)du - 1$. So, the necessary and sufficient condition that g(t) has two positive roots for $t \in (0, R)$ is that the minimum of g(t)satisfies the condition $g(\alpha) \le 0$, which holds for $\eta \le \beta$. This completes the proof of Lemma 1.

Lemma 2. Suppose the sequences $\{t_n\}$, $\{s_n\}$ are generated by (6). Then, for $\eta \leq \beta$, the sequences $\{t_n\}$, $\{s_n\}$ are increasing and converge to the minimum positive root of g(t), and

$$0 \le t_n \le s_n \le t_{n+1} < r_1.$$
 (7)

Proof. Denote

$$U(x) = x - \frac{g(x)}{g'(x)}, \qquad V(x) = x - \frac{g(x)}{g'((x + U(x))/2)}.$$
(8)

On $[0, r_1)$, we know g(t) > 0, g'(t) < 0, g''(t) > 0, and g''(t) is increasing. Denoting y = (x + U(x))/2 = x - g(x)/2g'(x), then

$$U'(x) = \frac{g(x)g''(x)}{g'(x)^2} > 0,$$

$$\left[g'(y) - g'(x)\right] = g''(\xi)(y - x) = -g''(\xi)\frac{g(x)}{2g'(x)},$$

$$\xi \in (x, y),$$

$$V'(x) = 1 - \left(g'(x)g'(y) - \frac{1}{2}g(x)g''(y) + \frac{1}{2}g(x)g''(x) + \frac{1}{2}g(x)g''(y) + \frac{1$$

$$\times (g'(y)^{2})^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{g'(y)} \left[g'(y) - g'(x) \right] + \frac{g(x)g''(y)}{2g'(y)^{2}}$$

$$+ \frac{g(x)^{2}g''(x)g''(y)}{2g'(x)^{2}g'(y)^{2}} \ge -\frac{g''(\xi)}{g'(y)} \cdot \frac{g(x)}{2g'(x)}$$

$$+ \frac{g(x)g''(y)}{2g'(y)^{2}} = -\frac{g(x)g''(\xi)}{2g'(y)^{2}g'(x)} \left[g'(y) - g'(x) \right]$$

$$+ \frac{g(x)g''(y) - g(x)g''(\xi)}{2g'(y)^{2}} = \frac{g(x)g''(\xi)}{2g'(y)^{2}g'(x)}$$

$$\cdot \frac{g(x)g''(\xi)}{2g'(x)} + \frac{g(x)g''(y) - g(x)g''(\xi)}{2g'(y)^{2}} > 0.$$

$$(9)$$

Therefore, U(x), V(x) are increasing on $[0, r_1]$. Thus, for $x \in [0, r_1)$, $U(x) < U(r_1) = r_1$, $V(x) < V(r_1) = r_1$. Moreover,

$$s_n = U(t_n), \qquad t_{n+1} = V(t_n), \qquad t_0 = 0 < r_1;$$
 (10)

hence we can easily prove Lemma 2 by the induction.

Suppose X and Y are the Banach spaces, $\Omega \subset X$ is an open convex subset, $F : \Omega \subset X \rightarrow Y$ has the second-order Fréchet derivative, $F'(x_0)^{-1}$ exists for $x_0 \in \Omega$, and the following conditions hold:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| F'(x_0)^{-1}F(x_0) \right| &\leq \eta, \qquad \left\| F'(x_0)^{-1}F''(x_0) \right\| \leq L(0), \\ \left\| F'(x_0)^{-1} \left(F''(y) - F''(x) \right) \right\| &\qquad (11) \\ &\leq \int_{\rho(x)}^{\rho(\overline{x},\overline{y})} L'(u) \, du, \quad x, y \in \Omega, \ \rho(\overline{x},\overline{y}) < \alpha, \end{aligned}$$

where $\rho(x) = ||x - x_0||$ and $\rho(\overline{x, y}) = ||y - x|| + ||x - x_0||$. \Box

Lemma 3. Suppose F satisfies (11) and $||x - x_0|| < \alpha$. Then $F'(x)^{-1}$ exists, and

$$\|F'(x_0)^{-1}F''(x)\| \le g''(\|x-x_0\|),$$

$$\|F'(x)^{-1}F'(x_0)\| \le -\frac{1}{g'(\|x-x_0\|)}.$$
(12)

Proof. Firstly, by the conditions (11), we know that

$$\|F'(x_0)^{-1}F''(x)\| \le \|F'(x_0)^{-1}F''(x_0)\| + \|F'(x_0)^{-1}F''(x) - F'(x_0)^{-1}F''(x_0)\| \le L(0) + \int_0^{\|x-x_0\|} L'(u) du = L(\|x-x_0\|) = g''(\|x-x_0\|).$$
(13)

Secondly, we know g'(t) < 0 for $t < \alpha$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|F'(x_0)^{-1}F'(x) - I\right\| &= \left\|F'(x_0)^{-1}\left[F'(x) - F'(x_0)\right]\right\| \\ &= \left\|F'(x_0)^{-1}\int_0^1 F''(x_0 + t(x - x_0)) \times (x - x_0)dt\right\| \\ &\leq \int_0^1 g''(t\|x - x_0\|) \|x - x_0\| dt \\ &= g'(\|x - x_0\|) - g'(0) \\ &= g'(\|x - x_0\|) + 1 < 1. \end{aligned}$$
(14)

By Banach Theorem, we know $F'(x)^{-1}$ exists, and

$$\left\|F'(x)^{-1}F'(x_0)\right\| \le \frac{1}{1 - \left\|F'(x_0)^{-1}F'(x) - I\right\|}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{g'(\left\|x - x_0\right\|)}.$$
(15)

This completes the proof of Lemma 3.

Lemma 4. Suppose X and Y are Banach spaces, Ω is an open convex of the Banach space X, $F : \Omega \subset X \rightarrow Y$ has the second-order Fréchet derivative, and the sequences $\{x_n\}$, $\{y_n\}$ are generated by (5). Then, for any natural number n, the following formula holds:

$$F(x_{n+1})$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} F'' \left(\frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} + t \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} \right) \right) (1 - t) dt$$

$$\times (x_{n+1} - y_{n})^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} F'' \left(\frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} + t \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} \right) \right) (1 - t) dt$$

$$\times (x_{n+1} - y_{n}) (y_{n} - x_{n})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} F'' \left(\frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} + t \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} \right) \right) (1 - t) dt$$

$$\times (y_{n} - x_{n}) (x_{n+1} - y_{n})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{1} F'' \left(\frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} + t \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} \right) \right) (1 - t) dt$$

$$\times (y_{n} - x_{n})^{2}$$

$$- \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{1} F'' \left(\frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2} - t \left(\frac{y_{n} - x_{n}}{2} \right) \right) (1 - t) dt$$

$$\times (y_{n} - x_{n})^{2}.$$
(16)

Proof. By (5), we have

$$F(x_{n+1}) = F(x_{n+1}) - F\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) - F'\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) + F\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) + F'\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) \times \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) = \int_0^1 F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} + t\left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \times \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right)^2 + F\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) + F'\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) , F\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) + F'\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) \left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) = F\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) + F'\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) \times \left(x_{n+1} - x_n - \frac{y_n - x_n}{2}\right) = F\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) - F(x_n) - F'\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right) \frac{y_n - x_n}{2} = -\frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{y_n - x_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \times (y_n - x_n)^2.$$
(17)

Hence

$$F(x_{n+1}) = \int_{0}^{1} F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} + t\left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right)\right)$$

$$\times (1 - t) dt(x_{n+1} - y_n)^2$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} + t\left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right)\right)$$

$$\times (1 - t) dt(x_{n+1} - y_n)(y_n - x_n)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{1} F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} + t\left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right)\right)$$

$$\times (1 - t) dt(y_n - x_n)(x_{n+1} - y_n)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{1} F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} + t\left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right)\right)$$

$$\times (1 - t) dt(y_n - x_n)^2$$

$$-\frac{1}{4}\int_{0}^{1}F''\left(\frac{x_{n}+y_{n}}{2}-t\left(\frac{y_{n}-x_{n}}{2}\right)\right)(1-t)\,dt$$
$$\times\left(y_{n}-x_{n}\right)^{2}.$$
(18)

This completes the proof of Lemma 4. \Box

Theorem 5. Suppose X and Y are Banach spaces, $\Omega \subset X$ is an open convex subset, $F : \Omega \subset X \rightarrow Y$ satisfies condition (11), $\eta \leq \beta$, and

$$\overline{S(x_0,r_1)} = \left\{ x \mid \left\| x - x_0 \right\| \le r_1, x \in X \right\} \subset \Omega.$$
 (19)

Then the sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ generated by (5) is well defined, $x_n \in \overline{S(x_0, r_1)}$, and converges to the unique solution x^* in $S(x_0, \alpha)$ and

$$\|x_n - x^*\| \le r_1 - t_n.$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Proof. By induction, we can prove that the following formulae hold:

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{n} - x_{0}\| &\leq t_{n}; \\ \|F'(x_{n})^{-1}F'(x_{0})\| &\leq -g'(t_{n})^{-1}; \\ \|y_{n} - x_{n}\| &\leq s_{n} - t_{n}; \\ \|y_{n} - x_{0}\| &\leq s_{n}; \\ \|Y_{n} - x_{0}\| &\leq s_{n}; \\ \|F'\left(\frac{x_{n} + y_{n}}{2}\right)^{-1}F'(x_{0})\| &\leq -g'\left(\frac{t_{n} + s_{n}}{2}\right)^{-1}; \\ \|x_{n+1} - y_{n}\| &\leq t_{n+1} - s_{n}; \\ \|x_{n+1} - x_{n}\| &\leq t_{n+1} - t_{n}. \end{aligned}$$
(21)

In fact, by Lemma 2 we know $t_n < r_1$ for any natural number *n*. It is easy to prove that for n = 0 the above formulae hold. Suppose the above formulae also hold for n > 0. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{n+1} - x_0\| &\leq \|x_{n+1} - x_n\| \\ &+ \|x_n - x_0\| \leq t_{n+1} - t_n + t_n = t_{n+1}. \end{aligned}$$
(22)

By Lemma 3, we get

$$\left\|F'(x_{n+1})^{-1}F'(x_0)\right\| \le -g'(\left\|x_{n+1} - x_0\right\|)^{-1} \le -g'(t_{n+1})^{-1}.$$
(23)

By Lemmas 3 and 4 and the fact that $-g'(t)^{-1}$, g''(t) are positive and increasing on $[0, \alpha)$, we have

$$\begin{split} F'(x_0)^{-1} \left[F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} + t\left(x_{n+1} - \frac{x_n + y_n}{2}\right)\right) \\ &-F''\left(\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{y_n - x_n}{2}\right)\right) \right] \right\| \\ &\leq \int_0^{t \|x_{n+1} - x_n\|} L'\left(u + \left\|\frac{x_n + y_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{y_n - x_n}{2}\right) - x_0\right\|\right) \right) du \\ &\leq \int_0^{t (t_{n+1} - t_n)} L'\left(u + \frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right) du \\ &= L\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} + t\left(t_{n+1} - \frac{t_n + s_n}{2}\right)\right) \\ &- L\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) \\ &= g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) \\ &- g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) \\ &+ f'(x_0)^{-1}F(x_{n+1}) \right\| \\ &\leq \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} + t\left(t_{n+1} - \frac{t_n + s_n}{2}\right)\right) \\ &\times (1 - t) dt(t_{n+1} - s_n)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} + t\left(t_{n+1} - \frac{t_n + s_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (t_{n+1} - s_n)(s_n - t_n) \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} + t\left(t_{n+1} - \frac{t_n + s_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (s_n - t_n)(t_{n+1} - s_n) \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &\times (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &+ (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &+ (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &+ (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &+ (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right)\right) (1 - t) dt \\ &+ (s_n - t_n)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 g''\left(\frac{t_n + s_n}{2} - t\left(\frac{s_n - t_n}{2}\right$$

Hence we get

$$\|y_{n+1} - x_{n+1}\| = \|-F'(x_{n+1})^{-1}F(x_{n+1})\|$$

$$\leq \|-F'(x_{n+1})^{-1}F'(x_0)\|$$

$$\times \|F'(x_0)^{-1}F(x_{n+1})\|$$

$$\leq -g'(t_{n+1})^{-1}g(t_{n+1})$$

= $s_{n+1} - t_{n+1}$,
 $||y_{n+1} - x_0|| \leq ||y_{n+1} - x_{n+1}||$
+ $||x_{n+1} - x_0|| \leq s_{n+1}$.
(25)

By Lemma 3, we get

$$\left\|F'\left(\frac{x_{n+1}+y_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1}F'(x_0)\right\| \le -g'\left(\frac{t_{n+1}+s_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (26)

Moreover, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |x_{n+2} - y_{n+1}|| \\ &= \left\| F'(x_{n+1})^{-1}F(x_{n+1}) \\ &-F'\left(\frac{x_{n+1} + y_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1}F(x_{n+1}) \right\| \\ &= \left\| F'\left(\frac{x_{n+1} + y_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1}\left[F'\left(\frac{x_{n+1} + y_{n+1}}{2}\right) \\ &-F'(x_{n+1})\right] \\ &\times F'(x_{n+1})^{-1}F(x_{n+1}) \right\| \\ &= \left\| F'\left(\frac{x_{n+1} + y_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1}F'(x_0)F'(x_0)^{-1} \\ &\times \int_0^1 F''\left(x_{n+1} + \frac{t}{2}\left(y_{n+1} - x_{n+1}\right)\right) dt \\ &\times \frac{y_{n+1} - x_{n+1}}{2}F'(x_{n+1})^{-1} \\ &\times F'(x_0)F'(x_0)^{-1}F(x_{n+1}) \right\| \\ &\leq g'\left(\frac{t_{n+1} + s_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1} \\ &\times \int_0^1 g''\left(t_{n+1} + \frac{t}{2}\left(s_{n+1} - t_{n+1}\right)\right) dt \\ &\times \frac{(s_{n+1} - t_{n+1})}{2}g'(t_{n+1})^{-1}g(t_{n+1}) \\ &\leq g'\left(\frac{t_{n+1} + s_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1} \\ &\times \left[g'\left(\frac{t_{n+1} + s_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1} \\ &\times \left[g'\left(\frac{t_{n+1} + s_{n+1}}{2}\right) - g'(t_{n+1})\right] \\ &\times g'(t_{n+1})^{-1}g(t_{n+1}) \end{aligned}$$

$$= g'(t_{n+1})^{-1}g(t_{n+1}) - g'\left(\frac{t_{n+1} + s_{n+1}}{2}\right)^{-1} \times g(t_{n+1}) = t_{n+2} - s_{n+1}, \|x_{n+2} - x_{n+1}\| \le \|x_{n+2} - y_{n+1}\| + \|y_{n+1} - x_{n+1}\| \le t_{n+2} - t_{n+1}.$$
(27)

Hence, the sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ generated by (5) is well defined, $x_n \in \overline{S(x_0, r_1)}$, and $\{x_n\}$ converges to the solution $x^* \in \overline{S(x_0, r_1)}$ of (1).

Now we prove the uniqueness. Suppose y^* is also a solution of (1) on $S(x_0, \alpha)$. We know that g'(t) < 0 for $t \in [0, \alpha)$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \left|F'(x_0)^{-1} \int_0^1 F'(x^* + t(y^* - x^*)) dt - I\right| \\ &\leq \left\|F'(x_0)^{-1} \int_0^1 \left\{F'\left[x^* + t(y^* - x^*)\right] - F'(x_0)\right\} dt\right\| \\ &\leq \left\|F'(x_0)^{-1} \int_0^1 \int_0^1 F''(x_0 + s(x^* - x_0 + t(y^* - x^*))) ds dt \\ &\times (x^* - x_0 + t(y^* - x^*))\right\| \\ &\leq \int_0^1 \int_0^1 g''(s\|x^* - x_0 + t(y^* - x^*)\|) ds dt \\ &\times \|x^* - x_0 + t(y^* - x^*)\| \\ &= \int_0^1 g'(\|x^* - x_0 + t(y^* - x^*)\|) dt - g'(0) \\ &= \int_0^1 g'(\|(1 - t)(x^* - x_0) + t(y^* - x_0)\|) dt + 1 < 1. \end{aligned}$$
(28)

By Banach Theorem, we know the inverse of $\int_0^1 F'[x^* + t(y^* - x^*)]dt$ exists and

$$0 = F(y^{*}) - F(x^{*})$$

= $\int_{0}^{1} F'[x^{*} + t(y^{*} - x^{*})] dt(y^{*} - x^{*});$ (29)

hence we get $y^* = x^*$. This completes the proof of the uniqueness of the solution of (1).

For m > n, we know that

.

$$\begin{aligned} x_m - x_n \| &\leq \|x_m - x_{m-1}\| \\ &+ \|x_{m-1} - x_{m-2}\| + \dots + \|x_{n+1} - x_n\| \leq t_m - t_n. \end{aligned}$$
(30)

When $m \to \infty$, we get

$$\|x_n - x^*\| \le r_1 - t_n.$$
(31)

This completes the proof of Theorem 5. \Box

Suppose that $L(u) = \gamma + Ku$, $u \in (0, +\infty)$, $\gamma, K > 0$. Then $\int_{\rho(x)}^{\rho(\overline{x}, \overline{y})} L'(u) du = K ||x - y||, g(t) = (1/6)Kt^3 + (1/2)\gamma t^2 - t + \eta\alpha = 2/(\gamma + \sqrt{\gamma^2 + 2K}), \text{ and } \beta = \alpha - (1/6)K\alpha^3 - (1/2)\gamma\alpha^2 = 2(\gamma + 2\sqrt{\gamma^2 + 2K})/3(\gamma + \sqrt{\gamma^2 + 2K})^2.$

Corollary 6. Suppose X and Y are the Banach spaces, Ω is an open convex subset of the Banach space X, $F : \Omega \subset X \to Y$ has the second-order Fréchet derivative, $F'(x_0)^{-1}$ exists for $x_0 \in \Omega$, and the following conditions hold:

$$\begin{split} \left\|F'(x_{0})^{-1}F(x_{0})\right\| &\leq \eta, \qquad \left\|F'(x_{0})^{-1}F''(x_{0})\right\| \leq \gamma, \\ \left\|F'(x_{0})^{-1}\left(F''(x) - F''(y)\right)\right\| &\leq K \left\|x - y\right\| \quad x, y \in \Omega, \\ \eta &\leq \frac{2\left(\gamma + 2\sqrt{\gamma^{2} + 2K}\right)}{3\left(\gamma + \sqrt{\gamma^{2} + 2K}\right)^{2}}, \qquad \overline{S(x_{0}, r_{1})} \in \Omega. \end{split}$$

$$(32)$$

Then the sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ generated by (5) is well defined, $x_n \in \overline{S(x_0, r_1)}$, and $\{x_n\}$ converges to the unique solution x^* on $S(x_0, \alpha)$ of (1), where $r_1 \leq r_2$ are two positive roots of $g(t) = (1/6)Kt^3 + (1/2)\gamma t^2 - t + \eta$.

Suppose $L(u) = 2\gamma(1 - \gamma u)^{-3}$, $u \in (0, 1/\gamma)$, $g(t) = \eta - t + \gamma t^2/(1 - \gamma t)$, $\alpha = (1 - \sqrt{2}/2)(1/\gamma)$ and $\beta = (3 - 2\sqrt{2})/\gamma$ and for $||x - x_0|| < \alpha$, $||F'(x_0)^{-1}F'''(x)|| \le 6\gamma^2/(1 - \gamma ||x - x_0||)^4$. Hence, for $||x - x_0|| + ||y - x|| < \alpha$, we get

$$\begin{split} \left\|F'(x_{0})^{-1}\left[F''(y)-F''(x)\right]\right\| \\ &= \left\|\int_{0}^{1}F'(x_{0})^{-1}F'''(x+t(y-x))dt(y-x)\right\| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1}\frac{6\gamma^{2}}{\left[1-\gamma\left\|x-x_{0}+t(y-x)\right\|\right]^{4}}dt\left\|y-x\right\| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1}\frac{6\gamma^{2}}{\left[1-\gamma\left(\|x-x_{0}\|+t\left\|y-x\right\|\right)\right]^{4}}dt\left\|y-x\right\| \\ &= \int_{\|x-x_{0}\|}^{\|x-x_{0}\|+\|y-x\|}\frac{6\gamma^{2}}{\left(1-\gamma u\right)^{4}}u \\ &= \int_{\|x-x_{0}\|}^{\|x-x_{0}\|+\|y-x\|}L'(u)\,du. \end{split}$$

Corollary 7 (see [10]). Suppose X and Y are Banach spaces, Ω is an open convex subset of the Banach space X, $F : \Omega \subset$ $X \to Y$ has the third-order Fréchet derivative, $F'(x_0)^{-1}$ exists for $x_0 \in \Omega$, and the following conditions hold:

$$\begin{split} \left\|F'(x_{0})^{-1}F(x_{0})\right\| &\leq \eta, \qquad \left\|F'(x_{0})^{-1}F''(x_{0})\right\| \leq 2\gamma, \\ \left\|F'(x_{0})^{-1}F'''(x)\right\| &\leq \frac{6\gamma^{2}}{\left(1-\gamma\left\|x-x_{0}\right\|\right)^{4}} \\ &= g'''\left(\left\|x-x_{0}\right\|\right), \quad x \in \Omega, \qquad (34) \\ \left\|x-x_{0}\right\| &\leq \left(1-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\right)\frac{1}{\gamma}, \qquad \eta\gamma \leq 3-2\sqrt{2}, \\ &\overline{S(x_{0},r_{1})} \in \Omega. \end{split}$$

Then the sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ generated by (5) is well defined, $x_n \in \overline{S(x_0, r_1)}$, and $\{x_n\}$ converges to the unique solution x^* of (1) on $S(x_0, (1 - 1/\sqrt{2})(1/\gamma))$, where

$$r_{1} = \frac{1 + \eta\gamma - \sqrt{\left(1 + \eta\gamma\right)^{2} - 8\eta\gamma}}{4\gamma},$$

$$r_{2} = \frac{1 + \eta\gamma + \sqrt{\left(1 + \eta\gamma\right)^{2} - 8\eta\gamma}}{4\gamma}$$
(35)

are two positive roots of the equation $g(t) = \eta - t + \gamma t^2/(1 - \gamma t)$.

3. Numerical Examples

In this section, we apply the convergence theorem and show three numerical examples.

Example 1. Consider the equation

$$F(x) = \frac{1}{6}x^3 + \frac{1}{6}x^2 - \frac{5}{6}x + \frac{1}{3} = 0.$$
 (36)

We choose the initial point $x_0 = 0$, $\Omega = [-1, 1]$; then

$$\eta = \left| F'(0)^{-1}F(0) \right| = \frac{2}{5}, \qquad \gamma = \left| F'(0)^{-1}F''(0) \right| = \frac{2}{5},$$

$$K = \frac{6}{5},$$

$$\frac{2\left(\gamma + 2\sqrt{\gamma^2 + 2K}\right)}{3\left(\gamma + \sqrt{\gamma^2 + 2K}\right)^2} = \frac{3}{5} > \eta.$$
(37)

Hence, by Corollary 6, the sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ generated by (5) is well defined, and $\{x_n\}$ converges to the solution x^* of (36).

Now, we will analyze errors $||x_n - x^*||$ by Corollary 6 (see Table 1). In this case, we take $x_0 = 0$; then $r_1 = 0.462598422\cdots$

Example 2. Consider the system of equation [18] F(u, v) = 0, where

$$F(u, v) = (uv - 1, uv + u - 2v)^{T}.$$
(38)

TABLE 1: Error results for Corollary 6 ($||x_n - x^*|| \le r_1 - t_n$).

Step	$r_1 - t_n$	Step	$r_1 - t_n$
k = 1	1.616985×10^{-2}	<i>k</i> = 2	2.236349×10^{-6}
<i>k</i> = 3	$6.225929 imes 10^{-18}$	k = 4	1.343387×10^{-52}
<i>k</i> = 5	$1.349560 \times 10^{-156}$	<i>k</i> = 6	$1.368249 \times 10^{-468}$

Then, we have

$$F'(u,v) = \begin{pmatrix} v & u \\ v+1 & u-2 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$F'(u,v)^{-1} = -\frac{1}{u+2v} \begin{pmatrix} u-2 & -u \\ -v-1 & v \end{pmatrix},$$

$$F''(u,v) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \frac{1}{0} & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(39)

We choose $x_0 = (u_0, v_0) = (1.75, 1.75)$ and $\Omega = \{x \mid \|x - x_0\| \le 1.75\}$. We take the max-norm in R^2 and the norm $\|A\| = \max\{|a_{11}| + |a_{12}|, |a_{21}| + |a_{22}|\}$ for $A = \begin{pmatrix}a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{pmatrix}$. Define the norm of a bilinear operator *B* on R^2 by

$$\|B\| = \sup_{\|u\|=1} \max_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{2} b_{i}^{jk} u_{k} \right|, \qquad (40)$$

where $u = (u_1, u_2)^T$ and

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} b_1^{11} & b_1^{12} \\ b_1^{21} & b_1^{22} \\ \hline b_2^{11} & b_2^{12} \\ b_2^{21} & b_2^{22} \\ b_2^{21} & b_2^{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (41)

Then we get the following results:

$$\eta = \left\| F'(x_0)^{-1} F(x_0) \right\| = \frac{9}{14},$$

$$\gamma = \left\| F'(x_0)^{-1} F''(x_0) \right\| = \frac{16}{21},$$

$$K = 0, \qquad \frac{2\left(\gamma + 2\sqrt{\gamma^2 + 2K}\right)}{3\left(\gamma + \sqrt{\gamma^2 + 2K}\right)^2} > \eta.$$
(42)

This means that the hypotheses of Corollary 6 are satisfied.

Now, we will analyze errors $||x_n - x^*||$ by Corollary 6 (see Table 2). In this case, we take $x_0 = (u_0, v_0) = (1.75, 1.75)$; then $r_1 = 1.125$.

Example 3. Consider the following integral equations:

$$x(s) = 1 + \frac{1}{4}x(s)\int_{0}^{1}\frac{s}{s+t}x(t)\,dt$$
(43)

TABLE 2: Error results for Corollary 6 $(||x_n - x^*|| \le r_1 - t_n)$.

Step	$r_1 - t_n$	Step	$r_1 - t_n$
<i>k</i> = 1	$2.736486 imes 10^{-1}$	<i>k</i> = 2	3.044252×10^{-2}
<i>k</i> = 3	1.588069×10^{-4}	k = 4	2.844419×10^{-11}
<i>k</i> = 5	1.636509×10^{-30}	<i>k</i> = 6	3.116680×10^{-92}

TABLE 3: Error results for Corollary 7 ($||x_n - x^*|| \le r_1 - t_n$).

Step	$r_1 - t_n$	Step	$r_1 - t_n$
k = 1	2.764303×10^{-3}	<i>k</i> = 2	$4.099223 imes 10^{-9}$
<i>k</i> = 3	1.344301×10^{-26}	k = 4	4.741124×10^{-79}
<i>k</i> = 5	$2.079868 \times 10^{-236}$	<i>k</i> = 6	$< 1.0 \times 10^{-500}$

and the space X = C[0, 1] with the norm

$$\|x\| = \max_{0 \le s \le 1} |x(s)|.$$
(44)

This equation arises in the theory of radiative transfer and neutron transport and in the kinetic theory of gases. Define the operator F on X by

$$F(x) = \frac{1}{4}x(s)\int_0^1 \frac{s}{s+t}x(t)\,dt - x(s) + 1.$$
(45)

Then, for $x_0 = 1$, we obtain

$$\eta = \left\| F'(x_0)^{-1} F(x_0) \right\| = 0.2652,$$

$$2\gamma = \left\| F'(x_0)^{-1} F''(x_0) \right\| = 1.5304 \times 2$$

$$\cdot \frac{1}{4} \max_{0 \le s \le 1} \left| \int_0^1 \frac{s}{s+t} dt \right| = 1.5304 \times \frac{\ln 2}{2} = 0.5303, \quad (46)$$

$$\eta \gamma = 0.07032 < 3 - 2\sqrt{2},$$

$$\left\| F'(x_0)^{-1} F'''(x) \right\| = 0 < \frac{6\gamma^2}{\left(1 - \gamma \left\| x - x_0 \right\| \right)^4}.$$

This means that the hypotheses of Corollary 7 are satisfied.

Now, we will analyze errors $||x_n - x^*||$ by Corollary 7 (see Table 3). In this case, we take $x_0 = 1$; then $r_1 = 0.289222\cdots$.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the National Basic Research 973 Program of China (no. 2011JB105001), National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant no. 11371320), the Foundation of Science and Technology Department (Grant no. 2013C31084) of Zhejiang Province, and the Foundation of the Education Department (nos. 20120040 and Y201329420) of Zhejiang Province of China and also by the Grant FEKT-S-11-2-921 of Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Brno University of Technology, Czech Republic.

References

 J. M. Ortega and W. C. Rheinboldt, *Iterative Solution of Nonlinear Equations in Several Variables*, Academic Press, New York, NY, USA, 1970.

- [2] A. Cordero, J. L. Hueso, E. Martínez, and J. R. Torregrosa, "Increasing the convergence order of an iterative method for nonlinear systems," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 2369–2374, 2012.
- [3] A. Cordero, J. R. Torregrosa, and P. Vindel, "Study of the dynamics of third-order iterative methods on quadratic polynomials," *International Journal of Computer Mathematics*, vol. 89, no. 13-14, pp. 1826–1836, 2012.
- [4] L. V. Kantorovich, "On Newton's method," Akademiya Nauk SSSR. Trudy Matematicheskogo Instituta imeni V. A. Steklova, vol. 28, pp. 104–144, 1949 (Russian).
- [5] Z. D. Huang, "A note on the Kantorovich theorem for Newton iteration," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 211–217, 1993.
- [6] X. H. Wang and C. Li, "Convergence of Newton's method and uniqueness of the solution of equations in Banach spaces. II," *Acta Mathematica Sinica*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 405–412, 2003.
- [7] I. K. Argyros, "On Newton's method for solving equations containing Fréchet-differentiable operators of order at least two," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 215, no. 4, pp. 1553–1560, 2009.
- [8] J. A. Ezquerro, J. M. Gutiérrez, M. A. Hernández, and M. A. Salanova, "The application of an inverse-free Jarratt-type approximation to nonlinear integral equations of Hammerstein-type," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 9–20, 1998.
- [9] M. Chen, Y. Khan, Q. Wu, and A. Yildirim, "Newton-Kantorovich convergence theorem of a modified Newton's method under the gamma-condition in a Banach space," *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, vol. 157, no. 3, pp. 651– 662, 2013.
- [10] J. A. Ezquerro, D. González, and M. A. Hernández, "A modification of the classic conditions of Newton-Kantorovich for Newton's method," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 57, no. 3-4, pp. 584–594, 2013.
- [11] J. A. Ezquerro, D. González, and M. A. Hernández, "A variant of the Newton-Kantorovich theorem for nonlinear integral equations of mixed Hammerstein type," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 218, no. 18, pp. 9536–9546, 2012.
- [12] M. Frontini and E. Sormani, "Modified Newton's method with third-order convergence and multiple roots," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 156, no. 2, pp. 345–354, 2003.
- [13] J. A. Ezquerro and M. A. Hernández, "On the *R*-order of convergence of Newton's method under mild differentiability conditions," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 197, no. 1, pp. 53–61, 2006.
- [14] S. Weerakoon and T. G. I. Fernando, "A variant of Newton's method with accelerated third-order convergence," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 87–93, 2000.
- [15] M. Frontini and E. Sormani, "Some variant of Newton's method with third-order convergence," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 140, no. 2-3, pp. 419–426, 2003.
- [16] M. Frontini and E. Sormani, "Third-order methods from quadrature formulae for solving systems of nonlinear equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 149, no. 3, pp. 771–782, 2004.
- [17] X. H. Wang and C. Li, "The local and global behaviors of methods for solving equations," *Chinese Science Bulletin*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 444–451, 2001.

[18] Y. Zhao and Q. Wu, "Convergence analysis for a deformed Newton's method with third-order in Banach space under γcondition," *International Journal of Computer Mathematics*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 441–450, 2009.

Research Article

Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions to a Vector Integral Equation with Deviating Arguments

Cristóbal González and Antonio Jiménez-Melado

Departamento de Análisis Matemático, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Málaga, 29071 Málaga, Spain

Correspondence should be addressed to Cristóbal González; cmge@uma.es

Received 31 July 2013; Accepted 5 November 2013

Academic Editor: István Györi

Copyright © 2013 C. González and A. Jiménez-Melado. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

In this paper, we propose the study of an integral equation, with deviating arguments, of the type $y(t) = \omega(t) - \int_0^\infty f(t, s, y(\gamma_1(s)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(s))) ds, t \ge 0$, in the context of Banach spaces, with the intention of giving sufficient conditions that ensure the existence of solutions with the same asymptotic behavior at ∞ as $\omega(t)$. A similar equation, but requiring a little less restrictive hypotheses, is $y(t) = \omega(t) - \int_0^\infty q(t, s)F(s, y(\gamma_1(s)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(s))) ds, t \ge 0$. In the case of $q(t, s) = (t - s)_+$, its solutions with asymptotic behavior given by $\omega(t)$ yield solutions of the second order nonlinear abstract differential equation $y''(t) - \omega''(t) + F(t, y(\gamma_1(t)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(t))) = 0$, with the same asymptotic behavior at ∞ as $\omega(t)$.

1. Introduction

From the pioneering work of Atkinson [1], and subsequent works found in the literature (see, e.g., [2–10] for recent papers on the subject), we consider the following differential problem, with deviating arguments:

$$y''(t) - \omega''(t) + F(t, y(\gamma_1(t)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(t))) = 0, \quad t \ge 0,$$
(1)

with the task of finding solutions y with the same behavior at ∞ as ω . Solutions with this prescription are given by the solutions of the following integral equation:

$$y(t) = \omega(t) - \int_{t}^{\infty} (s-t) F(s, y(\gamma_{1}(s)), \dots, y(\gamma_{N}(s))) ds,$$
$$t \ge 0,$$
(2)

which, by writing $f(t, s, y(\gamma_1(s)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(s))) = (s - t)_+ F(s, y(\gamma_1(s)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(s)))$, is of the type

$$y(t) = \omega(t) - \int_0^\infty f(t, s, y(\gamma_1(s)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(s))) ds,$$

$$t \ge 0.$$
(3)

The purpose of this note is to provide conditions that ensure the existence of solutions to the above integral equation, whose asymptotic behavior at ∞ is the same as that of ω , thus giving a procedure to show existence of solutions with prescribed asymptotic behavior of differential equation of the type (1). Our wish is to also work out this integral equation in the setting of Banach spaces.

Denote by \mathbb{R}^+ the set $[0, \infty)$ of nonnegative real numbers. Assume that $\{\gamma_j\}_{j=1}^N$ is a finite set of continuous mappings from \mathbb{R}^+ to \mathbb{R}^+ , that $(X, \|\cdot\|_X)$ is a Banach space (with norm $\|\cdot\|_X$), and also that ω is a continuous mapping from \mathbb{R}^+ to X. Finally, assume that $f : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times X^N \to X$ is a given continuous mapping with certain regularity and integrability conditions, to be specified later. In order to give a better aspect to our equation, define, for each continuous $y : \mathbb{R}^+ \to X$, the mapping $\Gamma(y) : \mathbb{R}^+ \to X^N$ given by

$$\Gamma(y)(t) = (y(\gamma_1(t)), \dots, y(\gamma_N(t))), \quad t \ge 0.$$
(4)

Then, our equation becomes

$$y(t) = \omega(t) - \int_0^\infty f(t, s, \Gamma(y)(s)) ds, \quad t \ge 0, \quad (E)$$

which, by writing $x(t) = y(t) - \omega(t), t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, is transformed into

$$x(t) = -\int_{0}^{\infty} f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s)) ds, \quad t \ge 0.$$
 (\tilde{E})

A bit more of notation and preliminary results are needed. As customary, $B_X(x, r)$ denotes the open ball in X centered at x with radius r. The closure in X of any set $A \subseteq X$ is written \overline{A} , and its closed convex hull, $\overline{co}(A)$. The space of continuous X-valued functions defined on \mathbb{R}^+ is denoted by $\mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$, while the space of bounded ones is $\mathscr{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$. The latter is a Banach space when endowed with the sup norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$, (i.e., for $x \in \mathscr{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$, $\|x\|_{\infty} = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^+} \|x(t)\|_X$).

The Schauder fixed point theorem states that any continuous operator T defined on a nonempty, bounded, closed and convex subset C of a Banach space has necessarily a fixed point, provided that T(C) is a relatively compact subset of C. We will also be needing a well-known version of the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem which, in the case that occupies us, is as follows: if a family $\mathscr{F} \subseteq \mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$ is equicontinuous at each $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, and each section $\mathscr{F}(t) := \{u(t) : u \in \mathscr{F}\}$ is relatively compact in X, then each sequence $\{u_n\} \subseteq \mathscr{F}$ contains a subsequence that converges uniformly on compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^+ to a given X-valued function u.

Let us also say a word about vector integrals. For a brief introduction see, for example, [11] or [12]. If $f : [a,b] \to X$ is a bounded vector function, the Riemann sum of f associated to a finite partition of [a,b], $\wp = \{a = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_n = b\}$ (with norm $\|\wp\| = \max_j |t_j - t_{j-1}|$), and to a selection $\{t_j^*\}_{j=1}^n$, $t_j^* \in [t_{j-1}, t_j]$, is $\sum_{j=1}^n f(t_j^*)(t_j - t_{j-1})$. Without specifying the type of limit alluded, we say that f is Riemann integrable on [a, b] if there exists the limit of its Riemann sums as the norm of the partitions of [a, b] tends to 0, in which case, this limit (which is unique) is called the integral of f over [a, b] and is denoted by $\int_a^b f(t)dt$. That is, being a little bit sloppy with the notation, we have

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt = \lim_{\| \mathcal{O} \| \to 0} \sum_{j} f(t_{j}^{*}) (t_{j} - t_{j-1}).$$
 (5)

Observe that whenever f is integrable on [a, b], then each Riemann sum associated to f is (b - a) times a linear convex combination of elements of f([a, b]). Therefore, the integral of f over [a, b], being a limit of Riemann sums, is a multiple of an element of the closed convex hull of f([a, b]), that is,

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(t) dt = \lim_{\|\wp\| \to 0} (b-a)$$

$$\times \sum_{j} f\left(t_{j}^{*}\right) \frac{t_{j} - t_{j-1}}{b-a} \in (b-a) \ \overline{\operatorname{co}} f\left([a,b]\right).$$
(6)

2. Existence of Solutions

We begin this section enumerating the conditions that will be basic for our results on existence of solutions of (*E*). Take f, γ_j , and ω as above and, in analogy with what would happen with continuous mappings on finite dimensional spaces, assume that

f is uniformly continuous on bounded sets

of
$$\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times X^N$$
, and maps bounded (H0)

sets into relatively compact sets of X.

The following conditions have already been motivated in previous work [7]. Recall that $\omega : \mathbb{R}^+ \to X$ is continuous, but not necessarily bounded.

There exists $g: \mathbb{R}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ bounded, with $g(t) \xrightarrow{t \to \infty} 0$,

such that for $C = \{y \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}^+, X) :$

$$\left\| y\left(t\right) - \omega\left(t\right) \right\|_{X} \le g\left(t\right), t \in \mathbb{R}^{+} \right\},$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| f\left(t, s, \Gamma\left(y\right)\left(s\right)\right) \right\|_{X} ds \le g\left(t\right), \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}, \ \forall y \in C.$$
(H1)

There exists $h: \mathbb{R}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ with $h(\tau) \xrightarrow{\tau \longrightarrow \infty} 0$, such that

$$\int_{\tau}^{\infty} \|f(t,s,\Gamma(y)(s))\|_{X} ds \le h(\tau), \quad \forall t,\tau \in \mathbb{R}^{+}, \ \forall y \in C.$$
(H2)

The result on existence of solutions to the integral equation is the following.

Theorem 1. Under hypotheses (H0), (H1), and (H2), the integral equation (E) has a solution y(t) asymptotically equal to $\omega(t)$ as $t \to \infty$.

Remark 2. This theorem represents a generalization of the one presented in the work [7] in two aspects. First, we have made the jump to deal with integral equations in the setting of infinite dimensional spaces. And second, we have included deviating arguments in the equation.

Proof of Theorem 1. First observe that it suffices to find a solution to the integral equation (\tilde{E}) in $\tilde{C} = \{x \in \mathcal{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^+, X) : \|x(t)\|_X \le g(t), t \in \mathbb{R}^+\}$, and this will be achieved by proving the existence of a fixed point in \tilde{C} of the operator:

$$T: x \in \widetilde{C} \longmapsto Tx,$$

$$Tx(t) = -\int_{0}^{\infty} f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s)) ds, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(7)

We proceed to check that the conditions of the Schauder fixed point Theorem are fulfilled. First observe that \widetilde{C} is a nonempty, bounded, closed, and convex subset of the Banach space $\mathscr{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$. Also, by (H1), $||Tx(t)||_X \leq g(t)$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and all $x \in \widetilde{C}$. So $T\widetilde{C} \subseteq \widetilde{C}$ provided $Tx \in \mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$ for all $x \in \widetilde{C}$.

In fact, we will prove four assertions. (a) $T\overline{C}$ is uniformly equicontinuous on \mathbb{R}^+ . This will give the desired continuity

of Tx for each $x \in \widetilde{C}$. (b) T is uniformly continuous on \widetilde{C} , hence it will be continuous on \widetilde{C} . (c) $T\widetilde{C}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ is relatively compact in X. Thus, (a) and (c) will imply, by the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, that each sequence in $T\widetilde{C}$ has a subsequence which converges uniformly on each compact subset of \mathbb{R}^+ to a given function in $\mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$ (actually in \widetilde{C}). Finally, in order to obtain that $T\widetilde{C}$ is relatively compact in $\mathscr{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$, we will use the "funnel" structure of \widetilde{C} to prove (d), that any sequence in \widetilde{C} which converges uniformly on each compact subset of \mathbb{R}^+ to a given function in \widetilde{C} must indeed converge uniformly to that function in all of \mathbb{R}^+ . With all these assertions, the Schauder fixed point theorem can be applied to conclude the existence of a fixed point of T, as we want.

Start fixing an arbitrary $\varepsilon > 0$ once for all. In what follows, we will build up different objects indexed by this ε , $(t_{\varepsilon}, \tau_{\varepsilon}, D_{\varepsilon}, B_{\varepsilon})$, knowing that even if for each assertion we have to start taking an arbitrary $\varepsilon > 0$, the objects will vary accordingly but not the way to obtain them.

Since $g(t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$, there exists $t_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$g(t) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}, \quad \forall t \ge t_{\varepsilon}.$$
 (8)

We start proving (d), as it is quite independent of the rest of assertions. Assume that a sequence $\{u_n\} \subseteq \widetilde{C}$ converges uniformly on each compact subset of \mathbb{R}^+ to a function $u \in \widetilde{C}$, and let us show that indeed converges uniformly to u in all of \mathbb{R}^+ . For the $\varepsilon > 0$ above (so for any $\varepsilon > 0$), find the corresponding $t_{\varepsilon} > 0$ to satisfy (8). Since $u_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, and u all belong to \widetilde{C} , then

$$\left\| u_{n}\left(t\right) - u\left(t\right) \right\|_{X} \le 2g\left(t\right), \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}.$$
(9)

In particular,

$$\left\| u_{n}\left(t\right) -u\left(t\right) \right\| _{X}\leq 2g\left(t\right) <\varepsilon,\quad\forall n\in\mathbb{N},\ \forall t\geq t_{\varepsilon}. \tag{10}$$

Now, since $\{u_n\}$ converges uniformly to u in $[0, t_{\varepsilon}]$, there exists $n_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\left\| u_{n}\left(t\right) -u\left(t\right) \right\| _{X}<\varepsilon,\quad \forall n\geq n_{\varepsilon},\forall t\in \left[0,t_{\varepsilon}\right] .\tag{11}$$

This tells us that if $n \ge n_{\varepsilon}$, then $||u_n - u||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$, proving that the convergence of $\{u_n\}$ to u is uniform on \mathbb{R}^+ , and thus (d) is proven.

Next, continue building up other objects associated with the arbitrary ε fixed above. Observe that, by (8) and (H1),

$$\|Tx(t)\|_{X} \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \|f(t,s,\Gamma(\omega+x)(s))\|_{X} ds$$

$$\leq g(t) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}, \quad \forall t \geq t_{\varepsilon}, \ \forall x \in \widetilde{C}.$$
(12)

Also, since $h(\tau) \to 0$ as $\tau \to \infty$, there exists $\tau_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$h(\tau) < \frac{\varepsilon}{4}, \quad \forall \tau \ge \tau_{\varepsilon},$$
 (13)

so, by (H2),

$$\int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \|f(t,s,\Gamma(\omega+x)(s))\|_{X} ds$$

$$\leq h(\tau_{\varepsilon}) < \frac{\varepsilon}{4}, \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}, \ \forall x \in \widetilde{C}.$$
(14)

The continuity of ω and the γ_j 's, j = 1, ..., N, and the uniform bound for functions in \widetilde{C} (given by the bound of g) imply that there exists a bounded set $D_{\varepsilon} \subseteq X^N$, depending on τ_{ε} , ω , the γ_j 's, and g, but not on $x \in \widetilde{C}$, such that

$$\Gamma (\omega + x) (s)$$

$$= (\omega (\gamma_1 (s)) + x (\gamma_1 (s)), \dots, \omega (\gamma_N (s)) + x (\gamma_N (s))) \in D_{\varepsilon},$$

$$\forall x \in \widetilde{C}, \ \forall s \in [0, \tau_{\varepsilon}].$$
(15)

Now, observe that $B_{\varepsilon} := [0, t_{\varepsilon} + 1] \times [0, \tau_{\varepsilon}] \times D_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded in $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times X^N$, so by (H0),

$$f$$
 is uniformly continuous on B_{ε} ,
and $f(B_{\varepsilon})$ is relatively compact in X . (16)

By the uniform continuity of f on B_{ε} , there exists $\delta_{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$ such that, whenever $(t_1, s_1, y_{1,1}, \dots, y_{N,1}) \in B_{\varepsilon}$ and $(t_2, s_2, y_{1,2}, \dots, y_{N,2}) \in B_{\varepsilon}$ with $|t_1 - t_2| < \delta_{\varepsilon}, |s_1 - s_2| < \delta_{\varepsilon}$, and $||y_{j,1} - y_{j,2}||_X < \delta_{\varepsilon}, j = 1, \dots, N$, then

$$\|f(t_1, s_1, y_{1,1}, \dots, y_{N,1}) - f(t_2, s_2, y_{1,2}, \dots, y_{N,2})\|_X < \frac{\varepsilon}{4\tau_{\varepsilon}}.$$
(17)

Notice that if $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with $|t_1 - t_2| < \delta_{\varepsilon}$ and, without loss of generality, $t_1 \leq t_2$, then several cases are possible. If $t_2 \geq t_{\varepsilon} + 1$, then, as $\delta_{\varepsilon} < 1$, $t_2 \geq t_1 > t_2 - \delta_{\varepsilon} > t_{\varepsilon} + 1 - 1 = t_{\varepsilon}$, and so, by (12),

$$\|Tx(t_1) - Tx(t_2)\|_X \le \|Tx(t_1)\|_X + \|Tx(t_2)\|_X < \varepsilon,$$

$$\forall x \in \widetilde{C}.$$
(18)

If, on the other hand, $t_2 \leq t_{\varepsilon} + 1$, then, by (15), $\Gamma(\omega + x)([0, \tau_{\varepsilon}]) \subseteq D_{\varepsilon}$ for all $x \in \widetilde{C}$, and, by (17) and (14), we have, for any $x \in \widetilde{C}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tx(t_1) - Tx(t_2)\|_X \\ &\leq \int_0^{\tau_{\varepsilon}} \|f(t_2, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s)) \\ &\quad -f(t_1, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s))\|_X ds \\ &\quad + \int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \|f(t_1, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s))\|_X ds \\ &\quad + \int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \|f(t_2, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s))\|_X ds \\ &< \tau_{\varepsilon} \frac{\varepsilon}{4\tau_{\varepsilon}} + 2\frac{\varepsilon}{4} < \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$
(19)

This proves (a), the uniform equicontinuity of $T\widetilde{C}$ over \mathbb{R}^+ .

Now notice that if $x_1, x_2 \in \widetilde{C}$ with $||x_1 - x_2||_{\infty} < \delta_{\varepsilon}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, then, again, two cases are possible. If $t \ge t_{\varepsilon}$, then, by (12),

$$\|Tx_{1}(t) - Tx_{2}(t)\|_{X} \le \|Tx_{1}(t)\|_{X} + \|Tx_{2}(t)\|_{X} \le 2g(t) < \varepsilon,$$
(20)

while for $t \le t_{\varepsilon}$, using (15), (17), (14), and (13),

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tx_{1}(t) - Tx_{2}(t)\|_{X} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\tau_{\varepsilon}} \|f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x_{2})(s)) \\ &\quad -f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x_{1})(s))\|_{X} ds \\ &\quad + \int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \|f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x_{1})(s))\|_{X} ds \\ &\quad + \int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} \|f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x_{2})(s))\|_{X} ds \\ &\quad < \tau_{\varepsilon} \frac{\varepsilon}{4\tau_{\varepsilon}} + 2h(\tau_{\varepsilon}) < \varepsilon, \end{aligned}$$

$$(21)$$

This proves that $||Tx_1 - Tx_2||_{\infty} < \varepsilon$, showing (b), that *T* is uniformly continuous on \widetilde{C} .

For the compactness of $T\widetilde{C}$ (\mathbb{R}^+) in *X*, it suffices to show that $T\widetilde{C}$ (\mathbb{R}^+) is totally bounded [13, page 298]; that is, for the given $\varepsilon > 0$ (so for any $\varepsilon > 0$) there exists a finite covering of $T\widetilde{C}$ (\mathbb{R}^+) with balls of radii not bigger than ε . Observe first that, by (12), $||Tx(t)||_X < \varepsilon/2$ for all $x \in \widetilde{C}$ and all $t \ge t_{\varepsilon}$, that is,

$$T\widetilde{C}\left([t_{\varepsilon},\infty)\right) \subseteq B_X\left(0,\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right).$$
 (22)

Now, in order to control the elements of $T\widetilde{C}([0, t_{\varepsilon}])$, observe that each of these can be decomposed as the sum of a "head" and a "tail,"

$$Tx(t) = -\int_{0}^{\tau_{\varepsilon}} f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s)) ds$$
$$-\int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} f(t, s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s)) ds, \qquad (23)$$
$$\forall x \in \widetilde{C} \text{ and all } t \in [0, t_{\varepsilon}].$$

The "head" can be approximated by Riemann sums, which, in turn, are nothing else but τ_{ε} times a convex linear combination of elements of $-f(B_{\varepsilon})$, that is, the "head" is an element of $\tau_{\varepsilon} \overline{\operatorname{co}}(-f(B_{\varepsilon}))$. By (16), $f(B_{\varepsilon})$ has compact closure in *X*, so by Mazur's theorem [14], $\overline{\operatorname{co}}(-f(B_{\varepsilon}))$ is compact, and therefore it can be covered with a finite number of balls, say B_1, \ldots, B_{ℓ} , of radii not bigger than $\varepsilon/(2\tau_{\varepsilon})$. This yields a finite covering of $\tau_{\varepsilon}\overline{\operatorname{co}}(-f(B_{\varepsilon}))$ with balls of radii not bigger than $\varepsilon/2$, precisely the collection $\{\tau_{\varepsilon}B_j\}_{j=1}^{\ell}$. On the other hand, by (14), the "tail" of each of the above integrals is bounded by

 $h(\tau_{\varepsilon}) < \varepsilon/4$, so they are elements of $B_X(0, \varepsilon/4)$. All this can be summarized as follows:

$$T\widetilde{C}\left(\left[0,t_{\varepsilon}\right]\right) \subseteq \tau_{\varepsilon}\overline{\operatorname{co}}\left(-f\left(B_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) + B_{X}\left(0,\frac{\varepsilon}{4}\right)$$
$$\subseteq \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell}\tau_{\varepsilon}B_{j}\right) + B_{X}\left(0,\frac{\varepsilon}{4}\right)$$
$$= \bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell}\left(\tau_{\varepsilon}B_{j} + B_{X}\left(0,\frac{\varepsilon}{4}\right)\right);$$
(24)

that is, $T\widetilde{C}([0, t_{\varepsilon}])$ can be covered with a finite collection of balls of radii smaller than ε , because each $\tau_{\varepsilon}B_j + B_X(0, \varepsilon/4)$ is readily seen to be a ball of radius not bigger than $3\varepsilon/4$.

At the end, by (22) and (24), we have

$$\widetilde{C}(\mathbb{R}^{+}) \subseteq T\widetilde{C}([0, t_{\varepsilon}]) \cup T\widetilde{C}([t_{\varepsilon}, \infty))$$
$$\subseteq \bigcup_{j=1}^{\ell} \left(\tau_{\varepsilon} B_{j} + B_{X}\left(0, \frac{\varepsilon}{4}\right)\right) \cup B_{X}\left(0, \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right);$$
(25)

that is, we have given a finite covering of $T\widetilde{C}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ with balls of radii not bigger than ε . With this we conclude (c) and, with all four assertions proved, the theorem too.

Coming back to the integral equation (2) underlying the differential equation (1), we just need to adapt the hypotheses presented above to the function $f(t, s, y_1, ..., y_N) =$ $(s - t)_{+}F(s, y_1, \ldots, y_N)$, to obtain a corresponding result on existence of solutions to (2) with asymptotic behavior given by $\omega(t)$. Notice that these hypotheses, (H0), (H1), and (H2), are natural generalizations from the 1-dimensional case. However, the proof in the abstract setting has shown many more properties for the operator T that needed in order to show the existence of a fixed point. This, somehow, is telling us that the hypotheses could be weakened. For the moment, we content ourselves noticing that, in (2), the corresponding hypothesis of uniform continuity on bounded sets is "not needed," because it will be "consequence" of the other hypotheses, and a little trick of changing the domain of definition of the operator. Thus, for our next result, we will be using the following hypothesis:

$$F: \mathbb{R}^+ \times X^N \longrightarrow X \text{ is continuous and} \tag{H0'}$$

maps bounded sets into relatively compact ones.

Also, instead of considering just the integral equation (2), we generalize a little bit to a convolution type integral equation,

$$y(t) = \omega(t) - \int_0^\infty q(t,s) \quad F(s,\Gamma(y)(s)) ds, \quad t \ge 0,$$

$$(E_1)$$

with a kernel q(t, s) satisfying the right properties for us. Observe that, when $q(t, s) = (s - t)_+$, and $0 \le t_1 \le t_2$,

$$q(t_{1},s) - q(t_{2},s) = (s - t_{1})_{+} - (s - t_{2})_{+}$$

$$= \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } 0 \le s \le t_{1} \\ s - t_{1} & \text{if } t_{1} \le s \le t_{2} \\ t_{2} - t_{1} & \text{if } t_{2} \le s \end{cases}$$

$$\le t_{2} - t_{1}.$$
(26)

That is, q(t, s) satisfies a Lipschitz condition on the first variable, independent of the second. Actually, much less is needed, just continuity of q(t, s) suffices.

Theorem 3. Let $\omega, \gamma_j, j = 1, ..., N$, Γ be as for Theorem 1, and let $q : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Under hypotheses (H0'), (H1), and (H2) (where $f(t, s, y_1, ..., y_N) =$ $q(t, s) F(s, y_1, ..., y_N)$), the integral equation (E_1) has a solution y(t) asymptotically equal to $\omega(t)$ as $t \to \infty$.

Remark 4. Observe, as in [7], that if the kernel *q* is the one we started with, $q(t, s) = (s - t)_+$, then hypothesis (H2) is redundant, because in that case, if $s \ge \tau$, we always have, for $\tau \le t$, $(s - t)_+ \le (s - \tau)_+ \le 2(s - \tau/2)_+$, and for $\tau > t$,

$$(s-t)_{+} = s-t \le s \le 2\left(s-\frac{\tau}{2}\right) = 2\left(s-\frac{\tau}{2}\right)_{+}.$$
 (27)

Consequently, from hypothesis (H1), taking $h(\tau) = 3g(\tau/2)$, we have $h(\tau) \rightarrow 0$ as $\tau \rightarrow \infty$, and

$$\int_{\tau}^{\infty} (s-t)_{+} \|F(s,\Gamma(y)(s))\|_{X} ds$$

$$\leq 3g\left(\frac{\tau}{2}\right) = h(\tau), \quad \forall \tau, t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}, \forall y \in C.$$
(28)

In general, hypothesis (H2) is superfluous whenever there exist constants, $a \in (0, 1)$ and A > 1, such that

$$|q(t,s)| \le A |q(a \tau, s)|, \quad \forall t, s, \tau \in \mathbb{R}^+, \text{ with } s \ge \tau.$$
(29)

Proof of Theorem 3. We proceed as before. Consider initially the same nonempty, bounded, closed, and convex subset \widetilde{C} as before, as well as the same operator T. The idea is to find a fixed point for T using the Schauder fixed point theorem. For that, we start repeating the same scheme of four assertions established in the previous theorem. The two assertions that do not depend on the uniform continuity of f on bounded sets are done the same way as before; hence we omit their proofs. These are (c), that $T\widetilde{C}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ is compact in X, and (d), that uniform convergence on compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^+ of a sequence in \widetilde{C} turns into actual uniform convergence on \mathbb{R}^+ .

Let us now prove (a), that $T\widetilde{C}$ is uniformly equicontinuous on \mathbb{R}^+ . This will finish showing that $T\widetilde{C} \subseteq \widetilde{C}$, and, by (c), (d), and the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, that $T\widetilde{C}$ has compact closure in $\mathscr{C}_b(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$.

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be fixed. Find, as before, $t_{\varepsilon} > 0$, $\tau_{\varepsilon} > 0$, and D_{ε} bounded subset of X^N , so as to satisfy (8), (12), (13), (14), and

(15). Now, observe that $[0, \tau_{\varepsilon}] \times D_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded in $\mathbb{R}^+ \times X^N$, so by (H0'), $F([0, \tau_{\varepsilon}] \times D_{\varepsilon})$ is relatively compact in *X*; hence there exists $M_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\|F(s,\Gamma(\omega+x)(s))\|_{X} \le M_{\varepsilon}, \quad \forall s \in [0,\tau_{\varepsilon}], \forall x \in \widetilde{C}.$$
(30)

Notice now that *q* is uniformly continuous on $R_{\varepsilon} = [0, t_{\varepsilon} + 1] \times [0, \tau_{\varepsilon}]$. So there is $\delta_{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$ such that, whenever (t_1, s_1) and (t_2, s_2) are in R_{ε} with $|t_1 - t_2| < \delta$ and $|s_1 - s_2| < \delta$, then

$$\left|q\left(t_{1},s_{1}\right)-q\left(t_{2},s_{2}\right)\right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{4\tau_{\varepsilon}M_{\varepsilon}}.$$
(31)

Now take $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with $|t_1 - t_2| < \delta_{\varepsilon}$ and, without loss of generality, assume that $t_1 \leq t_2$. Then again, several cases are possible. If $t_2 \geq t_{\varepsilon} + 1$, then, as $\delta_{\varepsilon} < 1$, $t_2 \geq t_1 > t_2 - \delta_{\varepsilon} > t_{\varepsilon} + 1 - 1 = t_{\varepsilon}$, and so, by (12),

$$\|Tx(t_1) - Tx(t_2)\|_X \le \|Tx(t_1)\|_X + \|Tx(t_2)\|_X < \varepsilon,$$

$$\forall x \in \widetilde{C}.$$
(32)

If, on the other hand, $t_2 \le t_{\varepsilon} + 1$, then, by (31), (30), and (14), we have, for any $x \in \widetilde{C}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tx(t_{1}) - Tx(t_{2})\|_{X} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\tau_{\varepsilon}} |q(t_{2}, s) - q(t_{1}, s)| \\ &\times \|F(s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s))\|_{X} ds \\ &+ \int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} |q(t_{1}, s)| \|F(s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s))\|_{X} ds \end{aligned}$$
(33)
$$&+ \int_{\tau_{\varepsilon}}^{\infty} |q(t_{2}, s)| \|F(s, \Gamma(\omega + x)(s))\|_{X} ds \\ &< \frac{\varepsilon}{4\tau_{\varepsilon} M_{\varepsilon}} M_{\varepsilon} \tau_{\varepsilon} + 2 \frac{\varepsilon}{4} < \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

This proves the uniform equicontinuity of $T\widetilde{C}$ over \mathbb{R}^+ .

To finish the proof, we have to prove (b), that T is uniformly continuous. It is here that we restrict the domain of definition of T. Observe that $\overline{co}(T\widetilde{C})$ is nonempty, closed and convex. Also, $\overline{co}(T\widetilde{C}) \subseteq \widetilde{C}$ because $T\widetilde{C} \subseteq \widetilde{C}$ and \widetilde{C} is closed and convex. More is true, since $T\widetilde{C}$ has compact closure, then, by Mazur's Theorem, $\overline{co}(T\widetilde{C})$ is compact too. One more thing, T leaves invariant $\overline{co}(T\widetilde{C})$:

$$\overline{\operatorname{co}}\left(T\widetilde{C}\right)\subseteq\widetilde{C}\Longrightarrow T\left(\overline{\operatorname{co}}\left(T\widetilde{C}\right)\right)\subseteq T\widetilde{C}\subseteq\overline{\operatorname{co}}\left(T\widetilde{C}\right).$$
(34)

With all of this, it suffices to prove that T is continuous on this new T-invariant set. Let us prove that, indeed, Tis uniformly continuous on $\overline{co}(T\widetilde{C})$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Find that $t_{\varepsilon} > 0$ and $\tau_{\varepsilon} > 0$ as before, so as to satisfy (8), (12), (13), and (14). The continuity of ω and the γ_j 's, $j = 1, \ldots, N$, and the compactness of $\overline{co}(T\widetilde{C})$ tells us that $D_{\varepsilon} = \{\Gamma(\omega + x)(s) : s \in [0, \tau_{\varepsilon}], x \in \overline{co}(T\widetilde{C})\}$ is a compact subset of X^N , giving us the opportunity to say that *F* is uniformly continuous on $[0, \tau_{\varepsilon}] \times D_{\varepsilon}$ and, consequently, that $f(t, s, y_1, \dots, y_N) = q(t, s) F(s, y_1, \dots, y_N)$ is uniformly continuous on $B_{\varepsilon} := [0, t_{\varepsilon} + 1] \times [0, \tau_{\varepsilon}] \times D_{\varepsilon}$. So there exists $\delta_{\varepsilon} \in (0, 1)$ such that, for $(t_1, s_1, y_{1,1}, \dots, y_{N,1}) \in B_{\varepsilon}$ and $(t_2, s_2, y_{1,2}, \dots, y_{N,2}) \in B_{\varepsilon}$ with $|t_1 - t_2| < \delta_{\varepsilon}, |s_1 - s_2| < \delta_{\varepsilon}$, and $||y_{i,1} - y_{i,2}||_x < \delta_{\varepsilon}, j = 1, \dots, N$, then

$$\|f(t_1, s_1, y_{1,1}, \dots, y_{N,1}) - f(t_2, s_2, y_{1,2}, \dots, y_{N,2})\|_X < \frac{\varepsilon}{4\tau_{\varepsilon}}.$$
(35)

Now, it is a matter of repeating the same steps as was done in Theorem 1 to prove the uniform continuity of T.

This concludes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Remark 5. Instead of working with functions defined on \mathbb{R}^+ , we could have worked with functions defined on any interval of the type $[t_0, \infty)$, obtaining a result completely similar. Also, many times, one is just interested in giving partial solutions; that is, solutions defined not on the whole interval $[t_0, \infty)$, but on some other interval $[t_1, \infty)$ with $t_1 \ge t_0$.

Next, we just mention an easy result on the existence of solutions of the underlying differential equation, just to illustrate the type of functions F that could generate a condition like (H1). This result is inspired from [7, Thm. 2] and [8, Thm. 1].

Theorem 6. Let $F : \mathbb{R}^+ \times X^N \to X$ be a continuous function mapping bounded sets into relatively compact ones, such that,

$$\|F(t, y_1, \dots, y_N)\|_X \le \psi(t),$$

$$\forall t \in \mathbb{R}^+, \,\forall (y_1, \dots, y_N) \in X^N,$$
(36)

where

$$\psi: \mathbb{R}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+, \text{ satisfies } \int_0^\infty s\psi(s) \, ds < \infty.$$
 (37)

Let also $\{\gamma_j\}_{i=1}^N$ *be a set of continuous functions from* \mathbb{R}^+ *to* \mathbb{R}^+ *.*

Then, for any $\omega \in \mathscr{C}^2(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$, (1) has a solution $y \in \mathscr{C}^2(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$ with $y(t) - \omega(t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$.

Proof. Take $\omega \in \mathscr{C}^2(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$, consider the corresponding integral equation (2), and define

$$g(t) = \int_{t}^{\infty} s\psi(s) \, ds, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(38)

Observe that, by (37), $g(t) \rightarrow 0$ as $t \rightarrow \infty$. This allows us to consider the set

$$C = \left\{ y \in \mathscr{C} \left(\mathbb{R}^+, X \right) : \left\| y \left(t \right) - \omega \left(t \right) \right\|_X \le g \left(t \right), \ t \ge 0 \right\},\tag{39}$$

which, adopting the notation used throughout the paper, gives by (36), for $y \in C$ and $t \ge 0$,

$$\int_{t}^{\infty} \left\| (s-t) F(s, \Gamma(y)(s)) \right\|_{X} ds \leq \int_{t}^{\infty} (s-t) \psi(s) ds \leq g(t).$$

$$\tag{40}$$

With this, Theorem 3 applies (hypothesis (H2) need not be verified by Remark 4) and then there exists $y \in \mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}^+, X)$, solution of (2) with $y(t) - \omega(t) \rightarrow 0$ as $t \rightarrow \infty$. Finally, it is just an exercise to check that y is twice continuously differentiable and that satisfies the differential equation (1).

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

Research partially supported by the Spanish (Grant MTM2011-25502) and regional Andalusian (Grants FQM210 and P09-FQM4468) Governments.

References

- F. V. Atkinson, "On second order nonlinear oscillation," *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 5, pp. 643–647, 1955.
- [2] A. Constantin, "On the existence of positive solutions of second order differential equations," *Annali di Matematica Pura ed Applicata. Series IV*, vol. 184, no. 2, pp. 131–138, 2005.
- [3] S. G. Dubé and A. B. Mingarelli, "Note on a non-oscillation theorem of Atkinson," *Electronic Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 2004, article 22, 6 pages, 2004, http://ejde.math.txstate.edu.
- [4] M. Ehrnström, "Positive solutions for second-order nonlinear differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 1608–1620, 2006.
- [5] M. Ehrnström, "Linear asymptotic behaviour of second order ordinary differential equations," *Glasgow Mathematical Journal*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 105–120, 2007.
- [6] C. González and A. Jiménez-Melado, "Existence of monotonic asymptotically constant solutions for second order differential equations," *Glasgow Mathematical Journal*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 515–523, 2007.
- [7] C. González and A. Jiménez-Melado, "Asymptotic behavior of solutions to an integral equation underlying a second-order differential equation," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 70, no. 2, pp. 822–829, 2009.
- [8] O. Lipovan, "On the asymptotic behaviour of the solutions to a class of second order nonlinear differential equations," *Glasgow Mathematical Journal*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 179–187, 2003.
- [9] O. G. Mustafa and Y. V. Rogovchenko, "Global existence of solutions with prescribed asymptotic behavior for second-order nonlinear differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 339–368, 2002.
- [10] E. Wahlén, "Positive solutions of second-order differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 58, no. 3-4, pp. 359–366, 2004.
- [11] G. E. Ladas and V. Lakshmikantham, Differential Equations in Abstract Spaces, vol. 85 of Mathematics in Science and Engineering, Academic Press, New York, NY, USA, 1972.
- [12] E. Zeidler, Nonlinear Functional Analysis and Its Applications. I, Fixed-Point Theorems, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 1986, Translated from the German by P. R. Wadsack.

- [13] J. Dugundji, *Topology*, Allyn and Bacon, Boston, Mass, USA, 1966.
- [14] S. Mazur, "Uber die kleinste konvexe Menge, die eine gegebene kompakte Menge enthalt," *Studia Mathematica*, vol. 2, pp. 7–9, 1930.

Research Article

Stability and Global Hopf Bifurcation Analysis on a Ratio-Dependent Predator-Prey Model with Two Time Delays

Huitao Zhao,^{1,2} Yiping Lin,¹ and Yunxian Dai¹

¹ Department of Applied Mathematics, Kunming University of Science and Technology, Kunming, Yunnan 650093, China ² Department of Mathematics and Information Science, Zhoukou Normal University, Zhoukou, Henan 466001, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Yiping Lin; linyiping689@sohu.com

Received 4 September 2013; Revised 3 November 2013; Accepted 5 November 2013

Academic Editor: István Györi

Copyright © 2013 Huitao Zhao et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

A ratio-dependent predator-prey model with two time delays is studied. By means of an iteration technique, sufficient conditions are obtained for the global attractiveness of the positive equilibrium. By comparison arguments, the global stability of the semitrivial equilibrium is addressed. By using the theory of functional equation and Hopf bifurcation, the conditions on which positive equilibrium exists and the quality of Hopf bifurcation are given. Using a global Hopf bifurcation result of Wu (1998) for functional differential equations, the global existence of the periodic solutions is obtained. Finally, an example for numerical simulations is also included.

1. Introduction

The main purpose of this paper is to investigate the bifurcation phenomena from the delays for the following predatorprey system:

$$\dot{x}(t) = x(t) \left[r_1 - a_{11}x(t) - \frac{a_{12}x(t)y(t - \tau_2)}{my^2(t - \tau_2) + x^2(t)} \right],$$

$$\dot{y}(t) = \frac{a_{21}x^2(t - \tau_1)y(t)}{my^2(t) + x^2(t - \tau_1)} - r_2y(t),$$
(1)

where x(t) and y(t) stand for the population (or density) of the prey and the predator at time t, respectively. From the biological sense, we assume that $x^2 + y^2 \neq 0$. $r_1, r_2, a_{11}, a_{12}, a_{21}$, and m are positive constants, in which r_1 denotes the intrinsic growth rate of the prey, a_{11} is the intraspecific competition rate of the prey, a_{12} is the capturing rate of the predator, a_{21}/a_{12} describes the efficiency of the predator in converting consumed prey into predator offspring, m is the interference coefficient of the predators, and r_2 is the predator mortality rate. The delay $\tau_1 \geq 0$ denotes the gestation period of the predator; $\tau_2 \geq 0$ is the hunting delay of the predator to prey. This model is labeled "ratio-dependent," which means that the functional and numerical responses depend on the densities of both prey and predators, especially when predator has to search for food. Such a functional response is called a ratio-dependent response function (see [1] for more details). In system (1), the ratio-dependent response function is of the form $g(x/y) = c(x/y)^2/(m + (x/y)^2) = cx^2/(my^2 + x^2)$.

The ratio-dependent predator-prey model has been studied by several researchers recently and very rich dynamics have been observed [2–5]. For example, Xu et al. [4] studied a delayed ratio-dependent predator-prey model with the same ratio-dependent response function of system (1). By means of an iteration technique, they obtained the sufficient conditions for the global attractiveness of the positive equilibrium. By comparison arguments, they proved the global stability of the semitrivial equilibrium. Finally using the theory of functional equation and Hopf bifurcation, they gave the condition on which positive equilibrium exists and the formulae to determine the quality of Hopf bifurcation. But in their work, the global continuation of local Hopf bifurcation was not mentioned.

In general, periodic solutions through the Hopf bifurcation in delay differential equations are local for the values of parameters which are only in a small neighborhood of the critical values (see, e.g., [6, 7]). Therefore we would like to know if these nonconstant periodic solutions obtained through local bifurcation can continue for a large range of parameter values. Recently, a great deal of research has been devoted to the topics [8–12]. One of the methods used in them is the global Hopf bifurcation theorem by Wu [13]. For example, Song et al. [12] studied a predator-prey system with two delays, and using the methods in [13], they get the global existence of periodic solutions.

Motivated by [12], we will study the system (1); special attention is paid to the global continuation of local Hopf bifurcation. We suppose that the initial condition for system (1) takes the form

$$\begin{aligned} x\left(\theta\right) &= \phi\left(\theta\right), \quad y\left(\theta\right) &= \psi\left(\theta\right), \quad \phi\left(\theta\right) \geq 0, \quad \psi\left(\theta\right) \geq 0, \\ \theta \in \left[-\tau, 0\right] \left(\tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2\right), \quad \phi\left(0\right) > 0, \quad \psi\left(0\right) > 0, \end{aligned}$$
(2)

where $(\phi(\theta), \psi(\theta)) \in \mathcal{C}([-\tau, 0], \mathbf{R}^2_{+0})$, which is the Banach space of continuous functions mapping the interval $[-\tau, 0]$ into \mathbf{R}^2_{+0} , where $\mathbf{R}^2_{+0} = \{(x, y) \mid x \ge 0, y \ge 0\}$.

By the fundamental theory of functional differential equations [14], system (1) has a unique solution (x(t), y(t)) satisfying initial condition (2).

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we show the positivity and the boundedness of solutions of system (1) with initial condition (2). In Section 3, we study the existence of Hopf bifurcation for system (1) at the positive equilibrium. In Section 4, using the normal form theory and the center manifold reduction, explicit formulae are derived to determine the direction of bifurcation and the stability and other properties of bifurcating periodic solutions. In Section 5, by means of an iteration technique, sufficient conditions are obtained for the global attractiveness of the positive equilibrium. In Section 6, we consider the global existence of bifurcating periodic solutions and give some numerical simulations. In Section 7, a brief discussion is given.

2. Positivity and Boundedness

In this section, we study the positivity and boundedness of solutions of system (1) with initial conditions (2).

Theorem 1. Solutions of system (1) with initial condition (2) are positive for all $t \ge 0$.

Proof. Assume (x(t), y(t)) to be a solution of system (1) with initial condition (2). Let us consider y(t) for $t \ge 0$. It follows from the second equation of system (1) that

$$y(t) = y(0) e^{\int_0^t ((a_{21}x^2(s-\tau_1)/my^2(s)+x^2(s-\tau_1))-r_2)ds};$$
(3)

 \square

then, from initial condition (2), we have y(t) > 0, for $t \ge 0$. We derive from the first equation of system (1) that

$$x(t) = x(0) e^{\int_0^t (r_1 - a_{11}x(s) - (a_{12}x(s)y(s - \tau_2)/my^2(s - \tau_2) + x^2(s)))ds}; \quad (4)$$

that is, x(t) > 0 for $t \ge 0$. This ends the proof.

For the following discussion of boundedness, we first consider the following ordinary differential equation:

$$\dot{u} = \frac{a_{21}A_1^2 u(t)}{m u^2(t) + A_1^2} - r_2 u(t), \quad u(0) > 0, \tag{5}$$

where a_{21} , r_2 , A_1 , and m are positive constants. From Lemma 2.1 in [5], it is easy to verify the following result.

Lemma 2. If $a_{21} < r_2$, the trivial equilibrium $u^0 = 0$ of (5) is globally stable. If $a_{21} > r_2$, then (5) admits a unique positive equilibrium $u^* = \sqrt{(a_{21} - r_2)/mr_2}A_1$ which is globally asymptotically stable in $\Lambda = \{u \mid u \ge 0\}$.

Theorem 3. *Positive solutions of system* (1) *with initial condition* (2) *are ultimately bounded.*

Proof. Let (x(t), y(t)) be a positive solution of system (1) with initial condition (2). From the first equation of system (1), we have

$$\dot{x}(t) \le x(t) [r_1 - a_{11}x(t)],$$
(6)

which yields

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} x(t) \le \frac{r_1}{a_{11}};\tag{7}$$

hence, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there is a $T_1 > 0$ such that if $t > T_1$, $x(t) < (r_1/a_{11}) + \epsilon$.

We now consider the boundedness of y(t). If $a_{21} \le r_2$, we derive from the second equation of system (1) that

$$\dot{y}(t) \le (a_{21} - r_2) y(t) \le 0;$$
 (8)

from monotone bounded theorem, it is easy to show that $\lim_{t \to +\infty} y(t) \le y(0)$.

Therefore, we assume below that $a_{21} > r_2$. We derive from the second equation of system (1) that, for $t > T_1 + \tau$,

$$\dot{y}(t) \le \frac{a_{21}(r_1/a_{11} + \epsilon)^2 y(t)}{my^2(t) + (r_1/a_{11} + \epsilon)^2} - r_2 y(t); \qquad (9)$$

noting that $a_{21} > r_2$, by Lemma 2, a comparison argument shows that

$$\limsup_{t \to +\infty} y(t) \le \sqrt{\frac{a_{21} - r_2}{mr_2}} \left(\frac{r_1}{a_{11}} + \epsilon\right). \tag{10}$$

This completes the proof.

3. Local Stability and Hopf Bifurcation

In this section, we discuss the local stability of the positive equilibrium and the semitrivial equilibrium of system (1) and establish the existence of Hopf bifurcation at the positive equilibrium. It is easy to show that system (1) always has a semitrivial equilibrium $E_1(r_1/a_{11}, 0)$. Further, if the following condition holds:

(H1)
$$r_1^2 a_{21}^2 m > a_{12}^2 r_2 (a_{21} - r_2) > 0$$
,

then system (1) has a unique positive equilibrium $E^*(x^*, y^*)$, where

$$x^* = \frac{r_1 a_{21} - r_2 a_{12} h}{a_{11} a_{21}}, \quad y^* = h x^*,$$
 (11)

where

$$h = \sqrt{\frac{a_{21} - r_2}{mr_2}}.$$
 (12)

For convenience, let us introduce new variables $X(t) = x(t - \tau_1), Y(t) = y(t), \tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2$, rewriting X(t), Y(t) as x(t), y(t), so that system (1) can be written as the following system with a single delay:

$$\dot{x}(t) = x(t) \left[r_1 - a_{11}x(t) - \frac{a_{12}x(t)y(t-\tau)}{my^2(t-\tau) + x^2(t)} \right],$$

$$\dot{y}(t) = \frac{a_{21}x^2(t)y(t)}{my^2(t) + x^2(t)} - r_2y(t).$$
(13)

Clearly, system (13) has the same equilibrium as system (1).

The characteristic equation of system (13) at the semitrivial equilibrium $E_1(r_1/a_{11}, 0)$ is of the form

$$(\lambda + r_1)(\lambda + r_2 - a_{21}) = 0.$$
(14)

Clearly, (14) always has a root $\lambda = -r_1$, and if $a_{21} < r_2$, the other root of (14) is negative; if $a_{21} > r_2$, the other root of (14) is positive. Hence the semitrivial equilibrium $E_1(r_1/a_{11}, 0)$ is locally asymptotically stable (unstable) if $a_{21} < r_2$ ($a_{21} > r_2$).

The characteristic equation of system (13) at the positive equilibrium $E^*(x^*, y^*)$ is of the form

$$\lambda^{2} + p_{0}\lambda + p_{1} + p_{2}e^{-\lambda\tau} = 0, \qquad (15)$$

where

$$p_{0} = r_{1} - \frac{2a_{12}r_{2}^{2}h}{a_{21}^{2}} + \frac{2r_{2}(a_{21} - r_{2})}{a_{21}},$$

$$p_{1} = \left(r_{1} - \frac{2a_{12}r_{2}^{2}h}{a_{21}^{2}}\right)\frac{2r_{2}(a_{21} - r_{2})}{a_{21}},$$

$$p_{2} = \frac{2a_{12}r_{2}^{2}h(2r_{2} - a_{21})(a_{21} - r_{2})}{a_{21}^{3}},$$
(16)

where h is defined as (12).

When $\tau = 0$, (15) becomes

$$\lambda^2 + p_0 \lambda + p_1 + p_2 = 0.$$
 (17)

It is easy to show that

$$p_1 + p_2 = \frac{2r_2(a_{21} - r_2)(r_1a_{21} - a_{12}r_2h)}{a_{21}^2}.$$
 (18)

Obviously, if (H1) holds, then $p_1 + p_2 > 0$. Hence, the positive equilibrium $E^*(x^*, y^*)$ of system (13) is locally stable when $\tau = 0$ if

$$r_1 > \frac{2a_{12}r_2^2h}{a_{21}^2} - \frac{2r_2(a_{21} - r_2)}{a_{21}},$$
(19)

and it is unstable when $\tau = 0$ if

$$r_1 < \frac{2a_{12}r_2^2h}{a_{21}^2} - \frac{2r_2(a_{21} - r_2)}{a_{21}}.$$
 (20)

We assume that $\lambda = i\omega(\omega > 0)$ is a root of (15); this is the case if and only if ω satisfies the following equation:

$$-\omega^2 + p_0 \omega i + p_1 + p_2 e^{-i\omega\tau} = 0.$$
 (21)

Separating the real and imaginary parts, we obtain the following system for ω :

$$p_2 \cos \omega \tau = \omega^2 - p_1,$$

$$p_2 \sin \omega \tau = p_0 \omega.$$
(22)

It follows that

$$\omega^{4} + \left(p_{0}^{2} - 2p_{1}\right)\omega^{2} + p_{1}^{2} - p_{2}^{2} = 0.$$
(23)

Letting $z = \omega^2$, (42) becomes

$$z^{2} + \left(p_{0}^{2} - 2p_{1}\right)z + p_{1}^{2} - p_{2}^{2} = 0.$$
 (24)

By a direct calculation, it follows that

$$p_{0}^{2} - 2p_{1} = \left(r_{1} - \frac{2a_{12}r_{2}^{2}h}{a_{21}^{2}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{2r_{2}\left(a_{21} - r_{2}\right)}{a_{21}}\right)^{2} > 0,$$

$$p_{1} - p_{2} = \frac{2r_{2}\left(a_{21} - r_{2}\right)}{a_{21}}\left(r_{1} - \frac{4a_{12}r_{2}^{2}h + a_{12}a_{21}r_{2}h}{a_{21}^{2}}\right).$$
(25)

Note that if (H1) holds, then $p_1 + p_2 > 0$. Hence if (H1) and $p_1 - p_2 > 0$ hold, (24) has no positive roots. Accordingly, if (H1) and $p_1 - p_2 > 0$ hold, the positive equilibrium E^* of system (13) exists and is locally asymptotically stable for all $\tau \ge 0$. If (H1) and $p_1 - p_2 < 0$ hold, then (24) has a unique positive root ω_0 , where

$$\omega_0^2 = \frac{1}{2} \left(2p_1 - p_0^2 + \sqrt{p_0^4 - 4p_0^2 p_1 + 4p_2^2} \right).$$
(26)

Then, we can get

$$\tau_n = \frac{1}{\omega_0} \arccos \frac{\omega_0^2 - p_1}{p_2} + \frac{2n\pi}{\omega_0}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$
(27)

at which (15) admits a pair of purely imaginary roots of the form $\pm \omega_0$.

Let $p_1 - p_2 < 0$ and τ_0 be defined above. Denote

$$\lambda(\tau) = \alpha(\tau) + i\omega(\tau) \tag{28}$$

the root of (15) satisfying

$$\alpha\left(\tau_{n}\right)=0,\qquad\omega\left(\tau_{n}\right)=\omega_{0}.$$
(29)

It is not difficult to verify that the following result holds.
Lemma 4. If (H1) and $p_1 - p_2 < 0$ hold, the transversal condition $(d(\operatorname{Re} \lambda)/d\tau)|_{\tau=\tau_n} > 0$ holds.

Proof. Differentiating (15) with respect τ , we obtain that

$$2\lambda \frac{d\lambda}{d\tau} + p_0 \frac{d\lambda}{d\tau} - p_2 \tau e^{-\lambda \tau} \frac{d\lambda}{d\tau} = p_2 \lambda e^{-\lambda \tau}; \qquad (30)$$

it follows that

$$\left(\frac{d\lambda}{d\tau}\right)^{-1} = \frac{2\lambda + p_0}{-\lambda p_2 e^{-\lambda \tau}} - \frac{\tau}{\lambda};$$
(31)

from (15) and (31), we have

$$\left(\frac{d\lambda}{d\tau}\right)^{-1} = \frac{2\lambda + p_0}{-\lambda\left(\lambda^2 + p_0\lambda + p_1\right)} - \frac{\tau}{\lambda}.$$
 (32)

We therefore derive that

$$\operatorname{sign}\left\{\frac{d\left(\operatorname{Re}\lambda\right)}{d\tau}\Big|_{\tau=\tau_{n}}\right\}$$

$$=\operatorname{sign}\left\{\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{d\lambda}{d\tau}\right)^{-1}\Big|_{\tau=\tau_{n}}\right\}$$

$$=\operatorname{sign}\left\{\operatorname{Re}\left[\frac{2\lambda+p_{0}}{-\lambda\left(\lambda^{2}+p_{0}\lambda+p_{1}\right)}\right]_{\tau=\tau_{n}}\right\}$$

$$=\operatorname{sign}\left\{\frac{\omega_{0}^{2}\left(p_{0}^{2}-2p_{1}+\omega_{0}^{2}\right)}{\omega_{0}^{4}p_{0}^{2}+\left(\omega_{0}p_{1}-\omega_{0}^{3}\right)^{2}}\right\}.$$
(33)

Noting that $p_0^2 - 2p_1 > 0$, hence, if (H1) and $p_1 - p_2 < 0$ hold, we have $(d(\operatorname{Re} \lambda)/d\tau)|_{\tau=\tau_n} > 0$. Accordingly, the transversal condition holds and a Hopf bifurcation occurs at $\tau = \tau_n$.

By Lemma B in [5], we have the following results.

Theorem 5. *Suppose (H1) holds and let h be defined in (12), for system (13), one has the following.*

- (i) If $r_1 > (2a_{12}r_2^2h/a_{21}^2) (2r_2(a_{21} r_2)/a_{21})$ and $r_1 > (4a_{12}r_2^2h + a_{12}a_{21}r_2h)/a_{21}^2$, then the positive equilibrium E^* is locally asymptotically stable for all $\tau \ge 0$.
- (ii) If $r_1 > (2a_{12}r_2^2h/a_{21}^2) (2r_2(a_{21} r_2)/a_{21})$ and $r_1 < (4a_{12}r_2^2h + a_{12}a_{21}r_2h)/a_{21}^2$, then there exists a positive number τ_0 such that the positive equilibrium E^* is locally asymptotically stable if $\tau \in [0, \tau_0)$ and is unstable if $\tau > \tau_0$. Further, system (13) undergoes a Hopf bifurcation at E^* when $\tau = \tau_0$.

4. Direction and Stability of Hopf Bifurcations

In Section 3, we have shown that system (13) admits a periodic solution bifurcated from the positive equilibrium E^* at the critical value τ_0 . In this section, we derive explicit formulae to determine the direction of Hopf bifurcations and stability of periodic solutions bifurcated from the positive equilibrium

 E^* at critical value τ_0 by using the normal form theory and the center manifold reduction (see, e.g., [15, 16]).

Set $\tau = \tau_0 + \mu$; then $\mu = 0$ is a Hopf bifurcation value of system (13). Thus we can consider the problem above in the phase space $\mathscr{C} = \mathscr{C}([-\tau, 0], \mathbf{R}^2)$.

Let $u_1(t) = x(t) - x^*$, $u_2(t) = y(t) - y^*$. System (13) is transformed into

$$\dot{u}_{1}(t) = c_{1}u_{1}(t) + c_{4}u_{2}(t-\tau) + \sum_{i+j\geq 2} \frac{1}{i!j!} f_{ij}^{(1)} u_{1}^{i}(t) u_{2}^{j}(t-\tau),$$
(34)
$$\dot{u}_{2}(t) = c_{2}u_{1}(t) + c_{3}u_{2}(t) + \sum_{i+j\geq 2} \frac{1}{i!j!} f_{ij}^{(2)} u_{1}^{i}(t) u_{2}^{j}(t),$$

where

$$c_{1} = -r_{1} + \frac{2a_{12}r_{2}^{2}h}{a_{21}^{2}}, \qquad c_{2} = \frac{2r_{2}h(a_{21} - r_{2})}{a_{21}},$$

$$c_{3} = -r_{2} + \frac{r_{2}(2r_{2} - a_{21})}{a_{21}}, \qquad c_{4} = -\frac{a_{12}r_{2}(2r_{2} - a_{21})}{a_{21}^{2}},$$

$$f^{(1)} = x(t) \left[r_{1} - a_{11}x(t) - \frac{a_{12}x(t)y(t - \tau)}{my^{2}(t - \tau) + x^{2}(t)} \right],$$

$$f^{(2)} = \frac{a_{21}x^{2}(t)y(t)}{my^{2}(t) + x^{2}(t)} - r_{2}y(t),$$

$$f^{(1)}_{ij} = \frac{\partial^{i+j}f^{(1)}}{\partial x^{i}\partial y(t - \tau)^{j}} \Big|_{(x^{*}, y^{*})},$$

$$f^{(2)}_{ij} = \frac{\partial^{i+j}f^{(1)}}{\partial x^{i}\partial y^{j}} \Big|_{(x^{*}, y^{*})}, \qquad i, j \ge 0.$$
(35)

For the simplicity of notations, we rewrite (34) as

$$\dot{u}(t) = L_{\mu}u_t + f(\mu, u_t), \qquad (36)$$

where $u(t) = (u_1(t), u_1(t))^T \in \mathbf{R}^2$, $u_t(\theta) \in \mathcal{C}$ is defined by $u_t(\theta) = u(t+\theta)$, and $L_{\mu} : \mathcal{C} \to \mathbf{R}$, $f : \mathbf{R} \times \mathcal{C} \to \mathbf{R}$ are given, respectively, by

$$L_{\mu}\phi = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 & 0\\ c_2 & c_3 \end{bmatrix} \phi(0) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & c_4\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \phi(-\tau), \qquad (37)$$

$$f(\mu,\phi) = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{i+j\geq 2} \frac{1}{i!\,j!} f_{ij}^{(1)} \phi_1^i(t) \phi_2^j(t-\tau) \\ \sum_{i+j\geq 2} \frac{1}{i!\,j!} f_{ij}^{(2)} \phi_1^i(t) \phi_2^j(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (38)

By the Riesz representation theorem, there exists a function $\eta(\theta, \mu)$ of bounded variation for $\theta \in [-\tau, 0]$ such that

$$L_{\mu}\phi = \int_{-\tau}^{0} d\eta (\theta, \mu) \phi (\theta), \quad \text{for } \phi \in \mathcal{C}.$$
(39)

Abstract and Applied Analysis

In fact, we can choose

$$\eta\left(\theta,\mu\right) = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 & 0\\ c_2 & c_3 \end{bmatrix} \delta\left(\theta\right) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & c_4\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \delta\left(\theta + \tau\right), \quad (40)$$

where δ is the Dirac delta function. For $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^1([-\tau, 0], \mathbf{R}^2)$, define

$$A(\mu)\phi = \begin{cases} \frac{d\phi(\theta)}{d\theta}, & \theta \in [-\tau, 0), \\ \int_{-\tau}^{0} d\eta(s, \mu)\phi(s), & \theta = 0, \end{cases}$$
(41)
$$R(\mu)\phi = \begin{cases} 0, & \theta \in [-\tau, 0), \\ f(\mu, \phi), & \theta = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then when $\theta = 0$, system (36) is equivalent to

$$\dot{u}_t = A\left(\mu\right)u_t + R\left(\mu\right)u_t,\tag{42}$$

where $u_t(\theta) = u(t + \theta)$ for $\theta \in [-\tau, 0]$. For $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^1([0, \tau], (\mathbf{R}^2)^*)$, define

$$A^{*}\psi(s) = \begin{cases} -\frac{d\psi(s)}{ds}, & s \in (0,\tau], \\ \int_{-\tau}^{0} d\eta^{T}(t,0)\psi(-t), & s = 0, \end{cases}$$
(43)

and a bilinear inner product,

$$\langle \psi(s), \phi(\theta) \rangle = \overline{\psi}(0) \phi(0)$$

$$- \int_{-\tau}^{0} \int_{\xi=0}^{\theta} \overline{\psi}(\xi-\theta) \, d\eta(\theta) \phi(\xi) \, d\xi,$$
(44)

where $\eta(\theta) = \eta(\theta, 0)$ and $\overline{(\cdot)}$ denotes the conjugate complex of (\cdot) . Then A(0) and A^* are adjoint operators. By the discussion in Section 3, we know that $\pm i\omega_0$ are eigenvalues of A(0). Thus, they are also eigenvalues of A^* . We first need to compute the eigenvector of A(0) and A^* corresponding to $i\omega_0$ and $-i\omega_0$, respectively.

Suppose that $q(\theta) = (1, \rho)^T e^{i\omega_0 \theta}$ is the eigenvector of A(0) corresponding to $i\omega_0$. Then $A(0)q(\theta) = i\omega_0 q(\theta)$. From the definition of A(0), it is easy to get $\rho = (i\omega_0 - c_3)/c_2$.

Similarly, let $q^*(s) = D(1, \rho^*)e^{-i\omega_0 s}$ be the eigenvector of A^* corresponding to $-i\omega_0$. By the definition of A^* , we can compute $\rho^* = (-i\omega_0 - c_1)/c_2$.

In order to assure $\langle q^*(s), q(\theta) \rangle = 1$, we need to determine the value of *D*. From (44) and the definitions of *q* and q^* , we have $D = 1/(1 + \overline{\rho}^* \rho + c_4 \rho \tau_0 e^{i\tau_0 \omega_0})$ such that $\langle q^*(s), q(\theta) \rangle = 1$ and $\langle q^*(s), \overline{q}(\theta) \rangle = 0$.

In the following, we first compute the coordinates to describe the center manifold C_0 at $\mu = 0$. Define

$$z(t) = \langle q^*, u_t \rangle, \quad W(t, \theta) = u_t(\theta) - 2\operatorname{Re}\left\{z(t)q(\theta)\right\}.$$
(45)

On the center manifold C_0 , we have

$$W(t,\theta) = W(z(t), \overline{z}(t), \theta)$$

= $W_{20}(\theta) \frac{z^2}{2} + W_{11}(\theta) z\overline{z} + W_{02}(\theta) \frac{\overline{z}^2}{2}$ (46)
+ $W_{30}(\theta) \frac{z^3}{6} + \cdots,$

where z and \overline{z} are local coordinates for center manifold C_0 in the directions of q and \overline{q} . Note that W is real if u_t is real. We consider only real solutions. For the solution $u_t \in C_0$, since $\mu = 0$, we have

$$\dot{z} = \omega_0 z + i \left\langle q^* \left(\theta \right), f \left(0, W \left(z \left(t \right), \overline{z} \left(t \right), \theta \right) \right. \right. \\ \left. + 2 \operatorname{Re} \left\{ z \left(t \right) q \left(\theta \right) \right\} \right) \right\rangle$$
$$= i \omega_0 z + \overline{q}^* \left(0 \right) f \left(0, W \left(z \left(t \right), \overline{z} \left(t \right), 0 \right) \right. \\ \left. + 2 \operatorname{Re} \left\{ z \left(t \right) q \left(0 \right) \right\} \right) \right\}$$
$$= i \omega_0 z + \overline{q}^* \left(0 \right) f_0 \left(z, \overline{z} \right) = i \omega_0 z + g \left(z, \overline{z} \right),$$

where

$$g(z,\overline{z}) = \overline{q}^* (0) f_0(z,\overline{z})$$

= $g_{20} \frac{z^2}{2} + g_{11} z\overline{z} + g_{02} \frac{\overline{z}^2}{2} + g_{21} \frac{z^2 \overline{z}}{2} + \cdots$ (48)

By (45), we have

$$u_{t}(\theta) = \left(u_{1t}(\theta), u_{2t}(\theta)\right)^{T} = W(t,\theta) + zq(\theta) + \overline{zq}(\theta).$$
(49)

It follows from (38) and (48) that

$$\begin{split} g_{20} &= 2\overline{D} \left[\frac{1}{2} f_{20}^{(1)} \rho^2 + f_{11}^{(1)} \rho e^{-i\tau_0 \omega_0} + \frac{1}{2} f_{02}^{(1)} e^{-2i\tau_0 \omega_0} \right. \\ &\quad + \overline{\rho}^* \left(\frac{1}{2} f_{20}^{(2)} \rho^2 + f_{11}^{(2)} \rho + \frac{1}{2} f_{02}^{(2)} \right) \right], \\ g_{11} &= \overline{D} \left[f_{20}^{(1)} \rho \overline{\rho} + f_{11}^{(1)} \left(\rho e^{i\tau_0 \omega_0} + \overline{\rho} e^{-i\tau_0 \omega_0} \right) \right. \\ &\quad + f_{02}^{(1)} + \overline{\rho}^* \left(f_{20}^{(2)} \rho \overline{\rho} + f_{11}^{(2)} \left(\rho + \overline{\rho} \right) + f_{02}^{(2)} \right) \right], \\ g_{02} &= 2\overline{D} \left[\frac{1}{2} f_{20}^{(1)} \overline{\rho}^2 + f_{11}^{(1)} \rho e^{i\tau_0 \omega_0} \right. \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} f_{02}^{(1)} e^{2i\tau_0 \omega_0} + \overline{\rho}^* \left(\frac{1}{2} f_{20}^{(2)} \overline{\rho}^2 \right. \\ &\quad + f_{11}^{(2)} \overline{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} f_{02}^{(2)} \right) \right], \\ g_{21} &= 2\overline{D} \left[\frac{1}{2} f_{20}^{(1)} \left(2\rho W_{11}^{(1)} \left(0 \right) + \overline{\rho} W_{20}^{(1)} \left(0 \right) \right) \right. \\ &\quad + f_{11}^{(1)} \left(\rho W_{11}^{(2)} \left(-\tau_0 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \overline{\rho} W_{20}^{(2)} \left(-\tau_0 \right) \right. \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} f_{02}^{(1)} \left(2W_{11}^{(2)} \left(-\tau_0 \right) e^{-i\tau_0 \omega_0} + W_{20}^{(2)} \left(-\tau_0 \right) e^{i\tau_0 \omega_0} \right) \right] \end{split}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} f_{21}^{(1)} \left(\rho^{2} e^{i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}} + 2\rho\overline{\rho}e^{-i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} f_{12}^{(1)} \left(\overline{\rho}e^{-2i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}} + 2\rho\right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} f_{30}^{(1)} \rho^{2}\overline{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} f_{03}^{(1)} e^{-i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}} \right]$$

$$+ 2\overline{D}\overline{\rho}^{*} \left[\frac{1}{2} f_{20}^{(2)} \left(2\rho W_{11}^{(1)} \left(0 \right) + \overline{\rho} W_{20}^{(1)} \left(0 \right) \right)$$

$$+ f_{11}^{(2)} \left(\rho W_{11}^{(2)} \left(0 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \overline{\rho} W_{20}^{(2)} \left(0 \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} W_{20}^{(1)} \left(0 \right) + W_{11}^{(1)} \left(0 \right) \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} f_{02}^{(2)} \left(2W_{11}^{(2)} \left(0 \right) + W_{20}^{(2)} \left(0 \right) \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} f_{21}^{(2)} \left(\rho^{2} + 2\rho\overline{\rho} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} f_{12}^{(2)} \left(\overline{\rho} + 2\rho \right) + \frac{1}{2} f_{30}^{(2)} \rho^{2}\overline{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} f_{03}^{(2)} \right].$$

$$(50)$$

In order to assure the value of g_{21} , we need to compute $W_{20}(\theta)$ and $W_{11}(\theta)$. By (42) and (45), we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{W} &= \dot{u}_t - \dot{z}q - \dot{\overline{z}}\,\overline{q} \\ &= \begin{cases} AW - 2\operatorname{Re}\left\{\overline{q}^*\left(0\right)f_0q\left(\theta\right)\right\}, & \theta\in\left[-\tau_0,0\right), \\ AW - 2\operatorname{Re}\left\{\overline{q}^*\left(0\right)f_0q\left(\theta\right)\right\} + f_0, & \theta=0, \\ &\triangleq AW + H\left(z,\overline{z},\theta\right), \end{split}$$
(51)

where

$$H(z, \overline{z}, \theta) = H_{20}(\theta) \frac{z^2}{2} + H_{11}(\theta) z\overline{z} + H_{02}(\theta) \frac{\overline{z}^2}{2} + \cdots .$$
(52)

Notice that near the origin on the center manifold C_0 , we have

$$\dot{W} = W_z \dot{z} + W_{\overline{z}} \dot{\overline{z}}; \tag{53}$$

thus, we have

$$(A - 2i\omega_k \tau_k I) W_{20}(\theta) = -H_{20}(\theta),$$

$$AW_{11}(\theta) = -H_{11}(\theta).$$
(54)

By (51), for $\theta \in [-\tau_0, 0)$, we have

$$H(z,\overline{z},\theta) = -\overline{q}^{*}(0) f_{0}q(\theta) - q^{*}(0) \overline{f}_{0}\overline{q}(\theta)$$

$$= -gq(\theta) - \overline{gq}(\theta).$$
(55)

Comparing the coefficients with (51) gives that

$$H_{20}(\theta) = -g_{20}q(\theta) - \overline{g}_{02}\overline{q}(\theta),$$

$$H_{11}(\theta) = -g_{11}q(\theta) - \overline{g}_{11}\overline{q}(\theta).$$
(56)

From (56), (54), and the definition of A(0), we can get

$$\dot{W}_{20}\left(\theta\right) = 2i\omega_{0}W_{20}\left(\theta\right) + g_{20}q\left(\theta\right) + \overline{g}_{02}\overline{q}\left(\theta\right).$$
(57)

Notice that $q(\theta) = q(0)e^{i\omega_0\theta}$; we have

$$W_{20}(\theta) = \frac{ig_{20}}{\omega_0}q(0)e^{i\omega_0\theta} + \frac{i\overline{g}_{02}}{3\omega_0}\overline{q}(0)e^{-i\omega_0\theta} + E_1e^{2i\omega_0\theta}, \quad (58)$$

where $E_1 = (E_1^{(1)}, E_1^{(2)}) \in \mathbf{R}^2$ is a constant vector. In the same way, we can also obtain

$$W_{11}(\theta) = -\frac{ig_{11}}{\omega_0}q(0)e^{i\omega_0\theta} + \frac{i\overline{g}_{11}}{\omega_0}\overline{q}(0)e^{-i\omega_0\theta} + E_2, \quad (59)$$

where $E_2 = (E_2^{(1)}, E_2^{(2)}) \in \mathbf{R}^2$ is also a constant vector. In what follows, we will compute E_1 and E_2 . From the definition of A(0) and (54), we have

$$\int_{-\tau_0}^0 d\eta(\theta) W_{20}(\theta) = 2i\omega_0 W_{20}(0) - H_{20}(0), \qquad (60)$$

$$\int_{-\tau_0}^{0} d\eta \left(\theta\right) W_{11}\left(\theta\right) = -H_{11}\left(0\right), \tag{61}$$

where $\eta(\theta) = \eta(0, \theta)$.

From (51), (58), and (60) and noting that

$$\left[i\omega_0 I - \int_{-\tau_0}^0 e^{i\omega_0\theta} d\eta\left(\theta\right)\right] q\left(0\right) = 0,$$
(62)

we have

$$E_1^{(1)} = \frac{1}{A_1} \begin{vmatrix} e_1 & -c_4 e^{-2i\omega_0 \tau_0} \\ e_2 & 2i\omega_0 - c_3 \end{vmatrix}, \qquad E_1^{(2)} = \frac{1}{A_1} \begin{vmatrix} 2i\omega_0 - c_1 & e_1 \\ -c_2 & e_2 \end{vmatrix},$$
(63)

where

$$A_{1} = (2i\omega_{0} - c_{1})(2i\omega_{0} - c_{3}) - c_{2}c_{4}e^{-2i\omega_{0}\tau_{0}},$$

$$e_{1} = f_{20}^{(1)}\rho^{2} + 2f_{11}^{(1)}\rho e^{-i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}} + f_{02}^{(1)}e^{-2i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}},$$

$$e_{2} = f_{20}^{(2)}\rho^{2} + 2f_{11}^{(2)}\rho + f_{02}^{(2)}.$$
(64)

From (52), (59), and (61) and noting that

$$\left[-i\omega_{0}I - \int_{-\tau_{0}}^{0} e^{-i\omega_{0}\theta} d\eta\left(\theta\right)\right] \overline{q}\left(0\right) = 0, \qquad (65)$$

we have

$$E_2^{(1)} = \frac{1}{A_2} \begin{vmatrix} e_3 & -c_4 \\ e_4 & -c_3 \end{vmatrix}, \qquad E_2^{(2)} = \frac{1}{A_2} \begin{vmatrix} -c_1 & e_3 \\ -c_2 & e_4 \end{vmatrix}, \quad (66)$$

where

$$A_{2} = c_{1}c_{3} - c_{2}c_{4},$$

$$e_{3} = f_{20}^{(1)}\rho\overline{\rho} + f_{11}^{(1)}\left(\rho e^{i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}} + \overline{\rho}e^{-i\tau_{0}\omega_{0}}\right) + f_{02}^{(1)}, \qquad (67)$$

$$e_{4} = f_{20}^{(2)}\rho\overline{\rho} + f_{11}^{(2)}\left(\rho + \overline{\rho}\right) + f_{02}^{(2)}.$$

Thus, we can determine $W_{20}(\theta)$ and $W_{11}(\theta)$ from (58) and (59). Furthermore, we can determine each g_{ij} . Therefore, each g_{ij} is determined by the parameters and delay in (13). Thus, we can compute the following values [15]:

$$c_{1}(0) = \frac{i}{2\omega_{0}\tau_{0}} \left(g_{20}g_{11} - 2|g_{11}|^{2} - \frac{1}{3}|g_{02}|^{2} \right) + \frac{g_{21}}{2},$$

$$\mu_{2} = -\frac{\operatorname{Re}\left\{c_{1}(0)\right\}}{\operatorname{Re}\left\{\lambda'\left(\tau_{0}\right)\right\}},$$

$$T_{2} = -\frac{\operatorname{Im}\left\{c_{1}\left(0\right)\right\} + \mu_{2}\operatorname{Im}\left\{\lambda'\left(\tau_{0}\right)\right\}}{\omega_{0}\tau_{0}},$$

$$\beta_{2} = 2\operatorname{Re}\left\{c_{1}\left(0\right)\right\},$$
(68)

which determine the quantities of bifurcating periodic solutions in the center manifold at the critical value τ_k ; that is, μ_2 determines the directions of the Hopf bifurcation: if $\mu_2 > 0$ (< 0), then the Hopf bifurcation is supercritical (subcritical) and the bifurcation exists for $\tau > \tau_0$ (< τ_0); β_2 determines the stability of the bifurcation periodic solutions: the bifurcating periodic solutions are stable (unstable) if $\beta_2 < 0$ (> 0); and T_2 determines the period of the bifurcating periodic solutions: the periodic solutions: the period of the bifurcating periodic solutions: the period of the bifurcating periodic solutions: the period increases (decreases) if $T_2 > 0$ (< 0).

5. Global Attractiveness

In this section, following Chaplygin [17], taking into account the upper and lower solution technique and using monotone iterative methods [18, 19], we discuss the global attractiveness of the positive equilibrium $E^*(x^*, y^*)$ and the global stability of the semitrivial equilibrium $E_1(r_1/a_{11}, 0)$ of system (1), respectively.

Theorem 6. Suppose (H1) holds and let h be defined above, then the positive equilibrium $E^*(x^*, y^*)$ of system (1) is globally attractive provided that the following holds:

$$(H2) r_1 > \max\{a_{12}/2\sqrt{m}, (3a_{12}/m) + (2a_{12}r_2/a_{21})h\},\$$

Proof. Let (x(t), y(t)) be any positive solution of system (1) with initial conditions (2).

Let

$$\begin{split} U_1 &= \limsup_{t \to +\infty} x\left(t\right), \qquad V_1 &= \liminf_{t \to +\infty} x\left(t\right), \\ U_2 &= \limsup_{t \to +\infty} y\left(t\right), \qquad V_2 &= \liminf_{t \to +\infty} y\left(t\right). \end{split} \tag{69}$$

Using iteration method, we will proof that $U_1 = V_1 = x^*$, $U_2 = V_2 = y^*$.

From the first equation of system (1), we have

$$\dot{x}(t) \le x(t) [r_1 - a_{11}x(t)];$$
(70)

by comparison, it follows that

$$U_1 = \limsup_{t \to +\infty} x(t) \le \frac{r_1}{a_{11}} := M_1^x;$$
(71)

hence, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there exists a $T_1 > 0$ such that if $t > T_1, x(t) \le M_1^x + \epsilon$.

From the second equation of system (1), we have, for $t > T_1 + \tau$,

$$\dot{y}(t) \le \frac{a_{21}(M_1^x + \epsilon)^2 y(t)}{my^2(t) + (M_1^x + \epsilon)^2} - r_2 y(t).$$
(72)

Consider the following auxiliary equation:

$$\dot{u}(t) = \frac{a_{21}(M_1^x + \epsilon)^2 u(t)}{m u^2(t) + (M_1^x + \epsilon)^2} - r_2 u(t).$$
(73)

Since (H1) holds, by Lemma 2, it follows from (73) that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} u(t) = (M_1^x + \epsilon) h, \tag{74}$$

where h is defined in (12). By comparison, we obtain that

$$U_2 = \limsup_{t \to +\infty} y(t) \le \left(M_1^x + \epsilon\right)h; \tag{75}$$

since this inequality holds true for arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, it follows that $U_2 \le M_1^{\gamma}$, where

$$M_1^y = M_1^x h. (76)$$

Hence, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there is a $T_2 > T_1 + \tau$ such that if $t > T_2$, $y(t) \le M_1^y + \epsilon$.

For $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, noting that $my^2(t - \tau_2) + x^2 \ge 2\sqrt{m}xy(t - \tau_2)$, we derive from the first equation of system (1) that, for $t > T_2$,

$$\dot{x}(t) \ge x(t) \left[r_1 - a_{11}x(t) - \frac{a_{12}}{2\sqrt{m}} \right];$$
 (77)

by comparison, it follows that

$$V_1 = \liminf_{t \to +\infty} x(t) \ge \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_1 - \frac{a_{12}}{2\sqrt{m}} \right) := N_1^x;$$
(78)

hence, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there is a $T_3 > T_2 + \tau$, such that if $t > T_3$, $x(t) \ge N_1^x - \epsilon$.

For $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we derive from the second equation of system (1) that, for $t > T_3 + \tau$,

$$\dot{y}(t) \ge \frac{a_{21} (N_1^x - \epsilon)^2 y(t)}{m y^2(t) + (N_1^x - \epsilon)^2} - r_2 y(t).$$
(79)

Consider the following auxiliary equation:

$$\dot{u}(t) = \frac{a_{21}(N_1^x - \epsilon)^2 u(t)}{m u^2(t) + (N_1^x - \epsilon)^2} - r_2 u(t).$$
(80)

Since (H1) holds, by Lemma (5), it follows from (80) that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} u(t) = (N_1^x - \epsilon)h;$$
(81)

by comparison we derive that

$$V_2 = \liminf_{t \to +\infty} y(t) \ge \left(N_1^x - \epsilon\right)h.$$
(82)

Since this inequality holds true for arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we conclude that $V_2 \ge N_1^y$, where

$$N_1^y = N_1^x h. (83)$$

Therefore, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there is a $T_4 > T_3 + \tau$ such that if $t > T_4$, $y(t) \ge N_1^y - \epsilon$.

Again, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, it follows from the first equation of system (1) that, for $t > T_4$,

$$\dot{x}(t) \le x(t) \left[r_1 - a_{11}x(t) - \frac{a_{12} \left(N_1^x - \epsilon \right) \left(N_1^y - \epsilon \right)}{m \left(M_1^y + \epsilon \right)^2 + \left(M_1^x + \epsilon \right)^2} \right];$$
(84)

by comparison we derive that

$$U_{1} = \limsup_{t \to +\infty} x(t) \leq \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_{1} - \frac{a_{12} \left(N_{1}^{x} - \epsilon \right) \left(N_{1}^{y} - \epsilon \right)}{m \left(M_{1}^{y} + \epsilon \right)^{2} + \left(M_{1}^{x} + \epsilon \right)^{2}} \right).$$
(85)

Since the above inequality holds true for arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, it follows that $U \le M_2^x$, where

$$M_2^x = \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_1 - \frac{a_{12} N_1^x N_1^y}{m (M_1^y)^2 + (M_1^x)^2} \right);$$
(86)

hence, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there is a $T_5 > T_4 + \tau$ such that if $t > T_5$, $x(t) \le M_2^x + \epsilon$.

It follows from the second equation of system (1) that, for $t > T_5$,

$$\dot{y}(t) \le \frac{a_{21} (M_2^x + \epsilon)^2 y(t)}{m y^2(t) + (M_2^x + \epsilon)^2} - r_2 y(t).$$
(87)

By Lemma 2 and a comparison argument we derive from (87) that

$$U_{2} = \limsup_{t \to +\infty} y(t) \le \left(M_{2}^{x} + \epsilon\right)h;$$
(88)

since this inequality holds true for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we get $U_2 \leq M_2^y$, where

$$M_2^y = M_2^x h; (89)$$

hence, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there is a $T_6 > T_5 + \tau$ such that if $t > T_6$, $y(t) \le M_2^y + \epsilon$.

For $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, it follows from the first equation of system (1) that, for $t > T_6$,

$$\dot{x}(t) \ge x(t) \left[r_1 - a_{11}x(t) - \frac{a_{12} \left(M_2^x + \epsilon \right) \left(M_2^y + \epsilon \right)}{m \left(N_1^y - \epsilon \right)^2 + \left(N_1^x - \epsilon \right)^2} \right];$$
(90)

by comparison, we can obtain that

$$V_{1} = \liminf_{t \to +\infty} x(t) \ge \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_{1} - \frac{a_{12} \left(M_{2}^{x} + \epsilon \right) \left(M_{2}^{y} + \epsilon \right)}{m \left(N_{1}^{y} - \epsilon \right)^{2} + \left(N_{1}^{x} - \epsilon \right)^{2}} \right).$$

$$\tag{91}$$

Since the above inequality holds true for arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, it follows that $V \ge N_2^x$, where

$$N_2^x = \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_1 - \frac{a_{12} M_2^x M_2^y}{m (N_1^y)^2 + (N_1^x)^2} \right);$$
(92)

therefore, for $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, there is a $T_7 > T_6 + \tau$ such that if $t > T_7$, $x(t) \ge N_2^x - \epsilon$.

For $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we derive from the second equation of system (1) that, for $t > T_7 + \tau$,

$$\dot{y}(t) \ge \frac{a_{21} (N_2^x - \epsilon)^2 y(t)}{m y^2(t) + (N_2^x - \epsilon)^2} - r_2 y(t).$$
(93)

Since (H1) holds, by Lemma 2 and a comparison argument, it follows (93) that

$$V_2 = \liminf_{t \to +\infty} y(t) \ge \left(N_2^x - \epsilon\right)h; \tag{94}$$

since, for arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, this inequality holds true, we conclude that $V_2 \ge N_2^y$, where

$$N_2^y = N_2^x h. (95)$$

Continuing this process, we obtain four sequences M_n^x, M_n^y, V_n^x , and V_n^y (n = 1, 2, ...) such that, for $n \ge 2$,

$$M_{n}^{x} = \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_{1} - \frac{a_{12}N_{n-1}^{x}N_{n-1}^{y}}{m(M_{n-1}^{y})^{2} + (M_{n-1}^{x})^{2}} \right),$$

$$N_{n}^{x} = \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_{1} - \frac{a_{12}M_{n}^{x}M_{n}^{y}}{m(N_{n-1}^{y})^{2} + (N_{n-1}^{x})^{2}} \right),$$

$$M_{n}^{y} = M_{n}^{x}h, \qquad N_{n}^{y} = N_{n}^{x}h,$$
(96)

where h is defined in (12). It is readily seen that

$$N_n^x \le V_1 \le U_1 \le M_n^x, \qquad N_n^y \le V_2 \le U_2 \le M_n^y.$$
 (97)

It is easy to know that the sequences M_n^x, M_n^y are not increasing and the sequences N_n^x, N_n^y are not decreasing; from accumulation point theorem, the limit of each sequence in M_n^x, M_n^y, N_n^x , and N_n^y exists, Denote

$$\overline{x} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} M_n^x, \qquad \underline{x} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} N_n^x,$$

$$\overline{y} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} M_n^y, \qquad \underline{y} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} N_n^y.$$
(98)

We therefore obtain from (96) and (98) that

$$\overline{x} = \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_1 - \frac{a_{12} \underline{x} \underline{y}}{m \overline{y}^2 + \overline{x}^2} \right),$$

$$\underline{x} = \frac{1}{a_{11}} \left(r_1 - \frac{a_{12} \overline{x} \overline{y}}{m \underline{y}^2 + \underline{x}^2} \right),$$

$$\overline{y} = \overline{x}h, \qquad \underline{y} = \underline{x}h.$$
(99)

To complete the proof, it is sufficient to prove that $\overline{x} = \underline{x}, \overline{y} = y$. It follows from (99) that

$$a_{11} \left(1 + mh^2\right) \overline{x}^3 = r_1 \left(1 + mh^2\right) \overline{x}^2 - a_{12}h\underline{x}^2, \qquad (100)$$

$$a_{11}\left(1+mh^2\right)\underline{x}^3 = r_1\left(1+mh^2\right)\underline{x}^2 - a_{12}h\overline{x}^2.$$
 (101)

Letting (100) minus (101), we have

$$a_{11} \left(1 + mh^{2}\right) \left(\overline{x} - \underline{x}\right) \left(\overline{x}^{2} + \overline{x}\underline{x} + \underline{x}^{2}\right)$$

$$= \left[r_{1} \left(1 + mh^{2}\right) + a_{12}h\right] \left(\overline{x} - \underline{x}\right) \left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right).$$
(102)

If $\overline{x} \neq \underline{x}$, we derive from (102) that

$$a_{11} \left(1 + mh^{2}\right) \left(\overline{x}^{2} + \overline{x}\underline{x} + \underline{x}^{2}\right)$$

$$= \left[r_{1} \left(1 + mh^{2}\right) + a_{12}h\right] \left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right).$$
(103)

Letting $A = a_{11}(1 + mh^2)$, $B = r_1(1 + mh^2) + a_{12}h$, we derive from (103) that

$$\overline{x}\underline{x} = \left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right)^2 - \frac{B}{A}\left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right).$$
(104)

It follows from (104) that

$$(\overline{x} + \underline{x})^2 - 4\overline{x}\underline{x} = (\overline{x} + \underline{x})^2 - 4\left[(\overline{x} + \underline{x})^2 - \frac{B}{A}(\overline{x} + \underline{x})\right]$$
$$= (\overline{x} + \underline{x})\left[\frac{4B}{A} - 3(\overline{x} + \underline{x})\right];$$
(105)

noting that $\overline{x} \ge N_1^x$, $\underline{x} \ge N_1^x$, we derive from (105) that

$$\left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right)^2 - 4\overline{x}\underline{x} \le 2\left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right) \left[\frac{2B}{A} - 3N_1^x\right].$$
 (106)

Substituting (78) into (106), it follows that

$$\left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right)^2 - 4\overline{x}\underline{x} \le -\frac{2\left(\overline{x} + \underline{x}\right)}{a_{11}} \left[r_1 - \frac{3a_{12}}{m} - \frac{2a_{12}h}{1 + mh^2}\right].$$
(107)

Hence, if (H2) holds, we have $(\overline{x} + \underline{x})^2 - 4\overline{x}\underline{x} < 0$; this is a contradiction. Accordingly, we have $\overline{x} = \underline{x}$. Therefore, from (99), we have $\overline{y} = \underline{y}$. Hence, the positive equilibrium E^* is globally attractive. The proof is complete.

Using the same methods in [4, 20], we can also get a similar result.

Theorem 7. If $r_1 > a_{12}/2\sqrt{m}$ and $a_{21} < r_2$, the semitrivial equilibrium $E_1(r_1/a_{11}, 0)$ of system (1) is globally asymptotically stable.

6. Global Continuation of Local Hopf Bifurcations

In this section, we study the global continuation of periodic solutions bifurcating from the positive equilibrium E^* of system (13). Throughout this section, we follow closely the notations in [13]. For simplification of notations, setting $z(t) = (z_1(t), z_2(t))^T = (x(t), y(t))^T$, we may rewrite system (13) as the following functional differential equation:

$$\dot{z}(t) = \mathscr{F}(z_t, \tau, p), \qquad (108)$$

where $z_t(\theta) = (z_{1t}(\theta), z_{2t}(\theta))^T = (z_1(t+\theta), \text{ and } z_2(t+\theta))^T \in \mathcal{C}([-\tau, 0], \mathbb{R}^2)$. It is obvious that if (H1) holds, then system (13) has a semitrivial equilibrium $E_1(r_1/a_{11}, 0)$ and a positive equilibrium $E^*(x^*, y^*)$. Following the work of [13], we need to define

$$\mathbf{X} = \mathscr{C}([-\tau, 0], \mathbf{R}^2),$$

$$\Gamma = \operatorname{Cl}\{(z, \tau, p) \in \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}^+; z \text{ is a nonconstant}$$
periodic solution of (108)},

$$\mathcal{N} = \left\{ \left(\overline{z}, \overline{\tau}, \overline{p}\right); \mathcal{F}\left(\overline{z}, \overline{\tau}, \overline{p}\right) = 0 \right\}.$$
(109)

Let $\ell_{(E^*,\tau_j,2\pi/\omega_0)}$ denote the connected component passing through $(E^*,\tau_j,2\pi/\omega_0)$ in Γ , where τ_j is defined by (26). From Theorem 5, we know that $\ell_{(E^*,\tau_j,2\pi/\omega_0)}$ is nonempty.

We first state the global Hopf bifurcation theory due to Wu [13] for functional differential equations.

Lemma 8. Assume that (z_*, τ, p) is an isolated center satisfying the hypotheses $(A_1)-(A_4)$ in [13]. Denote by $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}$ the connected component of (z_*, τ, p) in Γ . Then either

(i) $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}$ is unbounded or (ii) $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}$ is bounded; $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)} \cap \Gamma$ is finite and

$$\sum_{(z,\tau,p)\in\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}\cap\mathcal{N}}\gamma_m(z_*,\tau,p)=0,$$
(110)

for all $m = 1, 2, ..., where \gamma_m(z_*, \tau, p)$ is the mth crossing number of (z_*, τ, p) if $m \in J(z_*, \tau, p)$ or it is zero if otherwise.

Clearly, if (ii) in Lemma 8 is not true, then $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}$ is unbounded. Thus, if the projections of $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}$ onto *z*-space and onto *p*-space are bounded, then the projection onto τ -space is unbounded. Further, if we can show that the projection of $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}$ onto τ -space is away from zero, then the projection of $\ell_{(z_*,\tau,p)}$ onto τ -space must include interval $[\tau, +\infty)$. Following this ideal, we can prove our results on the global continuation of local Hopf bifurcation.

Lemma 9. If condition (H1) holds, then all nonconstant periodic solutions of (13) with initial conditions,

$$\begin{aligned} x\left(\theta\right) &= \phi\left(\theta\right), \quad y\left(\theta\right) = \psi\left(\theta\right), \quad \phi\left(\theta\right) \ge 0, \quad \psi\left(\theta\right) \ge 0, \\ \theta \in \left[-\tau, 0\right] \left(\tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2\right), \quad \phi\left(0\right) > 0, \quad \psi\left(0\right) > 0, \end{aligned}$$
(111)

are uniformly bounded.

Proof. Suppose that x = x(t), y = y(t) are nonconstant periodic solutions of system (13) and define

$$x(\xi_{1}) = \min \{x(t)\}, \quad x(\eta_{1}) = \max \{x(t)\},$$
(112)
$$y(\xi_{2}) = \min \{y(t)\}, \quad y(\eta_{2}) = \max \{y(t)\}.$$

It follows from system (13) that

$$x(t) = x(0) \exp\left\{ \int_0^t \left(r_1 - a_{11}x(s) - \frac{a_{12}x(s)y(s-\tau)}{my^2(s-\tau) + x^2(s)} \right) ds \right\},$$

$$y(t) = y(0) \exp\left\{ \int_0^t \left(-r_2 + \frac{a_{21}x^2(s)}{my^2(s) + x^2(s)} \right) ds \right\},$$
(113)

which implies that the solutions of system (13) cannot cross the *x*-axis and *y*-axis. Thus the nonconstant periodic orbits must be located in the interior of each quadrant. It follows from initial conditions of system (13) that (t) > 0, y(t) > 0. From system (13), we can get

$$0 = r_1 - a_{11}x(\eta_1) - \frac{a_{12}x(\eta_1)y(\eta_1 - \tau)}{my^2(\eta_1 - \tau) + x^2(\eta_1)},$$

$$0 = -r_2 + \frac{a_{21}x^2(\eta_2)}{my^2(\eta_2) + x^2(\eta_2)}.$$
(114)

Since x(t) > 0, y(t) > 0, it follows from the first equation of (114) that

$$0 < x(\eta_1) \le \frac{r_1}{a_{11}}; \tag{115}$$

on the other hand, by the second equation of (114) and (115), we have

$$0 < y(\eta_2) \le h \frac{r_1}{a_{11}},$$
(116)

where h is defined in (12). From the discussion above, the lemma follows immediately.

Lemma 10. *If conditions (H1) and (H2) hold, then system (*13*) has no nonconstant periodic solution with period* τ *.*

Proof. Suppose for a contradiction that system (13) has nonconstant periodic solution with period τ . Then the following system (117) of ordinary differential equations has nonconstant periodic solution:

$$\dot{x}(t) = x(t) \left[r_1 - a_{11}x(t) - \frac{a_{12}x(t)y(t)}{my^2(t) + x^2(t)} \right],$$

$$\dot{y}(t) = \frac{a_{21}x^2(t)y(t)}{my^2(t) + x^2(t)} - r_2y(t),$$
(117)



FIGURE 1: The bifurcation diagram of system (1) with $a_{11} = 0.1$, $a_{12} = 1$, $a_{21} = 3/2$, and m = 2, where $L1 : r_1 = -(2/9)r_2^2 + r_2/3$, $L2 : r_1 = (8/9)r_2^2\sqrt{((3/2) - r_2)/(2r_2)} - (4/3)r_2((3/2) - r_2)$, and $L3 : r_1 = ((16/9)r_2 + (1/6))\sqrt{((3/2) - r_2)/(2r_2)}$.

which has the same equilibria as system (13), that is, $E_1(r_1/a_{11}, 0)$ and a positive equilibrium $E^*(x^*, y^*)$. Note that *x*-axis and *y*-axis are the invariable manifold of system (13) and the orbits of system (13) do not intersect each other. Thus, there is no solution crossing the coordinate axis. On the other hand, note the fact that if system (117) has a periodic solution, then there must be the equilibrium in its interior and E_1 are located on the coordinate axis. Thus, we conclude that the periodic orbit of system (117) must lie in the first quadrant. From the proof of Theorem 6, we known that if (H1) and (H2) hold, the positive equilibrium is asymptotically stable and globally attractive; thus, there is no periodic orbit in the first quadrant. This ends the proof.

Theorem 11. Suppose the conditions (H1) and (H2) hold; let ω_0 and $\tau_j(j = 0, 1, ...)$ be defined in (26). If $(2a_{12}r_2^2h/a_{21}^2) - (2r_2(a_{21} - r_2)/a_{21}) < r_1 < ((4a_{12}r_2^2h + a_{12}a_{21}r_2h)/a_{21}^2)$, then system (13) has at least j - 1 periodic solutions for every $\tau > \tau_j$, (j = 1, 2, ...).

Proof. It is sufficient to prove that the projection of $\ell_{(E^*,\tau_j,2\pi/\omega_0)}$ onto τ -space is $[\overline{\tau}, +\infty)$ for each j > 0, where $\overline{\tau} \leq \tau_i$.

The characteristic matrix of (108) at an equilibrium $\overline{z} = (\overline{z}^{(1)}, \overline{z}^{(2)}) \in \mathbf{R}^2$ takes the following form:

$$\Delta\left(\overline{z},\tau,p\right)(\lambda) = \lambda \mathrm{Id} - D\mathcal{F}\left(\overline{z},\overline{\tau},\overline{p}\right)\left(e^{\lambda}\mathrm{Id}\right). \tag{118}$$

 $(\overline{z},\overline{\tau},\overline{p})$ is called a center if $\mathscr{F}(\overline{z},\overline{\tau},\overline{p}) = 0$ and det $(\Delta(\overline{z},\overline{\tau},\overline{p}))((2\pi/p)i) = 0$. A center is said to be isolated if it is the only center in some neighborhood of $(\overline{z},\overline{\tau},\overline{p})$. It follows from (118) that

$$\det\left(\Delta\left(E_{1},\tau,p\right)(\lambda)\right) = \left(\lambda+r_{1}\right)\left(\lambda+r_{2}-a_{21}\right) = 0, \quad (119)$$

$$\det\left(\Delta\left(E^*,\tau,p\right)(\lambda)\right) = \lambda^2 + p_0\lambda + p_1 + p_2e^{-\lambda\tau} = 0, \quad (120)$$



FIGURE 2: The trajectories and phase graphs of system (1) with $\tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2 = 6 + 4 = 10$.

where p_0 , p_1 , and p_2 are defined as in Section 3. From the discussion in Section 3, each of (119) and (120) has no purely imaginary root provided that $r_1 > (4a_{12}r_2^2h + a_{12}a_{21}r_2h)/a_{21}^2$. Thus, we conclude that (108) has no the center of the form as (E_1, τ, p) and (E^*, τ, p) . On the other hand, from the discussion in Section 3 about the local Hopf bifurcation, it is easy to verify that $(E^*, \tau_j, 2\pi/\omega_0)$ is an isolated center, and there exist $\epsilon > 0$, $\delta > 0$, and a smooth curve $\lambda : (\tau_j - \delta, \tau_j + \delta) \rightarrow \mathcal{C}$ such that $\det(\Delta(\lambda(\tau))) = 0$, $|\lambda(\tau) - \omega_0| < \epsilon$ for all $\tau \in [\tau_j - \delta, \tau_j + \delta]$ and

$$\lambda\left(\tau_{j}\right) = \omega_{0}i, \quad \left.\frac{d\operatorname{Re}\lambda\left(\tau\right)}{d\tau}\right|_{\tau=\tau_{j}} > 0.$$
 (121)

Let

$$\Omega_{\epsilon,(2\pi/\omega_0)} = \left\{ (\eta, p); 0 < \eta < \epsilon, \left| p - \frac{2\pi}{\omega_0} \right| < \epsilon \right\}.$$
(122)

It is easy to verify that, on $[\tau_j - \delta, \tau_j + \delta] \times \partial \Omega_{\epsilon, 2\pi/\omega_0}$,

$$\det\left(\Delta\left(E^{*},\tau,p\right)\left(\eta+\frac{2\pi}{p}i\right)\right)=0$$
(123)
if and only if $\eta=0, \ \tau=\tau_{j}, \ p=\frac{2\pi}{\omega_{0}}.$

Therefore, the hypotheses (A_1) – (A_4) in [13] are satisfied. Moreover, if we define

$$H^{\pm}\left(E^{*},\tau_{j},\frac{2\pi}{\omega_{0}}\right)(\eta,p)$$

$$= \det\left(\Delta\left(E^{*},\tau_{j}\pm\delta,p\right)\left(\eta+\frac{2\pi}{p}i\right)\right),$$
(124)



FIGURE 3: The trajectories and phase graphs of system (1) with $\tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2 = 6 + 6 = 12$.

then we have the crossing number of isolated center $(E^*, \tau_i, (2\pi/\omega_0))$ as follows:

$$\gamma\left(E^*, \tau_j, \frac{2\pi}{\omega_0}\right) = \deg_B\left(H^-\left(E^*, \tau_j, \frac{2\pi}{\omega_0}\right), \Omega_{\epsilon, 2\pi/\omega_0}\right)$$
$$- \deg_B\left(H^+\left(E^*, \tau_j, \frac{2\pi}{\omega_0}\right), \Omega_{\epsilon, 2\pi/\omega_0}\right)$$
$$= -1.$$
(125)

Thus, we have

$$\sum_{\left(\overline{z},\overline{\tau},\overline{p}\right)\in\mathscr{C}_{(E^*,\tau_j,2\pi/\omega_0)}}\gamma\left(\overline{z},\overline{\tau},\overline{p}\right)<0,\tag{126}$$

where $(\overline{z}, \overline{\tau}, \overline{p})$ has all or parts of the form $(E^*, \tau_k, 2\pi/\omega_0)(k = 0, 1, ...)$. It follows from Lemma 8 that the connected component $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, 2\pi/\omega_0)}$ through $(E^*, \tau_j, 2\pi/\omega_0)$ in Γ is unbounded. From (26), we can know that if (H1) holds, for $j \ge 1$,

$$\tau_{j} = \frac{1}{\omega_{0}} \arccos \frac{\omega_{0}^{2} - p_{1}}{p_{2}} + \frac{2j\pi}{\omega_{0}} > \frac{2\pi}{\omega_{0}}.$$
 (127)

Now we prove that the projection of $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, 2\pi/\omega_0)}$ onto τ -space is $[\overline{\tau}, +\infty)$, where $\overline{\tau} \leq \tau_j$. Clearly, it follows from the proof of Lemma 10 that system (13) with $\tau = 0$ has no nontrivial periodic solution. Hence, the projection of $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$ onto τ -space is away from zero.

For a contradiction, we suppose that the projection of $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$ onto τ -space is bounded; this means that the projection of $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$ onto τ -space is included in an interval $(0, \tau^*)$. Noticing $(2\pi/\omega_0) < \tau_j$ and applying Lemma 10 we have $0 for <math>(z(t), \tau, p)$ belonging

2

1.8

1.6

1.4

1

0.8

0

0.5

 $(\hat{t})_{\chi}$



FIGURE 4: The trajectories and phase graphs of system (1) with $\tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2 = 10 + 8 = 18$.

1.2

x(t)

1.4

1.6

1.8

2

to $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$. Applying Lemma 9, we know that the projection of $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$ onto *z*-space is bounded. So the component of $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$ is bounded. This contradicts our conclusion that $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$ is unbounded. The contradiction implies that the projection of $\ell_{(E^*, \tau_j, (2\pi/\omega_0))}$ onto τ -space is unbounded above.

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.8

1

Hence, system (13) has at least j - 1 periodic solution for every $\tau > \tau_j$, (j = 1, 2, ...). This completes the proof.

Example 12. In system (1), we first choose $a_{11} = 0.1$, $a_{12} = 1$, $a_{21} = 3/2$, and m = 2. As depicted in Figure 1, a bifurcation diagram is given for system (1) with respect to the parameters r_1 and r_2 . By the discussion in Section 3, system (1) always has a semitrivial equilibrium E_1 , and if $r_2 > a_{21}$, E_1 is asymptotically stable; otherwise, E_1 is unstable. So if we choose $0 < r_2 < a_{21} = 3/2$, as depicted in Figure 1, E_1 is always unstable. In domains II, V, and VI, the positive equilibrium is not feasible. In domains I, III, and IV, system (1)

has a unique positive equilibrium; it is locally asymptotically stable in domain I and is unstable in domain IV. In domain III, system (1) undergoes a Hopf bifurcation at the positive equilibrium at some τ_0 . Further, we choose $r_1 = 5/12$, $r_2 = 1$, $a_{11} = 0.1, a_{12} = 1, a_{21} = 3/2, and m = 2$. In this case, system (1) has a positive equilibrium $E^* = (5/6, 5/12)$. By computation, we have $\omega_0 \approx 0.1063$, $\tau_0 \approx 10.8795$, and $\tau_1 \approx 69.9876$. From Theorem 5, E^* is stable when $\tau < \tau_0$ as illustrated by numerical simulations (see Figure 2). When τ passes through the critical value τ_0 , the equilibrium E^* loses its stability and a Hopf bifurcation occurs; that is, a family of periodic solution bifurcates from E^* . By the algorithm derived in Section 3 and Section 4, we have $\lambda'(\tau_0) = 0.0053 0.0058i, c_1(0) = -0.4357 + 0.0265i$, which implies that $\mu_2 > 0.0058i, c_1(0) = -0.4357 + 0.0265i$ 0, β_2 < 0, and T_2 > 0. Thus, by the discussion in Section 4, the Hopf bifurcation is supercritical for $\tau > \tau_0$, the bifurcating periodic solutions from E^* at τ_0 are asymptotically stable, and the period of these periodic solutions is increasing with the increasing of τ , which are depicted in Figures 3, 4, and 5.



FIGURE 5: The trajectories and phase graphs of system (1) with $\tau = \tau_1 + \tau_2 = 10 + 60 = 70$.

Furthermore, Figure 5 shows that the local Hopf bifurcation implies the global Hopf bifurcation after the second critical value of $\tau_1 = 69.9876$.

7. Discussion

In this paper, we have studied a ratio-dependent predatorprey model with two time delays. By analyzing the corresponding characteristic equation, the local stability of the positive equilibrium and the semitrivial equilibrium of system (1) was discussed. We have obtained the estimated length of gestation delay which would not affect the stable coexistence of both prey and predator species at their equilibrium values. The existence of Hopf bifurcation for system (1) at the positive equilibrium was also established. From theoretical analysis it was shown that the larger values of gestation time delay cause fluctuation in individual population density and hence the system becomes unstable. As the estimated length of delay to preserve stability and the critical length of time delay for Hopf bifurcation are dependent upon the parameters of system, it is possible to impose some control, which will prevent the possible abnormal oscillation in population density. The global attractiveness result in Theorem 6 implied that system (1) is permanent if the intrinsic growth rate of the prey and the conversion rate and the interference rate of the predator are high, and the death rate of the predator is low. From Theorem 7 we see that if the death rate of the predator is greater than the conversion rate of the predator, the predator population become extinct for any gestation delay. In particular, the results about boundedness and attractiveness are similar to the results of [4]. From the discussion in Sections 3 and 4, we see that if the values of r_1 , r_2 , a_{11} , a_{12} , a_{21} , and m are given, we can get the Hopf bifurcation value of τ , and further we may determine the direction of Hopf bifurcation and the stability of periodic solutions bifurcating from the positive equilibrium E^* at the critical point τ_0 .

Furthermore, we show that the local Hopf bifurcation implies the global Hopf bifurcation after the second critical value of delay.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the anonymous referee for very helpful suggestions and comments which led to improvements of their original paper. This work is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (no. 11061016), Science and Technology Department of Henan Province (no. 122300410417) and Education Department of Henan Province (no. 13A110108).

References

- R. Arditi and L. R. Ginzburg, "Coupling in predator-prey dynamics: ratio-dependence," *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, vol. 139, no. 3, pp. 311–326, 1989.
- [2] D. Xiao, W. Li, and M. Han, "Dynamics in a ratio-dependent predator-prey model with predator harvesting," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 324, no. 1, pp. 14– 29, 2006.
- [3] M. Xiao and J. Cao, "Hopf bifurcation and non-hyperbolic equilibrium in a ratio-dependent predator-prey model with linear harvesting rate: analysis and computation," *Mathematical* and Computer Modelling, vol. 50, no. 3-4, pp. 360–379, 2009.
- [4] R. Xu, Q. Gan, and Z. Ma, "Stability and bifurcation analysis on a ratio-dependent predator-prey model with time delay," *Journal* of Computational and Applied Mathematics, vol. 230, no. 1, pp. 187–203, 2009.
- [5] Y. Kuang and E. Beretta, "Global qualitative analysis of a ratiodependent predator-prey system," *Journal of Mathematical Biol*ogy, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 389–406, 1998.
- [6] S. Ruan and J. Wei, "Periodic solutions of planar systems with two delays," *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh A*, vol. 129, no. 5, pp. 1017–1032, 1999.
- [7] S. Ruan and J. Wei, "On the zeros of transcendental functions with applications to stability of delay differential equations with two delays," *Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete & Impulsive Systems A*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 863–874, 2003.
- [8] B. Zheng, Y. Zhang, and C. Zhang, "Global existence of periodic solutions on a simplified BAM neural network model with delays," *Chaos, Solitons and Fractals*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 1397–1408, 2008.
- [9] C. Sun and M. Han, "Global Hopf bifurcation analysis on a BAM neural network with delays," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 45, no. 1-2, pp. 61–67, 2007.
- [10] F. Botelho and V. A. Gaiko, "Global analysis of planar neural networks," *Nonlinear Analysis. Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 64, no. 5, pp. 1002–1011, 2006.
- [11] X.-Y. Meng, H.-F. Huo, and X.-B. Zhang, "Stability and global Hopf bifurcation in a delayed food web consisting of a prey and two predators," *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 4335–4348, 2011.
- [12] Y. Song, Y. Peng, and J. Wei, "Bifurcations for a predator-prey system with two delays," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 337, no. 1, pp. 466–479, 2008.
- [13] J. Wu, "Symmetric functional-differential equations and neural networks with memory," *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 350, no. 12, pp. 4799–4838, 1998.

15

- [14] J. K. Hale and S. M. Verduyn Lunel, *Introduction to Functional-Differential Equations*, vol. 99 of *Applied Mathematical Sciences*, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 1993.
- [15] B. D. Hassard, N. D. Kazarinoff, and Y. H. Wan, *Theory and Applications of Hopf Bifurcation*, vol. 41 of *London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Mass, USA, 1981.
- [16] T. Faria and L. T. Magalhães, "Normal forms for retarded functional-differential equations and applications to Bogdanov-Takens singularity," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 122, no. 2, pp. 201–224, 1995.
- [17] S. A. Chaplygin, *Complete Works III*, Akademia Nauk SSSR, Leningrad, Russia, 1935.
- [18] N. S. Kurpel and V. I. Grechko, "On some modifications of Chaplygin's method for equations in partially orderedspaces," *Ukrainian Mathematical Journal*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 30–36, 1973.
- [19] A. Dzieliński, "Stability of a class of adaptive nonlinear systems," International Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computer Science, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 455–462, 2005.
- [20] X. Song and L. Chen, "Optimal harvesting and stability for a two-species competitive system with stage structure," *Mathematical Biosciences*, vol. 170, no. 2, pp. 173–186, 2001.

Research Article

Boundedness of Solutions for a Class of Second-Order Periodic Systems

Shunjun Jiang¹ and Yan Ding²

¹ College of Sciences, Nanjing University of Technology, Nanjing 210009, China
 ² Overseas Education College, Nanjing University of Technology, Nanjing 210009, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Shunjun Jiang; jiangshunjun@yahoo.com.cn

Received 26 June 2013; Accepted 4 November 2013

Academic Editor: Yuriy Rogovchenko

Copyright © 2013 S. Jiang and Y. Ding. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

In this paper we study the following second-order periodic system: x'' + V'(x) + p(x,t) = 0, where V(x) has a singularity. Under some assumptions on the V(x) and p(x,t) by Ortega' small twist theorem, we obtain the existence of quasi-periodic solutions and boundedness of all the solutions.

1. Introduction and Main Result

In 1991, Levi [1] considered the following equation:

$$x'' + V'(x,t) = 0,$$
 (1)

where V(x,t) satisfies some growth conditions and V(x,t) = V(x,t + 1). The author reduced the system to a normal form and then applied Moser twist theorem to prove the existence of quasi-periodic solution and the boundedness of all solutions. This result relies on the fact that the nonlinearity V(x,t) can guarantee the twist condition of KAM theorem. Later, several authors improved Levi's result; we refer to [2–4] and the references therein.

Recently, Capietto et al. [5] studied the following equation:

$$x'' + V'(x) = F(x,t),$$
(2)

wher F(x,t) = p(t) is a π -periodic function and $V(x) = (1/2)x_+^2 + (1/(1-x_-^2)^{\nu}) - 1$, where $x_+ = \max\{x, 0\}, x_- = \max\{-x, 0\}$, and ν is a positive integer. Under the Lazer-Leach assumption that

$$1 + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{\pi} p(t_0 + \theta) \sin \theta d\theta > 0, \quad \forall t_0 \in R,$$
 (3)

they prove the boundedness of solutions and the existence of quasi-periodic solution by Moser twist theorem. It is the first

time that the equation of the boundedness of all solutions is treated in case of a singular potential.

We observe that F(x,t) = p(t) in (2) is smooth and bounded, so a natural question is to find sufficient conditions on F(x,t) such that all solutions of (2) are bounded when F(x,t) is unbounded. The purpose of this paper is to deal with this problem.

Motivated by the papers [1, 5, 6], we consider the following equation:

$$x'' + V'(x) + p(x,t) = 0,$$
 (4)

where

$$V = \frac{1}{2}x_{+}^{2} + \frac{1}{1 - x_{-}^{2}} - 1, \quad x > -1.$$
 (5)

In order to state our main results, we give some notation and assumptions. Let $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ be some fixed constant. Let

$$\overline{p} = \frac{p(x,t)}{|x|^{\alpha}}, \qquad P(x,t) = \int_0^x p(s,t) \, ds. \tag{6}$$

- (A1) Assume $p(x, t) \in C^{7,6}(S^1 \times R)$ and $\lim_{x \to +\infty} \overline{p}(x, t) = \overline{p}_+(t)$ uniformly in *t*.
- (A2) $\lim_{x \to +\infty} x^m (\partial^{m+n} \overline{p}(x,t)/\partial x^m \partial t^n) = \overline{p}_{+,m,n}(t) \text{ uni-formly in } t \text{ for } (m,n) = (6,0), (6,7), (0,7), \text{ where } \overline{p}_{+,m,0}(t) \equiv 0 \text{ and } \overline{p}_{+,6,7}(t) \equiv 0.$

(A3) We suppose Lazer-Leach assumption holds:

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} \overline{p}_{+} \left(t_{0} + \theta \right) \left(\sin \theta \right)^{1+\alpha} d\theta > 0, \quad \forall t_{0} \in R.$$
(7)

Our main result is the following theorem.

Theorem 1. Under the assumptions (A1)–(A3), all the solutions of (4) are defined for all $t \in (-\infty, +\infty)$, and for each solution x(t), one has $\sup_{t \in R} (|x(t)| + |x'(t)|) < +\infty$.

The main idea of our proof is acquired from [6]. The proof of Theorem 1 is based on a small twist theorem due to Ortega [7]. The hypotheses (A1)–(A3) of our theorem are used to prove that the Poincaré mapping of (4) satisfies the assumptions of Ortega's theorem.

Moreover, we have the following theorem on solutions of Mather type.

Theorem 2. Assume that $p(t) \in C$ satisfies (7); then, there is an $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that, for any $\omega \in (1/\pi, 1/(\pi + \epsilon_0))$, (4) has a solution $(x_{\omega}(t), x'_{\omega}(t))$ of Mather type with rotation number ω . More precisely,

Case 1 ($\omega = p/q$ *is rational*). The solutions ($x_{\omega}(t+2i\pi), x'_{\omega}(t+2i\pi)$), $1 \le i \le q-1$, are mutually unlinked periodic solution of periodic $q\pi$; moreover, in this case,

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \min_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \left| x_{\omega}(t) \right| + \left| x_{\omega}'(t) \right| = +\infty.$$
(8)

Case 2 (\omega is irrational). The solution $(x_{\omega}(t), x'_{\omega}(t))$ is either a usual quasi-periodic solution or a generalized one.

2. Proof of Theorem

2.1. Action-Angle Variables and Some Estimates. Observe that (4) is equivalent to the following Hamiltonian system:

$$x' = \frac{\partial H}{\partial y}, \qquad y' = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x}$$
 (9)

with the Hamiltonian function

$$H(x, y, t) = \frac{1}{2}y^{2} + V(x) + P(x, t).$$
(10)

In order to introduce action and angle variables, we first consider the auxiliary autonomous equation:

$$x' = y, \qquad y' = -V'(x),$$
 (11)

which is an integrable Hamiltonian system with Hamiltonian function

$$H_1(x, y, t) = \frac{1}{2}y^2 + V(x).$$
 (12)

The closed curves $H_1(x, y, t) = h > 0$ are just the integral curves of (11).

Denote by $T_0(h)$ the time period of the integral curve Γ_h of (11) defined by $H_1(x, y, t) = h$ and by *I* the area enclosed

by the closed curve Γ_h for every h > 0. Let $-1 < -\alpha_h < 0 < \beta_h$ be such that $V(-\alpha_h) = V(\beta_h) = h$. It is easy to see that

$$I_{0}(h) = 2 \int_{-\alpha_{h}}^{\beta_{h}} \sqrt{2(h - V(s))} ds, \quad \forall h > 0,$$

$$T_{0}(h) = I_{0}'(h) = 2 \int_{\alpha_{h}}^{\beta_{h}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h - V(s))}} ds, \quad \forall h > 0.$$
(13)

By direct computation we get

$$I_{0}(h) = 2 \int_{0}^{\beta_{h}} \sqrt{2(h - V(s))} ds + 2 \int_{-\alpha_{h}}^{0} \sqrt{2(h - V(s))} ds$$
$$= \pi h + 2 \int_{0}^{\alpha_{h}} \sqrt{2(h - V(-s))} ds,$$
(14)

so

$$T_0(h) = \pi + \int_0^{\alpha_h} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h - V(-s))}} ds.$$
 (15)

We then have

$$I_{0}(h) = I_{-}(h) + I_{+}(h), \qquad T_{0}(h) = T_{-}(h) + T_{+}(h), \quad (16)$$

where

$$I_{-}(h) = 2 \int_{0}^{-\alpha_{h}} \sqrt{2(h - V(s))} ds, \qquad I_{+}(h) = \pi h,$$

$$T_{-}(h) = 2 \int_{0}^{-\alpha_{h}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h - V(-s))}} ds, \qquad T_{+}(h) = \pi.$$
(17)

We now give the estimates on the functions I_{-} and T_{-} .

Lemma 3. One has

$$h^{n} \left| \frac{d^{n} T_{-}(h)}{dh^{n}} \right| \leq C h^{-1/2},$$

$$h^{n} \left| \frac{d^{n} I_{-}(h)}{dh^{n}} \right| \leq C h^{1/2},$$
(18)

where $n = 0, 1, ..., 6, h \to \infty$. Note that here and below one always uses C, C_0 , or C'_0 to indicate some constants.

Proof. Now we estimate the first inequality. We chose $V(s)/h = \eta$ as the new variable of integration; then we have

$$T_{-}(h) = \int_{-\alpha_{h}}^{0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h-V(s))}} ds$$

=
$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{\sqrt{h}}{V'(s(\eta,h))} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(1-\eta)}} d\eta.$$
 (19)

Since $V(s) = (1/(1 - s^2)) - 1$ and $V(s)/h = \eta$, we have $s = \sqrt{\eta h/(1 + \eta h)}$. By direct computation, we have

$$V'(s) = \frac{2s}{\left(1 - s^2\right)^2} = \frac{2\sqrt{\eta h} \left(1 + \eta h\right)^2}{\sqrt{1 + \eta h}},$$
 (20)

and then we get

$$T_{-}^{(n)}(h) = \frac{(-3/2)!}{((-3/2) - n)!} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\eta^{n}}{\sqrt{2\eta (1 - \eta)} (1 + \eta h)^{(3/2) + n}} d\eta,$$

$$n = 0, 1, \dots, 6.$$
(21)

When $0 \le \eta \le h^{-1}$ and *h* is sufficiently large, there exits C_0 such that $1 - \eta > C_0$, so we have

$$\int_{0}^{h^{-1}} \frac{\eta^{n}}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)} (1+\eta h)^{(3/2)+n}} d\eta$$

$$\leq C \int_{0}^{h^{-1}} \frac{\eta^{n}}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)}} d\eta \qquad (22)$$

$$\leq \frac{C}{C_{0}} \int_{0}^{h^{-1}} \eta^{n-(1/2)} d\eta \leq Ch^{-(1/2)-n}.$$

Since $h^{-2/3} \le \eta \le 1$, we have

$$h^{1/3} < 1 + h^{1/3} \le 1 + \eta h \le 1 + h,$$
 (23)

and then

$$\int_{h^{-2/3}}^{1} \frac{\eta^{n}}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)} (1+\eta h)^{(3/2)+n}} d\eta$$

$$\leq C \int_{h^{-2/3}}^{1} \frac{\eta^{n} h^{n}}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)} h^{n} (1+\eta h)^{n} (1+\eta h)^{3/2}} d\eta$$

$$\leq C \int_{h^{-2/3}}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)} h^{n} (1+\eta h)^{3/2}} d\eta \qquad (24)$$

$$\leq C \int_{h^{-2/3}}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)} h^{n} h^{1/2}} d\eta$$

$$\leq C h^{(-1/2)-n} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)}} d\eta \leq C h^{(-1/2)-n}.$$

Observing that there is $C_0 > 0$ such that $\sqrt{1-\eta} \ge C_0$ when $h^{-1} \le \eta \le h^{-2/3}$ and $h \to +\infty$, we have

$$\int_{h^{-1}}^{h^{-2/3}} \frac{\eta^{n}}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)} (1+\eta h)^{(3/2)+n}} d\eta
\leq C_{1} h^{(-3/2)-n} \int_{h^{-1}}^{h^{-2/3}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\eta (1-\eta)} \eta^{3/2}} d\eta
\leq \frac{C_{1}}{C_{0}} h^{(-3/2)-n} \int_{h^{-1}}^{h^{-2/3}} \frac{1}{\eta^{2}} d\eta = \frac{C_{1}}{C_{0}} h^{(-3/2)-n} \frac{1}{\eta} \Big|_{h_{-1}}^{h^{-2/3}}
= \frac{C_{1}}{C_{0}} h^{(-3/2)-n} \left(h-h^{2/3}\right) \leq C h^{-(1/2)-n}.$$
(25)

By (22)–(25) we have $T_{-}^{(n)}(h) \leq Ch^{(-1/2)-n}$, n = 0, 1, ..., 6.

The proof of the second inequality is similar to the first one, so we only give a brief proof.

We choose $V(s)/h = \eta$ as the new variable of integration, so we have

$$\frac{\partial s}{\partial h} = \frac{\eta}{V'}, \qquad s = \sqrt{\frac{\eta h}{1 + \eta h}},$$

$$V'(s) = \frac{2s}{\left(1 - s^2\right)^2} = \frac{2\sqrt{\eta h}\left(1 + \eta h\right)^2}{\sqrt{1 + \eta h}}.$$
(26)

By direct computation, we have

$$I_{-}(h) = 2 \int_{-\alpha_{h}}^{0} \sqrt{2(h - V(s))} ds = h \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\sqrt{2(1 - \eta)}}{\sqrt{\eta}(1 + \eta h)^{3/2}} d\eta.$$
(27)

By (27), we can easily get

$$I_{-}^{(n)}(h) = I_{-1}^{(n)}(h) + I_{-2}^{(n)}(h)$$

$$= n \frac{(-3/2)!}{((-3/2) - n + 1)!}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\sqrt{2(1 - \eta)}}{\sqrt{\eta}} \frac{\eta^{n-1}}{(1 + \eta h)^{(3/2) + n - 1}} d\eta$$

$$+ \frac{(-3/2)!}{((-3/2) - n)!} h \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\sqrt{2(1 - \eta)}}{\sqrt{\eta}} \frac{\eta^{n}}{(1 + \eta h)^{(3/2) + n}} d\eta,$$
(28)

where n = 0, 1, ..., 6.

By a similar way to that used in estimating $T_{-}^{(n)}(h)$, we get

$$I_{-1}^{(n)}(h) \le Ch^{(1/2)-n}, \qquad I_{-2}^{(n)}(h) \le Ch^{(1/2)-n},$$
 (29)

which means that

$$I_{-}^{(n)}(h) \le Ch^{(1/2)-n}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots, 6.$$
 (30)

Remark 4. It follows from the definitions of $T_+(h)$, $T_-(h)$ and Lemma 3 that

$$\lim_{h \to +\infty} T_{-}(h) = 0, \qquad \lim_{h \to +\infty} T_{+}(h) = \pi.$$
(31)

Thus the time period $T_0(h)$ is dominated by $T_+(h)$ when h is sufficiently large. From the relation between $T_-(h)$ and $I_-(h)$, we know $I_0(h)$ is dominated by $I_+(h)$ when h is sufficiently large.

Remark 5. It also follows from the definition of I(h), $I_{-}(h)$, $I_{+}(h)$ and Remark 4 that

$$\left| h^{n} \frac{d^{n} I_{0}(h)}{dh^{n}} \right| \le C_{0} I_{0}(h), \quad \text{for } n \ge 1.$$
(32)

Remark 6. Note that $h = h_0(I_0)$ is the inverse function of I_0 . By Remark 5, we have

$$\left|I^{n}\frac{d^{n}h\left(I\right)}{dI^{n}}\right| \leq C_{0}h\left(I\right) \quad \text{for } n \geq 1.$$
(33)

We now carry out the standard reduction to the actionangle variables. For this purpose, we define the generating function $S(x, I) = \int_C \sqrt{2(h - V(s))} ds$, where *C* is the part of the closed curve Γ_h connecting the point on the *y*-axis and point (x, y).

We define the well-known map $(\theta, I) \rightarrow (x, y)$ by

$$y = \frac{\partial S}{\partial x}(x, I), \qquad \theta = \frac{\partial S}{\partial I}(x, I), \qquad (34)$$

which is symplectic since

$$dx \wedge dy = dx \wedge (S_{xx}dx + S_{xI}dI) = S_{xI}dx \wedge dI,$$

$$d\theta \wedge dI = (S_{Ix}dx + S_{II}dI) \wedge dI = S_{Ix}d \wedge dI.$$
(35)

From the above discussion, we can easily get

$$\theta = \begin{cases} \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y))} \\ \times \left(\frac{T_-(h(x, y))}{2} + \arcsin\frac{x}{\sqrt{2(h(x, y))}}\right), \\ \text{if } x > 0, \ y > 0, \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y))} \\ \times \left(\frac{T_-(h(x, y))}{2} + \pi + \arcsin\frac{x}{\sqrt{2(h(x, y))}}\right), \\ \text{if } x > 0, \ y < 0, \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y))} \\ \times \left(\int_{-\alpha_h}^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h(x, y) + 1 - (1 - s^2)^{-1})}} ds\right), \\ \text{if } x < 0, \ y > 0, \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y))} \\ \times \left(T_0(h(x, y)) - \int_{-\alpha_h}^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h(x, y) + 1 - (1 - s^2)^{-1})}} ds\right), \\ \text{if } x < 0, \ y > 0, \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y))} \\ \times \left(T_0(h(x, y)) - \int_{-\alpha_h}^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h(x, y) + 1 - (1 - s^2)^{-1})}} ds\right), \\ \text{if } x < 0, \ y < 0, \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y))} \\ \times \left(T_0(h(x, y)) - \int_{-\alpha_h}^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h(x, y) - 1 - (1 - s^2)^{-1})}} ds\right), \\ \text{if } x < 0, \ y < 0, \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y))} \\ + \left(T_0(h(x, y)) - \int_{-\alpha_h}^x \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(h(x, y) - 1 - (1 - s^2)^{-1})}} ds\right), \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y) - 1 - (1 - s^2)^{-1})} \\ \frac{\pi}{T_0(h(x, y) - 1 - (1 - s^2)^{-1}$$

(36)

In the new variables (θ, I) , the system (9) becomes

$$\theta' = \frac{\partial H}{\partial I}, \qquad I' = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \theta},$$
(37)

where

$$H(\theta, I, t) = \pi h_0(I) + \pi P(x(I, \theta), t).$$
(38)

In order to estimate $\pi P(I, \theta)$, we need the estimate on the function $x(I, \theta)$.

Lemma 7. For I sufficiently large and $-\alpha_h \leq x < 0$, the following estimates hold:

$$\left|I^{n}\frac{\partial^{n}x\left(I,\theta\right)}{\partial I^{n}}\right| \leq c\sqrt{I}, \quad for \ 0 \leq n \leq 6.$$
(39)

The Lemma was first proved in [1], and later [5] gives a different proof; [8] using the method of induction hypothesis also gives another proof. So, for concision, we omit the proof.

2.2. New Action and Angle Variables. Now we are concerned with the Hamiltonian system (37) with Hamiltonian function $H(\theta, I, t)$ given by (38). Note that

$$Id\theta - Hdt = -(Hdt - Id\theta).$$
⁽⁴⁰⁾

This means that if one can solve I from (38) as a function of H (using θ and t as parameters), then

$$\frac{dH}{d\theta} = -\frac{\partial I}{\partial t} \left(t, H, \theta \right), \qquad \frac{dt}{d\theta} = \frac{\partial I}{\partial H} \left(t, H, \theta \right)$$
(41)

is also a Hamiltonian system with Hamiltonian function *I* and now the action, angle, and time variables are *H*, *t*, and θ .

From (38) and Lemma 3, we have

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial I} \longrightarrow 1, \quad \text{as } I \longrightarrow +\infty.$$
 (42)

So we assume that I can be written as

$$I = I_0 \left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R(H, t, \theta)\right), \tag{43}$$

where *R* satisfies $|R| < H/\pi$. Recalling that h_0 is the inverse function of I_0 , we have

$$\frac{H}{\pi} + R\left(H, t, \theta\right) = h_0\left(I\right),\tag{44}$$

which implies that

$$R(H, t, \theta) = P(x(I, \theta), t).$$
(45)

As a consequence, R is implicitly defined by

$$R(H,t,\theta) = P\left(x\left(I_0\left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R(H,t,\theta)\right), \theta\right), t\right).$$
(46)

For the estimates of *R*, we need the following lemmas.

Lemma 8. Let f(x,t) and g(x,t) be continuously differentiable for $(x,t) \in [0,+\infty) \times I$, where I is an interval of R. If

(1) $g(x,t) \to \infty$ as $x \to +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $t \in I$,

(2) $f'_x(x,t)/g'_x(x,t) \rightarrow h(t)$ as $x \rightarrow +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $t \in I$,

then one has $f(x,t)/g(x,t) \rightarrow h(t)$ as $x \rightarrow +\infty$, uniformly with respect to $t \in I$.

Proof. For any $0 < \epsilon < 1$, there exits X_1 , such that if $x > X_1$, we have

$$\left|\frac{f'_{x}(x,t)}{g'_{x}(x,t)} - h(t)\right| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2}, \quad \forall t \in I.$$
(47)

Let $x_0 = X_1 + 1$. Then by Lagrangian differential mean value theorem, it follows that, for all $x > X_1$, we have

$$\left|\frac{f(x,t) - f(x_0,t)}{g(x,t) - g(x_0,t)} - h(t)\right| \le \frac{\epsilon}{2}, \quad \forall t \in I.$$
(48)

Moreover, there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$\left| g(x_0, t) \frac{f(x, t) - f(x_0, t)}{g(x, t) - g(x_0, t)} - f(x_0, t) \right| \le M, \quad \forall t \in I.$$
(49)

By condition (A1), there exists $X > X_1$; we have $|g(x,t)| > 2M/\epsilon$.

$$\frac{f(x,t)}{g(x,t)} - h(t) \bigg| \leq \bigg| \frac{f(x,t) - f(x_0,t)}{g(x,t) - g(x_0,t)} - h(t) \bigg| \\
+ \bigg| \frac{1}{g(x,t)} \bigg(g(x_0,t) \frac{f(x,t) - f(x_0,t)}{g(x,t) - g(x_0,t)} - f(x_0,t) \bigg) \bigg| < \epsilon.$$
(50)

Lemma 9. Under the assumptions (A1) and (A2), the following results hold:

- (1) $\lim_{x \to +\infty} (x^m (\partial^{m+n} \overline{p}(x,t)/\partial x^m \partial t^n)) = \overline{p}_{+,m,n}(t) \text{ uni-formly in } t, \text{ for } 0 \le m \le 6 \text{ and } 0 \le n \le 7, \text{ where } \overline{p}_{+,m,n}(t) = 0 \text{ for } 1 \le m \le 6, 0 \le n \le 7 \text{ and } \overline{p}_{+,0,n}(t) = \overline{p}^{(n)}(t) \text{ for } 0 \le n \le 7.$
- (2) $\lim_{x \to +\infty} (x^m (\partial^{m+n} / \partial x^m \partial t^n) (P(x, t) / |x|^{\sigma} x)) = (1 / (\sigma + 1))\overline{p}_{+,m,n}(t), \text{ for } 0 \le m \le 6 \text{ and } 0 \le n \le 7, \text{ where } \overline{p}_{+,7,n}(t) = 0 \text{ for } 0 \le n \le 7.$

Proof. Result (1) is similar to Lemma 2.1 in [9], so we omit the proof.

For result (2), we first prove that, for $1 \le m \le 6$ and $0 \le n \le 7$,

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} x^{m} \frac{\left(\frac{\partial^{m+n}}{\partial x^{m} \partial t^{n}}\right) p(t,x)}{|x|^{\sigma}}$$

$$= \sigma \cdots (\sigma - m + 1) \overline{p}_{+}^{(n)}(t).$$
(51)

For m = 1 and $0 \le n \le 7$, by result (1), we have that

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} x \left\{ -\sigma \cdot \frac{\left(\partial^n / \partial t^n\right) p(t, x)}{|x|^{\sigma} \cdot x} + \frac{\left(\partial^{1+n} / \partial x \partial t^n\right) p(t, x)}{|x|^{\sigma}} \right\} = 0,$$
(52)

uniformly in *t*. It follows that

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} x \cdot \frac{\left(\partial^{1+n}/\partial x \partial t^n\right) p(t,x)}{|x|^{\sigma}} = \sigma \cdot \overline{p}_+^{(n)}(t).$$
 (53)

This means that (51) holds for m = 1. For m = 2, combining this with result (1) and the result of (51) for m = 1, we have that (51) still holds. Inductively we can prove that (51) holds for all $1 \le m \le 6$.

Obviously, it follows that

$$\frac{\partial^{n}}{\partial t^{n}} \frac{P(t,x)}{|x|^{\sigma} \cdot x} - \frac{1}{1+\alpha} \cdot \overline{p}_{+}^{(n)}(t) \\
= \frac{\int_{0}^{x} \left[\left(\partial^{n} / \partial t^{n} \right) p(t,x) - \overline{p}_{+}^{(n)}(t) \left| s \right|^{\sigma} \right] ds}{|x|^{\sigma} \cdot x}.$$
(54)

Using Lemma 8 and the first result (1) for m = 0, it follows that

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} \frac{\partial^n}{\partial t^n} \frac{P(t,x)}{|x|^{\sigma} \cdot x} = \frac{1}{\sigma+1} \overline{p}_+^{(n)}(t), \qquad (55)$$

for $0 \le n \le 7$. In a similar way to the proof of (51), we have

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} x^m \frac{\partial^{m+n}}{\partial x^m \partial t^n} \frac{P(x,t)}{|x|^{\sigma} x}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sigma+1} \overline{p}_{+,m,n}(t), \quad \text{for } 0 \le m \le 6, \ 0 \le n \le 7,$$
(56)

where $\overline{p}_{+,7,n}(t) = 0$. Thus we proved Lemma 9.

Now we give the estimates of *R*. By Lemma 9, in a similar way to that for Lemma 2.3 in [5], we have the following lemma.

Lemma 10. The function $R(H, t, \theta)$ satisfies the following estimates:

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{m+l}R(H,t,\theta)}{\partial H^m \partial t^l}\right| \le H^{(\alpha+1)/2}, \quad for \ m+l \le 6.$$
(57)

Moreover, by the implicit function theorem, there exists a function $R_1 = R_1(t, H, \theta)$ such that

$$R(H, t, \theta) = P(x(H, \theta), t) + R_1(H, t, \theta).$$
(58)

Since

$$R_{1}(H, t, \theta) = R(H, t, \theta) - P(x(H, \theta), t)$$

$$= P\left\{x\left[I_{0}\left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R(H, t, \theta)\right), \theta\right], t\right\}$$

$$- P(x(H, \theta), t)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} p\left\{x\left[H + s\left(\pi R + I_{-}\right), \theta\right], t\right\}$$

$$\cdot \frac{\partial x}{\partial I}\left(H + s\left(\pi R + I_{-}\right), \theta\right) \cdot (\pi R + I_{-}) ds,$$
(59)

by Lemmas 3 and 10, we have the estimates on $R_1(H, t, \theta)$.

Lemma 11. Consider the following:

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{k+l}R_1(H,t,\theta)}{\partial^k H \partial^l t}\right| < H^{\alpha/2} \quad for \ k+l \le 6.$$
(60)

For the estimate of $I((H/\pi) + R)$, we need the estimate on $I_{-}((H/\pi) + R)$. By Lemma 3 and noticing that $|R| < H/\pi$, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 12. Consider the following:

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{k+l}I_{-}\left((H/\pi)+R\right)}{\partial^{k}H\partial^{l}t}\right| < H^{1/2} \quad for \ k+l \le 6.$$
(61)

Now the new Hamiltonian function $I = I(t, H, \theta)$ is written in the form

$$I = I_0 \left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R\right) = I_+ \left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R\right) + I_- \left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R\right)$$

$$= H + \pi R \left(H, t, \theta\right) + I_- \left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R\right)$$

$$= H + \pi P \left(x \left(H, \theta\right), t\right) + R_1 \left(H, t, \theta\right) + I_- \left(\frac{H}{\pi} + R\right).$$

(62)

The system (41) is of the form

$$\frac{dt}{d\theta} = \frac{\partial I}{\partial H} = 1 + \pi \frac{\partial x}{\partial H} (H, \theta) p (x (H, \theta), t)
+ \frac{\partial R_1}{\partial H} (H, t, \theta) + \frac{\partial I_-}{\partial H} (H, t, \theta),$$

$$\frac{dH}{d\theta} = -\frac{\partial I}{\partial t} = -\pi \frac{\partial P}{\partial t} (x (\theta, H), t)
- \frac{\partial R_1}{\partial t} (t, H, \theta) - \frac{\partial I_-}{\partial t} (H, t, \theta).$$
(63)

Introduce a new action variable $\rho \in [1, 2]$ and a parameter $\epsilon > 0$ by $H = \epsilon^{-2}\rho$. Then, $H \gg 1 \Leftrightarrow 0 < \epsilon \ll 1$. Under this transformation, the system (63) is changed into the form

$$\frac{dt}{d\theta} = \frac{\partial I}{\partial H} = 1 + \pi \frac{\partial x}{\partial H} (H, \theta) p (x (H, \theta), t)
+ \frac{\partial R_1}{\partial H} (H, t, \theta) + \frac{\partial I_-}{\partial H} (H, t, \theta),
\frac{d\rho}{d\theta} = -\frac{\partial I}{\partial t} = -\epsilon^2 \left[\pi \frac{\partial P}{\partial t} (x (\theta, H), t)
+ \frac{\partial R_1}{\partial t} (H, t, \theta) + \frac{\partial I_-}{\partial t} (H, t, \theta) \right],$$
(64)

which is also Hamiltonian system with the new Hamiltonian function

$$\Gamma(t,\rho,\theta;\epsilon) = \rho + \pi \epsilon^{-2} P\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho\right),t\right) + \epsilon^{-2} R_1\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta,t\right) + \epsilon^{-2} I_-\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta,t\right).$$
(65)

Obviously, if $\epsilon \ll 1$, the solution $(t(\theta, t_0, \rho_0), \rho(\theta, t_0, \rho_0))$ of (64) with the initial date $(t_0, \rho_0) \in R \times [1, 2]$ is defined in the interval $\theta \in [0, 2\pi]$ and $\rho(\theta, t_0, \rho_0) \in [(1/2), 3]$. So the Poincaré map of (64) is well defined in the domain $R \times [1, 2]$.

Lemma 13 (see [6] Lemma 5.1). *The Poincaré map of* (64) *has intersection property.*

The proof is similar to the corresponding one in [6].

For convenience we introduce the notation $O_k(1)$ and $o_k(1)$. We say a function $f(t, \rho, \theta, \epsilon) \in O_k(1)$ if f is smooth in (t, ρ) and, for $k_1 + k_2 \le k$,

$$\left|\frac{\partial^{k_1+k_2}}{\partial t^{k_1}\partial \rho^{k_2}}f\left(t,\rho,\theta,\epsilon\right)\right| \le C,\tag{66}$$

for some constant C > 0 which is independent of the arguments t, ρ , θ , and ϵ .

Similarly, we say $f(t, \rho, \theta, \epsilon) \in o_k(1)$ if f is smooth in (t, ρ) and, for $k_1 + k_2 \le k$,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left| \frac{\partial^{k_1 + k_2}}{\partial t^{k_1} \partial \rho^{k_2}} f\left(t, \rho, \theta, \epsilon\right) \right| = 0, \tag{67}$$

uniformly in (t, ρ, θ) .

2.3. Poincaré Map and Twist Theorems. We will use Ortega' small twist theorem to prove that the Pioncaré map P has an invariant closed curve, if ϵ is sufficiently small. Let us first recall the theorem in [7].

Lemma 14 (Ortega's Theorem). Let $A = S^1 \times [a, b]$ be a finite cylinder with universal cover $A = \mathbb{R} \times [a, b]$. The coordinate in A is denoted by (τ, ν) . Consider a map

$$\overline{f}: A \longrightarrow \mathbb{S} \times \mathbb{R}.$$
(68)

One assumes that the map has the intersection property. Suppose that $f : A \to \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$, $(\tau_0, \nu_0) \to (\tau_1, \nu_1)$ is a lift of \overline{f} and it has the form

$$\tau_{1} = \tau_{0} + 2N\pi + \delta l_{1} (\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) + \delta \tilde{g}_{1} (\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}),$$

$$\nu_{1} = \nu_{0} + \delta l_{2} (\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) + \delta \tilde{g}_{2} (\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}),$$
(69)

where N is an integer and $\delta \in (0, 1)$ is a parameter. The functions l_1, l_2, \tilde{g}_1 , and \tilde{g}_2 satisfy

$$l_{1} \in C^{6}(A), \qquad l_{1}(\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) > 0, \qquad \frac{\partial l_{1}}{\partial \nu_{0}}(\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) > 0,$$
$$\forall (\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) \in A,$$
$$l_{2}(\cdot, \cdot), \tilde{g}_{1}(\cdot, \cdot, \epsilon), \tilde{g}_{2}(\cdot, \cdot, \epsilon) \in C^{5}(A).$$
(70)

In addition, one assumes that there is a function $I : A \rightarrow R$ satisfying

$$I \in C^{6}(A), \qquad \frac{\partial I}{\partial \nu_{0}}(\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) > 0, \quad \forall (\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) \in A,$$
$$l_{1}(\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) \cdot \frac{\partial I}{\partial \tau_{o}}(\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) + l_{2}(\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) \cdot \frac{\partial I}{\partial \nu_{0}}(\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) = 0, \quad (71)$$
$$\forall (\tau_{0}, \nu_{0}) \in A.$$

Moreover, suppose that there are two numbers \tilde{a} and \tilde{b} such that $a < \tilde{a} < \tilde{b} < b$ and

$$I_{M}(a) < I_{m}(\tilde{a}) \le I_{M}(\tilde{a}) < I_{m}(\tilde{b}) \le I_{M}(\tilde{b}) < I_{m}(b), \quad (72)$$

where

$$I_M(r) = \max_{\rho \in S^1} I\left(\rho_o, \tau_o\right), \qquad I_m(r) = \min_{\rho \in S^1} I\left(\rho_o, \tau_o\right). \tag{73}$$

Then there exist $\epsilon > 0$ *and* $\Delta > 0$ *such that, if* $\delta < \Delta$ *and*

$$\left\|\tilde{g}_{1}\left(\cdot,\cdot,\epsilon\right)\right\|_{C^{5}(A)}+\left\|\tilde{g}_{2}\left(\cdot,\cdot,\epsilon\right)\right\|_{C^{5}(A)}<\epsilon,$$
(74)

the mapping \overline{f} has an invariant curve in Γ_A . The constant ϵ is independent of δ .

We make the ansatz that the solution of (64) with the initial condition $(t(0), \rho(0)) = (t_0, \rho_0)$ is of the form

$$t = t_0 + \theta + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \Sigma_1 (t_0, \rho_0, \theta; \epsilon),$$

$$\rho = \rho_0 + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \Sigma_2 (t_0, \rho_0, \theta; \epsilon).$$
(75)

Then, the Poincaré map of (64) is

$$P: t_{1} = t_{0} + 2\pi + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \Sigma_{1} (t_{0}, \rho_{0}, 2\pi; \epsilon),$$

$$\rho_{1} = \rho_{0} + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \Sigma_{2} (t_{0}, \rho_{0}, 2\pi; \epsilon).$$
(76)

The functions Σ_1 and Σ_2 satisfy

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{1} &= \pi \epsilon^{\alpha - 1} \int_{0}^{\theta} \frac{\partial x}{\partial H} \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho, \theta \right) p \left(x \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho, \theta \right), t \right) d\theta \\ &+ \epsilon^{\alpha - 1} \int_{0}^{\theta} \left(\frac{\partial R_{1}}{\partial H} \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho, t, \theta \right) + \frac{\partial I_{-}}{\partial H} \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho, t, \theta \right) \right) d\theta, \\ \Sigma_{2} &= -\pi \epsilon^{\alpha + 1} \int_{0}^{\theta} \frac{\partial P}{\partial t} \left(x \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho, \theta \right), t \right) d\theta \\ &- \epsilon^{\alpha + 1} \int_{0}^{\theta} \left(\frac{\partial R_{1}}{\partial t} \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho, t, \theta \right) - \frac{\partial I_{-}}{\partial t} \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho, t, \theta \right) \right) d\theta, \end{split}$$
(77)

where $t = t_0 + \theta + e^{1-\alpha}\Sigma_1$ and $\rho = \rho_0 + e^{1-\alpha}\Sigma_2$. By Lemmas 9, 11, and 12, we know that

$$\left|\Sigma_{1}\right| + \left|\Sigma_{2}\right| \le C \quad \text{for } \theta \in [0, 2\pi].$$
(78)

Hence, for $\rho_0 \in [1,2]$, we may choose ϵ sufficiently small such that

$$\rho_0 + \epsilon \Sigma_2 \ge \frac{\rho_0}{2} \ge \frac{1}{2}.$$
(79)

Moreover we can prove that

$$\Sigma_1, \Sigma_2 \in O_6(1). \tag{80}$$

In a similar way to that used for estimating R_1 , by direct calculation we have the following lemma.

Lemma 15. The following estimates hold:

$$P\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta\right),t\right) - P\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right),t_{0}\right) \in \epsilon^{-\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right),$$
$$\frac{\partial P}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta\right),t\right) - \frac{\partial P}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right),t_{0}\right) \in \epsilon^{2-\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right).$$
(81)

Now we give an asymptotic expression of Poincaré map of (63); that is, we study the behavior of the functions Σ_1 and Σ_2 at $\theta = \pi$ as $\epsilon \to 0$. In order to estimate Σ_1 and Σ_2 , we need to introduce the following definition and lemma. Let

$$\Theta_{+}(I) = \operatorname{meas}\left\{\theta \in [0, \pi], x\left(H_{0}, \theta\right) > 0\right\},$$

$$\Theta_{-}(I) = T_{0} - \Theta_{+}(I),$$
(82)

where $H_0 = \epsilon^{-2} \rho_0$.

Lemma 16. Consider the following:

$$\Theta_{+}(I) = \pi + \epsilon O_{6}(1), \qquad \Theta_{-}(I) = \epsilon O_{6}(1). \tag{83}$$

Proof. This Lemma was proved in [5], so we omit the details. For estimate Σ_1 and Σ_2 , we need the estimates of x and x_H .

We recall that, when x < 0, we have

$$x(H_0,\theta) = O_6(1), \qquad |x_H(H_0,\theta)| = \epsilon^2 O_5(1).$$
 (84)

When x > 0, by the definition of θ , we have

$$\arcsin \frac{x(H_0, \theta)}{\sqrt{2h}} = \frac{T_0(h)}{\pi} \theta - \frac{T_-(h)}{2} = \theta + \epsilon^2 O_5(1), \quad (85)$$

which yields that

$$x(H_0,\theta) = \sqrt{\frac{2H_0}{\pi}}\sin\theta + O_5(1),$$

$$x_H(H_0,\theta) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2H_0\pi}}\sin\theta + \epsilon^2 O_5(1).$$
(86)

Now we can give the estimates of Σ_1 and Σ_2 .

Lemma 17. The following estimates hold true:

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_1\left(t_0,\rho_0,2\pi;\epsilon\right) &= \left(\frac{\pi}{2\rho_0}\right)^{(\alpha-1)/2} \\ &\times \int_0^{\pi} \left(\sin\theta\right)^{1+\alpha} \overline{p}_+\left(t_0+\theta\right) d\theta + o_6\left(1\right), \end{split} \tag{87}$$

$$\Sigma_{2}(t_{0},\rho_{0},2\pi;\epsilon) = -\pi^{(1-\alpha)/2} (2\rho_{0})^{(\alpha+1)/2} \times \int_{0}^{\pi} (\sin\theta)^{1+\alpha} \overline{p}'_{+}(t_{0}+\theta) d\theta + o_{6}(1),$$
(88)

for $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$.

Proof. Firstly we consider Σ_1 . By Lemmas 11, 12, and 15 and (77), we have

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{1}\left(t_{0},\rho_{0},2\pi;\epsilon\right) \\ &= \pi\epsilon^{\alpha-1}\int_{0}^{\pi}\frac{\partial x}{\partial H}\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta\right)p\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta\right),t\right)d\theta \\ &+ \epsilon^{\alpha-1}\int_{0}^{\pi}\frac{\partial R_{1}}{\partial H}\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta\right),t\right) \\ &+ \frac{\partial I_{-}}{\partial H}\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho,\theta\right),t\right)d\theta \\ &= \pi\epsilon^{\alpha-1}\int_{0}^{\pi}\frac{\partial x}{\partial H}\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right)p\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right),t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta \\ &+ \epsilon^{\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right) \\ &= \pi\epsilon^{\alpha-1}\int_{\Theta_{-}}\frac{\partial x}{\partial H}\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right)p\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right),t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta \\ &+ \pi\epsilon^{\alpha-1}\int_{\Theta_{-}}\frac{\partial x}{\partial H}\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right)p\left(x\left(\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0},\theta\right),t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta \\ &+ \epsilon^{\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right). \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

By result (2) of Lemma 9, as $\epsilon \to 0$ which means $x \to \infty$, we have

$$\pi \epsilon^{\alpha - 1} \int_{\Theta_{+}} \frac{\partial x}{\partial H} \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0}, \theta \right) p \left(x \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0}, \theta \right), t_{0} + \theta \right) d\theta$$
$$= \pi \epsilon^{\alpha - 1} \int_{\Theta_{+}} \frac{\partial x}{\partial H} \left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2} \rho \right) |x|^{\alpha} \overline{p}_{+} \left(t_{0} + \theta \right) d\theta \qquad (90)$$
$$+ \epsilon^{\alpha} O_{6} \left(1 \right).$$

By the measure of Θ_{-} , we have

$$\pi \epsilon^{\alpha - 1} \int_{\Theta_{-}} \frac{\partial x}{\partial H} \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0}, \theta \right)$$

$$\times p \left(x \left(\epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0}, \theta \right), t_{0} + \theta \right) d\theta = \epsilon^{\alpha} O_{6} \left(1 \right).$$
(91)

By (90) and (91), we have

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{1}\left(t_{0},\rho_{0},2\pi;\epsilon\right) \\ &=\pi\epsilon^{\alpha-1}\int_{\Theta_{+}}\frac{\partial x}{\partial H}\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho\right)|x|^{\alpha}\overline{p}_{+}\left(t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta+\epsilon^{\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right) \\ &=\pi\epsilon^{\alpha-1}\int_{0}^{\pi}\frac{\partial x}{\partial H}\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho\right)|x|^{\alpha}\overline{p}_{+}\left(t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta+\epsilon^{\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right) \\ &=\left(\frac{\pi}{2\rho_{0}}\right)^{(1-\alpha)/2}\int_{0}^{\pi}\left(\sin\theta\right)^{\alpha+1}\overline{p}_{+}\left(t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta+o_{6}\left(1\right). \end{split}$$
(92)

Now we consider $\Sigma_2.$ By Lemmas 11, 12, and 15 and (77), we have

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{2}\left(t_{0},\rho_{0},2\pi;\epsilon\right) \\ &= -\pi\epsilon^{\alpha+1}\int_{0}^{\pi}\frac{\partial P}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho\right),t\right)d\theta \\ &- \epsilon^{\alpha+1}\int_{0}^{\pi}\left[\frac{\partial R_{1}}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho\right),t\right)\right. \\ &+ \frac{\partial I_{-}}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho\right),t\right)\right]d\theta \\ &= -\pi\epsilon^{\alpha+1}\int_{0}^{\pi}\frac{\partial P}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0}\right),t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta + \epsilon^{\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right) \\ &= -\pi\epsilon^{\alpha+1}\int_{\Theta_{+}}\frac{\partial P}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0}\right),t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta \\ &- \pi\epsilon^{\alpha+1}\int_{\Theta_{-}}\frac{\partial P}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0}\right),t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta + \epsilon^{\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right). \end{split}$$

$$(93)$$

By result (2) of Lemma 9, as $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$, we have

$$-\pi\epsilon^{\alpha+1} \int_{\Theta_{+}} \frac{\partial P}{\partial t} \left(x\left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0}\right), t_{0} + \theta \right) d\theta$$

$$= -\frac{\pi\epsilon^{\alpha+1}}{\alpha+1} \int_{\Theta_{+}} \left| x\left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0}\right) \right|^{\alpha} x\left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0}\right) \overline{p}'_{+} \left(t_{0} + \theta\right) d\theta$$

$$+ \epsilon^{\alpha} O_{6} \left(1\right).$$
(94)

By the measure of Θ_{-} , we have

$$-\pi\epsilon^{\alpha+1}\int_{\Theta_{-}}\frac{\partial P}{\partial t}\left(x\left(\theta,\epsilon^{-2}\rho_{0}\right),t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta=\epsilon^{\alpha}O_{6}\left(1\right).$$
 (95)

By (94) and (95), we have

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{2} &= -\frac{\pi \epsilon^{\alpha+1}}{\alpha+1} \int_{\Theta_{+}} \left| x \left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0} \right) \right|^{\alpha} x \left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0} \right) \overline{p}'_{+} \\ &\times \left(t_{0} + \theta \right) d\theta + \epsilon^{\alpha} O_{6} \left(1 \right) \\ &= -\frac{\pi \epsilon^{\alpha+1}}{\alpha+1} \int_{0}^{\pi} \left| x \left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0} \right) \right|^{\alpha} x \left(\theta, \epsilon^{-2} \rho_{0} \right) \overline{p}'_{+} \\ &\times \left(t_{0} + \theta \right) d\theta + \epsilon^{\alpha} O_{6} \left(1 \right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{\alpha+1} \pi^{(1-\alpha)/2} (2\rho_{0})^{(\alpha+1)/2} \int_{0}^{\pi} (\sin \theta)^{1+\alpha} \overline{p}'_{+} \\ &\times \left(t_{0} + \theta \right) d\theta + o_{6} \left(1 \right). \end{split}$$
(96)

Thus Lemma 17 is proved.

2.4. Proof of Theorem 1. Let

$$\Psi_{1}\left(t_{0},\rho_{0}\right) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2\rho_{0}}\right)^{(1-\alpha)/2}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{\pi} (\sin\theta)^{1+\alpha}\overline{p}_{+}\left(t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta,$$

$$\Psi_{2}\left(t_{0},\rho_{0}\right) = -\frac{1}{\alpha+1}\pi^{(1-\alpha)/2}(2\rho_{0})^{(\alpha+1)/2}$$

$$\times \int_{0}^{\pi} (\sin\theta)^{1+\alpha}\overline{p}'_{+}\left(t_{0}+\theta\right)d\theta.$$
(97)

Then there are two functions ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 such that the Poincaré map of (64), given by (76) of the form

$$P: t_{1} = t_{0} + 2\pi + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \Psi_{1}(t_{0}, \rho_{0}) + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \phi_{1},$$

$$\rho_{1} = \rho_{0} + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \Psi_{2}(t_{0}, \rho_{0}) + \epsilon^{1-\alpha} \phi_{2},$$
(98)

where $\phi_1, \phi_2 \in O_6(1)$.

Since $\int_{0}^{\pi} \overline{p}_{+}(t_{0} + \theta) \sin \theta d\theta > 0, \forall t_{0} \in R$, we have

$$\Psi_1 > 0, \qquad \frac{\partial \Psi_1}{\partial \rho_0} \neq 0.$$
 (99)

Let

$$L = \frac{\rho_0^{-(1+\alpha)/2}}{\int_0^{\pi} (\sin\theta)^{1+\alpha} \overline{p}_+ (t_0 + \theta) \, d\theta}.$$
 (100)

Then

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial t_0} \Psi_1\left(t_0, \rho_0\right) + \frac{\partial L}{\partial \rho_0} \Psi_2\left(t_0, \rho_0\right) = 0.$$
(101)

The other assumptions of Ortega's theorem are easily verified. Hence, there is an invariant curve of *P* in the annulus $(t_0, \rho_0) \in S^1 \times [1.2]$ which implies the boundedness of our original equation (4). Then Theorem 1 is proved.

2.5. Proof of Theorem 2. We apply Aubry-Mather theory. By Theorem B in [10] and the monotone twist property

References

 M. Levi, "Quasiperiodic motions in superquadratic timeperiodic potentials," *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 143, no. 1, pp. 43–83, 1991.

of the Pioncaré map P guaranteed by $\partial \Psi_1 / \partial \rho_0 < 0$, it is

straightforward to check that Theorem 2 is correct.

- [2] T. Küpper and J. You, "Existence of quasiperiodic solutions and Littlewood's boundedness problem of Duffing equations with subquadratic potentials," *Nonlinear Analysis. Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 35, pp. 549–559, 1999.
- [3] X. Li, "Boundedness of solutions for Duffing's equations with semilinear potentials," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 176, no. 1, pp. 248–268, 2001.
- [4] Y. Wang, "Boundedness for sublinear Duffing equations with time-dependent potentials," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 247, no. 1, pp. 104–118, 2009.
- [5] A. Capietto, W. Dambrosio, and B. Liu, "On the boundedness of solutions to a nonlinear singular oscillator," *Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Physik*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 1007– 1034, 2009.
- [6] B. Liu, "Quasi-periodic solutions of forced isochronous oscillators at resonance," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 246, no. 9, pp. 3471–3495, 2009.
- [7] R. Ortega, "Boundedness in a piecewise linear oscillator and a variant of the small twist theorem," *Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 381–413, 1999.
- [8] S. Jiang and F. Fang, "Lagrangian stability of a class of secondorder periodic systems," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2011, Article ID 106214, 28 pages, 2011.
- [9] B. Liu, "Boundedness of solutions for equations with p-Laplacian and an asymmetric nonlinear term," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 207, no. 1, pp. 73–92, 2004.
- [10] M. L. Pei, "Aubry-Mather sets for finite-twist maps of a cylinder and semilinear Duffing equations," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 113, no. 1, pp. 106–127, 1994.

Research Article

Moment Equations in Modeling a Stable Foreign Currency Exchange Market in Conditions of Uncertainty

Josef Diblík,¹ Irada Dzhalladova,² Mária Michalková,³ and Miroslava Růžičková³

¹ Department of Mathematics, Brno University of Technology, Brno 602 00, Czech Republic

² Kyiv National Economic Vadym Hetman University, Kyiv 03680, Ukraine

³ The University of Žilina, Žilina 010 26, Slovakia

Correspondence should be addressed to Miroslava Růžičková; miroslava.ruzickova@fpv.uniza.sk

Received 26 September 2013; Accepted 12 November 2013

Academic Editor: Agacik Zafer

Copyright © 2013 Josef Diblík et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The paper develops a mathematical model of foreign currency exchange market in the form of a stochastic linear differential equation with coefficients depending on a semi-Markov process. The boundaries of the domain of its instability is determined by using moment equations.

1. Introduction

The economic growth of a given country is based on the government policy that includes numerous control moments. An important part of this policy is the correct financial policy, which defines the priorities in the development of financial relations and its function is to ensure the financial stability of the state. Finance and energy markets have been an active scientific field for some time, even though the development and applications of sophisticated quantitative methods in these areas are relatively new and referred to in a broader context as energy finance. Energy finance is often viewed as a branch of mathematical finance, yet this area continues to provide a rich source of issues that are fuelling new and exciting research developments [1].

The foreign currency exchange market is one of the most liquid financial markets with banks as major participants. Income from the foreign currency exchange transactions makes up a significant proportion of the banks income. The currency exchange risks associated with open positions are especially imminent in periods of significant fluctuations in exchange rates. The main feature of risky cases related to the market risk is that such cases occur as a result of adverse changes in the general market situation. Whenever such cases occur, the value of the assets has a tendency to decrease for a short-term period, causing liquidity gap. In view of the disbalance of the foreign currency exchange market, the negative trade balance, the high inflation, an effective foreign currency exchange rate policy determining the optimal level of foreign currency exchange rates is an important problem.

Under such conditions, it is especially important to perceive the "bank" as a comprehensive dynamic system that works in the conditions of unstable economy under high foreign currency exchange risks. Thus, a more widespread use of economic-mathematical methods and models is necessary to study the processes taking place in the "bank", evaluating the effectiveness of its work and identifying the trends and ways to improve the management of the banking activities.

Significant scientific achievements in the field of banking and construction of some models can be found in [2, 3], and some economical models are studied in [4–6]. However, many other issues of bank practices require further research and elaboration of approaches to their solution. One aspect of the model is to build stable functioning of the foreign currency exchange transactions of the "bank" as a factor of effective functioning of the banking system in general [7, 8].

Most scientists understand under the category "financial stability of the banking system" the establishment of an effective mechanism preventing the emergence of banking crises and facilitating further development of economy. Depending on the tasks, the stability of the banks may be defined as in the model presented in this paper.

The paper develops a stability model of foreign currency bank transactions with semi-Markov fluctuations. An example illustrates the theory in the special case when the semi-Markov process can take three possible states. This means that a commercial bank operates in a foreign currency exchange market that can be in three states: stable foreign currency exchange market, market in the crisis, and market with currency restrictions. In the example, we assume that the bank remains in each state for the same period of time.

In addition, the present paper contains the necessary and sufficient conditions for the mean square stability and conditions for the L_2 -stability of systems with semi-Markov coefficients and random transformations of solutions. There are constructed moment equations as a tool for studying the stochastic system stability which is working in uncertainty conditions.

2. Statement of the Problem

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, F, \mathbb{P})$ be a filtered probability space (or stochastic basis) consisting of a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ and a filtration

$$F = \{\mathcal{F}_t, \, \forall t \ge 0\} \subset \mathcal{F}.$$
 (1)

The space Ω is called the sample space, \mathscr{F} is the set of all possible events (the σ -algebra), and \mathbb{P} is some probability measure on Ω . A family $\xi = \{\xi(t) : t \ge 0\}$ of random variables $\xi(t) : \Omega \rightarrow \mathbb{L}_2$ is called a continuous-time stochastic process on the state space \mathbb{L}_2 . In our considerations, $\xi(t)$ is a random semi-Markov process and the state space \mathbb{L}_2 is the space of all random variables for which there exists squared mathematical expectation. On such a probability space, we consider initial problem formulated for the stochastic system of linear differential equations in the form

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = A(\xi(t))x(t), \qquad (2)$$

$$x(0) = \varphi(\omega), \qquad (3)$$

where $A(\xi(t))$ is an $m \times m$ matrix whose elements depend on the semi-Markov process $\xi(t)$. The state function x(t) is an *m*-dimensional column vector-function with the initial state $\varphi(\omega)$ at t = 0. For simplicity, we denote

$$A(\xi(t)) = A_k, \text{ if } \xi(t) = \theta_k, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
 (4)

where A_k are constant $m \times m$ matrices and θ_k are real numbers.

An *m*-dimensional vector-function x(t) is called a solution of the initial value problem (2) and (3) if x(t) satisfies (2) and initial condition (3) within the meaning of a strong solution of the initial Cauchy problem.

Our considerations are subject to the following assumptions.

Assumption 1. The random semi-Markov process $\xi(t)$ can take *n* possible states

$$\theta_1, \theta_2, \dots, \theta_n$$
 (5)

with transition probabilities

$$\pi_{sk}(t) = P\left\{\xi\left(t_{j+1}\right) = \theta_s \mid \xi\left(t_j\right) = \theta_k, j = 1, 2, \ldots\right\},$$

$$s, k = 1, 2, \ldots, n,$$
(6)

where $t_0 = 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots$ are the moments of time at which the jump from one state to another is realized.

If we fix any moment t > 0, then the semi-Markov process takes some of states, $\xi(t) = \theta_k$, k = 1, 2, ..., n, and the state function $x(t) \equiv x(t, \omega)$ changes in accordance with the deterministic system of differential equations

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = A_k x(t), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(7)

So the solution of such a system is in the form

$$x(t) = e^{A_k t} \varphi(\omega), \quad k = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
 (8)

Assumption 2. The jumping time during which the process is in state θ_s before it jumps to state θ_k , s, k = 1, 2, ..., n is given by a discrete integer-valued random variable T_{sk} whose probability density function is a known function $d_{sk}(t)$. Then, the intensity $q_{sk}(t)$ of the jump from state θ_s to state θ_k is given by the formula

$$q_{sk}(t) = \pi_{sk}(t) d_{sk}(t), \quad s, k = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
 (9)

and the semi-Markov process $\xi(t)$ is defined by the transition intensity matrix

$$Q(t) = (q_{sk}(t))_{s,k=1}^{n},$$
(10)

whose elements satisfy the relationships

$$q_{sk}(t) \ge 0, \qquad \int_0^\infty \sum_{s=1}^n q_{sk}(t) \, dt = \int_0^\infty q_k(t) \, dt = 1, \quad (11)$$

where $q_k(t)$ is the probability density of the elapsed time T_k in state θ_k if the process jumps to it at time t_j . If $\psi_k(t)$ denotes the probability of the event that no jump takes place during the interval (t_j, t_{j+1}) , provided that the process jumps to the state θ_k at time t_j , then

$$\psi_k(t) = \int_t^\infty q_k(\tau) \, d\tau, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (12)

In our considerations, it will be convenient to denote the block-diagonal matrix,

$$\Psi(t) = \text{diag}(\psi_1(t), \psi_2(t), \dots, \psi_n(t)).$$
(13)

Assumption 3. At the moments of jumps t_j , j = 1, 2, ... that are caused by some perturbations, solutions of (2) submit to the random transformations

$$x(t_j + 0) = C_{sk}x(t_j - 0), \quad s, k = 1, ..., n,$$
 (14)

where C_{sk} are $m \times m$ constant matrices and det $C_{sk} \neq 0$.

Our aim is to transform the stochastic system with random coefficients to a deterministic system with solutions whose stability can be considered by using classical methods. To complete this task below, we present a method of moment equations. We will show that the method is effective and useful for solving an economical model problem.

3. Construction of the Moment Equations

We define the moments of the first or second order of a random variable x before we derive the moments equations. We use some notation. In the sequel, \mathbb{E}_m denotes an *m*-dimensional Euclidean space, functions $f_k(t, x)$, $k = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ are the particular density functions of the random variable x, and the vector-function

$$f(t,x) = (f_1(t,x), f_2(t,x), \dots, f_n(t,x))^T,$$
(15)

where the operation T denotes transposition, is called the vector of particular density functions. Moreover, we define

$$S(t) := (q_{sk}S_{sk})_{s,k=1}^{n}, \quad s, k = 1, ..., n,$$

$$R(t) := \text{diag}(R_1(t), ..., R_n(t)),$$
(16)

where S_{sk} are operators defined, for a given function f, as

$$S_{sk}f(t,x) \equiv f_k(t, C_{sk}^{-1}x) \det C_{sk}^{-1}$$
 (17)

and R_k , k = 1, ..., n are operators defined, for a given function f, as

$$R_k(t) f(t, x) \equiv f_k(t, e^{-A_k t} x) \det\left(e^{-A_k t}\right).$$
(18)

Definition 4. Let $x \in \mathbb{E}_m$ be a continuous random variable depending on a random semi-Markov process $\xi(t)$ with *n* possible states θ_k , k = 1, 2, ..., n. The *n*-dimensional column vectors $E^{(1)}\{x(t)\}$ and $n \times n$ matrices $E^{(2)}\{x(t)\}$ of the form

$$E^{(1)} \{ x(t) \} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} E_{k}^{(1)} \{ x(t) \}, \qquad E^{(2)} \{ x(t) \} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} E_{k}^{(2)} \{ x(t) \},$$
(19)

where

$$E_{k}^{(1)} \{x(t)\} = \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} x f_{k}(t, x) dx,$$

$$E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(t)\} = \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} x x^{T} f_{k}(t, x) dx,$$
(20)

are called moments of the first or second order of the random variable *x*, respectively. The values $E_k^{(1)}\{x(t)\}$ and $E_k^{(2)}\{x(t)\}$, k = 1, ..., n are called particular moments of the first or second order, respectively.

Theorem 5. Let the coefficients of the linear differential system (2) depend on a random semi-Markov process $\xi(t)$ with transition intensity matrix (10) and, for solutions of system (2), there occur jumps (14) simultaneously with jumps of the process $\xi(t)$. Then, the following three statements are true.

(1) The stochastic process $(x(t), \xi(t))$ is defined by the operator equation

$$f(t, x) = L(t) f(0, x), \qquad (21)$$

where the matrix operator $L(t) \equiv (L_{ii}(t))_{i,i=1}^{n}$ satisfies

$$L(t) = \psi(t) R(t) + \int_0^t L(t-\tau) S(\tau) R(\tau) d\tau.$$
 (22)

(2) The vectors of particular moments of first order satisfy

$$E_{k}^{(1)} \{x(t)\} = \psi_{k}(t) e^{A_{k}t} E_{k}^{(1)} \{x(0)\} + \int_{0}^{t} \psi(t-\tau) e^{A_{k}(t-\tau)} Z_{k}(\tau) d\tau,$$
(23)

where

$$Z_{k}(t) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}t} E_{s}^{(1)} \{x(0)\} + \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t-\tau) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}(t-\tau)} Z_{s}(\tau) d\tau$$
(24)

and k = 1, ..., n.

(3) The matrix of particular moments of second order satisfies

$$E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(t)\} = \psi_{k}(t) e^{A_{k}t} E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} e^{A_{k}^{T}t} + \int_{0}^{t} \psi_{k}(t-\tau) e^{A_{k}(t-\tau)} W_{k}(\tau) e^{A_{k}^{T}(t-\tau)} d\tau,$$
(25)

where

$$W_{k}(t) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}t} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} e^{A_{s}^{T}t} C_{ks}^{T}$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t-\tau) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}(t-\tau)} W_{s}(\tau) e^{A_{s}^{T}(t-\tau)} C_{ks}^{T} d\tau,$$
(26)

and k = 1, ..., n.

Proof. (1) The stochastic process $(x(t), \xi(t))$ is also semi-Markov because all probabilistic properties of the process for $t > t_j$ are defined by particular probability density functions at the moment t_j of jump. Thus, there exists a linear operator $L(\tau)$ such that

$$f(t_j + \tau, x) = L(\tau) f(t_j, x), \quad j = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
 (27)

Let the stochastic process $\xi(t)$ move to state θ_k at the moment t = 0. Then,

$$p_k(0) = 1, \quad p_s(0) = 0, \quad \text{for } s \neq k, \ s = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (28)

$$f_k(0, x) \ge 0,$$
 $\int_{E_m} f_k(0, x) dx = 1,$ $f_s(0, x) \equiv 0,$
 $s \ne k.$
(29)

For particular density functions, when $t \ge 0$, we obtain

$$f_s(t, x) = L_{sk}(t) f_k(0, x), \quad k, s = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (30)

Also, with probability $\psi_k(t)$, in view of $x(0) = e^{-A_k t} x$, we obtain the equality

$$f_k(t,x) = f_k(0, e^{-A_k t} x) \det(e^{-A_k t}), \qquad f_s(t,x) \equiv 0,$$

$$k \neq s.$$
(31)

On the interval $(\tau, \tau + d\tau)$, there could be a jump of the stochastic process $\xi(\tau)$ from state θ_k to state θ_s with probability $q_{ks}(\tau)d\tau$. Taking into account that functions $q_{ks}(t)$ are continuous, we obtain the probability

$$P\left\{\tau < t_1 < \tau + d\tau\right\} = \int_{\tau}^{\tau + d\tau} q_k(s) \, ds \approx q_k(\tau) \, d\tau. \tag{32}$$

After a jump at the moment lying between moments τ and $\tau + d\tau$, we can use (27). At the moment t_1 of the first jump of the stochastic process $\xi(t)$, in accordance with (14), we have

$$f_s(t_1 + 0, x) = f_k(t_1 - 0, C_{sk}^{-1}x) \det C_{sk}^{-1}.$$
 (33)

Therefore, by using operators *R*, *S* defined in (16), to remain in state θ_k at the moment *t*, we get

$$L_{kk}(t) f_{k}(0, x)$$

$$= \psi_{k}(t) R_{k}(t) f_{k}(0, x)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} L_{ks}(t - \tau) q_{sk}(\tau) S_{sk} R_{k}(\tau) f_{k}(0, x) d\tau,$$

$$k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(34)

For transition from state θ_k to state θ_τ at the moment t, we obtain

$$L_{\tau k}(t) f_{k}(0, x) = \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} L_{\tau s}(t - \tau) q_{sk}(\tau) S_{sk} R_{k}(\tau) f_{k}(0, x) d\tau,$$
(35)

where $\tau \neq k, \tau, k = 1, \ldots, n$.

These two systems can be written in the form (22).

(2) Before we derive the system of moment equations in (23), we establish an auxiliary operator equation. Let us find the solution of (22) in the form

$$L(t) = \psi(t) R(t) + \int_{0}^{t} \psi(t-\tau) R(t-\tau) U(\tau) d\tau, \quad (36)$$

where *U* is an unknown matrix. If we put L(t) expressed in the form (36) into (22), we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} \psi(t-\tau) R(t-\tau) U(\tau) d\tau$$

= $\int_{0}^{t} \psi(t-\tau) T(t-\tau) S(\tau) R(\tau) d\tau$
+ $\int_{0}^{t} d\tau \int_{0}^{t-\tau} \psi(t-\tau-s) R(t-\tau-s) U(s) S(\tau) R(\tau) ds.$
(37)

After substituting $r = \tau + s$, $\tau = \tau$ in the double integral and after changing the order of integration, we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} d\tau \int_{0}^{t-\tau} \psi(t-\tau-s) R(t-\tau-s) U(s) S(\tau) R(\tau) ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \psi(t-r) \left(\int_{0}^{r} U(r-\tau) S(\tau) R(\tau) d\tau \right) dr.$$
(38)

Therefore, a suitable matrix U in (22) is the matrix

$$U(t) = S(t) R(t) + \int_0^t U(t-\tau) S(\tau) R(\tau) d\tau.$$
 (39)

In the other way, we can find a matrix U(t) as a solution of (36) in the form

$$U(t) = S(t) R(t) + \int_0^t S(t-\tau) R(t-\tau) V(\tau) d\tau, \quad (40)$$

where V is an unknown matrix. From this, we get

$$V(t) = S(t) R(t) + \int_0^t V(t-\tau) S(\tau) R(\tau) d\tau.$$
 (41)

A comparison of (39) and (41) implies that we can set $V(t) \equiv U(t)$. Then, (40) can be written as

$$U(t) = S(t) R(t) + \int_0^t S(t-\tau) R(t-\tau) U(\tau) d\tau, \quad (42)$$

or

$$U(t) = S(t) R(t) + \int_0^t S(\tau) R(\tau) U(t-\tau) d\tau.$$
 (43)

Multiplying (36) and (38) on the right by the vector f(0, x), we obtain

$$f(t, x) = \psi(t) R(t) f(0, x) + \int_0^t \psi(t - \tau) R(t - \tau) U(\tau) f(0, x) d\tau, U(t) f(0, x) = S(t) R(t) f(0, x) + \int_0^t S(t - \tau) R(t - \tau) U(\tau) f(0, x) d\tau.$$
(44)

Denote

$$h(t, x) = U(t) f(0, x),$$

$$(t, x) = (h_1(t, x), h_2(t, x), \dots, h_n(t, x))^T,$$
(45)

and

h

$$z_{k}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xh_{k}(t, x) dx,$$

$$W_{k}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xx^{T}h_{k}(t, x) dx,$$
(46)

where k = 1, ..., n. The system (44) can be rewritten into the scalar form

$$f_{k}(t,x) = \psi_{k}(t) R_{k}(t) f_{k}(0,x) + \int_{0}^{t} \psi_{k}(t-\tau) R_{k}(t-\tau) h_{k}(\tau,x) d\tau,$$

$$h_{k}(t,x) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t) S_{ks} R_{s}(t) f_{s}(0,x) + \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t-\tau) S_{ks} R_{s}(t-\tau) h_{s}(\tau,x) d\tau,$$

$$(47)$$

$$(47)$$

$$h_{k}(t,x) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t) f_{s}(0,x) + \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t-\tau) S_{ks} R_{s}(t-\tau) h_{s}(\tau,x) d\tau,$$

$$(47)$$

$$(47)$$

$$h_{k}(t,x) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t) f_{s}(0,x) + \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t-\tau) f_{s}(0,x) d\tau,$$

$$(47)$$

The system of (23) can be obtained by multiplying each equation of (48) by vector *x* and integrating it over the space \mathbb{E}_m . In doing so, it is necessary to use

$$\int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xf_{k}(t,x) dx = E_{k}^{(1)} \{x(t)\},$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xR_{k}(t) f_{k}(0,x)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xf_{k}(0, e^{-A_{k}t}x) \det e^{-A_{k}t} dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} e^{A_{k}t} yf_{k}(0, y) dy = e^{A_{k}t} E_{k}^{(1)} \{x(t)\},$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xR_{k}(t-\tau) h_{k}(\tau, x) dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xh_{k}(\tau, e^{-A_{k}(t-\tau)}) \det e^{-A_{k}(t-\tau)} dx$$

$$= e^{A_{k}(t-\tau)} \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} yh_{k}(\tau, y) dy = e^{A_{k}(t-\tau)} z_{k}(\tau),$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xS_{ks}R_{k}(t) f_{s}(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xS_{ks}f_{s}(0, e^{-A_{s}t}x) \det e^{-A_{s}t} dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} xf_{s}(0, x) dx = C_{ks}e^{A_{s}t}E_{s}^{(1)}\{x(0)\}.$$
(49)

(3) The system of (25) can be obtained by multiplying each equation in (48) by matrix xx^T and integrating it over the space \mathbb{E}_m by using matrix equalities

$$\int_{\mathbb{E}_m} x x^T R_k(t) f_k(0, x) dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_m} x x^T f_k(0, e^{-A_k t} x) \det e^{-A_k t} dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} e^{A_{k}t} y y^{T} e^{A_{k}^{T}t} f_{k}(0, y) dy = e^{A_{k}t} E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} e^{A_{k}^{T}t},$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} x x^{T} S_{ks} R_{s}(t) f_{s}(0, x) dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{E}_{m}} x x^{T} f_{s}(0, e^{-A_{k}t} C_{ks}^{-1} x) \det e^{-A_{k}t} \det C_{ks}^{-1} dx$$

$$= C_{ks} e^{A_{s}t} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} e^{A_{s}^{T}t} C_{ks}^{T}.$$
(50)

4. Necessary and Sufficient Conditions of L₂-Stability

Several different stability definitions are useful. Here, we recall the mean stability and the mean square stability definitions, the L_2 -stability, and the classical definition of asymptotic stability.

Definition 6. The trivial solution of system (2) is said to be mean square stable on the interval $[0, \infty)$ if, for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that any solution x(t) corresponding to the initial data x(0) exists for all $t \ge 0$ and the mathematical expectation

$$E^{(1)}\left\{ \|x(t)\|^{2} \right\} < \varepsilon, \text{ whenever } t \ge 0, \ \|x(0)\| < \delta.$$
 (51)

The mean stability of the zero solution of system (2) is much defined in the same way with only $||x(t)||^2$ being replaced by ||x(t)||.

Definition 7. The trivial solution of system (2) is said to be asymptotically mean square stable on the interval $[0, \infty)$ if it is stable and, moreover,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E^{(2)} \{ x(t) \} = 0.$$
 (52)

Remark 8. It is obvious that the mean stability of the zero solution of system (2) is equivalent to the asymptotic stability of the solutions of system (23) and (24) and the mean square stability of the solutions of system (2) is equivalent to the asymptotic stability of the solutions of system (25) and (26).

Definition 9. The trivial solution of the differential systems (2) is said to be L_2 -stable if the integral

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} E^{(1)} \left\{ \left\| x\left(t\right) \right\|^{2} \right\} dt$$
(53)

converges.

Remark 10. It is easy to see that the integral (53) converges if and only if the matrix integral

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} E^{(2)} \{x(t)\} dt$$
 (54)

is convergent.

Lemma 11. The following three inequalities hold:

(1)
$$E_k^{(2)}\{x(t)\} \ge 0, \ k = 1, \dots, n.$$

(2) $e^{A_k t} E_k^{(2)}\{x(0)\} e^{A_k^T t} x \ge 0, \ k = 1, \dots, n.$
(3) $C_{ks} e^{A_s t} E_s^{(2)}\{x(0)\} e^{A_s^T t} C_{ks}^T \ge 0, \ k, s = 1, \dots, n.$

Proof. All inequalities follow from property $f_k(t, x) \ge 0$, k = 1, ..., n in accordance with (23) and (24).

It is convenient to derive some sufficient and necessary conditions of L_2 -stability by using a matrix operator with suitable properties. Such an operator is defined by the following lemma.

Lemma 12. The linear matrix operators $N_{ks}(t)$, k, s = 1, ..., n, defined as

$$N_{ks}(t) \circ W_{s}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} q_{ks}(t-\tau) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}(t-\tau)} W_{s}(\tau) e^{A_{s}^{T}(t-\tau)} C_{ks}^{T} d\tau,$$
(55)

are monotonous.

Proof. Because $q_{ks}(t - \tau) \ge 0$, in accordance with the third statement of Lemma 11, we have

$$x^{T}N_{ks}\left(t\right)\circ W_{s}\left(t\right)x\geq0,\text{ for }x\geq0.$$
(56)

So $W_s(\tau) \ge 0$ implies $N_{ks}(t) \circ W_s(t) \ge 0$ and the operator is monotone.

Remark 13. The linear monotonous operator $N_{ks}(t)$ transforms any symmetric matrix D into a symmetric matrix $N_{ks}(t) \circ D$. Its monotonicity guarantees that inequality $D_1 \ge D_2$ implies inequality

$$N_{ks}\left(t\right)\circ D_{1}\geq N_{ks}\left(t\right)\circ D_{2}.$$
(57)

Lemma 14. The symmetric matrices $W_k(t)$, k = 1, ..., ndefined by (26) satisfy the inequalities $W_k(t) \ge 0$, k = 1, ..., n.

Proof. System (26) can be rewritten in the form

$$W_{k}(t) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}t} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} e^{A_{s}^{T}t} C_{ks}^{T} + \sum_{s=1}^{n} N_{ks}(t) \circ W_{s}(t),$$
(58)

k = 1, ..., n, by using the matrix operators (55). System (26) as well as system (58) can be solved by the method of successive approximations

$$W_{k}^{(0)}(t) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}t} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} e^{A_{s}^{T}t} C_{ks}^{T},$$

$$W_{k}^{(l+1)}(t) = W_{k}^{(0)}(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{n} N_{ks}(t) \circ W_{s}^{(l)}(t),$$

$$l = 1, 2, \dots$$
(59)

Hence, $W_k^{(0)}(t) \ge 0$ and $W_k^{(l)}(t) \ge 0$ implies $W_k^{(l+1)} \ge 0$, $k = 1, \ldots, n$. So the solution of system (58),

$$W_k(t) = \lim_{l \to \infty} W_k^{(l)}(t),$$
 (60)

satisfies $W_k(t) \ge 0, k = 1, \dots, n$.

Now, we rewrite the moment equations (25) and (26) into a more compact form by using the denotations

$$D_{k} = \int_{0}^{\infty} E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(t)\} dt, \qquad W_{k} = \int_{0}^{\infty} W_{k}(\tau) d\tau,$$

$$k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(61)

Then, integrating systems (25) and (26) from 0 to ∞ with respect to *t*, we obtain

$$D_{k} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \psi_{k}(t) e^{A_{k}t} \left(E_{k}^{(2)} \left\{ x(0) \right\} + W_{k} \right) e^{A_{k}^{T}t} dt,$$

$$k = 1, \dots, n,$$
(62)

$$W_{k} = \sum_{s=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\infty} q_{ks}(t) C_{ks} e^{A_{s}t} \left(E_{s}^{(2)} \left\{ x\left(0\right) \right\} + W_{s} \right) e^{A_{s}^{T}t} C_{ks}^{T} dt,$$

$$k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(63)

Corollary 15. Let the zero solution of the system (2) with jumps (14) at random time moments t_j , j = 0, 1, 2, ... determined by jumps of stochastic process $\xi(t)$ be L_2 -stable. Then, the integrals

$$I_{k} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \psi_{k}(t) e^{A_{k}t} E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} e^{A_{k}^{T}t} dt, \quad k = 1, \dots, n \quad (64)$$

are convergent.

Proof. This immediately follows from Lemma 14. In fact, since $W_k \ge 0$, then $D_k \ge I_k$, k = 1, ..., n.

Theorem 16. Let the integrals (64) be convergent. Then, the zero solution of system (2) is L_2 -stable if and only if the solutions $W_k \ge 0$, k = 1, ..., n of system (63) are bounded.

Proof. (1) Sufficiency. Integrating system (59) from 0 to ∞ with respect to t, using notation $W_k^{(l)} = \int_0^\infty W_k^{(l)}(t) dt$, $k = 1, \ldots, n$, we obtain the system of matrix successive approximations

$$W_{k}^{(l+1)} = W_{k}^{(0)} + \sum_{s=1}^{n} N_{ks} \circ W_{s}^{(l)}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$

$$l = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(65)

As the linear operators N_{ks} , k, s = 1, ..., n defined by (55) are monotonous, the zero solution of system (2) is L_2 -stable if the sequence of matrices $W_k^{(l)}$, l = 0, 1, 2, ... is convergent.

(2) *Necessity*. Let us assume that the solution $W_k = Z_k \ge 0$, k = 1, ..., n of the system

$$W_k = W_k^{(0)} + \sum_{s=1}^n N_{ks} \circ W_s, \quad k = 1, \dots, n$$
 (66)

is bounded. Obviously, $Z_k \ge W_k^{(0)}$, k = 1, ..., n and, in view of successive approximations (65), we get

$$W_{k}^{(l+1)} = W_{k}^{(0)} + N_{ks} \circ W_{s}^{(l)}$$

$$\leq W_{k}^{(0)} + N_{ks} \circ Z_{s} = Z_{k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(67)

So, for all $l = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$, we have $W_k^{(l)} \le Z_k, k = 1, \ldots, n$. Next, from (65), we obtain

$$W_{k}^{(l+1)} = W_{k}^{(0)} + N_{ks} \circ W_{s}^{(l)} \ge W_{k}^{(0)} + N_{ks} \circ W_{s}^{(l-1)} = W_{k}^{(l)}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(68)

Moreover, because $W_k^{(0)} \ge 0$, $W_k^{(l+1)} \ge W_k^{(l)}$, k = 1, ..., n is satisfied for all l = 0, 1, ...

Finally, the boundedness and monotonicity of the matrix sequences $W_k^{(l)}$, l = 0, 1, ... imply the existence of limits

$$W_k = \lim_{l \to \infty} W_k^{(l)},\tag{69}$$

k = 1, ..., n. Consequently, independently of the initial value $W_k^{(0)}$, in view of $0 \le W_k^{(l)} \le Z_k$, the linear operator $N = (N_{ks})_{k,s=1}^n$ has the spectral radius less than 1. This means that system (65) has a unique solution $W_k = Z_k, k = 1, ..., n$. \Box

5. Model Problem

The functioning of the foreign currency exchange market in conditions of uncertainty can be modelled by using stochastic differential equations. Such convenient mathematical model is the scalar case of the initial problem (2), (3), that is, the initial problem formulated for the stochastic linear differential equation

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = a(\xi(t))x(t), \qquad (70)$$

$$x\left(0\right) = \varphi\left(\omega\right),\tag{71}$$

where coefficient *a* depends on a semi-Markov process $\xi(t)$. The possible states $\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_n$ of the stochastic process $\xi(t)$ express the conditions in which the bank works, for example, in a currency crisis, in a stable foreign currency exchange market, and so forth. Let the stochastic process $\xi(t)$ take the states θ_k , $k = 1, 2, \ldots, n$. If $\xi(t) = \theta_k$, we denote $a(\xi(t)) = a_k$. Further assume that the intensities $q_{sk}(t)$ are determined by the formulas

$$q_{ss}\left(t\right) = 0,\tag{72}$$

$$q_{sk}(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{T_{sk}} & \text{for } 0 \le t < T_{sk}, \\ 0 & \text{for } t \ge T_{sk}, \end{cases}$$
(73)

where s, k = 1, 2, ..., n.

Perturbations in the foreign currency exchange market cause the changes of the stochastic process $\xi(t)$, and consequently, solutions of (2) in this scalar case are subject to the random transformations

$$x(t_j + 0) = p_k x(t_j - 0), \quad p_k \neq 0, \ k = 1, \dots, n$$
 (74)

at the moments of jumps t_j , j = 1, 2, ...

We derive the domain of stability of the foreign currency exchange market using the results of the previous section. The moment equations in (25) for $E_k^{(2)}{x(t)}$, k = 1, ..., n take, in the scalar case, the form

$$E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(t)\} = \psi_{k} e^{2a_{k}t} E_{k}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} + \int_{0}^{t} \psi_{k} (t - \tau) e^{2a_{k}(t - \tau)} W_{k} (\tau) d\tau,$$

$$W_{k} (t) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks} (t) C_{ks}^{2} e^{2a_{s}t} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} + \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks} (t - \tau) C_{ks}^{2} e^{2a_{s}(t - \tau)} W_{s} (\tau) d\tau,$$

$$(75)$$

$$W_{k} (t) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks} (t - \tau) C_{ks}^{2} e^{2a_{s}(t - \tau)} W_{s} (\tau) d\tau,$$

$$(75)$$

$$K = 1, \dots, n.$$

By definition, the zero solution of (75) is asymptotically stable if $E^{(2)}{x(t)} \to 0$ for $t \to \infty$.

Lemma 17. If

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E_k^{(2)} \{ x (t) \} = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$
(77)

then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \psi_k(t) e^{2a_k t} = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (78)

Proof. Formula (20) implies $E_k^{(2)}{x(t)} \ge 0, k = 1, ..., n$ if $t \ge 0$. Therefore, $W_k(t) \ge 0, k = 1, ..., n, t \ge 0$. From (75), it follows that inequalities

$$E_k^{(2)}\left\{x\left(t\right)\right\} \ge \psi_k e^{2a_k t} E_k^{(2)}\left\{x\left(0\right)\right\}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n$$
(79)

are always satisfied. Then, for any constant $E_k^{(2)}{x(0)}$, property (77) implies (78).

Note that, in general, condition (78) does not imply the property (77). In the following theorem, it is shown what additional assumptions are needed.

Theorem 18. Let (78) hold and let

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \psi_k(t) e^{2a_k t} dt < \infty, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(80)

Then, if there exist limits

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} W_k(t) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$
(81)

limits (77) exist too.

Proof. We denote

$$I_{k} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \psi_{k}(t) e^{2a_{s}t} dt, \quad I_{k} \ge 0, \ k = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (82)

As the integrals I_k , k = 1, ..., n are convergent, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $T_1 > 0$ such that, for all $t > T_1$, the inequalities

$$\int_{t}^{\infty} \psi_{k}(t) e^{2a_{k}t} < \varepsilon, \quad k = 1, \dots, n$$
(83)

hold. Similarly, assumption (81) means that $\forall \varepsilon > 0 \exists T_2 > 0$ such that $\forall t > T_2$ the inequalities

$$0 \le W_k(t) < \varepsilon, \quad k = 1, \dots, n \tag{84}$$

hold. Moreover, there exists constant W_0 such that

$$|W_k(t)| \le W_0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \ t \ge T_2.$$
 (85)

The integral part of (75) can be now estimated if $t > T_1 + T_2$. We have

$$\int_{0}^{t} \psi_{k} (t - \tau) e^{2a_{k}(t - \tau)} W_{k} (\tau) d\tau$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T_{1} + T_{2}} \psi_{k} (t) e^{2a_{k}\tau} W_{k} (t - \tau) d\tau$$

$$+ \int_{T_{1} + T_{2}}^{t} \psi_{k} (t) e^{2a_{k}\tau} W_{k} (t - \tau) d\tau$$

$$\leq I_{k} \varepsilon + W_{0} \varepsilon.$$
(86)

Thus, there exist limits

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{0}^{t} \psi_{k} (t - \tau) e^{2a_{k}(t - \tau)} W_{k} (\tau) d\tau = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(87)

Corollary 19. Let the assumptions of Theorem 18 hold. Then, the asymptotical stability of solutions of system (75) implies the asymptotical mean square stability of the zero solution of (70).

Proof. Under the given assumptions, this follows from the existence of limits (77). \Box

The results obtained make it possible to examine the stability of the stochastic equation (70) by using the deterministic system of (76). Here, we can use the known methods such as the Laplace transformation.

If we denote

$$Y_{k}(p) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-pt} W_{k}(t) dt, \qquad \Theta_{ks}(p) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-pt} q_{ks}(t) dt,$$

$$k, s = 1, \dots, n,$$
(88)

then, multiplying (76) by e^{-pt} and integrating it from 0 to ∞ with respect to *t*, (76) can be transformed into the system of linear algebraic equations with respect to the functions $\Upsilon_k(p)$. We get the system

$$Y_{k}(p) = \sum_{s=1}^{n} \Theta_{ks}(p - 2a_{s}) C_{ks}^{2} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} + \sum_{s=1}^{n} \Theta_{ks}(p - 2a_{s}) C_{ks}^{2} Y_{s}(p),$$
(89)

where k = 1, ..., n.

The determinant $\Delta(p)$ of the system of linear equations (89) is in the form

$$\Delta(p) = \begin{vmatrix} 1 - \Theta_{11}(p - 2a_1)C_{11}^2 & -\Theta_{12}(p - 2a_2)C_{12}^2 & \cdots & -\Theta_{1n}(p - 2a_n)C_{1n}^2 \\ -\Theta_{21}(p - 2a_1)C_{21}^2 & 1 - \Theta_{22}(p - 2a_2)C_{22}^2 & \cdots & -\Theta_{2n}(p - 2a_n)C_{2n}^2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\Theta_{n1}(p - 2a_1)C_{n1}^2 & -\Theta_{n2}(p - 2a_2)C_{n2}^2 & \cdots & 1 - \Theta_{nn}(p - 2a_n)C_{nn}^2 \end{vmatrix}$$
(90)

The singular points of mappings $\Theta_{ks}(p)$, k, s = 1, ..., n are determined by the roots of $\Delta(p) = 0$. If all the functions $\Theta_{ks}(p)$, k, s = 1, ..., n are entire, then there are no singular points, except for the point $p = \infty$.

Remark 20. In a particular case, solutions of (89) are located on the boundary of the stability domain. If p = 0, then $\Delta(0) = 0$ is the equation determining the boundary of the stability domain.

To solve the model problem formulated at the beginning of this section, we use the stochastic operators $S_{sk}f(x)$, s, k = 1, 2, ..., n in the form

$$S_{sk}f(t,x) = \begin{cases} f(t,x), & s=k, \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{p_k}{p_s} f\left(t, \frac{x}{p_s}\right), & s\neq k, \end{cases}$$
(91)

Abstract and Applied Analysis

associated to the intensities $q_{sk}(t)$ determined by (72). The domain of stability of banking operations in the foreign currency exchange market can be derived from the behavior of the solutions of the moment equations (76). Before we use the moment equations, we express the probabilities C_{ks} , k, s = 1, 2, ..., n from formula (14) by using the probabilities $p_k, k = 1, 2, ..., n$ from formula (74) in the form

$$C_{ks} = \begin{cases} 1, & s = k, \\ \sum_{k=1}^{n} p_k^2, & s \neq k. \end{cases}$$
(92)

Then, the moment equations (76) can be rewritten into the form

$$W_{k}(t) = \rho \left[\sum_{\substack{s=1\\s \neq k}}^{n} q_{ks}(t) e^{2a_{s}t} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} + \int_{0}^{t} \sum_{s=1}^{n} q_{ks}(t-\tau) e^{2a_{s}(t-\tau)} W_{s}(\tau) d\tau \right],$$

$$k = 1, \dots, n,$$
(93)

where $\rho = \sum_{k=1}^{n} p_k^2$. The system (93) can be solved in the same way as above, that is, by Laplace transformation. Then, multiplying (93) by e^{-pt} and integrating it from 0 to ∞ with respect to *t*, we get a preliminary form of the system

which we will still have to modify using some properties of the Laplace transformation. In accordance with the property of the delay and with regard to the equality

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} q_{ks} e^{-pt} dt = \frac{1 - e^{-pT_{ks}}}{T_{ks}p}, \quad k, s = 1, \dots, n, \ k \neq s, \quad (95)$$

we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} q_{ks} e^{2a_{s}t} e^{-pt} dt = \frac{1 - e^{-T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})}}{T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})}, \quad k, s = 1, \dots, n, \ k \neq s.$$
(96)

In accordance with the property of convolution, we get

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} q_{ks} \left(t - \tau\right) e^{2a_{s}(t-\tau)} e^{-pt} W_{s}\left(\tau\right) d\tau dt = \frac{1 - e^{-T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})}}{T_{ks} \left(p - 2a_{s}\right)} .$$
(97)

Therefore, the system of (94) can be written in the form

$$Y_{k}(p) = \rho \left[\sum_{\substack{s=1\\k\neq s}}^{n} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} \frac{1 - e^{-T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})}}{T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})} + \sum_{\substack{s=1\\k\neq s}}^{n} f_{s}(p) \frac{1 - e^{-T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})}}{T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})} \right],$$
(98)

where k = 1, ..., n, or, using the notations

$$b_{k}(p) \equiv \sum_{\substack{s=1\\k\neq s}}^{n} E_{s}^{(2)} \{x(0)\} \frac{1 - e^{-T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})}}{T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})} ,$$

$$a_{ks} \equiv \frac{1 - e^{-T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})}}{T_{ks}(p-2a_{s})},$$
(99)

 $k, s = 1, \dots, n, k \neq s$, in a simpler form

$$\Upsilon_{k}(p) = \rho\left(b_{k}(p) + \sum_{\substack{s=1\\k\neq s}}^{n} a_{ks}\Upsilon_{s}(p)\right), \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(100)

By the Cramer theorem, we can solve the system (100). The singular points are determined by the roots of

$$\det\left(E - \rho a\right) = 0,\tag{101}$$

where $a \equiv (a_{ks}(p, T_{ks}))_{k,s=1}^{n}$, while $\rho a_{kk}(p, T_{kk}) \equiv -1$.

The character of the roots of (101) determines the stability of the solutions of the system of integral equations in (93). If the real parts of all the roots of (101) are negative, then the solutions of (93) are asymptotically stable. If there is at least one root of (101) with a positive real part, then the solutions of integral equations (93) are unstable.

The character of the dependence between parameters p and T_{ks} can be determined by solving the system of algebraic equations in (101) by numerical methods.

Example 21. The real boundaries of the instability domain of foreign currency exchange market can be determined in a particular case. Suppose that the random semi-Markov process can take three states:

 θ_1 —if the bank operates in a currency crisis, then $a(\xi(t)) = a_1$;

 θ_2 —if the bank operates in a stable foreign currency exchange market, then $a(\xi(t)) = a_2$;

 θ_3 —if the bank operates in a market with currency restrictions, then $a(\xi(t)) = a_3$,

with intensities

$$q_{11}(t) = q_{22}(t) = q_{33}(t) \equiv 0,$$

$$q_{12}(t) = q_{13}(t) = q_{21}(t) = q_{23}(t) = q_{31}(t)$$

$$= q_{32}(t) \equiv \begin{cases} \frac{1}{T} & \text{for } 0 \le t < T, \\ 0 & \text{for } t > T, \end{cases}$$
(102)

(a) (b)

FIGURE 1: The boundary of instability of solutions of (70) constructed in the plane of parameters a_1 , a_2 , and a_3 for p = 0 and for different values of ρ .

which means that the bank remains in each state for the same period of time 1/T. In the above case, the system (100) takes the form

$$Y_{1}(p) = \rho b_{1}(p) + \rho a_{12} Y_{2}(p) + \rho a_{13} Y_{3}(p),$$

$$Y_{2}(p) = \rho b_{2}(p) + \rho a_{21} Y_{1}(p) + \rho a_{23} Y_{3}(p),$$

$$Y_{3}(p) = \rho b_{3}(p) + \rho a_{31} Y_{1}(p) + \rho a_{32} Y_{2}(p),$$
(103)

where

$$a_{12} = \frac{1 - e^{-T(p-2a_2)}}{T(p-2a_2)}, \qquad a_{13} = \frac{1 - e^{-T(p-2a_3)}}{T(p-2a_3)},$$

$$a_{21} = \frac{1 - e^{-T(p-2a_1)}}{T(p-2a_1)}, \qquad a_{23} = \frac{1 - e^{-T(p-2a_3)}}{T(p-2a_3)}, \qquad (104)$$

$$a_{31} = \frac{1 - e^{-T(p-2a_1)}}{T(p-2a_1)}, \qquad a_{32} = \frac{1 - e^{-T(p-2a_2)}}{T(p-2a_2)}.$$

The value ρ expresses the mean value of the bank's income from foreign currency transactions during time *T*. The singular point is p = 0, when the solution is situated on the boundary of the domain of instability on the plane of coefficients a_1 , a_2 , and a_3 .

Equation (101) is in the form

$$\begin{vmatrix} 1 & -\rho a_{12} & -\rho a_{13} \\ -\rho a_{21} & 1 & -\rho a_{23} \\ -\rho a_{31} & -\rho a_{32} & 1 \end{vmatrix} = 0,$$
(105)

or

$$1 - \rho^{3} a_{21} a_{32} a_{13} - \rho^{3} a_{12} a_{23} a_{31} - \rho^{2} a_{13} a_{31} - \rho^{2} a_{23} a_{32} - \rho^{2} a_{12} a_{21} = 0.$$
(106)

If p = 0, the boundaries of instability of solutions of (70) are constructed in the plane of parameters a_1, a_2 , and a_3 for different values ρ (see Figure 1 where some admissible boundaries are constructed).

Acknowledgment

The first author was supported by the Grant no P201/11/0768 of Czech Grant Agency (Prague).

References

- F. E. Benth, V. A. Kholodnyi, and P. Laurence, Eds., *Quantative Energy Finance: Modelling, Pricing and Heading in Energy*, Springer, 2013.
- [2] H. Dong and X. Zhao, "Numerical method for a Markovmodulated risk model with two-sided jumps," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2012, Article ID 401562, 9 pages, 2012.
- [3] C. Huang, C. Peng, X. Chen, and F. Wen, "Dynamics analysis of a class of delayed economic model," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2013, Article ID 962738, 12 pages, 2013.
- [4] J. Diblík, I. A. Dzhalladova, M. Michalková, and M. Růžičková, "Modeling of applied problems by stochastic systems and their analysis using the moment equations," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2013, article 152, 2013.
- [5] I. A. Dzhalladova, "Estimates of stability of functional equation of neutral type wih random right part," *TWMS Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 4, pp. 61–68, 2013.
- [6] I. Dzhalladova, M. Michalková, and M. Růžičková, "Model of stabilizing of the interest rate on deposits banking system using by moment equations," *Tatra Mountains Mathematical Publications*, vol. 54, pp. 45–59, 2013.

10

Abstract and Applied Analysis

- [7] T. Biswas, "Stochastic dominance and comparative risk aversion," *Review of Economic Analysis*, vol. 4, pp. 105–122, 2012.
- [8] T. Watanabe, "Net worth ratio and financial instability," *Journal of Economic Structures*, vol. 2, article 3, 2013.

Research Article

Singular Initial Value Problem for Certain Classes of Systems of Ordinary Differential Equations

Josef Diblík,^{1,2,3} Josef Rebenda,³ and Zdeněk Šmarda^{2,3}

¹ Department of Mathematics and Descriptive Geometry, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Brno University of Technology, Veveří 331/95, 602 00 Brno, Czech Republic

² Brno University of Technology, Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Technická 8, 61600 Brno, Czech Republic

³ CEITEC BUT, Brno University of Technology, Technická 3058/10, 61600 Brno, Czech Republic

Correspondence should be addressed to Josef Diblík; diblik@feec.vutbr.cz

Received 11 August 2013; Accepted 16 October 2013

Academic Editor: Yuriy Rogovchenko

Copyright © 2013 Josef Diblík et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The paper is devoted to the study of the solvability of a singular initial value problem for systems of ordinary differential equations. The main results give sufficient conditions for the existence of solutions in the right-hand neighbourhood of a singular point. In addition, the dimension of the set of initial data generating such solutions is estimated. An asymptotic behavior of solutions is determined as well and relevant asymptotic formulas are derived. The method of functions defined implicitly and the topological method (Ważewski's method) are used in the proofs. The results generalize some previous ones on singular initial value problems for differential equations.

1. Introduction

Let $x_0 > 0$ and $y_0 > 0$ be given constants. Define auxiliary set of points

$$D_n := (0, x_0] \times \prod_{i=1}^n (0, y_{0i}], \qquad (1)$$

where $y_{0i} = y_0$.

In the paper, we consider a system of ordinary differential equations in the form

$$g_i(x, y) y'_i = \alpha_i(x, y), \qquad (2)$$

where i = 1, ..., n and functions $g_i, \alpha_i : D_n \to (0, \infty)$ can satisfy

$$g_r(0^+,\theta) = \alpha_r(0^+,\theta) = 0 \tag{3}$$

for some indices $r \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ or

$$\frac{1}{g_s(0^+,\theta)} = \frac{1}{\alpha_s(0^+,\theta)} = 0$$
(4)

for some indices $s \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, where $\theta = (0, 0, ..., 0)$ is the *n*-dimensional zero vector. Together with system (2) we consider the initial problem

$$y_i(0^+) = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (5)

Because of the above properties, the initial problem (2), (5) is called a singular initial problem.

Definition 1. Denote by $M(x_0, y_0)$ a class of vector-functions $\varphi : (0, x_0] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ having the following properties:

(1) φ is continuously differentiable on $(0, x_0]$;

(2)
$$\varphi_i(0^+) = 0, i = 1, \dots, n;$$

(3)
$$0 < \varphi_i^{(j)}(x)$$
 for $x \in (0, x_0]$, $j = 0, 1, i = 1, ..., n$;
(4) $\varphi_i(x_0) < y_0, i = 1, ..., n$.

For $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$, define an auxiliary vector-function

$$G(x,\varphi(x)) = (G_1(x,\varphi(x)),\ldots,G_n(x,\varphi(x))), \quad (6)$$

where

$$G_{i}(x,\varphi(x)) := -\varphi_{i}'(x) g_{i}(x,\varphi(x)) + \alpha_{i}(x,\varphi(x)),$$

$$i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(7)

In the paper, sufficient conditions which guarantee the existence of a parametric class of solutions of initial value problem (2), (5) are given and asymptotic formulas

$$y_i(x) = \varphi_i(x) (1 + o(1)), \qquad x \longrightarrow 0^+, \ i = 1, \dots, n$$
 (8)

are derived, where φ_i are the coordinates of a function $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$ and the symbol o(1) is the well-known Landau order symbol.

There are numerous papers and books dealing with singular initial value problems (see, e.g., [1-16] and the references therein). Among others, we should mention pioneering results on the solvability of singular problems for ordinary differential equations achieved by Chechyk [15] and Kiguradze [13]. The results of the paper generalize previous investigation of the first author on the solvability of singular problems [5-7]. The main differences are as follows. In [5], a scalar singular differential equation was studied for the case that a function similar to the function G above does not change the sign for $x \rightarrow 0^+$. In [6], system (2) is investigated under the assumption that the *i*th right-hand side of the system is bounded by the product of two functions, with the first depending only on the variable x while the second one only depends on the variable y_i , i = 1, ..., n. In comparison with the results of [7], we cannot expect that a first approximation of system (2) consists of equations with separable variables.

The structure of the paper is the following. In Section 2, auxiliary results on implicit functions are given. We refer to Corollary 4 where formula (27) is crucial for the proofs of the asymptotic behavior of solutions. The main results of the paper are formulated in Section 3. New results are proved and a progress is achieved by implicit construction of funnels, where solutions of the singular problem are expected. To prove the existence of such solutions, the topological method of Ważewski (see, e.g., [17–19]) is used. A simple illustrative example is shown here as well. A generalization of the results derived is discussed in Section 4.

2. Auxiliary Results on Implicit Functions

First, we give some properties of implicit functions used in the following proofs.

Lemma 2. Assume that a function $\omega : D_1 \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies the following conditions:

- ω(x, y) is continuously differentiable with respect to x and y;
- (2) $\omega(0^+, 0^+) = 0;$
- (3) for every $y \in (0, y_0]$, there exists a finite limit $\omega(0^+, y)$, for every $x \in (0, x_0]$, there exists a finite limit $\omega(x, 0^+)$, and $\omega(0^+, y)\omega(x, 0^+) < 0$;

(4)
$$\omega'_{x}(x, y)\omega'_{y}(x, y) < 0$$
, where $(x, y) \in D_{1}$.
Then,

$$\omega\left(x,\,y\right) = 0\tag{9}$$

defines a unique implicit function y = y(x) *on some interval* $(0, x_{00}], 0 < x_{00} \le x_0$ such that $y(x) \in M(x_{00}, y_0)$.

Proof. Analysing assumptions (1)–(4), we deduce that only the following two cases can occur: either

$$\omega(0^+, y) < 0, \qquad \omega'_y(x, y) < 0,
 \omega(x, 0^+) > 0, \qquad \omega'_x(x, y) > 0$$
(10)

or

$$\omega(0^+, y) > 0, \qquad \omega'_y(x, y) > 0,
 \omega(x, 0^+) < 0, \qquad \omega'_x(x, y) < 0$$
(11)

while the remaining two cases

$$\omega (0^{+}, y) < 0, \qquad \omega'_{y} (x, y) > 0, \qquad \omega (x, 0^{+}) > 0,
\omega'_{x} (x, y) < 0, \qquad \omega (0^{+}, y) > 0, \qquad \omega'_{y} (x, y) < 0, \quad (12)
\omega (x, 0^{+}) < 0, \qquad \omega'_{x} (x, y) > 0$$

are in contradiction with assumptions (1) and (2). The rest of the proof is analogous to the proofs of the well-known implicit-function theorems and, therefore, we leave it out. $\hfill \Box$

To formulate the second lemma, we need some auxiliary notions. Define, for a given $y_{00} > 0$ and $\varepsilon^* > 0$ satisfying the inequality $0 < y_{00}(1 + \varepsilon^*) < y_0$, the set

$$D^*(y_{00},\varepsilon^*) := \{(y,\varepsilon) : y \in [0, y_{00}], \varepsilon \in (-\varepsilon^*,\varepsilon^*)\}.$$
(13)

Moreover, for a given continuously differentiable function *R* : $(0, y_0) \rightarrow (0, \infty)$, let

$$F(y,\varepsilon) \coloneqq \frac{R(y(1+\varepsilon))}{R(y)},$$
(14)

where argument $y(1+\varepsilon)$ is assumed to be positive. In addition, we define

$$F(0,\varepsilon) := \lim_{y \to 0^+} F(y,\varepsilon),$$

$$F'_{\varepsilon}(0,\varepsilon) := \lim_{y \to 0^+} F'_{\varepsilon}(y,\varepsilon)$$
(15)

provided that the limits exist and are finite.

Lemma 3. Assume that functions

$$R: (0, y_0) \longrightarrow (0, \infty), \qquad F: D^* (y_{00}, \varepsilon^*) \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$$
(16)

satisfy the following conditions:

- (1) R(y) is continuously differentiable and R'(y) < 0;
- F(y, ε) is continuous with respect to y and continuously differentiable with respect to ε;

(3)
$$F'_{\varepsilon}(y,0) \neq 0$$

Then, for an arbitrary $y \in [0, y_{00}]$ and $\varepsilon_1 \in (-\tilde{\varepsilon}_1, \tilde{\varepsilon}_1)$, where $\tilde{\varepsilon}_1$ is a positive and sufficiently small constant, there exists a unique continuous solution

$$\varepsilon_1^0 = \varepsilon_1^0 \left(y, \varepsilon_1 \right) \tag{17}$$

of the equation

$$1 + \varepsilon_1 - F\left(y, \varepsilon_1^0\right) = 0, \tag{18}$$

where

and $\tilde{\epsilon}_1^0$ is a sufficiently small positive constant, $\tilde{\epsilon}_1^0 \leq \epsilon^*$.

Proof. Define an auxiliary function

$$\omega: D^*\left(y_{00}, \varepsilon^*\right) \times \left(-\widetilde{\varepsilon}_1, \widetilde{\varepsilon}_1\right) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
 (20)

as

$$\omega\left(y,\varepsilon_1^0,\varepsilon_1\right) \coloneqq 1 + \varepsilon_1 - F\left(y,\varepsilon_1^0\right) \tag{21}$$

and consider implicit equation (18) in the form

$$\omega\left(y,\varepsilon_1^0,\varepsilon_1\right) = 0 \tag{22}$$

with respect to ε_1^0 . In what follows, we will assume that $y \in [0, y_{00}]$ is a parameter. Since

$$\omega\left(y,0,0\right) = 0,\tag{23}$$

 $\omega(y, \varepsilon_1^0, \varepsilon_1)$ is continuous with respect to all y, ε_1^0 , and ε_1 and continuously differentiable with respect to ε_1^0 , and

$$\omega_{\varepsilon_{1}^{0}}^{\prime}(y,0,0) = -F_{\varepsilon_{1}^{0}}^{\prime}(y,0) > 0$$
(24)

for arbitrary $y \in [0, y_{00}]$. Hence we can apply the classical implicit-function theorem. As a result, we state that (18) is uniquely solvable with respect to ε_1^0 . Thus

$$\varepsilon_1^0 = \varepsilon_1^0 \left(y, \varepsilon_1 \right), \tag{25}$$

where $\varepsilon_1^0 : [0, y_{00}] \times (-\tilde{\varepsilon}_1, \tilde{\varepsilon}_1) \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function with respect to both *y* and ε_1 and $\tilde{\varepsilon}_1$ is a sufficiently small positive number. The sign of the function $\varepsilon_1^0(y, \varepsilon_1)$ can be specified. In particular, since *R* is a decreasing function, the function *F* is decreasing with respect to ε ,

and $\tilde{\varepsilon}_1^0$ is a sufficiently small positive constant satisfying $\tilde{\varepsilon}_1^0 \leq \varepsilon^*$.

Corollary 4. It is possible to reformulate the statement of Lemma 3 as follows. Since (18) is uniquely solvable, one can use the definition of $F(y, \varepsilon)$ given by (14) to get

$$R(y)(1+\varepsilon_1) \equiv R\left(y\left(1-\varepsilon_1^{00}\left(y,\varepsilon_1\right)\right)\right),\tag{27}$$

where $\varepsilon_1^{00}(y, \varepsilon_1) := -\varepsilon_1^0(y, \varepsilon_1)$.

3. Main Results

In this part, the main results related to the solvability of problem (2), (5) are proved. We will discuss the dimension of the set of initial conditions generating solutions of this problem as well.

Using $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$, define the sets

$$N^{\varphi_{i}} := \{ (x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n}, \varphi_{i} (x) < y_{i} < \varphi_{i} (x_{0}) \},$$

$$N_{\varphi_{i}} := \{ (x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n}, y_{i} < \varphi_{i} (x) \},$$
(28)

where i = 1, 2, ..., n. To formulate the results we need auxiliary functions

$$W_i: N^{\varphi_i} \cup N_{\varphi_i} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n \tag{29}$$

defined as follows:

$$W_{i}(x, y) \coloneqq g_{i}\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(y_{i}), \varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(y_{i})\right)\right) \frac{\alpha_{i}(x, y)}{g_{i}(x, y)}$$

$$-\alpha_{i}\left(x, \varphi\left(x\right)\right)$$

$$(30)$$

for i = 1, 2, ..., n.

Theorem 5. Let $g_i : D_n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\alpha_i : D_n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, i = 1, ..., n, be continuous functions. Let, moreover, for a function $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$, the following conditions be true:

(1)

$$0 < g_i(x, \varphi(x)), \quad 0 < \alpha_i(x, \varphi(x)), \quad x \in (0, x_0],$$

$$i = 1, \dots, n;$$
(31)

$$\int_{0^{+}} g_i(x,\varphi(x))\varphi'_i(x) dx = \int_{0^{+}} \alpha_i(x,\varphi(x)) dx = \infty,$$

$$i = 1, \dots, n;$$
(32)

(3)

$$\left|\int_{x}^{x_{00}} G_{i}\left(t,\varphi\left(t\right)\right) dt\right| < \left|\int_{x_{ki}}^{x_{00}} g_{i}\left(t,\varphi\left(t\right)\right) \varphi_{i}'\left(t\right) dt\right|, \quad (33)$$

where $x_{00} \in (0, x_0)$ is a sufficiently small constant, $x \in (0, x_{00}]$, $x_{ki} = \varphi_i^{-1}(\psi_{ki})$, and ψ_{ki} , k = 1, 2, i = 1, ..., n, are constants such that

$$\psi_{1i} < \varphi_i (x_{00}) < \psi_{2i} < y_0, \quad x_{2i} < x_0;$$
 (34)

(4) there is an integer $n_1 \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$ such that

- (a) W_i(x, y) > 0 if (x, y) ∈ N^{φ_i} and i = 1,..., n₁;
 (b) W_i(x, y) < 0 if (x, y) ∈ N_{φ_i} and i = 1,..., n₁;
 (c) W_i(x, y) < 0 if (x, y) ∈ N^{φ_i} and i = n₁ + 1,..., n;
- (d) $W_i(x, y) > 0$ if $(x, y) \in N_{\varphi_i}$ and $i = n_1 + 1, ..., n$.

Here, if $n_1 = 0$, conditions (a), (b) are omitted and, if $n_1 = n$, conditions (c), (d) are omitted.

Then, problem (2), (5) has at least n_1 -parametric class of solutions $y(x) = (y_1(x), \ldots, y_n(x))$ such that $(x, y(x)) \in D_n$ for $x \to 0^+$.

Proof. The proof is divided into two parts. First, implicit curves are constructed and their properties are derived. Then, Ważewski's method is applied to special domains having the shape of funnels with sides constructed using implicitly defined hypersurfaces. In this construction, we use implicit curves from the first part of the proof.

Implicitly Defined Curves and Their Properties. Let $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$ be fixed. Define auxiliary functions

$$z_{ki}, \tilde{z}_{ki}: (0, x_{00}] \times (0, y_0] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}, \quad k = 1, 2, \ i = 1, \dots, n$$
(35)

as

$$z_{ki}(x, y_{ki}) \coloneqq \int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y_{ki}} g_i(\varphi_i^{-1}(t), \varphi(\varphi_i^{-1}(t))) dt - \int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_i(t, \varphi(t)) dt, \widetilde{z}_{ki}(x, y_{ki}) \coloneqq \left[\int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y_{ki}} g_i(\varphi_i^{-1}(t), \varphi(\varphi_i^{-1}(t))) dt \right]^{-1} - \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_i(t, \varphi(t)) dt \right]^{-1}.$$
(36)

We prove that

$$z_{ki}(x, y_{ki}) = 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \ i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (37)

define unique implicit functions

$$y_{ki} = y_{ki}(x) \equiv \psi_{ki}(x) \in M(x_{00}, y_0)$$
(38)

on the interval (0, x_{00}]. Observe that the function $\psi_{ki}(x)$ is a solution of

$$\tilde{z}_{ki}(x, y_{ki}) = 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \ i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (39)

on the interval $(0, x_{00})$ as well. Therefore, we consider the latter equation and investigate its solvability using Lemma 2. Set

$$\omega(x, y) := \tilde{z}_{ki}(x, y), \qquad (40)$$

where $k \in \{1, 2\}$ and $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. We show that the function $\omega(x, y)$ satisfies all assumptions (1)–(4) of Lemma 2, where, instead of the region D_1 , we assume the region $(0, x_{00}^*] \times$

 $(0, y_0^*]$ with sufficiently small x_{00}^*, y_0^* such that $0 < x_{00}^* < x_{00}$, $0 < y_0^* < y_0$.

(a) It is easy to see (in view of the above assumptions) that the function

$$\omega: (0, x_{00}^*] \times (0, y_0^*] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

$$\tag{41}$$

defined by (39) is continuously differentiable with respect to x and y and assumption (1) of Lemma 2, holds.

(b) Compute the limit $\omega(0^+, 0^+)$. We get

 $\omega\left(0^{+},0^{+}\right)$

$$= \tilde{z}_{ki} \left(0^{+}, 0^{+} \right)$$

$$= \lim_{x \to 0^{+}, y \to 0^{+}} \left[\left[\int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y} g_{i} \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right) \right) \right) dt \right]^{-1} - \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) dt \right]^{-1} \right]$$

$$= \lim_{y \to 0^{+}} \left[\int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y} g_{i} \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right) \right) \right) dt \right]^{-1} - \lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) dt \right]^{-1}$$

$$(42)$$

if the last two limits exist and are finite. Substituting $t = \varphi_i(x)$ into the first integral of the last expression and using condition (2), we get

$$\omega(0^{+}, 0^{+}) \equiv \tilde{z}_{ki}(0^{+}, 0^{+})$$

$$= \lim_{y \to 0^{+}} \left[\int_{\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{ki})}^{\varphi_{i}^{-1}(y)} g_{i}(x, \varphi(x))\varphi_{i}'(x)dx \right]^{-1}$$

$$- \lim_{x \to +0} \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i}(t, \varphi(t))dt \right]^{-1}$$

$$= \left[\int_{x_{ki}}^{0^{+}} g_{i}(x, \varphi(x))\varphi_{i}'(x)dx \right]^{-1}$$

$$- \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{0^{+}} \alpha_{i}(x, \varphi(x))dx \right]^{-1} = 0$$
(43)

and assumption (2) of Lemma 2 holds.
(c) Now we consider the existence of the product $\omega(0^+, y)\omega(x, 0^+)$ for $y \in (0, y_0^*]$, $x \in (0, x_{00}^*]$ and determine its sign. We get

$$\begin{split} \omega \left(0^{+}, y\right) \omega \left(x, 0^{+}\right) \\ &\equiv \tilde{z}_{ki} \left(0^{+}, y\right) \tilde{z}_{ki} \left(x, 0^{+}\right) \\ &= \lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \left[\left[\int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y} g_{i} \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t\right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t\right)\right)\right) dt \right]^{-1} \\ &- \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t\right)\right) dt \right]^{-1} \right] \\ &\times \lim_{y \to 0^{+}} \left[\left[\int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y} g_{i} \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t\right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t\right)\right)\right) dt \right]^{-1} \\ &- \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t\right)\right) dt \right]^{-1} \right]. \end{split}$$
(44)

Substituting $t = \varphi_i(x)$ into the first integrals in the square brackets, using conditions (1) and (2) of Theorem 5 and the property $x_{00}^* < x_{00}$, and assuming $y_0^* < \min_{k=1,2; i=1,...,n} \{\psi_{ki}\},\$ we have

$$\begin{split} \omega\left(0^{+}, y\right) \omega\left(x, 0^{+}\right) \\ &\equiv \tilde{z}_{ki}\left(0^{+}, y\right) \tilde{z}_{ki}\left(x, 0^{+}\right) \\ &= \left[\left[\int_{\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{ki})}^{\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{ki})} g_{i}\left(x, \varphi\left(x\right)\right) \varphi_{i}'\left(x\right) dx \right]^{-1} \right] \\ &\quad - \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{0^{+}} \alpha_{i}\left(x, \varphi\left(x\right)\right) dx \right]^{-1} \right] \\ &\quad \times \left[\left[\int_{\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{ki})}^{0^{+}} g_{i}\left(x, \varphi\left(x\right)\right) \varphi_{i}'\left(x\right) dx \right]^{-1} \right] \\ &\quad - \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i}\left(x, \varphi\left(x\right)\right) dx \right]^{-1} \right] \\ &= \left[\int_{x_{ki}}^{\varphi_{i}^{-1}(y)} g_{i}\left(x, \varphi\left(x\right)\right) \varphi_{i}'\left(x\right) dx \right]^{-1} \\ &\quad \times \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i}(x, \varphi(x)) dx \right]^{-1} \cdot (-1) < 0. \end{split}$$

(d) Determine the sign of $\omega'_x(x, y)\omega'_y(x, y)$. We get

$$\omega'_{x}(x, y) \cdot \omega'_{y}(x, y)$$
$$\equiv (\tilde{z}_{ki}(x, y))'_{x} \cdot (\tilde{z}_{ki}(x, y))'_{y}$$

$$= (-1) \cdot \alpha_{i} \left(x, \varphi \left(x \right) \right) \left[\int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) dt \right]^{-2} \\ \times \left[\int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y} g_{i} \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right) \right) \right) dt \right]^{-2} \\ \times g_{i} \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(y \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(y \right) \right) \right).$$

$$(46)$$

From condition (1), it follows that

$$\alpha_i\left(x,\varphi\left(x\right)\right) > 0, \qquad g_i\left(\varphi_i^{-1}\left(y\right),\varphi\left(\varphi_i^{-1}\left(y\right)\right)\right) > 0.$$
(47)

Hence

$$\omega_{x}'(x,y) \cdot \omega_{y}'(x,y) \equiv \left(\tilde{z}_{ki}(x,y)\right)_{x}' \cdot \left(\tilde{z}_{ki}(x,y)\right)_{y}' < 0.$$
(48)

Because of (a)-(d) all assumptions (1)-(4) of Lemma 2 on $(0, x_{00}^*] \times (0, y_0^*]$ hold and (39) defines an implicit function

$$y(x) = y_{ki}(x) = \psi_{ki}(x)$$
 (49)

on some interval $(0, x_{00}^{**}]$, where $x_{00}^{**} \le x_{00}^{*}$. Now we turn to (37) and show that its solution given by

formula (49) can be extended beyond x_{00}^{**} . We show that $x_{00}^{**} = x_{00}$. On the contrary, assume $x_{00}^{**} < x_{00}^{**}$ x_{00} . Then, (after a proper transformation of variables) we can apply Lemma 2 to the point $(x_{00}^{**}, \psi_{ki}(x_{00}^{**}))$ again and, by well-known procedure, implicit function can be continued up to the boundary of the region $(0, x_{00}] \times (0, y_0]$.

If $\psi_{ki}(x_{00}^{**}) = y_0$, then $\tilde{z}_{ki}(x_{00}^{**}, y_0) = z_{ki}(x_{00}^{**}, y_0) = 0$. Moreover, we have

$$z_{ki} \left(x_{00}^{**}, y_0 \right) = \int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y_0} g_i \left(\varphi_i^{-1} \left(t \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_i^{-1} \left(t \right) \right) \right) dt$$

$$- \int_{x_{00}}^{x_{00}^{**}} \alpha_i \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) dt > 0$$
(50)

since $x_{00}^{**} < x_{00}$ and $\psi_{ki} < y_0$ by condition (3). This is a contradiction and $x_{00}^{**} = x_{00}$. Therefore, the implicit function $y_{ki} = \psi_{ki}(x)$ can be continued on the whole interval $(0, x_{00}]$. Similarly we will show that the inequality

$$\psi_{ki}\left(x_{00}\right) < y_0 \tag{51}$$

holds. We have

$$z_{ki}(x_{00}, y_{0})$$

$$= \int_{\psi_{ki}}^{y_{0}} g_{i}(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(t), \varphi(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(t))) dt$$

$$- \int_{x_{00}}^{x_{00}} \alpha_{i}(t, \varphi(t)) dt$$

$$= g_{i}(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(t), \varphi(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(t))) dt > 0,$$
(52)

because, by condition (3), $\psi_{ki} < y_0$ holds. It is obvious that

$$z_{ki}(x_{00}, \psi_{ki}(x_{00})) = 0,$$

$$(z_{ki}(x_{00}, y))'_{y} = g_{i}(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(y), \varphi(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(y))) > 0.$$
(53)

Because the function $z_{ki}(x_{00}, y)$ is monotonously increasing and

$$0 = z_{ki} \left(x_{00}, \psi_{ki} \left(x_{00} \right) \right) < z_{ki} \left(x_{00}, y_0 \right), \tag{54}$$

we get $\psi_{ki}(x_{00}) < y_0$. Hence inequality (51) is proved.

Now we will investigate the behavior of implicit curves in a neighborhood of the function φ . Since

$$\psi_{1i} < \varphi_i(x_{00}) < \psi_{2i},$$
(55)

we have (by condition (8))

$$\varphi_{i}(x_{1i}) < \varphi_{i}(x_{00}) < \varphi_{i}(x_{2i}),$$

$$x_{1i} < x_{00} < x_{2i}.$$
(56)

Thus, (in the first integral we substitute $t = \varphi_i(s)$)

$$\begin{aligned} z_{ki} \left(x, \varphi_{i} \left(x \right) \right) \\ &= \int_{\psi_{ki}}^{\varphi_{i}(x)} g_{i} \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{i}^{-1} \left(t \right) \right) \right) dt \\ &- \int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) dt \\ &= \int_{\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{ki})}^{x} g_{i} \left(s, \varphi \left(s \right) \right) \varphi_{i}' \left(s \right) ds \\ &- \int_{x_{00}}^{x} \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) dt \\ &= \int_{x_{00}}^{x} \left[g_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) \varphi_{i}' \left(t \right) - \alpha_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) \right] dt \\ &+ \int_{x_{ki}}^{x_{00}} g_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) \varphi_{i}' \left(t \right) dt \\ &= - \int_{x_{00}}^{x} G_{i} \left(t, \varphi \left(t \right) \right) \varphi_{i}' \left(t \right) dt, \end{aligned}$$

$$(57)$$

where k = 1, 2 and i = 1, ..., n. Consequently, we deduce that

$$z_{1i}(x,\varphi_i(x)) > 0, \quad z_{2i}(x,\varphi_i(x)) < 0, \quad x \in (0,x_{00}].$$
 (58)

Since functions z_{1i} , z_{2i} increase with respect to their second co-ordinates and

$$z_{1i}(x,\psi_{1i}(x)) \equiv 0, \qquad z_{2i}(x,\psi_{2i}(x)) \equiv 0$$
 (59)

on $(0, x_{00}]$, we get

$$\psi_{1i}(x) < \varphi_i(x) < \psi_{2i}(x), \quad x \in (0, x_{00}]$$
(60)

for each $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Finally, we recall that

$$\psi_{ki}(0^+) = \varphi_i(0^+) = 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (61)

Application of Ważewski's Method to an Implicitly Defined Domain. In the next part of the proof we will apply the topological method of Ważewski. We use the above mentioned functions given implicitly to define an open set

$$\Omega^{0} := \left\{ (x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n}, v_{k}(x, y) < 0, \\ k = 0, \dots, n_{1}, u_{j}(x, y) < 0, j = n_{1} + 1, \dots, n \right\},$$
(62)

where

$$v_{0}(x, y) \equiv v_{0}(x) := x - \hat{x}, \quad 0 < \hat{x} < x_{00}, \quad \hat{x} \text{ is a constant,}$$

$$v_{k}(x, y) \equiv v_{k}(x, y_{k}) := (y_{k} - \psi_{1k}(x))(y_{k} - \psi_{2k}(x)),$$

$$k = 1, \dots, n_{1},$$

$$u_{j}(x, y) \equiv u_{j}(x, y_{j}) := (y_{j} - \psi_{1j}(x))(y_{j} - \psi_{2j}(x)),$$

$$j = n_{1} + 1, \dots, n.$$
(63)

Now we start to investigate the behavior of the integral curves of system (2) with respect to the boundary of the set Ω^0 , that is, on the sets

$$V_{\beta} = \left\{ (x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n}, v_{\beta}(x, y) = 0, v_{k}(x, y) \le 0, \\ k = 0, \dots, n_{1}, \ k \ne \beta, u_{j}(x, y) \le 0, \ j = n_{1} + 1, \dots, n \right\},$$
$$\beta = 0, \dots, n_{1},$$
$$U_{\alpha} = \left\{ (x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n}, u_{\alpha}(x, y) = 0, v_{k}(x, y) \le 0, \\ k = 0, \dots, n_{1}, u_{j}(x, y) \le 0, \ j = n_{1} + 1, \dots, n, \ j \ne \alpha \right\},$$
$$\alpha = n_{1} + 1, \dots, n.$$
(64)

First, we calculate the full derivative $\dot{v}_{\beta}(x, y)$ of the function $v_{\beta}(x, y)$ along trajectories of system (2) on the set V_{β} , $\beta = 0, ..., n_1$. It is clear that $\dot{v}_0(x) = 1 > 0$. Further, for $\beta = 1, ..., n_1$, we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{v}_{\beta}\left(x,y\right) &= \frac{d}{dx} \left[\left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right) \right) \left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right) \right) \right] \\ &= \left[\frac{d}{dx} \left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right) \right) \right] \left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right) \right) \\ &+ \left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right) \right) \left[\frac{d}{dx} \left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right) \right) \right] \\ &= \left[\frac{\alpha_{\beta}\left(x,y\right)}{g_{\beta}\left(x,y\right)} - \psi_{1\beta}'\left(x\right) \right] \left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right) \right) \\ &+ \left[\frac{\alpha_{\beta}\left(x,y\right)}{g_{\beta}\left(x,y\right)} - \psi_{2\beta}'\left(x\right) \right] \left(y_{\beta} - \psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right) \right). \end{split}$$
(65)

On the set V_{β} , as it follows from the condition $v_{\beta}(x, y) = 0$, we have either $y_{\beta} = \psi_{1\beta}(x)$ or $y_{\beta} = \psi_{2\beta}(x)$.

(1) Let
$$y_{\beta} = \psi_{1\beta}(x)$$
. Then, we can see that

$$\begin{split} \dot{v}_{\beta}\left(x,\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right) \\ &= \left[\frac{\alpha_{\beta}\left(x,y_{1},\ldots,y_{\beta-1},\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right),y_{\beta+1},\ldots,y_{n}\right)}{g_{\beta}\left(x,y_{1},\ldots,y_{\beta-1},\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right),y_{\beta+1},\ldots,y_{n}\right)} - \psi_{1\beta}'\left(x\right)\right] \\ &\times \left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right) - \psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right)\right). \end{split}$$
(66)

The derivative $\psi'_{1\beta}(x)$ of the function $\psi_{1\beta}(x)$ can be calculated using the well-known rules for differentiation of implicit functions given by identities

$$z_{1\beta}\left(x,\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right) \equiv 0. \tag{67}$$

We get

$$\psi_{1\beta}'(x) \equiv \frac{\alpha_{\beta}(x,\varphi(x))}{g_{\beta}\left[\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}(x)\right),\varphi\left(\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}(x)\right)\right)\right]} \quad (68)$$

Using that relation, we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{v}_{\beta}\left(x,\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right) \\ &= \left[\frac{\alpha_{\beta}\left(x,y_{1},\ldots,y_{\beta-1},\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right),y_{\beta+1},\ldots,y_{n}\right)}{g_{\beta}\left(x,y_{1},\ldots,y_{\beta-1},\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right),y_{\beta+1},\ldots,y_{n}\right)}\right. \\ &+ \left(-1\right)\frac{\alpha_{\beta}\left(x,\varphi\left(x\right)\right)}{g_{\beta}\left[\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right),\varphi\left(\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right)\right)\right]}\right] \\ &\times \left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)-\psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)-\psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right)}{g_{\beta}\left[\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right),\varphi\left(\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right)\right)\right]}\right] \\ &\times \left[g_{\beta}\left[\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right),\varphi\left(\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right)\right)\right]\right] \\ &\times \frac{\alpha_{\beta}\left(x,y_{1},\ldots,y_{\beta-1},\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right),y_{\beta+1},\ldots,y_{n}\right)}{g_{\beta}\left(x,y_{1},\ldots,y_{\beta-1},\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right),y_{\beta+1},\ldots,y_{n}\right)} \\ &-\alpha_{\beta}\left(x,\varphi\left(x\right)\right)\right]. \end{split}$$
(69)

Since, by (60), $\psi_{1\beta}(x) < \psi_{2\beta}(x)$ and $\psi_{1\beta}(x) < \varphi_{\beta}(x) < \psi_{2\beta}(x)$, assumption (1) of the theorem yields

$$g_{\beta}\left[\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right),\varphi\left(\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right)\right)\right] > 0.$$

$$(70)$$

In view of assumption (4b) $(W_\beta(x,y)<0$ when $(x,y)\in N_{\varphi_\beta}),$ we get

$$g_{\beta} \left[\varphi_{\beta}^{-1} \left(\psi_{1\beta} \left(x \right) \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{\beta}^{-1} \left(\psi_{1\beta} \left(x \right) \right) \right) \right] \\ \times \frac{\alpha_{\beta} \left(x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\beta-1}, \psi_{1\beta} \left(x \right), y_{\beta+1}, \dots, y_{n} \right)}{g_{\beta} \left(x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\beta-1}, \psi_{1\beta} \left(x \right), y_{\beta+1}, \dots, y_{n} \right)}$$
(71)
$$- \alpha_{\beta} \left(x, \varphi \left(x \right) \right) < 0$$

and, consequently,

$$\dot{\nu}_{\beta}\left(x,\psi_{1\beta}\left(x\right)\right) > 0. \tag{72}$$

(2) Let $y_{\beta} = \psi_{2\beta}(x)$. Then, by similar calculations and using assumption (4a) $(W_{\beta}(x, y) > 0 \text{ when } (x, y) \in N^{\varphi_{\beta}})$, we obtain

$$\dot{\nu}_{\beta}\left(x,\psi_{2\beta}\left(x\right)\right) > 0. \tag{73}$$

Hence $\dot{v}_{\beta}(x, y) > 0$ for all $\beta = 1, \dots, n_1$.

Now we will calculate the full derivative $\dot{u}_{\alpha}(x, y)$ of the function $u_{\alpha}(x, y)$ along trajectories of system (2) on the set U_{α} , where $\alpha = n_1 + 1, ..., n$. As above, we get

$$\begin{split} \dot{u}_{\alpha}\left(x,y\right) &= \frac{d}{dx} \left[\left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{1\alpha}\left(x\right)\right) \left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{2\alpha}\left(x\right)\right) \right] \\ &= \left[\frac{d}{dx} \left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{1\alpha}\left(x\right)\right) \right] \left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{2\alpha}\left(x\right)\right) \\ &+ \left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{1\alpha}\left(x\right)\right) \left[\frac{d}{dx} \left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{2\alpha}\left(x\right)\right) \right] \\ &= \left[\frac{\alpha_{\alpha}\left(x,y\right)}{g_{\alpha}\left(x,y\right)} - \psi_{1\alpha}'\left(x\right) \right] \left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{2\alpha}\left(x\right)\right) \\ &+ \left[\frac{\alpha_{\alpha}\left(x,y\right)}{g_{\alpha}\left(x,y\right)} - \psi_{2\alpha}'\left(x\right) \right] \left(y_{\alpha} - \psi_{1\alpha}\left(x\right)\right). \end{split}$$

On the set U_{α} , as it follows from the condition $u_{\alpha}(x, y) = 0$, we have either $y_{\alpha} = \psi_{1\alpha}(x)$ or $y_{\alpha} = \psi_{2\alpha}(x)$.

(1) Let $y_{\alpha} = \psi_{1\alpha}(x)$. Then, we get (proceeding like in the previous part of the proof)

$$\begin{split} \dot{u}_{\alpha} \left(x, \psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right) \right) \\ &= \left[\frac{\alpha_{\alpha} \left(x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\alpha-1}, \psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right), y_{\alpha+1}, \dots, y_{n} \right)}{g_{\alpha} \left(x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\alpha-1}, \psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right), y_{\alpha+1}, \dots, y_{n} \right)} \right. \\ &+ \left(-1 \right) \frac{\alpha_{\alpha} \left(x, \varphi \left(x \right) \right)}{g_{\alpha} \left[\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \left(\psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right) \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \left(\psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right) \right) \right) \right]} \right] \\ &\times \left(\psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right) - \psi_{2\alpha} \left(x \right) \right) \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{\psi_{1\alpha} (x) - \psi_{2\alpha} (x)}{g_{\alpha} \left[\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} (\psi_{1\alpha} (x)), \varphi \left(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} (\psi_{1\alpha} (x)) \right) \right]} \times \left[g_{\alpha} \left[\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} (\psi_{1\alpha} (x)), \varphi \left(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} (\psi_{1\alpha} (x)) \right) \right] \right] \times \frac{\alpha_{\alpha} (x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\alpha-1}, \psi_{1\alpha} (x), y_{\alpha+1}, \dots, y_{n})}{g_{\alpha} (x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\alpha-1}, \psi_{1\alpha} (x), y_{\alpha+1}, \dots, y_{n})} - \alpha_{\alpha} (x, \varphi (x)) \right].$$

$$(75)$$

Since, by (60), $\psi_{1\alpha}(x) < \psi_{1\beta}(x)$ and $\psi_{1\alpha}(x) < \varphi_{\alpha}(x) < \psi_{2\alpha}(x)$, applying assumption (1) of the theorem, we have

$$g_{\alpha}\left[\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\alpha}\left(x\right)\right),\varphi\left(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}\left(\psi_{1\alpha}\left(x\right)\right)\right)\right]>0.$$
 (76)

In view of assumption (4d) $(W_{\alpha}(x, y) > 0$ when $(x, y) \in N_{\varphi_{\alpha}})$, we have

$$g_{\alpha} \left[\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \left(\psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right) \right), \varphi \left(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \left(\psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right) \right) \right) \right]$$

$$\times \frac{\alpha_{\alpha} \left(x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\alpha-1}, \psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right), y_{\alpha+1}, \dots, y_{n} \right)}{g_{\alpha} \left(x, y_{1}, \dots, y_{\alpha-1}, \psi_{1\alpha} \left(x \right), y_{\alpha+1}, \dots, y_{n} \right)} \quad (77)$$

$$- \alpha_{\alpha} \left(x, \varphi \left(x \right) \right) > 0$$

and, consequently

$$\dot{u}_{\alpha}\left(x,\psi_{1\alpha}\left(x\right)\right)<0.$$
(78)

(2) Let $y_{\alpha} = \psi_{2\alpha}(x)$. Then, by similar calculations and using assumption (4)-(c) $(W_{\alpha}(x, y) < 0 \text{ when } (x, y) \in N^{\varphi_{\alpha}})$, we obtain

$$\dot{u}_{\alpha}\left(x,\psi_{2\alpha}\left(x\right)\right)<0.\tag{79}$$

Thus, $\dot{u}_{\alpha}(x, y) < 0$ for all $\alpha = n_1 + 1, \dots, n$.

By [18, Lemma 3.1, page 281], for decreasing values of the variable *x*, the set of all egress points Ω_e^0 , $\Omega_e^0 \subset \Omega^0$, from the set Ω^0 equals the set of all strict egress points Ω_{se}^0 , $\Omega_{se}^0 \subset \Omega^0$ from the set Ω^0 (for definitions of Ω_e^0 and Ω_{se}^0 see, for example, [18, page 37 and page 278]); that is,

$$\Omega_e^0 = \Omega_{\rm se}^0 = \bigcup_{\alpha=n_1+1}^n U_\alpha \setminus \bigcup_{\beta=0}^{n_1} V_\beta.$$
(80)

Let *S* be a subset of $\Omega^0 \cup \Omega_e^0$ defined as

$$S = \left\{ \left(\tilde{x}, y_1^0, \dots, y_{n_1}^0, y_{n_1+1}, \dots, y_n \right) : u_j \left(\tilde{x}, y_j \right) \le 0, \\ j = n_1 + 1, \dots, n, v_0 \left(\tilde{x} \right) < 0, v_k \left(\tilde{x}, y_k^0 \right) < 0, \\ k = 1, \dots, n_1 \right\},$$
(81)

where y_k^0 , $k = 1, ..., n_1$, are fixed. Then,

$$S \cap \Omega_{e}^{0} = \left\{ \left(\tilde{x}, y_{1}^{0}, \dots, y_{n_{1}}^{0}, y_{n_{1}+1}, \dots, y_{n} \right) : u_{\alpha} \left(\tilde{x}, y_{\alpha} \right) \right.$$
$$= 0, u_{j} \left(\tilde{x}, y_{j} \right) \leq 0, \alpha, j = n_{1} + 1, \dots, n, \qquad (82)$$
$$\alpha \neq j, v_{k} \left(\tilde{x}, y_{k}^{0} \right) < 0, k = 1, \dots, n_{1} \right\}.$$

We can see that the set $S \cap \Omega_e^0$ is a subset of the boundary ∂S of the set *S*, but it is not a retract of *S*. The explanation is simple and is based on the well-known fact that the boundary of an $(n - n_1)$ -dimensional ball is not its retract [20], and the set *S* is topologically equivalent to an $(n - n_1)$ -dimensional ball.

We show that $S \cap \Omega_{\rho}^{0}$ is a retract of Ω_{ρ}^{0} . Define a mapping

$$\pi: \Omega_e^0 \ni (x, y) \longmapsto \left(\tilde{x}, y_1^0, \dots, y_{n_1}^0, \tilde{y}_{n_1+1}, \dots, \tilde{y}_n\right) \in S \cap \Omega_e^0,$$
(83)

where

$$\widetilde{y}_{j} = \psi_{1j}(\widetilde{x}) + \left(y_{j} - \psi_{1j}(x)\right) \frac{\psi_{2j}(\widetilde{x}) - \psi_{1j}(\widetilde{x})}{\psi_{2j}(x) - \psi_{1j}(x)},$$

$$j = n_{1} + 1, \dots, n.$$
(84)

With respect to the behavior of functions $\psi_{kj}(x)$, $k = 1, 2, j = n_1 + 1, ..., n$, the mapping π is continuous. From the definition of the mapping π , we get that $S \cap \Omega_e^0$ is a retract of Ω_e^0 and, furthermore, *S* is a compact set.

By seeing Corollary 3.1, [18, page 282] of Ważewski's theorem [18, Theorem 3.1, page 282] there exists a solution of system (2) with the initial conditions in the set $S \cap \Omega_e^0$ and it is contained in Ω^0 for $x \in (0, \tilde{x}]$. This solution satisfies (5) since the set Ω_e^0 is contracted to the initial point for $x \to 0^+$.

As we can change the constants y_k^0 , $k = 1, ..., n_1$ within the inequality $v_k(\tilde{x}, y_k^0) < 0$, we can repeat the above-mentioned construction for every admissible fixed set $(y_1^0, ..., y_{n_1}^0)$. Then, there exists a class of solutions depending on n_1 parameters and lying in Ω^0 for $x \in (0, \tilde{x}]$. If $n_1 = n$, the assertion of theorem remains true as well. The proof is complete.

Remark 6. If $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$ is a solution of initial problem (2), (5), then

$$G_{i}(x,\varphi(x)) = -\varphi_{i}'(x) g_{i}(x,\varphi(x)) + \alpha_{i}(x,\varphi(x)) \equiv 0, \quad (85)$$

where $x \in (0, x_0]$ and i = 1, ..., n, and

$$G(x,\varphi(x)) \equiv \theta, \quad x \in (0,x_0].$$
(86)

Then, condition (3) of Theorem 5 is satisfied and, in this case, we obtain the result on the dimension of the set of initial data generating solutions of initial problem (2), (5).

Denote

$$R_{i}(y) := \int_{y}^{y_{0}} g_{i}\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(t), \varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(t)\right)\right) dt,$$

$$F_{i}(y,\varepsilon) := \frac{R_{i}\left(y\left(1+\varepsilon\right)\right)}{R_{i}(y)},$$

$$F_{i}(0,\varepsilon) := \lim_{y \to 0^{+}} F_{i}(y,\varepsilon),$$

$$\left(F_{i}\right)_{\varepsilon}^{\prime}(0,\varepsilon) := \lim_{y \to 0^{+}} \left(F_{i}\right)_{\varepsilon}^{\prime}(y,\varepsilon),$$
(87)

i = 1, ..., n, provided that the limits exist and are finite.

Theorem 7. Let all assumptions of Theorem 5 hold and, moreover, the functions

$$F_i: D^*\left(y_{00}, \varepsilon^*\right) \longrightarrow [0, \infty), \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \qquad (88)$$

satisfy the following:

- (1) $F_i(y,\varepsilon)$ is continuous with respect to y and continuously differentiable with respect to ε ;
- (2) $(F_i)'_{\varepsilon}(y,0) \neq 0.$

Then arbitrary solution $y(x) = (y_1(x), \dots, y_n(x))$ of initial problem (2), (5) mentioned in Theorem 5 has the asymptotic form

$$y_i(x) = \varphi_i(x) (1 + o(1)), \quad x \longrightarrow 0^+, i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (89)

Proof. From the proof of Theorem 5, it follows that, for coordinates $y_i(x)$, i = 1, ..., n, of the solution y(x) of initial problem (2), (5), the inequalities

$$\psi_{1i}(x) < y_i(x) < \psi_{2i}(x), \quad i = 1, ..., n$$
 (90)

are valid on an interval $(0, \tilde{x}]$ and we can assume that the inequalities

$$\psi_{1i}(x) < \varphi_i(x) < \psi_{2i}(x), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
 (91)

are valid on $(0, \tilde{x}]$ as well. Thus, to prove (89), it is sufficient to prove that

$$\lim_{x \to 0^+} \frac{\psi_{2i}(x)}{\psi_{1i}(x)} = 1, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(92)

Applying L'Hospital's rule to the limits (92), we do not obtain the desired result. Therefore we will apply L'Hospital's rule to the limits

$$\lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \frac{R_{i}(\psi_{2i}(x))}{R_{i}(\psi_{1i}(x))}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(93)

This is possible because, in view of condition (2) of the theorem, we obviously have

$$\lim_{x \to 0^{+}} R_{i}\left(\psi_{ki}\left(x\right)\right) = \infty, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \ k = 1, 2.$$
(94)

Then, we use the auxiliary results for implicit functions. Applying the above-mentioned procedure, we get (for $i \in$ $\{1, \ldots, n\}$

х-

$$\lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \frac{R_{i}(\psi_{2i}(x))}{R_{i}(\psi_{1i}(x))} = \lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \frac{[R_{i}(\psi_{2i}(x))]'}{[R_{i}(\psi_{1i}(x))]'} = \lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \frac{-g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x))\right)\right]\psi_{2i}'(x)}{-g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x))\right)\right]\psi_{1i}'(x)} = \lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \frac{g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x))\right)\right]}{g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x))\right)\right]} \times \frac{\alpha_{i}(x,\varphi(x))/g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x))\right)\right]}{\alpha_{i}(x,\varphi(x))/g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x)\right)\right)\right]} \\ = \lim_{x \to 0^{+}} \frac{g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{2i}(x))\right)\right]}{g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x)\right)\right)\right]} \\ \times \frac{g_{i}\left[\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x)),\varphi\left(\varphi_{i}^{-1}(\psi_{1i}(x))\right)\right]}{\alpha_{i}(x,\varphi(x))} = 1.$$
(95)

Hence it follows that there exists a sufficiently small constant $\varepsilon_i > 0$ such that the inequalities

$$R_{i}\left(\psi_{1i}\left(x\right)\right)\left(1-\varepsilon_{i}\right) < R_{i}\left(\psi_{2i}\left(x\right)\right) < R_{i}\left(\psi_{1i}\left(x\right)\right)\left(1+\varepsilon_{i}\right),$$

$$i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(96)

hold on some interval $(0, x^*]$, $0 < x^* \leq \tilde{x}$, where x^* is a sufficiently small constant. Applying Lemma 3 and Corollary 4 (formula (27)) we show that inequalities (96) can be written as

$$R_{i}\left[\psi_{1i}\left(x\right)\left(1+\varepsilon_{i}^{2}\left(\psi_{1i}\left(x\right),\varepsilon_{i}\right)\right)\right]$$

$$< R_{i}\left(\psi_{2i}\left(x\right)\right) < R_{i}\left[\psi_{1i}\left(x\right)\left(1-\varepsilon_{i}^{1}\left(\psi_{1i}\left(x\right),\varepsilon_{i}\right)\right)\right],$$

$$i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(97)

where $\varepsilon_i^j(\psi_{1i}(x),\varepsilon_i)$, j = 1, 2, are constants depending on $\psi_{1i}(x)$ and ε_i such that

$$0 < \varepsilon_{i}^{j} \left(\psi_{1i} \left(x \right), \varepsilon_{i} \right), \quad \lim_{\varepsilon_{i} \to 0^{+}} \varepsilon_{i}^{j} \left(\psi_{1i} \left(x \right), \varepsilon_{i} \right) = 0, \quad j = 1, 2.$$
(98)

In Lemma 3 we set, for every fixed index i = 1, ..., n,

$$R(y) := R_i(y) = \int_y^{y_0} g_i(\varphi_i^{-1}(t), \varphi(\varphi_i^{-1}(t))) dt,$$

$$F(y, \varepsilon) := F_i(y, \varepsilon) = \frac{R_i(y(1+\varepsilon))}{R_i(y)}.$$
(99)

Then, we have $R : (0, y_0) \rightarrow (0, \infty), F : D^*(y_{00}, \varepsilon^*) \rightarrow$ $[0,\infty)$ and we have the following:

- (a) R(y) is continuously differentiable, R'(y)= $-g_i(\varphi_i^{-1}(y), \varphi(\varphi_i^{-1}(y))) < 0;$
- (b) $F(y,\varepsilon)$ is continuous with respect to y and continuously differentiable with respect to ε ;
- (c) $F'_{s}(y, 0) \neq 0$ by condition (2) of the theorem.

Hence, Lemma 3 holds. By Corollary 4, we can write inequalities (96) in the form of (97). From (97), we get

$$\psi_{1i}(x)\left(1-\varepsilon_{i}^{1}\left(\psi_{1i}(x),\varepsilon_{i}\right)\right)$$

$$<\psi_{2i}(x)<\psi_{1i}(x)\left(1+\varepsilon_{i}^{2}\left(\psi_{1i}(x),\varepsilon_{i}\right)\right)$$
(100)

for $(0, x^*]$. The last inequalities are equivalent to

$$\lim_{x \to +0} \frac{\psi_{2i}(x)}{\psi_{1i}(x)} = 1, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(101)

The proof is complete.

,

Example 8. Consider the following simple particular case of initial problem (2), (5):

$$x^{2} \left(1 + x^{2} y^{6}\right) y' = y^{2} \left(1 + x y^{7}\right), \qquad (102)$$

$$y(0^+) = 0.$$
 (103)

This problem is a singular one. To apply Theorem 5, we rewrite (102), (103) as

$$\frac{1}{y^2}y' = \frac{1+xy^7}{x^2(1+x^2y^6)},$$
(104)

$$y(0^{+}) = 0.$$

Set n = 1 (below we omit this index since we deal with a scalar problem), $\varphi(x) = x$, and

$$g(x, y) = \frac{1}{y^2}$$
, $\alpha(x, y) = \frac{1 + xy^7}{x^2(1 + x^2y^6)}$. (105)

Without loss of generality, we assume that x_0 and y_0 in definition of D_1 are positive and sufficiently small (from Definition (1), property (4), it follows $x_0 < y_0$). Condition (1), obviously holds. Condition (2), is valid as well because

$$\int_{0^{+}} g(x,\varphi(x)) \varphi'(x) dx = \int_{0^{+}} \frac{1}{x^{2}} dx = \infty,$$

$$\int_{0^{+}} \alpha(x,\varphi(x)) dx = \int_{0^{+}} \frac{1+x^{8}}{x^{2}(1+x^{8})} dx = \int_{0^{+}} \frac{1}{x^{2}} dx = \infty.$$
(106)

Since φ is a solution of (104), we have $G(x, \varphi(x)) \equiv 0$ and Condition (3) holds (see Remark 6 as well). Next,

$$= g\left(\varphi^{-1}(y), \varphi\left(\varphi^{-1}(y)\right)\right) \frac{\alpha(x, y)}{g(x, y)} - \alpha(x, \varphi(x))$$

$$= g\left(y, y\right) \frac{\alpha(x, y)}{g(x, y)} - \alpha(x, x)$$

$$= \frac{1}{y^2} \frac{\left(1 + xy^7\right) / \left(x^2\left(1 + x^2y^6\right)\right)}{1/y^2} - \frac{1}{x^2}$$

$$= \frac{y^6(y - x)}{x\left(1 + x^2y^6\right)}.$$
(107)

Set $n_1 = 1$ (i.e., conditions (4c) and (4d) are omitted). For x and y sufficiently small and positive, it is easy to see that W(x, y) > 0 if y > x and W(x, y) < 0 if y < x. Hence, conditions (4a) and (4b) hold. According to Theorem 5, problem (102), (103) has at least one-parametric class of solutions.

Now we apply Theorem 7. We get

$$R(y) = \int_{y}^{y_{0}} g\left(\varphi^{-1}(t), \varphi\left(\varphi^{-1}(t)\right)\right) dt$$
$$= \int_{y}^{y_{0}} g\left(t, t\right) dt = \int_{y}^{y_{0}} \frac{1}{t^{2}} dt = \frac{1}{y} - \frac{1}{y_{0}}, \qquad (108)$$
$$F(y, \varepsilon) = \frac{R\left(y\left(1+\varepsilon\right)\right)}{R\left(y\right)} = \frac{1/y\left(1+\varepsilon\right) - 1/y_{0}}{1/y - 1/y_{0}}.$$

Now we see that condition (1) holds since F is continuous with respect to y and continuously differentiable with respect to ε for $(y, \varepsilon) \in D^*(y_{00}, \varepsilon^*)$. The values $F(0, \varepsilon)$ and $F'_{\varepsilon}(0, \varepsilon)$ are computed by above given formulas. Moreover, as

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \varepsilon}(y,0) = \left. \frac{-1/y(1+\varepsilon)^2}{1/y-1/y_0} \right|_{\varepsilon=0} = \frac{y_0}{y-y_0} \neq 0$$
(109)

for $y \in (0, y_{00}]$ with $y_{00} < y_0$ and

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \varepsilon}(0,0) = \lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{\partial F}{\partial \varepsilon}(y,0) = -\lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{1/y}{1/y - 1/y_0}$$

$$= \lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{y_0}{y - y_0} = -1 \neq 0.$$
(110)

condition (2) holds too. Theorem 7 is valid and every solution of problem (102), (103) mentioned in Theorem 5 satisfies (89); that is,

$$y(x) = x(1 + o(1))$$
(111)

for $x \to 0^+$.

Finally, we remark that, instead of (102), the same investigation can be performed, for example, for

$$x^{2}(1+x^{2}y^{6})y' = y^{2}(1+xy^{7}+y^{20}), \qquad (112)$$

where the function φ is no longer a solution and condition (3) of Theorem 5 holds (the moment x_{00} can be sufficiently small).

4. Generalization

The following theorem improves Theorems 5 and 7. In particular, comparing assumptions of Theorems 5 and 7 with Theorem 9, we see that the corresponding assumptions in Theorem 9 are assumed to be valid on some sets that are reductions of sets used in Theorems 5 and 7.

For given constants $C_i^* > 1$ and $0 < C_i^{**} < 1$, i = 1, ..., n, and for $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$, define sets

$$N^{\varphi_{i}}(C_{i}^{*}) := \{(x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n}, \varphi_{i}(x) < y_{i} < C_{i}^{*}\varphi_{i}(x)\},$$

$$N_{\varphi_{i}}(C_{i}^{**}) := \{(x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n}, C_{i}^{**}\varphi_{i}(x) < y_{i} < \varphi_{i}(x)\},$$

$$N := \{(x, y) : (x, y) \in D_{n},$$

$$C_{i}^{**}\varphi_{i}(x) < y_{i} < C_{i}^{*}\varphi_{i}(x), i = 1, ..., n\}.$$
(113)

Theorem 9. Let, for some constants C_i^* , C_i^{**} , $C_i^* > 1$, $0 < C_i^{**} < 1$, i = 1, ..., n, and some function $\varphi \in M(x_0, y_0)$, the following conditions be fulfilled.

- (a) Consider $g_i(x, y) \in C(N)$, $\alpha_i(x, y) \in C(N)$, $i = 1, \dots, n$.
- (b) Assumptions (1)–(3) of Theorem 5 hold.
- (c) For $i = 1, ..., n_1$,

$$W_{i}(x, y) > 0 \quad if \ (x, y) \in N^{\varphi_{i}}(C_{i}^{*}) \cap N,$$

$$W_{i}(x, y) < 0 \quad if \ (x, y) \in N_{\varphi_{i}}(C_{i}^{**}) \cap N.$$
(114)

We omit this assumption if $n_1 = 0$ *.*

(d) For
$$i = n_1 + 1, ..., n$$
,
 $W_i(x, y) < 0 \quad if \ (x, y) \in N^{\varphi_i}(C_i^*) \cap N$,
 $W_i(x, y) > 0 \quad if \ (x, y) \in N_{\varphi_i}(C_i^{**}) \cap N$.
(115)

We omit this assumption if $n_1 = n$ *.*

(e) Functions $F_i(y, \varepsilon)$, i = 1, ..., n, satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 7.

Then, there exists at least an n_1 -parametric family of solutions

$$y(x) = (y_1(x), \dots, y_n(x))$$
 (116)

such that

$$y_i(x) = \varphi_i(x)(1 + o(1)), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (117)

holds for $x \to 0^+$ and $(x, y(x)) \in D_n$.

Proof. The proof is omitted since it is similar to the proofs of Theorems 5 and 7. \Box

Acknowledgments

The first author was supported by the Project FEKT-S-11-2-921 of Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Brno University of Technology. The third author was supported by the Grant no. P201/11/0768 of Czech Grant Agency (Prague). The second author was supported by the Project CZ.1.07/2.3.00/30.0039 of Brno University of Technology. The work of the first and the third authors was partially realized in (Central European Institute of Technology CEITEC) with research infrastructure supported by the Project CZ.1.05/1.1.00/02.0068 financed from European Regional Development Fund.

References

- [1] A. F. Andreev, *Singular Points of Differential Equations*, Vysheish. Skhola, Minsk, Russia, 1979, Russian.
- [2] K. Balla, "Solution of singular boundary value problems for non-linear systems of ordinary differential equations," USSR Computational Mathematics and Mathematical Physics, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 100–115, 1980.
- [3] J. Baštinec, J. Diblík, and Z. Šmarda, "Multipoint singular boundary-value problem for systems of nonlinear differential equations," *Boundary Value Problems*, vol. 2009, Article ID 137451, 20 pages, 2009.
- [4] J. Diblík, "A multidimensional singular boundary value problem of the Cauchy-Nicoletti type," *Georgian Mathematical Journal*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 303–312, 1997.
- [5] J. Diblík, "Sufficient conditions for existence of a pencil of O-curves of a first-order singular differential equation," *Differentsial'nye Uravneniya*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 898–899, 1985 (Russian).
- [6] J. Diblik, "On the existence of O-curves of a singular system of differential equations," *Mathematische Nachrichten*, vol. 122, pp. 247–258, 1985 (Russian).
- [7] J. Diblik, "Asymptotic behavior of solutions of a system of differential equations near a singular point," *Akademiya Nauk Ukrainskoi SSR*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 360–363, 1983.
- [8] J. Diblík and C. Nowak, "A nonuniqueness criterion for a singular system of two ordinary differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis. Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 64, no. 4, pp. 637– 656, 2006.
- [9] J. Diblík and M. Růžičková, "Existence of positive solutions of a singular initial problem for a nonlinear system of differential equations," *The Rocky Mountain Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 923–944, 2004.
- [10] J. Diblík and M. Růžičková, "Inequalities for solutions of singular initial problems for Carathéodory systems via Ważewski's principle," *Nonlinear Analysis. Theory, Methods & Applications*, vol. 69, no. 12, pp. 4482–4495, 2008.
- [11] J. Kalas, "Nonuniqueness theorem for a singular Cauchy problem," *Georgian Mathematical Journal*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 317–327, 2000.
- [12] S. K. Norkin, "Local and asymptotic whirlpools for integral Omanifolds," Akademiya Nauk Ukrainskoĭ SSR, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 317–322, 1985.
- [13] I. T. Kiguradze, Some singular boundary value problems for ordinary differential equations, Izdat. Tbilis. Univ., Tbilisi, Georgia, 1975, Russian.

- [14] I. T. Kiguradze, "Cauchy problem for singular systems of ordinary differential equations," *Differentsial'nye Uravneniya*, vol. 1, no. 10, pp. 1271–1291, 1965.
- [15] V. A. Chechyk, "Investigation of systems of ordinary differential equations with a singularity," *Trudy Moskovskogo Matematičeskogo Obščestva*, vol. 8, pp. 155–198, 1959 (Russian).
- [16] N. B. Konyukhova, "Singular Cauchy problems for systems of ordinary differential equations," *Akademiya Nauk SSSR*, vol. 23, pp. 72–82, 1983.
- [17] T. Ważewski, "Sur un principe topologique de l'examen de l'allure asymptotique des intégrales des équations différentielles ordinaires," *Annales de la Société Polonaise de Mathématique*, vol. 20, pp. 279–313, 1947.
- [18] P. Hartman, Ordinary Differential Equations, SIAM, 2nd edition, 2002.
- [19] R. Srzednicki, "Ważewski method and Conley index," in *Handbook of Differential Equations*, A. Caňada, P. Drábek, and A. Fonda, Eds., vol. 1, pp. 591–684, Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2004.
- [20] K. Borsuk, *Theory of Retracts*, Mir Publishers, Moscow, Russia, 1971, Russian.

Research Article Stability of Impulsive Differential Systems

Andrejs Reinfelds^{1,2} and Lelde Sermone²

¹ Institute of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Latvia, Raiņa bulvāris 29, Riga, LV-1459, Latvia ² Faculty of Physics and Mathematics, University of Latvia, Zeļļu iela 8, Riga, LV-1002, Latvia

Correspondence should be addressed to Andrejs Reinfelds; reinf@latnet.lv

Received 12 July 2013; Accepted 9 November 2013

Academic Editor: István Györi

Copyright © 2013 A. Reinfelds and L. Sermone. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The asymptotic phase property and reduction principle for stability of a trivial solution is generalized to the case of the noninvertible impulsive differential equations in Banach spaces whose linear parts split into two parts and satisfy the condition of separation.

1. Introduction

The reduction principle in the theory of stability for systems of autonomous differential equations for the first time was proved by Pliss [1]. For systems of nonautonomous differential equations it was extended by Aulbach [2]; see also Pötzsche [3]. The analogy of the reduction principle for differential equations in Banach spaces was proved by Lykova [4] and for nonautonomous difference equations in Banach spaces by Reinfelds and Janglajew [5]. Several works [6, 7] are devoted to different modifications and applications of the reduction principle. In this paper, we generalize the reduction principle to the case of the noninvertible impulsive differential equations in Banach spaces whose linear part split into two parts and satisfy the condition of separation.

2. The Statement of the Problem

Let **X** and **Y** be Banach spaces. By $\mathfrak{L}(X)$ and $\mathfrak{L}(Y)$ we mean the Banach spaces of bounded linear operators. Consider the following system of impulsive differential equations:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx}{dt} &= A\left(t\right)x + f\left(t, x, y\right), \\ \frac{dy}{dt} &= B\left(t\right)y + g\left(t, x, y\right), \\ \Delta x|_{t=\tau_i} &= x\left(\tau_i + 0\right) - x\left(\tau_i - 0\right) \end{aligned}$$

$$= C_{i}x(\tau_{i} - 0) + p_{i}(x(\tau_{i} - 0), y(\tau_{i} - 0)),$$

$$\Delta y|_{t=\tau_{i}} = y(\tau_{i} + 0) - y(\tau_{i} - 0)$$

$$= D_{i}y(\tau_{i} - 0) + q_{i}(x(\tau_{i} - 0), y(\tau_{i} - 0)),$$

(1)

where

- (i) the mappings $A : \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{L}(\mathbf{X})$ and $B : \mathbb{R} \to \mathfrak{L}(\mathbf{Y})$ are locally integrable in the Bochner sense;
- (ii) the mappings f : ℝ × X × Y → X and g : ℝ × X ×
 Y → Y are locally integrable in the Bochner sense with respect to t for fixed x and y, and in addition they satisfy the uniform Lipschitz conditions

$$\begin{aligned} \left| f\left(t, x, y\right) - f\left(t, x', y'\right) \right| &\leq \varepsilon \left(\left| x - x' \right| + \left| y - y' \right| \right), \\ \left| g\left(t, x, y\right) - g\left(t, x', y'\right) \right| &\leq \varepsilon \left(\left| x - x' \right| + \left| y - y' \right| \right); \end{aligned}$$
(2)

(iii) for $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, $C_i \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbf{X})$, and $D_i \in \mathfrak{L}(\mathbf{Y})$, the mappings $p_i : \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{X}$ and $q_i : \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{Y}$ satisfy the uniform Lipschitz conditions

$$|p_{i}(x, y) - p_{i}(x', y')| \leq \varepsilon \left(|x - x'| + |y - y'|\right),$$

$$|q_{i}(x, y) - q_{i}(x', y')| \leq \varepsilon \left(|x - x'| + |y - y'|\right);$$
(3)

(iv) the mappings $x \mapsto x + C_i x$ are homeomorphisms;

(v) the moments τ_i of impulse form a strictly increasing sequence

$$\cdots < \tau_{-2} < \tau_{-1} < \tau_0 < \tau_1 < \tau_2 < \cdots,$$
 (4)

where the limit point may be only ∞ .

Without loss of generality we assume that the system (1) has the equilibrium points x = 0, y = 0,

$$f(t,0,0) = 0, \quad g(t,0,0) = 0,$$

$$p_i(t,0,0) = 0, \quad q_i(t,0,0) = 0.$$
(5)

Using the suitable bump function it is possible for the analysis of local stability of the trivial solution to reduce to investigation of the global stability of the trivial solution if the nonlinear terms of (1) are uniform Lipschitz with respect to time and with a sufficient small constant in a fixed radius tubular neighbourhood of the trivial solution.

For simplicity, we assume that the linear part of (1) is decoupled in two separate parts. In many cases, this can be reached via the so-called kinematic similarity transformation [8, 9]. More generally via kinematic similarity transformation, the linear system can be reduced to the same almost reducible system [10], a system with a diagonal part and a small nondiagonal part. However, the kinematic transformation can grow unboundedly as the nondiagonal part tends to zero.

Definition 1 (see [11, 12]). By the solution to an impulsive system one means a piecewise absolutely continuous mapping with discontinuities of the first kind at the points $t = \tau_i$ which for almost all t satisfies system (1) and for $t = \tau_i$ satisfies the conditions of a "jump."

Note that condition (v) together with the Lipschitz property with respect to x and y of the right-hand side ensures that there is a unique solution.

Let $\Phi(\cdot, s, x, y) = (x(\cdot, s, x, y), y(\cdot, s, x, y)) : [s, +\infty) \rightarrow \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y}$ be the solution of system (1), where $\Phi(s + 0, s, x, y) = (x(s + 0, s, x, y), y(s + 0, s, x, y)) = (x, y)$. At the break points τ_i the values for all solutions are taken at $\tau_i + 0$ unless otherwise indicated. For short, we will use the notation $\Phi(t) = (x(t), y(t))$.

Let X(t, s) and Y(t, s) be the evolutionary operators of the impulsive linear differential equations

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx}{dt} &= A\left(t\right)x,\\ \Delta x|_{t=\tau_{i}} &= x\left(\tau_{i}+0\right) - x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right) = C_{i}x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right), \end{aligned} \tag{6}$$

and, respectively,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dy}{dt} &= B(t) y, \\ \Delta y|_{t=\tau_i} &= y \left(\tau_i + 0\right) - y \left(\tau_i - 0\right) = D_i y \left(\tau_i - 0\right). \end{aligned} \tag{7}$$

We assume that the operators X(t, s) and Y(t, s) satisfy the *condition of separation* [7]:

$$\nu = \max\left(\sup_{s} \int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,t)| |X(t,s)| dt + \sup_{s} \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_{i})| |X(\tau_{i}-0,s)|, \right)$$

$$\sup_{s} \int_{s}^{+\infty} |X(s,t)| |Y(t,s)| dt + \sup_{s} \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} |X(s,\tau_{i})| |Y(\tau_{i}-0,s)| \right) < +\infty,$$
(8)

where v is the constant of separation.

To prove the theorems and lemmas, we use integrals which include evolutionary operators in their integrands. That is why it is more useful to estimate not the evolutionary operators but the corresponding integrals. Doing so, on the one hand, the conditions of theorems and lemmas are released from unnecessary technical limitations and, on the other hand, we obtain the conditions that are close to the necessary conditions.

If A(t) = A, B(t) = B, $C_i = 0$, and $D_i = 0$, then $v = \int_0^{+\infty} |e^{-At}| |e^{Bt}| dt$. Consequently, the integral converges if the spectrum of the mapping *B* is located to the left of the spectrum of the mapping *A* and the spectra are separated by a vertical line in the complex plane.

Let $\mathbf{PC}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y})$ be a set of mappings $u : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{X} \to \mathbf{Y}$ that are continuous for $(t, x) \in [\tau_i, \tau_{i+1}) \times \mathbf{X}$ and have discontinuities of the first kind for $t = \tau_i$.

The set

$$\mathfrak{M} = \left\{ u \in \mathbf{PC} \left(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y} \right) \mid u(s, 0) = 0, \\ \sup_{s, x \neq 0} \frac{|u(s, x)|}{|x|} < +\infty \right\}$$
(9)

is a Banach space with the norm

$$\|u\| = \sup_{s,x \neq 0} \frac{|u(s,x)|}{|x|},$$

$$\mathfrak{M}(k) = \left\{ u \in \mathfrak{M} \mid \|u\| \le k, \quad (10) \\ \left| u(s,x) - u(s,x') \right| \le k \left| x - x' \right| \right\}$$

are a closed subsets of M.

Abstract and Applied Analysis

3. Auxiliary Lemma

Lemma 2. Let $u, u' \in \mathfrak{M}(k)$ and $\varepsilon \nu(k + 1) < 1$. Then the following estimations are valid:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,t)| |z(t)| dt + \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_{i})| |z(\tau_{i}-0)|$$

$$\leq \frac{\nu |x|}{1-\varepsilon\nu (k+1)},$$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,t)| |z(t)-z'(t)| dt$$

$$+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_{i})| |z(\tau_{i}-0)-z'(\tau_{i}-0)|$$

$$\leq \frac{\nu}{1-\varepsilon\nu (k+1)}$$

$$\times \left(\left| x-x' \right| + \frac{\varepsilon\nu}{1-\varepsilon\nu (k+1)} |x| \left\| u-u' \right\| \right),$$
(11)

where $z : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbf{X}$ is the solution of the impulsive differential equations

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dz}{dt} &= A(t) z + f(t, z, u(t, z)), \\ \Delta z|_{t=\tau_i} &= C_i z (\tau_i - 0) + p_i (z (\tau_i - 0), u (\tau_i - 0, z (\tau_i - 0))) \end{aligned}$$
(12)

satisfying the initial condition z(s) = x.

We remark that $X(\tau_i - 0, \tau_i) = (id_x + C_i)^{-1}$ and $|X(\tau_i - 0, \tau_i)| \le \nu$. It follows that (12) has a unique backward solution if $\varepsilon(k + 1)\nu < 1$.

Proof. The solution of the impulsive system (12) for $t \le s$ is

$$z(t) = X(t,s) x + \int_{s}^{t} X(t,\tau) f(\tau, z(\tau), u(\tau, z(\tau))) d\tau - \sum_{t < \tau_{i} \le s} X(t,\tau_{i}) p_{i} (z(\tau_{i} - 0), u(\tau_{i} - 0, z(\tau_{i} - 0))).$$
(13)

Taking into account that f and p_i satisfy the uniform Lipschitz conditions and u properties, the solution z(t) can be estimated by

$$|z(t)| \leq |X(t,s)| |x| + \varepsilon (k+1) \left(\int_{t}^{s} |X(t,\tau)| |z(\tau)| d\tau + \sum_{t < \tau_{i} \leq s} |X(t,\tau_{i})| |z(\tau_{i}-0)| \right).$$

$$(14)$$

Multiplying the solution z(t) by |Y(s, t)| and integrating from $-\infty$ to *s*, we obtain

$$\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,t)| |z(t)| dt \le |x| \int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,t)| |X(t,s)| dt + \varepsilon (k+1) \sup_{\tau} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} |Y(\tau,t)| |X(t,\tau)| dt \times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| |z(\tau)| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_{i} \le s} |Y(s,\tau_{i})| |z(\tau_{i}-0)| \right).$$
(15)

Multiplying $z(\tau_i - 0)$ by $|Y(s, \tau_i)|$ and summing for all *i* with respect to $\tau_i \leq s$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_i)| \left| z\left(\tau_i - 0\right) \right| \\ &\leq |x| \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_i)| \left| X\left(\tau_i - 0, s\right) \right| \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(k+1\right) \sup_{\tau} \sum_{\tau_i \leq \tau} |Y\left(\tau,\tau_i\right)| \left| X\left(\tau_i - 0,\tau\right) \right| \\ &\times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y\left(s,\tau\right)| \left| z\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y\left(s,\tau_i\right)| \left| z\left(\tau_i - 0\right) \right| \right). \end{split}$$

$$(16)$$

Summing up we get that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| \left| z\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y\left(s,\tau_{i}\right) \right| \left| z\left(\tau_{i}-0\right) \right| \\ &\leq \nu \left| x \right| + \varepsilon \nu \left(k+1 \right) \\ & \times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} \left| Y\left(s,\tau\right) \right| \left| z\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y\left(s,\tau_{i}\right) \right| \left| z\left(\tau_{i}-0\right) \right| \right). \end{split}$$

$$(17)$$

From the last inequality, we get that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| |z(\tau)| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \le s} |Y(s,\tau_i)| |z(\tau_i - 0)|$$

$$\leq \frac{\nu |x|}{1 - \nu \varepsilon (k+1)}.$$
(18)

Now we estimate the difference |z(t) - z'(t)| taking into consideration the properties of *f*, *p*_{*i*}, and *u*:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| z(t) - z'(t) \right| \\ &\leq |X(t,s)| \left| x - x' \right| + \varepsilon (k+1) \\ &\times \left(\int_{t}^{s} |X(t,\tau)| \left| z(\tau) - z'(\tau) \right| d\tau \right. \\ &+ \sum_{t < \tau_{i} \leq s} \left| X(t,\tau_{i}) \right| \left| z(\tau_{i} - 0) - z'(\tau_{i} - 0) \right| \right) \end{aligned}$$
(19)
$$&+ \varepsilon \left\| u - u' \right\| \left(\int_{t}^{s} |X(t,\tau)| \left| z(\tau) \right| d\tau \right. \\ &+ \sum_{t < \tau_{i} \leq s} \left| X(t,\tau_{i}) \right| \left| z(\tau_{i} - 0) \right| \right). \end{aligned}$$

Multiplying the difference |z(t) - z'(t)| by |Y(s, t)| and integrating from $-\infty$ to *s*, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,t)| \left| z(t) - z'(t) \right| dt \\ &\leq \left| x - x' \right| \int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,t)| \left| X(t,s) \right| dt \\ &+ \varepsilon (k+1) \sup_{\tau} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} |Y(\tau,t)| \left| X(t,\tau) \right| dt \\ &\times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| \left| z(\tau) - z'(\tau) \right| d\tau \\ &+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y(s,\tau_{i}) \right| \left| z(\tau_{i} - 0) - z'(\tau_{i} - 0) \right| \right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \left\| u - u' \right\| \sup_{\tau} \int_{-\infty}^{\tau} |Y(\tau,t)| \left| X(t,\tau) \right| dt \\ &\times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| \left| z(\tau) \right| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y(s,\tau_{i}) \right| \left| z(\tau_{i} - 0) \right| \right). \end{split}$$
(20)

Multiplying the difference $|z(\tau_i - 0) - z'(\tau_i - 0)|$ by $|Y(s, \tau_i)|$ and summing for all *i* with respect to $\tau_i \leq s$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y\left(s, \tau_i\right)| \left| z\left(\tau_i - 0\right) - z'\left(\tau_i - 0\right) \right| \\ &\leq \left| x - x' \right| \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y\left(s, \tau_i\right)| \left| X\left(\tau_i - 0, s\right) \right| \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(k + 1\right) \sup_{\tau} \sum_{\tau_i \leq \tau} |Y\left(\tau, \tau_i\right)| \left| X\left(\tau_i - 0, \tau\right) \right| \end{split}$$

$$\times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| \left| z(\tau) - z'(\tau) \right| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_i)| \left| z(\tau_i - 0) - z'(\tau_i - 0) \right| \right) + \varepsilon \left\| u - u' \right\| \sup_{\tau} \sum_{\tau_i \leq \tau} |Y(\tau,\tau_i)| \left| X(\tau_i - 0,\tau) \right| \\ \times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| \left| z(\tau) \right| d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_i)| \left| z(\tau_i - 0) \right| \right).$$

$$(21)$$

Summing up, we get that

.

$$\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| |z(\tau) - z'(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_{i})| |z(\tau_{i} - 0) - z'(\tau_{i} - 0)|$$

$$\leq \nu \left(|x - x'| + \varepsilon (k + 1) \right)$$

$$\times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| |z(\tau) - z'(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_{i})| |z(\tau_{i} - 0) - z'(\tau_{i} - 0)| \right) \right)$$

$$+ \varepsilon \nu ||u - u'||$$

$$\times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| |z(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_{i})| |z(\tau_{i} - 0)| \right).$$
(22)

Applying the first result of Lemma 2, we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| \left| z\left(\tau\right) - z'\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau \\ &+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y\left(s,\tau_{i}\right) \right| \left| z\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) - z'\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) \right| \\ &\leq \nu \left(\left| x - x' \right| + \varepsilon \left(k + 1 \right) \right. \\ & \left. \times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y\left(s,\tau\right)| \left| z\left(\tau\right) - z'\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau \right. \\ &\left. + \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y\left(s,\tau_{i}\right) \right| \left| z\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) - z'\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) \right| \right) \right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \nu \left\| u - u' \right\| \frac{\nu |x|}{1 - \varepsilon \nu \left(k + 1 \right)}. \end{split}$$

From the last inequality we easily obtain (11).

(23)

4. Existence of a Lipschitz Invariant Manifold

Theorem 3. If $4\varepsilon \nu < 1$, then there exists a unique piecewise continuous mapping $u \in \mathfrak{M}(k)$ satisfying the following properties:

(i)
$$u(t, x(t, s, x, u(s, x))) = y(t, s, x, u(s, x))$$
 for $t \ge s$;
(ii) $|u(s, x) - u(s, x')| \le k|x - x'|$;
(iii) $u(t, 0) = 0$.

Proof. Consider in $\mathfrak{M}(k)$ the functional equation

$$u(s, x) = \int_{-\infty}^{s} Y(s, \tau) g(\tau, z(\tau), u(\tau, z(\tau))) d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \le s} Y(s, \tau_i) q_i (z(\tau_i - 0), u(\tau_i - 0, z(\tau_i - 0))),$$
(24)

where $z : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbf{X}$ is the solution of the impulsive differential equation system (12) satisfying the initial condition z(s) = x.

Consider the operator $\mathscr{L} : \mathfrak{M}(k) \to \mathfrak{M}(k)$ defined by the formula

$$\mathcal{L}u(s, x) = \int_{-\infty}^{s} Y(s, \tau) g(\tau, z(\tau), u(\tau, z(\tau))) d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} Y(s, \tau_i) q_i (z(\tau_i - 0), u(\tau_i - 0, z(\tau_i - 0))).$$
(25)

If $4\varepsilon\nu < 1$, then

$$k = (2\varepsilon\nu)^{-1} \left(1 - 2\varepsilon\nu - \sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon\nu}\right) = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon\nu}}{1 + \sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon\nu}} < 1 \quad (26)$$

satisfies the equality

$$k = \varepsilon \nu (k+1) (1 - \varepsilon \nu (k+1))^{-1}.$$
 (27)

Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{L}u(s,x)| \\ &\leq \varepsilon (k+1) \\ \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y(s,\tau)| |z(\tau)| \, d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \leq s} |Y(s,\tau_i)| \, |z(\tau_i - 0)| \right) \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon \nu (k+1) \, |x|}{1 - \varepsilon \nu (k+1)} = k \, |x| \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(28)$$

Taking into account that g and q_i satisfy the uniform Lipschitz conditions, we get that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathscr{L}u\left(s,x\right) - \mathscr{L}u'\left(s,x'\right) \right| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \left(k+1\right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y\left(s,\tau\right)| \left| z\left(\tau\right) - z'\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau \right. \\ &+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y\left(s,\tau_{i}\right) \right| \left| z\left(\tau_{i}-0\right) - z'\left(\tau_{i}-0\right) \right| \right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \left\| u - u' \right\| \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s} |Y\left(s,\tau\right)| \left| z\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau \right. \end{aligned} \tag{29} &+ \sum_{\tau_{i} \leq s} \left| Y\left(s,\tau_{i}\right) \right| \left| z\left(\tau_{i}-0\right) \right| \right) \\ &\leq k \left(\left| x - x' \right| + \frac{\varepsilon \nu}{1 - \varepsilon \nu \left(k+1\right)} \left| x \right| \left\| u - u' \right\| \right) \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon \nu \left| x \right|}{1 - \varepsilon \nu \left(k+1\right)} \left\| u - u' \right\| \\ &= k \left| x - x' \right| + k \left| x \right| \left\| u - u' \right\| . \end{aligned}$$

We have that $\mathcal{L}u \in \mathfrak{M}(k)$ and \mathcal{L} is a contraction in $\mathfrak{M}(k)$, and therefore there is only one solution satisfying the functional equation $\mathcal{L}u = u$.

In addition for $t \ge s$

$$u(t, z(t)) = \int_{-\infty}^{t} Y(t, \tau) g(\tau, z(\tau), u(\tau, z(\tau))) d\tau + \sum_{\tau_i \le t} Y(t, \tau_i) q_i (z(\tau_i - 0), u(\tau_i - 0, z(\tau_i - 0))) = Y(t, s) u(s, x) + \int_{s}^{t} Y(t, \tau) g(\tau, z(\tau), u(\tau, z(\tau))) d\tau + \sum_{s < \tau_i \le t} Y(t, \tau_i) q_i (z(\tau_i - 0), u(\tau_i - 0, z(\tau_i - 0))).$$
(30)

Therefore for uniqueness of solutions we get for $t \ge s$

$$z(t) = x(t, s, x, u(s, x)),$$

$$u(t, z(t)) = y(t, s, x, u(s, x)).$$
(31)

The theorem is proven.

It follows that $||\mathcal{L}u|| \leq k$.

5. Behaviour of Solutions in the Neighbourhood of an Invariant Manifold

Theorem 4. Let $4\varepsilon\nu < 1$. Then the following estimation is valid:

$$\int_{s}^{+\infty} |X(s,t)| |y(t) - u(t,x(t))| dt + \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} |X(s,\tau_{i})| |y(\tau_{i} - 0) - u(\tau_{i} - 0, x(\tau_{i} - 0))|$$
(32)
$$\leq \frac{\nu |y - u(s,x)|}{1 - \varepsilon \nu (k + 1)}.$$

The inequality characterizes the integral distance between an arbitrary solution and an invariant manifold.

Proof. For an arbitrary map $\xi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbf{Y}$, piecewise continuous from the right with points of discontinuity $t = \tau_i$ of the first type, we have the following relation:

$$\xi(t) = \xi(s) + \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s}^{t} \left(\xi(r+\delta) - \xi(r)\right) dr.$$
(33)

Set $\xi(r) = Y(t, r)u(r, x(r))$. Then for $t \ge s$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} u\left(t, x\left(t\right)\right) &= Y\left(t, s\right) u\left(s, x\right) \\ &+ \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s}^{t} \left(Y\left(t, r+\delta\right) u\left(r+\delta, x\left(r+\delta\right)\right) \right. \\ &- Y\left(t, r\right) u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right) dr \\ &= Y\left(t, s\right) u\left(s, x\right) \\ &+ \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s}^{t} Y\left(t, r+\delta\right) \\ &\times \left(u\left(r+\delta, x\left(r+\delta\right)\right) \right. \\ &- y\left(r+\delta, r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right)\right) dr \\ &+ \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s}^{t} \left(Y\left(t, r+\delta\right) y \right. \\ &\times \left(r+\delta, r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right) \\ &- Y\left(t, r\right) u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right) dr. \end{split}$$

$$(34)$$

Let us note that

$$y(r + \delta, r, x_1, y_1)$$

$$= Y(r + \delta, r) y_1$$

$$+ \int_r^{r+\delta} Y(r + \delta, \tau) g(\tau, \Phi(\tau, r, x_1, y_1)) d\tau$$

$$+ \sum_{r < \tau_i \le r+\delta} Y(r + \delta, \tau_i) q_i (\Phi(\tau_i - 0, r, x_1, y_1)).$$
(35)

The third countable can be simplified:

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s}^{t} \left(\int_{r}^{r+\delta} Y\left(t,\tau\right) g\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau,r,x\left(r\right),u\left(r,x\left(r\right)\right)\right) \right) d\tau \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{r < \tau_{i} \leq r+\delta} Y\left(t,\tau_{i}\right) q_{i} \right. \\ \left. \times \left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0,r,x\left(r\right),u\left(r,x\left(r\right)\right)\right)\right) \right) dr \\ \left. = \int_{s}^{t} Y\left(t,r\right) g\left(r,x\left(r\right),u\left(r,x\left(r\right)\right) \right) dr \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{s < \tau_{i} \leq t} Y\left(t,\tau_{i}\right) q_{i} \left(x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right),u\left(\tau_{i}-0,x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right)\right) \right). \end{split}$$
(36)

Next we obtain

$$y(t) - u(t, x(t)) = Y(t, s) (y - u(s, x)) + \int_{s}^{t} Y(t, r) (g(r, x(r), y(r)) -g(r, x(r), u(r, x(r)))) dr + \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{s}^{t} Y(t, r + \delta)$$

$$\times (y(r + \delta, r, x(r), u(r, x(r))) -u(r + \delta, x(r + \delta))) dr + \sum_{s < \tau_{i} \le t} Y(t, \tau_{i}) \times (q_{i} (x(\tau_{i} - 0), y(\tau_{i} - 0)))$$
(37)

 $-q_i(x(\tau_i - 0), u(\tau_i - 0, x(\tau_i - 0)))).$

Now we consider

$$\begin{aligned} x\left(r+\delta,r,x_{1},y_{1}\right)-x\left(r+\delta,r,x_{1},u\left(r,x_{1}\right)\right) \\ &=\int_{r}^{r+\delta}X\left(r+\delta,\tau\right)\left(f\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau,r,x_{1},y_{1}\right)\right) \\ &-f\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau,r,x_{1},u\left(r,x_{1}\right)\right)\right)\right)d\tau \\ &+\sum_{r<\tau_{i}\leq r+\delta}X\left(r+\delta,\tau_{i}\right)\left(p_{i}\left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0,r,x_{1},u\left(r,x_{1}\right)\right)\right) \\ &-p_{i}\left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0,r,x_{1},u\left(r,x_{1}\right)\right)\right)\right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(38)$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \left| \int_{s}^{t} Y\left(t, r+\delta\right) \left(y\left(r+\delta, r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right) \right. \\ \left. -u\left(r+\delta, x\left(r+\delta\right)\right)\right) dr \right| \\ \leq k \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \\ \times \int_{s}^{t} |Y\left(t, r+\delta\right)| \\ \times |x\left(r+\delta, r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right) \\ \left. -x\left(r+\delta, r, x\left(r\right), y\left(r\right)\right)\right| dr \\ \leq k \lim_{\delta \to +0} \frac{1}{\delta} \\ \times \int_{s}^{t} |Y\left(t, r+\delta\right)| \\ \times \left(\int_{r}^{r+\delta} |X\left(r+\delta, \tau\right)| \\ \times \left|f\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau, r, x\left(r\right), y\left(r\right)\right)\right)\right| d\tau \\ \left. + \sum_{r < \tau_{i} \le r+\delta} |X\left(r+\delta, \tau_{i}\right)| \\ \times \left|p_{i}\left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0, r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right)\right)\right|\right) dr \\ = k \left(\int_{s}^{t} |Y\left(t, r\right)| \\ \times \left|f\left(r, x\left(r\right), y\left(r\right)\right) - f\left(r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right)\right)\right)\right| dr \\ + \sum_{s < \tau_{i} \le t} |Y\left(t, \tau_{i}\right)| \\ \times \left|p_{i}\left(x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right), y\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right) \\ \left. - p_{i}\left(x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right), u\left(\tau_{i}-0, x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right)\right)\right)\right) \right| \right). \end{aligned}$$
(39)

We introduce the expression $\eta(t) = |y(t) - u(t, x(t))|$. For $t \ge s$, we obtain the estimation

$$\eta(t) \leq |Y(t,s)| \eta(s) + \varepsilon (k+1) \times \left(\int_{s}^{t} |Y(t,r)| \eta(r) dr + \sum_{s < \tau_{i} \leq t} |Y(t,\tau_{i})| \eta(\tau_{i}-0) \right).$$

$$(40)$$

Multiplying by X(s, t), integrating, and summing analogously as in auxiliary Lemma 2, we obtain the inequality

$$\int_{s}^{+\infty} |X(s,t)| |y(t) - u(t,x(t))| dt + \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} |X(s,\tau_{i})| |y(\tau_{i} - 0) - u(\tau_{i} - 0, x(\tau_{i} - 0))|$$
(41)
$$\leq \frac{\nu |y - u(s,x)|}{1 - \varepsilon \nu (k + 1)}.$$

6. Asymptotic Phase Type Property

Theorem 5. Let $4\varepsilon v < 1$. Then for every solution $(x(\cdot), y(\cdot)) : [s, +\infty) \rightarrow \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y}$ of the impulsive system (1) there is a such solution $\zeta(\cdot) : [s, +\infty) \rightarrow \mathbf{X}$ of the impulsive system (12) that for all $t \ge s$ the following estimation is fulfilled:

$$|\zeta(t) - x(t)| \le k_1 |y(t) - u(t, x(t))|,$$
 (42)

where

$$k_1 = \frac{\varepsilon \nu}{\sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon \nu}}.\tag{43}$$

Proof. The set of mappings

$$\mathfrak{M}_{1} = \left\{ \kappa \in \mathbf{PC} \left(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{X} \times \mathbf{Y}, \mathbf{X} \right) \mid \sup_{s, x, y} \frac{\left| \kappa \left(s, x, y \right) \right|}{\left| y - u \left(s, x \right) \right|} < + \infty \right\}$$
(44)

is a Banach space with the norm

$$\|\kappa\| = \sup_{s,x,y} \frac{|\kappa(s,x,y)|}{|y-u(s,x)|},$$
(45)

respectively.

Consider the functional equation in \mathfrak{M}_1

$$\begin{split} \kappa\left(s, x, y\right) \\ &= \int_{s}^{+\infty} X\left(s, \tau\right) \left(f\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right) \\ &\quad - f\left(\tau, x\left(\tau\right) + \kappa\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right), \\ &\quad u\left(\tau, x\left(\tau\right) + \kappa\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right)\right) d\tau \\ &\quad + \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} X\left(s, \tau_{i}\right) \\ &\quad \times \left(p_{i}\left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right)\right)\right) \end{split}$$

$$- p_i \left(x \left(\tau_i - 0 \right) + \kappa \left(\tau_i - 0, \Phi \left(\tau_i - 0 \right) \right), \\ u \left(\tau_i - 0, x \left(\tau_i - 0 \right) \\ + \kappa \left(\tau_i - 0, \Phi \left(\tau_i - 0 \right) \right) \right) \right).$$

(46)

Consider the operator $\mathscr{L}:\mathfrak{M}_1\,\rightarrow\,\mathfrak{M}_1$ defined by formula

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}\kappa(s, x, y) \\ &= \int_{s}^{+\infty} X(s, \tau) \left(f\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right) \right. \\ &- f\left(\tau, x\left(\tau\right) + \kappa\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right) \right. \\ &\left. u\left(\tau, x\left(\tau\right) + \kappa\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right)\right) \right) d\tau \\ &+ \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} X\left(s, \tau_{i}\right) \\ &\times \left(p_{i}\left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right)\right) \right. \\ &\left. - p_{i}\left(x\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) + \kappa\left(\tau_{i} - 0, \Phi\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right)\right)\right) \right. \\ &\left. u\left(\tau_{i} - 0, x\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) + \kappa\left(\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right)\right)\right) \right) \right] . \end{aligned}$$

$$(47)$$

We have the following estimation:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathscr{L}\kappa\left(s, x, y\right) - \mathscr{L}\kappa'\left(s, x, y\right) \right| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \left(k+1\right) \\ &\times \int_{s}^{+\infty} \left| X\left(s, \tau\right) \right| \\ &\times \left| \kappa\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right) - \kappa'\left(\tau, \Phi\left(\tau\right)\right) \right| d\tau \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(k+1\right) \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} \left| X\left(s, \tau_{i}\right) \right| \\ &\times \left| \kappa\left(\tau_{i} - 0, \Phi\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right)\right) \right| \\ &- \kappa'\left(\tau_{i} - 0, \Phi\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right)\right) \right| \\ &\leq \varepsilon \left(k+1\right) \left\| \kappa - \kappa' \right\| \end{aligned}$$
(48)

$$\times \int_{s} |X(s,\tau)| |y(\tau) - u(\tau, x(\tau))| d\tau$$
$$+ \varepsilon (k+1) \left\| \kappa - \kappa' \right\| \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} |X(s,\tau_{i})|$$
$$\times |y(\tau_{i} - 0) - u(\tau_{i} - 0, x(\tau_{i} - 0))|$$
$$\leq \varepsilon (k+1) \left\| \kappa - \kappa' \right\| \frac{\nu |y - u(s,x)|}{1 - \varepsilon \nu (k+1)}$$
$$= k \left\| \kappa - \kappa' \right\| |y - u(s,x)|.$$

Besides

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathscr{L}\kappa\left(s, x, y\right) \right| &+ \varepsilon \left((k+1) \|\kappa\| + 1 \right) \\ &\times \int_{s}^{+\infty} |X\left(s, \tau\right)| \left| y\left(\tau\right) - u\left(\tau, x\left(\tau\right)\right) \right| d\tau \\ &+ \varepsilon \left((k+1) \|\kappa\| + 1 \right) \\ &\times \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} \left| X\left(s, \tau_{i} \right) \right| \left| y\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) - u\left(\tau_{i} - 0, x\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) \right) \right| \ (49) \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon \nu \left((k+1) \|\kappa\| + 1 \right)}{1 - \varepsilon \nu \left(k + 1 \right)} \left| y - u\left(s, x \right) \right| \\ &= \left(k \|\kappa\| + \frac{k}{k+1} \right) \left| y - u\left(s, x \right) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

If

$$\|\kappa\| \le k_1 = \frac{k}{1-k^2} = \frac{\varepsilon \nu}{\sqrt{1-4\varepsilon \nu}},\tag{50}$$

then $\| \mathscr{L}\kappa \| \le k_1$. We have that \mathscr{L} is a contraction and $\mathscr{L}\kappa \in \mathfrak{M}_1$. It follows that there is only one solution satisfying the functional equation $\mathscr{L}\kappa = \kappa$. In addition for $t \ge s$

$$\begin{split} \kappa\left(t,\Phi\left(t\right)\right) \\ &= \int_{t}^{+\infty} X\left(t,\tau\right) \left(f\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right) \\ &\quad -f\left(\tau,x\left(\tau\right)+\kappa\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right), \\ &\quad u\left(\tau,x\left(\tau\right)+\kappa\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right)\right) d\tau \\ &\quad +\sum_{t<\tau_{i}} X\left(t,\tau_{i}\right) \\ &\quad \times \left(p_{i}\left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right) \\ &\quad -p_{i}\left(x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)+\kappa\left(\tau_{i}-0,\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right)\right), \\ &\quad u\left(\tau_{i}-0,x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)+\kappa\left(\tau_{i}-0,\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right)\right)\right)\right) \\ &= X\left(t,s\right)\kappa\left(s,x,y\right) \\ &\quad -\int_{s}^{t} X\left(t,\tau\right) \\ &\quad \times \left(f\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau\right)\right) \\ &\quad -f\left(\tau,x\left(\tau\right)+\kappa\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right), \\ &\quad u\left(\tau,x\left(\tau\right)+\kappa\left(\tau,\Phi\left(\tau\right)\right)\right)\right) d\tau \\ &\quad -\sum_{s<\tau_{i}\leq t} X\left(t,\tau_{i}\right) \left(p_{i}\left(\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right) \\ &\quad -p_{i}\left(x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)+\kappa\left(\tau_{i}-0,\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right) \\ &\quad u\left(\tau_{i}-0,x\left(\tau_{i}-0\right) \\ &\quad +\kappa\left(\tau_{i}-0,\Phi\left(\tau_{i}-0\right)\right)\right))) \end{split}$$

,

$$= -x(t) + X(t, s) (x + \kappa (s, x, y)) + \int_{s}^{t} X(t, \tau) \times f(\tau, x(\tau) + \kappa (\tau, \Phi(\tau))), u(\tau, x(\tau) + \kappa (\tau, \Phi(\tau)))) d\tau + \sum_{s < \tau_{i} \le t} X(t, \tau_{i}) p_{i} \times (x(\tau_{i} - 0) + \kappa (\tau_{i} - 0, \Phi(\tau_{i} - 0))), u(\tau_{i} - 0, x(\tau_{i} - 0) + \kappa (\tau_{i} - 0, \Phi(\tau_{i} - 0)))).$$
(51)

Let

$$\zeta(t) = x(t) + \kappa(t, \Phi(t)), \qquad (52)$$

where $\zeta(s) = x + \kappa(s, x, y)$. It follows that $\zeta(t)$ is a solution of (12) and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \zeta\left(t\right) - x\left(t\right) \right| \\ &= \left| \kappa\left(t, \Phi\left(t\right)\right) \right| \le \frac{\varepsilon \nu}{\sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon \nu}} \left| y\left(t\right) - u\left(t, x\left(t\right)\right) \right|. \end{aligned} \tag{53}$$

This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

7. Stability of the Impulsive Equations

We assume in addition that

$$\mu = \sup_{s} \int_{s}^{+\infty} |Y(t,s)| dt + \sup_{s} \sum_{\tau_i > s} |Y(\tau_i - 0,s)| < +\infty.$$
(54)

Note that in case B(t) = B and $D_i = 0$ we have $\mu = \int_0^{+\infty} |e^{Bt}| dt$.

Theorem 6. Let $4\varepsilon\nu < 1$ and $2\varepsilon\mu < 1 + \sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon\nu}$. Then the following estimation is valid:

$$\int_{s}^{+\infty} |y(t) - u(t, x(t))| dt + \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} |y(\tau_{i} - 0) - u(\tau_{i} - 0, x(\tau_{i} - 0))|$$
(55)
$$\leq \frac{\mu |y - u(s, x)|}{1 - \varepsilon \mu (k + 1)}.$$

Proof. Since

$$k+1 = \frac{1-\sqrt{1-4\varepsilon\nu}}{2\varepsilon\nu} = \frac{2}{1+\sqrt{1-4\varepsilon\nu}},$$

$$2\varepsilon\mu < 1+\sqrt{1-4\varepsilon\nu},$$
(56)

we get

$$1 - \varepsilon \mu (k+1) = 1 - \frac{2\varepsilon \mu}{1 + \sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon \mu}} > 0.$$
 (57)

From Theorem 4 of behaviour of solutions, we get inequality (40). Then doing the integration and summing up, inequality (55) is obtained. \Box

Definition 7. A trivial solution of impulsive equation (1) is *integral stable* if for all $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for all $|x| < \delta$ and $|y| < \delta$ and $t \ge s$ one has

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |x(\tau)| d\tau < \varepsilon_{1}, \qquad \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau)| d\tau < \varepsilon_{1}.$$
 (58)

Definition 8. A trivial solution of impulsive equation (1) is asymptotically integral stable if it is integral stable and if there exists a $\delta > 0$ such that for all $|x| < \delta$ and $|y| < \delta$ one has

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |x(\tau)| d\tau = 0, \qquad \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau)| d\tau = 0.$$
(59)

Theorem 9. Let $4\nu\varepsilon < 1$ and $2\varepsilon\mu < 1 + \sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon\nu}$. The trivial solution of impulsive equation (1) is integral stable, asymptotically integral stable, or integral unstable if and only if the trivial solution of impulsive equation (12) is integral stable, asymptotically integral stable, or integral unstable.

Proof. Suppose that the trivial solution of the system (12) is integral stable. Then for every $\varepsilon_1 > 0$, there is a $\delta_1 > 0$ such that for all $|\zeta(s)| < \delta_1$ and $t \ge s$ we have

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} \left| \zeta\left(\tau\right) \right| d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon_{1}}{2}.$$
(60)

Let $|x| < \delta$ and $|y| < \delta$ where

$$\delta < \min\left\{\frac{1 - \varepsilon\mu \left(k + 1\right)}{2\mu \left(k_1 + 1\right)}\varepsilon_1, \delta_1\right\}.$$
(61)

Then for $t \ge s$ we get

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\zeta(\tau) - x(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$\leq k_{1} \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau) - u(\tau, x(\tau))| d\tau$$

$$\leq \frac{\mu k_{1} (k+1)}{1 - \varepsilon \mu (k+1)} \delta < \frac{\varepsilon_{1}}{2},$$

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau) - u(\tau, \zeta(\tau))| d\tau$$

$$\leq \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau) - u(\tau, x(\tau))| d\tau$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{t+1} |u(\tau, x(\tau)) - u(\tau, \zeta(\tau))| d\tau$$

$$\leq (1 + kk_{1}) \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau) - u(\tau, x(\tau))| d\tau$$

$$\leq \frac{\mu (1 + kk_{1}) (k+1)}{1 - \varepsilon \mu (k+1)} \delta < \frac{\varepsilon_{1}}{2}.$$
(62)

Therefore

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |x(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$\leq \int_{t}^{t+1} |x(\tau) - \zeta(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{t+1} |\zeta(\tau)| d\tau < \varepsilon_{1},$$

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau)| d\tau \qquad (63)$$

$$\leq \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau) - u(\tau, \zeta(\tau))| d\tau$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{t+1} |u(\tau, \zeta(\tau))|$$

$$< \frac{(k+1)\varepsilon_{1}}{2} < \varepsilon_{1}.$$

Suppose that the trivial solution of the system (12) is asymptotically integral stable. Then

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} \left| \zeta \left(\tau \right) \right| d\tau = 0.$$
(64)

It follows that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |x(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$\leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |x(\tau) - \zeta(\tau)| d\tau \qquad (65)$$

$$+ \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |\zeta(\tau)| d\tau = 0,$$

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau)| d\tau$$

$$\leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |y(\tau) - u(\tau, x(\tau))| d\tau \qquad (66)$$

$$+ \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} |u(\tau, x(\tau))| d\tau = 0,$$

taking into account that

$$|u(t, x(t))| \le k |x(t)|.$$
 (67)

If the trivial solution of (12) is integral unstable, then the trivial solution of (1) is integral unstable.

If the trivial solution of (1) is integral stable or asymptotically integral stable, then the trivial solution of (12) is also integral stable or asymptotically integral stable.

Let the trivial solution of (1) be integral unstable; then the trivial solution of (12) is integral unstable. Otherwise as before it follows that the trivial solution of (1) is integral stable. We get a contraction. The theorem is proven. \Box Theorem 10. Assume that the estimates

$$\mu\left(\beta\right) = \sup_{s} \int_{s}^{+\infty} |Y\left(t,s\right)| e^{\beta(t-s)} dt$$

+
$$\sup_{s} \sum_{\tau_{i}>s} |Y\left(\tau_{i}-0,s\right)| e^{\beta(\tau_{i}-s)} < +\infty, \qquad (68)$$

$$|Y\left(t,s\right)| e^{\beta(t-s)} \le M\left(\beta\right) \quad \forall t \ge s$$

are satisfied for some $\beta \ge 0$. If $4\varepsilon\nu < 1$ and $2\varepsilon\mu(\beta) < 1 + \sqrt{1-4\varepsilon\nu}$, then

$$|y(t) - u(t, x(t))|$$

$$\leq \alpha(\beta) e^{-\beta(t-s)} |y - u(s, x)| \quad \text{for } t \geq s.$$
(69)

Proof. From Theorem 4 of behaviour of solutions, we get inequality (40). Multiplying by $e^{\beta(t-s)}$ and doing the integration and summing up, the inequality

$$\int_{s}^{+\infty} e^{\beta(t-s)} |y(t) - u(t, x(t))| dt + \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} e^{\beta(\tau_{i}-s)} |y(\tau_{i}-0) - u(\tau_{i}-0, x(\tau_{i}-0))|$$
(70)
$$\leq \frac{\mu(\beta) |y - u(s, x)|}{1 - \varepsilon \mu(\beta) (k+1)}$$

is obtained.

Then from inequality (40) for $t \ge s$ we get the estimation

$$\begin{aligned} \left| y\left(t\right) - u\left(t, x\left(t\right)\right) \right| \\ &\leq M\left(\beta\right) e^{-\beta\left(t-s\right)} \left| y - u\left(s, x\right) \right| \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(k+1\right) M\left(\beta\right) e^{-\beta\left(t-s\right)} \\ &\times \left(\int_{s}^{+\infty} e^{\beta\left(r-s\right)} \left| y\left(r\right) - u\left(r, x\left(r\right)\right) \right| dr \right. \\ &+ \sum_{s < \tau_{i}} \left| y\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right) - u\left(\tau_{i} - 0, x\left(\tau_{i} - 0\right)\right) \right| \right) \\ &\leq M\left(\beta\right) e^{-\beta\left(t-s\right)} \left(1 + \frac{\varepsilon \mu\left(\beta\right)\left(k+1\right)}{1 - \varepsilon \mu\left(\beta\right)\left(k+1\right)} \right) \left| y - u\left(s, x\right) \right| \\ &= \alpha\left(\beta\right) e^{-\beta\left(t-s\right)} \left| y - u\left(s, x\right) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(71)$$

Theorem 11. Let $4\nu\varepsilon < 1$, $2\varepsilon\mu < 1 + \sqrt{1 - 4\varepsilon\nu}$,

$$\left| y\left(t\right) -u\left(t,x\left(t\right) \right) \right| \leq \alpha \left| y-u\left(s,x\right) \right| \quad if\ t\geq s, \tag{72}$$

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} (y(t) - u(t, x(t))) = 0.$$
 (73)

The trivial solution of impulsive equation (1) is stable, asymptotically stable, or unstable if and only if the trivial solution of impulsive equation (12) is stable, asymptotically stable, or unstable.

Proof. Suppose that the trivial solution of the system (12) is stable. Then for every $\varepsilon_1 > 0$, there is a $\delta_1 > 0$ such that for all $|\zeta(s)| < \delta_1$ and $t \ge s$ we have $|\zeta(t)| < \varepsilon_1/2$.

Let $|x| < \delta$ and $|y| < \delta$ where

$$\delta < \min\left\{\frac{\varepsilon_1}{2\alpha\left(k_1+1\right)\left(k+1\right)}, \delta_1\right\}.$$
(74)

Then for $t \ge s$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \zeta(t) - x(t) \right| \\ &\leq k_1 \left| y(t) - u(t, x(t)) \right| \\ &\leq \alpha k_1 \left(k + 1 \right) \delta < \frac{\varepsilon_1}{2}, \\ \left| y(t) - u(t, \zeta(t)) \right| \\ &\leq \left| y(t) - u(t, x(t)) \right| \\ &+ \left| u(t, x(t)) - u(t, \zeta(t)) \right| \\ &\leq \left(1 + kk_1 \right) \left| y(t) - u(t, x(t)) \right| \\ &\leq \alpha \left(1 + kk_1 \right) \left(k + 1 \right) \delta < \frac{\varepsilon_1}{2}. \end{aligned}$$
(75)

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} |x(t)| &\leq |x(t) - \zeta(t)| + |\zeta(t)| < \varepsilon_1, \\ |y(t)| &\leq |y(t) - u(t, \zeta(t))| + |u(t, \zeta(t))| \\ &< \frac{(k+1)\varepsilon_1}{2} < \varepsilon_1. \end{aligned}$$
(76)

Suppose that the trivial solution of the system (12) is asymptotically stable. Then

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \zeta(t) = 0. \tag{77}$$

It follows that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} x(t) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} (x(t) - \zeta(t)) + \lim_{t \to +\infty} \zeta(t) = 0,$$
$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} y(t) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} (y(t) - u(t, x(t))) + \lim_{t \to +\infty} u(t, x(t)) = 0.$$
(78)

If the trivial solution of (12) is unstable, then the trivial solution of (1) is unstable.

If the trivial solution of (1) is stable or asymptotically stable, then the trivial solution of (12) is also stable or asymptotically stable.

Let the trivial solution of (1) be unstable; then the trivial solution of (12) is unstable. Otherwise as before it follows that the trivial solution of (1) is stable. We get a contraction. The theorem is proven. \Box

Remark 12. Let $\eta(t) = |y(t) - u(t, x(t))|$ be uniformly continuous on $t \in [s, +\infty)$ and let improper integral $\int_{s}^{+\infty} \eta(t) dt$ converge. Then $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \eta(t) = 0$ [13, page 32].

Remark 13. If we replace assumption (54) by the stronger one

$$\mu_{1} = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \sup_{s} |Y(t+s,s)| dt + \sum_{\tau_{i}>0} \sup_{s} |Y(s+\tau_{i}-0,s)| < +\infty,$$
(79)

then for $t \ge s$ it is possible to prove that $|Y(t,s)| \le K \exp(-\lambda(t-s))$, where $K \ge 1$ and $\lambda > 0$. Further, if $\varepsilon > 0$ is sufficiently small, then using Gronwall's lemma for all $t \ge s$ the following estimation is valid:

$$|y(t) - u(t, x(t))| \le Ke^{-\lambda_1(t-s)} |y - u(s, x)|,$$
 (80)

where $0 < \lambda_1 < \lambda$.

Acknowledgment

This work was partially supported by the Grant no. 345/2012 of the Latvian Council of Science.

References

- V. A. Pliss, "A reduction principle in the theory of stability of motion," *Izvestiya Akademii Nauk SSSR. Seriya Matematicheskaya*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 1297–1324, 1964 (Russian).
- [2] B. Aulbach, "A reduction principle for nonautonomous differential equations," *Archiv der Mathematik*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 217– 232, 1982.
- [3] C. Pötzsche, Geometric Theory of Discrete Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems, Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, 2010.
- [4] O. B. Lykova, "The reduction principle in a Banach space," Ukrainian Mathematical Journal, vol. 23, pp. 391–397, 1971 (Russian).
- [5] A. Reinfelds and K. Janglajew, "Reduction principle in the theory of stability of difference equations," *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems*, supplement, pp. 864–874, 2007.
- [6] D. D. Bainov, S. I. Kostadinov, and N. Van Minh, Dichotomies and Integral Manifolds of Impulsive Differential Equations, Science Culture Technology Publishing, Singapore, 1994.
- [7] A. Reinfelds, "A reduction theorem for systems of differential equations with impulse effect in a Banach space," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 203, no. 1, pp. 187– 210, 1996.
- [8] W. A. Coppel, *Dichotomies in Stability Theory*, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 1978.
- [9] P. E. Kloeden and M. Rasmussen, *Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems*, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, USA, 2011.
- [10] L. Ya. Adrianova, Introduction to Linear Systems of Differential Equations, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, USA, 1995.
- [11] V. Lakshmikantham, D. D. Baĭnov, and P. S. Simeonov, *Theory of Impulsive Differential Equations*, World Scientific, Singapore, 1989.
- [12] A. M. Samoilenko and N. A. Perestyuk, *Impulsive Differential Equations*, World Scientific, Singapore, 1985.
- [13] W. J. Kaczor and M. T. Nowak, *Problems in Mathematical Analy*sis III. Integration, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, USA, 2003.

Research Article

Infinitely Many Periodic Solutions to Delay Differential Equations via Critical Point Theory

Xiaosheng Zhang¹ and Duo Wang^{2,3}

¹ School of Mathematical Sciences, Capital Normal University, Beijing 100048, China

² School of Mathematical Sciences, Peking University, Beijing 100048, China

³ School of Mathematical Sciences, South China Normal University, Guangzhou 510631, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Xiaosheng Zhang; zhangxs@cnu.edu.cn

Received 9 June 2013; Revised 8 November 2013; Accepted 14 November 2013

Academic Editor: Yuriy Rogovchenko

Copyright © 2013 X. Zhang and D. Wang. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

By the critical point theory, infinitely many 4σ -periodic solutions are obtained for the system of delay differential equations $\dot{x}(t) = -f(x(t - \sigma))$, where $\sigma \in (0, +\infty)$ and $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$. It is shown that all the periodic solutions derived here are brought about by the time delay.

1. Introduction

This paper is concerned with the existence of periodic solutions to the system of delay differential equations

$$\dot{x}(t) = -f(x(t-\sigma)), \qquad (1)$$

where $\sigma \in (0, +\infty)$ and $f \in C(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

Delay differential equations have widely been applied to describe the dynamics phenomena in both natural and manmade processes such as chemistry, physics, engineering, and economics. The existence of the periodic solutions for delay differential equations has been extensively investigated by using various methods, including fixed point theorems [1–5], Hopf bifurcation theorems [6–8], variational methods [9–14], the methods of differential inequalities [15–21], and other effective approaches (e.g., see [22–24]). In [25–31], the minimal periods of the periodic solutions to Lipschitzian differential equations are estimated through the Lipschitz constants (see Remark 4).

The use of variational methods in the study of 4σ -periodic solutions of system (1) having a variational structure was introduced in 2005 by Guo and Yu [9]. Assume that

- (F₁) *f* is odd in *x*; that is, f(-x) = -f(x), for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$;
- (F₂) there exists $F \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R})$ such that $F_x(x) = f(x)$, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, where F_x denotes the gradient of *F*.

In [9], the authors obtained the multiplicity results for periodic solutions to (1) in the case that f is asymptotically linear. Later, the existence of the periodic solution of (1) was investigated by using Morse theory and Galerkin methods [10]. For the other relative investigations, we refer the reader to [11–14].

Many practical problems, such as nonlinear population growth models and control systems working with potentially explosive chemical reactions, can be transformed into the form of (1). For example, by the change of variables $y = a \tanh(ax)$, the following generalized food-limited population model

$$\dot{y}(t) = -\theta \operatorname{sign}(y(t-1)) |y(t-1)|^{\gamma} (a^2 - y^2(t))$$
(2)

is transformed equivalently into (1) with n = 1, $f(x) = \theta a^{\gamma} \operatorname{sign}(x) | \tanh(ax)|^{\gamma}$, and $\sigma = 1$, where θ and a are positive numbers. When $\gamma = 1$, $f'(0) = \theta a^2$. It is known from [24] that, with the slope f'(0) increasing and tending to infinity, the number of the periodic solutions of (2) increases and tends to infinity. Naturally, one would conjecture that when $0 < \gamma < 1$, (2) possesses infinitely many periodic solutions, since in this case $\lim_{x\to 0} f'(x) = +\infty$.

Motivated by the above observation, in this paper, we study the existence of infinitely many periodic solutions to the system (1) under the assumptions (F_1) , (F_2) , and

(F₃) there are $1 < \alpha$, $\beta < 2$ and d_1 , $r_0 > 0$ such that

(i)
$$0 < (f(x), x) \le \alpha F(x)$$
, for all $x \in B_{r_0} \setminus \{0\}$;
(ii) $d_1 | f(x) |^{\beta'} \le F(x)$, for all $x \in B_{r_0}$,
where $1/\beta + 1/\beta' = 1$, $B_{r_0} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x| \le r_0\}$.

Here and subsequently, (\cdot, \cdot) , $|\cdot|$ denote the inner product and the standard norm in \mathbb{R}^n , respectively, and the bold face **0** represents the coordinate origin of \mathbb{R}^n . The main result of this paper is stated as follows.

Theorem 1. Assume that $(F_1)-(F_3)$ hold. Then (1) possesses a sequence of nonconstant 4σ -periodic solutions $\{x_m\}$ satisfying $||x_m||_{\infty} \to 0$ as $m \to \infty$.

Example 2. When $0 < \gamma < 1$, it is easy to check that $f(x) = \theta a \operatorname{sign}(x) | \tanh(ax) |^{\gamma}$ satisfies $(F_1) - (F_3)$ with $\alpha = \beta = 1 + \gamma$; then (2) has a sequence of nonconstant 4-periodic solutions $\{x_m\}$ satisfying $||x_m||_{\infty} \to 0$ as $m \to \infty$.

Remark 3. Let us compare the result here with that in the case of ordinary differential equations (ODE). Without the time delay, (1) reduces to the following system of ODE

$$x'(t) = f(x(t)).$$
 (3)

Let $x(t) = x(t; x_0)$ be the solution of (3) satisfying the initial condition $x(0) = x_0 \neq 0$. Then the derivative of the Lyapunov function $V(x) = |x|^2$ along x(t) reads

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(3)} = \left(-f\left(x\left(t\right)\right), x\left(t\right) \right). \tag{4}$$

From (F₃)-(i), we see that $dV/dt|_{(3)} < 0$ for $0 < |x| < r_0$, which implies that there is no any periodic orbit of (3) across $B_{r_0} \setminus \{0\}$; that is, the trivial solution is an isolated periodic solution. However, by the above theorem, with the time delay, the system (1) possesses infinitely many periodic solutions in any neighborhood of the origin.

Remark 4. Consider the following system of *m*th order functional differential equations:

$$x^{(m)}(t) = f(x(\tau(t))), \quad t \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (5)

where $f : \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfies the Lipschitz condition and $\tau : \mathbb{R}^1 \mapsto \mathbb{R}^1$ is a measurable function. The lower bounds for the periods of the periodic solutions to (5) and their special forms are estimated in [25–31]. From this perspective, Theorem 1 complements the information in the case of non-Lipschitzian differential equations. For the unique solvability of the periodic problems on functional differential equations, we refer the reader to [1, 15–21].

The remainder of this paper is divided into two parts. In the next section, we state the preliminaries on the variational structure for (1). In the final section, the proof of Theorem 1 will be given via the \mathbb{Z}_2 -genus theory, together with an approximating argument.

2. Preliminaries

Let $L^2(S^1, \mathbb{R}^n)$ denote the set of *n*-tuples of 2π -periodic functions which are square integrable. If $x \in L^2(S^1, \mathbb{R}^n)$, it has a Fourier expansion

$$x(t) = a_0 + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \left(a_j \cos jt + b_j \sin jt \right), \tag{6}$$

where $a_i, b_j \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and the series converges in the space $L^2(S^1, \mathbb{R}^n)$. For $x \in L^2(S^1, \mathbb{R}^n)$ with its expansion (6), set $H := \{x \in L^2(S^1, \mathbb{R}^n) \mid \|x\|_H < \infty\}$, where

$$\|x\|_{H} := |a_{0}|^{2} + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} (1+j) \left(\left| a_{j} \right|^{2} + \left| b_{j} \right|^{2} \right).$$
(7)

Then *H*, equipped with the norm $\|\cdot\|_H$, is a Sobolev space. On the other hand, for $x \in H$ with its expansion (6), set

$$\|x\| := |a_0|^2 + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} j(|a_j|^2 + |b_j|^2).$$
(8)

Then *H* possesses another norm $\|\cdot\|$ which is equivalent to $\|\cdot\|_H$. In the following, we always employ $\|\cdot\|$ as the norm of *H*. The associated inner product with $\|\cdot\|$ is denoted by $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$. Now set

$$E := \{ x \in H \mid x (\cdot + \pi) = -x (\cdot) \}.$$
(9)

Then *E* is a closed subspace of *H* and the Fourier expansion of $x \in E$ reduces to

$$x(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[a_{2j-1} \cos(2j-1)t + b_{2j-1} \sin(2j-1)t \right].$$
(10)

Thus with $x_1, x_2 \in E$ being expanded as

$$x_{i}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[a_{2j-1}^{(i)} \cos\left(2j-1\right)t + b_{2j-1}^{(i)} \sin\left(2j-1\right)t \right],$$

$$i = 1, 2,$$
(11)

we have

$$\left\langle x_{1}, x_{2} \right\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(2j - 1 \right) \left\{ \left(a_{2j-1}^{(1)}, a_{2j-1}^{(2)} \right) + \left(b_{2j-1}^{(1)}, b_{2j-1}^{(2)} \right) \right\}.$$
(12)

For $x, y \in E$, we call y a weak derivative of x and denote it by $\dot{x} = y$ if

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(x\left(t\right), z'\left(t\right) \right) dt = -\int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(y\left(t\right), z\left(t\right) \right) dt,$$

$$\forall z \in C^{\infty} \left(S^{1}, \mathbb{R}^{n} \right).$$
(13)

Further, for $x \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{R}^n) \cap E$ with its expansion (10), define

$$A(x) := \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{2\pi} \left(\dot{x} \left(t + \frac{\pi}{2} \right), x(t) \right) dt$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (-1)^j (2j-1) \left(\left| a_{2j-1} \right|^2 + \left| b_{2j-1} \right|^2 \right).$ (14)

Then it is easy to check that $|A(x)| \leq ||x||^2$ for $x \in C^{\infty}(S^1, \mathbb{R}^n) \cap E$. Therefore *A* extends to all of *E* as a continuous quadratic form. This extension will still be denoted by *A*.

Let $\tilde{F} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R})$ and satisfy

$$\widetilde{F}(-x) = \widetilde{F}(x), \quad \left|\widetilde{F}(x)\right| \le C_1 + C_2 |x|^s, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
 (15)

for some $s \in [1, \infty)$. Define

$$\Phi(x) := \int_0^{2\pi} \tilde{F}(x(t)) dt, \quad x \in E$$
(16)

and $I(x) = A(x) + \Phi(x)$, $x \in E$. The following lemma is derived from [9, Lemma 2.2].

Lemma 5 (see [9]). Let $\tilde{F} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R})$ and satisfy (15). Then $I \in C^1(E, \mathbb{R})$ and

$$I'(x) y = A'(x) y + \int_0^{2\pi} \left(\tilde{F}_x(x(t)), y(t) \right), \quad y \in E,$$
(17)

where

$$A'(x) y = \int_0^{2\pi} \left(\dot{x} \left(t + \frac{\pi}{2} \right), y(t) \right) dt, \quad y \in E.$$
 (18)

Moreover, the existence of 2π *-periodic solutions* x(t) *for*

$$x'(t) = -\tilde{F}_x\left(x\left(t - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)\right) \tag{19}$$

satisfying $x \in E$ is equivalent to the existence of critical points of functional I.

Let $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$ be the orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^n . For $k \in \mathbb{N}$, set

$$E_{+}(k) := \operatorname{span} \left\{ \cos \left[(4k-1) t \right] e_{i}, \sin \left[(4k-1) t \right] e_{i} : i = 1, 2, ..., n \right\},$$

$$E_{-}(k) := \operatorname{span} \left\{ \cos \left[(4k-3) t \right] e_{i}, \sin \left[(4k-3) t \right] e_{i} : i = 1, 2, ..., n \right\}.$$
(20)

For $l, m \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{+\infty\}$, define

$$V_l^{\pm} = \overline{\oplus_{k=1}^l E_{\pm}(k)}, \qquad V_l^m = V_l^- \oplus V_m^+, \tag{21}$$

where the closure is of *E* sense. Set $V^{\pm} := V_{+\infty}^{\pm}$; then $E = V^{+} \oplus V^{-}$. In the rest of this paper, this decomposition will always be referred to when a point $x \in E$ is written as $x = x^{+} + x^{-}$, where $x^{\pm} \in V^{\pm}$.

Remark 6. In view of (12), (14), and (18), we see that

$$A(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\left\| x^{+} \right\|^{2} - \left\| x^{-} \right\|^{2} \right)$$
(22)

and that

$$A'(x) y = \langle x^+, y^+ \rangle - \langle x^-, y^- \rangle, \quad x, y \in E.$$
 (23)

The following lemma is derived from [32, Lemma 2.1].

Lemma 7 (see [32]). For each $s \in [1, \infty)$ there is $\gamma_s > 0$ such that

$$\|x\|_{s} \leqslant \gamma_{s} m^{-1/s} \|x\| \tag{24}$$

for all $x \in (V_{m-1}^{m-1})^{\perp}$ with $m \ge 2$, the orthogonal complement in *E*, where (and below) $\|\cdot\|_s$ denotes the usual L^s -norm.

3. Proof of Theorem 1

Without loss of generality we assume that $\sigma = \pi/2$ since, under the change of variables $y(t) = x(2\sigma t/\pi)$, (1) can be transformed into the system

$$\dot{y}(t) = -\tilde{f}\left(y\left(t-\frac{\pi}{2}\right)\right),$$
 (1')

where $\tilde{f}(y) = (2\sigma/\pi)f(y)$ still satisfies (F_1-F_3) with f being replaced by \tilde{f} .

Let $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, [0, 1])$ be such that $\chi(s) = 0$ for $s \leq r_0/2$, $\chi(s) = 1$ for $s \geq r_0$, and $\chi'(s) > 0$ for $s \in (r_0/2, r_0)$. Define $\tilde{F}: \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\widetilde{F}(x) := (1 - \chi(|x|)) F(x) + \chi(|x|) M_0 |x|^{\alpha}, \quad (25)$$

where $M_0 = \inf\{F(x)/r_0^{\alpha} : r_0/2 \le |x| \le r_0\}.$

Let $\alpha' > 0$ be such that $1/\alpha + 1/\alpha' = 1$. By (F₃) we get

$$0 < \left(\widetilde{F}_{x}(x), x\right) \leq \alpha \widetilde{F}(x), \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$
(26)

$$\widetilde{F}(x) \ge \begin{cases} C_1 |\widetilde{F}_x(x)|^{\beta'}, & |x| \le 1, \\ C_1 |\widetilde{F}_x(x)|^{\alpha'}, & |x| > 1, \end{cases}$$
(27)

where (and below) C_i 's stand for positive constants.

Lemma 8. Let $\widetilde{F} : \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathbb{R}$ be defined by (25); then $1 < \beta < \alpha < 2$, $\widetilde{F} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R})$, and

$$C_{2}|x|^{\alpha} \leq \tilde{F}(x) \leq \begin{cases} C_{3}|x|^{\beta}, & |x| \leq 1, \\ C_{3}|x|^{\alpha}, & |x| > 1. \end{cases}$$
(28)

Proof. From (25), it is easy to see that $\tilde{F} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R})$. Now we start to prove (28). Let M be such a constant that $|\ln \tilde{F}(x) - \alpha \ln |x|| \leq M$ for $x \in S_1 \equiv \partial B_1$. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|x| \leq 1$, set $x_0 = x/|x|$; then $x_0 \in S_1$. Define $g(t) = \ln \tilde{F}(tx_0) - \alpha \ln |tx_0|$, $t \in (0, 1]$. Then, by (26),

$$g'(t) = \left(\frac{\widetilde{F}_x(tx_0)}{\widetilde{F}(tx_0)}, x_0\right) - \alpha \le 0,$$
(29)

which implies that $g(|x|) \ge g(1)$; that is,

$$\ln \widetilde{F}(x) - \alpha \ln |x| \ge \ln \widetilde{F}(x_0) - \alpha \ln |x_0| \ge -M.$$
(30)

It follows that $\tilde{F}(x) \ge e^{-M} |x|^{\alpha}$ for $|x| \le 1$, which, combining with (25), leads to the inequality on the left hand of (28) with C_2 being chosen adequately.

Again, for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|x| \leq 1$, set $x_0 = x/|x|$ and define $h(t) = (\tilde{F}(tx_0))^{1/\beta} - t|x_0|/(\beta C_1^{1/\beta'}), t \in [0, 1]$. Then by the first inequality in (27),

$$h'(t) = \frac{1}{\beta} \left(\frac{\left(\tilde{F}_{x}(tx_{0}), x_{0} \right)}{\left(\tilde{F}(tx_{0}) \right)^{1/\beta'}} - \frac{1}{C_{1}^{1/\beta'}} |x_{0}| \right)$$

$$\leq \frac{|x_{0}|}{\beta} \left(\frac{\left| \tilde{F}_{x}(tx_{0}) \right|}{\left(\tilde{F}(tx_{0}) \right)^{1/\beta'}} - \frac{1}{C_{1}^{1/\beta'}} \right) < 0.$$
(31)

Thus $h(|x|) \leq h(0) = 0$, which leads to $\tilde{F}(x) \leq C'_3 |x|^{\beta}$, where $C'_3 = 1/(\beta C_1^{1/\beta'})^{\beta}$. In the same way, from the second inequality in (27), we can arrive at $\tilde{F}(x) \leq C''_3 |x|^{\alpha}$ for |x| >1, where the constant C''_3 only depends on α and C_1 . With $C_3 = \max\{C'_3, C''_3\}$, the inequalities on the right hand of (28) hold. Thus we get (28), which implies that $C_2 |x|^{\alpha} \leq C_3 |x|^{\beta}$ for $|x| \leq 1$ and that $1 < \beta < \alpha < 2$. The proof is complete.

Now we consider the functional

$$I(x) = A(x) + \int_0^{2\pi} \widetilde{F}(x) dt, \quad x \in E.$$
 (32)

Lemma 9. I satisfies (PS) condition; that is, every sequence $\{x_k\} \in E$ such that $\{I(x_k)\}$ is bounded and $I'(x_k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ has a convergent subsequence.

Proof. By Lemma 5, for $x \in E$, I'(x) is defined by

$$I'(x) y = A'(x) y + \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(\tilde{F}_{x}(x), y \right) dt, \quad \forall y \in E.$$
(33)

To verify that *I* satisfies (PS) condition, we suppose $|I(x_k)| \leq C_4$ and $I'(x_k) \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$. Note that, for large *k*, $|I'(x_k)x| \leq ||x||$. Thus for large *k* and $x = x_k$, from (32) and (33),

$$C_{4} + ||x|| \ge I(x) - \frac{1}{2}I'(x)x$$

$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left[\tilde{F}(x) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{F}_{x}(x), x \right) \right] dt.$$
(34)

Noticing that $1 < \beta < \alpha < 2$, we see from (25) that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left(\tilde{F}_{x}(x), x\right) \ge C_{5} \max\left\{\left|x\right|^{\alpha}, \left|x\right|^{\beta}\right\} - C_{6}, \qquad (35)$$

which, combining with (26) and (34), implies

$$C_{4} + \|x\| \ge \left(\alpha^{-1} - 2^{-1}\right) \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(\tilde{F}_{x}(x), x\right) dt$$

$$\ge C_{7} \max\left\{\|x\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha}, \|x\|_{\beta}^{\beta}\right\} - C_{8},$$

$$\max\left\{\|x\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha}, \|x\|_{\beta}^{\beta}\right\} \le C_{9}\left(\|x\| + 1\right).$$
(37)

Next for large *k*, taking $x = x_k$ and $\varsigma = x_k^+$ in

$$\left|\int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(\tilde{F}_{x}\left(x\right),\varsigma\right) dt + A'\left(x\right)\varsigma\right| = \left|I'\left(x\right)\varsigma\right| \le \|\varsigma\| \qquad (38)$$

and using (23), (27), and (28) and the Hölder inequality $(1/\alpha + 1/\alpha' = 1, 1/\beta + 1/\beta' = 1)$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|x^{+}\right\|^{2} &\leqslant \left|\int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(\tilde{F}_{x}\left(x\right), x^{+}\right) dt\right| + \left\|x^{+}\right\| \\ &\leqslant C_{10} \left(\int_{|x(t)|>1} |x|^{\alpha/\alpha'} \left|x^{+}\right| dt + \int_{|x(t)|\leqslant 1} |x|^{\beta/\beta'} \left|x^{+}\right| dt\right) \\ &+ \left\|x^{+}\right\| \\ &\leqslant C_{10} \left(\left\|x\right\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha/\alpha'} \left\|x^{+}\right\|_{\alpha} + \left\|x\right\|_{\beta}^{\beta/\beta'} \left\|x^{+}\right\|_{\beta}\right) + \left\|x^{+}\right\| \\ &\leqslant C_{11} \left(\left\|x\right\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha/\alpha'} + \left\|x\right\|_{\beta}^{\beta/\beta'} + 1\right) \left\|x^{+}\right\|, \end{aligned}$$
(39)

where the last inequality holds since *E* is compactly embedded in $L^{s}(S^{1}, \mathbb{R}^{n})$ for $s \ge 1$. It follows from (36) that

$$\|x^{+}\| \leq C_{12} \left(\|x\|^{1/\alpha'} + \|x\|^{1/\beta'} + 1 \right).$$
(40)

Similarly, (40) works with x^+ being replaced by x^- . Combining these inequalities shows

$$\|x\| \le C_{13} \left(\|x\|^{1/\alpha'} + \|x\|^{1/\beta'} + 1 \right), \tag{41}$$

which implies that $\{x_k\}$ is bounded in *E*.

Let Φ be defined by (16). By [33, Proposition B.37], $\{\Phi'(x_k)\}$ is precompact in *E*. Moreover, from (23) and (33),

$$I'(x_k) = x_k^+ - x_k^- + \Phi'(x_k).$$
(42)

It follows that $\{x_k\}$ has a convergent subsequence. The proof is complete.

Lemma 10. For each $l \in \mathbb{N}$, there are $\rho_l > 0$, $a_l > 0$, and $0 < b_l \rightarrow 0$ such that

(a) $I(x) \ge 0$, for all $x \in B_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^{+\infty}$ and $\inf I(\partial S_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^{+\infty}) \ge a_l$, where $B_{\rho_l} = \{x \in E : ||x|| \le \rho_l\}$; (b) $\sup I((V_{l-1}^{+\infty})^{\perp}) \le b_l$.

Proof. Noticing that $V_l^{+\infty} = V_l^- \oplus V_{+\infty}^+$ and that $\dim(V_l^-) < \infty$, we have, for $x \in B_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^{+\infty}$,

$$\|x\|_{\alpha} = \sup\left\{\int_{S^{1}} (x(t), y(t)) dt \mid y \in L^{\alpha'} (S^{1}, \mathbb{R}^{n}), \|y\|_{\alpha'} = 1\right\}$$

$$\geq \sup\left\{\int_{S^{1}} (x(t), y(t)) dt \mid y \in V_{l}^{-}, \|y\|_{\alpha'} = 1\right\}$$

$$= \sup\left\{\int_{S^{1}} (x^{-}(t), y(t)) dt \mid y \in V_{l}^{-}, \|y\|_{\alpha'} = 1\right\}$$

$$= \|x^{-}\|_{\alpha} \geq \eta_{l} \|x^{-}\|,$$
(43)

where η_l is a positive constant depending on *l*. It follows by (28) that, for $x \in B_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^{+\infty}$,

$$I(x) \ge \frac{1}{2} \|x^{+}\|^{2} + C_{2}\eta_{l}\|x^{-}\|^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \|x^{-}\|^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \|x^{+}\|^{2} + \left(C_{2}\eta_{l} - \frac{1}{2} \|x^{-}\|^{2-\alpha}\right) \|x^{-}\|^{\alpha},$$
(44)

which implies (a) by setting $\rho_l := \min\{1, (C_2\eta_l)^{1/(2-\alpha)}\}$ and $a_l = \rho_l^2 (1 + C_2 \eta_l)/2.$ Let $x \in (V_{l-1}^{+\infty})^{\perp}$. By (28) and Lemma 7,

$$I(x) \leq C_{3} \left(\|x\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|x\|_{\beta}^{\beta} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \|x\|^{2}$$

$$\leq C_{16} l^{-1} \left(\|x\|^{\alpha} + \|x\|^{\beta} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \|x\|^{2}$$

$$\leq b_{l} := \sup_{s \geq 0} g(s),$$

(45)

where $g(s) := C_{16}l^{-1}(s^{\alpha} + s^{\beta}) - s^2/2$. Noticing $1 < \beta \le \alpha < 2$, one can see that $b_l \rightarrow 0$ as $l \rightarrow \infty$ and (b) follows. The proof is complete.

In the following, let Σ denote the family of closed (in *E*) subsets of $E \setminus \{0\}$ symmetric with respect to the origin, and

$$\gamma: \Sigma \longmapsto \mathbb{N} \cup \{0, \infty\}, \tag{46}$$

the \mathbb{Z}_2 -genus map (see [33]). For $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, set

$$\Sigma_{l}^{m} = \left\{ A \in \Sigma : A \subset V_{+\infty}^{m}, \gamma\left(A\right) \ge n\left(l+m\right) \right\}, \qquad (47)$$

and define

$$c_{l,m} = \sup_{A \in \Sigma_l^m} \inf_{x \in A} I(u).$$
(48)

Lemma 11. For all $l, m \in \mathbb{N}$, $c_{l,m}$ is a critical value of I and

$$a_l \leqslant c_{l,m} \leqslant b_l. \tag{49}$$

Proof. We first prove that (49) holds. For each $m \in \mathbb{N}$, let ρ_l be chosen as that in Lemma 10; then it follows by Lemma 10(a) that $\inf I(\partial S_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^{+\infty}) \ge a_l$. Denote $\widetilde{A} = \partial S_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^m$; then $\gamma(\widetilde{A}) = n(m+l)$ and $\widetilde{A} \in \Sigma_l^m$. Since $\widetilde{A} \subset \partial S_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^{+\infty}$, we have

$$c_{l,m} \ge \inf_{x \in \widetilde{A}} I(x) \ge \inf I\left(\partial S_{\rho_l} \cap V_l^{+\infty}\right) \ge a_l.$$
(50)

On the other hand, for every $A \in \Sigma_l^m$, by the property of genus, $A \cap (V_{l-1}^{+\infty})^{\perp} \neq \emptyset$, which, from Lemma 10(b), leads to $\inf_{x \in A} I(x) \leq b_l$ for every $A \in \Sigma_l^m$. Thus $c_{l,m} \leq b_l$ and (49) holds.

By (F₁) and (25), $\tilde{F}(x)$ is even with respect to x, which implies that *I* is even. We claim that $c = c_{l,m}$ is a critical point of *I*. Otherwise, there exists $\epsilon > 0$, such that there is no any critical point in the interval $(c - \epsilon, c + \epsilon)$. By the definition of $c_{l,m}$, there exists $A \in \Sigma_l^m$, such that

$$\inf_{x \in A} I(x) > c - \epsilon.$$
(51)

For $a \in \mathbb{R}$, denote $I^a = \{x \in E : I(x) \ge a\}$. Use a positive rather than a negative gradient flow [33, Remark A.17], we get $\eta \in C([0, 1] \times E, E)$ such that $\eta(1, \cdot)$ is odd and

$$\eta(1, I^{c-\epsilon}) \in I^{c+\epsilon}.$$
(52)

Since $A \in I^{c-\epsilon}$, we have $\eta(1, A) \in I^{c+\epsilon}$; that is,

$$\inf_{x \in \eta(1,A)} I(x) \ge c + \epsilon.$$
(53)

On the other hand, by the property of genus, we know that $\gamma(\eta(1, A)) \in \Sigma_l^m$, which, by the definition of *c*, leads to

$$c \ge \inf_{x \in \eta(1,A)} I(x) \ge c + \epsilon.$$
 (54)

This contradiction implies that $q_{l,m}$ is a critical value of *I*. The proof is complete.

Now we are in a position to give the following proof.

Proof of Theorem 1. In view of Lemma 11, let $x_{l,m} \in V_{+\infty}^m$ be such that

$$I(x_{l,m}) = c_{l,m}, \qquad I'(x_{l,m}) = 0.$$
 (55)

Then by (PS) condition, along a subsequence as $m \to \infty$, $x_{l,m} \rightarrow x_l \in E$ such that

$$a_l \leq I(x_l) \leq b_l$$
, $I'(x_l) = 0$, (56)

which implies that x_1 is nonzero. Moreover, by Lemma 5,

$$x_{l}'(t) = -\widetilde{F}_{x}\left(x_{l}\left(t - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)\right).$$
(57)

We claim that, for sufficiently large *l*, x_l solves (1). In fact, from (26) and (56)

$$b_{l} \geq I(x_{l}) = I(x_{l}) - \frac{1}{2}I'(x_{l})x_{l}$$

$$\geq \left(1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}\right) \int_{0}^{2\pi} \widetilde{F}(x_{l}) dt.$$
(58)

By (27), (58), and Hölder inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|x_{l}^{*}\right\|^{2} &= \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left(\tilde{F}_{x}\left(x_{l}\right), x_{l}^{*}\right) dt \\ &\leq \left\|x_{l}^{*}\right\|_{\alpha} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \left|\tilde{F}_{x}\left(x_{l}\right)\right|^{\alpha'} dt\right)^{1/\alpha'} \\ &+ \left\|x_{l}^{*}\right\|_{\beta} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \left|\tilde{F}_{x}\left(x_{l}\right)\right|^{\beta'} dt\right)^{1/\beta'} \\ &\leq C_{17} \left\|x_{l}^{*}\right\| \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \tilde{F}\left(x_{l}\right) dt\right)^{1/\alpha'} \\ &+ C_{18} \left\|x_{l}^{*}\right\| \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} \tilde{F}\left(x_{l}\right) dt\right)^{1/\beta'} \\ &\leq \left(C_{17} b_{l}^{1/\alpha'} + C_{18} b_{l}^{1/\beta'}\right) \left\|x^{*}\right\|. \end{aligned}$$
(59)

$$\|x_l\| \le C_{19} b_l^{1/\alpha'} + C_{20} b_l^{1/\beta'}.$$
(60)

Since $b_l \to 0$ as $l \to \infty$, it follows that

$$\|x_l\| \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{as } l \longrightarrow \infty.$$
 (61)

Furthermore, from (27) and (57), we have

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} |\dot{x}_{l}(t)|^{2} dt = \int_{0}^{2\pi} |\tilde{F}_{x}(x_{l})|^{2} dt$$
$$\leq C_{21} \left(\int_{0}^{2\pi} [\tilde{F}(x_{l})]^{2/\beta'} dt + \int_{0}^{2\pi} [\tilde{F}(x_{l})]^{2/\alpha'} dt \right).$$
(62)

It follows from (58) that $\|\dot{x}_l\|_2 \to 0$ as $l \to \infty$. Recalling (61), we get

$$\|x_l\|_{W^{1,2}} \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{as } l \longrightarrow \infty,$$
 (63)

which implies that $||x_l||_{\infty} \to 0$ as $l \to 0$. Thus for *m* sufficiently large, $||x_l||_{\infty} < r_0/2$ and therefor $\tilde{F}_x(x_l) = F_x(x_l)$. It follow from (57) that, for *l* sufficiently large, x_l solves (1). In addition, by (1) and (F₃)(i), the only constant solution of (1) is the trivial solution. Then (56) yields that x_l is nonconstant and the proof of Theorem 1 is complete.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to the referees' careful reviewing and helpful comments. The work was supported by BJJW (KZ201310028031 and KM2014).

References

- X.-L. Liu and W.-T. Li, "Existence and uniqueness of positive periodic solutions of functional differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 293, no. 1, pp. 28–39, 2004.
- [2] S. Padhi and S. Srivastava, "Existence of three periodic solutions for a nonlinear first order functional differential equation," *Journal of the Franklin Institute*, vol. 346, no. 8, pp. 818–829, 2009.
- [3] R. Ma, R. Chen, and T. Chen, "Existence of positive periodic solutions of nonlinear first-order delayed differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 384, no. 2, pp. 527–535, 2011.
- [4] R. Olach, "Positive periodic solutions of delay differential equations," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 26, pp. 1141–1145, 2013.
- [5] P. Amster and L. Idels, "Periodic solutions in general scalar nonautonomous models with delays," *Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1577–1596, 2013.
- [6] F. Giannakopoulos and A. Zapp, "Local and global Hopf bifurcation in a scalar delay differential equation," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 237, no. 2, pp. 425– 450, 1999.

- [7] Y. Song and J. Wei, "Local Hopf bifurcation and global periodic solutions in a delayed predator-prey system," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 301, no. 1, pp. 1–21, 2005.
- [8] S. Yuan and Y. Song, "Stability and Hopf bifurcations in a delayed Leslie-Gower predator-prey system," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 355, no. 1, pp. 82–100, 2009.
- [9] Z. Guo and J. Yu, "Multiplicity results for periodic solutions to delay differential equations via critical point theory," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 218, no. 1, pp. 15–35, 2005.
- [10] X. Zhang and Q. Meng, "Nontrivial periodic solutions for delay differential systems via Morse theory," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 74, no. 5, pp. 1960–1968, 2011.
- [11] K. Wu and X. Wu, "Existence of periodic solutions for a class of first order delay differential equations dealing with vectors," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 72, no. 12, pp. 4518–4529, 2010.
- [12] C. Guo and Z. Guo, "Existence of multiple periodic solutions for a class of second-order delay differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 3285–3297, 2009.
- [13] J. Li, Z. Liu, and X. He, "Periodic solutions of some differential delay equations created by Hamiltonian systems," *Bulletin of the Australian Mathematical Society*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 377–390, 1999.
- [14] Y.-T. Xu and Z.-M. Guo, "Applications of a Z_p index theory to periodic solutions for a class of functional differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 257, no. 1, pp. 189–205, 2001.
- [15] R. Hakl, A. Lomtatidze, and J. Sremr, "On a boundary-value problem of periodic type for first-order linear functional differential equations," *Nonlinear Oscillations*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 408– 425, 2002.
- [16] R. Hakl, A. Lomtatidze, and J. Sremr, Some Boundary Value Problems for First Order Scalar Functional Dierential Equations, vol. 10 of Mathematica, Faculty of Science of the Masaryk University in Brno, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic, 2002.
- [17] A. Domoshnitsky, "Maximum principles and nonoscillation intervals for first order Volterra functional differential equations," *Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete & Impulsive Systems A*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 769–814, 2008.
- [18] I. Kiguradze and B. Puza, "On boundary value problems for systems of linear functional-differential equations," *Czechoslovak Mathematical Journal*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 341–373, 1997.
- [19] I. Kiguradze and B. Puza, *Boundary Value Problems for Systems of Linear Functional Differential Equations*, FOLIA, Brno, Czech Republic, 2002.
- [20] A. Domoshnitsky, R. Hakl, and J. Šremr, "Component-wise positivity of solutions to periodic boundary problem for linear functional differential system," *Journal of Inequalities and Applications*, vol. 2012, article 112, 2012.
- [21] R. P. Agarwal, L. Berezansky, E. Braverman, and A. Domoshnitsky, Non-Oscillation Theory of Functional Differential Equations with Applications, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 2012.
- [22] J. R. Graef and L. Kong, "Existence of multiple periodic solutions for first order functional differential equations," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 54, no. 11-12, pp. 2962– 2968, 2011.

- [23] O. Diekmann, S. A. van Gils, S. M. V. Lunel, and H.-O. Walther, Delay-Equations: Functional Complex and Nonlinear Analysis, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 1995.
- [24] W. Ge, "Existence of exactly n + 1 simple 4-periodic solutions of the differential delay equation $\dot{x}(t) = -f(x(t 1))$," *Acta Mathematica Sinica*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 80–87, 1994.
- [25] J. A. Yorke, "Periods of periodic solutions and the Lipschitz constant," *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 22, pp. 509–512, 1969.
- [26] J. Mawhin and W. Walter, "A general symmetry principle and some implications," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 186, no. 3, pp. 778–798, 1994.
- [27] A. A. Zevin and M. A. Pinsky, "Minimal periods of periodic solutions of some Lipschitzian differential equations," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 1562–1566, 2009.
- [28] E. Bravyi, "About minimal periods of solutions of functional differential equations of the high orders," *Izvestiya VUZov*, *Mathematics*, vol. 12, pp. 72–77, 2013.
- [29] A. Lasota and J. A. Yorke, "Bounds for periodic solutions of differential equations in Banach spaces," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 10, pp. 83–91, 1971.
- [30] T. Y. Li, "Bounds for the periods of periodic solutions of differential delay equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis* and Applications, vol. 49, pp. 124–129, 1975.
- [31] M. Medved, "On minimal periods of functional-differential equations and difference inclusions," *Annales Polonici Mathematici*, vol. 3, pp. 263–270, 1991.
- [32] Y. Ding and C. Lee, "Periodic solutions of Hamiltonian systems," SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 555– 571, 2000.
- [33] P. H. Rabinowitz, Minimax Methods in Critical Point Theory with Applications to Differential Equations, vol. 65 of CBMS, American Mathematical Society, 1986.

Research Article

On Linear Difference Equations for Which the Global Periodicity Implies the Existence of an Equilibrium

István Győri and László Horváth

Department of Mathematics, University of Pannonia, Egyetem Utca 10, Veszprém 8200, Hungary

Correspondence should be addressed to István Győri; gyori@almos.uni-pannon.hu

Received 5 September 2013; Revised 4 November 2013; Accepted 18 November 2013

Academic Editor: Agacik Zafer

Copyright © 2013 I. Győri and L. Horváth. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

It is proved that any first-order globally periodic linear inhomogeneous autonomous difference equation defined by a linear operator with closed range in a Banach space has an equilibrium. This result is extended for higher order linear inhomogeneous system in a real or complex Euclidean space. The work was highly motivated by the early works of Smith (1934, 1941) and the papers of Kister (1961) and Bas (2011).

1. Introduction

Let *X* be a set and let *p* be a positive integer. It is said that the transformation $T: X \rightarrow X$ is *p*-periodic if

$$T^p := T \circ \cdots \circ T = id_X, \tag{1}$$

where id_X is the identical function on X and p is the least positive integer with this property. It follows from (1) that Tis a bijection. If there is a topology on X and T is continuous, then (1) implies that T is a homeomorphism.

The following question was posed by Smith (see [1]): does any continuous periodic transformation of a Euclidean *n*space always admit a fixed point? Smith knew that the answer is true if the period *p* of the transformation is a prime number (see [2]) or a power of a prime number (see [1]). Moreover, Smith was able to answer the question affirmatively when $n \le 3$ and for suitably regular transformations, when n = 4. But it was shown by Kister (see [3]) that there exist periodic transformations of a Euclidean space without fixed points. Kister's example is based on the results in the paper [4].

Special periodic transformations can be derived from difference equations.

Consider the *s*th order difference equation:

$$x(n) = h(x(n-1), \dots, x(n-s))$$
 $n \ge 0,$ (2)

(G) *s* is a positive integer, *X* is a set, and $h: X^s \to X$.

It is clear that the solutions of (2) are uniquely determined by their initial values:

$$x(n) = \varphi(n), \quad -s \le n \le -1, \tag{3}$$

where $\varphi(n) \in X$. The unique solution of (2) and (3) is denoted by $x(\varphi) = (x(\varphi)(n))_{n \ge -s}$, where $\varphi := (\varphi(-s), \dots, \varphi(-1))^T \in X^s$.

We give some basic definitions about the periodicity of (2).

Definition 1. Assume (G).

- (a) A sequence $v = (v(n))_{n \ge -s}$ in X is called periodic if there is a positive integer p such that v is p-periodic, which means that v(n + p) = v(n) for all $n \ge -s$.
- (b) We say that (2) is globally periodic if there is a positive integer p ≥ s for which the equation is globally p-periodic; that is, every solution of it is p-periodic.
- (c) We say that (2) is globally *p*-periodic with prime period *p* if it is globally *p*-periodic and *p* is the least positive integer with this property.

where,

It is easy to see that (2) is globally *p*-periodic with prime period *p* if and only if the transformation $T : X^s \to X^s$ defined by

$$T(x_{-s}, \dots, x_{-1})$$

$$:= (x_{-s+1}, \dots, x_{-2}, h(x_{-s}, \dots, x_{-1}))$$
(4)

is *p*-periodic.

About periodicity of general difference equations, see [5, 6]. Periodicity of linear difference equations is considered in [7].

We recall that the solution $(x(n))_{n \ge -s}$ of (2) is a steady state solution if $x(n) = v(n \ge -s)$, where $v \in X$ is an equilibrium of (2); that is, v obeys

$$v = h\left(v, \dots, v\right). \tag{5}$$

It is obvious that $v \in X$ is an equilibrium of (2) exactly if (v, ..., v) is a fixed point of the transformation *T* given in (4).

Even if there is a metric on X and h is continuous, it is still an open problem to determine whether (2) has or not an equilibrium point, or equivalently, the transformation (4) has a fixed point, if (2) is globally periodic.

In this paper we solve this problem for some linear equations.

Let \mathbb{K} stand for either the field of real numbers \mathbb{R} or the field of complex numbers \mathbb{C} . Throughout this paper, the term vector space in which the scalar field is not explicitly mentioned will refer to a vector space over \mathbb{R} or over \mathbb{C} .

Consider the *s*th order inhomogeneous linear difference equation:

$$x(n) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} L_i(x(n-i)) + b, \quad n \ge 0,$$
(6)

where,

(A) *s* is a positive integer, *X* is a vector space, $L_i : X \to X$ is a linear transformation $(1 \le i \le s)$, and $b \in X$ is a vector.

The sth order homogeneous linear difference equation associated (6) is

$$x(n) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} L_i(x(n-i)), \quad n \ge 0.$$
(7)

Clearly, if that (6) is globally *p*-periodic, the difference of any two solutions of it is also *p*-periodic. On the other hand, the general solution of the inhomogeneous equation (6) can be written as the sum of the general solution of the homogeneous equation (7) and an arbitrarily fixed particular solution of the inhomogeneous equation. Thus the global *p*-periodicity of the inhomogeneous equation implies the global *p*-periodicity of the related homogeneous equation. One can easily see that the opposite statement is also true if the inhomogeneous equation has a steady state solution which is obviously *p*-periodic for any $p \ge 1$.

From this we conclude the following.

Conclusion. If (6) has an equilibrium, then (6) and (7) both behave in the same way regarding the global periodicity; that is, they both are globally periodic or both are not globally periodic.

The crux in the application of the above self-evident statement is that not all autonomous inhomogeneous linear difference equations have an equilibrium. But this crux is eliminated by the main theorems of this work in two special cases of (6).

In the first result *X* is finite dimensional.

Theorem 2. Consider the system of the sth order inhomogeneous linear difference equations:

$$x(n) = \sum_{i=1}^{s} A_i x(n-i) + b, \quad n \ge 0,$$
(8)

where,

(B) s is a positive integer, $A_i \in \mathbb{K}^{d \times d}$ $(1 \le i \le s)$ are matrices, and $b \in \mathbb{K}^d$ is vector.

If (8) *is globally periodic, then it has an equilibrium.*

Let *X* be a vector space. *I* and *O* mean the identity and the zero operator on *X*, respectively. If $L : X \rightarrow X$ is a linear transformation, we define the kernel and the image of *L* in the usual way:

$$\ker (L) := \{ x \in X \mid L(x) = 0 \},\$$

$$\inf (L) := \{ L(x) \mid x \in X \}.$$
(9)

In the next result first-order equations are investigated.

Theorem 3. Consider the first order inhomogeneous linear difference equation:

$$x(n) = L(x(n-1)) + b, \quad n \ge 0,$$
 (10)

where,

- (C) *L* is a bounded linear operator of the Banach space *X* into itself such that im(I L) is closed and $b \in X$ is a vector.
- *If* (10) *is globally periodic, then it has an equilibrium.*

2. Existence of an Equilibrium in an Abstract First-Order Inhomogeneous Linear Equation

In this section we prove Theorem 3.

First, we need the following lemma about global periodicity.

Lemma 4. Consider the first order inhomogeneous linear difference equation:

$$x(n) = L(x(n-1)) + b, \quad n \ge 0,$$
 (11)

where,

(D) X is a vector space, $L : X \rightarrow X$ is a linear transformation, and $b \in X$ is a vector.

Let p be a positive integer. Equation (11) is globally p -periodic if and only if

$$L^{p} = I, \quad \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} L^{i}(b) = 0.$$
 (12)

Proof. It is easy to check that (11) is globally *p*-periodic if and only if

$$(L^{p} - I)\varphi + \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} L^{i}(b) = 0, \qquad (13)$$

for every $\varphi \in X$, but this condition and (12) are equivalent.

Remark 5. (a) Condition (12) is equivalent to

$$\left(\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} L^i\right)(I-L) = O, \quad b \in \ker\left(\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} L^i\right).$$
(14)

The first part of (14) implies that

$$\operatorname{im}\left(I-L\right) \subset \operatorname{ker}\left(\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} L^{i}\right). \tag{15}$$

Since (11) has an equilibrium point exactly if the linear equation

$$(I-L)x = b \tag{16}$$

has a solution, it follows from the previous establishments that the following two assertions are equivalent. Let p be a positive integer.

(i) If (11) is globally *p*-periodic, then it has an equilibrium.

(ii) If
$$L^p = I$$
, then

$$\operatorname{im}\left(I-L\right) = \operatorname{ker}\left(\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} L^{i}\right).$$
(17)

(b) $L^p = I$ implies that *L* is invertible. If I - L is also invertible, then (16) obviously has a solution (or (17) holds), and therefore the only interesting case is when I - L is not invertible.

We can see that if (11) is globally periodic, then the problem of the existence or nonexistence of an equilibrium leads to a pure linear algebraic problem.

Problem. Let *X* be a vector space and let $L : X \rightarrow X$ be a linear transformation such that $L^p = I$ for some integer $p \ge 2$. Either prove that

$$\operatorname{im}\left(I-L\right) = \operatorname{ker}\left(\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} L^{i}\right),\tag{18}$$

or give an example when im(I - L) is a proper subset of

$$\ker\left(\sum_{i=0}^{p-1}L^i\right).$$
(19)

If *L* is a linear operator of the Banach space *X* into itself such that im(I - L) is closed, then Theorem 3 shows that (18) holds.

Henceforth we need some notations (see [8]).

Definition 6. Let *X* be a Banach space.

- (a) X^* means its dual space, and let (w, u) denote the value of the functional $w \in X^*$ at $u \in X$. For a bounded linear operator *L* of *X* into itself, $L^* : X^* \to X^*$ denotes its adjoint operator.
- (b) Suppose that *M* is a subspace of *X* and *N* is a subspace of *X*^{*}. Their annihilators are defined as follows:

$$M^{\perp} := \{ w \in X^* \mid (w, u) = 0, u \in M \},$$

$${}^{\perp}N := \{ u \in X \mid (w, u) = 0, w \in N \}.$$
 (20)

In the proof of Theorem 3 the following result will be used, which is related to the Fredholm alternative (see [9]).

Lemma 7. Let X be a Banach space and let L be a bounded linear operator of X into itself such that im(I - L) is closed. The equation (I - L)x = b is solvable for given $b \in X$ if and only if $b \in {}^{\perp}(ker(I - L^*))$.

Proof. It is well known (see [8]) that

$$-\left(\ker\left(I-L^*\right)\right) = \left(\operatorname{im}(I-L)^{\perp}\right), \quad (21)$$

and $^{\perp}(\operatorname{im}(I-L)^{\perp})$ is the norm closure of $\operatorname{im}(I-L)$ in *X*. Since $\operatorname{im}(I-L)$ is closed,

$$^{\perp}(\ker(I - L^{*})) = \operatorname{im}(I - L), \qquad (22)$$

which gives the result.

Remark 8. If *X* is finite dimensional, then im(I - L) is closed, since every subspace of *X* is closed. In this case Lemma 7 is exactly the Fredholm alternative.

Proof of Theorem 3. We can obviously suppose that $p \ge 2$.

Equation (10) has an equilibrium point exactly if the linear equation

$$(I-L)x = b \tag{23}$$

has a solution. By Lemma 7, it is enough to show that

$$b \in (\ker(I - L^*)).$$
(24)

To prove (24), assume that

$$w \in \ker\left(I - L^*\right). \tag{25}$$

Recalling Lemma 4, we have

$$(w,b) = \left(L^{*}(w), -\sum_{i=1}^{p-1} L^{i}(b)\right)$$

= $-\left(w, \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} L^{i+1}(b)\right)$
= $-\left(w, b + \sum_{i=2}^{p-1} L^{i}(b)\right)$
= $-\langle w, b \rangle - \left(\sum_{i=2}^{p-1} (L^{*})^{i} w, b\right).$ (26)

 $w = L^*(w)$ gives $w = (L^*)^i(w)$. Consequently,

$$(w,b) = -(p-1)(w,b),$$
 (27)

which means that (w, b) = 0.

The proof is complete.

By Remark 8, we have the following.

Corollary 9. Consider the first order inhomogeneous linear difference equation:

$$x(n) = L(x(n-1)) + b, \quad n \ge 0,$$
 (28)

where *L* is a linear operator of the finite dimensional space *X* into itself and $b \in X$ is a vector. If (28) is globally periodic, then it has an equilibrium.

We illustrate by an example that the conditions involved in Theorem 3 can be satisfied and not only the finite dimensional case.

Example 10. Let B([0,1]) be the Banach space of bounded scalar-valued functions on [0,1], with the supremum norm

$$\|f\|_{\infty} := \sup\{|f(t)| \mid t \in [0,1]\}.$$
(29)

Define the function $\alpha \in B([0, 1])$ by

$$\alpha(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } t \text{ is rational} \\ -1, & \text{if } t \text{ is irrational,} \end{cases}$$
(30)

and introduce the following bounded linear operator L on B([0, 1]):

$$L(f) := \alpha f, \quad f \in B([0,1]).$$
 (31)

Then $L^2 = I$, I - L is not invertible (by Remark 5 (b), this is an interesting case), and

$$im (I - L) = \{g \in B([0, 1]) \mid g(t) = 0 \text{ if } t \text{ is rational} \} (32)$$

is a closed subspace of B([0, 1]).

It is easy to see that equation

$$x(n) = L(x(n-1)) + b,$$

$$x, b \in B([0,1]), n \ge 0,$$
(33)

or equivalently, for every $t \in [0, 1]$

$$x(n)(t) = \alpha(t) x(n-1)(t) + b(t),$$

$$x, b \in B([0,1]), n \ge 0,$$
(34)

is globally 2-periodic if and only if $b \in im(I - L)$, and in this case it has the equilibrium point (1/2)b.

The previous example can be extended if the scalars are the complex numbers. Let $p \ge 3$ be an integer, and define the function $\alpha \in B([0, 1])$ by

$$\alpha(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } t \text{ is rational} \\ \varepsilon_p, & \text{if } t \text{ is irrational,} \end{cases}$$
(35)

where

$$\varepsilon_p := e^{(2\pi/p)i} \tag{36}$$

is a primitive *p*th root of unity. Then $L^p = I$; equation

$$x(n) = L(x(n-1)),$$

 $x \in B([0,1]), n \ge 0,$
(37)

is globally *p*-periodic, and it has solutions with prime period *p*.

3. The Proof of Theorem 2

We will use the following notations.

Definition 11. Let $m \ge 1$ be an integer.

- (a) $BV^{m,d}$ will mean the *md*-dimensional real vector space of block vectors with entries in \mathbb{K}^d .
- (b) The real vector space of $m \times m$ block matrices with entries in $\mathbb{K}^{d \times d}$ will be denoted by $BM^{m,d}$ ($BM^{m,d}$ and $\mathbb{K}^{md \times md}$ can be treated as being identical).
- (c) The zero matrix and the identity matrix in $\mathbb{K}^{d \times d}$ are denoted by O_d and I_d , respectively.

Let $(x(n))_{n \ge -s}$ be a given sequence in \mathbb{K}^d . Then for any fixed $n \ge 0$ we introduce an *sd*-dimensional state vector:

$$\mathbf{x}_{n} = \left(\mathbf{x}_{n}\left(-s\right), \dots, \mathbf{x}_{n}\left(-1\right)\right)^{T} \in BV^{s,d},$$
(38)

defined by $\mathbf{x}_n(i) := x(n+i) \ (-s \le i \le -1).$

As it is well known (see [10]), by using the state vector notation, (8) may be written as an *sd*-dimensional system of first order difference equations.

Lemma 12. For any $\boldsymbol{\varphi} = (\varphi(-s), \dots, \varphi(-1))^T \in BV^{s,d}$, $x(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = (x(\boldsymbol{\varphi})(n))_{n \ge -s}$ is the solution of (8) and (3) exactly if

$$\left(\mathbf{x}_{k}\left(\boldsymbol{\varphi}\right)\right)_{k\geq1}=\left(\left(\mathbf{x}_{k}\left(\boldsymbol{\varphi}\right)\left(-s\right),\ldots,\mathbf{x}_{k}\left(\boldsymbol{\varphi}\right)\left(-1\right)\right)^{T}\right)_{k\geq1}$$
(39)

is the solution of

$$\mathbf{x}_{k} = \mathscr{C}\mathbf{x}_{k-1} + \mathscr{B}, \quad k \ge 1,$$

$$\mathbf{x}_{0} = \boldsymbol{\varphi},$$

(40)

where the companion matrix $\mathscr{C} \in BM^{s,d}_{\mathbb{K}}$ and the block vector \mathscr{B} can be written in the forms

$$\mathscr{C} = \begin{pmatrix} O_d & I_d & O_d & \dots & O_d \\ O_d & O_d & I_d & \dots & O_d \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ O_d & O_d & O_d & \dots & I_d \\ A_s & A_{s-1} & A_{s-2} & \dots & A_1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(41)
$$\mathscr{B} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ b \end{pmatrix}.$$
(42)

Another companion matrix is developed in [11].

There is a one-to-one correspondence between the global periodicity of (8) and that of (40) and also between equilibrium of (8) and that of (40).

Lemma 13. (*a*) Let $p \ge s$ be an integer. Equation (8) is globally p-periodic if and only if (40) is also globally p-periodic.

(b) $c \in \mathbb{K}^d$ is an equilibrium of (8) exactly if $\mathbf{c} = (c, ..., c)^T \in BV^{s,d}$ is an equilibrium of (40).

Now we prove the first main result.

Proof of Theorem 2. We can apply Theorem 3 and Lemma 13.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the referees for helpful comments and suggestions which improved the presentation of the paper. This paper is supported by the Hungarian National Foundations for Scientific Research Grant no. K101217.

References

- P. A. Smith, "Fixed-points theorems for periodic transformations," *American Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 63, pp. 1–8, 1941.
- [2] P. A. Smith, "A theorem on fixed points for periodic transformations," *Annals of Mathematics*, vol. 35, pp. 572–578, 1934.
- [3] J. M. Kister, "Examples of periodic maps on Euclidean spaces without fixed points," *Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 67, pp. 471–474, 1961.
- [4] P. E. Conner and E. E. Floyd, "On the construction of periodic maps without fixed points," *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 10, pp. 354–360, 1959.
- [5] A. L. Bas, "Some results on periodicity of difference equations," in *Proceedings of the International Workshop Future Directions in Difference Equations*, pp. 121–143, Vigo, Spain, June 2011.
- [6] I. Györi and L. Horváth, "Widely applicable periodicity results for higher order difference equations," *Journal of Difference Equations and Applications*, 2013.
- [7] I. Györi and L. Horváth, "Sharp algebraic periodicity conditions for linear higher order difference equations," *Computers and Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 64, no. 7, pp. 2262–22274, 2012.

- [8] W. Rudin, Functional Analysis, McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, USA, 2nd edition, 1991.
- [9] A. G. Ramm, "A simple proof of the Fredholm alternative and a characterization of the Fredholm operators," *American Mathematical Monthly*, vol. 108, no. 9, pp. 855–860, 2001.
- [10] S. Elaydi, An Introduction to Difference Equations, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 2005.
- [11] I. Györi and L. Horváth, "A new view of the l^p-theory for a system of higher order difference equations," *Computers and Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 59, no. 8, pp. 2918–2932, 2010.

Research Article

Oscillation Theorems for Even Order Damped Equations with Distributed Deviating Arguments

Chunxia Gao and Peiguang Wang

College of Electronic and Information Engineering, Hebei University, Baoding 071002, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Peiguang Wang; pgwang@mail.hbu.edu.cn

Received 24 August 2013; Accepted 8 November 2013

Academic Editor: Miroslava Růžičková

Copyright © 2013 C. Gao and P. Wang. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

A class of even order damped differential equations with distributed deviating arguments are investigated. Several new criteria that ensure the oscillation of solutions are obtained. To demonstrate the validity of the results obtained, two examples are given.

1. Introduction and Lemmas

Oscillatory behavior of solutions for different types of second-order differential equations with damping has been widely discussed by using different techniques. Here, we particularly refer the reader to the papers [1–9] and the references quoted therein. However, very little is known for the case of higher order damped functional differential equations with deviating arguments, especially the case with distributed deviating arguments. In this paper, we deal with the following class of even order functional differential equations with damping:

$$x^{(n)}(t) + p(t) x^{(n-1)}(t) + \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) f(x[g_{1}(t,\xi)], \dots, x[g_{m}(t,\xi)]) d\mu(\xi) = 0,$$

$$t \ge t_{0} > 0.$$
(1)

Our aim is to get the criteria for the oscillatory solutions of (1).

Throughout this paper, we assume that the following conditions hold:

- (H_1) *n* is an even positive integer;
- (H₂) $p(t) \in C([t_0, \infty), R_+), q(t, \xi) \in C([t_0, \infty) \times [\alpha, \beta], R_+)$ is not identically zero on any $[T, \infty) \times [\alpha, \beta]$ for $T \ge t_0$, and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_1}^t \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^s p(\tau) \, d\tau\right) ds = \infty, \quad t_1 \ge t_0; \quad (2)$$

(H₃) $f(u_1, u_2, ..., u_m) \in C(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$ has the same sign as $u_1, u_2, ..., u_m$ when $u_1, u_2, ..., u_m$ have the same sign, $g_i(t,\xi) \in C([t_0,\infty) \times [\alpha,\beta], \mathbb{R}_+), \mu(\xi) \in ([\alpha,\beta], \mathbb{R})$ is nondecreasing, and the integral of (1) is a Stieltjes one.

In the sequel, it will be always assumed that solutions of (1) exist for any $t_0 \ge 0$. A solution x(t) of (1) is called eventually positive solution (or negative solution) if there exists a sufficiently large positive number $t_1 \ge t_0$, such that x(t) > 0 (or x(t) < 0) for all $t \ge t_1$. A nontrivial solution x(t) of (1) is called oscillatory if it has arbitrary large zeros; otherwise it is called nonoscillatory. Equation (1) is called oscillatory if all its solutions are oscillatory.

Remark 1. Since the integral of (1) is a Stieltjes one, it includes the following equations:

$$x^{(n)}(t) + p(t) x^{(n-1)}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} q_i(t) f(x[g_1(t)], \dots, x[g_m(t)]) = 0, \quad (1')$$
$$t \ge t_0 > 0.$$

The following lemmas will be useful to the proof of the main results to be presented in this paper.

Lemma 2 (see [10]). Let u(t) be a positive and n times differentiable function on R_+ . If $u^{(n)}(t)$ is of constant sign and not identically zero on any ray $[t_1, +\infty)$ for $t_1 > 0$, then there exists a $t_u \ge t_1$ and an integer l ($0 \le l \le n$), with n + l even for $u(t)u^{(n)}(t) \ge 0$ or n + l odd for $u(t)u^{(n)}(t) \le 0$; and for $t \ge t_u$,

$$u(t) u^{(k)}(t) > 0, \quad 0 \le k \le l;$$

$$(-1)^{k-l} u(t) u^{(k)}(t) > 0, \quad l \le k \le n.$$
(3)

Lemma 3 (see [11]). Suppose that the conditions of Lemma 2 are satisfied, and

$$u^{(n-1)}(t) u^{(n)}(t) \le 0, \quad t \ge t_u,$$
(4)

then there exists a constant $\theta \in (0, 1)$ such that for sufficiently large t, there exists a constant $M_{\theta} > 0$ satisfying

$$\left|u'\left(\frac{t}{2}\right)\right| \ge M_{\theta}t^{n-2}\left|u^{(n-1)}\left(t\right)\right|.$$
(5)

We say that a function H = H(t, s) belongs to a function class Φ , denoted by $H \in \Phi$, if $H \in C(D, R_+)$, where $D = \{(t, s) : -\infty < s \le t < \infty\}$, satisfies

(i)
$$H(t, t) = 0$$
, for $t \ge t_0$ and $H(t, s) > 0$, for $t > s \ge t_0$;

(ii) partial derivatives $\partial H/\partial t$ and $\partial H/\partial s$ exist, and

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial t} = h_1(t,s) \sqrt{H(t,s)},$$

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial s} = -h_2(t,s) \sqrt{H(t,s)},$$
(6)

where $h_1, h_2 \in L_{\text{loc}}(D, R)$.

2. Oscillation Results for $f(u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ with Monotonicity

Throughout this section, we assume that the following conditions hold.

- (A₁) There exist functions $\sigma_i(t) \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$, such that $\sigma_i(t) = \min\{t, \inf_{\xi \in [\alpha, \beta]} g_i(t, \xi)\}$, $\lim_{t \to \infty} \sigma_i(t) = \infty$, $\sigma'_i(t) > 0$, and i = 1, 2, ..., m.
- (A₂) $(\partial/\partial u_i) f(u_1, \dots, u_m) \equiv f'_i(u_1, \dots, u_m)$ exists, and $f'_i(u_1, \dots, u_m) \geq \lambda_i > 0$ for $u_i \neq 0$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$, where $\lambda_i > 0$ are some constants, and $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$.

Lemma 4. Let x(t) be an eventually positive solution of (1). Then, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$, such that for all $t \ge T_0$

$$x'(t) > 0,$$
 $x^{(n-1)}(t) > 0,$ $x^{(n)}(t) \le 0.$ (7)

Proof. From the assumption, there exists a sufficiently large $t_1 \ge t_0$, such that x(t) > 0 for $t \ge t_1$. Further from (A₁), there exists $t_2 \ge t_1$ such that for all $t \ge t_2$

$$\sigma_{i}(t) \geq t_{1}, \qquad g_{i}(t,\xi) \geq \sigma_{i}(t) \geq t_{1},$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \ \xi \in [\alpha,\beta].$$
(8)

Hence, for all $t \ge t_2$

$$x \left[\sigma_{i}\left(t\right)\right] > 0, \qquad x \left[g_{i}\left(t,\xi\right)\right] > 0,$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \ \xi \in \left[\alpha,\beta\right],$$

(9)

and from (H₃), we have for all $t \ge t_2$ and $\xi \in [\alpha, \beta]$

$$f\left(x\left[\sigma_{1}\left(t\right)\right],\ldots,x\left[\sigma_{m}\left(t\right)\right]\right) > 0,$$

$$f\left(x\left[g_{1}\left(t,\xi\right)\right],\ldots,x\left[g_{m}\left(t,\xi\right)\right]\right) > 0.$$
(10)

Let

$$v(t) = \exp \int_{t_2}^{t} p(s) \, ds, \quad w(t) = x^{(n-1)}(t) \, v(t), \quad t \ge t_2,$$
(11)

then it is easy to know that

$$w'(t) = (x^{(n)}(t) + p(t)x^{(n-1)}(t))v(t)$$

= $-\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) f(x[g_{1}(t,\xi)], ..., x[g_{m}(t,\xi)])$ (12)
 $\times d\mu(\xi)v(t) \le 0,$

which implies that w(t) is nonincreasing on $[t_2, +\infty)$.

Now, we claim that $x^{(n-1)}(t) \ge 0$, $t \ge t_2$. Otherwise, there exists $t_3 \ge t_2$ such that $x^{(n-1)}(t_3) < 0$. Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} x^{(n-1)}(t) v(t) &\leq x^{(n-1)}(t_3) v(t_3), \quad t \geq t_3, \\ \int_{t_3}^t x^{(n-1)}(\tau) d\tau &\leq x^{(n-1)}(t_3) v(t_3) \int_{t_3}^t \frac{1}{v(\tau)} d\tau, \quad t \geq t_3, \\ x^{(n-2)}(t) &\leq x^{(n-2)}(t_3) + x^{(n-1)}(t_3) v(t_3) \int_{t_3}^t \frac{1}{v(\tau)} d\tau, \\ t \geq t_3. \end{aligned}$$
(13)

Using (H₂), we see that $\lim_{t \to +\infty} x^{(n-2)}(t) = -\infty$. Ulteriorly, we can prove $\lim_{t \to +\infty} x(t) = -\infty$, which contradicts $x(t) > 0, t \ge t_1$.

Furthermore, from (1), for all $t \ge t_2$, we have

$$x^{(n)}(t) = -p(t) x^{(n-1)}(t) - \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) f(x[g_1(t,\xi)], \dots, x[g_m(t,\xi)]) \quad (14) \times d\mu(\xi) \le 0.$$

Thus, from Lemma 2, there exist $T_0 \ge t_2$ and an odd number l (0 < l < n), such that for $t \ge T_0$, we have

$$x^{(k)}(t) > 0, \quad 0 \le k \le l;$$

$$(-1)^{k-l} x^{(k)}(t) > 0, \quad l \le k \le n.$$
(15)

By choosing k = 1 and n-1, we have x'(t) > 0 and $x^{(n-1)}(t) > 0$ for $t \ge T_0$. The proof is completed.

Lemma 5. Let x(t) be an eventually positive solution of (1). Then, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$, such that for any interval $[c,b) \in [T_0,\infty)$, if let

$$y(t) = \frac{\rho(t) x^{(n-1)}(t)}{f(x[\sigma_1(t)/2], \dots, x[\sigma_m(t)/2])}, \quad t \in [c, b),$$
(16)

where $\rho(t) \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$, then for any $H \in \Phi$,

$$\int_{c}^{b} H(b,s) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

$$\leq H(b,c) y(c) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{c}^{b} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \quad (17)$$

$$\times \left[h_{2}(b,s) - \sqrt{H(b,s)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds.$$

Proof. From (1) and (16), we have that for $t \in [c, b)$,

$$= \frac{\rho(t) x^{(n)}(t) + \rho'(t) x^{(n-1)}(t)}{f(x[\sigma_{1}(t)/2], \dots, x[\sigma_{m}(t)/2])} - \frac{y(t)}{f(x[\sigma_{1}(t)/2], \dots, x[\sigma_{m}(t)/2])} \times \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} f_{i}' \left(x \left[\frac{\sigma_{1}(t)}{2}\right], \dots, x[\sigma_{m}(t)/2]\right) \\x \left(\frac{\sigma_{m}(t)}{2}\right] \right) x' \left[\frac{\sigma_{i}(t)}{2}\right] \sigma_{i}'(t) \right) = -\rho(t) \frac{\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) f(x[g_{1}(t,\xi)], \dots, x[g_{m}(t,\xi)]) d\mu(\xi)}{f(x[\sigma_{1}(t)/2], \dots, x[\sigma_{m}(t)/2])} + \left(\frac{\rho'(t)}{\rho(t)} - p(t)\right) y(t) - \frac{y(t)}{f(x[\sigma_{1}(t)/2], \dots, x[\sigma_{m}(t)/2])} \times \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} f_{i}' \left(x \left[\frac{\sigma_{1}(t)}{2}\right], \dots, x \left[\frac{\sigma_{m}(t)}{2}\right]\right) \right) \times x' \left[\frac{\sigma_{i}(t)}{2}\right] \sigma_{i}'(t) \right).$$
(18)

From Lemma 4, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$ such that x'(t) > 0 and $x^{(n)}(t) \le 0$ for $t \ge T_0$. Further from (A₁), for all $t \ge T_0$

$$\sigma_{i}(t) \leq t, \qquad g_{i}(t,\xi) \geq \sigma_{i}(t) \geq \frac{\sigma_{i}(t)}{2},$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \ \xi \in [\alpha, \beta].$$
(19)

Hence, for all $t \ge T_0$, we have

$$x\left[g_{i}\left(t,\xi\right)\right] \ge x\left[\frac{\sigma_{i}\left(t\right)}{2}\right], \qquad x^{(n-1)}\left[\sigma_{i}\left(t\right)\right] \ge x^{(n-1)}\left(t\right),$$
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \ \xi \in \left[\alpha, \beta\right].$$
(20)

In view of (20) and (A₂), for all $t \ge T_0$

$$f\left(x\left[g_{1}\left(t,\xi\right)\right],\ldots,x\left[g_{m}\left(t,\xi\right)\right]\right)$$

$$\geq f\left(x\left[\frac{\sigma_{1}\left(t\right)}{2}\right],\ldots,x\left[\frac{\sigma_{m}\left(t\right)}{2}\right]\right),\quad\xi\in\left[\alpha,\beta\right].$$
(21)

Thus, for all $t \ge T_0$

~

$$\frac{\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) f\left(x\left[g_{1}\left(t,\xi\right)\right], \dots, x\left[g_{m}\left(t,\xi\right)\right]\right) d\mu(\xi)}{f\left(x\left[\sigma_{1}\left(t\right)/2\right], \dots, x\left[\sigma_{m}\left(t\right)/2\right]\right)}$$

$$\geq \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q\left(t,\xi\right) d\mu(\xi).$$
(22)

Therefore, from (18)-(22) and Lemma 3, we obtain

$$y'(t) \leq -\rho(t) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) d\mu(\xi) + \left(\frac{\rho'(t)}{\rho(t)} - p(t)\right) y(t) - \frac{x^{(n-1)}(t)}{f(x[\sigma_{1}(t)/2], \dots, x[\sigma_{m}(t)/2])} \times \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(t) \sigma_{i}'(t)\right) y(t) = -\rho(t) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) d\mu(\xi) + \left(\frac{\rho'(t)}{\rho(t)} - p(t)\right) y(t) - \rho^{-1}(t) \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(t) \sigma_{i}'(t)\right) y^{2}(t)$$
(23)

for all $t \ge T_0$.

Multiplying (23) by H(t, s), then integrating it with respect to *s* from *c* to *t* for $t \in [c, b)$ and using (i) and (ii), we get that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{c}^{t} H\left(t,s\right)\rho\left(s\right)\left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta}q\left(s,\xi\right)d\mu\left(\xi\right)\right)ds\\ &\leq -\int_{c}^{t} H\left(t,s\right)y'\left(s\right)ds\\ &+ \int_{c}^{t} H\left(t,s\right)\left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)}-p\left(s\right)\right)y\left(s\right)ds\\ &- \int_{c}^{t} H\left(t,s\right)\rho^{-1}\left(s\right)\left(\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{m}\lambda_{i}M_{\theta}\sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right)\sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)\right)y^{2}\left(s\right)ds \end{split}$$

Abstract and Applied Analysis

$$\begin{split} &= H\left(t,c\right) y\left(c\right) + \int_{c}^{t} \frac{\partial H\left(t,s\right)}{\partial s} y\left(s\right) ds \\ &+ \int_{c}^{t} H\left(t,s\right) \left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right) y\left(s\right) ds \\ &- \int_{c}^{t} H\left(t,s\right) \rho^{-1}\left(s\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)\right) y^{2}\left(s\right) ds \\ &= H\left(t,c\right) y\left(c\right) - \int_{c}^{t} \sqrt{H\left(t,s\right)} \\ &\times \left[h_{2}\left(t,s\right) - \sqrt{H\left(t,s\right)} \left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right)\right] y\left(s\right) ds \\ &- \int_{c}^{t} H\left(t,s\right) \rho^{-1}\left(s\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)\right) y^{2}\left(s\right) ds \\ &= H\left(t,c\right) y\left(c\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{c}^{t} \frac{\rho\left(s\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)} \\ &\times \left[h_{2}\left(t,s\right) - \sqrt{H\left(t,s\right)} \left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right)\right]^{2} ds \\ &- \int_{c}^{t} \left[\sqrt{\frac{H\left(t,s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)} \right) y\left(s\right) \\ &+ \frac{h_{2}\left(t,s\right) - \sqrt{H\left(t,s\right)} \left(\left(\rho'\left(s\right) / \rho\left(s\right)\right) - p\left(s\right)\right)}{\sqrt{2\rho^{-1}\left(s\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)} \right)} \right]^{2} ds \\ &\leq H\left(t,c\right) y\left(c\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{c}^{t} \frac{\rho\left(s\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)} \\ &\times \left[h_{2}\left(t,s\right) - \sqrt{H\left(t,s\right)} \left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right)\right]^{2} ds. \end{split}$$

Letting $t \rightarrow b^-$ in the above, we obtain (17). The proof is completed.

(24)

Lemma 6. Let x(t) be an eventually positive solution of (1). Then, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$ such that for any interval $(a, c] \subset [T_0, \infty)$, if let y(t) be defined by (16) on (a, c], then for any $H \in \Phi$,

$$\int_{a}^{c} H(s,a) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

$$\leq -H(c,a) y(c)$$

$$+\frac{1}{2}\int_{a}^{c}\frac{\rho(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m}\lambda_{i}M_{\theta}\sigma^{n-2}(s)\sigma_{i}'(s)}\times\left[h_{1}(s,a)+\sqrt{H(s,a)}\left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)}-p(s)\right)\right]^{2}ds.$$
(25)

Proof. Similar to the proof of Lemma 5, by multiplying (23) by H(s, t), then integrating it with respect to *s* from *t* to *c* for $t \in (a, c]$, and then using (i) and (ii), we get that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{t}^{c} H\left(s,t\right) \rho\left(s\right) \left(\int_{a}^{\beta} q\left(s,\xi\right) d\mu\left(\xi\right)\right) ds \\ &\leq -\int_{t}^{c} H\left(s,t\right) y'\left(s\right) ds \\ &+ \int_{t}^{c} H\left(s,t\right) \left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right) y\left(s\right) ds \\ &- \int_{t}^{c} H\left(s,t\right) \rho^{-1}\left(s\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)\right) y^{2}\left(s\right) ds \\ &= -H\left(c,t\right) y\left(c\right) + \int_{t}^{c} \frac{\partial H\left(s,t\right)}{\partial s} y\left(s\right) ds \\ &+ \int_{t}^{c} H\left(s,t\right) \left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right) y\left(s\right) ds \\ &- \int_{t}^{c} H\left(s,t\right) \rho^{-1}\left(s\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)\right) y^{2}\left(s\right) ds \\ &= -H\left(c,t\right) y\left(c\right) \\ &+ \int_{t}^{c} \sqrt{H\left(s,t\right)} \left[h_{1}\left(s,t\right) \\ &+ \sqrt{H\left(s,t\right)} \left(\frac{\rho'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right)\right] y\left(s\right) ds \\ &= -H\left(c,t\right) y\left(c\right) \\ &= -H\left(c,t\right) y\left(c\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{c} \frac{\rho\left(s\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)}\right) y^{2}\left(s\right) ds \\ &= -H\left(c,t\right) y\left(c\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{c} \frac{\rho\left(s\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)}\right) y^{2}\left(s\right) ds \\ &= -H\left(c,t\right) y\left(c\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{c} \frac{\rho\left(s\right)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)}\right) y\left(s\right) \\ &\times \left[h_{1}\left(s,t\right) + \sqrt{H\left(s,t\right)} \left(\frac{p'\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right)\right]^{2} ds \\ &- \int_{t}^{c} \left[\sqrt{\frac{H\left(s,t\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)}\right)} \\ &- \frac{h_{1}\left(s,t\right) + \sqrt{H\left(s,t\right)} \left(\left(\rho'\left(s\right) / \rho\left(s\right)) - p\left(s\right)\right)}{\sqrt{2\rho^{-1}\left(s\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)}\right)} \right]^{2} ds \end{aligned}$$

Abstract and Applied Analysis

$$\leq -H(c,t) y(c) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{t}^{c} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \times \left[h_{1}(s,t) + \sqrt{H(s,t)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds.$$

$$(26)$$

Letting $t \rightarrow a^+$ in the above, we obtain (25). The proof is completed.

The following theorem is an immediate result from Lemmas 5 and 6.

Theorem 7. Assume that for each $T \ge t_0$ there exist $H \in \Phi$, $\rho \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$ and $a, b, c \in R$, such that $T \le a < c < b$ and

$$\frac{1}{H(c,a)} \int_{a}^{c} H(s,a) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

$$+ \frac{1}{H(b,c)} \int_{c}^{b} H(b,s) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

$$> \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{1}{H(c,a)} \int_{a}^{c} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \right.$$

$$\times \left[h_{1}(s,a) + \sqrt{H(s,a)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds$$

$$+ \frac{1}{H(b,c)}$$

$$\times \left[\int_{c}^{b} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \right]$$

$$\times \left[h_{2}(b,s) - \sqrt{H(b,s)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds$$
(27)

Then (1) is oscillatory.

Proof. Suppose that (1) has a nonoscillatory solution x(t). Without loss of generality, we assume that x(t) is an eventually positive solution of (1). Then from Lemmas 5 and 6, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$, such that for any $(a,b) \in [T_0,\infty)$, and for any $c \in (a,b)$, $H \in \Phi$ and $\rho \in C'([t_0,\infty), (0,\infty))$, (17) and (25) hold. By dividing (17) and (25) by H(b,c) and H(c,a), respectively, and then adding them, we have

$$\frac{1}{H(c,a)} \int_{a}^{c} H(s,a) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$
$$+ \frac{1}{H(b,c)} \int_{c}^{b} H(b,s) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{1}{H(c,a)} \int_{a}^{c} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \right\}$$

$$\times \left[h_{1}(s,a) + \sqrt{H(s,a)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s)\right)\right]^{2} ds$$

$$+ \frac{1}{H(b,c)}$$

$$\times \int_{c}^{b} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)}$$

$$\times \left[h_{2}(b,s) - \sqrt{H(b,s)} + \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s)\right)\right]^{2} ds \right],$$
(28)

which contradicts the assumption (27) and completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Theorem 8. Assume that for some $H \in \Phi$, $\rho \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$ and for each $r \ge t_0$,

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_{r}^{t} \left\{ H(s,r) \rho(s) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) - \frac{\rho(s)}{2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \times \left[h_{1}(s,r) + \sqrt{H(s,r)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds > 0,$$

$$(29)$$

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_{r}^{t} \left\{ H(t,s) \rho(s) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) - \rho(s) \right\} ds > 0,$$

$$-\frac{\rho(s)}{2\sum_{i=1}^{m}\lambda_{i}M_{\theta}\sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s)\sigma_{i}'(s)}$$

$$\times \left[h_{2}(t,s)-\sqrt{H(t,s)}\left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)}-p(s)\right)\right]^{2}\right]ds > 0.$$
(30)

Then (1) is oscillatory.

Proof. For any $T \ge t_0$, let a = T. In (29), we choose r = a. Then there exists c > a such that

$$\int_{a}^{c} \left\{ H(s,a) \rho(s) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right\}$$
$$-\frac{\rho(s)}{2\sum_{i=1}^{m}\lambda_{i}M_{\theta}\sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s)\sigma_{i}'(s)}$$

$$\times \left[h_{1}(s,a) + \sqrt{H(s,a)}\left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s)\right)\right]^{2} ds > 0.$$
(31)

In (30), we choose r = c, then there exists b > c such that

$$\int_{c}^{b} \left\{ H\left(b,s\right)\rho\left(s\right) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q\left(s,\xi\right) d\mu\left(\xi\right) - \frac{\rho\left(s\right)}{2\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right) \sigma_{i}^{\prime}\left(s\right)} \times \left[h_{2}\left(b,s\right) - \sqrt{H\left(b,s\right)} \left(\frac{\rho^{\prime}\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right)\right]^{2} \right\} ds > 0.$$
(32)

By dividing (31) and (32) by H(c, a) and H(b, c), respectively, and then adding them, we obtain (27). The conclusion thus comes from Theorem 7. The proof is completed.

For the case of $H := H(t - s) \in \Phi$, we have that $h_1(t - s) = h_2(t - s)$ and thus denote them by h(t - s). The subclass of Φ containing such H(t - s) is denoted by Φ_0 . Applying Theorem 7 to Φ_0 , and choosing $\rho = 1$, we obtain the following.

Theorem 9. Assume that for each $T \ge t_0$ there exist $H \in \Phi_0$ and $a, c \in R$ such that $T \le a < c$ and

$$\int_{a}^{c} H(s-a) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \left[q(s,\xi) + q(2c-s,\xi) \right] d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

> $\frac{1}{2} \int_{a}^{c} \left\{ \frac{\left[h(s-a) - p(s) \sqrt{H(s-a)} \right]^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} + \frac{\left[h(s-a) + p(2c-s) \sqrt{H(s-a)} \right]^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(2c-s) \sigma_{i}'(2c-s)} \right\} ds.$
(33)

Then (1) *is oscillatory.*

Proof. Let b = 2c-a. Then H(b-c) = H(c-a) = H((b-a)/2), and for any $\varphi \in L[a, b]$, we have

$$\int_{c}^{b} \varphi(s) \, ds = \int_{a}^{c} \varphi(2c-s) \, ds. \tag{34}$$

Hence

$$\int_{c}^{b} H(b-s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$
$$= \int_{a}^{c} H(s-a) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(2c-s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds,$$

$$\int_{c}^{b} \frac{\left[h\left(b-s\right)+p\left(s\right)\sqrt{H\left(b-s\right)}\right]^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m}\lambda_{i}M_{\theta}\sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(s\right)\sigma_{i}'\left(s\right)}ds$$
$$=\int_{a}^{c} \frac{\left[h\left(s-a\right)+p\left(2c-s\right)\sqrt{H\left(s-a\right)}\right]^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m}\lambda_{i}M_{\theta}\sigma_{i}^{n-2}\left(2c-s\right)\sigma_{i}'\left(2c-s\right)}ds.$$
(35)

Thus (33) holds and implies that (27) holds for $H \in \Phi_0$, $\rho = 1$ and therefore (1) is oscillatory by Theorem 7. The proof is completed.

From the above oscillation criteria, we can obtain different sufficient conditions for oscillation of (1) by different choices of H(t, s) and $\rho(s)$. For example, let

$$H(t,s) = (t-s)^{\lambda}, \quad t \ge s \ge t_0,$$
 (36)

where $\lambda > 1$ is a constant. Then, $H \in \Phi_0$ and $h(t - s) = \lambda(t - s)^{(\lambda/2)-1}$. From Theorem 8, we have the following result.

Corollary 10. If there exists a function $\rho \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$ and a constant $\lambda > 1$ such that for each $r \ge t_0$,

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda - 1}} \times \int_{r}^{t} (s - r)^{\lambda} \rho(s) \times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s, \xi) d\mu(\xi) - \frac{1}{2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \times \left[\frac{\lambda}{s - r} + \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds > 0,$$

 $\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda - 1}}$

$$\times \int_{r}^{t} (t-s)^{\lambda} \rho(s)$$

$$\times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) - \frac{1}{2\sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \sigma_{i}'(s)} \right\}$$

$$\times \left[\frac{\lambda}{t-s} - \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds > 0.$$
(37)

Then (1) is oscillatory.

3. Oscillation Results for $f(u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ without Monotonicity

Throughout this section we assume that the following conditions hold:

- $\begin{aligned} (A'_1) \text{ there exists a function } \sigma(t) &\in C'([t_0,\infty),(0,\infty)) \\ \text{ such that } \sigma(t) &= \min\{t,\min_{1\leq i\leq m}\{\inf_{\xi\in[\alpha,\beta]}g_i(t,\xi)\}\}, \\ \lim_{t\to\infty}\sigma(t) &= \infty, \sigma'(t) > 0. \end{aligned}$
- (A'_2) there exists a constant $\gamma > 0$ and $i_0 \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$ such that for sufficiently large $|u_i|$ $(i \neq i_0)$

$$\liminf_{|u_{i_0}|\to\infty} \left| \frac{f(u_1,\ldots,u_m)}{u_{i_0}} \right| \ge \gamma > 0.$$
(38)

Lemma 11. Let x(t) be an eventually positive solution of (1). Then, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$ such that for $t \ge T_0$, we have

$$x'(t) > 0,$$
 $x^{(n-1)}(t) > 0,$ $x^{(n)}(t) \le 0.$ (39)

The proof is similar to that of Lemma 4, thus we omit the details here.

Lemma 12. Let x(t) be an eventually positive solution of (1). Then, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$ such that for any interval $[c,b) \in [T_0,\infty)$, if let

$$u(t) = \frac{\rho(t) x^{(n-1)}(t)}{x [\sigma(t)/2]}, \quad t \in [c,b),$$
(40)

where $\rho(t) \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$, then for any $H \in \Phi$,

$$\int_{c}^{b} \gamma H(b,s) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

$$\leq H(b,c) u(c)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{c}^{b} \frac{\rho(s)}{M_{\theta} \sigma^{n-2}(s) \sigma'(s)}$$

$$\times \left[h_{2}(b,s) - \sqrt{H(b,s)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds.$$
(41)

Proof. From (1) and (40) we have that for $t \in [c, b)$ u'(t)

$$= \frac{\rho(t) x^{(n)}(t) + \rho'(t) x^{(n-1)}(t)}{x [\sigma(t)/2]} - \frac{u(t)}{2x [\sigma(t)/2]} x' \left[\frac{\sigma(t)}{2}\right] \sigma'(t) = -\rho(t) \frac{\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) f(x [g_1(t,\xi)], \dots, x [g_m(t,\xi)]) d\mu(\xi)}{x [\sigma(t)/2]} + \left(\frac{\rho'(t)}{\rho(t)} - p(t)\right) u(t) - \frac{x' [\sigma(t)/2]}{2x [\sigma(t)/2]} \sigma'(t) u(t).$$
(42)

From Lemma 11, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$ such that for all $t \ge T_0$ (39) hold and further from (A'_1)

$$\frac{\sigma(t)}{2} \le \sigma(t) \le t, \qquad g_i(t,\xi) \ge \sigma(t) \ge \frac{\sigma(t)}{2},$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \ \xi \in [\alpha, \beta].$$
(43)

Hence, we have for all $t \ge T_0$,

$$x^{(n-1)}\left[\frac{\sigma(t)}{2}\right] \ge x^{(n-1)}(t), \qquad x\left[g_i(t,\xi)\right] \ge x\left[\sigma(t)/2\right],$$
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, m; \xi \in [\alpha, \beta].$$
(44)

From (44) and (A'_2) , for all $t \ge T_0$

$$f\left(x\left[g_{1}\left(t,\xi\right)\right],\ldots,x\left[g_{m}\left(t,\xi\right)\right]\right)$$

$$\geq \gamma x\left[g_{i_{0}}\left(t,\xi\right)\right] \geq \gamma x\left[\frac{\sigma\left(t\right)}{2}\right], \quad \xi \in [\alpha,\beta].$$

$$(45)$$

Thus, for all $t \ge T_0$

$$\frac{\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) f\left(x\left[g_{1}\left(t,\xi\right)\right],\ldots,x\left[g_{m}\left(t,\xi\right)\right]\right) d\mu\left(\xi\right)}{x\left[\sigma\left(t\right)/2\right]}$$

$$\geq \gamma \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q\left(t,\xi\right) d\mu\left(\xi\right).$$

$$(46)$$

Therefore, from (42)-(46) and Lemma 3, we obtain

$$u'(t) \leq -\gamma \rho(t) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(t,\xi) d\mu(\xi) + \left(\frac{\rho'(t)}{\rho(t)} - p(t)\right) u(t)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2} \rho^{-1}(t) M_{\theta} \sigma^{n-2}(t) \sigma'(t) u^{2}(t).$$

$$(47)$$

The rest of the proof is similar to that of Lemma 5 and thus we omit the details here. $\hfill \Box$

Similar to the proof in Section 2, we have the following results.

Lemma 13. Let x(t) be an eventually positive solution of (1). Then, there exists a sufficiently large $T_0 \ge t_0$ such that, for any interval $(a, c] \in [T_0, \infty)$, if let u(t) be defined by (40) on (a, c], then for any $H \in \Phi$,

$$\int_{a}^{c} \gamma H(s,a) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds \leq -H(c,a) u(c)$$

+ $\frac{1}{2} \int_{a}^{c} \frac{\rho(s)}{M_{\theta} \sigma^{n-2}(s) \sigma'(s)}$
 $\times \left[h_{1}(s,a) + \sqrt{H(s,a)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds.$ (48)

The following theorem is an immediate result from Lemmas 12 and 13.

Theorem 14. Assume that for each $T \ge t_0$ there exist $H \in \Phi$, $\rho \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$ and $a, b, c \in R$, such that $T \le a < c < b$ and

$$\frac{1}{H(c,a)} \int_{a}^{c} \gamma H(s,a) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

$$+ \frac{1}{H(b,c)} \int_{c}^{b} \gamma H(b,s) \rho(s) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

$$> \frac{1}{2M_{\theta}} \left\{ \frac{1}{H(c,a)} \int_{a}^{c} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sigma^{n-2}(s)\sigma'(s)} \right\}$$

$$\times \left[h_{1}(s,a) + \sqrt{H(s,a)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds$$

$$+ \frac{1}{H(b,c)} \int_{c}^{b} \frac{\rho(s)}{\sigma^{n-2}(s)\sigma'(s)}$$

$$\times \left[h_{2}(b,s) - \sqrt{H(b,s)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} ds \right\}.$$
(49)

Then (1) is oscillatory.

Theorem 15. Assume that for some $H \in \Phi$ and $\rho \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$, and for each $r \ge t_0$,

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_{r}^{t} \left\{ \gamma H(s,r) \rho(s) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s,\xi) d\mu(\xi) - \frac{\rho(s)}{2M_{\theta}\sigma^{n-2}(s)\sigma'(s)} \times \left[h_{1}(s,r) + \sqrt{H(s,r)} \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds > 0,$$
(50)

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_{r}^{t} \left\{ \gamma H\left(t,s\right) \rho\left(s\right) \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q\left(s,\xi\right) d\mu\left(\xi\right) \\ &- \frac{\rho\left(s\right)}{2M_{\theta}\sigma^{n-2}\left(s\right)\sigma^{\prime}\left(s\right)} \\ &\times \left[h_{2}\left(t,s\right) \\ &- \sqrt{H\left(t,s\right)} \left(\frac{\rho^{\prime}\left(s\right)}{\rho\left(s\right)} - p\left(s\right)\right)\right]^{2} \right\} ds > 0. \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\tag{51}$$

Then (1) is oscillatory.

Theorem 16. Assume that for each $T \ge t_0$, there exist $H \in \Phi_0$ and $a, c \in R$ such that $T \le a < c$ and

$$\int_{a}^{c} \gamma H(s-a) \left(\int_{\alpha}^{\beta} \left[q(s,\xi) + q(2c-s,\xi) \right] d\mu(\xi) \right) ds$$

> $\frac{1}{2M_{\theta}} \int_{a}^{c} \left\{ \frac{\left[h(s-a) - p(s)\sqrt{H(s-a)} \right]^{2}}{\sigma^{n-2}(s)\sigma'(s)} + \frac{\left[h(s-a) + p(2c-s)\sqrt{H(s-a)} \right]^{2}}{\sigma^{n-2}(2c-s)\sigma'(2c-s)} \right\} ds.$
(52)

Then (1) is oscillatory.

Corollary 17. If there exists a function $\rho \in C'([t_0, \infty), (0, \infty))$ and a constant $\lambda > 1$ such that for each $r \ge t_0$, the following two inequalities hold

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda - 1}} \int_{r}^{t} \gamma \left(s - r \right)^{\lambda} \rho \left(s \right) \\ & \times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q \left(s, \xi \right) d\mu \left(\xi \right) - \frac{1}{2M_{\theta}\sigma^{n - 2} \left(s \right)\sigma' \left(s \right)} \right. \tag{53} \\ & \times \left[\frac{\lambda}{s - r} + \left(\frac{\rho' \left(s \right)}{\rho \left(s \right)} - p \left(s \right) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds > 0, \end{split} \\ \begin{split} \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda - 1}} \int_{r}^{t} \gamma \left(t - s \right)^{\lambda} \rho \left(s \right) \\ & \times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q \left(s, \xi \right) d\mu \left(\xi \right) - \frac{1}{2M_{\theta}\sigma^{n - 2} \left(s \right)\sigma' \left(s \right)} \right. \tag{54} \\ & \times \left[\frac{\lambda}{t - s} - \left(\frac{\rho' \left(s \right)}{\rho \left(s \right)} - p \left(s \right) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds > 0. \end{split}$$

Then (1) is oscillatory.

4. Examples

In this section we demonstrate the applications of our oscillation criteria through two examples. We will see that the equations in the examples are oscillatory based on the results in Sections 2 and 3.

Example 1. Consider the following nonlinear damped differential equation:

$$x^{(4)}(t) + \frac{2t}{\exp(t^2)} x^{(3)}(t) + \int_0^1 e^{2t+\xi} \left[x(t+\xi) + x(3t+\xi^2) + x^3(t+\xi) + x^5(3t+\xi^2) \right] d\xi = 0,$$
(55)

where $t \ge 1$, $p(t) = (2t/\exp(t^2))$, $q(t,\xi) = e^{2t+\xi}$, $f(u_1, u_2) = u_1 + u_2 + u_1^3 + u_2^5$, $g_1(t,\xi) = t + \xi$, $g_2(t,\xi) = 3t + \xi^2$, $\mu(\xi) = \xi$. It is clear that for $t_1 \ge 1$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_1}^t \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^s p(\tau) d\tau\right) ds$$

=
$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_1}^t \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^s \frac{2\tau}{\exp(\tau^2)} d\tau\right) ds = \infty,$$

$$\sigma_1(t) = t, \qquad \sigma_2(t) = t, \qquad (56)$$

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_1} = 1 + 3u_1^2 \ge 1 = \lambda_1,$$

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_2} = 1 + 5u_2^4 \ge 1 = \lambda_2.$$

Applying Corollary 10 with $\lambda = 2$ and $\rho(s) = s^3$, we have through a straightforward computation that

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda - 1}} \int_{r}^{t} (s - r)^{\lambda} \rho(s) \\ & \times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s, \xi) \, d\mu(\xi) - \frac{1}{2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \, \sigma_{i}'(s)} \\ & \times \left[\frac{\lambda}{s - r} + \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds \\ &= \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{r}^{t} (s - r)^{2} s^{3} \\ & \times \left\{ \int_{0}^{1} e^{2s + \xi} d\xi - \frac{1}{4M_{\theta} s^{2}} \left[\frac{5s - 3r}{s(s - r)} \right]^{2} \right\} ds = \infty, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda - 1}} \\ \times \int_{r}^{t} (t - s)^{\lambda} \rho(s) \\ & \times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s, \xi) \, d\mu(\xi) \right. \\ & \left. - \frac{1}{2 \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} M_{\theta} \sigma_{i}^{n-2}(s) \, \sigma_{i}'(s)} \right. \\ & \left. \times \left[\frac{\lambda}{t - s} + \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds \\ & = \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \\ & \times \int_{r}^{t} (t - s)^{2} s^{3} \end{split}$$

$$\times \left\{ \int_{0}^{1} e^{2s+\xi} d\xi -\frac{1}{4M_{\theta}s^{2}} \left[\frac{5s-3t}{s(t-s)} + \frac{2s}{\exp(s^{2})} \right]^{2} \right\}$$
$$\times ds = \infty.$$
(57)

Therefore (37) hold and we conclude by Corollary 10 that (55) is oscillatory.

Example 2. Consider the following nonlinear damped differential equation:

$$\begin{aligned} x^{(4)}(t) + \exp(-t) x^{(3)}(t) \\ + \int_0^{\pi/2} \frac{t^2 \sin 2\xi}{1 + \sin^2 \xi} \frac{x(t + \sin \xi)}{2 - \exp(-x^2(t + \cos \xi))} d\xi &= 0, \\ t \ge 1, \\ (58) \end{aligned}$$

where $p(t) = 1/e^t$, $q(t,\xi) = t^2 \sin 2\xi/(1 + \sin^2 \xi)$, $f(u_1, u_2) = u_2/(2 - \exp(-u_1^2))$, $g_1(t,\xi) = t + \cos \xi$, $g_2(t,\xi) = t + \sin \xi$, $\mu(\xi) = \xi$. In this example,

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u_1} = -\frac{2u_1u_2\exp\left(-u_1^2\right)}{\left(2 - \exp\left(-u_1^2\right)\right)^2}.$$
(59)

Clearly, Corollary 10 does not apply to (58). However, with $\lambda = 2$ and $\rho(t) = 1$, we can prove the oscillatory character of (58) by Corollary 17. Noting that

$$\frac{f(u_1, u_2)}{u_2} = \frac{1}{2 - \exp\left(-u_1^2\right)} \ge \frac{1}{2} = \gamma, \quad \forall \ u_2 \neq 0,$$
$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_1}^t \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^s p(\tau) \, d\tau\right) ds \qquad (60)$$
$$= \lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_1}^t \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^s \frac{1}{e^\tau} d\tau\right) ds = \infty,$$

for $t_1 \ge 1$ and $\sigma(t) = t$, we have

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda - 1}} \\ & \times \int_{r}^{t} \gamma(s - r)^{\lambda} \rho(s) \\ & \quad \times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q(s, \xi) \, d\mu(\xi) - \frac{1}{2M_{\theta}\sigma^{n - 2}(s)\,\sigma'(s)} \\ & \quad \times \left[\frac{\lambda}{s - r} + \left(\frac{\rho'(s)}{\rho(s)} - p(s) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds \end{split}$$

$$= \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{r}^{t} \frac{1}{2} (s-r)^{2}$$

$$\times \left\{ \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \frac{s^{2} \sin 2\xi}{1 + \sin^{2}\xi} d\xi - \frac{1}{2M_{\theta}s^{2}} \left[\frac{2}{s-r} - \frac{1}{e^{s}} \right]^{2} \right\} ds$$

$$= \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{r}^{t} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \ln 2s^{2} (s-r)^{2} - \frac{(2e^{s} - s + r)^{2}}{4M_{\theta}s^{2}e^{2s}} \right\} ds = \infty,$$

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t^{\lambda-1}} \int_{r}^{t} \gamma (t-s)^{\lambda} \rho (s)$$

$$\times \left\{ \int_{\alpha}^{\beta} q (s,\xi) d\mu (\xi) - \frac{1}{2M_{\theta}\sigma^{n-2} (s) \sigma^{t} (s)} \right\}$$

$$\times \left[\frac{\lambda}{t-s} - \left(\frac{\rho^{t} (s)}{\rho (s)} - p (s) \right) \right]^{2} \right\} ds = \infty,$$
(61)

therefore (53) and (54) hold and we conclude by Corollary 10 that (58) is oscillatory.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

Authors' Contribution

All authors completed the paper together. All authors read and approved the final paper.

Acknowledgments

This paper is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (11271106), the Natural Science Foundation of Hebei Province of China (A2013201232), and the Science and Technology Project of Baoding of China (13ZG022).

References

- B. Ayanlar and A. Tiryaki, "Oscillation theorems for nonlinear second order differential equations with damping," *Acta Mathematica Hungarica*, vol. 89, no. 1-2, pp. 1–13, 2000.
- [2] W.-T. Li and R. P. Agarwal, "Interval oscillation criteria for second order forced nonlinear differential equations with damping," *Panamerican Mathematical Journal*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 109–117, 2001.

- [3] W.-T. Li and R. P. Agarwal, "Interval oscillation criteria for second-order nonlinear differential equations with damping," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 40, no. 2-3, pp. 217–230, 2000.
- [4] M. Kirane and Y. V. Rogovchenko, "Oscillation results for a second order damped differential equation with nonmonotonous nonlinearity," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 250, no. 1, pp. 118–138, 2000.
- [5] P. Wang and Y. Wu, "Oscillation of certain second-order functional differential equations with damping," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 157, no. 1, pp. 49– 56, 2003.
- [6] Y. G. Sun, "Oscillation of second order functional differential equations with damping," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 178, no. 2, pp. 519–526, 2006.
- [7] P. Wang and M. Wu, "Oscillation of certain second order nonlinear damped difference equations with continuous variable," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 637–644, 2007.
- [8] Z. Xu, "Oscillation theorems for damped elliptic differential equations of second order," *Hiroshima Mathematical Journal*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 1–17, 2008.
- [9] E. Tun and H. Avc, "New oscillation theorems for a class of second-order damped nonlinear differential equations," *Ukrainian Mathematical Journal*, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 1441–1457, 2012.
- [10] I. T. Kiguradze, "On the oscillatory character of solutions of the equation $d^m u/dt^m + a(t)|u|^n sgnu = 0$," vol. 65, pp. 172–187, 1964.
- [11] C. H. G. Philos, "A new criterion for the oscillatory and asymptonic behavior of delay differential equations," *Bulletin de L'Académie Polonaise des Science*, vol. 39, pp. 61–64, 1981.

Research Article

Impulsive Boundary Value Problems for Planar Hamiltonian Systems

Zeynep Kayar and Ağacık Zafer

Department of Mathematics, Middle East Technical University, 06800 Ankara, Turkey

Correspondence should be addressed to Zeynep Kayar; zkayar@metu.edu.tr

Received 3 September 2013; Accepted 24 October 2013

Academic Editor: Josef Diblik

Copyright © 2013 Z. Kayar and A. Zafer. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We give an existence and uniqueness theorem for solutions of inhomogeneous impulsive boundary value problem (BVP) for planar Hamiltonian systems. Green's function that is needed for representing the solutions is obtained and its properties are listed. The uniqueness of solutions is connected to a Lyapunov type inequality for the corresponding homogeneous BVP.

1. Introduction

The planar Hamiltonian system of 2-linear first-order equations has the form

$$y' = JH(t) y, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{1}$$

where

$$H(t) = \begin{bmatrix} c(t) & a(t) \\ a(t) & b(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2)

is a symmetric matrix with piecewise continuous real-valued entries, and

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3)

is the so called symplectic identity. Setting

$$y_1(t) = x(t), \qquad y_2(t) = u(t),$$
 (4)

the Hamiltonian system can be rewritten in a more convenient way as

$$x' = a(t) x + b(t) u,$$

$$u' = -c(t) x - a(t) u.$$
(5)

Our aim in this work is to prove an existence and uniqueness theorem for solutions of the related BVP for inhomogeneous Hamiltonian system under impulse effect of the form

$$x' = a(t) x + b(t) u + f_1(t),$$

$$u' = -c(t) x - a(t) u + f_2(t),$$

$$t \in (t_1, t_2) \setminus \{\tau_i\},$$

$$x(\tau_i^+) = \alpha_i x(\tau_i^-) + a_{i1},$$

(6a)

$$u(\tau_{i}^{+}) = -\beta_{i}x(\tau_{i}^{-}) + \alpha_{i}u(\tau_{i}^{-}) + a_{i2},$$
(6b)

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, p,$$

 $x(t_1) = A, \quad x(t_2) = B,$ (6c)

where

(i) {τ_i}, {α_i}, {β_i}, {a_{i1}}, and {a_{i2}} are real sequences for i = 1, 2, ..., p with

$$t_1 < \tau_1 < \tau_2 < \dots < \tau_p < t_2; \tag{7}$$

- (ii) $a, b, c, f_1, f_2 \in \text{PLC}(J_0)$, where $J_0 = [t_1, t_2]$ and $\text{PLC}(J_0) = \{\omega : J_0 \rightarrow \mathbb{R} \text{ is continuous on each}$ interval (τ_i, τ_{i+1}) , the limits $w(\tau_i^{\pm})$ exist and $w(\tau_i^{-}) = w(\tau_i)$ for $i = 1, 2, ..., p\}$;
- (iii) b(t) > 0 for $t \in (t_1, t_2)$ and $\alpha_i \neq 0$ for i = 1, 2, ..., p; A and B are given real numbers.

We also set $\tau_0 = t_1$ and $\tau_{p+1} = t_2$ for convenience.

By a solution of the impulsive BVP (6a)–(6c), we mean nontrivial functions $x, u \in PLC(J_0)$ such that (x, u) satisfies system (6a)–(6c) for all $t \in J_0$.

The corresponding homogeneous BVP takes the form

$$x' = a(t) x + b(t) u, \qquad u' = -c(t) x - a(t) u,$$

$$t \in (t_1, t_2) \setminus \{\tau_i\},$$

$$x(\tau_i^+) = \alpha_i x(\tau_i^-), \qquad u(\tau_i^+) = -\beta_i x(\tau_i^-) + \alpha_i u(\tau_i^-),$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, p,$$
(8b)

$$x(t_1) = 0, \qquad x(t_2) = 0.$$
 (8c)

Note that if we take

$$a(t) \equiv 0, \qquad b(t) = \frac{1}{p(t)}, \qquad c(t) = q(t),$$

 $f_1(t) \equiv 0, \qquad f_2(t) = f(t),$ (9)

then we obtain as a special case of (6a), (6b), and (6c) the impulsive BVP for second-order differential equations of the form

$$(p(t)x')' + q(t)x = f(t), \quad t \in (t_1, t_2) \setminus \{\tau_i\},$$
 (10a)

$$x\left(\tau_{i}^{+}\right) = \alpha_{i}x\left(\tau_{i}^{-}\right) + a_{i1},\tag{10b}$$

$$\left(px'\right)\left(\tau_{i}^{+}\right) = -\beta_{i}x\left(\tau_{i}^{-}\right) + \alpha_{i}\left(px'\right)\left(\tau_{i}^{-}\right)$$

$$(10c)$$

 $+ a_{i2}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, p,$

$$x(t_1) = A, \qquad x(t_2) = B.$$
 (10d)

To the best of our knowledge although many results have been obtained for linear impulsive boundary value problems by using different techniques, there is little known for the linear 2×2 Hamiltonian systems under impulse effect.

The existence and uniqueness of linear impulsive boundary value problem for the first-order equations are considered in [1–4]. For the second-order case we refer to [5, 6] in which the integral representation of the solution of second order linear impulsive boundary value problems is given by using Green's function and the existence and uniqueness of the solutions are obtained. Variational technique approach for the existence of the solutions of linear and nonlinear impulsive boundary value problems can be found in [7–10]. In [11], the method of upper and lower solutions is employed for the existence of solutions of nonlinear impulsive boundary value problems. For a detailed discussion on boundary value problems for higher-order linear impulsive equations we refer to [12]. Basic theory of impulsive differential equations is contained in the seminal book [13].

Our method of proof is based on Green's function formulation and Lyapunov type inequalities for linear Hamiltonian system under impulse effect. There are many studies on Lyapunov type inequalities and their applications for linear ordinary differential equations [14] and for systems [15–17] as well as for linear impulsive differential equations and systems [18, 19]. However, the use of a Lyapunov type inequality in connection with BVPs seems to be limited.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Lyapunov Type Inequality for Homogeneous Problem. In this section we provide a Lyapunov type inequality to be used for the uniqueness of the inhomogeneous BVP. The obtained inequality is sharper than the one given by the present authors in [20] in the sense that 2|a(t)| is replaced by |a(t)|.

Theorem 1. If the homogeneous BVP (8a), (8b), and (8c) has a real solution (x(t), u(t)) such that $x(t) \neq 0$ on (t_1, t_2) , then one has the Lyapunov type inequality:

$$\exp\left(\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} |a(t)| dt\right) \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} b(t) dt\right] \times \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} c^{+}(t) dt + \sum_{t_{1} \le \tau_{i} < t_{2}} \left(\frac{\beta_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}\right)^{+}\right] \ge 4,$$
(11)

where $c^+(t) = \max\{c(t), 0\}$ and $(\beta_i / \alpha_i)^+ = \max\{\beta_i / \alpha_i, 0\}$.

Proof. Define

$$z(t) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdots \alpha_i} x(t), \qquad v(t) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdots \alpha_i} u(t) \quad (12)$$

for $t \in (\tau_i, \tau_{i+1})$ and i = 0, 1, ..., p, where we put again $\tau_0 = t_1, \tau_{p+1} = t_2$ and make a convention that $\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \cdots \alpha_i = 1$ if i = 0.

It is not difficult to see from (8a), (8b), (8c), and (12) that

$$z' = a(t) z + b(t) v, \qquad v' = -c(t) z - a(t) v, t \in (t_1, t_2) \setminus \{\tau_i\},$$
(13)

$$z(\tau_i^{+}) = z(\tau_i^{-}),$$

$$v(\tau_i^{+}) = -\frac{\beta_i}{\alpha_i} z(\tau_i^{-}) + v(\tau_i^{-}),$$
(14)

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, p,$$

 $z(t_1) = 0, \qquad z(t_2) = 0.$ (15)

Since we assumed that $z(\tau_i) = z(\tau_i^-)$, z(t) is continuous on $[t_1, t_2]$. Moreover, $z' \in \text{PLC}(J_0)$, $z(t_1) = z(t_2) = 0$, and $z(t) \neq 0$ for all $t \in (t_1, t_2)$. We may assume without loss of generality that $z(t) \ge 0$ on (t_1, t_2) .

Using (13) and (14) we obtain

(+)

$$(vz)' = -c(t) z^{2} + b(t) v^{2}, \quad t \neq \tau_{i},$$
 (16)

$$(vz)\left(\tau_{i}^{+}\right)-(vz)\left(\tau_{i}^{-}\right)=-\frac{\beta_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}z^{2}\left(\tau_{i}\right).$$
(17)

Integrating (16) from t_1 to t_2 and using (15) and (17) lead to

$$\sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i < t_2} \frac{\beta_i}{\alpha_i} z^2 \left(\tau_i\right) = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left[b\left(t\right) v^2\left(t\right) - c\left(t\right) z^2\left(t\right) \right] \mathrm{d}t, \quad (18)$$

from which we have

$$\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} b(t) v^{2}(t) dt \leq \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} c^{+}(t) z^{2}(t) dt + \sum_{t_{1} \leq \tau_{i} < t_{2}} \left(\frac{\beta_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}\right)^{+} z^{2}(\tau_{i}).$$
(19)

On the other hand, from the first equation in (13), we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} z(t) \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^t a(u) du\right) \end{bmatrix}' = b(t) v(t) \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^t a(u) du\right),$$
(20)
$$\begin{bmatrix} z(t) \exp\left(\int_{t}^{t_2} a(u) du\right) \end{bmatrix}' = b(t) v(t) \exp\left(\int_{t}^{t_2} a(u) du\right).$$
(21)

Let

$$\max\left\{ |z(t)| : t \in (t_1, t_2) \right\} = z(t_0) > 0.$$
 (22)

If we integrate (20) from t_1 to t_0 , we see that

$$z(t_0) = \int_{t_1}^{t_0} b(t) v(t) \exp\left(\int_t^{t_0} a(u) \, \mathrm{d}u\right) \mathrm{d}t \qquad (23)$$

and so

$$z(t_0) \le \int_{t_1}^{t_0} b(t) |v(t)| \exp\left(\int_t^{t_0} |a(u)| \,\mathrm{d}u\right) \mathrm{d}t.$$
(24)

Using the obvious estimate

$$\int_{t}^{t_{0}} |a(u)| \, \mathrm{d}u \le \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{0}} |a(u)| \, \mathrm{d}u \tag{25}$$

and then applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have

$$z^{2}(t_{0}) \leq \exp\left(2\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{0}}|a(u)|\,\mathrm{d}u\right)\left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{0}}b(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right] \times \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{0}}b(t)\,v^{2}(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right].$$
(26)

Similarly, by integrating (21) from t_0 to t_2 and following the above procedure, we get

$$z^{2}(t_{0}) \leq \exp\left(2\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{2}}|a(u)|\,\mathrm{d}u\right)\left[\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{2}}b(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right] \times \left[\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{2}}b(t)\,v^{2}(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right].$$
(27)

Now we recall the elementary inequality:

$$\frac{x^2}{\alpha} + \frac{y^2}{\beta} \ge 4xy, \quad \alpha, \beta > 0, \ \alpha + \beta = 1$$
(28)

for $x \ge 0$ and $y \ge 0$. In view of (26) and (27) setting

$$\alpha = \frac{\int_{t_1}^{t_0} b(t) dt}{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} b(t) dt}, \qquad \beta = \frac{\int_{t_0}^{t_2} b(t) dt}{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} b(t) dt},$$

$$x = z(t_0) \exp\left(-\int_{t_1}^{t_0} |a(u)| du\right),$$

$$y = z(t_0) \exp\left(-\int_{t_0}^{t_2} |a(u)| du\right)$$
(29)

we have

$$\frac{4z^{2}(t_{0})}{\exp\left(\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}|a(t)|\,\mathrm{d}t\right)} \leq \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}b(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right]\left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}b(t)\,v^{2}(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right].$$
(30)

Combining (19) and (30) results in

$$\frac{4z^{2}(t_{0})}{\exp\left(\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}|a(t)|\,\mathrm{d}t\right)} \leq \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}b(t)\,\mathrm{d}t\right] \qquad (31)$$

$$\times \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}c(t)\,z^{2}(t)\,\mathrm{d}t + \sum_{t_{1}\leq\tau_{i}$$

Finally, since $z(t_0) \ge z(t)$ for $t \in [t_1, t_2]$, from (31) we obtain the desired inequality:

$$\exp\left(\int_{t_1}^{t_2} |a(t)| \,\mathrm{d}t\right) \left[\int_{t_1}^{t_2} b(t) \,\mathrm{d}t\right] \times \left[\int_{t_1}^{t_2} c^+(t) \,\mathrm{d}t + \sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i < t_2} \left(\frac{\beta_i}{\alpha_i}\right)^+\right] \ge 4.$$
(32)

2.2. Green's Function. Here we derive Green's function to be used for the representation of the solutions of the inhomogeneous BVP.

Let

$$\Phi(t) = \begin{bmatrix} x_1(t) & x_2(t) \\ u_1(t) & u_2(t) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \Phi(0) = I$$
(33)

be a fundamental matrix for (8a), (8b) and set

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad N = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{34}$$

Define the rectangles

$$R_{11} = [t_1, \tau_1] \times [t_1, \tau_1],$$

$$R_{i1} = (\tau_{i-1}, \tau_i] \times [t_1, \tau_1], \quad i = 2, 3, \dots, p+1,$$

$$R_{1j} = [t_1, \tau_1] \times (\tau_{j-1}, \tau_j], \quad j = 2, 3, \dots, p+1,$$

$$R_{ij} = (\tau_{i-1}, \tau_i] \times (\tau_{j-1}, \tau_j], \quad i, j = 2, 3, \dots, p+1,$$
(35)

and the triangles

$$T^{u} = \{(t, s) \in [t_{1}, t_{2}] \times [t_{1}, t_{2}] : s > t\},$$

$$T^{l} = \{(t, s) \in [t_{1}, t_{2}] \times [t_{1}, t_{2}] : s < t\},$$

$$T^{u}_{ii} = \{(t, s) \in R_{ii} : s > t\}, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, ..., p + 1,$$

$$T^{l}_{ii} = \{(t, s) \in R_{ii} : s < t\}, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, ..., p + 1.$$
(36)

Green's function (pair) and its properties are given in the next theorem.

Theorem 2. Suppose that the homogeneous BVP (8a)–(8c) has only the trivial solution. Let

$$K = -[M\Phi(t_1) + N\Phi(t_2)]^{-1}N\Phi(t_2).$$
(37)

Note that the inverse of matrix $M\Phi(t_1)+N\Phi(t_2)$ exists in view of the assumption (see also the proof of Theorem 4).

Then the pair of functions

$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} \Phi(t) (I+K) \Phi^{-1}(s), & s < t, \\ \Phi(t) K \Phi^{-1}(s), & s \ge t, \end{cases}$$

$$\widetilde{G}(t,\tau_{i}^{+}) = \begin{cases} \Phi(t) (I+K) \Phi^{-1}(\tau_{i}^{+}), & \tau_{i} < t, \\ \Phi(t) K \Phi^{-1}(\tau_{i}^{+}), & \tau_{i} \ge t, \end{cases}$$
(38)

constitutes Green's function for (6a), (6b), and (6c). Moreover, we have the following properties:

(G1) G(t, s) is continuous and bounded on R_{ij} ,

- (G2) $(\partial G(t, s))/\partial t$ is continuous and bounded on the rectangles R_{ij} with $i \neq j$ and on the triangles T_{ii}^{u} and T_{ij}^{l} ,
- (G3) G(t, s) satisfies the following jump conditions:

(a)
$$G(\tau_i^+, \tau_i) - G(\tau_i^-, \tau_i) = B_i + (B_i - I)G(\tau_i^-, \tau_i)$$

where $B_i = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_i & 0\\ -\beta_i & \alpha_i \end{bmatrix}$,

(b)
$$G(s^+, s) - G(s^-, s) = I, \ s \neq \tau_i,$$

- (c) $(\partial G(s^+, s)/\partial t) (\partial G(s^-, s)/\partial t) = JH(s), s \neq \tau_i,$
- (G4) G(t, s), considered as a function of t, is left continuous and satisfies

$$y' = JH(t) y, \quad t \in J_s \setminus \{\tau_i\},$$

$$y(\tau_i^+) = B_i y(\tau_i^-), \quad i \in \{i : \tau_i \in J_s\},$$

$$My(t_1) + Ny(t_2) = 0,$$

(39)

where J_s is any of the intervals $[t_1, s)$ or $(s, t_2]$,

$$(G5) \quad \Delta|_{t=\tau_i} \widetilde{G}(t,\tau_i^+) = \widetilde{G}(\tau_i^+,\tau_i^+) - \widetilde{G}(\tau_i^-,\tau_i^+) = (B_i - I)\widetilde{G}(\tau_i^-,\tau_i^+),$$

(G6) $\overline{G}(t, s)$, considered as a function of t, is left continuous and satisfies (39).

Proof. (G1) and (G2) are trivial. Let us consider (G3)(a) follows from

$$G(\tau_{i}^{+},\tau_{i}) - G(\tau_{i}^{-},\tau_{i})$$

= $\Phi(\tau_{i}^{+})(I + K) \Phi^{-1}(\tau_{i}) - \Phi(\tau_{i}^{-}) K \Phi^{-1}(\tau_{i})$ (40)
= $B_{i} + (B_{i} - I) G(\tau_{i}^{-},\tau_{i}).$

To see (b), we write for $s \neq \tau_i$,

$$G(s^{+}, s) - G(s^{-}, s) = \Phi(s^{+})(I + K)\Phi^{-1}(s) - \Phi(s^{-})K\Phi^{-1}(s) = I.$$
(41)

For (c), let $t \neq \tau_i$; then

$$\frac{\partial G\left(t,s\right)}{\partial t} = \begin{cases} \Phi'\left(t\right)\left(I+K\right)\Phi^{-1}\left(s\right)\\ = JH\left(t\right)\Phi\left(t\right)\left(I+K\right)\Phi^{-1}\left(s\right), \quad s < t, \\ \Phi'\left(t\right)K\Phi^{-1}\left(s\right)\\ = JH\left(t\right)\Phi\left(t\right)K\Phi^{-1}\left(s\right), \quad s \ge t, \end{cases}$$
$$\frac{\partial G\left(s^{+},s\right)}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial G\left(s^{-},s\right)}{\partial t} = JH\left(s\right)\Phi\left(s\right)\left(I+K\right)\Phi^{-1}\left(s\right)$$

$$- JH(s) \Phi(s) K \Phi^{-1}(s) = JH(s).$$
(42)

Next, we consider (G4). By definition, it is easy to see that G(t, s) is left continuous function at $t = \tau_i$. Let us consider the interval $[t_1, s)$. The later is similar. The first equation in (39) is direct consequences of (c) and the definition of G(t, s). Clearly,

$$G(\tau_{i}^{+}, s) = \Phi(\tau_{i}^{+}) K \Phi^{-1}(s)$$

$$= B_{i} \Phi(\tau_{i}^{-}) K \Phi^{-1}(s) = B_{i} G(\tau_{i}^{-}, s),$$

$$MG(t_{1}, s) + NG(t_{2}, s)$$

$$= M \Phi(t_{1}) K \Phi^{-1}(s)$$

$$+ N \Phi(t_{2}) (I + K) \Phi^{-1}(s)$$

$$= [M \Phi(t_{1}) + N \Phi(t_{2})] K \Phi^{-1}(s)$$

$$+ N \Phi(t_{2}) \Phi^{-1}(s) = 0.$$
(43)

The proofs of (G5) and (G6) are similar to (a) and (G4), respectively. $\hfill \Box$

Remark 3. One can easily rewrite Green's function (pair) in terms of the solutions of system (8a), (8b). Indeed,

$$K = -\left[M\Phi(t_{1}) + N\Phi(t_{2})\right]^{-1}N\Phi(t_{2})$$

$$= \frac{1}{x_{1}(t_{1})x_{2}(t_{2}) - x_{1}(t_{2})x_{2}(t_{1})}$$

$$\times \begin{bmatrix} x_{1}(t_{2})x_{2}(t_{1}) & x_{2}(t_{1})x_{2}(t_{2}) \\ -x_{1}(t_{1})x_{1}(t_{2}) & -x_{1}(t_{1})x_{2}(t_{2}) \end{bmatrix},$$
(44)

and since

$$\det \Phi (t) = \det \Phi (0) \exp \left(\int_0^t \operatorname{trace} (JH(s)) \, ds \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^p \det B_i = \prod_{i=1}^p \alpha_i^2,$$
(45)

we may write

$$\Phi^{-1}(t) = \frac{1}{\det \Phi(t)} \begin{bmatrix} u_2(t) & -x_2(t) \\ -u_1(t) & x_1(t) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \left(\prod_{i=1}^p \alpha_i^{-2}\right) \begin{bmatrix} u_2(t) & -x_2(t) \\ -u_1(t) & x_1(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(46)

3. The Main Result

Our main result is the following theorem.

Theorem 4. Let (i)–(iii) hold. If

$$\exp\left(\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} |a(t)| dt\right) \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} b(t) dt\right] \\ \times \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} c^{+}(t) dt + \sum_{t_{1} \le \tau_{i} < t_{2}} \left(\frac{\beta_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}\right)^{+}\right]$$
(47)
< 4.

then BVP (6a), (6b), and (6c) has a unique solution (x(t), u(t)). Moreover, y = (x(t), u(t)) is expressible as

$$y(t) = w(t) + \int_{t_1}^{t_2} G(t,s) f(s) \, ds + \sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i < t_2} \widetilde{G}(t,\tau_i^+) \, a_i, \quad (48)$$

where

$$w(t) = \Phi(t) \left[M \Phi(t_1) + N \Phi(t_2) \right]^{-1} \eta, \quad \eta = (A, B)^T, \quad (49)$$

and Green's function pair (G, \widetilde{G}) is given by (38).

Proof. We first prove the uniqueness. It suffices to show that the homogeneous BVP (8a)–(8c) has only the trivial solution. Let $x(t) \neq 0$ on (t_1, t_2) . By Theorem 1, we see that Lyapunov type inequality (11) holds contradicting the inequality (47). Thus x(t) = 0 for all $t \in [t_1, t_2]$. Moreover, by (6a), (6b), and (6c) we have

$$b(t) u = 0, \quad t \neq \tau_i, \tag{50}$$

which results in u(t) = 0 for $t \neq \tau_i$. Taking limit we see that $u(\tau_i^{\pm}) = 0$. As a result we obtain (x(t), u(t)) = (0, 0) for all $t \in [t_1, t_2]$. This completes the uniqueness of the solutions.

For the existence, we start with the variation of parameters formula and write the general solution of system (6a), (6b) as

$$y(t) = \Phi(t) c + \int_{t_1}^t \Phi(t) \Phi^{-1}(s) f(s) ds + \sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i < t} \Phi(t) \Phi^{-1}(\tau_i^+) a_i.$$
(51)

Clearly, the boundary condition is satisfied if

$$[M\Phi(t_{1}) + N\Phi(t_{2})]c$$

= $\eta - N\Phi(t_{2})$
× $\left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \Phi^{-1}(s) f(s) ds + \sum_{t_{1} \le \tau_{i} < t_{2}} \Phi^{-1}(\tau_{i}^{+}) a_{i}\right],$ (52)

where $\eta = (A, B)^T$.

Since we have the uniqueness of solutions, the matrix $M\Phi(t_1) + N\Phi(t_2)$ must have an inverse. Setting

$$K = -[M\Phi(t_1) + N\Phi(t_2)]^{-1}N\Phi(t_2),$$
 (53)

we may solve c from (52) uniquely:

$$c = \left[M\Phi(t_1) + N\Phi(t_2)\right]^{-1}\eta + K\left[\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \Phi^{-1}(s) f(s) ds + \sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i \le t_2} \Phi^{-1}(\tau_i^+) a_i\right].$$
 (54)

Hence,

$$y(t) = \Phi(t) \left[M\Phi(t_1) + N\Phi(t_2) \right]^{-1} \eta + \Phi(t) (I + K) \times \left[\int_{t_1}^t \Phi^{-1}(s) f(s) ds + \sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i < t} \Phi^{-1}(\tau_i^+) a_i \right] + \Phi(t) K \left[\int_{t}^{t_2} \Phi^{-1}(s) f(s) ds + \sum_{t \le \tau_i < t_2} \Phi^{-1}(\tau_i^+) a_i \right].$$
(55)

Therefore the unique solution of the BVP (6a)-(6c) can be expressed as

$$y(t) = w(t) + \int_{t_1}^{t_2} G(t, s) f(s) ds + \sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i < t_2} \widetilde{G}(t, \tau_i^+) a_i.$$
(56)

Let us now consider the BVP (10a), (10b), (10c), and (10d). In this case it is not difficult to see that the corresponding Green's function (pair) becomes

$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} \psi(t) (I+K) \Psi^{-1}(s) \frac{1}{p(s)} e_2, & s < t, \\ \psi(t) K \Psi^{-1}(s) \frac{1}{p(s)} e_2, & s \ge t, \end{cases}$$
(57)
$$\widetilde{G}(t,\tau_i^+) = \begin{cases} \psi(t) (I+K) \Psi^{-1}(\tau_i^+), & \tau_i < t, \\ \psi(t) K \Psi^{-1}(\tau_i^+), & \tau_i \ge t, \end{cases}$$

where $\psi(t) = [\psi_1, \psi_2]$ is the first row of the (Wronskian) matrix:

$$\Psi(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1}(t) & \psi_{2}(t) \\ \psi'_{1}(t) & \psi'_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix},$$

$$K = -\left[M\Psi(t_{1}) + N\Psi(t_{2})\right]^{-1}N\Psi(t_{2}),$$

$$e_{2} = [0, 1]^{T}.$$
(58)

Corollary 5. Suppose that p and c are piece-wise continuous on $[t_1, t_2]$, p(t) > 0, and $\alpha_i \neq 0$ for i = 1, 2, ..., p. If

$$\left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \frac{1}{p(t)} dt\right] \left[\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} c^{+}(t) dt + \sum_{t_{1} \le \tau_{i} < t_{2}} \left(\frac{\beta_{i}}{\alpha_{i}}\right)^{+}\right] < 4, \quad (59)$$

then the BVP (10a), (10b), (10c), and (10d) has a unique solution x(t) which is expressible as

$$x(t) = w(t) + \int_{t_1}^{t_2} G(t,s) f(s) \, ds + \sum_{t_1 \le \tau_i < t_2} \widetilde{G}(t,\tau_i^+) \, a_i, \quad (60)$$

where

$$w(t) = \psi(t) \left[M \Psi(t_1) + N \Psi(t_2) \right]^{-1} \eta,$$
(61)

and Green's function pair (G, \widetilde{G}) is given by (57).

Remark 6. The results in this work are new even if the impulses are absent. The statements of the corresponding theorems are left to the reader.

References

- J. J. Nieto, "Basic theory for nonresonance impulsive periodic problems of first order," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 205, no. 2, pp. 423–433, 1997.
- [2] J. Li, J. J. Nieto, and J. Shen, "Impulsive periodic boundary value problems of first-order differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 325, no. 1, pp. 226– 236, 2007.
- [3] J. J. Nieto, "Periodic boundary value problems for first-order impulsive ordinary differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications A*, vol. 51, no. 7, pp. 1223–1232, 2002.

- [4] J. J. Nieto, "Impulsive resonance periodic problems of first order," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 489–493, 2002.
- [5] A. Cabada, J. J. Nieto, D. Franco, and S. I. Trofimchuk, "A generalization of the monotone method for second order periodic boundary value problem with impulses at fixed points," *Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 145–158, 2000.
- [6] J. Li and J. Shen, "Periodic boundary value problems for second order differential equations with impulses," *Nonlinear Studies*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 391–400, 2005.
- [7] J. J. Nieto and D. O'Regan, "Variational approach to impulsive differential equations," *Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 680–690, 2009.
- [8] J. J. Nieto, "Variational formulation of a damped Dirichlet impulsive problem," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 940–942, 2010.
- [9] J. Xiao and J. J. Nieto, "Variational approach to some damped Dirichlet nonlinear impulsive differential equations," *Journal of the Franklin Institute*, vol. 348, no. 2, pp. 369–377, 2011.
- [10] M. Galewski, "On variational impulsive boundary value problems," *Central European Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 1969–1980, 2012.
- [11] P. W. Eloe and J. Henderson, "A boundary value problem for a system of ordinary differential equations with impulse effects," *The Rocky Mountain Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 785–799, 1997.
- [12] Ö. Uğur and M. U. Akhmet, "Boundary value problems for higher order linear impulsive differential equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 319, no. 1, pp. 139– 156, 2006.
- [13] A. M. Samoilenko and N. A. Perestyuk, *Impulsive Differential Equations*, World Scientific, Singapore, 1995.
- [14] A. Liapounoff, "Problème général de la stabilité du mouvement," Annales de la Faculté des Sciences de Toulouse pour les Sciences Mathématiques et les Sciences Physiques. Série 2, vol. 9, pp. 203– 474, 1907, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 17, pp. 203–474, 1947.
- [15] G. Sh. Guseinov and B. Kaymakçalan, "Lyapunov inequalities for discrete linear Hamiltonian systems," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 45, no. 6–9, pp. 1399–1416, 2003.
- [16] X. Wang, "Stability criteria for linear periodic Hamiltonian systems," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 367, no. 1, pp. 329–336, 2010.
- [17] X.-H. Tang and M. Zhang, "Lyapunov inequalities and stability for linear Hamiltonian systems," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 252, no. 1, pp. 358–381, 2012.
- [18] G. Sh. Guseinov and A. Zafer, "Stability criterion for second order linear impulsive differential equations with periodic coefficients," *Mathematische Nachrichten*, vol. 281, no. 9, pp. 1273–1282, 2008.
- [19] G. Sh. Guseinov and A. Zafer, "Stability criteria for linear periodic impulsive Hamiltonian systems," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 335, no. 2, pp. 1195–1206, 2007.
- [20] Z. Kayar and A. Zafer, "Stability criteria for linear Hamiltonian systems under impulsive perturbations," http://arxiv.org/abs/ 1101.3094.

Research Article Oscillation of Half-Linear Differential Equations with Delay

Simona Fišnarová and Robert Mařík

Department of Mathematics, Mendel University in Brno, Zemědělská 1, 613 00 Brno, Czech Republic

Correspondence should be addressed to Robert Mařík; marik@mendelu.cz

Received 10 July 2013; Accepted 30 October 2013

Academic Editor: Miroslava Růžičková

Copyright © 2013 S. Fišnarová and R. Mařík. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We study the half-linear delay differential equation $(r(t)\Phi(x'(t)))' + c(t)\Phi(x(\tau(t))) = 0$, $\Phi(x) := |x|^{p-2}x$, p > 1. We establish a new a priori bound for the nonoscillatory solution of this equation and utilize this bound to derive new oscillation criteria for this equation in terms of oscillation criteria for an ordinary half-linear differential equation. The presented results extend and improve previous results of other authors. An extension to neutral equations is also provided.

1. Introduction

In this paper we study oscillatory properties of the delay second-order half-linear differential equation

$$(r(t) \Phi(x'(t)))' + c(t) \Phi(x(\tau(t))) = 0,$$

$$\Phi(x) := |x|^{p-2}x, \quad p > 1.$$
(1)

We suppose that r, c, τ are continuous functions defined on $[t_0, \infty)$ such that r(t) > 0, c(t) > 0 for large $t, \tau(t) \le t$ for all t, and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tau(t) = \infty$. By q we denote the conjugate number to the number p, that is, q = p/(p-1).

Under the solution of (1) we understand any differentiable function x(t) which does not identically equal zero eventually, such that $r(t)\Phi(x'(t))$ is differentiable and (1) holds for large *t*.

The solution of (1) is said to be oscillatory if it has infinitely many zeros tending to infinity. Equation (1) is said to be oscillatory if all its solutions are oscillatory. In the opposite case, that is, if there exists an eventually positive solution of (1), (1) is said to be nonoscillatory.

It is well known that the behavior of delay differential equations is very different from the behavior of ordinary differential equations. Among others, the Sturm theory fails and oscillatory solutions may coexist with nonoscillatory solutions.

In certain special cases, it is possible to compare asymptotics of (1) with some other simpler equation. One of the typical objects for this comparison is the first order delay differential equation; see, for example, [1-3] for results on comparing (1) or its extension in the form of neutral differential equation with the first order delay differential inequality. Another simpler object than (1) suitable for comparison with (1) is the half-linear second-order ordinary differential equation

$$(r(t)\Phi(x'(t)))' + c(t)\Phi(x(t)) = 0;$$
 (2)

see, for example, [4–7]. Note that some of these papers deal with a slightly more general equation

$$(r(t)\Phi(x'(t)))' + f(t,x(t),x(\tau(t))) = 0.$$
(3)

However, if this more general equation is considered, conditions imposed on the nonlinearity f usually state that (3) is a kind of majorant of (1) (in the sense used in the Sturmian theory of ordinary differential equations) and allow to extend the results readily from (1) to (3). An example of such conditions is

$$\frac{f(t, u, v)}{\Phi(v)} \ge c(t) \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{f(t, u, v)}{\Phi(u)} \ge c(t) \tag{4}$$

for some (positive) function c(t) and all positive numbers u, v. Note also that some of the above cited papers deal more generally with neutral differential equations and (or) dynamic equations on time scales.

In this paper we compare (1) with the ordinary halflinear equation of the form (2). To make our paper more readable we restrict our attention to differential equations rather than equations on time scales. An extension of our results to neutral differential equations is provided at the end of this paper.

Let us recall the Riccati technique, which is one of the methods frequently used in oscillation theory of both (1) and (2) (it is easy to see that if $\tau(t) = t$, then (1) reduces to (2)). Suppose that (1) is nonoscillatory and let x be its eventually positive solution. Then the function $w(t) = r(t)\Phi(x'(t))/\Phi(x(t))$ satisfies the Riccati type equation

$$w'(t) + c(t) \Phi\left(\frac{x(\tau(t))}{x(t)}\right) + (p-1)r^{1-q}(t)|w(t)|^{q} = 0.$$
(5)

The following lemma plays a crucial role in the qualitative theory of half-linear second order ordinary differential equations.

Lemma 1 (see [8, Theorem 2.2.1]). Denote $\mathscr{L}[x] = (r(t)\Phi(x'(t)))' + c(t)\Phi(x(t))$ and $\mathscr{R}[w] = w' + c(t) + (p-1)r^{1-q}(t)|w|^q$. The following statements are equivalent:

- (i) (2) is nonoscillatory,
- (ii) there is a ∈ R and a continuously differentiable function w : [a,∞) → R such that

$$R[w](t) = 0 \quad for \ t \in [a, \infty), \tag{6}$$

(iii) there is $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and a continuously differentiable function $w : [a, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$R[w](t) \le 0 \quad \text{for } t \in [a, \infty), \tag{7}$$

(iv) there is $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and a positive function $x : [a, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ with $r\Phi(x')$ continuously differentiable such that

$$\mathscr{L}[x](t) \le 0 \quad \text{for } t \in [a, \infty).$$
(8)

As we show below, the assumptions used in the paper ensure that the positive solutions are eventually increasing and concave down. The main step when we compare the ordinary half-linear differential equation and its delay counterpart (1) is to reduce (5) to the Riccati inequality of the form (7). The usual approach on how to remove the term $\Phi(x(\tau(t))/x(t))$ from (5) is the following lemma, originally proved in [9] and then used in many subsequent papers.

Lemma 2. Suppose that x is a function defined for some T > 0 such that $x(t) \in C^2[T, \infty)$, x(t) > 0, x'(t) > 0, and $x''(t) \le 0$ for $t \ge T$. Then, for each $k \in (0, 1)$ there exists $T_k \ge T$ such that

$$\frac{x(\tau(t))}{x(t)} \ge k \frac{\tau(t)}{t} \quad \text{for } t \ge T_k.$$
(9)

Note that the proof of Lemma 2 does not exploit the fact that *x* is a solution of (1) and the lemma holds for any positive increasing concave down function. The proof of (9) can be based on the fact that if $x''(t) \le 0$ on $[T, \infty)$ and $x(T) \ge 0$, then x(t)/(t-T) is decreasing with respect to *t* on $[T, \infty)$ (see [10, Theorem 128]). Thus

$$\frac{x(\tau(t))}{x(t)} \ge \frac{\tau(t) - T}{t - T} = \frac{\tau(t)}{t} \frac{1 - (T/\tau(t))}{1 - (T/t)},$$
 (10)

where $T \le \tau(t) \le t$. Removing the dependence on *T* may be implemented by using of a constant $k \in (0, 1)$. The presence of one of the constants *T* or *k* in the estimates (9) and (10) is an important attribute of these estimates. As a consequence, the resulting integral oscillation citeria have to be formulated either with the constant $k \in (0, 1)$, or as interval-type or Kamenev-type criteria, where the dependence on *T* is usually not disturbing. A typical result looks like the following Theorem A.

Theorem A (see [11, Theorem 2.6]). Equation (1) with $r \equiv 1$ is oscillatory if the differential equation

$$\left(\Phi\left(x'\left(t\right)\right)\right)' + \lambda c\left(t\right)\left(\frac{\tau\left(t\right)}{t}\right)^{p-1}\Phi\left(x\left(t\right)\right) = 0 \qquad (11)$$

is oscillatory for some $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ *.*

As another particular example of a criterion which suffers from the presence of the constants $m_i \in (0, 1)$ see [12, Theorem 2.1].

The above mentioned disadvantage has been removed for the linear delay equation

$$x''(t) + c(t) x(\tau(t)) = 0$$
(12)

under the condition

$$\int_0^\infty sc\left(s\right) ds = \infty. \tag{13}$$

Opluštil and Šremr utilized in recent papers [13, 14] (12) to derive a sharper estimate than the estimate from Lemma 2. Note that imposing (13) on c does not yield any restriction in oscillation criteria for (12) since (12) is already known to be nonoscillatory if (13) fails. The same approach has been used for linear dynamic equations on time scales by Erbe, Peterson and Saker in [15].

The aim of this paper is to derive a result analogical to the estimate from [13, 14] and make it available also for delay half-linear differential equation. The nonlinearity of the equation causes, that the method from [13, 14] does not extend to (1) directly and we have to use an indirect approach which originates in the fact that the half-linear extension does not yield (13) as its special case, but includes the term $\tau(s)$ instead of *s*. This estimate suggests a new tool which can be used to improve some oscillation criteria for (1).

2. Preliminaries

The proof of the following statement can be found in [16].

Lemma 3. Let x be an eventually positive solution of (1). If $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} r^{1-q}(t) dt = \infty$, then x'(t) > 0 for large t. Moreover, if $r'(t) \ge 0$, then $x''(t) \le 0$ for large t.

The following lemma shows that under certain additional conditions we can utilize (1) to derive a sharper version of the estimate from Lemma 2.

Lemma 4. Suppose that (1) is nonoscillatory, and let x(t) > 0 be a solution of (1). If the conditions

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{1-q}(t) dt = \infty, \quad r'(t) \ge 0 \text{ for large } t, \qquad (14)$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} c(t) \tau^{p-1}(t) dt = \infty$$
(15)

hold, then there exists $T \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\frac{x\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)}{x\left(t\right)} \ge \frac{\tau\left(t\right)}{t}, \quad t \ge T.$$
(16)

Proof. Conditions (14) and Lemma 3 imply that there exists T_0 such that x(t) > 0, x'(t) > 0, $x''(t) \le 0$ for $t \ge T_0$.

We show that

$$tx'(t) - x(t) \le 0$$
 (17)

for large t. Since $(tx'(t) - x(t))' = tx''(t) \le 0$, it is sufficient to show that (17) holds for some $T_1 \ge T_0$. Suppose, by contradiction, that tx'(t) - x(t) > 0 for all $t \ge T_0$. Solving this inequality we get x(t) > Kt for $t \ge T_0$, where $K = x(T_0)/T_0 >$ 0. Hence, there exists $T_2 \ge T_0$ such that

$$\Phi(x(\tau(t))) \ge K^{p-1}(\tau(t))^{p-1}, \quad t \ge T_2.$$
(18)

Since x is a solution of (1), we have

$$(r(t) \Phi(x'(t)))' = -c(t) \Phi(x(\tau(t)))$$

$$\leq -K^{p-1}c(t)(\tau(t))^{p-1}, \qquad (19)$$

$$t \geq T_2.$$

Integrating the last inequality from T_2 to t we obtain

$$r(t) \Phi(x'(t)) - r(T_2) \Phi(x'(T_2))$$

$$\leq -K^{p-1} \int_{T_2}^t c(s) (\tau(s))^{p-1} ds,$$
(20)

and from the fact that $r(t)\Phi(x'(t))$ is positive we get the following finite upper bound for the integral of $c(s)(\tau(s))^{p-1}$:

$$K^{p-1} \int_{T_2}^{t} c(s) (\tau(s))^{p-1} ds$$

$$\leq r(T_2) \Phi(x'(T_2)) - r(t) \Phi(x'(t)) < r(T_2) \Phi(x'(T_2))$$
(21)

for $t \ge T_2$. However the condition (15) ensures that the left hand side of this inequality is unbounded. This contradiction proves (17) for large *t*.

Hence there exists $T_1 \ge T_0$ such that (17) holds for $t \ge T_1$. This inequality together with the computation

$$\left(\frac{x(t)}{t}\right)' = \frac{tx'(t) - x(t)}{t^2} \le 0, \quad t \ge T_1,$$
(22)

shows that the function x(t)/t is decreasing on (T_1, ∞) . This fact and the fact that $\tau(t) \le t$ reveal that there exists $T \ge T_1$ such that

$$\frac{x(t)}{t} \le \frac{x(\tau(t))}{\tau(t)}, \quad t \ge T,$$
(23)

which is equivalent to (16).

3. Oscillation of Delay Differential Equation

Theorem 5. *Suppose that conditions* (14) *and* (15) *hold. If the ordinary differential equation*

$$(r(t)\Phi(x'(t)))' + c(t)\left(\frac{\tau(t)}{t}\right)^{p-1}\Phi(x(t)) = 0$$
 (24)

is oscillatory, then (1) is also oscillatory.

Proof. Suppose, by contradiction, that (1) is nonoscillatory and (24) is oscillatory. Let x be an eventually positive solution of (1). Using Lemma 4 we see that x satisfies the inequality

$$(r(t)\Phi(x'(t)))' + c(t)\left(\frac{\tau(t)}{t}\right)^{p-1}\Phi(x(t)) \le 0$$
 (25)

and hence, using equivalence between parts (i) and (iv) of Lemma 1, we see that (24) is nonoscillatory which contradicts our assumptions. $\hfill\square$

Remark 6. The oscillation criterion from Theorem 5 is general in the sense that the oscillation is given in terms of oscillation of a certain half-linear differential equation rather than in terms of explicit conditions on the coefficients of the equation. Most of the related papers continue the proofs by utilizing techniques used in the theory of half-linear ordinary differential equations (often simply copy of the proofs of known oscillation citeria) to reach effective conditions for oscillation. However, we feel our approach as an advantage, since it allows to utilize arbitrary from large family of oscillation criteria for half-linear oscillation equations to detect oscillation of delay equation. See also [8] for a comprehensive survey on oscillation criteria known up to 2005.

Remark 7. Note that a similar result like Theorem 5 can be proved also without Lemma 4 and using Lemma 2 instead. This results in a comparison of (1) with the equation

$$\left(r\left(t\right)\Phi\left(x'\left(t\right)\right)\right)'+c\left(t\right)\lambda\left(\frac{\tau\left(t\right)}{t}\right)^{p-1}\Phi\left(x\left(t\right)\right)=0,\quad(26)$$

where λ is a real parameter which satisfies $\lambda \in (0, 1)$. (Note that for $r \equiv 1$ we get Theorem A.) Equation (24) can be viewed

in a certain sense as a continuation of (26) with respect to λ to the border value $\lambda = 1$. Note that the problems related to oscillation of equation of the type (26) and dependence of oscillatory properties on the parameter λ are referred to as conditional oscillation. In general, oscillation of (26) implies oscillation of (24), but the opposite implication need not be true in general, see the paper [17] which (based on the results from [18]) suggests a method on how to construct a pair of equations of the type (24) and (26) with (24) oscillatory and (26) nonoscillatory.

Remark 8. Theorem 5 extends Theorem A, where oscillation of (1) is deduced from oscillation of (26). The following example shows that this extension is nonempty.

Example 9. Consider the perturbed Euler type half-linear delay differential equation

$$\left(\Phi\left(x'\right)\right)' + \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^{p} \left(\frac{1}{t^{p}} + \frac{\mu}{t^{p}\ln t}\right)$$

$$\times \left(\frac{t}{\tau\left(t\right)}\right)^{p-1} \Phi\left(x\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right) = 0,$$
(27)

where $\mu > 0$ is real constant. According to Theorem 5, (27) is oscillatory if

$$\left(\Phi\left(x'\right)\right)' + \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^{p} \left(\frac{1}{t^{p}} + \frac{\mu}{t^{p}\ln t}\right) \Phi\left(x\left(t\right)\right) = 0 \quad (28)$$

is oscillatory. Following [8, Theorem 5.2.2] (see also [19]) we treat (28) as a perturbation of the nonoscillatory equation

$$\left(\Phi\left(x'\right)\right)' + \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^p \frac{1}{t^p} \Phi\left(x\right) = 0$$
⁽²⁹⁾

with principal solution $h(t) = t^{(p-1)/p}$. A simple computation shows

$$\int^{\infty} \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^{p} \frac{\mu}{t^{p} \ln t} t^{p-1} dt = \infty$$
(30)

hence (28) is oscillatory by [8, Theorem 5.2.2]. Consequently, (27) is oscillatory for every μ .

We claim that the oscillation of (27) cannot be proved with Theorem A. Really, in our example (11) becomes

$$\left(\Phi\left(x'\right)\right)' + \lambda \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^{p} \left(\frac{1}{t^{p}} + \frac{\mu}{t^{p}\ln t}\right) \Phi\left(x\left(t\right)\right) = 0, \quad (31)$$

where $\lambda \in (0, 1)$. This equation is nonoscillatory for every $\mu > 0$ by Kneser type nonoscillation criterion [8, Theorem 1.4.5], and thus Theorem A fails to apply.

4. Oscillation of Neutral Differential Equation

In this section we use a slight modification of the estimates from the first part of the paper to derive similar results for the second order neutral differential equation

$$(r(t)\Phi(z'(t)))' + c(t)\Phi(x(\tau(t))) = 0,$$
 (32)

where

$$z(t) = x(t) + a(t)x(\theta(t)), \qquad (33)$$

Similarly as for (1), if x is a solution of (32) on $[t_0, \infty)$ such that z(t) is positive on $[t_0, \infty)$, then the function $w(t) = r(t)(\Phi(z'(t))/\Phi(z(t)))$ satisfies the Riccati type equation

$$w' + c(t) \Phi\left(\frac{x(\tau(t))}{z(t)}\right) + (p-1)r^{1-q}(t)|w|^{q} = 0 \quad (34)$$

on $[t_0, \infty)$.

Similarly like for the delay equation, the positive solution is increasing and concave down. More precisely, the following lemma holds. For linear version of this lemma see [2, Lemma 1] and for $p \ge 2$ see [1, Lemma 2.1].

Lemma 10. Let x(t) be an eventually nonoscillatory solution of (32). If $\int_{0}^{\infty} r^{1-q}(t) dt = \infty$, then the corresponding function $z(t) = x(t) + a(t)x(\theta(t))$ satisfies

$$z(t) > 0, \qquad z'(t) > 0$$
 (35)

eventually. Moreover, if $r'(t) \ge 0$, then z''(t) < 0 for large t.

Proof. The proof is essentially the same as the proof of [1, Lemma 2.1]. We just relax the restriction on p.

Without loss of generality we can suppose that x is eventually positive solution of (32). There exists $T \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $x(t), x(\tau(t))$ and $x(\theta(t))$ are positive on (T, ∞) and

$$(r(t)\Phi(z'(t)))' = -c(t)\Phi(x(\tau(t))) < 0$$
 (36)

for $t \in (T, \infty)$. Hence, $r(t)\Phi(z'(t))$ is decreasing and either

$$\Phi\left(z'\left(t\right)\right) > 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \Phi\left(z'\left(t\right)\right) < 0 \tag{37}$$

for large *t*.

Suppose that there exists $T_1 > T$ such that $\Phi(z'(t)) < 0$ for $t \ge T_1$. There exists a positive constant M such that

$$r(t) \Phi(z'(t)) < -M < 0,$$

$$z'(t) < -\Phi^{-1}(M) r^{1-q}(t)$$
(38)

for $t \ge T_1$. Integrating this inequality over the interval (T_1, t) we get

$$z(t) \le z(T_1) - \Phi^{-1}(M) \int_{T_1}^t r^{1-q}(s) \, ds.$$
 (39)

Letting $t \to \infty$ we have a negative upper bound for the function z and large t. However, the positivity of both x(t) and $x(\theta(t))$ implies positivity of z. This contradiction proves that $\Phi(z'(t)) > 0$ and z'(t) > 0 eventually. If r'(t) > 0, then

$$\begin{aligned} & |r'(t) \ge 0, \text{ def} \\ & 0 > \left(r(t) \Phi\left(z'(t) \right) \right)' \\ & = r'(t) \Phi\left(z'(t) \right) + r(t) \left(p - 1 \right) \left| z'(t) \right|^{p-2} z''(t) \quad (40) \\ & \ge r(t) \left(p - 1 \right) \left| z'(t) \right|^{p-2} z''(t), \end{aligned}$$

and hence z''(t) < 0.

Lemma 11. Suppose that x is an eventually positive nonoscillatory solution of (32) and z is the corresponding function defined by (33). If $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} r^{1-q}(t) dt = \infty$, then

$$x\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right) \ge \left[1 - a\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)\right] z\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right) \tag{41}$$

eventually.

Proof. According to Lemma 10 there exists T such that

$$x(\theta(\theta(t))) > 0, \qquad z(t) > 0, \qquad z'(t) > 0$$
 (42)

holds for $t \ge \tau(T)$. From here and from the fact that z is increasing and θ is delay we have

$$z(t) = x(t) + a(t)x(\theta(t)) \le x(t) + a(t)z(\theta(t))$$

$$\le x(t) + a(t)z(t).$$
(43)

From here we conclude

$$z(t)(1-a(t)) \le x(t)$$
 (44)

and hence (41) holds for t > T.

The following lemma is an alternative to Lemma 4 for neutral differential equations.

Lemma 12. Suppose that (32) is nonoscillatory and x(t) is an eventually positive solution of (32). If

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} c(s) \left(1 - a(\tau(s))\right)^{p-1} (\tau(s))^{p-1} ds = \infty$$
 (45)

and (14) holds, then the function z(t)/t is decreasing eventually.

Proof. Similarly like in Lemma 4 we find the derivative

$$\left(\frac{z(t)}{t}\right)' = \frac{z'(t)t - z(t)}{t^2}.$$
 (46)

It is sufficient to show that z'(t)t - z(t) < 0 eventually. Lemma 10 implies that there exists t_0 such that z''(t) < 0 on (t_0, ∞) . This shows that z'(t)t - z(t) is decreasing on (t_0, ∞) . As a consequence, if $z'(t_1)t_1 - z(t_1) < 0$ for some $t_1 > t_0$, then z'(t)t - z(t) < 0 on (t_1, ∞) .

Suppose by contradiction that there exists t_2 such that z'(t)t - z(t) > 0 on (t_2, ∞) . Solving this inequality we get

$$z\left(t\right) \ge \frac{z\left(t_{2}\right)}{t_{2}}t.$$
(47)

Now integrating (32) from t_2 to t and using (41) we get

$$r(t) \Phi(z'(t)) = r(t_2) \Phi(z'(t_2)) - \int_{t_2}^t c(s) (x(\tau(s)))^{p-1} ds$$
$$\leq r(t_2) \Phi(z'(t_2))$$

$$-\int_{t_{2}}^{t} c(s) [1 - a(\tau(s))]^{p-1} (z(\tau(s)))^{p-1} ds$$

$$\leq r(t_{2}) \Phi(z'(t_{2})) - \frac{z(\tau(t_{2}))}{\tau(t_{2})}$$

$$\times \int_{t_{2}}^{t} c(s) [1 - a(\tau(s))]^{p-1} (\tau(s))^{p-1} ds.$$
(48)

Taking *t* sufficiently large and using (45) we obtain a negative upper bound for a positive function $r(t)\Phi(z'(t))$. This contradiction proves the lemma.

Now we can formulate the comparison theorem which relates neutral differential equations to ordinary secondorder half-linear differential equations.

Theorem 13. Suppose that (45) and (14) hold. If the ordinary half-linear differential equation

$$\left(r(t) \Phi(x'(t)) \right)' + c(t) \left[1 - a(\tau(t)) \right]^{p-1} \\ \times \left(\frac{\tau(t)}{t} \right)^{p-1} \Phi(x(t)) = 0$$
(49)

is oscillatory, then (32) is also oscillatory.

Proof. Having proved important estimates in the preceding two lemmas, the proof of the theorem is a modification of the proof of Theorem 5. If x(t) is an eventually positive solution of (32), then the function w defined by $w(t) = r(t)\Phi(z'(t))/\Phi(z(t))$ satisfies (34). Using Lemmas 11 and 12 we see that

$$0 = w' + c(t) \Phi\left(\frac{x(\tau(t))}{z(t)}\right) + (p-1)r^{1-q}(t)|w|^{q}$$

$$\geq w' + c(t) [1 - a(\tau(t))]^{p-1} \Phi\left(\frac{z(\tau(t))}{z(t)}\right)$$

$$+ (p-1)r^{1-q}(t)|w|^{q}$$

$$\geq w' + c(t) [1 - a(\tau(t))]^{p-1} \left(\frac{\tau(t)}{t}\right)^{p-1}$$

$$+ (p-1)r^{1-q}(t)|w|^{q}.$$
(50)

Hence (49) is nonoscillatory by Lemma 1.

Remark 14. A version of Theorem 13 has been used implicitly in the proof of [20, Theorem 2.2] for dynamic equations. A closer estimation of the proof shows that one of the important steps is an application of inequality which in the continuous case reads as (10). However, Lemma 12 allows the estimate

$$\frac{z\left(\tau\left(t\right)\right)}{z\left(t\right)} \ge \frac{\tau\left(t\right)}{t},\tag{51}$$

which appears to be sharper, since

$$\frac{1 - (T/\tau(t))}{1 - (T/t)} \le 1$$
(52)

and the annoying dependence of the left-hand side on T usually necessitates to replace it by a constant k < 1 which may appear in the resulting oscillation criterion.

Acknowledgment

This research is supported by the Grant P201/10/1032 of the Czech Science Foundation.

References

- B. Baculíková, T. Li, and J. Džurina, "Oscillation theorems for second-order superlinear neutral differential equations," *Mathematica Slovaca*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 123–134, 2013.
- [2] B. Baculíková and J. Džurina, "Oscillation theorems for second order neutral differential equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 94–99, 2011.
- [3] B. Baculíková and J. Džurina, "Oscillation theorems for secondorder nonlinear neutral differential equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 4472–4478, 2011.
- [4] R. P. Agarwal, D. R. Anderson, and A. Zafer, "Interval oscillation criteria for second-order forced delay dynamic equations with mixed nonlinearities," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 977–993, 2010.
- [5] D. R. Anderson and A. Zafer, "Nonlinear oscillation of secondorder dynamic equations on time scales," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 1591–1597, 2009.
- [6] A. Tiryaki, Y. Başci, and I. Güleç, "Interval criteria for oscillation of second-order functional differential equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 50, no. 8-9, pp. 1487–1498, 2005.
- [7] A. Zafer, "Interval oscillation criteria for second order superhalf linear functional differential equations with delay and advanced arguments," *Mathematische Nachrichten*, vol. 282, no. 9, pp. 1334–1341, 2009.
- [8] O. Došlý and P. Řehák, Half-Linear Differential Equations, vol. 202 of North-Holland Mathematics Studies, Elsevier, San Diego, Calif, USA, 2005.
- [9] J. Ohriska, "Oscillation of second order delay and ordinary differential equation," *Czechoslovak Mathematical Journal*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 107–112, 1984.
- [10] G. H. Hardy, J. E. Littlewood, and G. Polya, *Inequalities*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1999.
- [11] R. P. Agarwal, S.-L. Shieh, and C.-C. Yeh, "Oscillation criteria for second-order retarded differential equations," *Mathematical and Computer Modelling*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 1–11, 1997.
- [12] R. Xu and F. Meng, "New Kamenev-type oscillation criteria for second order neutral nonlinear differential equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 188, no. 2, pp. 1364–1370, 2007.
- [13] Z. Opluštil and J. Šremr, "Some oscillation criteria for the second-order linear delay differential equation," *Mathematica Bohemica*, vol. 136, no. 2, pp. 195–204, 2011.
- [14] Z. Opluštil and J. Šremr, "On oscillations of solutions to secondorder linear delay differential equations," *Georgian Mathematical Journal*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 65–94, 2013.
- [15] L. Erbe, A. Peterson, and S. H. Saker, "Kamenev-type oscillation criteria for second-order linear delay dynamic equations," *Dynamic Systems and Applications*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 65–78, 2006.

- [16] J. Džurina and I. P. Stavroulakis, "Oscillation criteria for secondorder delay differential equations," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 140, no. 2-3, pp. 445–453, 2003.
- [17] P. Hasil and M. Veselý, "Oscillation of half-linear differential equations with asymptotically almost periodic coefficients," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2013, article 122, 15 pages, 2013.
- [18] M. Veselý, "Construction of almost periodic functions with given properties," *Electronic Journal of Differential Equations*, no. 29, pp. 1–25, 2011.
- [19] Á. Elbert, "Oscillation and nonoscillation theorems for some non-linear ordinary differential equations," in Ordinary and Partial Differential Equations, vol. 964 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pp. 187–212, 1982.
- [20] S. H. Saker and D. O'Regan, "New oscillation criteria for second-order neutral functional dynamic equations via the generalized Riccati substitution," *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 423–434, 2011.

Research Article

Some New Nonlinear Weakly Singular Inequalities and Applications to Volterra-Type Difference Equation

Kelong Zheng,¹ Wenqiang Feng,² and Chunxiang Guo³

¹ School of Science, Southwest University of Science and Technology, Mianyang, Sichuan 621010, China

² Department of Mathematics, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN 37996-0612, USA

³ School of Business, Sichuan University, Chengdu, Sichuan 610064, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Chunxiang Guo; guocx70@163.com

Received 3 August 2013; Revised 21 September 2013; Accepted 25 September 2013

Academic Editor: Josef Diblík

Copyright © 2013 Kelong Zheng et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Some new nonlinear weakly singular difference inequalities are discussed, which generalize some known weakly singular inequalities and can be used in the analysis of nonlinear Volterra-type difference equations with weakly singular kernel. An application to the upper bound of solutions of a nonlinear difference equation is also presented.

1. Introduction

The discrete version of the well-known Gronwall-Bellman inequality is an important tool in the development of the theory of difference equations as well as the analysis of the numerical schemes of differential equations. A great deal of interest has been given to these inequalities, and many results on their generalizations have been found; for example, see [1– 4]. Among them, one of the fundamental cases is Pachpatte's result [3] for the difference inequality:

$$u(n) \le a(n) + \sum_{s=0}^{n-1} f(s) u(s).$$
 (1)

In particular, due to the study of the behavior and numerical solutions for the singular integral equations, some discrete weakly singular integral inequalities also have drawn more and more attention [5–7]. Dixon and McKee [8] investigated the convergence of discretization methods for the Volterra integral and integrodifferential equations, by using the following inequality:

$$x_i \le \psi_i + Mh^{1-\alpha} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} \frac{x_j}{(i-j)^{\alpha}}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, N,$$
 (2)

n > 0, Nh = T.

Henry [9] presented a linear integral inequality with weakly kernel:

$$x(t) \le a(t) + \int_0^t (t-s)^{\beta-1} b(s) x(s) \, ds \tag{3}$$

to investigate some qualitative properties for a parabolic equation. The corresponding discrete version was discussed by Slodička [10]. But he studied the case $\tau_k = \tau$, that is, the case of constant differences. Furthermore, the first formulation of the inequality with a nonlinearity and τ_k nonconstant was studied in [6], in which the general nonlinear discrete case as follows:

$$x_{n} \leq a_{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k} b_{k} \omega(x_{k})$$
(4)

was considered. However, his results are based on the so-called "(q) condition": (1) ω satisfies $e^{-qt}[\omega(u)]^q \leq R(t)\omega(e^{-qt})u^q$; (2) there exists c > 0 such that $a_n e^{-\tau t_n} \leq c$. Recently, a new nonlinear difference inequality:

$$x_{n}^{\alpha} \leq a_{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k} b_{k} x_{k}^{\lambda}$$
(5)

was discussed by Yang et al. [11]. For other new weakly singular inequalities, lots of work can be found, for example, in [12–22] and references therein.

In this paper, we investigate the new nonlinear weakly singular inequality:

$$x_{n} \leq a_{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k} b_{k} \omega(x_{k}), \qquad (6)$$

where $0 < \beta \leq 1$, $t_0 = 0$, $\tau_k = t_{k+1} - t_k$, $\sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \tau_k = \tau$, and $\lim_{t \to \infty} t_k = \infty$. Compared to the existing result, our result does not need the so-called "(*q*) condition" proposed in [6] and can be used to obtain pointwise explicit bounds on solutions for a class of more general weakly singular inequalities of Volterra type. Finally, we also present an application to Volterra-type difference equation with weakly singular kernel.

2. Preliminaries

Let \mathbb{R} be the set of real numbers, $\mathbb{R}_+ = (0, \infty)$, and $\mathbb{N} = \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$. C(X, Y) denotes the collection of continuous functions from the set X to the set Y. As usual, the empty sum is taken to be 0.

Lemma 1 (Discrete Jensen inequality, [11]). Let $A_1, A_2, ..., A_n$ be nonnegative real numbers, and let r > 1 be a real number. Then,

$$(A_1 + A_2 + \dots + A_n)^r \le n^{r-1} (A_1^r + A_2^r + \dots + A_n^r).$$
(7)

Lemma 2 (Discrete Hölder inequality, [11]). Let a_i , b_i (i = 1, 2, ..., n) be nonnegative real numbers, and let p, q be positive numbers such that (1/p)+(1/q) = 1 (or $p = 1, q = \infty$). Then,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i b_i \le \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i^p\right)^{1/p} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i^q\right)^{1/q}.$$
(8)

Furthermore, take p = q = 2; then, one gets the discrete Cauchy-Schwarz inequality.

Lemma 3. Suppose that $\omega(u) \in C(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}_+)$ is nondecreasing. Let a_n , c_n be nonnegative and nondecreasing in n. If y_n is nonnegative such that

$$y_n \le a_n + c_n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} b_k \omega\left(y_k\right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (9)

Then,

$$y_n \le \Omega^{-1} \left[\Omega\left(a_n\right) + c_n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} b_k \right], \quad 0 \le n \le M, \qquad (10)$$

where $\Omega(v) = \int_{v_0}^{v} (1/\omega(s)) ds$, $v \ge v_0$, Ω^{-1} is the inverse function of Ω , and M is defined by

$$M = \sup\left\{i: \Omega\left(a_i\right) + c_i \sum_{k=0}^{i-1} b_k \in \operatorname{Dom}\left(\Omega^{-1}\right)\right\}.$$
(11)

3. Main Results

Assume that

 $(A_1) a_n, b_n$ are nonnegative functions for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, respectively;

$$(A_2) \ \omega(u) \in C(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R}_+)$$
 is nondecreasing and $\omega(0) = 0$.

Define $\tilde{a}_n = \max_{0 \le k \le n, k \in \mathbb{N}} a_k$ and $\tau = \max_{0 \le k \le n-1, k \in \mathbb{N}} \tau_k$, where τ_k is the variable time step.

Theorem 4. Under assumptions (A_1) and (A_2) , if x_n is nonnegative such that (6), then

(1) for $0 < \beta \le 1/2$, letting $p = 1 + \beta$ and $q = (1 + \beta)/\beta$, one has

$$x_{n} \leq \left[\Omega^{-1} \left(\Omega \left(2^{q-1} \tilde{a}_{n}^{q} \right) + 2^{q-1} \tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^{2}} \right.$$

$$\times K^{q/p} \left(\beta \right) e^{q\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q} \right) \right]^{1/q},$$
(12)

for $0 \le n \le N_1$, where $\Omega(u) = \int_{u_0}^u (1/\omega^q(s^{1/q})) ds$, $u \ge u_0 \ge 0$, Ω^{-1} is the inverse function of Ω ,

$$K(\beta) = (1+\beta)^{-\beta^2} \Gamma(\beta^2), \qquad (13)$$

and N_1 is the largest integer number such that

$$\Omega\left(2^{q-1}\tilde{a}_{n}^{q}\right) + 2^{q-1}\tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^{2}}K^{q/p}\left(\beta\right)e^{q\tau t_{n}} \times \sum_{k=0}^{n-1}e^{-q\tau t_{k}}b_{k}^{q}\in \mathrm{Dom}\left(\Omega^{-1}\right);$$
(14)

(2) for $1/2 < \beta \le 1$, letting p = 2 and q = 2, one has

$$x_{n} \leq \left[\Omega^{-1}\left(\Omega\left(2\bar{a}_{n}^{2}\right) + B\left(\beta\right)\tau^{2-2\beta}e^{2\tau t_{n}}\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}e^{-2\tau t_{k}}b_{k}^{2}\right)\right]^{1/2},$$
(15)

for $0 \le n \le N_2$, where $\Omega(u) = \int_{u_0}^{u} (1/\omega^2(s^{1/2})) ds$, $u \ge u_0 \ge 0$,

$$B(\beta) = 4^{1-\beta}\Gamma(2\beta - 1), \quad \beta > \frac{1}{2},$$
 (16)

and N_2 is the largest integer number such that

$$\Omega\left(2\tilde{a}_{n}^{2}\right)+B\left(\beta\right)\tau^{2-2\beta}e^{2\tau t_{n}}\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}e^{-2\tau t_{k}}b_{k}^{2}\in\operatorname{Dom}\left(\Omega^{-1}\right).$$
 (17)

Proof. By definition of \tilde{a}_n and assumption (A_1) , \tilde{a}_n is nonnegative and nondecreasing and $\tilde{a}_n \ge a_n$. It follows from (6) that

$$x_{n} \leq \tilde{a}_{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k} b_{k} \omega(x_{k}).$$
(18)

(1) If $0 < \beta \le 1/2$, using Lemma 2 with the indices $p = 1 + \beta$, $q = (1 + \beta)/\beta$ for (18), we get

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n} &\leq \widetilde{a}_{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k}^{1/p} \tau_{k}^{1/q} e^{\tau t_{k}} e^{-\tau t_{k}} b_{k} \omega \left(x_{k} \right) \\ &\leq \widetilde{a}_{n} + \tau^{1/q} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k}^{1/p} e^{\tau t_{k}} e^{-\tau t_{k}} b_{k} \omega \left(x_{k} \right) \\ &\leq \widetilde{a}_{n} + \tau^{1/q} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{p(\beta-1)} \tau_{k} e^{p\tau t_{k}} \right]^{1/p} \\ &\times \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q} \omega^{q} \left(x_{k} \right) \right]^{1/q}. \end{aligned}$$
(19)

By Lemma 1, the inequality above yields

$$x_{n}^{q} \leq 2^{q-1} \bar{a}_{n}^{q} + 2^{q-1} \tau \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{p(\beta-1)} \tau_{k} e^{p\tau t_{k}} \right]^{q/p} \times \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q} \omega^{q} (x_{k}) \right].$$
(20)

Consider that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_n - t_k)^{p(\beta-1)} \tau_k e^{p\tau t_k}$$

$$\leq \int_0^{t_n} (t_n - s)^{p(\beta-1)} e^{p\tau s} ds$$

$$= e^{p\tau t_n} \int_0^{t_n} \eta^{p(\beta-1)} e^{-p\tau \eta} d\eta,$$

$$= \frac{e^{p\tau t_n}}{(p\tau)^{1+p(\beta-1)}} \int_0^{p\tau t_n} \sigma^{p(\beta-1)e^{-\sigma}} d\sigma \leq K(\beta) \tau^{-\beta^2} e^{p\tau t_n},$$
(21)

where $K(\beta) = (1 + \beta)^{-\beta^2} \Gamma(\beta^2)$ and $\Gamma(z) = \int_0^\infty u^{z-1} e^{-u} du$, (*Rez* > 0) is the well-known *G*-function. Thus, we have

$$x_{n}^{q} \leq 2^{q-1} \tilde{a}_{n}^{q} + 2^{q-1} \tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^{2}} \times K^{q/p}(\beta) e^{q\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q} \omega^{q}(x_{k}).$$
(22)

Let $v_n = x_n^q$, $A_n = 2^{q-1}\tilde{a}_n^q$, and $C_n = 2^{q-1}\tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^2}$ $K^{q/p}(\beta)e^{q\tau t_n}$. Obviously, A_n , C_n are nondecreasing for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\omega^q(v_k^{1/q})$ satisfies the assumption (A_2) . Equation (22) can be rewritten as

$$v_n \le A_n + C_n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_k} b_k^q \omega^q \left(v_k^{1/q} \right),$$
(23)

which is similar to inequality (9). Using Lemma 3, from (23), we have

$$v_n \le \Omega^{-1} \left[\left(\Omega\left(A_n\right) + C_n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_k} b_k^q \right) \right], \qquad (24)$$

for $0 \le n \le N_1$, where N_1 is the largest integer number such that

$$\Omega\left(A_{n}\right)+C_{n}\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}e^{-q\tau t_{k}}b_{k}^{q}\in\operatorname{Dom}\left(\Omega^{-1}\right).$$
(25)

Therefore, by $x_n = v_n^{1/q}$, (12) holds for $0 \le n \le N_1$.

(2) If $1/2 < \beta \le 1$, applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for (18), that is, p = q = 2, we get

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n} &\leq \widetilde{a}_{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k}^{1/2} \tau_{k}^{1/2} e^{\tau t_{k}} e^{-\tau t_{k}} b_{k} \omega \left(x_{k} \right) \\ &\leq \widetilde{a}_{n} + \tau^{1/2} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k}^{1/2} e^{\tau t_{k}} e^{-\tau t_{k}} b_{k} \omega \left(x_{k} \right) \\ &\leq \widetilde{a}_{n} + \tau^{1/2} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{2(\beta-1)} \tau_{k} e^{2\tau t_{k}} \right]^{1/2} \\ &\times \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-2\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{2} \omega^{2} \left(x_{k} \right) \right]^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(26)$$

By Lemma 1, the inequality above yields

$$x_{n}^{2} \leq 2\tilde{a}_{n}^{2} + 2\tau \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{2(\beta-1)} \tau_{k} e^{2\tau t_{k}} \right] \times \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-2\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{2} \omega^{2} (x_{k}) \right].$$
(27)

Because

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_n - t_k)^{2(\beta-1)} \tau_k e^{2\tau t_k}$$

$$\leq \int_0^{t_n} (t_n - s)^{2(\beta-1)} e^{2\tau s} ds$$

$$= \frac{e^{2\tau t_n}}{(2\tau)^{2\beta-1}} \int_0^{2\tau t_n} \sigma^{2(\beta-1)e^{-\sigma}} d\sigma$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} B(\beta) \tau^{1-2\beta} e^{2\tau t_n},$$
(28)

where $B(\beta) = 4^{1-\beta}\Gamma(2\beta - 1)$, $\beta > 1/2$, it follows from (27) that

$$x_{n}^{2} \leq 2\tilde{a}_{n}^{2} + B(\beta) \tau^{2-2\beta} e^{2\tau t_{n}} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-2\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{2} \omega^{2}(x_{k}) \right].$$
(29)

Let $v_n = x_n^2$, $A_n = 2\tilde{a}_n^2$, and $C_n = B(\beta)\tau^{2-2\beta}e^{2\tau t_n}$. Similarly, A_n , C_n also are nondecreasing for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\omega^2(v_k^{1/2})$ also satisfies the assumption (A_2) . Equation (29) can be rewritten as

$$v_n \le A_n + C_n \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-2\tau t_k} b_k^2 \omega^2 \left(v_k^{1/2} \right) \right),$$
 (30)

which also is similar to inequality (9). Using Lemma 3, from (30), we have

$$v_n \le \left[\Omega^{-1} \left(\Omega \left(A_n \right) + C_n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-2\tau t_k} b_k^2 \right) \right],$$
 (31)

for $0 \le n \le N_2$, and N_2 is the largest integer number such that

$$\Omega\left(A_{n}\right)+C_{n}\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}e^{-2\tau t_{k}}b_{k}^{2}\in\operatorname{Dom}\left(\Omega^{-1}\right).$$
(32)

Clearly, by $x_n = v_n^{1/2}$, (15) also holds for $0 \le n \le N_2$.

Remark 5. Here, we note that the most significant work in the study of weakly singular inequalities is Medved's method, originally presented in the paper [6] and also applied in the paper [18]. But his result holds under the assumption " $\omega(u)$ satisfies the condition (q)," that is, " $e^{-qt}[\omega(u)]^q \leq R(t)\omega(e^{-qt}u^q)$, where R(t) is a continuous, nonnegative function." In our result, the condition (q) is eliminated.

Corollary 6. Under assumptions (A_1) and (A_2) , let $\nu > 0$, $\mu > 0(\nu > \mu)$. If x_n is nonnegative such that

$$x_{n}^{\nu} \le a_{n} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_{n} - t_{k})^{\beta-1} \tau_{k} b_{k} x_{k}^{\mu},$$
(33)

then

(1) if $0 < \beta \le 1/2$, let $p = 1 + \beta$ and $q = (1 + \beta)/\beta$, and one gets

$$x_{n} \leq \left[\left(2^{q-1} \tilde{a}_{n}^{q} \right)^{(\nu-\mu)/\nu} + \frac{\nu-\mu}{\nu} 2^{q-1} \tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^{2}} \right] \\ \times K^{q/p} (\beta) e^{q\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q} \right]^{1/(\nu-\mu)q}$$
(34)

for $n \ge 0$, where $K(\beta)$ is defined as in Theorem 4; (2) if $1/2 < \beta \le 1$, let p = q = 2, and one gets

$$x_{n} \leq \left[\left(2\tilde{a}_{n}^{2} \right)^{(\nu-\mu)/\nu} + \frac{\nu-\mu}{\nu} B\left(\beta\right) \tau^{2-2\beta} \\ \times e^{2\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-2\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{2} \right]^{1/2(\nu-\mu)},$$
(35)

for $n \ge 0$, where $B(\beta)$ is defined as in Theorem 4

Proof. Let $z_n = x_n^{\nu}$, then $x_n = z_n^{1/\nu}$ and $x_n^{\mu} = z_n^{\mu/\nu}$. From (33), we have

$$z_n \le a_n + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_n - t_k)^{\beta - 1} \tau_k b_k z_k^{\mu/\nu}.$$
 (36)

Clearly, $\omega(z_k) = z_k^{\mu/\gamma}$ satisfies the assumption (A_2) . According to the definition of Ω in Theorem 4, for $0 < \beta \le 1/2$, letting $u_0 = 0$, we have

$$\Omega(u) = \int_{u_0}^{u} \frac{1}{\omega^q (s^{1/q})} ds = \int_{0}^{u} \frac{ds}{s^{\mu/\nu}} = \frac{\nu}{\nu - \mu} u^{(\nu - \mu)/\nu}, \quad (37)$$
$$\Omega^{-1}(u) = \left(\frac{\nu - \mu}{\nu}u\right)^{\nu/(\nu - \mu)}, \qquad \text{Dom}\left(\Omega^{-1}\right) = [0, \infty). \quad (38)$$

It can be seen easily from (38) that $N_1 = \infty$. Substituting (37) and (38) into (12), we get

$$z_{n} \leq \left[\left(2^{q-1} \tilde{a}_{n}^{q} \right)^{(\nu-\mu)/\nu} + \frac{\nu-\mu}{\nu} 2^{q-1} \tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^{2}} \right] \times K^{q/p} (\beta) e^{q\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q} \right]^{\nu/(\nu-\mu)q}.$$
(39)

In view of $x_n = z_n^{1/\nu}$, we can obtain (34). For the case that $1/2 < \beta \le 1$, in fact, Ω and Ω^{-1} are the same as (37) and (38), respectively. So, it follows from (37), (38), and (15) that

$$x_{n} \leq \left[\left(2\tilde{a}_{n}^{2} \right)^{(\nu-\mu)/\nu} + \frac{\nu-\mu}{\nu} B\left(\beta\right) \tau^{2-2\beta} \times e^{2\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-2\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{2} \right]^{1/2(\nu-\mu)},$$
(40)

for
$$n > 0$$
.

Remark 7. In [11], Yang et al. investigated inequality (33), under the assumption that a_n is nondecreasing. Clearly, our result does not need such condition, and we get a more concise formula.

Remark 8. Letting $\nu = 2$ and $\mu = 1$, we can get the interesting Henry version of the Ou-Iang-Pachpatte-type difference inequality [3]. Thus, our result is a more general discrete analogue for such inequality.

Corollary 9. Under assumptions (A_1) and (A_2) , if x_n is nonnegative such that

$$x_n \le a_n + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_n - t_k)^{\beta - 1} \tau_k b_k x_k, \tag{41}$$

then

(1) if $0 < \beta \le 1/2$, let $p = 1 + \beta$ and $q = (1 + \beta)/\beta$, and one gets

$$x_{n} \leq 2^{(q-1)/q} \tilde{a}_{n} \exp\left(2^{(q-1)/q} \tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^{2}} K^{q/p}\left(\beta\right) \times e^{q\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q}\right),$$
(42)

for $n \ge 0$, where $K(\beta)$ is defined as in Theorem 4;

(2) *if* $1/2 < \beta \le 1$, *let* p = q = 2, *and one gets*

$$x_n \le \sqrt{2}\tilde{a}_n \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}B(\beta)\tau^{2-2\beta}e^{2\tau t_n}\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}e^{-2\tau t_k}b_k^2\right),$$
 (43)

for $n \ge 0$, where $B(\beta)$ is defined as in Theorem 4.

Proof. In (41), $\omega(u) = u$ also satisfies the assumption (A_2) . Thus, we have

$$\Omega(u) = \int_{u_0}^{u} \frac{ds}{s} = \ln \frac{u}{u_0}, \qquad \Omega^{-1}(u) = u_0 \exp(u),$$

$$Dom(\Omega^{-1}) = [0, \infty).$$
(44)

Similarly to the computation in Corollary 6, the estimates (42) and (43) hold, respectively.

4. Application

In this section, we apply our results to discuss the upper bound of solution of a Volterra type difference equation with weakly singular kernel.

Consider the following the inequality:

$$x_n \le 1 + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (t_n - t_k)^{-1/2} \tau_k \sqrt{x_k}.$$
 (45)

Obviously, (45) is the special case of inequality (6), then we get

$$a_n = 1, \qquad \beta = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad \omega = \sqrt{u}.$$
 (46)

Thus, we can take $p = 1 + \beta = 3/2$ and $q = (1 + \beta)/\beta = 3$; then, q/p = 2. Moreover,

$$\tilde{a}_n = 1$$

$$K\left(\beta\right) = \left(1+\beta\right)^{-\beta^{2}} \Gamma\left(\beta^{2}\right) = \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{-1/4} \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{4}\right), \qquad (47)$$

$$\Omega(u) = \int_0^u \frac{ds}{\sqrt{s}} = 2\sqrt{u}, \qquad \Omega^{-1}(u) = \frac{u^2}{4}.$$

According to Theorem 4, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x_{n} &\leq \left[\Omega^{-1} \left(\Omega \left(2^{q-1} \tilde{a}_{n}^{q} \right) + 2^{q-1} \tau^{1-(q/p)\beta^{2}} \right) \\ &\times K^{q/p} \left(\beta \right) e^{q\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-q\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{q} \right]^{1/q} \\ &= \left[\Omega^{-1} \left(\Omega \left(4 \right) + 4\tau^{1/2} \left(\frac{3}{2} \right)^{-1/2} \right) \right) \\ &\times \Gamma^{2} \left(\frac{1}{4} \right) e^{3\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-3\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{3} \right]^{1/3} \\ &= \left[\Omega^{-1} \left(4 + \frac{4}{3} \sqrt{6} \tau^{1/2} \Gamma^{2} \left(\frac{1}{4} \right) e^{3\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-3\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{3} \right) \right]^{1/3} \\ &= 4^{-1/3} \left(4 + \frac{4}{3} \sqrt{6} \tau^{1/2} \Gamma^{2} \left(\frac{1}{4} \right) e^{3\tau t_{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} e^{-3\tau t_{k}} b_{k}^{3} \right)^{2/3} \end{aligned}$$

$$(48)$$

for n > 0, which indicates that we get the upper bound of x_n .

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the Doctoral Program Research Funds of Southwest University of Science and Technology (no. 11zx7129) and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (no. skqy201324). The work is also supported by the Applied Basic Research Project of Sichuan Province (no. 2013JY0096).

References

- R. P. Agarwal, S. Deng, and W. Zhang, "Generalization of a retarded Gronwall-like inequality and its applications," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 165, no. 3, pp. 599–612, 2005.
- [2] S. Deng, "Nonlinear discrete inequalities with two variables and their applications," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 217, no. 5, pp. 2217–2225, 2010.
- [3] B. G. Pachpatte, "On some fundamental integral inequalities and their discrete analogues," *Journal of Inequalities in Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 2, no. 2, article 15, 2001.
- [4] Y. Wu, X. Li, and S. Deng, "Nonlinear delay discrete inequalities and their applications to Volterra type difference equations," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2010, Article ID 795145, 14 pages, 2010.
- [5] M. Medved, "A new approach to an analysis of Henry type integral inequalities and their Bihari type versions," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 214, no. 2, pp. 349– 366, 1997.

- [6] M. Medved, "Nonlinear singular difference inequalities suitable for discretizations of parabolic equations," *Demonstratio Mathematica*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 517–525, 2000.
- [7] K. Zheng, H. Wang, and C. Guo, "On nonlinear discrete weakly singular inequalities and applications to Volterra-type difference equations," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2013, article 239, 2013.
- [8] J. Dixon and S. McKee, "Weakly singular discrete Gronwall inequalities," Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 535–544, 1986.
- [9] D. Henry, Geometric Theory of Semilinear Parabolic Equations, vol. 840 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 1981.
- [10] M. Slodička, "Semigroup formulation of Rothe's method: application to parabolic problems," *Commentationes Mathematicae Universitatis Carolinae*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 245–260, 1992.
- [11] E.-H. Yang, Q.-H. Ma, and M.-C. Tan, "Discrete analogues of a new class of nonlinear Volterra singular integral inequalities," *Journal of Jinan University*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2007.
- [12] W.-S. Cheung, Q.-H. Ma, and S. Tseng, "Some new nonlinear weakly singular integral inequalities of Wendroff type with applications," *Journal of Inequalities and Applications*, vol. 2008, Article ID 909156, 12 pages, 2008.
- [13] S. Deng and C. Prather, "Generalization of an impulsive nonlinear singular Gronwall-Bihari inequality with delay," *Journal* of *Inequalities in Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 9, no. 2, article 34, 2008.
- [14] F. Lakhal, "A new nonlinear integral inequality of Wendroff type with continuous and weakly singular kernel and its application," *Journal of Mathematical Inequalities*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 367–379, 2012.
- [15] Q. H. Ma and E. H. Yang, "Estimates on solutions of some weakly singular Volterra integral inequalities," *Acta Mathematicae Applicatae Sinica*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 505–515, 2002.
- [16] Q. H. Ma and J. Pečarić, "Some new explicit bounds for weakly singular integral inequalities with applications to fractional differential and integral equations," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 341, no. 2, pp. 894–905, 2008.
- [17] S. Mazouzi and N.-E. Tatar, "New bounds for solutions of a singular integro-differential inequality," *Mathematical Inequalities* & Applications, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 427–435, 2010.
- [18] M. Medved, "On singular versions of Bihari and Wendroff-Pachpatte type integral inequalities and their application," *Tatra Mountains Mathematical Publications*, vol. 38, pp. 163–174, 2007.
- [19] S. Szufla, "On the Volterra integral equation with weakly singular kernel," *Mathematica Bohemica*, vol. 131, no. 3, pp. 225– 231, 2006.
- [20] N.-E. Tatar, "On an integral inequality with a kernel singular in time and space," *Journal of Inequalities in Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 4, no. 4, article 82, 2003.
- [21] H. Wang and K. Zheng, "Some nonlinear weakly singular integral inequalities with two variables and applications," *Journal* of *Inequalities and Applications*, vol. 2010, Article ID 345701, 12 pages, 2010.
- [22] K. Zheng, "Bounds on some new weakly singular Wendrofftype integral inequalities and applications," *Journal of Inequalities and Applications*, vol. 2013, article 159, 2013.

Research Article

Heat Transfer Analysis on the Hiemenz Flow of a Non-Newtonian Fluid: A Homotopy Method Solution

Yasir Khan¹ and Zdeněk Šmarda²

¹ Department of Mathematics, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou 310027, China

² Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Brno University of Technology, Technicka 8, 61600 Brno, Czech Republic

Correspondence should be addressed to Zdeněk Šmarda; smarda@feec.vutbr.cz

Received 8 August 2013; Accepted 23 September 2013

Academic Editor: Miroslava Růžičková

Copyright © 2013 Y. Khan and Z. Šmarda. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The mathematical model for the incompressible two-dimensional/axisymmetric non-Newtonian fluid flows and heat transfer analysis in the region of stagnation point over a stretching/shrinking sheet and axisymmetric shrinking sheet is presented. The governing equations are transformed into dimensionless nonlinear ordinary differential equations by similarity transformation. Analytical technique, namely, the homotopy perturbation method (HPM) with general form of linear operator is used to solve dimensionless nonlinear ordinary differential equations. The series solution is obtained without using the diagonal Padé approximants to handle the boundary condition at infinity which can be considered as a clear advantage of homotopy perturbation technique over the decomposition method. The effects of the pertinent parameters on the velocity and temperature field are discussed through graphs. To the best of authors' knowledge, HPM solution with general form of linear operator for two-dimensional/axisymmetric non-Newtonian fluid flows and heat transfer analysis in the region of stagnation point is presented for the first time in the literature.

1. Introduction

Stagnation point flow is of great importance in the prediction of skin friction as well as heat/mass transfer near stagnation regions of bodies in high speed flows and also in the design of thrust bearings and radial diffusers, drag reduction, transpiration cooling, and thermal oil. In 1911, Hiemenz [1] revealed that stagnation point flow can be examined by the Navier-Stokes (NS) equations. He used the similarity of the solution to reduce number of variables by means of a coordinate transformation. Later Howann [2] discovered the stagnation point flow in case of axisymmetric situation. Recently, a number of researchers studied the stagnation point flow considering different fluids models, geometries, and assumptions that were proposed in the literature. The literature on the topic is quite extensive and hence cannot be described here in detail. However some most recent works of eminent researchers regarding the analytical/numerical

solution of stagnation point for different geometries may be mentioned in [3–5]. Attia [6], Massoudi and Ramezan [7], and Garg [8] extended the stagnation point flow for heat transfer.

The main aim of this paper is to extend the HPM [9– 17] for solving non-Newtonian fluid flow and heat transfer analysis in the region of stagnation point flow towards a stretching/shrinking and axisymmetric shrinking sheet. Also the main motivation is to perform such analysis [3] (shrinking/axisymmetric shrinking sheet) for a non-Newtonian fluid in the presence of heat transfer. Heat transfer plays very important role in nuclear energy because nuclear chain reaction creates heat, and it is used to boil water, produce steam, and drive a steam turbine. The steady Navier-Stokes equations are reduced to the nonlinear ordinary differential equations by using similarity solutions. Graphical results explicitly reveal the complete reliability and efficiency of the suggested algorithm.

Abstract and Applied Analysis

2. Governing Equations

The flow and heat characteristics are governed by the following equations [3]:

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial w}{\partial z} = 0, \qquad (1)$$

$$\begin{aligned} u\frac{\partial u}{\partial x} + w\frac{\partial u}{\partial z} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\rho}\frac{\partial p}{\partial x} + v\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z^2} \\ &+ \frac{\alpha_1}{\rho} \left(u\frac{\partial^3 u}{\partial x \partial z^2} + \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial z^2} + \frac{\partial u}{\partial z}\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x \partial z} + w\frac{\partial^3 u}{\partial z^3} \right), \end{aligned}$$
(2)
$$\begin{aligned} &\rho c_p \left(u\frac{\partial T}{\partial x} + w\frac{\partial T}{\partial z} \right) = k\nabla^2 T. \end{aligned}$$
(3)

The similarity transformations for two-dimensional stagnation flow case are as follows [3]:

$$\eta = \sqrt{\frac{a}{\nu}}z, \quad u = axf'(\eta) + bch(\eta), \quad \nu = 0,$$

$$w = -\sqrt{a\nu}f(\eta), \quad \theta = \frac{T - T_{\infty}}{T_0 - T_{\infty}}.$$
(4)

The steady Navier-Stokes equations yield a system of nonlinear ordinary differential equations in the form

$$f''' + ff'' - f'^{2} + 1 + \beta \left(2f'f''' + f''^{2} - ff^{(IV)}\right) = 0,$$

$$h'' + fh' - f'h + \beta \left(hf''' + f'h'' + f''h' - fh'''\right) = 0, \quad (5)$$

$$\theta'' + \Pr f\theta' = 0,$$

and corresponding boundary conditions take the form

$$f(0) = 0, \qquad f'(0) = \frac{b}{a} = \alpha, \qquad \theta(0) = 1,$$

$$f'(\infty) = 1, \quad h(0) = 1, \quad h(\infty) = 0, \quad \theta(\infty) = 0.$$
 (6)

The similarity transformations for axisymmetric stagnation flow towards an axisymmetric shrinking surface are as follows [3]:

$$\eta(x, y) = \sqrt{\frac{a}{\nu}}z, \qquad u = axg'(\eta) + bcl(\eta),$$

$$v = ayg'(\eta), \qquad w = -2\sqrt{a\nu}g(\eta), \qquad \theta = \frac{T - T_{\infty}}{T_0 - T_{\infty}}.$$
(7)

Upon making use of the above substitutions in (2) and (3), the resulting nonlinear system has the following form:

$$g''' + 2gg'' - g'^{2} + 1 + \beta \left(2g'g''' + g''^{2} - 2gg^{(IV)} \right) = 0,$$

$$l'' + 2gl' - g'l + \beta \left(lg''' + g'l'' + g''l' - 2gl''' \right) = 0,$$

$$\theta'' + 2\Pr g\theta' = 0,$$

$$g(0) = 0, \quad g'(0) = \frac{b}{a} = \alpha, \quad \theta(0) = 1,$$

$$g'(\infty) = 1, \quad l(0) = 1, \quad l(\infty) = 0, \quad \theta(\infty) = 0.$$

(8)

3. Analytical Solution

For the HPM [9] solution, we select

$$f_{0}(\eta) = (1 - \alpha) (e^{-\eta} - 1) + \eta, \qquad h_{0}(\eta) = e^{-\eta}, \quad (9)$$

$$\theta_{0}(\eta) = e^{-\eta}, \qquad (10)$$

as initial approximations of f, h, and θ . We further choose the following auxiliary linear operators:

$$L_1 = \frac{\partial^3}{\partial^3 \eta} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial^2 \eta}, \quad L_2 = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial^2 \eta} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta}, \quad L_3 = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial^2 \eta} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta}.$$
(11)

In view of the basic idea of the HPM [9], (5) is expressed as

$$(1 - p) L_1 (f - f_0) + p (f''' + ff'' - f'^2 + 1 + \beta (2f' f''' + f''^2 - ff^{(IV)})) = 0, (1 - p) L_2 (h - h_0) + p (h'' + fh' - f'h + \beta (hf''' + f'h'' + f''h' - fh''')) = 0,$$

$$(1-p) L_{3} (\theta - \theta_{0}) + p (\theta'' + \Pr f \theta') = 0,$$

$$(12)$$

$$f = f_{0} + p f_{1} + p^{2} f_{2} + \cdots,$$

$$h = h_{0} + p h_{1} + p^{2} h_{2} + \cdots,$$

$$(13)$$

$$\theta = \theta_{0} + p \theta_{1} + p^{2} \theta_{2} + \cdots.$$

Assuming $L_1 f = 0$, $L_2 h = 0$, and $L_3 \theta = 0$ and substituting *f*, *h*, and θ from (13) into (12) and some simplification and rearrangement based on powers of *p*-terms, we have

$$\begin{split} p^{1} &: L_{1}f_{1} + f_{0}^{\prime\prime\prime\prime} + f_{0}f_{0}^{\prime\prime} - f_{0}^{\prime2} + 1 \\ &+ \beta \left(2f_{0}^{\prime}f_{0}^{\prime\prime\prime} + f_{0}^{\prime\prime2} - f_{0}f_{0}^{(IV)} \right) = 0, \\ f_{1}(0) &= f_{1}^{\prime}(0) = f_{1}^{\prime}(\infty) = 0, \\ &\vdots \\ p^{j} &: L_{1}f_{j} - L_{1}f_{j-1} + f_{j-1}^{\prime\prime\prime} + \sum_{k=0}^{j-1}f_{k}f_{j-1-k}^{\prime\prime} \\ &- \sum_{k=0}^{j-1}f_{k}^{\prime}f_{j-1-k}^{\prime} + 1 \\ &+ \beta \left(2\sum_{k=0}^{j-1}f_{k}^{\prime}f_{j-1-k}^{\prime\prime\prime} + \sum_{k=0}^{j-1}f_{k}^{\prime\prime}f_{j-1-k}^{\prime\prime} - \sum_{k=0}^{j-1}f_{k}f_{j-1-k}^{(IV)} \right) \\ &= 0, \\ f_{j}(0) &= f_{j}^{\prime}(0) = f_{j}^{\prime}(\infty) = 0, \quad j \geq 2; \end{split}$$



FIGURE 1: Effect of α on f' for two-dimensional case.



FIGURE 2: Effect of β on h for two-dimensional case.



FIGURE 3: Effect of Pr on θ for two-dimensional case.



FIGURE 4: Effect of α on g' for axisymmetric case.



FIGURE 5: Effect of β on *l* for axisymmetric case.



FIGURE 6: Effect of Pr on θ for axisymmetric case.

$$p^{1}: L_{2}h_{1}'' + h_{0}''' + f_{0}h_{0}' - f_{0}'h_{0} + \beta \left(h_{0}f_{0}''' + f_{0}'h_{0}'' + f_{0}''h_{0}' - f_{0}h_{0}'''\right) = 0, h_{1}(0) = h_{1}(\infty) = 0,$$

:

$$p^{j}: L_{2}h_{j} - L_{2}h_{j-1} + h_{j-1}^{\prime\prime} + \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} f_{k}h_{j-1-k}^{\prime} - \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} f_{k}^{\prime}h_{j-1-k}^{\prime}$$

$$+ \beta \left(\sum_{k=0}^{j-1} h_{k}f_{j-1-k}^{\prime\prime\prime} + \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} f_{k}^{\prime}h_{j-1-k}^{\prime\prime} - \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} f_{k}^{\prime}h_{j-1-k}^{\prime\prime} \right) = 0,$$

$$\begin{split} h_{j}(0) &= h_{j}(\infty) = 0, \quad j \geq 2; \\ p^{1} &: L_{3}\theta_{1}'' + \theta_{0}'' + \Pr f_{0}\theta_{0}' = 0, \\ \theta_{1}(0) &= \theta_{1}(\infty) = 0, \end{split}$$

:

$$p^{j}: L_{3}\theta_{j} - L_{3}\theta_{j-1} + \theta_{j-1}^{\prime\prime} + \Pr\sum_{k=0}^{j-1} f_{k}\theta_{j-1-k}^{\prime} = 0,$$

$$\theta_{j}(0) = \theta_{j}(\infty) = 0, \quad j \ge 2.$$

On solving (14) in any software like Mathematica, Maple or MATLAB we can get any order of approximation.

Adopting the same procedure for axisymmetric stagnation flow towards an axisymmetric shrinking surface (8), we can get the required solution for (8)

$$g = g_0 + g_1 + g_2 + \cdots,$$

$$l = l_0 + l_1 + l_2 + \cdots,$$

$$\theta = \theta_0 + \theta_1 + \theta_2 + \cdots.$$
(15)

4. Concluding Remarks

In this paper, we have studied non-Newtonian Stagnation point flow in the presence of heat transfer by using HPM. The HPM is used in a direct way without using linearization, discretization, or restrictive assumption. The variations of various emerging parameters on the velocities (f', h, g', l)and temperature field (θ) are discussed through Figures 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6. The main results of the present analysis are as follows:

- (i) for two-dimensional case, the velocity f' decreases for shrinking parameter α while for axisymmetric shrinking surface, the velocity g' shows opposite behavior for α ;
- (ii) for two dimensional case and axisymmetric shrinking surface, the velocity profiles *h* and *l* increase with increasing value of β;

(iii) the effects of Prandtl number Pr are same on the temperature field for both cases.

Notations

ρ :	Density of fluid
v:	Kinematic viscosity
α_1 :	Second grade parameter
T:	Temperature
α:	Stretching and shrinking parameter
k:	Thermal conductivity
c_p :	Specific heat
T_0^{f} and T_{∞} :	The temperatures at and far away from the
	plate
Pr:	Prandtl number
β:	Dimensionless second grade parameter
f, g, h, l:	Dimensionless velocity profiles
θ :	Dimensionless temperature profile
и:	Velocity component in <i>x</i> direction
<i>v</i> :	Velocity component in <i>y</i> direction
<i>w</i> :	Velocity component in z direction
η:	Independent dimensionless parameter.

Acknowledgment

This work is supported by the Grant FEKT-S-11-2-921 of Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Communication, Brno University of Technology, Czech Republic.

References

(14)

- K. Hiemenz, "Die Grenzschict neinem in den gleichformigen flussigkeitsstrom eingetauchten geraden Kreiszylinder," *Dingler's Polytechnic Journal*, vol. 326, pp. 321–410, 1911.
- [2] F. Howann, "Der Einfluss grosser Zahigkeit bei der Stromung um den Zylinder und um die Kugel," Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik, vol. 16, pp. 153–164, 1936.
- [3] C. Y. Wang, "Stagnation flow towards a shrinking sheet," *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 377–382, 2008.
- [4] C. Y. Wang, "Similarity stagnation point solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations—review and extension," *European Journal of Mechanics*, *B/Fluids*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 678–683, 2008.
- [5] A. Yildirim and S. A. Sezer, "Analytical solution of MHD stagnationpoint flowin porous media by means of the homotopy perturbation method," *Journal of Porous Media*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 83–94, 2012.
- [6] H. A. Attia, "Hydromagnetic stagnation point flow with heat transfer over a permeable surface," *Arabian Journal for Science* and Engineering, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 107–112, 2003.
- [7] M. Massoudi and M. Ramezan, "Boundary layers heat transfer analysis of a viscoelastic fluid at a stagnation point," *Journal of Heat Transfer*, vol. 130, pp. 81–86, 1990.
- [8] V. K. Garg, "Heat transfer due to stagnation point flow of a non-Newtonian fluid," *Acta Mechanica*, vol. 104, no. 3-4, pp. 159–171, 1994.
- [9] J. H. He, "Homotopy perturbation method for solving boundary value problems," *Physics Letters A*, vol. 350, no. 1-2, pp. 87–88, 2006.

- [10] Y. Khan, N. Faraz, A. Yildirim, and Q. Wu, "A series solution of the long porous slider," *Tribology Transactions*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 187–191, 2011.
- [11] L. Xu, "He's homotopy perturbation method for a boundary layer equation in unbounded domain," *Computers and Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 54, no. 7-8, pp. 1067–1070, 2007.
- [12] P. D. Ariel, "Homotopy perturbation method and the natural convection flow of a third grade fluid through a circular tube," *Nonlinear Science Letters A*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 43–52, 2010.
- [13] Y. Khan and Q. Wu, "Homotopy perturbation transform method for nonlinear equations using He's polynomials," *Computers and Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 61, no. 8, pp. 1963–1967, 2011.
- [14] Y. Khan, "A method for solving nonlinear time-dependent drainage model," *Neural Computing and Applications*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 411-415, 2013.
- [15] Y. Khan, Q. Wu, N. Faraz, and A. Yildirim, "The effects of variable viscosity and thermal conductivity on a thin film flow over a shrinking/stretching sheet," *Computers and Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 61, no. 11, pp. 3391–3399, 2011.
- [16] J. H. He, "Asymptotic methods for solitary solutions and compactons," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2012, Article ID 916793, 130 pages, 2012.
- [17] M. Madani, Y. Khan, Gh. Mahmodi, N. Faraz, A. Yildirim, and B. Nasernejad, "Application of homotopy perturbation and numerical methods to the circular porous slider," *International Journal of Numerical Methods for Heat and Fluid Flow*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 705–717, 2012.

Research Article

Asymptotic Behavior of Solutions to a Linear Volterra Integrodifferential System

Yue-Wen Cheng and Hui-Sheng Ding

College of Mathematics and Information Science, Jiangxi Normal University, Nanchang, Jiangxi 330022, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Hui-Sheng Ding; dinghs@mail.ustc.edu.cn

Received 24 July 2013; Accepted 18 September 2013

Academic Editor: Josef Diblík

Copyright © 2013 Y.-W. Cheng and H.-S. Ding. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We investigate the asymptotic behavior of solutions to a linear Volterra integrodifferential system $x'_i(t) = a_i(t) + b_i(t)x_i(t) + \sum_{j=1}^n \int_0^t K_{ij}(t,s)x_j(s)ds, t \in \mathbb{R}^+, i = 1, 2, ..., n$. We show that under some suitable conditions, there exists a solution for the above integrodifferential system, which is asymptotically equivalent to some given functions. Two examples are given to illustrate our theorem.

1. Introduction

Throughout this paper, we denote by \mathbb{N} the set of positive integers, by \mathbb{R} the set of all real numbers, by \mathbb{R}^{n} the set of all *n*-dimensional real vectors. Moreover, $BC(\mathbb{R}^{+}, \mathbb{R}^{n})$ denotes the Banach space of all bounded and continuous functions $f : \mathbb{R}^{+} \to \mathbb{R}^{n}$ with the norm

$$\|f\| = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^{+1 \le j \le n}} \left| f_j(t) \right|, \tag{1}$$

where $f(t) = (f_1(t), ..., f_n(t))^T$ for $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$.

The aim of this paper is to study some asymptotic behavior of solutions to the following linear Volterra integrodifferential system:

$$x'_{i}(t) = a_{i}(t) + b_{i}(t) x_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{t} K_{ij}(t,s) x_{j}(s) ds,$$

$$t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(2)

where $a_i, b_i : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ and $K_{ij} : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n are all continuous functions.

Definition 1. We call $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)^T : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^n$ a solution of system (2) if x is continuously differentiable and satisfies (2).

The asymptotic behavior of solutions has been an important and interesting topic in the qualitative theory of differential and difference equations. Especially, recently, many authors have made interesting and important contributions on the asymptotic behavior of solutions for Volterra type difference equations (e.g., we refer the reader to [1–10] and references therein).

Very recently, Diblík and Schmeidel [6] obtained a very interesting result concerning the asymptotic behavior of solutions for the following linear Volterra difference equation:

$$x(n+1) = a(n) + b(n)x(n) + \sum_{i=0}^{n} K(n,i)x(i).$$
 (3)

More specifically, they proved that for every admissible constant $c \in \mathbb{R}$, there exists a solution x = x(n) of (3) such that

$$x(n) \sim \left(c + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{a(i)}{\beta(i+1)}\right) \beta(n), \quad n \longrightarrow \infty, \qquad (4)$$

where $\beta(n) = \prod_{i=0}^{n-1} b(i)$. However, to the best of our knowledge, it seems that there is no literature concerning such asymptotic behavior of solutions for Volterra type differential equations. That is the main motivation of this paper. In this paper, we will adopt the idea in the proof of [6] to investigate some asymptotic behaviors of solutions for Volterra differential system (2).

2. Main Result

Before establishing our main result, we first give an "Arzela-Ascoli" type theorem for the subsets of $BC(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

Lemma 2. Let $\mathcal{F} \subset BC(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^n)$, satisfying (i) \mathcal{F} is uniformly bounded; (ii) \mathcal{F} is equiuniformly continuous on every compact subset of \mathbb{R}^+ ; (iii) for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist $f_{\varepsilon} \in BC(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^n)$ and $T_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that $||f(t) - f_{\varepsilon}(t)|| < \varepsilon$ for all $f \in \mathcal{F}$ and $t \ge T_{\varepsilon}$. Then \mathcal{F} is precompact in $BC(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof. By the condition (iii), for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist $T_k > 0$ such that

$$\|F_1(t) - F_2(t)\| < \frac{1}{k}$$
 (5)

for all $F_1, F_2 \in \mathcal{F}$ and $t \ge T_k$.

Let $\{f_n\}$ be a sequence in \mathscr{F} . By (i) and (ii), it follows from Arzela-Ascoli theorem that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a subsequence $\{f_n^k\} \subset \{f_n\}$ such that $\{f_n^k\}$ is uniformly convergent on $[0, T_k]$. Then, by choosing the diagonal sequence, we can get a subsequence $\{f_m\} \subset \{f_n\}$ such that, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\{f_m\}$ is uniformly convergent on $[0, T_k]$.

It remains to show that $\{f_m\}$ is uniformly convergent on \mathbb{R}^+ . For every $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ with $1/k_0 < \varepsilon$. Since $\{f_m\}$ is uniformly convergent on $[0, T_{k_0}]$, for the above $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T_{k_0}]}\left\|f_{m_1}\left(t\right) - f_{m_2}\left(t\right)\right\| \le \varepsilon \tag{6}$$

for all $m_1, m_2 \ge N$; Combining this with (5), we conclude that

$$\sup_{t\in\mathbb{R}^{+}}\left\|f_{m_{1}}\left(t\right)-f_{m_{2}}\left(t\right)\right\|\leq\varepsilon\tag{7}$$

for all $m_1, m_2 \ge N$, that is, $\{f_m\}$ is uniformly convergent on \mathbb{R}^+ . This completes the proof.

Throughout the rest of this paper, for every $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, we assume that

$$A_{i} = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \left| A_{i}(t) \right| < +\infty, \tag{8}$$

where

$$A_{i}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{a_{i}(s)}{\beta_{i}(s)} ds,$$

$$\beta_{i}(t) = \exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} b_{i}(s) ds\right), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^{+},$$
(9)

$$0 \leq M_{i} := \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left| K_{ij}\left(t,s\right) \frac{\beta_{j}\left(s\right)}{\beta_{i}\left(t\right)} \right| ds \right) dt < 1.$$

Theorem 3. Assume that

$$0 < \liminf_{t \to +\infty} \beta_i(t) \le \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \beta_i(t) < +\infty,$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(10)

Let $c = (c_1, c_2, ..., c_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $c_i + A_i(t) \ge 0$ for all $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Then, there exists a solution $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)^T : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^n$ of system (2) such that

$$x_{i}(t) \sim (c_{i} + A_{i}(t)) \beta_{i}(t), \quad t \longrightarrow +\infty, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(11)

provided that $\liminf_{t \to +\infty} (c_i + A_i(t)) > 0.$

Proof. We define that

$$\alpha_{i}(0) = \frac{\left(c_{i} + A_{i}\right)M_{i}}{1 - M_{i}},$$

$$\alpha_{i}(t) = \left(c_{i} + A_{i} + \alpha_{i}(0)\right) \qquad (12)$$

$$\times \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} \left|K_{ij}(s, p) \frac{\beta_{j}(p)}{\beta_{i}(s)}\right| dp\right) ds,$$

for all $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Moreover, we define an operator $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2, ..., \rho_n)^T$ on

$$S = \left\{ z \in BC\left(\mathbb{R}^{+}, \mathbb{R}^{n}\right) : c_{i} + A_{i}\left(t\right) - \alpha_{i}\left(0\right) \right.$$
$$\leq z_{i}\left(t\right) \leq c_{i} + A_{i}\left(t\right) + \alpha_{i}\left(0\right), \qquad (13)$$
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ t \in \mathbb{R}^{+} \right\}$$

by

$$(\rho_{i}z)(t) = c_{i} + A_{i}(t) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} K_{ij}(s, p) z_{j}(p) \frac{\beta_{j}(p)}{\beta_{i}(s)} dp \right) ds, i = 1, 2..., n, (14)$$

for $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $z \in S$. It is easy to see that *S* is a nonempty, closed, and convex set in $BC(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^n)$. Next, we divide the remaining proof into two steps.

Step 1. $\rho(S) \in S$, ρ is continuous, and $\overline{\rho(S)}$ is compact. Let $z \in S$. We have

$$(\rho_i z)(t) \leq |c_i| + A_i + M_i \cdot ||z|| < +\infty,$$

$$t \in \mathbb{R}^+, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(15)

In addition, since $z \in S$, we have

$$|z_i(t)| \le c_i + A_i + \alpha_i(0), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^+, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (16)

Then, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\rho_{i} z \right)(t) - \left(c_{i} + A_{i}(t) \right) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} \left| K_{ij}\left(s, p \right) z_{j}\left(p \right) \frac{\beta_{j}\left(p \right)}{\beta_{i}\left(s \right)} \right| dp \right) ds \quad (17) \\ &\leq \left[c_{i} + A_{i} + \alpha_{i}\left(0 \right) \right] \cdot M_{i} = \alpha_{i}\left(0 \right) \end{split}$$

for all $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Thus, we conclude that $\rho(S) \in S$.

For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a constant $\delta = \varepsilon/\max_{1 \le i \le n} M_i$ such that for all $z, y \in S$ with $||z - y|| < \delta$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\rho_{i} z \right) \left(t \right) - \left(\rho_{i} y \right) \left(t \right) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} K_{ij} \left(s, p \right) z_{j} \left(p \right) \frac{\beta_{j} \left(p \right)}{\beta_{i} \left(s \right)} dp \right) ds \right. \\ &\left. - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} K_{ij} \left(s, p \right) y_{j} \left(p \right) \frac{\beta_{j} \left(p \right)}{\beta_{i} \left(s \right)} dp \right) ds \right| \\ &\leq \delta \cdot M_{i} \leq \varepsilon, \quad i \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}, \ t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}, \end{split}$$

$$(18)$$

which means that ρ is continuous.

Next, we show that $\rho(S)$ is precompact. Firstly, for every $x \in S$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \rho x \right\| &= \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left| \left(\rho_i x \right) (t) \right| \\ &\leq \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left[c_i + A_i + \alpha_i (0) \right], \end{aligned}$$
(19)

which means that $\rho(S)$ is uniformly bounded. Secondly, for every $z \in S$, $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and i = 1, 2, ..., n, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\rho_{i} z \right) \left(t_{1} \right) - \left(\rho_{i} z \right) \left(t_{2} \right) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t_{1}}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} K_{ij} \left(s, p \right) z_{j} \left(p \right) \frac{\beta_{j} \left(p \right)}{\beta_{i} \left(s \right)} dp \right) ds \right| \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t_{2}}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} K_{ij} \left(s, p \right) z_{j} \left(p \right) \frac{\beta_{j} \left(p \right)}{\beta_{i} \left(s \right)} dp \right) ds \right| \\ &\leq \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \left[c_{i} + A_{i} + \alpha_{i} \left(0 \right) \right] \\ &\cdot \left| \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{s} \left| K_{ij} \left(s, p \right) \frac{\beta_{j} \left(p \right)}{\beta_{i} \left(s \right)} \right| dp \right) ds \right|, \end{split}$$

$$(20)$$

which yields that $\rho(S)$ is equiuniformly continuous on every compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^+ . Thirdly, by the definition of M_i , for

every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists T > 0 such that for all $t \ge T$ and $z \in S$, we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} \left| K_{ij}\left(s,p\right) \frac{\beta_{j}\left(p\right)}{\beta_{i}\left(s\right)} \right| dp \right) ds$$

$$< \frac{\varepsilon}{\max_{1 \le i \le n} \left[c_{i} + A_{i} + \alpha_{i}\left(0\right) \right]}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(21)

which yields that

$$\left\|\rho_i z - \rho_i 0\right\| < \varepsilon, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \tag{22}$$

and thus $\|\rho z - \rho 0\| < \varepsilon$. Then, by Lemma 2, we know that $\rho(S)$ is precompact.

Step 2. By Step 1 and Schauder's fixed-point theorem, ρ has a fixed point in S; that is, there exists $z^0 = (z_1^0, z_2^0, \dots, z_n^0)^T \in S$ such that

$$z_{i}^{0}(t) = c_{i} + A_{i}(t) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} K_{ij}(s, p) z_{j}^{0}(p) \frac{\beta_{j}(p)}{\beta_{i}(s)} dp \right) ds,$$
(23)

for all $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Noting that

$$\sup_{z \in \mathcal{S}} \|z\| \le \max_{1 \le i \le n} \left[c_i + A_i + \alpha_i\left(0\right)\right],\tag{24}$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| z_{i}^{0}\left(t\right) - \left(c_{i} + A_{i}\left(t\right)\right) \right| \\ &\leq \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \left[c_{i} + A_{i} + \alpha_{i}\left(0\right)\right] \\ &\quad \cdot \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{s} \left| K_{ij}\left(s, p\right) \frac{\beta_{j}\left(p\right)}{\beta_{i}\left(s\right)} \right| dp \right) ds, \end{aligned}$$

$$(25)$$

for all $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Then, it is easy to see that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \left| z_i^0(t) - (c_i + A_i(t)) \right| = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(26)

Combining this with

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} \left(c_i + A_i(t) \right) > 0, \tag{27}$$

we have

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{z_i^0(t)}{c_i + A_i(t)} = 1, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(28)

that is,

$$z_i^0(t) \sim c_i + A_i(t), \quad t \longrightarrow +\infty, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (29)

Now, define a function $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)^T : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^n$ by

$$x_i(t) = z_i^0(t) \beta_i(t), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ t \in \mathbb{R}^+.$$
 (30)

It follows from (23) that

$$\frac{d}{dt}z_{i}^{0}(t) = \frac{a_{i}(t)}{\beta_{i}(t)} + \sum_{j=1}^{n}\int_{0}^{t}K_{ij}(t,p)z_{j}^{0}(p)\frac{\beta_{j}(p)}{\beta_{i}(t)}dp, \qquad (31)$$
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^{+},$$

which yields that

$$\frac{x_{i}'(t) \beta_{i}(t) - x_{i}(t) \beta_{i}'(t)}{\beta_{i}^{2}(t)} = \frac{a_{i}(t)}{\beta_{i}(t)} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{t} K_{ij}(t,s) \frac{x_{j}(s)}{\beta_{i}(t)} ds, \qquad (32)$$
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}.$$

Then, we get

$$x'_{i}(t) = a_{i}(t) + b_{i}(t) x_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{t} K_{ij}(t,s) x_{j}(s) ds,$$
(33)
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^{+},$$

which means that x is a solution to system (2). In addition, combining (28) with the assumption

$$0 < \liminf_{t \to +\infty} \beta_i(t) \le \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \beta_i(t) < +\infty,$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(34)

we get

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{x_i(t)}{(c_i + A_i(t))\beta_i(t)} = 1, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(35)

which yields (11).

Example 4. Let n = 1, and for all $t, s \in \mathbb{R}^+$,

$$a_{1}(t) = \exp(\sin \pi t) \cos t,$$

$$b_{1}(t) = \pi \cos \pi t,$$

$$K_{11}(t,s) = \frac{\exp(\sin \pi t)}{(1+t+s)^{3} \exp(\sin \pi s)}.$$
(36)

Then, for all $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, we have $\beta_1(t) = \exp(\sin \pi t)$,

$$A_{1}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{a_{1}(s)}{\beta_{1}(s)} ds = \sin t,$$

$$A_{1} = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}^{+}} \{ |A_{1}(t)| \} = 1 \in (0, +\infty),$$

$$M_{1} = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left| K_{11}(t, s) \frac{\beta(s)}{\beta(t)} \right| ds \right) dt$$

Abstract and Applied Analysis

$$= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{(1+t+s)^{3}} ds \right) dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{(1+t)^{2}} - \frac{1}{(1+2t)^{2}} \right] dt$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(1+t)^{2}} dt - \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(1+2t)^{2}} dt$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4} = \frac{1}{4} \in (0,1).$$

(37)

In addition, it is easy to see that

$$0 < e^{-1} = \liminf_{t \to +\infty} \beta_1(t)$$

$$\leq \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \beta_1(t) = e < +\infty.$$
(38)

Thus, by Theorem 3, we conclude that for every c > 1, there exists a solution $x : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ for (2) such that

$$x(t) \sim (c + \sin t) \exp(\sin \pi t), \quad t \longrightarrow +\infty.$$
 (39)

Remark 5. It is needed to note that in the above example, $(c + \sin t) \exp(\sin \pi t)$ is not a solution to (2).

Example 6. Consider the following system:

$$x'_{i}(t) = a_{i}(t) + b_{i}(t) x_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} K_{ij}(t,s) x_{j}(s) ds, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
(40)

where

$$a_{1}(t) = \exp(\sin \pi t) \cos t,$$

$$a_{2}(t) = -\exp(\cos \pi t) \sin t,$$

$$b_{1}(t) = \pi \cos \pi t,$$

$$b_{2}(t) = -\pi \sin \pi t,$$

$$(41)$$

$$(41)$$

$$K_{ij}(t,s) = \frac{(-1)^{-9} \exp(\sin \pi t)}{16 (1+t+s)^3 \exp(\sin \pi s)}$$

for all *i*, *j* = 1, 2, and *t*, *s* $\in \mathbb{R}^+$. By a direct calculation, we get

$$\begin{split} \beta_1(t) &= \exp(\sin \pi t), \\ \beta_2(t) &= \exp(-1 + \cos \pi t), \\ A_1(t) &= \int_0^t \frac{a_1(s)}{\beta_1(s)} ds = \sin t, \quad A_1 = 1, \\ A_2(t) &= \int_0^t \frac{a_2(s)}{\beta_2(s)} ds = (-1 + \cos t) e, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^+, \ A_2 = 2e, \end{split}$$

$$M_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left| K_{1j}(t,s) \frac{\beta_{j}(s)}{\beta_{1}(t)} \right| ds \right) dt$$

$$\leq \frac{1+e}{64} < 1,$$

$$M_{2} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left| K_{2j}(t,s) \frac{\beta_{j}(s)}{\beta_{2}(t)} \right| ds \right) dt$$

$$\leq \frac{e+2e^{3}}{64} < 1.$$
(42)

Moreover, we have

$$0 < e^{-1} = \liminf_{t \to +\infty} \beta_1(t)$$

$$\leq \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \beta_1(t) = e < +\infty,$$

$$0 < e^{-2} = \liminf_{t \to +\infty} \beta_2(t)$$

$$\leq \limsup_{t \to +\infty} \beta_2(t) = 1 < +\infty.$$
(43)

Then, by Theorem 3, for every $c = (c_1, c_2)^T \in \mathbb{R}^2$ with $c_1 > 1$ and $c_2 > 2e$, there exists a solution $x = (x_1, x_2) : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^2$ of system (40) such that

$$x_1(t) \sim (c_1 + \sin t) \exp(\sin \pi t), \quad t \longrightarrow +\infty,$$

$$x_2(t) \sim [c_2 + (-1 + \cos t)e] \exp(-1 + \cos \pi t), \quad t \longrightarrow +\infty.$$

(44)

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this paper.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Professor Diblík and two anonymous referees for their valuable suggestions and comments. In addition, Hui-Sheng Ding acknowledges support from the NSF of China (11101192), the Program for Cultivating Young Scientist of Jiangxi Province (20133BCB23009), and the NSF of Jiangxi Province; Yue-Wen Cheng acknowledges support from the Graduate Innovation Fund of Jiangxi Province.

References

- J. A. D. Applelby, I. Győri, and D. W. Reynolds, "On exact convergence rates for solutions of linear systems of Volterra difference equations," *Journal of Difference Equations and Applications*, vol. 12, no. 12, pp. 1257–1275, 2006.
- [2] J. Diblík, E. Schmeidel, and M. Růžičková, "Existence of asymptotically periodic solutions of system of Volterra difference equations," *Journal of Difference Equations and Applications*, vol. 15, no. 11-12, pp. 1165–1177, 2009.

- [3] J. Diblík, M. Růžičková, and E. Schmeidel, "Existence of asymptotically periodic solutions of scalar Volterra difference equations," *Tatra Mountains Mathematical Publications*, vol. 43, pp. 51–61, 2009.
- [4] J. Diblík, E. Schmeidel, and M. Růžičková, "Asymptotically periodic solutions of Volterra system of difference equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 59, no. 8, pp. 2854– 2867, 2010.
- [5] J. Diblík, E. Schmeidel, M. Růžičková, and M. Zbaszyniak, "Weighted asymptotically periodic solutions of linear Volterra difference equations," *Abstract and Applied Analysis*, vol. 2011, Article ID 370982, 14 pages, 2011.
- [6] J. Diblík and E. Schmeidel, "On the existence of solutions of linear Volterra difference equations asymptotically equivalent to a given sequence," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 218, no. 18, pp. 9310–9320, 2012.
- [7] I. Győri and D. W. Reynolds, "On asymptotically periodic solutions of linear discrete Volterra equations," *Fasciculi Mathematici*, no. 44, pp. 53–67, 2010.
- [8] W. Long and W.-H. Pan, "Asymptotically almost periodic solution to a class of Volterra difference equations," *Advances in Difference Equations*, vol. 2012, article 199, 2012.
- [9] R. Medina, "Asymptotic behavior of solutions of Volterra difference equations with finite linear part," *Nonlinear Studies*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 87–95, 2001.
- [10] R. Medina, "Asymptotic behavior of Volterra difference equations," *Computers & Mathematics with Applications*, vol. 41, no. 5-6, pp. 679–687, 2001.

Research Article

Regularity of a Stochastic Fractional Delayed Reaction-Diffusion Equation Driven by Lévy Noise

Tianlong Shen, Jianhua Huang, and Jin Li

Department of Mathematics, National University of Defense Technology, Changsha 410073, China

Correspondence should be addressed to Jianhua Huang; jhhuang32@nudt.edu.cn

Received 27 June 2013; Accepted 18 August 2013

Academic Editor: Agacik Zafer

Copyright © 2013 Tianlong Shen et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The current paper is devoted to the regularity of the mild solution for a stochastic fractional delayed reaction-diffusion equation driven by Lévy space-time white noise. By the Banach fixed point theorem, the existence and uniqueness of the mild solution are proved in the proper working function space which is affected by the delays. Furthermore, the time regularity and space regularity of the mild solution are established respectively. The main results show that both time regularity and space regularity of the mild solution depend on the regularity of initial value and the order of fractional operator. In particular, the time regularity is affected by the regularity of initial value with delays.

1. Introduction

Recently, fractional partial differential equations attract more and more attention. They appear more and more frequently in different research areas and engineering applications. They have been applied to model various phenomena in image analysis, risk management, and statistical mechanics (see, e.g., [1, 2]). There are many papers concerning the existence and regularity of the solution for fractional Navier-Stokes, fractional Ginzburg-Landau equation, fractional Burgers equation, fractional Langevin equation, and so on (see [3, 4] and references therein).

Stochastic partial differential equations driven by Gaussian noise and non-Gaussian noise such as Lévy noise have also attracted a lot of attention. It seems more significant to investigate fractional partial differential equations with some random force, and some authors have investigated the existence and regularity of the solutions for stochastic fractional partial differential equations ([2, 5-7] and the references therein). The authors in [6, 7] proved the existence and uniqueness of the solution for a stochastic fractional partial differential equation driven by a space-time white noise in one dimension. Truman and Wu in [8] applied the Banach fixed point theorem to show the existence and uniqueness of the mild solution for fractal Burgers equations driven by Lévy noise on real line. Brzeźniak and Debbi in papers [9, 10] proved the existence and ergodicity of the solution for fractal Burgers equation driven by Gaussian space-time white noise, and we refer to [9, 10] for more details. In mathematical biology and other fields, delays are often considered in the model such as maturation time for population dynamics. Some efforts have been devoted to the development of the theory of PDEs with delay. Such equations are naturally more difficult since they are infinite dimensional both in time and space variables. We refer to the monographs [11, 12] for more details. To our knowledge, there is no paper to study the stochastic fractional reaction-diffusion equation with delays.

It is worth to point out that the authors in [8] study the existence of the mild solution for stochastic fractional Burgers equation driven by Lévy noise, but they could not provide the regularity of the mild solution. The authors in [7, 13] study the regularity of the mild solution for stochastic fractional partial differential equations driven by Gaussian white noise, but not Lévy noise. There is a natural question, how about the regularity of the mild solution for the stochastic fraction delayed reaction-diffusion equation driven by Lévy noise?

Motivated by [8], in the present paper, we will study the stochastic fractional reaction-diffusion equation with delays driven by Lévy process followed as:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial u\left(t,x\right)}{\partial t} &= \lambda \Delta_{\alpha} u\left(t,x\right) + f\left(t,x,u_{t}\right) \\ &+ g\left(t,x,u_{t}\right) Z_{t,x}, \quad (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}, \\ u\left(0,x\right) &= u_{0}\left(x\right), \qquad u\left(\eta,x\right) = \phi\left(\eta,x\right), \quad \eta \in [-r,0], \end{aligned}$$
(1)

where $\Delta_{\alpha} := -(-d^2/dx^2)^{\alpha/2}$ is the fractional Laplacian operator with $\alpha \in (0, 2]$, the constants $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, $f, g : [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ are measurable, the function $u_t = u(t+\eta)$, and $Z_{t,x}$ is the one-dimensional Lévy process (see Section 2 for the definition). Recall that D_{α} reduces to be the Laplacian operator when $\alpha = 2$.

In this paper, the existence, uniqueness, time regularity, and space regularity of the mild solution for (1) are shown for $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ in the proper working function space which is affected by the delays. The main results show that both time regularity and space regularity of the mild solution for (1) depend on the regularity of initial value and the order of fractional operator. In particular, the time regularity is affected by the the regularity of initial value with delays.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we introduce the definition of the Lévy space-time white noise. Then, some useful properties for the fractional Green kernel are presented. In Section 3, the proper working function space is constructed. Then the existence and uniqueness of the mild solution for (1) are proved by the Banach fixed point theorem in the proper working function space. Finally, the time regularity and space regularity of the mild solution are provided, respectively, in Section 4.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we first introduce the Lévy space-time white noise. Then, some useful properties for the fractional Green kernel are presented.

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}\}_{t\geq 0}, P)$ be a complete probability space with filtration $\{\mathcal{F}\}_{t\geq 0}$ satisfying the usual condition. For onedimensional Lévy process $Z_{t,x}$, it follows from Lévy-Itô decomposition that there exist a constant β_1 and a nonnegative constant β_2 , and a one-dimensional space-time white noise $W_{t,x} = (\partial^2 W/\partial t \partial x)(t, x)$ (W(t, x) is a Brownian sheet on $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}$) such that

$$Z_{t,x} = \beta_1 t + \beta_2 W_{t,x} + \int_{|z| < 1} z \widetilde{N}(t, x, dz)$$

+
$$\int_{|z| \ge 1} z N(t, x, dz), \qquad (2)$$

where

$$\widetilde{N}(t, x, A) := N(t, x, A) - t\nu(A), \qquad (3)$$

where $\nu(A) := E[N(1, A)]$ is the Lévy measure of $Z_{t,x}$. Similar to [14], for any *p*, we denote

$$\widehat{c}_p := \left(\int_{\mathbb{D}} |z|^p \nu \left(dz \right) \right)^{1/p}.$$
(4)

In what follows, we assume that

$$\widehat{c} := \sup_{p \ge 1} \widehat{c}_p < \infty.$$
(5)

Recalling that

$$\int_{|z|<1} zN(t, x, dz) = \int_{|z|<1} z\widetilde{N}(t, x, dz) + t \int_{|z|<1} z\nu(dz).$$
(6)

By absorbing $\tilde{\beta} := -\int_{|z|<1} z\nu(dz)$ into β_1 , we can rewrite (2) into the following equation:

$$Z_{t,x} = \beta_1 t + \beta_2 W_{t,x} + \int_{\mathbb{R}} zN(t, x, dz).$$
 (7)

Let $\beta_1 = 0$; then (1) can be written as

$$du(t, x) = [\lambda \Delta_{\alpha} u(t, x) + f(t, x, u_t)] dt + h(t, x, u_t) dW_{t,x} + g(t, x, u_t) dY_{t,x}, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R},$$

$$u(0, x) = u_0(x), \quad u(\eta, x) = \phi(\eta, x), \quad \eta \in (r, 0],$$
(8)

where $W_{t,x}$ is a one-dimensional space-time white noise and $Y_{t,x} := \int_{\mathbb{R}} zN(t, x, dz)$ is a one-dimensional pure jump Lévy process with Lévy measure of v. We suppose that W generates a $\{\mathcal{F}\}_{t>0}$ -martingale measure in the sense of Walsh [15].

The following assumptions are imposed to the initial data u_0 and $\phi(\eta, x)$, $f(u_t)$, $h(u_t)$, and $g(u_t)$ to show the existence and uniqueness of the mild solution.

(H1) The initial data u_0 which is \mathcal{F}_0 -measurable and ϕ satisfy

$$\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\left|u\left(0,x\right)\right|^{2}<\infty,\qquad \sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\int_{-r}^{0}\left|\phi\left(\eta,x\right)\right|^{2}d\eta<\infty.$$
 (9)

(H2) There exists a constant *K* such that for all $t \ge 0$,

$$|f(u_{t})|^{2} + |h(u_{t})|^{2} + \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |g(u_{t})| |z| v(dz)\right)^{2}$$

$$< K\left(|u|^{2} + \int_{-r}^{0} |u(t+\eta)|^{2} d\eta\right),$$

$$|f(u_{t}) - f(v_{t})|^{2} + |h(u_{t}) - h(v_{t})|^{2}$$

$$+ \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} |g(u_{t}) - g(v_{t})| |z| v(dz)\right)^{2}$$

$$< K\left(|u-v|^{2} + \int_{-r}^{0} |u(t+\eta) - v(t+\eta)|^{2} d\eta\right).$$
(10)

Let the Green kennel $G_{\alpha}(t, x)$ be the fundamental solution of the Cauchy problem:

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = \lambda \Delta_{\alpha} v, \quad (t, x) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R},
v(0, x) = \delta_0(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R},$$
(11)

where $\delta_0(x)$ denotes the Dirac function. By Fourier transform,

$$G_{\alpha}(t,x) = \left[\mathscr{F}^{-1}\left(e^{\lambda t |\cdot|^{\alpha}}\right)\right](x).$$
(12)

A higher order fractional Green kennel is introduced in [16].

The following lemma gives some useful properties about $G_{\alpha}(t, x)$, which are key technique tools to get the estimation for the existence and uniqueness of the mild solution.

Lemma 1 (see [7]). *The Green kernel function* $G_{\alpha}(t, x)$ *satisfies the following properties.*

- (1) For any $t \ge 0$ $G_{\alpha}(t, x) = t^{-1/\alpha}G_{\alpha}(1, t^{-1/\alpha}x)$.
- (2) For $n \in (1/(\alpha+1), \alpha+1)$, $\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}} |G_{\alpha}(t, x)|^n dt \, dx < \infty$.
- (3) For any $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $\int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t, x) dx = 1$.
- (4) For any $t, s \in \mathbb{R}$, $G_{\alpha}(t, x) * G_{\alpha}(s, x) = G_{\alpha}(t + s, x)$.
- (5) For any $x \in \mathbb{R}$, there exists a constant *C* such that

$$G_{\alpha}(1,x) \leq \frac{C}{1+|x|^{1+\alpha}},$$

$$\partial_{x}^{m}G_{\alpha}(1,x) \leq C\frac{|x|^{\alpha+m-1}}{1+|x|^{1+\alpha}}.$$
(13)

3. Existence of the Mild Solution

In this section, we will first construct the proper working function space.

Let *T* be a fixed positive time and \mathbb{B} the class of all \mathscr{F}_t -adapted càdlàg process { $u(t, x), (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}$ } satisfying

$$\sup_{(t,x)\in[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}} E\left[\left|u\left(t,x\right)\right|^{2}\right] < \infty.$$
(14)

Let $\lambda > 0$ be arbitrarily fixed; we define

$$|u|_{\lambda}^{2} = \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda t} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} E|u(t,x)|^{2} dt \right\}_{t \ge 0}$$

$$+ \left\{ \int_{-r}^{0} e^{-\lambda t} E|u(t,x)|^{2} dt \right\}_{t \in (-r,0)}.$$
(15)

For any $u \in \mathbb{B}$, $|u|_{\lambda}^2 < \infty$. It is easy to verify that $|\cdot|_{\lambda}$ is a norm and $(\mathbb{B}, |\cdot|_{\lambda})$ is a Banach space.

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, P)$ and $G_{\alpha}(t, x)$ be given as in the previous section. Following the idea in [17], we represent a mild solution of (8) for $t \geq 0$.

Definition 2. An \mathcal{F}_t -adapted random field { $u(t, x), t \ge 0, x \in \mathbb{R}$ } is said to be a mild solution of (8) with initial value u_0 satisfying (H1) if the following integral equation is fulfilled:

$$u(t, x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t, x - y) u_0(y) dy$$

+ $\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t - s, x - y) f(u_s) dy ds$
+ $\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t - s, x - y) h(u_s) W(dy, ds)$
+ $\int_0^t \iint_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t - s, x - y) g(u_s) zN(ds, dy, dz),$
(16)

where the stochastic integral with respect to W(t, x) is understood in the sense of that introduced by Walsh [15]. **Theorem 3.** For $t \ge 0$ and $\alpha \in (1, 2]$, assume that (H1) and (H2) hold, then there exists a unique mild solution $u \in \mathbb{B}$ for (8).

Remark 4. In the following proof, *C* is a local constant which may change from line to line.

Proof. We will prove the theorem by the following two steps.

Step 1. Suppose that $u \in \mathbb{B}$ and denote

$$\mathcal{T}u(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t,x-y) u_0(y) dy + \mathcal{T}_1 u(t,x) + \mathcal{T}_2 u(t,x) + \mathcal{T}_3 u(t,x),$$
(17)

where

$$\mathcal{T}_{1}u(t,x) = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t-s,x-y) f(u_{s}) dy ds,$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{2}u(t,x) = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t-s,x-y) h(u_{s}) W(dy,ds),$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{3}u(t,x) = \int_{0}^{t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(t-s,x-y)$$

$$\times g(u_{s}) zN(ds,dy,dz).$$
(18)

It follows from Hölder's inequality, Lemma 1, (H1), and (H2) that

$$\begin{split} E\left|\mathcal{T}_{1}u\left(t,x\right)\right|^{2} \\ &= E\left|\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)f\left(u_{s}\right)dy\,ds\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)dy\,ds \\ &\times\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)E\left|f\left(u_{s}\right)\right|^{2}dy\,ds \\ &\leq CK\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right) \\ &\quad \times E\left(\left|u\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2} \\ &\quad +\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\right)dy\,ds \\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left(\left|u\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2} \\ &\quad +\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\right)ds \\ &\leq Ct+C\int_{0}^{t}\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\,ds \\ &\leq Ct+C\int_{-r}^{0}\int_{-r}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}ds\,d\eta \end{split}$$
Abstract and Applied Analysis

(20)

$$\leq Ct + Cr \int_{-r}^{0} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s, y)|^{2} ds$$

+ $Cr \int_{0}^{t} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s, y)|^{2} ds$
$$\leq Ct (r + 1) + Cr < \infty.$$
 (19)

Applying Burkholder-Davis-Gundy inequality, Lemma 1, (H1), and (H2), we have

 $E\left|\mathcal{T}_{3}u(t,x)\right|^{2}$

$$= E \left| \int_{0}^{t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(t - s, x - y \right) g\left(u_{s} \right) z N\left(ds, dy, dz \right) \right|^{2}$$

$$\leq C \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}^{2} \left(t - s, x - y \right)$$

$$\times E \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| g\left(u_{s} \right) \right| \left| z \right| v\left(dz \right) \right)^{2} dy \, ds$$

$$\leq C K \int_{0}^{t} \left(t - s \right)^{-1/\alpha} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left(\left| u\left(s, y \right) \right|^{2}$$

$$+ \int_{-r}^{0} \left| u\left(s + \eta, y \right) \right|^{2} d\eta \right) ds$$

$$\leq C \left(t^{1-(1/\alpha)} + (t + r)^{1-(1/\alpha)} + t^{2-(1/\alpha)} \right) < \infty.$$
(21)

Thus, combining (19) and (20) with (21), we derive

$$E|u(t,x)|^{2} \leq C \left[t(r+1) + r + t^{1-(1/\alpha)} + (t+r)^{1-(1/\alpha)} + t^{2-(1/\alpha)} + r^{2-(1/\alpha)} \right].$$
(22)

Taking Laplace transform formula and (22), we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathcal{T}u\left(t,x\right) \right|_{\lambda}^{2} \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda t} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \left| \mathcal{T}u\left(t,x\right) \right|^{2} dt \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} \left[t\left(r+1\right) + r + t^{1-(1/\alpha)} \right. \\ &+ \left(t+r\right)^{1-(1/\alpha)} + t^{2-(1/\alpha)} \\ &+ r^{2-(1/\alpha)} \right] dt \\ &\leq C \left[\left(r+1\right) \Gamma\left(2\right) \lambda^{-2} + r\lambda^{-1} \\ &+ \left(e^{r}+1\right) \Gamma\left(2 - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \lambda^{-(2-(1/\alpha))} \end{split}$$

$$+ \Gamma\left(3 - \frac{1}{\alpha}\right)\lambda^{-(3 - (1/\alpha))}$$
$$+ r^{2 - (1/\alpha)}\lambda^{-1}]$$
$$\leq C \left[\lambda^{-2} + \lambda^{-1} + \lambda^{-(2 - (1/\alpha))}$$
$$+ \lambda^{-(3 - (1/\alpha))}\right] < \infty;$$
(23)

that is, $\mathcal{T}u \in \mathbb{B}$, which implies that operator $\mathcal{T} : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{B}$.

Step 2. For any $u, v \in \mathbb{B}$ and $t \ge 0$, it follows from Hölder's inequality, Lemma 1, and (H2) that

$$\begin{split} E\left|\mathcal{F}_{1}u\left(t,x\right) - \mathcal{F}_{1}v\left(t,x\right)\right|^{2} \\ &= E\left|\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\left(f\left(u_{s}\right) - f\left(v_{s}\right)\right)dy\,ds\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)dy\,ds \\ &\qquad \times\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)E\left|f\left(u_{s}\right) - f\left(v_{s}\right)\right|^{2}dy\,ds \\ &\leq CK\int_{0}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left(\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2} \\ &\qquad +\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right) - v\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\right)ds \\ &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds \\ &\qquad +\int_{-r}^{0}\int_{-r}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds\,d\eta\right) \\ &= C\left(\left(r+1\right)\int_{0}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds \\ &\qquad +r\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds \\ &\qquad +r\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds \\ &\qquad +r\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds \\ &\qquad +2\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds \\ &\qquad +2\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right)$$

By Burkholder-Davis-Gundy inequality, Lemma 1 and (H2), we have

$$\begin{split} E\left|\mathcal{T}_{2}u\left(t,x\right)-\mathcal{T}_{2}v\left(t,x\right)\right|^{2} \\ &= E\left|\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\left(h\left(u_{s}\right)-h\left(v_{s}\right)\right)W\left(dy\,ds\right)\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}^{2}\left(t-s,x-y\right)E\left|h\left(u_{s}\right)-h\left(v_{s}\right)\right|^{2}dy\,ds \\ &\leq CK\int_{0}^{t}\left(t-s\right)^{-(1/\alpha)} \\ &\qquad \times\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left(\left|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2} \\ &\qquad +\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right)-v\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\right)ds \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-1/\alpha}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\right.\\ &+\int_{-r}^{0}\int_{-r}^{t}|t+\eta-s|^{-1/\alpha}\\ &\times\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\,d\eta\right)\\ &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-1/\alpha}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\right.\\ &+\int_{-r}^{t+\eta}\int_{-r}^{0}(t+\eta-s)^{-1/\alpha}\\ &\times\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}d\eta\,ds\right)\\ &+\int_{t+\eta}^{t}\int_{-r}^{0}(s-\eta-t)^{-1/\alpha}\\ &\quad \sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}d\eta\,ds\right)\\ &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-1/\alpha}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\right.\\ &+\int_{-r}^{0}(t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\\ &+\int_{0}^{t+\eta}(t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\\ &+r^{1-(1/\alpha)}\int_{t+\eta}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\right),\\ E|\mathcal{F}_{3}u\left(t,x\right)-\mathcal{F}_{3}v\left(t,x\right)|^{2}\\ &=E\left|\int_{0}^{t}\iint_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\right.\\ &\quad \times\left(g\left(u_{s}\right)-g\left(v_{s}\right)\right)zN\left(ds,dy,dz\right)\right|^{2}\\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}^{2}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\\ &\quad \times E\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left|g\left(u_{s}\right)-g\left(v_{s}\right)\right||z|v\left(dz\right)\right)^{2}dy\,ds\\ &\leq CK\int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-1/\alpha}\\ &\quad \times\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left(\left|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}\\ &+\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right)-v\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\right)ds\\ &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-1/\alpha}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\\ &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-1/\alpha}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u\left(s,y\right)-v\left(s,y\right)|^{2}ds\right). \end{split}$$

$$+ \int_{-r}^{0} (t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s, y) - v(s, y)|^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t+\eta} (t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s, y) - v(s, y)|^{2} ds + r^{1-(1/\alpha)} \int_{t+\eta}^{t} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s, y) - v(s, y)|^{2} ds \bigg).$$
(25)

Thus, it follows that

$$\begin{split} E|\mathcal{F}u(t,x) - \mathcal{F}v(t,x)|^{2} \\ &\leq C\left((r+1)\int_{0}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2}ds \\ &+ r\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2}ds \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-1/\alpha}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2}ds \\ &+ \int_{-r}^{0}(t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2}ds \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t+\eta}(t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2}ds \\ &+ r^{1-(1/\alpha)}\int_{t+\eta}^{t}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2}ds \\ \end{split}$$
(26)

Finally, direct computation implies that

$$\begin{split} |\mathcal{T}u(t,x) - \mathcal{T}v(t,x)|_{\lambda}^{2} \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda t} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |\mathcal{T}u(t,x) - \mathcal{T}v(t,x)|^{2} \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda t} \left((r+1) \right) \\ &\quad \times \int_{0}^{t} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2} ds \\ &\quad + r \int_{-r}^{0} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2} ds \\ &\quad + \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{-1/\alpha} \\ &\quad \times \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2} ds \\ &\quad + \int_{-r}^{0} (t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)} \\ &\quad \times \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u(s,y) - v(s,y)|^{2} ds \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \int_{0}^{t+\eta} (t-s)^{1-(1/\alpha)} \\ &\times \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ r^{1-(1/\alpha)} \\ &\times \int_{t+\eta}^{t} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \Big) dt \\ &\leq C \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} dt \\ &\times \left((r+1) \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \right) \\ &+ r \int_{-r}^{0} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ r \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} t^{-1/\alpha} dt \\ &\times \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} t^{1-(1/\alpha)} dt \\ &\times \int_{0}^{0} e^{-\lambda t} t^{1-(1/\alpha)} dt \\ &\times \int_{0}^{T+\eta} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\lambda t} dt \times r^{1-(1/\alpha)} \\ &\times \int_{T+\eta}^{T} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ \left(\frac{r}{\lambda} + \frac{\Gamma\left(1 - (1/\alpha)\right)}{\lambda^{1-(1/\alpha)}} \right) \\ &\times \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ \left(\frac{r}{\lambda} + \frac{\Gamma\left(2 - (1/\alpha)\right)}{\lambda^{2-(1/\alpha)}} \right) \\ &\times \int_{0}^{0} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma\left(2 - (1/\alpha)\right)}{\lambda^{2-(1/\alpha)}} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{T+\eta} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma\left(2 - (1/\alpha)\right)}{\lambda^{2-(1/\alpha)}} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{T+\eta} e^{-\lambda s} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u\left(s,y\right) - v\left(s,y\right)|^{2} ds \end{split}$$

$$+\frac{r^{1-(1/\alpha)}}{\lambda}\int_{T+\eta}^{T}e^{-\lambda s}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y)-v(s,y)|^{2}ds\right]$$

$$\leq \frac{C_{1}}{\lambda^{K_{1}}}\left(\int_{0}^{T}e^{-\lambda s}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y)-v(s,y)|^{2}ds\right)$$

$$+\int_{-r}^{0}e^{-\lambda s}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E|u(s,y)-v(s,y)|^{2}ds\right)$$

$$=\frac{C_{1}}{\lambda^{K_{1}}}|u-v|_{\lambda}^{2},$$
(27)

where $C_1 = 2C \cdot \max\{r+1, \Gamma(1-(1/\alpha)), \Gamma(2-(1/\alpha)), r^{1-(1/\alpha)}\}$ and $K_1 = 1 - (1/\alpha)$.

Let λ that large enough such that

$$\frac{C_1}{\lambda^{K_1}} < 1, \tag{28}$$

which implies that the operator $\mathcal{T} : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{B}$ is contraction. By the Banach fixed point theorem, there exists a unique fixed point in \mathbb{B} . Moreover, the fixed point is the unique mild solution of (8).

Remark 5. If there are no delays, Theorem 3 can be solved in the following working function space:

$$|u|_{\lambda}^{2} = \int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda t} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} E|u(t,x)|^{2} dt, \qquad (29)$$

where $u \in \mathbb{B}$, which implies that the delays affect the working function space.

4. The Regularity of the Mild Solution

In this section, we will show the time regularity and space regularity of the mild solution for (8). In order to prove the regularity, we need the following assumptions:

(H3) there exists some $\gamma < 1/2$

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} E\left(\left| u_0 \left(x + z \right) - u_0 \left(x \right) \right|^2 \right) < c|z|^{2\gamma};$$
(30)

(H4) for $\theta > 0$, let $|\phi(\eta, x)| < \infty$ and there exists some $\pi < 1$ such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{-r}^{-\theta} E \left| u\left(\eta + \theta, x\right) - u\left(\eta, x\right) \right|^2 d\eta < c |\theta|^{2\pi}; \quad (31)$$

(H5)
$$|f(t_1, y, u_{t_1}) - f(t_2, y, u_{t_2})|^2 \le c(|t_1 - t_2|^2 + |u(t_1) - u(t_2)|^2 + \int_{-r}^0 |u(t_1 + \eta) - u(t_2 + \eta)|^2 d\eta).$$

To the end, we will give an important lemma from [7].

Lemma 6. (1) For $1 < n < \alpha + 1$, $\int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} |G_{\alpha}(1 + v, z) - G_{\alpha}(v, z)|^n dz \, dv < \infty$. (2) For $(\alpha + 1)/2 < n < \alpha + 1$, $\int_0^\infty \int_{\mathbb{R}} |G_{\alpha}(v, z + 1) - G_{\alpha}(v, z)|^n dz \, dv < \infty$. **Theorem 7.** Assume that the conditions (H1)–(H5) are satisfied; then for $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ and $t \ge 0$, there exists a continuous modification u(t, x), which is β -Hölder continuous in t, where $\beta = \min\{\gamma/\alpha, \pi, (1/2) - (1/2\alpha)\}.$

Proof. For $t \ge 0$, it follows that, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\theta > 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} |u(t+\theta,x) - u(t,x)| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t+\theta, x-y \right) - G_{\alpha} \left(t, x-y \right) \right) u_{0} \left(y \right) dy \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{0}^{t+\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t+\theta-s, x-y \right) \right) f \left(u_{s} \right) dy ds \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t+\theta-s, x-y \right) \right) - G_{\alpha} \left(t-s, x-y \right) \right) h \left(u_{s} \right) W \left(ds dy \right) \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{t}^{t+\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(t+\theta-s, x-y \right) h \left(u_{s} \right) W \left(ds dy \right) \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{0}^{t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t+\theta-s, x-y \right) - G_{\alpha} \left(t-s, x-y \right) \right) \right) \right. \\ & \left. \times g \left(u_{s} \right) zN \left(ds, dz \right) dy \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{t}^{t+\theta} \iint_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(t+\theta-s, x-y \right) g \left(u_{s} \right) zN \left(ds, dz \right) dy \right| \\ &= \phi_{\theta}^{0} + \phi_{\theta}^{1} + \phi_{\theta}^{2} + \phi_{\theta}^{3} + \phi_{\theta}^{4} + \phi_{\theta}^{5}. \end{aligned}$$

Next, we will estimate each term ϕ_{θ}^{j} (j = 0, 1, ..., 5), respectively.

Combining Hölder inequality, Lemma 1 with (H3) yields

$$E \left| \phi_{\theta}^{0} \right|^{2}$$

$$= E \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(\theta, z \right) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(t, x - y \right) \times \left(u_{0} \left(y - z \right) - u_{0} \left(y \right) \right) dy \right] dz \right|^{2}$$

$$\leq CE \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(\theta, z \right) \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(t, x - y \right) \times \left(u_{0} \left(y - z \right) - u_{0} \left(y \right) \right) dy \right]^{2} dz \right)$$

$$\times \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(\theta, z \right) dz \right)$$

$$\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(\theta, z) \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E |u_{0}(y - z) - u_{0}(y)|^{2} dz$$

$$\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}(\theta, z) |z|^{2\gamma} dz = C \int_{\mathbb{R}} \theta^{2\gamma/\alpha} G_{\alpha}(1, z) z^{2\gamma} dz$$

$$\leq C \theta^{2\gamma/\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{|z|^{2\gamma}}{1 + |z|^{1+\alpha}} dz \leq C \theta^{2\gamma/\alpha}.$$
(33)

Next, we consider ϕ_{θ}^1 . Let $s' = s - \theta$; then,

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\phi_{\theta}^{1}\right| &\leq \left|\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}\left(t-s, x-y\right) \times \left(f\left(s+\theta, y, u_{s+\theta}\right) - f\left(s, y, u_{s}\right)\right) dy \, ds\right| \\ &+ \left|\int_{0}^{\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s, x-y\right) \times f\left(s, y, u_{s}\right) dy \, ds\right| \\ &= \left|\phi_{\theta}^{1.1} + \phi_{\theta}^{1.2}\right|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(34)$$

By Hölder inequality, Lemma 1, (H4), and (H5), we have

$$\begin{split} E \left| \phi_{\theta}^{1,1} \right|^2 \\ &\leq C \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(t - s, x - y \right) dy \, ds \\ &\times \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha} \left(t - s, x - y \right) \\ &\times E \left| f \left(s + \theta, y, u_{s+\theta} \right) - f \left(s, y, u_s \right) \right|^2 dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \int_0^t \left(\theta^2 + \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 \\ &+ \int_{-r}^0 \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta + \eta, y \right) \\ &- u \left(s + \eta, y \right) \right|^2 d\eta \right) ds \\ &\leq C \left(T \theta^2 + (r+1) \\ &\times \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ r \int_{-r}^{-\theta} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_{-\theta}^0 \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_{-\theta}^0 \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right) \right|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s + \theta, y \right) - u \left(s, y \right)$$

$$\begin{split} E\left|\phi_{\theta}^{1,2}\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{\theta}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right)dy\,ds \\ &\qquad \times\int_{0}^{\theta}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right)E\left|f\left(u_{s}\right)\right|^{2}dy\,ds \\ &\leq C\theta\int_{0}^{\theta}\int_{\mathbb{R}}G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right)E\left|f\left(u_{s}\right)\right|^{2}dy\,ds \\ &\leq C\theta\int_{0}^{\theta}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left(\left|u\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}+\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(s+\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\right)ds \\ &\leq C\theta\left(\left(r+1\right)\int_{0}^{\theta}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds \\ &\qquad +r\int_{-r}^{0}\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2}ds\right) \\ &\leq C\left(\theta^{2}+\theta\right). \end{split}$$

$$(35)$$

Taking the transformation $s = \theta v$, $y = \theta^{1/\alpha} z$, by Burkholder-Davis-Gundy inequality, Lemmas 1 and 6, and (H2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} E \left|\phi_{\theta}^{2}\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} E\left(G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right)\right)^{2} h^{2}\left(u_{s}\right) ds \, dy \\ &\leq CK \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right)\right)^{2} h^{2}\left(u_{s}\right) ds \, dy \\ &\quad -G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\right)^{2} \\ &\quad \times E\left(\left|u\left(s\right)\right|^{2} + \int_{-r}^{0} \left|u\left(s+\eta\right)\right|^{2} d\eta\right) dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right) - G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\right)^{2} \\ &\quad \times E\left(\left|u\left(s\right)\right|^{2} + \int_{-r}^{0} \left|u\left(\eta\right)\right|^{2} d\eta \\ &\quad + \int_{0}^{t} \left|u\left(\eta'\right)\right|^{2} d\eta'\right) dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \left(\left(T+1\right) \sup_{\left[0,T\right] \times \mathbb{R}} E \left|u\left(s,y\right)\right|^{2} + \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{-r}^{0} \left|u\left(\eta,y\right)\right|^{2} d\eta \right) \\ &\quad \times \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(s+\theta,y\right) - G_{\alpha}\left(s,y\right)\right)^{2} dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \left(\theta^{-1/\alpha}\theta \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(v+1,z\right) - G_{\alpha}\left(v,z\right)\right)^{2} dz \, dv \right) \\ &\leq C \theta^{1-(1/\alpha)}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} E \left| \phi_{\theta}^{3} \right|^{2} \\ &\leq C \int_{t}^{t+\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} E \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t + \theta - s, x - y \right) \right)^{2} \left| h \left(u_{s} \right) \right|^{2} ds \, dy \\ &\leq C \int_{t}^{t+\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} E \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t + \theta - s, x - y \right) \right)^{2} \\ &\quad -G_{\alpha} \left(t - s, x - y \right) \right)^{2} \\ &\quad \times \left(\left| u \left(s, y \right) \right|^{2} + \int_{-r}^{0} \left| u \left(s + \eta \right) \right|^{2} d\eta \right) dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \int_{t}^{t+\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} E \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t + \theta - s, x - y \right) \right)^{2} \\ &\quad -G_{\alpha} \left(t - s, x - y \right) \right)^{2} \\ &\quad \times \left(\left| u \left(s, y \right) \right|^{2} + \int_{-r}^{t+\theta} \left| u \left(\eta' \right) \right|^{2} d\eta' \right) dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \left(\left(T + 1 + \theta \right) \sup_{[0, T + \theta] \times \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(s, y \right) \right|^{2} \\ &\quad + \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{-r}^{0} \left| u \left(\eta, y \right) \right|^{2} d\eta \right) \\ &\quad \times \int_{0}^{\theta} \int_{\mathbb{R}} E \left(G_{\alpha} \left(s + \theta, y \right) - G_{\alpha} \left(s, y \right) \right)^{2} dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \left(1 + \theta \right) \theta^{1 - (1/\alpha)} \\ &\quad \times \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} E \left(G_{\alpha} \left(1 + v, z \right) - G_{\alpha} \left(v, z \right) \right)^{2} dz \, dv \\ &\leq C \left(\theta^{1 - (1/\alpha)} + \theta^{2 - (1/\alpha)} \right). \end{split}$$
(36)

Then, by the same method, we have

$$\begin{split} E\left|\phi_{\theta}^{4}\right|^{2} &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right)-G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\right)^{2} \\ &\times E\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left|g\left(u_{s}\right)\right|\left|z\right|\nu\left(dz\right)\right)^{2} ds \, dy \\ &\leq CK \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t+\theta-s,x-y\right) \\ &-G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x-y\right)\right)^{2} \\ &\times E\left(\left|u\left(s\right)\right|^{2}+\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(s+\eta\right)\right|^{2} d\eta\right) dy \, ds \\ &\leq C\theta^{1-(1/\alpha)}, \\ &E\left|\phi_{\theta}^{5}\right|^{2} \leq C\left(\theta^{1-(1/\alpha)}+\theta^{2-(1/\alpha)}\right). \end{split}$$

$$(37)$$

Thus, from the previous estimates, let $\beta = \min\{\gamma/\alpha, \pi, (1/2) - (1/2\alpha)\}$:

$$E|u(t+\theta,x) - u(t,x)|^{2}$$

$$\leq C\left[\theta^{2\beta} + \int_{0}^{t} \sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}} E|u(s+\theta,y) - u(s,y)|^{2} ds\right].$$
(38)

Hence, it follows from Gronwall's Lemma that

$$E|u(t+\theta, x) - u(t, x)|^2 \le C\theta^{2\beta}.$$
(39)

Then, for $t \ge 0$, we have

$$|u(t+\theta,x) - u(t,x)|_{\lambda}^{p}$$

$$= \left(\int_{0}^{T} e^{-\lambda t} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} E|u(t+\theta,x) - u(t,x)|^{2} ds\right)^{p/2}$$

$$\leq C\theta^{\beta p}.$$
(40)

Finally, we study the space regularity of the mild solution for (8).

Theorem 8. Assume that the conditions (H1)–(H3) are satisfied; then for $\alpha \in (1, 2]$ and $t \ge 0$, there exists a continuous modification u(t, x), which is ρ -Hölder continuous in x, where $\rho = \min\{\gamma, \vartheta, \alpha - 1\}$.

Proof. It follows that, for any $t \in [0, T]$ and $\zeta > 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| u\left(t, x + \zeta\right) - u\left(t, x\right) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t, x + \zeta - y\right) - G_{\alpha}\left(t, x - y\right) \right) u_{0}\left(y\right) dy \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t - s, x + \zeta - y\right) \right. \\ &- G_{\alpha}\left(t - s, x - y\right) \right) f\left(u_{s}\right) dy ds \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t - s, x + \zeta - y\right) \right. \\ &- G_{\alpha}\left(t - s, x - y\right) \right) h\left(u_{s}\right) W\left(ds dy\right) \right| \\ &+ \left| \int_{0}^{t} \iint_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t - s, x + \zeta - y\right) \right. \\ &- G_{\alpha}\left(t - s, x - y\right) \right) g\left(u_{s}\right) z N\left(ds, dz\right) dy \end{aligned}$$

(41)

By (H3) and Lemma 1, we have

$$E\left|\phi_{\zeta}^{0}\right|^{2} = E\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}\left(t, x - y\right)\left[u_{0}\left(y + \zeta\right) - u_{0}\left(y\right)\right]dy\right|^{2}$$

$$\leq \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} E\left(\left|u_{0}\left(y + \zeta\right) - u_{0}\left(y\right)\right|^{2}\right)$$

$$\times \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} G_{\alpha}\left(t, x - y\right)dy\right)^{2}$$

$$\leq C\zeta^{2\gamma}.$$
(42)

By (H2), Hölder's inequality and Lemma 1, we set $\epsilon = (1/2)(\alpha + 1) - \delta$ (δ is small enough) and $\vartheta \in (0, 1)$ and we can derive

$$\begin{split} E\left|\phi_{\zeta}^{1}\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C\left(\left(1+T\right)\sup_{[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}}E\left|u\left(t,x\right)\right|^{2}+\sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}}\int_{-r}^{0}\left|u\left(\eta,y\right)\right|^{2}d\eta\right)\right) \\ &\times\left|\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}\left(G_{\alpha}\left(s,y+\zeta\right)-G_{\alpha}\left(s,y\right)\right)dy\,ds\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C\left|\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}s^{-1/\alpha}\left(G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}\left(y+\zeta\right)\right)\right. \\ &\left.-G_{\alpha}(1,s^{-1/\alpha}y)\right)dy\,ds\right|^{2} \\ &= C\left|\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}s^{-\epsilon/\alpha}\left(G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}\left(y+\zeta\right)\right)\right. \\ &\left.-G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}y\right)\right)^{(1-\theta)} \\ &\times s^{-((1-\epsilon)/\alpha)}\left(G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}\left(y+\zeta\right)\right)\right. \\ &\left.-G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}y\right)\right)^{\vartheta}dy\,ds\right|^{2} \\ &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}s^{-2\epsilon/\alpha}\left|G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}\left(y+\zeta\right)\right)\right. \\ &\left.-G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}y\right)\right|^{2(1-\theta)}dy\,ds\right) \\ &\times\left(\int_{0}^{t}\int_{\mathbb{R}}s^{-2(1-\epsilon)/\alpha}\left|G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}\left(y+\zeta\right)\right)\right. \\ &\left.-G_{\alpha}\left(1,s^{-1/\alpha}y\right)\right|^{2\vartheta}dy\,ds\right) \\ &\coloneqq cI \times II. \end{split}$$

By Lemma 1, recall that $2\epsilon < \alpha + 1$, and we have

$$I \leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} s^{-(2\varepsilon-1)/\alpha} (G_{\alpha}(1,y))^{2(1-\vartheta)} dy \, ds\right)$$

$$\leq C \int_{0}^{t} s^{-(2\varepsilon-1)/\alpha} ds < \infty.$$
(44)

(43)

Then, by the mean value of the theorem and Lemma 1, we have that

$$\begin{split} II &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} s^{-2(1-\epsilon)/\alpha} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} G_{\alpha} \left(1, s^{-1/\alpha} \left(y + \epsilon \right) \right) \\ &\times s^{-1/\alpha} \zeta \right)^{2\vartheta} dy \, ds \quad (\epsilon \in (0, \zeta)) \\ &= \zeta^{2\vartheta} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} s^{-(2(1-\epsilon+\vartheta)-1)/\alpha} \\ &\times \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y} G_{\alpha} \left(1, y \right) \right)^{2\vartheta} dy \, ds \\ &\leq C \zeta^{2\vartheta} \int_{0}^{t} s^{-(2(1-\epsilon+\vartheta)-1)/\alpha} ds. \end{split}$$

$$(45)$$

Choosing $\vartheta < \alpha - \delta$ such that $(2(1 - \epsilon + \vartheta) - 1)/\alpha < 1$, then

$$II < C\zeta^{2\vartheta}.$$
 (46)

Combining (44) and (46), we have

$$E\left|\phi_{\zeta}^{1}\right|^{2} \le C\zeta^{2\vartheta}.$$
(47)

Taking the change of variable $s = \zeta^{\alpha} v$, $y = z\zeta$, and by Burkholder-Davis-Gundy inequality, Lemmas 1 and 6, (H1), and (H2), we derive

$$\begin{split} E \left| \phi_{\zeta}^{2} \right|^{2} &\leq \left(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} E \left(G_{\alpha} \left(t - s, x + \zeta - y \right) \right. \\ &\left. -G_{\alpha} \left(t - s, x - y \right) \right)^{2} \\ &\times E \left| h \left(u_{s} \right) \right|^{2} dy \, ds \right) \\ &\leq C \left(\left(T + 1 \right) \sup_{[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}} E \left| u \left(t, x \right) \right|^{2} \\ &\left. + \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{-r}^{0} \left| u \left(\eta, y \right) \right|^{2} d\eta \right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha} \left(s, y + \zeta \right) - G_{\alpha} \left(s, y \right) \right)^{2} dy ds \right) \\ &\leq C \left(\zeta^{-2} \zeta \zeta^{\alpha} \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha} \left(v, z + 1 \right) \right. \\ &\left. -G_{\alpha} \left(v, z \right) \right)^{2} dz \, dv \right) \\ &\leq C \zeta^{2(\alpha - 1)}, \end{split}$$

$$E\left|\phi_{\zeta}^{3}\right|^{2} \leq C \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(G_{\alpha}\left(t-s,x+\zeta-y\right)\right)^{-G_{\alpha}} \left(t-s,x-y\right)^{2}$$
$$\times E\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} \left|g\left(u_{s}\right)\right| z \nu\left(dz\right)\right)^{2} ds \, dy$$
$$\leq C\zeta^{2(\alpha-1)}.$$
(48)

Combining (42)–(48), we have

$$E|u(t, x + \zeta) - u(t, x)|^{2} \le C\left(\zeta^{2\gamma} + \zeta^{2\vartheta} + \zeta^{2(\alpha - 1)}\right).$$
(49)

Then, we have, for $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\left| u\left(t, x+\zeta\right) - u\left(t, x\right) \right|_{\lambda}^{p} \le C\left(\zeta^{\gamma p} + \zeta^{\vartheta p} + \zeta^{(\alpha-1)p}\right) \le C\zeta^{\rho p},\tag{50}$$

where $\rho = \min\{\gamma, \vartheta, \alpha - 1\}.$

Remark 9. Theorems 7 and 8 show that the regularity of initial value and the order of fractional operator can affect both time regularity and space regularity of the mild solution for (1). In particular, the time regularity is affected by the regularity of initial value with delays.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the NSF of China (nos. 10971225 and 11371367) and NSF of Hunan Province (no. 11JJ3004).

References

- C. Bardos, P. Penel, U. Frisch, and P.-L. Sulem, "Modified dissipativity for a nonlinear evolution equation arising in turbulence," *Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, vol. 71, no. 3, pp. 237–256, 1979.
- [2] L. Bo, K. Shi, and Y. Wang, "On a nonlocal stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation with jumps," *Stochastics and Dynamics*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 439–457, 2007.
- [3] B. Guo, X. Pu, and F. Huang, Fractional Partial Differential Equations and Numerical Solution, Science Press, Beijing, China, 2011.
- [4] J. Huang, Y. Li, and Y. Zheng, *Introduction of Random Dynami*cal Systems, Science Press, Beijing, China, 2012.
- [5] J. M. Angulo, M. D. Ruiz-Medina, V. V. Anh, and W. Grecksch, "Fractional diffusion and fractional heat equation," *Advances in Applied Probability*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 1077–1099, 2000.
- [6] P. Azerad and M. Mellouk, "On a stochastic partial differential equation with non-local diffusion," *Potential Analysis*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 183–197, 2007.
- [7] L. Debbi and M. Dozzi, "On the solutions of nonlinear stochastic fractional partial differential equations in one spatial dimension," *Stochastic Processes and Their Applications*, vol. 115, no. 11, pp. 1764–1781, 2005.
- [8] A. Truman and J. Wu, Fractal Burgers Equations Driven by Lévy Noise, vol. 245 of Lecture Notes in Pure and Applied Mathematics, Chapman and Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, Fla, USA, 2006.

- [9] Z. Brzeźniak and L. Debbi, "On stochastic Burgers equation driven by a fractional Laplacian and space-time white noise," in *Stochastic Differential Equations: Theory and Applications*, vol. 2, pp. 135–167, World Scientific Publishing, Hackensack, NJ, USA, 2007.
- [10] Z. Brzeźniak, L. Debbi, and B. Goldys, "Ergodic properties of fractional stochastic Burgers equation," Preprint, 2011, http:// arxiv.org/pdf/1106.1918.pdf.
- [11] T. Caraballo and J. Real, "Attractors for 2D-Navier-Stokes models with delays," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 205, no. 2, pp. 271–297, 2004.
- [12] J. Wu, Theory and Applications of Partial Functional-Differential Equations, vol. 119 of Applied Mathematical Sciences, Springer, New York, NY, USA, 1996.
- [13] M. Niu and B. Xie, "Regularity of a fractional partial differential equation driven by space-time white noise," *Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 138, no. 4, pp. 1479–1489, 2010.
- [14] K. Kyeong-Hun and K. Panki, "An Lp-theory of stochastic parabolic equations with the random fractional Laplacian driven by Levy processes," 2011, http://arxiv.org/pdf/1111.4712.pdf.
- [15] J. B. Walsh, "An introduction to stochastic partial differential equations," in *École d'été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour*, vol. 1180 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, pp. 265–439, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 1986.
- [16] L. Debbi, "On some properties of a high order fractional differential operator which is not in general selfadjoint," *Applied Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 1, no. 25-28, pp. 1325–1339, 2007.
- [17] J. Walsh, An Introduction to Stochastic Partial Differential Equations, vol. 1180 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 1986.

Research Article

A Half-Inverse Problem for Impulsive Dirac Operator with Discontinuous Coefficient

Yalçın Güldü

Cumhuriyet University, Faculty of Science, Department of Mathematics, 58140 Sivas, Turkey

Correspondence should be addressed to Yalçın Güldü; yguldu@gmail.com

Received 3 June 2013; Accepted 9 September 2013

Academic Editor: Agacik Zafer

Copyright © 2013 Yalçın Güldü. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

An inverse problem for Dirac differential operators with discontinuity conditions and discontinuous coefficient is studied. It is shown by Hochstadt and Lieberman's method that if the potential function p(x) in $\Omega(x)$ is prescribed over the interval $(\pi/2, \pi)$, then a single spectrum suffices to determine p(x) on the interval $(0, \pi)$ and it is also shown here that $\rho(x)$ is uniquely determined by a spectrum.

1. Introduction

In this paper, we are concerned with the Dirac operator L generated by equation

$$\ell(y) := By'(x) + \Omega(x) y(x) = \lambda \rho(x) y(x),$$

$$x \in I := \left(0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \cup \left(\frac{\pi}{2}, \pi\right)$$
(1)

with

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \Omega(x) = \begin{pmatrix} p(x) & q(x) \\ q(x) & -p(x) \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\rho(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le x < \frac{\pi}{2} \\ \alpha, & \frac{\pi}{2} < x \le \pi, \end{cases}$$
(2)

where $1 < \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^+$, $y(x) = \begin{pmatrix} y_1(x) \\ y_2(x) \end{pmatrix}$, subject to the boundary conditions

$$y_1(0) = 0,$$
 (3)

$$y_2\left(\pi\right) = 0,\tag{4}$$

and discontinuity conditions

$$y\left(\frac{\pi}{2}+0\right) = Ay\left(\frac{\pi}{2}-0\right),\tag{5}$$

where p(x) and q(x) are real valued functions in $L_2(0, \pi)$, λ is a spectral parameter, and $A = \begin{pmatrix} \beta & 0 \\ 0 & \beta^{-1} \end{pmatrix}, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \{1\}.$

Inverse problems of spectral analysis implicate the reconstruction of a linear operator from its spectral data (e.g., see [1–5]). Half inverse problem for a Dirac operator consists in reconstruction of this operator from its spectrum and half of the potential.

The first result on the half-inverse problem is due to Hochstadt and Lieberman [6]. After that, Hald [7] proved that if the potential is known over half of the interval and if one boundary conditions is given, then the potential and the other boundary condition are uniquely determined by the eigenvalues. In [8, 9], Malamud and Gesztesy and Simon obtained some new uniqueness results in inverse spectral analysis with partial information on the potential for scalar and matrix Sturm-Liouville equations, respectively. In 2001, Sakhnovich [10] studied the existence of solution to the halfinverse problem. In [11], necessary and sufficient condition for solvability of the half-inverse spectral problem for Sturm-Liouville operators with singular operator was taken. In [12], by using the Hochstadt and Lieberman's method, halfinverse problem was solved for diffusion operators. In [13], the authors presented half-inverse problem for the Sturm-Liouville equation with eigenparameter-dependent boundary conditions.

On the other hand, the fundamental and detailed results about Dirac operators were given in [14]. Moreover, direct or inverse spectral problems for Dirac operators are largely well studied in [1, 8, 15].

There are also some studies about the interior inverse problems. Arutyunyan [16] proved that the eigenvalues λ_n , $n = 0, 1, \dots$ and normalizing coefficients $\alpha_n = \|y_n\|_{\{L^2(0,1)\}^2}$, = 0, 1,... uniquely determined the potential Q(x). п Malamud [8] proved an analog of Borg theorem [17]; he showed that the spectra of two boundary value problems for an operator with different boundary conditions at one end uniquely determined the potential Q(x). He also proved an analog of the theorem of Hochstadt and Lieberman [6]; one spectrum and a potential on the interval (0, 1/2) uniquely determined the potential Q(x) on the whole interval [0, 1]. On the other hand, in 2001, Del Rio and Grébert [18] proved that in the case where φ is a priori known on [a, 1], then only a part (depending on *a*) of two spectra determined φ on [0, 1]. Furthermore, inverse problems for interior spectral data of the Sturm-Liouville and Dirac operators were studied in [19-22].

The jump conditions like (5) appear in-some important physical problems. The work in [7] is a well-known work about discontinuous inverse eigenvalue problems. Direct and inverse problems for Dirac operators with discontinuities inside the interval were investigated in [23].

In this paper, by using the Hochstadt and Lieberman's method in [6], we discuss the half-inverse problem for Dirac operator with discontinuity conditions and discontinuous coefficients (1)–(5). Furthermore, the potential p(x) and discontinuous coefficient $\rho(x)$ are uniquely determined.

2. Statement of Results

Let the function $\varphi(\cdot, \lambda) : I \to R^2$ be solution of (1) which satisfies the initial conditions

$$\varphi\left(0,\lambda\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\-1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{6}$$

and the jump conditions (5).

It is shown in [14] that, for the solution $\varphi(x, \lambda)$, the following representation holds:

$$\varphi(x,\lambda) = \varphi_0(x,\lambda) + \int_0^x K(x,t) \varphi_0(t,\lambda) dt, \quad \text{for } 0 < x < \frac{\pi}{2},$$
(7)

where $\varphi_0(x, \lambda) = (\varphi_{01}(x, \lambda), \varphi_{02}(x, \lambda))^T$ has the form

$$\varphi_{01}(x,\lambda) = \begin{cases} \sin \lambda x, & 0 \le x < \frac{\pi}{2} \\ \beta^{+} \sin \lambda \mu(x) & (8) \\ +\beta^{-} \sin \lambda (\pi - \mu(x)), & \frac{\pi}{2} < x \le \pi, \end{cases}$$

$$\varphi_{02}(x,\lambda) = \begin{cases} -\cos\lambda x, & 0 \le x < \frac{\pi}{2} \\ -\beta^{+}\cos\lambda\mu(x) & (9) \\ +\beta^{-}\cos\lambda(\pi-\mu(x)), & \frac{\pi}{2} < x \le \pi, \end{cases}$$

 $\beta^{\pm} = (1/2)(\beta \pm \beta), K(x,t) = (K_{ij}(x,t))_{i,j=1,2}$, and $K_{ij}(x,t)$ are real valued continuous functions for *i*, *j* = 1, 2 and for each

$$x, \ \mu(x) = \begin{cases} x, & 0 \le x < \pi/2 \\ \alpha x - \alpha (\pi/2) + (\pi/2), & \pi/2 < x \le \pi. \end{cases}$$
(10)

Next, we define the function

$$\Delta(\lambda) = \varphi_2(\pi, \lambda). \tag{11}$$

The zeros of $\Delta(\lambda)$ which is called the characteristic function of the problem (1)–(5) are the eigenvalues of *L*.

From the equalities (7)-(11), we have

$$\Delta(\lambda) = \Delta_0(\lambda) + o\left(\exp\tau\mu(\pi)\right), \qquad (12)$$

where $\Delta_0(\lambda) = -\beta^+ \cos \lambda \mu(\pi) + \beta^- \cos \lambda(\pi - \mu(\pi))$ and $\tau = |\operatorname{Im} \lambda|$.

Theorem 1. (*i*) The problem L has denumerable many eigenvalues such that all of them are real and simple.

(ii) The eigenvalues λ_n are expressed by the following asymptotic formula:

$$\lambda_n = \lambda_n^0 + O(1), \qquad (13)$$

where λ_n^0 are the zeros of $\Delta_0(\lambda)$ and $\lambda_n^0 = n\pi/\mu(\pi) + h_n$, $\sup_n |h_n| < \infty$.

Proof. (i) Since $\Delta(\lambda)$ is entire function, it has denumerable many zeros. Moreover, from [23], zeros of $\{\lambda_n\}$ are real and simple.

(ii) It is shown in [24] that $\lambda_n^0 = n\pi/\mu(\pi) + O(1)$. It is obvious that $|\Delta_0(\lambda)| \ge C_\delta \exp \tau \mu(\pi)$ for $\lambda \in G_\delta := \{\lambda : |\lambda - \lambda_n| > \delta\}$ and $\Delta(\lambda) - \Delta_0(\lambda) = o(\exp \tau \mu(\pi))$.

Therefore, it follows from the Rouche's theorem that the functions $\Delta_0(\lambda)$ and $\Delta(\lambda)$ have the same number of zeros inside the contour $\gamma_{\varepsilon} := \{\lambda : |\lambda| = |\lambda_n^0| - \varepsilon\}$; that is, the eigenvalues λ_n are given by the following asymptotic formula:

$$\lambda_n = \frac{n\pi}{\mu(\pi)} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right) \right). \tag{14}$$

Consider a second operator \tilde{L} generated by the differential equation

$$By'(x) + \widetilde{\Omega}(x) y(x) = \lambda \widetilde{\rho}(x) y(x),$$

$$x \in I := \left(0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right) \cup \left(\frac{\pi}{2}, \pi\right)$$
(15)

subject to the same boundary conditions (3) and (4) and discontinuity condition (5). Here, $\widetilde{\Omega}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{p}(x) & q(x) \\ q(x) & -\widetilde{p}(x) \end{pmatrix}$ with a real valued function $\widetilde{p}(x) \in L_2(0, \pi)$.

We denote eigenvalues by λ_n and the corresponding eigenfunctions by $\varphi_n(x) = \varphi(x, \lambda_n)$ of the problem *L* and denote eigenvalues by $\tilde{\lambda}_n$ and the corresponding eigenfunctions by $\tilde{\varphi}_n(x) = \varphi(x, \tilde{\lambda}_n)$ of the problem \tilde{L} .

Lemma 2. If $\lambda_n = \tilde{\lambda}_n$, then $\alpha = \tilde{\alpha}$ that is, $\rho(x) = \tilde{\rho}(x)$.

Proof. Since $\lambda_n = (n\pi/\mu(\pi))(1 + O(1/n))$, then $\overline{\lambda}_n = (n\pi/\widetilde{\mu}(\pi))(1+O(1/n)), (n\pi/\mu(\pi))(1+O(1/n)) = (n\pi/\widetilde{\mu}(\pi))(1+O(1/n))$. Letting $n \to \infty$, then we conclude that $\mu(\pi) = \widetilde{\mu}(\pi)$. Moreover, since $\mu(\pi) = (\pi/2)(\alpha + 1)$, then $\alpha = \widetilde{\alpha}$. So $\rho(x) = \widetilde{\rho}(x)$.

Theorem 3. If $\lambda_n = \tilde{\lambda}_n$, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p(x) = \tilde{p}(x)$, for $x \in (\pi/2, \pi)$, then $p(x) = \tilde{p}(x)$ almost everywhere on $(0, \pi)$.

Proof. Let us write (1) for the solutions φ and $\tilde{\varphi}$ and take into account Lemma 2 as

$$B\varphi'(x,\lambda) + \Omega(x)\varphi(x,\lambda) = \lambda\rho(x)\varphi(x,\lambda),$$

$$B\widetilde{\varphi}'(x,\lambda) + \widetilde{\Omega}(x)\widetilde{\varphi}(x,\lambda) = \lambda\rho(x)\widetilde{\varphi}(x,\lambda).$$
(16)

If we multiply these equalities by $\tilde{\varphi}(x, \lambda)$ and $\varphi(x, \lambda)$, respectively, and subtract, then we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dx} \left\{ \varphi_1(x,\lambda) \,\widetilde{\varphi}_2(x,\lambda) - \widetilde{\varphi}_1(x,\lambda) \,\varphi_2(x,\lambda) \right\}
= \left[\Omega(x) - \widetilde{\Omega}(x) \right] \varphi(x,\lambda) \,\widetilde{\varphi}(x,\lambda) \,.$$
(17)

Integrating the last equality from 0 to π with respect to x, the equality

$$\begin{aligned} \left\{ \varphi_{1}\left(x,\lambda\right)\widetilde{\varphi}_{2}\left(x,\lambda\right) - \widetilde{\varphi}_{1}\left(x,\lambda\right)\varphi_{2}\left(x,\lambda\right)\right\} \right]_{0}^{\pi} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\pi} \left[\Omega\left(x\right) - \widetilde{\Omega}\left(x\right)\right]\varphi\left(x,\lambda\right)\widetilde{\varphi}\left(x,\lambda\right)dx \\ &= \int_{0}^{\pi} \left[p\left(x\right) - \widetilde{p}\left(x\right)\right]J\varphi\left(x,\lambda\right)\widetilde{\varphi}\left(x,\lambda\right)dx \end{aligned} \tag{18}$$

is obtained where $J := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$. Applying the initial condition (6) and the assumption $p(x) = \tilde{p}(x), x \in (\pi/2, \pi)$ in hypothesis, we get

$$\varphi_{1}(x,\lambda)\,\widetilde{\varphi}_{2}(x,\lambda) - \widetilde{\varphi}_{1}(x,\lambda)\,\varphi_{2}(x,\lambda)\big|_{0}^{\pi}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \left[\Omega\left(x\right) - \widetilde{\Omega}\left(x\right)\right]\varphi\left(x,\lambda\right)\widetilde{\varphi}\left(x,\lambda\right)dx \qquad (19)$$

$$= \int_0^{\pi/2} \left[p(x) - \widetilde{p}(x) \right] J\varphi(x,\lambda) \, \widetilde{\varphi}(x,\lambda) \, dx.$$

Define

{

$$F(\lambda) := \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \left[p(x) - \tilde{p}(x) \right] J\varphi(x,\lambda) \,\tilde{\varphi}(x,\lambda) \, dx, \quad (20)$$

where

$$J\varphi(x,\lambda)\,\widetilde{\varphi}(x,\lambda) = -\cos 2\lambda x + \int_0^x K_1(x,t)\cos 2\lambda t dt + \int_0^x K_2(x,t)\sin 2\lambda t dt$$
(21)

and $K_i(x, t)$, i = 1, 2 depend only on x, t.

Then we get from the boundary condition (4) that

$$F\left(\lambda_n\right) = 0 \tag{22}$$

for all *n*.

Now, define

$$\chi(\lambda) := \frac{F(\lambda)}{\Delta(\lambda)}.$$
(23)

 $\chi(\lambda)$ is an entire function. Since $F(\lambda) = O(\exp \tau \pi)$ and $|\Delta(\lambda)| \ge C_{\delta} \exp \tau \mu(\pi)$ for $\lambda \in G_{\delta} := \{\lambda : |\lambda - \lambda_n| > \delta\}$ where $\mu(\pi) = (\pi/2)(\alpha + 1)$, then $\chi(\lambda)$ is constant from the Liouville's theorem. Furthermore,

$$\lim_{\substack{\lambda \to \infty \\ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}}} \chi \left(\lambda \right) = 0 \tag{24}$$

from the equalities (7), (9), and (21) and the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma. Thus, $\chi(\lambda) = 0$ on the whole λ -plane. It follows from (20) and (21) that

$$\int_{0}^{\pi/2} Q(x) \left\{ \cos 2\lambda x - \int_{0}^{x} K_{1}(x,t) \cos 2\lambda t dt - \int_{0}^{x} K_{2}(x,t) \sin 2\lambda t dt \right\} dx = 0$$
(25)

for all λ where $Q(x) := [p(x) - \tilde{p}(x)]$. This can be rewritten as

$$\int_{0}^{\pi/2} \cos 2\lambda \tau \left[Q(\tau) + \int_{\tau}^{\pi/2} Q(x) K_{1}(x,t) dx \right] dt + \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \sin 2\lambda t \int_{\tau}^{\pi/2} Q(x) K_{2}(x,t) dx dt = 0.$$
(26)

From the completeness of the functions $(\cos 2\lambda \tau, \sin 2\lambda t)^T$ in $L_2(0, \pi) \oplus L_2(0, \pi)$, we have

$$Q(\tau) + \int_{\tau}^{\pi/2} Q(x) K_1(x,t) dx = 0, \quad \text{for } 0 < \tau < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$
 (27)

It follows that Q(x) = 0; that is, $p(x) = \tilde{p}(x)$ almost everywhere for $x \in (0, \pi)$.

References

- I. M. Gelfand and B. M. Levitan, "On the determination of a differential equation from its spectral function," *Izvestiya Akademii Nauk SSSR*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 309–360, 1951.
- [2] B. M. Levitan, "On the determination of the Sturm-Liouville operator from one and two spectra," *Mathematics of the USSR-Izvestiya*, vol. 12, pp. 179–193, 1978.
- [3] B. M. Levitan, *Inverse Sturm-Liouville Problems*, VNU Science Press, Utrecht, The Netherlands, 1987.
- [4] J. Pöschel and E. Trubowitz, *Inverse Spectral Theory*, Academic Press, Orlando, Fla, USA, 1987.
- [5] D. Alpay and I. Gohberg, "Inverse problems associated to a canonical differential system," in *Recent Advances in Operator Theory and Related Topics*, vol. 127 of *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications*, pp. 1–27, 2001.

- [6] H. Hochstadt and B. Lieberman, "An inverse Sturm-Liouville problem with mixed given data," *SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 676–680, 1978.
- [7] O. H. Hald, "Discontinuous inverse eigenvalue problems," *Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 539–577, 1984.
- [8] M. M. Malamud, "Uniqueness questions in inverse problems for systems of differential equations on a finite interval," *Transactions of the Moscow Mathematical Society*, vol. 60, pp. 204–262, 1999.
- [9] F. Gesztesy and B. Simon, "Inverse spectral analysis with partial information on the potential. II. The case of discrete spectrum," *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 352, no. 6, pp. 2765–2787, 2000.
- [10] L. Sakhnovich, "Half-inverse problems on the finite interval," *Inverse Problems*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 527–532, 2001.
- [11] R. O. Hryniv and Y. V. Mykytyuk, "Half-inverse spectral problems for Sturm-Liouville operators with singular potentials," *Inverse Problems*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1423–1444, 2004.
- [12] H. Koyunbakan and E. S. Panakhov, "Half-inverse problem for diffusion operators on the finite interval," *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 326, no. 2, pp. 1024–1030, 2007.
- [13] C.-F. Yang and Z.-Y. Huang, "A half-inverse problem with eigenparameter dependent boundary conditions," *Numerical Functional Analysis and Optimization*, vol. 31, no. 4–6, pp. 754– 762, 2010.
- [14] B. M. Levitan and I. S. Sargsjan, *Sturm-Liouville and Dirac Operators*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 1991.
- [15] M. G. Gasymov and B. M. Levitan, "The inverse problem for the Dirac system," *Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR*, vol. 167, pp. 967–970, 1966.
- [16] T. N. Arutyunyan, "Isospectral Dirac operators," *Izvestiya Akademii Nauk Armenii. Matematika*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 3–14, 1994.
- [17] G. Borg, "Eine umkehrung der sturm-liouvilleschen eigenwertaufgabe, bestimmung der Differential gleichung durch die eigenvert," Acta Mathematica, vol. 78, pp. 1–96, 1946.
- [18] R. del Rio and B. Grébert, "Inverse spectral results for AKNS systems with partial information on the potentials," *Mathematical Physics, Analysis and Geometry*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 229–244, 2001.
- [19] K. Mochizuki and I. Trooshin, "Inverse problem for interior spectral data of the Sturm-Liouville operator," *Journal of Inverse* and Ill-Posed Problems, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 425–433, 2001.
- [20] K. Mochizuki and I. Trooshin, "Inverse problem for interior spectral data of the Dirac operator on a finite interval," *Kyoto University. Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 387–395, 2002.
- [21] C.-F. Yang and X.-P. Yang, "An interior inverse problem for the Sturm-Liouville operator with discontinuous conditions," *Applied Mathematics Letters*, vol. 22, no. 9, pp. 1315–1319, 2009.
- [22] A. S. Ozkan and R. Kh. Amirov, "An interior inverse problem for the impulsive Dirac operator," *Tamkang Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 259–263, 2011.
- [23] R. Kh. Amirov, "On a system of Dirac differential equations with discontinuity conditions inside an interval," *Ukrainian Mathematical Journal*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 712–727, 2005.
- [24] V. F. Zhdanovich, "Formulas for the zeros of Dirichlet polynomials and quasipolynomials," *Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 1046–1049, 1960.

Research Article

Duffing-Type Oscillator with a Bounded from above Potential in the Presence of Saddle-Center Bifurcation and Singular Perturbation: Frequency Control

Robert Vrabel, Pavol Tanuska, Pavel Vazan, Peter Schreiber, and Vladimir Liska

Faculty of Materials Science and Technology, Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Hajdoczyho 1, 917 01 Trnava, Slovakia

Correspondence should be addressed to Robert Vrabel; robert.vrabel@stuba.sk

Received 21 June 2013; Revised 9 August 2013; Accepted 21 August 2013

Academic Editor: Elena Braverman

Copyright © 2013 Robert Vrabel et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

We analyze the dynamics of the forced singularly perturbed differential equations of Duffing's type with a potential that is bounded from above. We explain the appearance of the large frequency nonlinear oscillations of the solutions. It is shown that the frequency can be controlled by a small parameter at the highest derivative.

1. Introduction

Duffing's equation is regarded as one of the most important differential equations because it appears in various physical and engineering problems. For example, the periodically forced Duffing oscillator

$$y'' + \delta y' + \alpha y + \beta y^3 = \gamma \cos \omega t \tag{1}$$

exhibits a wide variety of interesting phenomena which are fundamental to the behavior of nonlinear dynamical systems, such as regular and chaotic motions (see, e.g., [1–5] and the references therein; we also refer to the classical book of Nayfeh and Mook [6]). In this context, usually two-well potential of an unperturbed system was considered ($\beta > 0$; see also [7–9]) by using analytical methods and numerical simulations.

In this case, the undamped ($\delta = 0$) and unperturbed ($\gamma = 0$) Duffing's oscillator can basically exhibit two distinct types of steady-state oscillations, namely,

 (i) in-well, small orbit dynamics, where the system state remains within the potential well centred at a stable equilibrium point (center); (ii) cross-well, large orbit dynamics, whose trajectories surround the three equilibrium points (saddle between two centers).

In both cases, under periodic external excitation, a chaotic motion can be observed when the control parameters are changed.

On the contrary, in this paper we consider that $\beta < 0$ and a potential tends to $-\infty$ for $|y| \rightarrow \infty$, so the object can escape to infinity because of the bounded from above potential. There exist several atomic or subatomic situations in quantum physics where the total energy governing the particles contains an approximately square-well potential which is bounded from above; see, for example, [10] and discussion in [11]. For example, recently it has been found that the meson spectroscopy is better described by "confining" potential which is bounded from above; for details and references, see [10].

This paper concentrates on the mathematical aspects of systems with a potential that is bounded from above; more concretely, we focus our attention on the existence of nonlinear oscillations in the context of saddle-center bifurcation in the dynamical system describing the singularly 2

perturbed forced oscillator of Duffing's type with a nonlinear restoring and a nonperiodic external driving force

$$\epsilon^{2} \left(a^{2} \left(t \right) y' \right)' + f \left(y \right) = m \left(t \right), \quad 0 < \epsilon \ll 1$$
 (2)

or rewriting to an equivalent set of the three first-order autonomous equations:

$$\epsilon y' = \frac{w}{a(t)},$$

$$\epsilon w' = \frac{m(t)}{a(t)} - \frac{f(y)}{a(t)} - \epsilon \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)}w,$$

$$t' = 1$$
(3)

with potential with two-barrier structure. Here *a* and *m* are the C^1 functions on the interval $\langle t_B, t_E \rangle$, *a* is positive and *f* is a C^1 function on \mathbb{R} .

We show that the singular perturbation parameter ϵ play role modeling tool for the frequency control of the nonlinear oscillations arising in these systems (relationship (33)). Finally we prove that under some assumptions the solutions of (2) will rapidly oscillate, with the frequency of the oscillations increasing unboundedly as $\epsilon \rightarrow 0^+$.

System (3) is an example of a singularly perturbed system, because in the limit $\epsilon \rightarrow 0^+$, it does not reduce to a differential equation of the same type, but to an algebraic-differential reduced system:

$$0 = \frac{w}{a(t)},$$

$$0 = \frac{m(t)}{a(t)} - \frac{f(y)}{a(t)},$$

$$t' = 1.$$
(4)

Another way to study the singular limit $\epsilon \rightarrow 0^+$ is by introducing the new independent variable $\tau = t/\epsilon$ which transforms (3) to the system

$$\frac{dy}{d\tau} = \frac{w}{a(t)},$$

$$\frac{dw}{d\tau} = \frac{m(t)}{a(t)} - \frac{f(y)}{a(t)} - \epsilon \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)}w,$$

$$\frac{dt}{d\tau} = \epsilon.$$
(5)

Taking the limit $\epsilon \to 0^+$, we obtain the so-called associated system ([12])

$$\frac{dy}{d\tau} = \frac{w}{a(t)},\tag{6}$$

$$\frac{dw}{d\tau} = \frac{m(t)}{a(t)} - \frac{f(y)}{a(t)},\tag{7}$$

$$\frac{dt}{d\tau} = 0;$$
 that is, $t = t^* = \text{constant},$ (8)

in which *t* plays the role of a parameter.



FIGURE 1: The critical manifold *S*.

Both scalings agree on the level of phase space structure when $\epsilon \neq 0$ but offer very different perspectives since they differ radically in the limit when $\epsilon = 0$. The main goal of singular perturbation theory is to use these limits to understand structure in the full system when $\epsilon \neq 0$.

The critical manifold *S* is defined as a solution of the reduced system; that is,

$$S := \{(t, y, w) : t \in \langle t_B, t_E \rangle, f(y) = m(t), w = 0\}$$
(9)

which corresponds to a set of equilibria for the associated system (6), (7), and (8).

2. Saddle-Center Bifurcations of Associated System

We assume the following.

(A1) The critical manifold is S-shaped curve with two folds; that is, it can be written in the form $t = \varphi(y)$, $t \in \langle t_B, t_E \rangle$, and the function φ has precisely two critical points, one nondegenerate minimum y_{SC1} and one nondegenerate maximum y_{SC2} ; let $y_{SC1} < y_{SC2}$. Thus, the critical manifold can be broken up into three pieces S_b , S_m , and S_a , separated by the minimum and maximum (Figure 1). These three pieces are defined as follows:

$$S_{b} = \{(y, \varphi(y), 0) : y < y_{SC1}\},$$

$$S_{m} = \{(y, \varphi(y), 0) : y_{SC1} < y < y_{SC2}\},$$

$$S_{a} = \{(y, \varphi(y), 0) : y_{SC2} < y\}.$$
(10)

(A2) Consider $\varphi'(y) \neq 0$ for $y \neq y_{SC1}$, y_{SC2} . (A3) Consider (df/dy)(y) > 0 for every $(t, y, 0) \in S_m$ and (df/dy)(y) < 0 for every $(t, y, 0) \in S_a \cup S_b$.

Due to the assumption (A3), the situation considered here substantially differs from the situation in [13], where two pieces of critical manifold, namely, S_a and S_b , are not normally hyperbolic, and large orbit oscillations that encircle all the three pieces of critical manifold were studied (for the definition of a normal hyperbolicity of critical manifold see, e.g., [12]). In this paper, the pieces S_a and S_b of the critical manifold *S* are normally hyperbolic, and thus the system under consideration allows another type of nonlinear oscillations, namely, small orbit oscillations around the middle piece S_m of critical manifold *S*. For comparison, see Figure 3(a) and Figure 5.

Let $t_{SC1} = \varphi(y_{SC1})$, $t_{SC2} = \varphi(y_{SC2})$. Denote by

$$\begin{aligned} u_{1}(t) &= \varphi^{-1}(t): \quad t \in \langle t_{B}, t_{\text{SC2}} \rangle, \ y_{\text{SC2}} \leq u_{1}(t), \\ u_{2}(t) &= \varphi^{-1}(t): \quad t \in \langle t_{\text{SC1}}, t_{\text{SC2}} \rangle, \ y_{\text{SC1}} \leq u_{2}(t) \leq y_{\text{SC2}}, \\ u_{3}(t) &= \varphi^{-1}(t): \quad t \in \langle t_{\text{SC1}}, t_{E} \rangle, \ u_{3}(t) \leq y_{\text{SC1}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(11)$$

The equations

$$f(y) = m(t), \qquad w = 0 \tag{12}$$

have three solutions for y, w if $t^* \in (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2})$ and one if $t^* \in \langle t_B, t_{SC1} \rangle$ and $t^* \in (t_{SC2}, t_E)$. Thus the associated system (6), (7), $t = t^* = \text{constant}$ has three equilibria (two saddles, one center) for $t^* \in \langle t_B, t_{SC1} \rangle$ and one equilibrium (saddle) for $t^* \in \langle t_B, t_{SC1} \rangle$ and $t^* \in (t_{SC2}, t_E)$; the eigenvalues of the jacobian are

$$\lambda_{1,2}(t^*, y, w) = \pm a^{-1}(t^*) \sqrt{-\frac{df}{dy}(y)}.$$
 (13)

Thus, the pieces S_a and S_b of critical manifold *S* are the normally hyperbolic manifolds. The points (t_{SC1} , y_{SC1} , 0) and (t_{SC2} , y_{SC2} , 0) of *S* are the cusps of the codimension two ([14, 15]), and the corresponding bifurcation is known as saddle-center bifurcation ([16]) (Figure 2).

More precisely, at the point $t^* = t_{SC1}$, the birth of the saddle and the center occurs. At $t^* = t_{SC2}$, the left side center and the saddle coalesce. There is a unique $t_0^* \in$ (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}) , such that between hyperbolic points (saddles) there is a heteroclinic connection. The homoclinic loop of one hyperbolic point surrounds the corresponding elliptic (center) one for every $t^* \in (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}), t^* \neq t_0^*$.

We use the level surfaces $H^{\epsilon}(t, y, w) = H^{\epsilon}(t)$ of the energy function H^{ϵ} ,

$$H^{\epsilon}(t, y, w) = \frac{1}{2}w^{2} + V(t, y),$$

$$V(t, y) = \int_{0}^{y} f(s) ds - m(t) y,$$
(14)

to characterize the trajectories of (3). These surfaces in (t, y, w)-space are defined by

$$w = \pm \left(2\left(H^{\epsilon}\left(t\right) - V\left(t, y\right)\right)\right)^{1/2} \tag{15}$$

extending it as long as w remains real. On the intervals $\langle t_B, t_{\text{SC1}} \rangle$ and $\langle t_{\text{SC2}}, t_E \rangle$, there is a motion across a single potential barrier, and on the interval $\langle t_{\text{SC1}}, t_{\text{SC2}} \rangle$, there is double barrier with a well in between.

The derivative of $H^{\epsilon}(t)$ along any solution path of (3) is

$$H^{\epsilon'}(t) = w^{\epsilon}w^{\epsilon'} + f(y^{\epsilon})y^{\epsilon'} - [m(t)y^{\epsilon}]'$$

$$= w^{\epsilon}\left[-\frac{f(y^{\epsilon})}{\epsilon a} + \frac{m(t)}{\epsilon a} - \frac{a'}{a}w^{\epsilon}\right]$$

$$+ f(y^{\epsilon})y^{\epsilon'} - [m(t)y^{\epsilon}]'$$

$$= -\frac{a'(t)}{a(t)}(w^{\epsilon})^{2} - m'(t)y^{\epsilon}.$$

(16)

The main objective of this paper is to prove the strongly nonlinear oscillations on the interval (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}) as possible scenario of behavior of the solutions for problem (2). For this reason, we rewrite the differential equation (2) in the system form

$$y' = \frac{w}{\epsilon a(t)},$$

$$(a(t)w)' = \frac{m(t)}{\epsilon} - \frac{f(y)}{\epsilon}.$$
(17)

Then, we make a change of variables from rectangular coordinates (y, w) to the dynamic polar coordinates (r, γ) centered at $(u_2(t), 0)$ defined by the equations

$$y = u_2(t) + r \cos \gamma, \qquad a(t) w = -r \sin \gamma,$$
 (18)

and let us consider the system (17) on the interval (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}) in these new coordinates. The function $u_2(t)$ acting in the first polar transform equation corresponds to the middle piece S_m of critical manifold S. At first, we derive the differential equation for polar angle γ , which is crucial for an analysis of nonlinear oscillations in this system. Dividing formally the second transform equation by the first, we get

$$\tan \gamma = -\frac{aw}{y - u_2}.$$
 (19)

Differentiating this equation with respect to *t*, we consecutively have

$$\frac{1}{\cos^2 \gamma} \gamma' = -\left[\frac{aw}{y-u_2}\right]' = \frac{awy'}{(y-u_2)^2} - \frac{(aw)'}{y-u_2} - \frac{awu'_2}{(y-u_2)^2}.$$
(20)

Finally, using (17) and (18), we obtain the following differential equation for γ :

$$\gamma' = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left[\frac{1}{a^2(t)} \sin^2 \gamma + \overline{f}(t, y) \cos^2 \gamma + \frac{\epsilon u_2'(t)}{r^{\epsilon}(t)} \sin \gamma \right], \quad (21)$$

where the radius is as follows:

$$r^{\epsilon}(t) = \sqrt{(y - u_2)^2 + (a(t)w)^2},$$

$$\overline{f}(t, y) = \frac{f(y) - m(t)}{y - u_2(t)},$$
(22)

$$\overline{f}(t, u_{2}(t)) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lim_{y \to u_{2}} \frac{f(y) - m(t)}{y - u_{2}(t)} = \frac{df}{dy}(u_{2}(t)).$$



FIGURE 2: Creation and extinction (in mirror mode) of a separatrix loop in the saddle-center bifurcation at $t^* = t_{SC1}$ and $t^* = t_{SC2}$, respectively.



FIGURE 3: Solution of (27), (28), $\epsilon^2 = 0.0224$ on $\langle -2.45, 2.1 \rangle$ (a); solution of (27), (28), $\epsilon^2 = 0.0225$ on $\langle -2.45, -1.25 \rangle$ (b).

Now let K be a compact subset of (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}) . On the periodic orbits (for fixed *t*), we define the minimal radius:

$$r_{\min}^{\epsilon}(K) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \min_{t \in K} r^{\epsilon}(t)$$
$$= \min_{t \in K} \left\{ u_{2}(t) - y_{L}^{\epsilon}(t), y_{R}^{\epsilon}(t) - u_{2}(t), \qquad (23)\right.$$
$$\sqrt{2}a(t) \sqrt{H^{\epsilon}(t) - V(t, u_{2}(t))} \right\},$$

where $y_L^{\epsilon}(t)$ and $y_R^{\epsilon}(t)$ ($y_L^{\epsilon} < y_R^{\epsilon}$) are the solutions of the equation

$$H^{\epsilon}(t) - V(t, y) = 0, \quad t \in (t_{\mathrm{SC1}}, t_{\mathrm{SC2}})$$
(24)

lying on the periodic orbit.

Obviously, $y_i^{\varepsilon}(t) \rightarrow u_2(t_{SC1})$ for $t \rightarrow t_{SC1}^+$ and $y_i^{\varepsilon}(t) \rightarrow u_2(t_{SC2})$ for $t \rightarrow t_{SC2}^{\varepsilon}$, i = L, R. Let $\delta(t)$ be a positive function such that

$$\delta(t) + V(t, u_{2}(t)) < \min \{V(t, u_{1}(t)), V(t, u_{3}(t))\}$$
(25)

on K.

Now we make the following additional assumption.

(A4) The total energy $H^{\epsilon}(t)$ of motion described by (2) satisfies

$$\delta(t) + V(t, u_{2}(t)) \leq H^{\varepsilon}(t)$$

$$< \min\left\{V(t, u_{1}(t)), V(t, u_{3}(t))\right\}$$
(26)

on a compact subset *K* of (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}) .

If a total energy of motion described by (2) satisfies the assumption (A4) on every compact subset K of (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}) , then $y_i^{\epsilon}(t) \rightarrow u_2(t_{\text{SC1}})$ for $t \rightarrow t_{\text{SC1}}^+$, $t \in K$ and $y_i^{\epsilon}(t) \rightarrow u_2(t_{\text{SC2}})$ for $t \rightarrow t_{\text{SC2}}^-$, $t \in K$, and i = L, R.

We precede the main result on the existence of nonlinear oscillations of the solutions for (2) on the interval (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2}) by important example.

Example 1. Consider Duffing's oscillator with linear excitation

$$\epsilon^2 y'' + 3y - y^3 = t \tag{27}$$

for $\epsilon^2 = 0.0224$ subject to the initial conditions

$$y^{\epsilon}(-2.45) = -1.9, \qquad y^{\epsilon'}(-2.45) = 11.16$$
 (28)

on the interval $\langle -2.45, 2.1 \rangle$.



FIGURE 4: Phase portraits for $t = (\text{from top-left to bottom-right}): -2.5 (t < t_{SC1}); -2 (t = t_{SC1}); -1 (t_{SC1} < t < t_{SC2}); 0$ (heteroclinic connections between two saddles of associated system, $t_0^* = 0$); 1; 2 ($t = t_{SC2}$); 2.5 ($t > t_{SC2}$).

In our case $t_B = -2.45$, $t_E = 2.1$, $a \equiv 1$, $f(y) = 3y - y^3$, m(t) = t, $t_{SC1} = -2$, $t_{SC2} = 2$, $y_{SC1} = -1$, $y_{SC2} = 1$, and it is not difficult to check that the assumptions (A1)–(A3) hold. Numerical results obtained from (27) subject to the initial conditions (28) using the software package MATLAB 7 are shown in Figure 3(a). These oscillations are very sensitive on the value of singular perturbation parameter ϵ . Figure 3(b) shows the solution of (27), (28) for $\epsilon^2 = 0.0225$.

In order to facilitate the understanding of the qualitative behaviors of this dynamical system, we draw the (y, w)phase portraits at the relevant fixed value of time t (Figure 4). For comparison, Figure 5 shows the solution of initial value problem

$$\epsilon^2 y'' - 3y + y^3 = -t,$$

 $y^{\epsilon} (-4) = 3.1821, \qquad y^{\epsilon'} (-4) = 0$
(29)

with twin-(or single-) well potential for $\epsilon^2 = 0.00354$ on the interval $\langle t_B, t_E \rangle = \langle -4, 4 \rangle$. This type of problems has been studied in [13].

Now we will analyze the solution of (27), (28) after the time t_{SC2} . The total energy (14) for (27) is

$$H^{\epsilon}(t, y, w) = \frac{1}{2}w^{2} + \frac{3}{2}y^{2} - \frac{1}{4}y^{4} + ty, \qquad (30)$$

and for its derivative along the solution given by (16), we obtain

$$H^{\epsilon'}(t) = -y^{\epsilon}(t).$$
(31)

Due to the oscillations around $u_2(t)$ in left neighborhood of t_{SC2} between $u_1(t)$ and $u_3(t)$, that is, $y^{\epsilon} > 0$, the total energy decreases (dissipation) in right neighborhood of t_{SC2} ,

$$H^{\epsilon}(t) = -y^{\epsilon}(t) < 0.$$
(32)



As it follows from the shape of potential V and the phase portrait for $t > t_{SC2}, y^{\epsilon}(t^*) \to \infty$ for $\epsilon \to 0^+$ and $t^* \in$ (t_{SC2}, t_E) .

3. Analysis of Solutions Lying on the Periodic **Orbits: Main Result**

Now we formulate the theorem on nonlinear oscillations of solutions of (2) for the motion with total energy $H^{\epsilon}(t)$ satisfying the assumption (A4). Moreover, we show that the parameter ϵ plays role modeling tool for the frequency control of the nonlinear oscillations.

Denote by s_{ϵ} the spacing between two successive zero numbers of the function $y^{\epsilon} - u_2$ on K, where y^{ϵ} is a solution of (2).

Theorem 2. Under the assumptions (A1)–(A4), the solutions of problem (2) oscillate on the compact set K, $K \in (t_{SC1}, t_{SC2})$ between $u_1(t)$ and $u_3(t)$ and

$$\epsilon \frac{\pi}{\mu_2(K,\epsilon_0)} \le s_{\epsilon} \le \epsilon \frac{\pi}{\mu_1(K,\epsilon_0)}, \quad \epsilon \in (0,\epsilon_0], \quad (33)$$

where $\mu_1(K, \epsilon_0)$ and $\mu_2(K, \epsilon_0)$ are the positive constants independent of the singular perturbation parameter ϵ , $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_0]$.

Proof. To obtain the oscillations and the estimate of their frequencies, we analyze the differential equation (21); that is,

$$\gamma' = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left[\frac{1}{a^2(t)} \sin^2 \gamma + \overline{f}(t, y) \cos^2 \gamma + \frac{\epsilon u_2'(t)}{r^{\epsilon}(t)} \sin \gamma \right].$$
(34)

Taking into consideration the fact that $r_{\min}^{\epsilon}(K) \geq \Delta > 0$ independently of parameter ϵ due to the assumption (A4), we can estimate that

$$\left|\frac{\epsilon u_{2}'(t)}{r^{\epsilon}(t)}\sin\gamma\right| \leq \epsilon \frac{\left|u_{2}'(t)\right|}{r_{\min}^{\epsilon}(K)} \leq \epsilon \left|u_{2}'(t)\right| \Delta \longrightarrow 0^{+}$$
(35)

for $\epsilon \to 0^+$. Further for $t \in K$ and $y \in (u_3(t), u_1(t))$, we have $\overline{f}(t, y) > 0$. Thus for sufficiently small values of the singular perturbation parameter ϵ , say, $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_0]$, there exist the positive constants $\mu_1(K,\epsilon_0)$, $\mu_2(K,\epsilon_0)$, and $\mu_1(K,\epsilon_0) <$ $\mu_2(K,\epsilon_0)$:

$$\begin{aligned} & = \min\left[\frac{1}{a^{2}(t)}\sin^{2}\gamma + \overline{f}(t, y)\cos^{2}\gamma + \frac{\epsilon_{0}u_{2}'(t)}{r^{\epsilon}(t)}\sin\gamma; \\ & \quad t \in K, \ y \in \left\langle y_{L}^{0}(t), y_{R}^{0}(t) \right\rangle, \ \gamma \in \left\langle 0, 2\pi \right\rangle \right], \end{aligned}$$

$$\iota_2(K,\epsilon_0)$$

ŀ

ŀ

$$= \max\left[\frac{1}{a^{2}(t)}\sin^{2}\gamma + \overline{f}(t, y)\cos^{2}\gamma + \frac{\epsilon_{0}u_{2}'(t)}{r^{\epsilon}(t)}\sin\gamma;\right.$$
$$t \in K, \ y \in \left\langle y_{L}^{0}(t), y_{R}^{0}(t)\right\rangle, \ \gamma \in \left\langle 0, 2\pi\right\rangle\right],$$

(36)

where $y_L^0(t)$, and $y_R^0(t)$ are the roots of the equation

$$\min\left\{V\left(t, u_{1}\left(t\right)\right), V\left(t, u_{3}\left(t\right)\right)\right\} - V\left(t, y\right) = 0, \quad (37)$$

lying on the periodic orbit.

Putting (35) into the definitions of constants $\mu_1(K, \epsilon_0)$, and $\mu_2(K, \epsilon_0)$, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} & \mu_1\left(K,\epsilon_0\right) \\ & \geq \min\left[\frac{1}{a^2\left(t\right)}\sin^2\gamma + \overline{f}\left(t,y\right)\cos^2\gamma - \epsilon_0\left|\mu_2'\left(t\right)\right|\Delta; \\ & t \in K, \ y \in \left\langle y_L^0\left(t\right), y_R^0\left(t\right)\right\rangle, \ \gamma \in \left\langle 0, 2\pi \right\rangle\right] > 0, \end{split}$$

$$\mu_{2}(K,\epsilon_{0})$$

$$\leq \max\left[\frac{1}{a^{2}(t)}\sin^{2}\gamma + \overline{f}(t,y)\cos^{2}\gamma + \epsilon_{0}\left|u_{2}'(t)\right|\Delta;$$

$$t \in K, \ y \in \left\langle y_{L}^{0}(t), y_{R}^{0}(t)\right\rangle, \ \gamma \in \left\langle 0, 2\pi\right\rangle\right] > 0$$
(38)

for sufficiently small value of upper bound $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_0$ of singular perturbation parameter $\epsilon.$ Further, if $\epsilon_0^{(1)} < \epsilon_0^{(2)},$ then

$$\mu_1\left(K,\epsilon_0^{(1)}\right) > \mu_1\left(K,\epsilon_0^{(2)}\right),\tag{39}$$

and conversely

$$\mu_2\left(K,\epsilon_0^{(1)}\right) < \mu_2\left(K,\epsilon_0^{(2)}\right). \tag{40}$$

Thus we have the inequality

$$\mu_1\left(K,\epsilon_0\right)\epsilon^{-1} \le \gamma' \le \mu_2\left(K,\epsilon_0\right)\epsilon^{-1}.$$
(41)

Integrating this inequality with respect to the variable *t* between two successive zeros (*j*th and (*j* + 1)th, *j* = 1, 2, ...) of $y^{\epsilon}(t) - u_2(t)$, $t \in K$, we obtain immediately the lower and upper bound of their spacing s_{ϵ} . Indeed,

$$\int_{\text{zero}(j+1)\text{th}}^{\text{zero}(j+1)\text{th}} \frac{\mu_2\left(K,\epsilon_0\right)}{\epsilon} dt \ge \int_{\text{zero}(j)\text{th}}^{\text{zero}(j+1)\text{th}} \gamma' dt$$
$$\ge \int_{\text{zero}(j)\text{th}}^{\text{zero}(j+1)\text{th}} \frac{\mu_1\left(K,\epsilon_0\right)}{\epsilon} dt, \quad (42)$$
$$\frac{\mu_2\left(K,\epsilon_0\right)}{\epsilon} s_{\epsilon} \ge \pi \ge \frac{\mu_1\left(K,\epsilon_0\right)}{\epsilon} s_{\epsilon}.$$

Hence,

$$\epsilon \frac{\pi}{\mu_2(K,\epsilon_0)} \le s_{\epsilon} \le \epsilon \frac{\pi}{\mu_1(K,\epsilon_0)}, \quad \epsilon \in (0,\epsilon_0].$$
(43)

4. Conclusion

The frequency of nonlinear oscillations of Duffing's type equations arising via saddle-center bifurcation in associated system may be controlled by the singular perturbation parameter ϵ . These oscillations are very sensitive on the initial conditions.

References

- Z. Feng, G. Chen, and S.-B. Hsu, "A qualitative study of the damped Duffing equation and applications," *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems B*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 1097–1112, 2006.
- [2] A. Litvak-Hinenzon and V. Rom-Kedar, "Symmetry-breaking perturbations and strange attractors," *Physical Review E*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 4964–4978, 1997.
- [3] V. Ryabov and K. Fukushima, "Analysis of homoclinic bifurcation in Duffing oscillator under two-frequency excitation: peculiarity of using Melnikov method in combination with averaging technique," Proceedings of the Chaotic Modeling & Simulation International Conference (CHaos '10), 2010.
- [4] X. Wei, M. F. Randrianandrasana, M. Ward, and D. Lowe, "Nonlinear dynamics of a periodically driven Duffing resonator coupled to a Van der Pol oscillator," *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, Article ID 248328, 16 pages, 2011.
- [5] X. Yue, W. Xu, and Y. Zhang, "Global bifurcation analysis of Rayleigh-Duffing oscillator through the composite cell coordinate system method," *Nonlinear Dynamics*, vol. 69, no. 1-2, pp. 437–457, 2012.
- [6] A. H. Nayfeh and D. T. Mook, *Nonlinear Oscillations*, Pure and Applied Mathematics, Wiley-Interscience, New York, NY, USA, 1979.
- [7] S. Lenci and G. Rega, "Optimal control of nonregular dynamics in a Duffing oscillator," *Nonlinear Dynamics*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 71–86, 2003.
- [8] A. Sharma, V. Patidar, G. Purohit, and K. K. Sud, "Effects on the bifurcation and chaos in forced Duffing oscillator due to nonlinear damping," *Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 2254–2269, 2012.

- [9] E. Tamaseviciute, A. Tamasevicius, G. Mykolaitis, S. Bumeliene, and E. Lind-berg, "Analogue electrical circuit for simulation of the duffing-holmes equation," *Nonlinear Analysis: Modelling* and Control, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 241–252, 2008.
- [10] V. Sauli, "Bethe-Salpeter study of radially excited vector quarkonia," *Physical Review D*, vol. 86, Article ID 096004, 6 pages, 2012.
- [11] V. K. Dolmatov, J. L. King, and J. C. Oglesby, "Diffuse versus square-well confining potentials in modelling A@C60 atoms," *Journal of Physics B*, vol. 45, Article ID 105102, 2012.
- [12] C. K. R. T. Jones, "Geometric singular perturbation theory," in C.I.M.E. Lectures, Montecatini Terme, vol. 1609 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, pp. 44–118, Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, 1995.
- [13] R. Vrabel and M. Abas, "Frequency control of singularly perturbed forced Duffing's oscillator," *Journal of Dynamical and Control Systems*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 451–467, 2011.
- [14] S.-N. Chow, C. Z. Li, and D. Wang, Normal Forms and Bifurcation of Planar Vector Fields, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1994.
- [15] D. Xiao and S. Ruan, "Bogdanov-Takens bifurcations in predator-prey systems with constant rate harvesting," *Fields Institute Communications*, vol. 21, pp. 493–506, 1999.
- [16] V. Gelfreich, "Splitting of a small separatrix loop near the saddle-center bifurcation in area-preserving maps," *Physica D*, vol. 136, no. 3-4, pp. 266–279, 2000.